# LTEDI 2022

# The Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion

**Proceedings of the Workshop** 

May 27, 2022

The LTEDI organizers gratefully acknowledge the support from the following sponsors.

# In cooperation with



©2022 Association for Computational Linguistics

Order copies of this and other ACL proceedings from:

Association for Computational Linguistics (ACL) 209 N. Eighth Street Stroudsburg, PA 18360 USA Tel: +1-570-476-8006 Fax: +1-570-476-0860 acl@aclweb.org

ISBN 978-1-955917-43-8

### Introduction

Equality, Diversity and Inclusion (EDI) is an important agenda across every field throughout the world. Language as a major part of communication should be inclusive and treat everyone with equality. Today's large internet community uses language technology (LT) and has a direct impact on people across the globe. EDI is crucial to ensure everyone is valued and included, so it is necessary to build LT that serves this purpose. Recent results have shown that big data and deep learning are entrenching existing biases and that some algorithms are even naturally biased due to problems such as 'regression to the mode'. Our focus is on creating LT that will be more inclusive of gender, racial, sexual orientation, persons with disability. The workshop will focus on creating speech and language technology to address EDI not only in English, but also in less resourced languages.

# **Organizing Committee**

### **General Chair**

Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, National University of Ireland Galway B Bharathi, SSN College of Engineering, Tamil Nadu, India John P McCrae, National University of Ireland Galway Manel Zarrouk, Institut Galilee Universite, Paris Kalika Bali, Microsoft Research, India Paul Buitelaar, National University of Ireland Galway

### **Program Committee**

### **Program Committee**

Adeep Hande, Indian Institute of Information Technology Tiruchirappalli Akshat Gupta, Carnegie Mellon University Alberto Barrón-Cedeño, Università di Bologna Anna Pillar, Radboud University Anne Lauscher, Bocconi University António Câmara, Columbia University Arianna Muti, University of Bologna Blaž Škrlj, Jožef Stefan Institute Boshko Koloski, International Postgraduate School Jožef Stefan Courtney Mansfield, LivePerson Inc. Debora Nozza, Bocconi University Ewoenam Kwaku, University of Antwerp Fazlourrahman Balouchzahi, Instituto Politécnico Nacional Filip Nilsson, Department of Computer Science, Electrical and Space Engineering Frank Rudzicz, University of Toronto Harrison Santiago, University of Florida Ishan Sanjeev, International Institute of Information Technology Hyderabad Iñaki San, Elhuyar Fundazioa Jamell Dacon, Michigan State University Jetske Adams, Radboud University José Antonio, Universidad de Murcia KV Aditya, International Institute of Information Technology, Hyderabad Kangwook Lee, University of Wisconsin, Madison Katerina Korre, University of Bologna Kyle Swanson, Stanford University Kyrill Poelmans, Tilburg University Luke Melas-Kyriazi, University of Oxford, University of Oxford Manex Agirrezabal, University of Copenhagen Marion Bartl, University College Dublin Martha Larson, Radboud University Michael Gira, University of Wisconsin - Madison Nankai Lin, Guangdong University of Foreign Studies Nawshad Farruque, University of Alberta Nina Markl, Institute for Language, Cognition and Computation, University of Edinburgh Olga Zamaraeva, Universidad de La Coruña Oren Mishali, Computer Science Departmen, Technion-Israel Institute of Technology Pieter Delobelle, KU Leuven Poonam Goyal, BITS Pilani, Birla Institute of Technology and Science Pradeep Kumar, NIT Patna Rafael Valencia-García, Universidad de Murcia Rajalakshmi Sivanaiah, Sri Sivasubramaniya Nadar College of Engineering Sunil Saumya, IIIT Dharwad Senthil Kumar, Anna University Sharal Coelho, Mangalore University Suhasini S, SSN College of Engineering Suman Dowlagar, International Institute of Information Technology Hyderabad

Susan Leavy, University College Dublin Thenmozhi Durairaj, Sri Sivasubramaniya Nadar College Of Engineering Toon Calders, Universiteit Antwerpen Usman Naseem, University of Sydney Vishesh Gupta, IIT(ISM) Dhanbad Vitthal Bhandari, BITS Pilani, Birla Institute of Technology and Science Wei-Wei Du, National Yang Ming Chiao Tung University Wei-Yao Wang, National Yang Ming Chiao Tung University Yingwen Fu, Guangdong University of Foreign Studies Zining Zhu, University of Toronto Shaina Raza, University of Toronto

# Keynote Talk: Towards Equitable Language Technologies

Su Lin

Microsoft Research, Montreal

**Abstract:** Language technologies are now ubiquitous. Yet the benefits of these technologies do not accrue evenly to all people, and they can be harmful; they can reproduce stereotypes, prevent speakers of "non-standard" language varieties from participating fully in public discourse, and reinscribe historical patterns of linguistic discrimination. In this talk, I will take a tour through the rapidly emerging body of research examining bias and harm in language technologies. I will offer some perspective on the many challenges of this work, ranging from how we conceptualize and measure language-related harms to how we grapple with the complexities of where and how language technologies are encountered. I will conclude by discussing some future directions towards more equitable technologies.

**Bio:** She is a postdoctoral researcher in the Fairness, Accountability, Transparency, and Ethics (FATE) group at Microsoft Research Montréal. She is interested in examining the social and ethical implications of natural language processing technologies; She develop approaches for anticipating, measuring, and mitigating harms arising from language technologies, focusing on the complexities of language and language technologies in their social contexts, and on supporting NLP practitioners in their ethical work. She has also worked on using NLP approaches to examine language variation and change (computational sociolinguistics), for example developing models to identify language variation on social media.

# **Table of Contents**

Mind the data gap(s): Investigating power in speech and language datasets Nina Markl
Regex in a Time of Deep Learning: The Role of an Old Technology in Age Discrimination Detection inJob AdvertisementsAnna Pillar, Kyrill Poelmans and Martha Larson13
Doing not Being: Concrete Language as a Bridge from Language Technology to Ethnically Inclusive Job Ads
Jetske Adams, Kynn Poemans, ins Hendrickx and Martina Larson
Measuring Harmful Sentence Completion in Language Models for LGBTQIA+ Individuals Debora Nozza, Federico Bianchi, Anne Lauscher and Dirk Hovy26
Using BERT Embeddings to Model Word Importance in Conversational Transcripts for Deaf and Hard of Hearing Users
Akhter Al Amin, Saad Hassan, Cecilia Alm and Matt Huenerfauth
Detoxifying Language Models with a Toxic CorpusYoona Park and Frank Rudzicz41
Inferring Gender: A Scalable Methodology for Gender Detection with Online Lexical Databases Marion Bartl and Susan Leavy
Debiasing Pre-Trained Language Models via Efficient Fine-TuningMichael Gira, Ruisu Zhang and Kangwook Lee59
<i>Disambiguation of morpho-syntactic features of African American English – the case of habitual be</i> Harrison Santiago, Joshua Martin, Sarah Moeller and Kevin Tang
Behind the Mask: Demographic bias in name detection for PII maskingCourtney Mansfield, Amandalynne Paullada and Kristen Howell
Mapping the Multilingual Margins: Intersectional Biases of Sentiment Analysis Systems in English, Spanish, and Arabic António Câmara, Nina Taneja, Tamjeed Azad, Emily Allaway and Richard Zemel
Monte Carlo Tree Search for Interpreting Stress in Natural Language         Kyle Swanson, Joy Hsu and Mirac Suzgun         107
<i>IIITSurat@LT-EDI-ACL2022: Hope Speech Detection using Machine Learning</i> Pradeep Kumar Roy, Snehaan Bhawal, Abhinav Kumar and Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi 120
<i>The Best of both Worlds: Dual Channel Language modeling for Hope Speech Detection in low-resourced Kannada</i> Adeep Hande, Siddhanth U Hegde, Sangeetha S, Ruba Priyadharshini and Bharathi Raja Chakra-
varthi
NYCU_TWD@LT-EDI-ACL2022: Ensemble Models with VADER and Contrastive Learning for Detec- ting Signs of Depression from Social Media Wai Yao Wang, Yu Chian Tang, Wai Wai Du and Wan Chib Pang. 126
wei- rao wang, ru-Chien rang, wei-wei Du and wen-Chin Peng
<i>UMUTeam@LT-EDI-ACL2022: Detecting homophobic and transphobic comments in Tamil</i> José Antonio García-Díaz, Camilo Caparros-Laiz and Rafael Valencia-García140

ix

UMUTeam@LT-EDI-ACL2022: Detecting Signs of Depression from text José Antonio García-Díaz and Rafael Valencia-García
bitsa_nlp@LT-EDI-ACL2022: Leveraging Pretrained Language Models for Detecting Homophobia and Transphobia in Social Media Comments Vitthal Bhandari and Poonam Goyal
ABLIMET @LT-EDI-ACL2022: A Roberta based Approach for Homophobia/Transphobia Detection in Social Media Abulimiti Maimaitituoheti
MUCIC@LT-EDI-ACL2022: Hope Speech Detection using Data Re-Sampling and 1D Conv-LSTM         Anusha M D Gowda, Fazlourrahman Balouchzahi, Hosahalli Lakshmaiah Shashirekha and Grigori Sidorov         161
DeepBlues@LT-EDI-ACL2022: Depression level detection modelling through domain specific BERT and short text Depression classifiers Nawshad Farruque, Osmar Zaiane, Randy Goebel and Sudhakar Sivapalan
SSN_ARMM@ LT-EDI -ACL2022: Hope Speech Detection for Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion Using ALBERT model Praveenkumar Vijayakumar, Prathyush S, Aravind P, Angel Deborah S, Rajalakshmi Sivanaiah, Sakaya Milton Rajendram and Mirnalinee T T
SUH_ASR@LT-EDI-ACL2022: Transformer based Approach for Speech Recognition for VulnerableIndividuals in TamilSuhasini S and Bharathi B177
LPS@LT-EDI-ACL2022:An Ensemble Approach about Hope Speech Detection         Yue Ying Zhu         183
CURAJ_IIITDWD@LT-EDI-ACL 2022: Hope Speech Detection in English YouTube Comments using Deep Learning Techniques Vanshita Jha, Ankit Kumar Mishra and Sunil Saumya190
<i>SSN_MLRG3</i> @ <i>LT-EDI-ACL2022-Depression Detection System from Social Media Text using Trans-</i> <i>former Models</i> Sarika Esackimuthu, Shruthi Hariprasad, Rajalakshmi Sivanaiah, Angel Deborah S, Sakaya Mil- ton Rajendram and Mirnalinee T T
BERT 4EVER@LT-EDI-ACL2022-Detecting signs of Depression from Social MediaDetecting Depres- sion in Social Media using Prompt-Learning and Word-Emotion Cluster Xiaotian Lin, Yingwen Fu, Ziyu Yang, Nankai Lin and Shengyi Jiang
CIC@LT-EDI-ACL2022: Are transformers the only hope? Hope speech detection for Spanish and English comments Fazlourrahman Balouchzahi, Sabur Butt, Grigori Sidorov and Alexander Gelbukh
<i>scubeMSEC@LT-EDI-ACL2022: Detection of Depression using Transformer Models</i> Sivamanikandan S, Santhosh V, Sanjaykumar N, Jerin Mahibha C and Thenmozhi Durairaj212
SSNCSE_NLP@LT-EDI-ACL2022:Hope Speech Detection for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion using sentence transformers Bharathi B, Dhanya Srinivasan, Josephine Varsha, Thenmozhi Durairaj and Senthil Kumar B 218

SOA_NLP@LT-EDI-ACL2022: An Ensemble Model for Hope Speech Detection from YouTube Comments
Abhinav Kumar, Sunil Saumya and Pradeep Kumar Roy
IIT Dhanbad @LT-EDI-ACL2022- Hope Speech Detection for Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion Vishesh Gupta, Ritesh Kumar and Rajendra Pamula
IISERB@LT-EDI-ACL2022: A Bag of Words and Document Embeddings Based Framework to Identify Severity of Depression Over Social Media Tanmay Basu
SSNCSE_NLP@LT-EDI-ACL2022: Homophobia/Transphobia Detection in Multiple Languages using SVM Classifiers and BERT-based Transformers Krithika Swaminathan, Bharathi B, Gayathri G L and Hrishik Sampath
KUCST@LT-EDI-ACL2022: Detecting Signs of Depression from Social Media Text         Manex Agirrezabal and Janek Amann       245
<i>E8-IJS@LT-EDI-ACL2022 - BERT, AutoML and Knowledge-graph backed Detection of Depression</i> Ilija Tavchioski, Boshko Koloski, Blaž Škrlj and Senja Pollak
<i>Nozza@LT-EDI-ACL2022: Ensemble Modeling for Homophobia and Transphobia Detection</i> Debora Nozza
KADO@LT-EDI-ACL2022: BERT-based Ensembles for Detecting Signs of Depression from Social Me- dia Text Morteza Japatdoust, Eatemeth Ebsani-Besheli and Hossein Zeinali
Sammaan@LT-EDI-ACL2022: Ensembled Transformers Against Homophobia and Transphobia Ishan Sanjeev Upadhyay, Kv Aditya Srivatsa and Radhika Mamidi
OPI@LT-EDI-ACL2022: Detecting Signs of Depression from Social Media Text using RoBERTa Pre- trained Language Models Rafał Poświata and Michał Wiktor Perełkiewicz
FilipN@LT-EDI-ACL2022-Detecting signs of Depression from Social Media: Examining the use of summarization methods as data augmentation for text classification Filip Nilsson and György Kovács
NAYEL @LT-EDI-ACL2022: Homophobia/Transphobia Detection for Equality, Diversity, and Inclu- sion using SVM Nsrin Ashraf, Mohamed Taha, Ahmed Taha Abd Elfattah and Hamada Nayel
giniUs @LT-EDI-ACL2022: Aasha: Transformers based Hope-EDI Harshul Raj Surana and Basavraj Chinagundi
SSN_MLRG1@LT-EDI-ACL2022: Multi-Class Classification using BERT models for Detecting Depression Signs from Social Media Text         Karun Anantharaman, Angel Deborah S, Rajalakshmi Sivanaiah, Saritha Madhavan and Sakaya         Milton Rajendram       296
DepressionOne@LT-EDI-ACL2022: Using Machine Learning with SMOTE and Random UnderSampling to Detect Signs of Depression on Social Media Text. Suman Dowlagar and Radhika Mamidi
<i>LeaningTower@LT-EDI-ACL2022: When Hope and Hate Collide</i> Arianna Muti, Marta Marchiori Manerba, Katerina Korre and Alberto Barrón-Cedeño 306

xi

MUCS@Text-LT-EDI@ACL 2022: Detecting Sign of Depression from Social Media Text using Super- vised Learning Approach Asha Hegde, Sharal Coelho, Ahmad Elyas Dashti and Hosahalli Lakshmaiah Shashirekha312
SSNCSE_NLP@LT-EDI-ACL2022: Speech Recognition for Vulnerable Individuals in Tamil using pre- trained XLSR models
Dhanya Srinivasan, Bharathi B, Thenmozhi Durairaj and Senthil Kumar B
IDIAP_TIET@LT-EDI-ACL2022 : Hope Speech Detection in Social Media using Contextualized BERT with Attention Mechanism
Deepanshu Khanna, Muskaan Singh and Petr Motlicek
SSN@LT-EDI-ACL2022: Transfer Learning using BERT for Detecting Signs of Depression from Social Media Texts
Adarsh S and Betina Antony 326
<i>Findings of the Shared Task on Detecting Signs of Depression from Social Media</i> Kayalvizhi S, Thenmozhi Durairaj, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi and Jerin Mahibha C 331
<i>Findings of the Shared Task on Speech Recognition for Vulnerable Individuals in Tamil</i> Bharathi B, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Subalalitha CN, Sripriya N, Arunaggiri Pandian and Swetha Valli
DLRG@LT-EDI-ACL2022:Detecting signs of Depression from Social Media using XGBoost Method Herbert Goldwin Sharen and Ratnavel Rajalakshmi
IDIAP Submission@LT-EDI-ACL2022 : Hope Speech Detection for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion         Muskaan Singh and Petr Motlicek         350
IDIAP Submission@LT-EDI-ACL2022: Homophobia/Transphobia Detection in social media comments Muskaan Singh and Petr Motlicek
IDIAP Submission@LT-EDI-ACL2022: Detecting Signs of Depression from Social Media Text Muskaan Singh and Petr Motlicek
Overview of The Shared Task on Homophobia and Transphobia Detection in Social Media Comments

Overview of the Shared Task on Hope Speech Detection for Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion

Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Vigneshwaran Muralidaran, Ruba Priyadharshini, Subalalitha CN, John Philip McCrae, Miguel Ángel García, Salud María Jiménez-Zafra, Rafael Valencia-García, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, Rahul Ponnusamy, Daniel García-Baena and José Antonio García-Díaz. 378

### Mind the data gap(s): Investigating power in speech and language datasets

Nina Markl Institute for Language, Cognition and Computation University of Edinburgh nina.markl@ed.ac.uk

### Abstract

Algorithmic oppression is an urgent and persistent problem in speech and language technologies. Considering power relations embedded in datasets before compiling or using them to train or test speech and language technologies is essential to designing less harmful, more just technologies. This paper presents a reflective exercise to recognise and challenge gaps and the power relations they reveal in speech and language datasets by applying principles of Data Feminism and Design Justice, and building on work on dataset documentation and sociolinguistics.

### 1 Introduction

Algorithmic systems disproportionately harm marginalised communities by reproducing existing structures of oppression within a society in a process called algorithmic oppression (Hampton, 2021). These harms occur in all contexts where AI is applied to people, including speech and language technologies (SLTs) (Blodgett et al., 2020; Bender et al., 2021). Understanding power relations in the datasets used to train and test SLTs is essential to designing fundamentally more just and less harm-ful technologies. In this paper, I suggest reflecting on the gaps in the content and documentation of language datasets as a way to guide data compila-tion (Benjamin, 2021) and the re-use of existing datasets in appropriate contexts (Koch et al., 2021).

The aim of this paper is to contribute to a (long overdue) conversation about power, representation and bias in SLTs (see e.g., Blodgett et al., 2020; Field et al., 2021; Havens et al., 2020). It is grounded in the understanding that (language) technologies are political tools which cannot be "neutral". Unless they are explicitly designed to benefit marginalised communities, they will (re)produce existing structures of oppression and cause harm (Benjamin, 2019; Nee et al., 2021; Field et al.,

2021). One way of approaching algorithmic oppression has been to carefully document the datasets used to train and test machine learning systems. Gebru et al. (2021) provide a highly influential documentation framework which can be applied to all AI datasets and Bender and Friedman (2018) introduce an approach to documentation specific to datasets for natural language processing, which I draw on here. This transparency can help to anticipate "predictive bias", a systematic difference in error rates for different groups (Shah et al., 2020), which is one (but not the only) outcome of algorithmic oppression. Detailed documentation is absolutely crucial to not just equitable, but fundamentally useful SLTs because it allows practitioners to choose appropriate datasets for a particular task. By definition, documentation is interested in what is included in a dataset. To highlight power inequities, it's also useful to think about what is *missing* from a dataset. In SLTs, the exclusion of particular ways of using language (accents, dialects, etc.) can lead to the exclusion of communities. This paper is an invitation to reflect on why these "data gaps" exist, who is harmed by them and how this harm could be prevented. The questions I propose here are not exhaustive or definitive, and addressing them may be difficult in many cases. The point is not to create the "perfect" dataset but to highlight that all (language) datasets involve power relations.

In the context of limiting harm and challenging power, thinking carefully about the appropriateness of any (language) technology in a particular context is fundamental<sup>1</sup>. In some cases, the most effective way to challenge power is to refuse to build the technology or compile the dataset (Baumer and Silberman, 2011; Cifor et al., 2019). Just as technologies are not "neutral", they are also not inevitable. A technological "fix" to a structural social problem will often fall short (Greene, 2021; Broussard,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>I'd like to thank an anonymous reviewer for pointing out the omission of this "step" in the original framing of this paper.

2019). Moreover, entirely "unbiased" (in the narrow sense of predictive bias) and "inclusive" language technologies can be at least equally harmful to marginalised communities, as "inclusion" can expose communities to further marginalisation and violence (Hoffmann, 2021). For example, automatic speech recognition systems are used in US prisons to monitor phone calls between incarcerated people and their friends, families and legal support (Asher-Schapiro and Sherfinski, 2021). In this context, "better" or "more accurate" speech recognition based on "more diverse" or "inclusive" speech datasets may make it easier for authorities to harm incarcerated people and their communities. Inclusion in datasets owned by technology corporations or public or governmental institutions can further mean that the "data", i.e. voices of these communities, is no longer owned by or even accessible to them. As a first step in any SLT data compilation process it is therefore crucial to consider and ideally directly involve the affected language communities to understand their own needs and desires with respect to language technology, and to avoid perpetuating a long history of colonial approaches to data and language in which communities, especially in the Global South, are exploited by academic institutions, (neo)colonial states and multinational corporations (Heller and McElhinny; Bird, 2020; Birhane, 2020; Coffey, 2021).

In contexts where we do choose to use or compile a dataset, we need to be aware of how power operates within it. The goal is not just to identify or mitigate biases once a system is ready for deployment, to for example, "retrofit against racism" (Costanza-Chock, 2020, 60). Instead, similarly to Bender and Friedman (2018), I argue that these questions should guide the (dataset) design process. Although it may be too late to change the way the data was compiled when reusing a dataset (Koch et al., 2021), it is still useful to critically reflect on the contents and context of the dataset, to ensure it is appropriate. Since it's impossible to evaluate potential or actual harms of data gaps in isolation, this should be done with a particular deployment context in mind. I consider two examples, not to prove that datasets contain imbalances, but to illustrate the framework: Mozilla's Common Voice English (release 7.0) (Ardila et al., 2020) and the Linguistic Data Consortium's Switchboard-2 (Graff et al., 1998, 1999) used to train and test automatic speech recognition (ASR) systems. I chose

these datasets because they were compiled in quite different ways, by different types of institutions, for different purposes and contain different data gaps as a result: CommonVoice is a crowd-sourced speech dataset compiled by Mozilla with the explicit aim to create "diverse" speech datasets for ASR development, while Switchboard-2 is a collection of telephone conversations collected by the Linguistic Data Consortium, an academic institution, to develop speaker recognition systems.

### 2 Background

### 2.1 Data, power, feminism and justice

"Data" is always socially constructed and situated within a specific cultural, social and historical context (Havens et al., 2020; Benjamin, 2021; Taffel, 2021; Guyan, 2022). The "compilation" or "curation" of datasets involves complex social processes in which practitioners decide what (and who) to include or exclude and how to label or annotate the "data" (Benjamin, 2021; Paullada et al., 2021). These decisions are both shaped by and in turn reproduce existing power relations within a society.

I use the term "power" to refer to the structural position a particular social group occupies in relations to others. Because these social hierarchies as well as relevant categories or groups within them are socially constructed, they vary depending on the cultural and historical context (see e.g., Saini, 2019, on race). Over the past century, constructs of race, gender and sexuality, (dis)ability, class, age and nationality have been used in a global and many local contexts to secure and uphold the dominant position of white people, in particular those who are cisgender, heterosexual, able-bodied, wealthy, men, and/or from the Global North. Hill Collins (2000 [1990], 227) introduces the concept of the matrix of domination to describe "the overall social organization within which intersecting oppressions originate, develop, and are contained". It encompasses social, cultural and legal institutions which uphold the dominant position of some groups, while marginalising others, for example through laws and policies (or their enforcement and application), as well as cultural discourses and ideologies and everyday social interaction (Hill Collins, 2000 [1990], pp 282). By "intersecting oppressions", Hill Collins (2000 [1990]) refers to fact that these categories are not separate or separable, but rather produced by interlocking systems of oppression such as white supremacy and

patriarchy (see also "intersectionality" as coined by Crenshaw, 1989).<sup>2</sup> This complex understanding of power also accounts for the fact that groups who are marginalised by one of those systems, can be privileged by another system and hold power, for example white women (see Lorde, 2017 [1984]).

This paper draws on a feminist perspective on data and power, in particular as articulated by D'Ignazio and Klein (2020). Feminism is not an unproblematic framing. Many feminists and feminisms (past and present) exclude, ignore and/or harm marginalised people of all genders, in particular people of colour, Black people and trans\* and non-binary people (Vergès, 2021; Olufemi, 2020; Faye, 2021). In academia and other (neoliberal) institutions the concept of intersectionality is further frequently co-opted and misrepresented in a, ahistorical, "depoliticised" and often explicitly deracialised fashion (Bilge, 2013; Tomlinson, 2013). The invocation of and commitment to "ornamental intersectionality", and notions of "equality", "diversity" and "inclusion" can further serve to symbolically address structural inequalities without in any way redressing them (Bilge, 2013; Hoffmann, 2021). Mindful of both this misuse of radical frameworks to which praxis is central, and the genuine harm that has been perpetrated under the guise of "feminism", I understand "feminist work [as] justice work" (Olufemi, 2020, 5) which seeks to challenge all systems of oppression. It is a way of making sense of the world(s) we live in and of organising (for) world(s) we can and want to flourish in. As such, it is for everyone and (potentially) by everyone who wants to understand and challenge existing power structures.

I build directly on D'Ignazio and Klein's seven principles of "Data Feminism": "examine power", "challenge power", "elevate emotion and embodiment", "rethink binaries and hierarchies", "embrace pluralism", "consider context" and "make labor visibile" (D'Ignazio and Klein, 2020, 17-18). I am also drawing on "Design Justice" as a way of understanding how (technology) design reproduces structural oppression and an approach to reimagining those design processes (see Costanza-Chock, 2020, 23)<sup>3</sup>. The principles of Design Justice focus on using design to empower communities, centering the voices of those who are impacted by (tech-

<sup>2</sup>While the term "intersectionality" was coined by Crenshaw, the concept has a longer genealogy in Black feminist thought (Hill Collins, 2000 [1990]; Cooper, 2016). nology) design and working towards sustainable and community-controlled designs.

### 2.2 Language and power

In the context of SLTs, the "data" is language data, such as text and speech recordings where power relations are extremely salient. (Dominant) discourses about marginalised groups (including harmful stereotypes and hateful rhetoric) are reflected and propagated through language. We therefore need to pay close attention to the way marginalised groups are talked about in language datasets.

Language users harness the variation inherent to language to construct social identities and social meaning (Bucholtz and Hall, 2005). Particular ways of speaking (e.g., accents, dialects) can express specific social meanings and become closely associated with a particular way of being in the world (e.g., a specific subculture or social group) (Eckert, 2008). The accents or dialects spoken by elites become associated with (markers of) prestige, while those used by marginalised groups become associated with (markers of) marginalisation (Rosa and Burdick, 2016; Irvine and Gal, 2000). As a result, *whose language* is included matters not just because of *what* is said, but also, *how* it is said.

### **3** Power in language datasets

"Challenge power. Data feminism commits to challenging unequal power structures and working toward justice."(D'Ignazio and Klein, 2020, 17)

I use the term "algorithmic oppression" as introduced by Noble (2018) and discussed in depth by Hampton (2021) very deliberately to draw attention to the fact that the "biased" system behaviours we observe, rather than being "bugs" which only require a technical fix, are the (mostly predictable) reproduction of existing structural oppression in machine learning systems. The gaps in data and documentation we identify in datasets are also caused by structural factors. To challenge power, therefore specifically means pushing for structural, societal change. Technical fixes, such as "debiasing" word embeddings capturing sexism and racism, don't address the underlying societal context (and sometimes merely hide "bias" (Gonen and Goldberg, 2019)).

What does it mean to "challenge power" when compiling or using datasets then? D'Ignazio and Klein (2020) showcase projects which compile "counterdata" filling (deliberate) gaps. For example

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Design Justice Network: https://designjustice.org/

a 1971 map compiled by the Detroit Geographic Expedition and Institute to highlight the disproportionate rate at which Black children were killed by white drivers (D'Ignazio and Klein, 2020, 49). Another way of challenging power using data is to analyse the way oppression is manifested in data, but importantly (data) feminism also encourages us to go beyond critiques of the world as it currently is to imagining the world as it ought to be. As noted above, sometimes the way to challenge power is refusal: refusal to compile data, refusal to share data or refusal to (re)use data (Cifor et al., 2019). However, when we choose to engage with data(sets), we can challenge power by investigating and highlighting power relations. While this is unlikely to prevent all harm, it allows use to act more carefully and hopefully reduce harm.

I outline three steps in reflecting on power relations reproduced in SLT datasets to guide the compilation or selection of a dataset. The first is to identify gaps in data and documentation and their consequences to analyse power relations. The second involves asking *why* those gaps exist (and persist) given the broader context. The final step is about imagining alternative ways of compiling and using the dataset to create more just, less harmful technologies.

#### 3.1 Who and what is missing?

### "Examine power. Data feminism begins by analyzing how power operates in the world." (D'Ignazio and Klein, 2020, 17)

As outlined above, the way broader power structures in society are maintained can be understood through the matrix of domination (Hill Collins, 2000 [1990]). In the context of language technologies, we can ask how these structures are reflected in language datasets. Because linguistic variation (in word choice, in pronunciation, etc) is deeply intertwined with social identity, *who* is included is not just important because of *what* they say, but also *how* they say it. Bender and Friedman (2018) lay out an extensive (and excellent) questionnaire to produce a "data statement". They are particularly interested in *who* the *speakers*, *annotators*, *curators* and *stakeholders* are (for definitions of these terms see Bender and Friedman, 2018).

We can also start by minding the gap(s): both who's not included in the dataset (compilation) and what's not specified in the documentation can be revealing. These gaps provide insights in who or what "doesn't matter" (to the curators, and often, society writ large) (Guyan, 2022), as illustrated by Mimi Onuoha's Library of missing datasets (Onuoha,  $2016)^4$ . Key questions to ask at this juncture concern the language variety and speech situation: Whose voices and whose language varieties are missing? Are included topics centering dominant perspectives and/or harmful discourses to the exclusion of alternatives? Are included genres likely to under- or misrepresent marginalised voices? We also need to question who the stakeholders are and what the curation rationale is: Who benefits from the data collection and who is harmed? Who plans the data collection and who owns the data? Lastly, we need to focus on the annotators and their work: Who categorises and annotates the data and how?

### 3.2 Who is harmed in what ways?

"Elevate emotion and embodiment. Data feminism teaches us to value multiple forms of knowledge, including the knowledge that comes from people as living, feeling bodies in the world." (D'Ignazio and Klein, 2020, 18)

The power inequities identified in the previous step directly relate to reported or potential harms of a SLTs. Where marginalised speech communities (e.g. speakers of a particular accent or dialect) are under-represented in training data, they might be adversely affected by algorithmic oppression. For example, US English commercial ASR works worse for speakers of African American English (Koenecke et al., 2020; Martin and Tang, 2020) and hate speech detection tools disproportionately flag "obscene" language used in neutral or positive ways by, for example, queer communities (Dias Oliva et al., 2021). In addition to under-representation, there is also potential for misrepresentation: Bender et al. (2021) note that marginalised groups are often misrepresented in text data drawn from the internet (see also Tripodi, 2021; Sun and Peng, 2021), which can lead to the reproduction of harmful stereotypes and dominant ideologies (such as islamophobia), further entrenching their marginalised position (Abid et al., 2021). Who annotates (linguistic) data also matters, as annotators' familiarity with particular accents and dialects as well as their own positionality affects how and how accurately they classify data (Sap et al., 2019). In other words, as Waseem et al. (2021) point out, despite the "disembodied" fram-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>https://github.com/MimiOnuoha/missing-datasets

ing of machine learning systems, the embodiment of speakers, annotators and curators involved in dataset compilation (and deployment) matters.

Listening to the concerns and experiences of marginalised communities in the understanding that knowledge is embodied and that emotions are a central way we experience and "know" the world (Hill Collins, 2000 [1990]; Haraway, 1988), can also help us understand the harms of algorithmic oppression. A deployed system could cause representational harms (e.g. reproduction of harmful stereotypes in natural language generation) or allocative harms (e.g. exclusion from social media service based on erroneous "hate speech detection") (Barocas et al., 2019) both of which impact what speakers can do and how they feel. Costanza-Chock (2020, 45) describes some harms of algorithmic oppression as "microagressions", which may be comparatively low-stakes inconveniences but are nevertheless (potentially painful) reminders who something is designed for. Of course, what counts as an "inconvenience" is also highly dependent on positionality: people who find keyboards or touchscreens difficult to use or find writing difficult may rely on ASR tools for many tasks.

### 3.3 Why are there gaps?

"Consider context. Data feminism asserts that data are not neutral or objective. They are the products of unequal social relations, and this context is essential for conducting accurate, ethical analysis." (D'Ignazio and Klein, 2020, 18)

Once we have identified who and what is excluded from a dataset and what the potential or actual harms of this of those exclusions are, we need to interrogate why those decisions were made. Recognising the broader social, historical, and technical context in which a dataset was compiled helps us in exploring potential reasons. We can consider for what purpose the dataset was compiled and whether it meets that purpose, what current use cases are and how it differs from other datasets. Specifically, we can ask *why* particular language varieties, genres, topics, speakers and stakeholders were prioritised, based on how, by whom, where and when the dataset was compiled. We can also question the labels and annotations applied to the dataset. Importantly, even if we find that designers were well-intentioned, or that broader social contexts can "explain" why a dataset contains gaps, that's not an excuse, especially if there are harms.

#### 3.4 Who does the work?

"Make labor visible. The work of data science, like all work in the world, is the work of many hands. Data feminism makes this labor visible so that it can be recognized and valued." (D'Ignazio and Klein, 2020, 18)

This is about the annotators, speakers, curators identified in the previous step. We need to ask how were they: trained, paid, rewarded, acknowledged. Considering how the people involved in compiling a dataset were trained, and who paid for their labour helps us understand the decisions they made (Birhane et al., 2021). Reflecting on much they were paid or how they were acknowledged for their work is not just useful to understand their motivation though, but also a reminder that dataset compilation is (crucial) skilled labour which should be fairly renumerated (Gray and Suri, 2019).

### 3.5 How could this be different?

The final step of the reflection is one of *imagination*. While this may appear unusual or "untechnical", considering how something could have been built differently or how we would like something to be, is useful because it: a) reminds us that technologies are built by people and that, b) technologies can be built differently.

We can reflect on what an ideal dataset for the given purpose would look like. If we've identified many "data gaps" or "documentation gaps", how would we go about filling them? In the current context, it's helpful to reflect on how the data compilation (including sampling and annotation) could be or could have been done differently. We can broadly draw on two principles of Data Feminism to fill data gaps: rethinking binaries and hierarchies, and embracing pluralism.

### 3.5.1 Rethink binaries and hierarchies

"Rethink binaries and hierarchies. Data feminism requires us to challenge the gender binary, along with other systems of counting and classification that perpetuate oppression." (D'Ignazio and Klein, 2020, 18)

One way of challenging power in datasets is to question the way both the speakers and their language data is documented and categorised. Categorisation is never "neutral", as both relevant areas of classification and the categories within them are socially constructed (Bowker and Star, 2000). In the context of speakers we need to ask: which broad axes are used to classify them (e.g. "gender") and what are the subcategories within them (e.g. "non-binary", "female", "male")? These systems of classification are central to the way oppression works because they establish hierarchies, often consisting of binaries, which shape our lives in a million ways. As a result of the way power and identity is (re)produced through language, in many contexts gender, race, ethnicity, social class and education are particularly relevant. How these social categories are operationalised within data documentation matters, and is itself an ideological choice that risks reifying or naturalising a particular frame of a fundamentally harmful way of categorising people. "Boundaries" between socially constructed categories such as "race" or "gender" are furthermore contingent on the historical, social and cultural context (Hanna et al., 2020; Guyan, 2022). Here, documentation gaps may also be intentional: contributors may choose not to disclose certain aspects of their identity or experience and in some contexts legal and/or institutional restrictions may prevent them from being included (Andrus et al., 2021; Bennett and Keyes, 2020; Guyan, 2022; Hoffmann, 2021). However, if this information is missing, it's often impossible to disaggregate the performance of an SLT system for different (sub)populations and account for differences caused by oppressive structures we seek to challenge. This leaves us in a complicated (and perhaps uncomfortable) position: missing documentation about contributors and annotations makes it harder to examine and challenge power, and existing documentation can reify existing hierarchies and binaries unless we work to contextualise and destabilise them. Similarly, both exclusion and inclusion of marginalised communities can expose them to harms depending on the context.

### 3.5.2 Embrace pluralism

"Embrace pluralism. Data feminism insists that the most complete knowledge comes from synthesizing multiple perspectives, with priority given to local, Indigenous, and experiential ways of knowing."(D'Ignazio and Klein, 2020, 18)

One way of addressing data gaps is to change the way we collect and annotate data. Design Justice principles urge us to centre the voices and needs of marginalised communities in design. Directly and meaningfully involving marginalised communities as co-designers is therefore central to designing equitable technologies. For example, while recruiting students is often convenient and cheap, they have (by definition) a particular educational background, and in the United Kingdom for example, the resulting sample is likely to over-represent young, white, non-disabled middle class English native speakers. Similarly, crowdsourcing via the internet has the potential to be more inclusive, in practise there are still many potential barriers in terms of interface design, access to necessary hardware and software, availability of free time and relevant skills as well as feeling welcome and included within the project. Some of the exclusions are also the result of explicit, established practises. Speakers who report any speech or hearing impairments are commonly excluded from datasets used for speech and language research and technology development (Henner and Robinson, 2021). Second language speakers and multilingual speakers are also routinely excluded.<sup>5</sup>

Embracing pluralism also means thinking about the complications that come with "pluralism". (Language) communities are not monoliths and might well on whether and how their language is represented and used in technology. Incorporating and working with (linguistic) variation in language datasets is important but not trivial.

### 4 Examples

#### 4.1 Common Voice English

Common Voice English is part of a project to collect open-source crowd-sourced speech corpora for a wide range of languages and as a fairly large dataset is suitable for training current (end-to-end) ASR systems (Ardila et al., 2020). The release of Common Voice English considered here is 7.0, and all documentation analysed here is drawn from the Common Voice website<sup>6</sup> and (where indicated) Ardila et al. (2020), which introduced the corpus.

### 4.1.1 Who and what is missing?

**Q:** Whose voices & language varieties are missing? **A:** The 2021 release of Common Voice English (7.0) contains 2,015 hours of (validated) speech submitted by over 75,000 speakers some of whom opted to provide some information about their gender and accent (see Figure 1 for full breakdown).

There are important gaps in documentation: 51% of recordings are not assigned an accent label. Although Mozilla allows users to choose the label

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>It is telling that these gaps in speech science and technology research have hardly received comment or critique.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>https://commonvoice.mozilla.org/, accessed 17/02/2022

Accent 23% United States English, 8% England English, 7% India and South Asia (India, Pakistan, Sri Lanka), 3% Canadian English, 3% Australian English, 2% Scottish English, 1% New Zealand English, 1% Southern African (South Africa, Zimbabwe, Namibia), 1% Irish English Age 24% 19 - 29, 13% 30 - 39, 10% 40 - 49, 6% < 19, 4% 60 - 69, 4% 50 - 59, 1% 70 - 79

45% Male, 15% Female

Figure 1: Screenshot of Common Voice English release 7.0 documentation (Accessed 17/02/2022).

"other" as a gender label, the documentation on the website only includes "male" and "female" speakers, and 40% of speakers are unaccounted for. There are also gaps in the data: only 15% of speakers identify as female (45% male), and only 15% are aged under 19 or over 50. While there is a range of varieties of English, only few speakers are from the Global South, with many global Englishes from Africa and Asia missing.

**Q:** Who plans data compilation & owns the data? **A:** The corpus compilation is managed and designed by Mozilla with input from volunteers. Datasets are licensed under CC-0<sup>7</sup>, meaning that they can be freely (re)used for any purpose.

**Q:** Which topics/genres/styles are included? What are likely risks of under- or misrepresentation?

A: Contributors are prompted to read sentences from public domain texts, including from film scripts and Wikipedia<sup>8</sup>. These are likely to reflect Standard English. There is some risk they misrepresent marginalised communities or contain stereotypes which perhaps mitigated by the fact language models used in ASR systems are very constrained because they are only used to decode already recognised phones (or strings of phones) (Bender et al., 2021).

**Q:** Who benefits from data compilation & who is harmed?

A: The validated datasets are open-source, so they could, in theory at least, benefit anyone who would like to use them for speech technology development. In practise the groups of people who can use open-source datasets, especially to train computationally expensive speech recognition tools is more limited and includes researchers in academia and

voice/tree/main/server/data/en

industry (including at Mozilla). It is unclear that anyone is harmed in the data compilation process as contributors consent to making their recordings and associated information publicly available.

**Q:** Who annotates the data and how?

A: Speakers are encouraged (but not obligated) to provide their age, gender and choose an accent label from a drop-down list.<sup>9</sup> Recordings are validated by other volunteers via an interface<sup>10</sup>: after listening to the recording they are asked to confirm whether the utterance matches the prompt. Mozilla encourages volunteers to be mindful of accent variation when completing this task<sup>11</sup> but does not take annotator demographics into account.

**Q:** What are (potential) downstream harms of data gaps and documentation gaps?

A: DeepSpeech trained on an earlier iteration of Common Voice performed worse for African American English speakers, an outcome that could not have been anticipated from the documentation (Martin and Tang, 2020). Speakers of underrepresented varieties have a harder time using the resulting SLTs and report dissatisfaction. Mengesha et al. (2021) document that African American users of a (different) American English ASR tool felt "frustrated", "disappointed" and "angry" at errors which some of them attributed to their own way of speaking.

### 4.1.2 Consider Context

**Q:** What is the stated purpose of this dataset? Does it fulfil this purpose?

A: Common Voice is explicitly designed to capture a diverse range of voices, to enable speech and language technology development for minoritised and "low-resource" varieties and languages. In the context of English, this goal is not quite met. Only 49% of the recordings are labelled for accent, which makes it difficult to meaningfully assess the diversity of the corpus. Most of the labelled data represents US English or English English, the two most prestigious and best-resourced varieties.

**Q:** Why are some varieties and speakers excluded or underrepresented?

A: Mozilla notes on the website that contributions from a wide range of speakers are welcome, including groups usually under-represented in speech

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>https://creativecommons.org/publicdomain/zero/1.0/ <sup>8</sup>https://github.com/common-voice/common-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>Since 2022 speakers can self-describe their accent (Mozilla Common Voice, 2022; Mozilla Common Voice: Community Playbook)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>https://commonvoice.mozilla.org/en/listen

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>https://commonvoice.mozilla.org/en/criteria

datasets such as second language speakers. However, like other crowdsourced projects, contributors are most likely to be young men<sup>12</sup>, and more broadly, speakers from the United States and the United Kingdom. Likely factors shaping these skews include unequal access to technologies and skills privileging (younger) speakers from more affluent backgrounds. Attitudes and ideologies about what "counts" as ("good") "English" may further discourage speakers of minoritised varieties. Members of marginalised communities might also choose not to participate in crowd-sourced projects because they don't *want* (their voices or language) to be included in these datasets and the technologies they power. The problem of documentation gaps such as the fact that 51% of recordings are not associated with an accent label may be the result of the interface design as contributors are not obligated (or particularly strongly encouraged) to provide any information about themselves.

**Q:** Why are some genres/topics styles excluded or underrepresented?

A: Short snippets of read speech were probably chosen over conversational speech because they do not require expensive and laborious transcription. The use of sentences drawn from Wikipedia favours formal speech styles in standard(ised) English.

**Q:** How are speakers and annotators trained, paid, rewarded and acknowledged?

A: Speakers and annotators are (anonymous) volunteers. Aside from appearing on a leader board of top contributors, and setting custom goals there are no rewards. There is no required training for annotation or speaking, though volunteers are encouraged to read a short manual.

**Q:** Who funds the dataset compilation?

**A:** Work on Common Voice is supported by the Mozilla Foundation, investment from other organisations and grants (Mozilla, 2021b,a).

### 4.1.3 Re-imagine

**Q:** How could documentation gaps be filled?

A: Requiring speakers and annotators to provide some basic information about their linguistic background, gender and age could go a long way to fill documentation gaps. While this change could make the dataset more useful, it would also involve "taking" more private data from the contributors and lead some contributors to either not contribute or provide "incorrect" information. Actively encouraging contributors to provide basic information, informing them about the way this data will be used might alleviate some concerns.

**Q:** How could data gaps be filled?

**A:** Increasing participation from under-represented groups is likely difficult but could perhaps be achieved with targeted, local campaigns, similar to Wikipedia Edit-a-thons<sup>13</sup> with very clear downstream applications and use-cases designed by or with the relevant language communities.

**Q:** Do documentation and data gaps constrain appropriate use cases?

A: The documentation gaps mean that it's very difficult to anticipate or evaluate predictive bias using this dataset, as only small portions of it are fully labelled. ASR systems trained on datasets underrepresenting women have been shown to perform worse for female speakers (Garnerin et al., 2021). The data gaps suggest that we should be careful when training ASR systems on Common Voice.

### 4.2 Switchboard

Subsets of Switchboard-2 are well-established benchmarks for conversational ASR (e.g., Hannun et al., 2014; Tüske et al., 2020)<sup>14</sup>. All information here is drawn from the (more detailed) documentation of Switchboard-2 (Graff et al., 1998, 1999).

### 4.2.1 Who and what is missing?

**Q:** Whose voices & language varieties are missing? **A:** .The Switchboard-2 (SWB-2) corpus contains (US) English telephone conversations between strangers recorded in the late 1990s. SWB-2 was compiled in two phases, with 657 and 679 speakers respectively (though some appear in both), and a total of a about 8,000 minutes of audio. Most of the SWB-2 speakers were students at US universities, the average age was around 24 years (underrepresenting older people), slightly more than half were female, and most were born and raised in the United States (mostly on the East Coast and the Midwest). Speakers' race or ethnicity is not recorded, the city and state they were raised in serves as a proxy for accent.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>Wikipedia has a long-standing an persistent gender gap among contributors: https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Gender\_bias\_on\_Wikipedia

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Edit-a-thon

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>The most popular benchmarks using Switchboard are the Hub5 English evaluation sets (LDC2002S23, LDC2002S09) which include a subset of Switchboard and a subset of CallHome, another LDC corpus, featuring telephone conversations between friends and family members: https://paperswithcode.com/sota/speech-recognition-onswitchboard-hub500

**Q:** Who plans data compilation & owns the data? **A:** The Linguistic Data Consortium (LDC) planned the data compilation, owns and licenses the data.

**Q:** Which topics/genres/styles are included? What are likely risks of under- or misrepresentation?

A: The speech style is conversational. Topics and specific prompts suggested by LDC include uncontroversial topics (e.g., preferences for food, travel, pop culture, sports) and controversial topics (e.g., gun control, capital punishment, immigration, health care, changing gender roles) apparently designed to spark discussion. The latter could elicit dominant and/or harmful discourses about marginalised groups (e.g. migrants).

**Q:** Who benefits from data compilation & who is harmed?

A: The LDC and broader academic research community benefited from the compilation of the dataset. It is unclear that anyone was harmed directly by the way the recordings were collected, although some of the topics may have been uncomfortable for some speakers.

**Q:** Who annotates the data and how?

A: Demographic information about the speakers was collected by members of the research team during recruitment. Only subsets of SWB-1 and SWB-2 were orthographically transcribed (https://catalog.ldc.upenn.edu/LDC2003T02).

**Q:** What are (potential) downstream harms of data gaps and documentation gaps?

A: Speaker ethnicity or race is not recorded in SWB, but Martin (2021) shows that written African American English (AAE) is under-represented in the transcripts. Similarly, most speakers are young adults and have high levels of education, and almost all of them appear to be native speakers of a variety of US English. In the use of the corpus as a benchmark set this under-representation could cause evaluation bias (Suresh and Guttag, 2021): it's not possible to draw conclusions about the performance of a given system for a diverse range of users (including AAE speakers, second language speakers, older speakers) if they are not represented in the test set.

### 4.2.2 Consider context

**Q:** What is the stated purpose of this dataset? Does it fulfil this purpose?

**A:** SWB-2 (full dataset) was collected to research and develop speaker recognition techniques. Today subsets are used to evaluate conversational ASR systems.

**Q:** Why are some varieties and speakers excluded or underrepresented?

A: The skew towards young, highly educated, first language speakers of English is probably the result of the sampling method: speakers were primarily recruited via universities and personal networks of researchers.

**Q:** Why are some genres/topics/styles excluded or underrepresented?

**A:** Even though the speech style is more conversational and naturalistic than in other corpora (e.g. read speech in TIMIT), it might still be quite formal because the interlocutors don't know each other.

**Q:** How are speakers and annotators trained, paid, rewarded and acknowledged?

A: Speakers were paid after participation (the documentation does not mention the sum). Recordings were checked for audio quality, transcribed and annotated by members of the research team.

Q: Who funds the dataset compilation?

**A:** The compilation of Switchboard was funded by the US Department of Defense.

### 4.2.3 Re-imagine

Q: How could documentation gaps be filled?

A: Including information about speakers' race or ethnicity would have been quite simple (and was done for other LDC corpora, like TIMIT) but could have raised ethical challenges.

**Q:** How could data gaps be filled?

A: Specifically sampling participants from underrepresented groups might have been achieved with a different sampling strategy, for example by advertising more widely or reaching out to particular communities via institutions like schools.

**Q:** Do documentation and data gaps constrain appropriate use cases?

**A:** The documentation gaps mean that it's very difficult to anticipate or evaluate predictive bias using this dataset, especially with respect to race.

### **5** Acknowledgments

This work was supported by the UKRI Centre for Doctoral Training in Natural Language Processing, funded by the UKRI (grant EP/S022481/1) and the University of Edinburgh, School of Informatics and School of Philosophy, Psychology & Language Sciences. I'd like to thank Catherine Lai, Lauren Hall-Lew, Gilly Marchini, Stephen McNulty and three anonymous reviewers for their comments.

### References

- Abubakar Abid, Maheen Farooqi, and James Zou. 2021. Persistent anti-muslim bias in large language models. *CoRR*, abs/2101.05783.
- McKane Andrus, Elena Spitzer, Jeffrey Brown, and Alice Xiang. 2021. What we cant measure, we cant understand. In *Proceedings of the 2021 ACM conference on fairness, accountability, and transparency.* ACM.
- R. Ardila, M. Branson, K. Davis, M. Henretty, M. Kohler, J. Meyer, R. Morais, L. Saunders, F. M. Tyers, and G. Weber. 2020. Common voice: A massively-multilingual speech corpus. In *Proceedings of the 12th Conference on Language Resources and Evaluation (LREC 2020)*, pages 4211–4215.
- Avi Asher-Schapiro and David Sherfinski. 2021. U.S. prisons are installing AI-powered surveillance to fight crime, documents seen by the Thomson Reuters Foundation show, but critics say privacy rights are being trampled. *Thomson Reuters Foundation News*.
- Solon Barocas, Moritz Hardt, and Arvind Narayanan. 2019. *Fairness and Machine Learning*. fairmlbook.org. http://www.fairmlbook.org.
- Eric P.S. Baumer and M. Six Silberman. 2011. When the implication is not to design (technology). In *Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, CHI '11, pages 2271– 2274. Association for Computing Machinery.
- Emily M. Bender and Batya Friedman. 2018. Data Statements for Natural Language Processing: Toward Mitigating System Bias and Enabling Better Science. *Transactions of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, 6:587–604.
- Emily M. Bender, Timnit Gebru, Angelina McMillan-Major, and Shmargaret Shmitchell. 2021. On the dangers of stochastic parrots: Can language models be too big? In Proceedings of the 2021 ACM Conference on Fairness, Accountability, and Transparency, FAccT '21, page 610–623, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.
- Garfield Benjamin. 2021. What we do with data: A performative critique of data 'collection'. *Internet Policy Review*, 10(4).
- Ruha Benjamin. 2019. Race after technology : abolitionist tools for the New Jim Code. Polity Press, Newark.
- Cynthia L. Bennett and Os Keyes. 2020. What is the point of fairness? Disability, AI and the complexity of justice. *SIGACCESS Access. Comput.*, (125).
- Sirma Bilge. 2013. INTERSECTIONALITY UN-DONE: Saving Intersectionality from Feminist Intersectionality Studies. *Du Bois Review: Social Science Research on Race*, 10(2):405–424.

- Steven Bird. 2020. Decolonising speech and language technology. In Proceedings of the 28th international conference on computational linguistics, pages 3504– 3519, Barcelona, Spain (Online). International Committee on Computational Linguistics.
- Abeba Birhane. 2020. Algorithmic colonization of Africa. *SCRIPTed*, 17(2):389–409.
- Abeba Birhane, Pratyusha Kalluri, Dallas Card, William Agnew, Ravit Dotan, and Michelle Bao. 2021. The values encoded in machine learning research.
- Su Lin Blodgett, Solon Barocas, Hal Daumé III, and Hanna Wallach. 2020. Language (technology) is power: A critical survey of "bias" in NLP. In *Proceedings of the 58th annual meeting of the association for computational linguistics*, pages 5454–5476, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Geoffrey C. Bowker and Susan Leigh Star. 2000. Sorting Things Out: Classification and Its Consequences. The MIT Press.
- Meredith Broussard. 2019. Artificial Unintelligence: How Computers Misunderstand the World. The MIT Press.
- Mary Bucholtz and Kira Hall. 2005. Identity and interaction: A sociocultural linguistic approach. *Discourse Studies*, 7(4-5):585–614.
- M. Cifor, P. Garcia, T.L. Cowan, J. Rault, T. Sutherland, A. Chan, J. Rode, A.L. Hoffmann, N. Salehi, and L. Nakamura. 2019. Feminist Data Manifest-No.
- Donavyn Coffey. 2021. Māori are trying to save their language from Big Tech. *Wired*.
- Brittney Cooper. 2016. Intersectionality. In Lisa Disch and Mary Hawkesworth, editors, *The Oxford Handbook of Feminist Theory*, volume 1. Oxford University Press.
- Sasha Costanza-Chock. 2020. *Design Justice*. MIT Press.
- Kimberle Crenshaw. 1989. Demarginalizing the Intersection of Race and Sex: A Black Feminist Critique of Antidiscrimination Doctrine, Feminist Theory and Antiracist Politics. University of Chicago Legal Forum, 1989(1).
- Thiago Dias Oliva, Dennys Marcelo Antonialli, and Alessandra Gomes. 2021. Fighting Hate Speech, Silencing Drag Queens? artificial Intelligence in Content Moderation and Risks to LGBTQ Voices Online. *Sexuality & Culture*, 25(2):700–732.
- Catherine D'Ignazio and Lauren F. Klein. 2020. *Data Feminism*. The MIT Press.
- Penelope Eckert. 2008. Variation and the indexical field. *Journal of Sociolinguistics*, 124:453–476.
- Shon Faye. 2021. The Transgender Issue: An Argument for Justice. Allen Lane, an imprint of Penguin Books.

- Anjalie Field, Su Lin Blodgett, Zeerak Waseem, and Yulia Tsvetkov. 2021. A survey of race, racism, and anti-racism in NLP. In Proceedings of the 59th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics and the 11th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 1905–1925, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Mahault Garnerin, Solange Rossato, and Laurent Besacier. 2021. Investigating the Impact of Gender Representation in ASR Training Data: A Case Study on Librispeech. In *Proceedings of the 3rd Workshop on Gender Bias in Natural Language Processing*, pages 86–92. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Timnit Gebru, Jamie Morgenstern, Briana Vecchione, Jennifer Wortman Vaughan, Hanna Wallach, Hal Daumé III, and Kate Crawford. 2021. Datasheets for datasets. *Commun. ACM*, 64(12):86–92.
- Hila Gonen and Yoav Goldberg. 2019. Lipstick on a pig: Debiasing methods cover up systematic gender biases in word embeddings but do not remove them.
- David Graff, Alexandra Canavan, and George Zipperlen. 1998. *Switchboard-2 Phase I*. Linguistic Data Consortium.
- David Graff, Kevin Walker, and Alexandra Canavan. 1999. *Switchboard-2 Phase II*. Linguistic Data Consortium.
- Mary L. Gray and Siddharth Suri. 2019. *Ghost Work: How to Stop Silicon Valley from Building a New Global Underclass.* Houghton Mifflin Harcourt.
- Daniel Greene. 2021. *The Promise of Access: Technology, Inequality, and the Political Economy of Hope.* The MIT Press.
- Kevin Guyan. 2022. *QUEER DATA: Using Gender, Sex and Sexuality Data for Action.* BLOOMSBURY ACADEMIC.
- Lelia Marie Hampton. 2021. Black Feminist Musings on Algorithmic Oppression. In Proceedings of the 2021 ACM Conference on Fairness, Accountability, and Transparency, pages 1–11. ACM.
- Alex Hanna, Emily Denton, Andrew Smart, and Jamila Smith-Loud. 2020. Towards a critical race methodology in algorithmic fairness. In Proceedings of the 2020 Conference on Fairness, Accountability, and Transparency, FAT\* '20, page 501–512, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.
- Awni Hannun, Carl Case, Jared Casper, Bryan Catanzaro, Greg Diamos, Erich Elsen, Ryan Prenger, Sanjeev Satheesh, Shubho Sengupta, Adam Coates, and Andrew Y. Ng. 2014. Deep speech: Scaling up endto-end speech recognition.
- Donna Haraway. 1988. Situated knowledges: The science question in feminism and the privilege of partial perspective. *Feminist Studies*, 14(3):575–599.

- Lucy Havens, Melissa Terras, Benjamin Bach, and Beatrice Alex. 2020. Situated data, situated systems: A methodology to engage with power relations in natural language processing research. In *Proceedings of the second workshop on gender bias in natural language processing*, pages 107–124, Barcelona, Spain (Online). Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Monica Heller and Bonnie S. McElhinny. *Language*, *Capitalism, Colonialism: Toward a Critical History*. University of Toronto Press.
- Jon Henner and Octavian Robinson. 2021. Unsettling languages, unruly bodyminds: Imaging a crip linguistics.
- Patricia Hill Collins. 2000 [1990]. Black Feminist Thought: Knowledge, Consciousness, and the Politics of Empowerment, second edition. Routledge.
- Anna Lauren Hoffmann. 2021. Terms of inclusion: Data, discourse, violence. *New Media & Society*, 23(12):3539–3556.
- J. T. Irvine and S. Gal. 2000. Language ideology and linguistic differentiation. In P. V. Kroskrity, editor, *Regimes of language: Ideologies, polities, and identities*, pages 35–84. School of American Research Press, Santa Fe.
- Bernard Koch, Emily Denton, Alex Hanna, and Jacob Foster. 2021. Reduced, Reused and Recycled: The Life of a Dataset in Machine Learning Research. *Proceedings of the Neural Information Processing Systems Track on Datasets and Benchmarks*, 1.
- Allison Koenecke, Andrew Nam, Emily Lake, Joe Nudell, Minnie Quartey, Zion Mengesha, Connor Toups, John R. Rickford, Dan Jurafsky, and Sharad Goel. 2020. Racial disparities in automated speech recognition. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences, 117(14):7684–7689.
- Audre Lorde. 2017 [1984]. Age, Race, Class and Sex. In *Your Silence Will Not Protect You*. Silver Press.
- Joshua L. Martin. 2021. Spoken corpora data, automatic speech recognition, and bias against African American Language: The case of habitual 'be'. In *Proceedings of the 2021 ACM conference on fairness, accountability, and transparency*, FAccT '21, page 284, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery. Number of pages: 1 Place: Virtual Event, Canada.
- Joshua L. Martin and Kevin Tang. 2020. Understanding racial disparities in automatic speech recognition: The case of habitual "be". pages 626–630.
- Zion Mengesha, Courtney Heldreth, Michal Lahav, Juliana Sublewski, and Elyse Tuennerman. 2021. "I don't Think These Devices are Very Culturally Sensitive."—Impact of Automated Speech Recognition Errors on African Americans. *Frontiers in Artificial Intelligence*, 4:725911.

- Mozilla. 2021a. Mozilla common voice receives \$3.4 million investment to democratize and diversify voice tech in East Africa. Accessed: 24/02/2022.
- Mozilla. 2021b. Mozilla partners with NVIDIA to democratize and diversify voice technology. Accessed: 24/02/2022.
- Mozilla Common Voice. 2022. How we're making common voice even more linguistically inclusive. Accessed: 24/02/2022.
- Mozilla Common Voice: Community Playbook. Community guidance for languages and variants. Accessed: 24/02/2022.
- Julia Nee, Genevieve Macfarlane Smith, Alicia Sheares, and Ishita Rustagi. 2021. Advancing social justice through linguistic justice: Strategies for building equity fluent NLP technology. In Equity and Access in Algorithms, Mechanisms, and Optimization, EAAMO '21, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.
- Safiya Umoja Noble. 2018. *Algorithms of Oppression: How Search Engines Reinforce Racism.* New York University Press.
- Lola Olufemi. 2020. *Feminism, Interrupted: Disrupting Power*. Outspoken. Pluto Press.
- Mimi Onuoha. 2016. The point of collection. *Data & Society*. Accessed: 24/02/2022.
- Amandalynne Paullada, Inioluwa Deborah Raji, Emily M. Bender, Emily Denton, and Alex Hanna. 2021. Data and its (dis)contents: A survey of dataset development and use in machine learning research. *Patterns*, 2(11):100336.
- Jonathan Rosa and Christa Burdick. 2016. Language ideologies. In Ofelia García, Nelson Flores, and Massimiliano Spotti, editors, *Oxford Handbook of Language and Society*. Oxford University Press.
- Angela Saini. 2019. Superior: The Return of Race Science. HarperCollins Publishers.
- Maarten Sap, Dallas Card, Saadia Gabriel, Yejin Choi, and Noah A. Smith. 2019. The risk of racial bias in hate speech detection. In *Proceedings of the 57th annual meeting of the association for computational linguistics*, pages 1668–1678, Florence, Italy. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Deven Santosh Shah, H. Andrew Schwartz, and Dirk Hovy. 2020. Predictive biases in natural language processing models: A conceptual framework and overview. In *Proceedings of the 58th annual meeting of the association for computational linguistics*, pages 5248–5264, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Jiao Sun and Nanyun Peng. 2021. Men Are Elected, Women Are Married: Events Gender Bias on

Wikipedia. In Proceedings of the 59th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics and the 11th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (Volume 2: Short Papers), pages 350–360. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Harini Suresh and John V. Guttag. 2021. A framework for understanding unintended consequences of machine learning. *CoRR*, abs/1901.10002v4.
- Sy Taffel. 2021. Data and oil: Metaphor, materiality and metabolic rifts. *New Media & Society*, 0(0):0.
- Barbara Tomlinson. 2013. Colonizing intersectionality: Replicating racial hierarchy in feminist academic arguments. *Social Identities*, 19(2):254–272.
- Francesca Tripodi. 2021. Ms. Categorized: Gender, notability, and inequality on Wikipedia. *New Media & Society*, page 14614448211023772.
- Zoltán Tüske, George Saon, Kartik Audhkhasi, and Brian Kingsbury. 2020. Single headed attention based sequence-to-sequence model for state-of-theart results on switchboard.
- Françoise Vergès. 2021. A Decolonial Feminism. Pluto Press.
- Zeerak Waseem, Smarika Lulz, Joachim Bingel, and Isabelle Augenstein. 2021. Disembodied Machine Learning: On the Illusion of Objectivity in NLP.

### Regex in a Time of Deep Learning: The Role of an Old Technology in Age Discrimination Detection in Job Advertisements

Anna Pillar<sup>1,2</sup>, Kyrill Poelmans<sup>2</sup>, Martha Larson<sup>1</sup> <sup>1</sup>Radboud University, Netherlands <sup>2</sup>Textmetrics, Netherlands anna@textmetrics.com, kyrill@textmetrics.com,

martha.larson@ru.nl

### Abstract

Deep learning holds great promise for detecting discriminatory language in the public sphere. However, for the detection of illegal age discrimination in job advertisements, regex approaches are still strong performers. In this paper, we investigate job advertisements in the Netherlands. We present a qualitative analysis of the benefits of the 'old' approach based on regexes and investigate how neural embeddings could address its limitations.

### 1 Introduction

Age discrimination is often related to work and it starts in the pre-hiring phase with job advertisements. Each year, thousands of job descriptions in the Netherlands contain age discrimination, which is illegal under Dutch law (Fokkens et al., 2018).

The state of the art in detection of illegal age discrimination in Dutch job ads uses regular expressions (regex) (Fokkens et al., 2018). This 'old' approach works surprisingly well because illegal age discrimination uses predictable vocabulary, and keywords such as 'age' are quite reliable indicators. However, individual sentences from job ads suggest that neural embedding approaches, with their ability to capture semantics, could also be helpful, e.g., 'Given our own advancing years, it would be just lovely to have a younger soul join us.'

The contribution of this paper is a qualitative analysis of the role that regex should continue to play in detecting illegal age discrimination, now that the language technology community has moved towards deep learning approaches. Since regexes offer explainable decisions, we do not seek to abandon the regex approach, but rather to understand its potential compared with the potential of neural embeddings. Because it is known that the regex approach can suffer from low recall (Fokkens et al., 2018), our main focus is on understanding false positives (i.e., cases of discrimination that the detector misses). In this paper, we report the essential findings on illegal age discrimination detection in Dutch job ads of a larger study (Pillar, 2022), which contains further analysis. After a brief introduction to age discrimination (Sec. 2) and the regex approach of Fokkens et al. (2018) (Sec. 3), we present two analyses. The first (Sec. 4) investigates the regex approach, which is currently the state of the art. The second (Sec. 5) looks at whether and how neural embeddings could complement regexes in the future.

Our analyses make use of the Job Digger dataset, which contains 1.2 million Dutch job advertisements collected by a Dutch company, Job Digger, and made available to us for use in our study. Job Digger had created the dataset by carrying out a large scale crawl of internet job postings in the Netherlands in 2014. The comprehensiveness of this crawl ensures that our dataset is representative of the full spectrum of possible Dutch job ads.

Our investigation reveals that the regex approach is more difficult to improve upon than one might think. The final section of the paper (Sec. 6) provides an outlook and discusses how researchers in the future should seek to leverage both regexes and neural embeddings for explainable detection of illegal age discrimination.

### 2 Background and Related Work

Age discrimination is defined as bias and prejudice against people based on their age and ageism is one of the three big 'isms', next to sexism and racism (Butler, 1969). In practice, age discrimination predominantly targets older people (Bytheway, 2005). Ageism is in this sense unique among 'isms' because, in the natural course of life, in-group members become out-group members (Jönson, 2013). However, despite the fact that it threatens everyone, ageism is difficult to fight. It is culturally acceptable (Gendron et al., 2016) and people are unaware of it (Palmore, 2001). In the Netherlands, concern about age discrimination has grown recently, mainly in employment (Andriessen et al., 2014).

Age discrimination occurs in two main forms (Voss et al., 2018). *Objective Ageism* is defined through legal frameworks that protect the vulnerable group from discrimination. *Subjective Ageism* (or *Perceived Ageism*) is bias and discrimination that does not fall under a legal definition.

In the Netherlands, the Dutch Equal Treatment Act regarding age discrimination at the workplace prohibits discrimination in the context of work, including job advertisements. The law defines two forms of discrimination: *Direct discrimination* involves an explicit mention of the age of the candidate, e.g., 'You are younger than 30 years'. *Indirect discrimination*, involves formulations that imply age, e.g., specifically recruit students (who, in the Netherlands, characteristically are young).

The literature on age discrimination detection in job ads is surprisingly limited. The work closest to ours studied the relationship between stereotypes in English-language job ads and in hiring (Burn et al., 2019). It implemented an age discrimination detector for job ads, but focused on stereotypes, which are not necessarily illegal. In contrast, we study detection of discriminatory statements that are explicitly defined, and prohibited, by law.

### 3 Regex Baseline

The state of the art in the detection of age discrimination in Dutch job ads (Fokkens et al., 2018) uses a list of keywords to detect objective ageism. The keywords were identified by manually reading a large number of job ads. They were selected because they were judged to be indicative of illegal discrimination when used in certain contexts.

Appendix A contains the keyword list with a sample sentence from a job ad for each keyword. The keywords form the basis of a set of regular expressions, which Fokkens et al. (2018) constructed with the aim of covering all possible contexts in which each keyword could be discriminatory. The importance of context is illustrated by the following example. The sentences, 'You will be responsible for young students' contains both the words 'young' and 'student', but is not discriminatory because the words describe the job and not the candidate. Fokkens et al. (2018) published a set of these regexes on GitHub<sup>1</sup>.

They discovered that regexes perform best if they allow a certain amount of flexibility by including the white card character  $. \{0, 30\}, e.g.,$ 'you\s+are\s+a\s+.  $\{0, 30\}$  student'. They report that such flexible regexes achieve a high precision (94.5%), but a somewhat low recall (75.7%) on their test set.

### 4 Role of the Regex Baseline

In this section, we discuss our first qualitative analysis, which aimed to reveal both the potential and the inherent weaknesses of the regex approach.

### 4.1 Data and Annotation

We created a representative dataset large enough to yield interesting insights but small enough to be hand annotated by sampling ca. 3,000 sentences from the Job Digger dataset. About half of the sentences we sampled were selected to contain one keyword, but to not match any regexes. The inclusion of a large number of these sentences improved the chance that we could gain insight into how the inherent weaknesses of regexes might contribute to false positives. We consider a weakness 'inherent' if it relates to expressiveness or generalizabilty of the regexes themselves, rather than to the exact keywords we are using. As much as possible, we sampled evenly over the keywords. About a third of our sample sentences were chosen to match a regex. The samples in the remaining ca. 10% of the dataset did not include a keyword.

The data set was annotated for age discrimination by a group of seven annotators with good familiarity with Dutch law, who were split into two teams. Each sample was annotated by two annotators, one from each team. The inter-annotator agreement (Cohen's Kappa) between teams reflected substantial agreement ( $\kappa = 0.61$ ). Samples on which the annotators disagreed or where one was unsure were not included in our dataset, leaving a total of 2,195 annotated samples for analysis.

### 4.2 Approach and Findings

We conducted our analysis by inspecting sample sentences by hand and investigating two levels: (1) at a general level across all keywords (2) at a keyword level, focused on the false negatives associated with each keyword. We report our findings organized into a set of insights:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>https://github.com/cltl/

AgeDiscriminationBaseline

General sentence length and structure Across the keywords, we found variation in sentence length and structural complexity, from bullet points such as '- Age up to 27 years' to verbose sentences such as 'We are looking for man and especially also for women, who know the shop floor inside out, and are between 50 and 70 years of age.' The regexes in our list were too elaborate to capture the bullets and too narrow to capture the verbose sentences. This observation points to an inherent limitation of regexes. Our analysis also revealed a certain number of frequent formulation for which a regex missing keywords or a missing formulation could easily be added.

**Keyword-specific issues** When looking at the sample sentences of individual keywords we found that the issue of sentence length and structure occurred across keywords, but was a particular issue for certain keywords, specifically, 'young' (*jong*) and 'age' (*leeftijd*). This observation suggests that not all keywords should be handled the same.

**Keyword context** At the keyword level, we found that for 'young' (*jong*) and 'recent graduate' (*schoolverlater*), the discrimination is determined by the context in which they are used. As mentioned above, if these keywords are used to describe the job and not the candidate, they are not discriminatory. We found that the formulations used were very open. There seemed to be no frequent formulation that could be added to the regexes to cover the variety of the samples in which the context was not captured by the regexes, causing a false negative.

**Keywords associated with discrimination** We observed that some keywords seem to be associated with discrimination, but did not themselves directly express discrimination. For example, the keyword 'extra money' (*bijverdienen*) as used in the sentence 'Have you recently completed your degree and would like to earn a earn a little extra money?' is not causing the sentence to be discriminatory. Rather, the reference to 'recent graduation' makes the sentence discriminatory. This observation suggests that better modeling of context can improve the performance of regexes.

Limited non-discriminatory usage Certain keywords, such as, e.g., 'recent graduate', just discussed, mainly occur in discriminatory sentences. However, in 3 out of 114 samples with the keyword 'recent graduate', it was actually used in a non-discriminatory way. This observation suggests that regexes should be designed to capture the nondiscriminatory contexts. If a sentence containing a keyword does not match a 'non-discriminatory regex' then it can be considered discriminatory.

### 5 Role of Neural Embeddings

In this section, we discuss our second qualitative analysis, which aimed to discover how neural embeddings can potentially complement regex.

Since the issue of missing keywords was already raised by Fokkens et al. (2018), we focus on another property of regexes that Sec. 4 revealed to be an issue for detection of illegal age discrimination: they cannot capture discrimination when it is phrased using different syntax but expresses similar semantics. This inflexibility becomes particularly important when we consider the importance of modeling the broader context of a keyword within a sentence.

### 5.1 Approach and findings

Our analysis consisted of manual inspection of a large number of sentence embedding clusters. We trained ALBERT word embeddings (Lan et al., 2020) on 5 million sentences drawn from the Job Digger dataset. The training was done from scratch with the MLM learning task. To create sentence embeddings, we averaged the word embeddings of the component words, following common practice.

Our hope was that in the sentence embedding space, we would observe a separation between discriminatory and non-discriminatory sentences, since these express different semantics. However, when we visualized our samples using t-SNE (Van Der Maaten and Hinton, 2008), we did not observe clear discriminating and non-discriminatory clusters. We concluded that a standardly trained semantic space cannot easily capture age discrimination and turned to analyze if neural embeddings could capture useful differences in keyword context.

For each keyword, we selected the sentences in our annotated data set that contained it and visualized them with t-SNE. In most cases, the discriminatory and non-discriminatory sentences were not well separated. However, there were a few cases that are worth further discussion<sup>2</sup>.

**Keyword 'between'** Good separation was observed for the keyword 'between', as can be seen in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Full interactive plots for all keywords can be found at https://github.com/Textmetricslab/ Regex-in-a-Time-of-Deep-Learning



Figure 1: An excerpt of the plot of the embeddings of sentences containing the keyword 'between'. Orange: discriminatory, Blue: non-discriminatory

Fig. 1. The discriminatory sentences include: 'You are preferably aged between 17 and 20 years.' and 'Are you the person we are looking for and are you are aged between 16 and 19 years?' The cluster in the lower part of the plot consists of samples that use the word 'between' to give information about the work time and are not discriminatory: 'You will be working between 10 and 25 hours per week, from Monday to Sunday' and 'Total work time per week is between 8 and 12 hours'.

It is interesting to note that all discriminatory samples contain a number followed by the word 'age' and non-discriminatory samples contain a number followed by either 'hour' or its abbreviation. This means that in this case, regexes could have also distinguished these two contexts.

**Keyword 'experience'** Another interesting example was the keyword 'experience', which is discriminatory if it limits the years of experience (e.g., 'you have a maximum of 5 years of experience'), but not if it specifies the minimum years of experience needed. When we visualized the sentences containing the keyword 'experience', we observed no separation between these two cases. However, we did see a cluster of non-discriminatory samples that all stated that salary would be based on experience, which is non-discriminatory. Possibly, regexes based 'salary'-related keywords also could capture the difference between these contexts.

Keyword 'old' The keyword 'old' also yielded

an interesting observation. A cluster of sentences containing 'old' all directly address candidates and mentioned an desired age, e.g.,: 'Are you enthusiastic, like to (physically) work and are you between 18 and 30 years old?'; 'You are minimally 23 years old.'; and 'Are you between 18 and 26 years old?'. However, the cluster also contained the sentence 'Are you badass commercial, entrepreneurial, a builder, mobile, never too old to learn, do you go for freedom, are you studious, is hierarchy something you are allergic for and are you often smarter than your boss?'. It fits the general style of directly addressing the candidate ('Are you...') and also contains the word 'old'. However, the usage of 'old' in this context is not discriminatory but rather part of a description of the candidates attitude.

In sum, our qualitative analysis leads us to conclude that neural embeddings do not offer a silverbullet solution to improving detection of illegal age discrimination over what is already possible using regexes. We did not uncover evidence that suggests that it would be worthwhile to trade in the explainability of the regex approach for benefits offered by using sentence embeddings.

### 6 Conclusion and Outlook

In this paper, we have investigated the contribution of regexes to the task of automatically detecting illegal age discrimination in Dutch job ads. We have found there is potential to improve the recall of the regex lists of Fokkens et al. (2018), which constitute the current state of the art, not only by adding keywords, but also by creating additional regexes.

Future work should investigate a simple approach based on rule mining, which was not explored by Fokkens et al. (2018). In (Pillar, 2022), we report an exploration of automating the generation of regular expressions using active learning and genetic programming, but more work is necessary if these directions are to yield fruit.

The results of our analysis suggest that there is little to be gained in using neural embeddings directly in age discrimination detectors. Instead, neural embeddings could have a role in the discover of new keywords and new regexes, extending a simple rule mining approach. Using neural embeddings in this way would allow us to continue to benefit from the explainability of the regex approach.

The results of our qualitative study are not dependent on particular keywords, writing styles, or special properties of the Dutch language. For this reason, we expect that our findings can be reproduced using other datasets and in other languages. In fact, regex has been successfully used for general discrimination detection in Indonesian job ads (Ningrum et al., 2020). Reproduction of our study will confirm and extend our findings, ensuring that the 'old' technology of regex is not discarded for a task for which it is well suited.

### 7 Acknowledgment

We want to thank everyone involved in the annotation of the dataset used in this research. Their work made our investigations possible.

### References

- Iris Andriessen, Henk Fernee, and Karin Wittebrood. 2014. Ervaren discriminatie in Nederland. Technical report, Sociaal en Cultureel Planbureau.
- Ian Burn, Patrick Button, Luis Felipe Munguia Corella, and David Neumark. 2019. Older workers need not apply? Ageist language in job ads and age discrimination in hiring. Technical report, National Bureau of Economic Research.
- Robert N Butler. 1969. Age-ism: Another form of bigotry. *The Gerontologist*, 9(4):243–246.
- Bill Bytheway. 2005. Ageism and age categorization. *Journal of social Issues*, 61(2):361–374.
- Antske Fokkens, Camiel Beukeboom, and Emailisa Maks. 2018. Leeftijdsdiscriminatie in vacatureteksten: Een geautomatiseerde inhoudsanalyse naar verboden leeftijd-gerelateerd taalgebruik in vacatureteksten. Technical report, Het College voor de Rechten van de Mens.
- Tracey L Gendron, E Ayn Welleford, Jennifer Inker, and John T White. 2016. The language of ageism: Why we need to use words carefully. *The Gerontologist*, 56(6):997–1006.
- Håkan Jönson. 2013. We will be different! Ageism and the temporal construction of old age. *The Gerontologist*, 53(2):198–204.
- Zhenzhong Lan, Mingda Chen, Sebastian Goodman, Kevin Gimpel, Piyush Sharma, and Radu Soricut. 2020. ALBERT: A lite BERT for self-supervised learning of language representations. In *International Conference on Learning Representations* (*ICLR 2020*).
- Panggih Kusuma Ningrum, Tatdow Pansombut, and Attachai Ueranantasun. 2020. Text mining of online job advertisements to identify direct discrimination during job hunting process: A case study in Indonesia. *PLOS ONE*, 15(6):e0233746.

- Erdman Palmore. 2001. The ageism survey: First findings. *The Gerontologist*, 41(5):572–575.
- Anna Pillar. 2022. Detection of age discrimination: Semi-automatic detection of age discrimination in dutch job advertisements through automatic regex generation. Master's thesis, Radboud University.
- Laurens Van Der Maaten and Geoffrey Hinton. 2008. Visualizing data using t-SNE. Journal of Machine Learning Research, 9(86):2579–2605.
- Peggy Voss, Ehud Bodner, and Klaus Rothermund. 2018. Ageism: The relationship between age stereotypes and age discrimination. In Liat Ayalon and Clemens Tesch-Römer, editors, *Contemporary Perspectives on Ageism*, pages 11–31. Springer International Publishing, Cham.

Table 1: (Appendix A) The list of discriminatory keywords from (Fokkens et al., 2018) used in our work, each illustrated with a sentence from our dataset that was annotated as discriminatory (translated from Dutch).

DIRECT DISCRIMINATION							
Keyword	Sample Sentence						
young	For several companies in the Alkmaar region we are looking for young,						
	motivated candidates who can be deployed flexibly.						
young port	In this role you will be part of a young and dynamic team who are jointly						
(of a team)	responsible for the design and realization of infrastructure projects up						
	to $\pm \notin 6$ Million.						
fit into a young team	We work with a young team, where you will definitely fit in!						
	Age range 20 - 25 years;						
age	Given the age structure of our team, we prefer a young colleague.						
ago from to	We ask boys and girls aged 16 - 25 years who are full of energy and						
age from to	like to promote this gym!						
	Are you enthusiastic, eager to learn, entrepreneurial and in the age						
age to	group up to 22 years?						
age from	Age from 30 years, we have a big preference for 45 +						
11	Are you enthusiastic, do you like to work and are you between 18						
old	and 30 years old?						
in-between	You are between 18 and 25 years old;						
at least	We are looking for full-time hospitality professionals, at least 25 years old						
	INDIRECT DISCRIMINATION						
job	Are you a graduate looking for your first-ever job?						
side-job	Are you looking for an interesting job in addition to your studies?						
	Have you just finished school or just graduated and want to earn						
earn money	some extra money before you go on vacation?						
avnariance	Experience: You have a college education and have 1 to 3 years of						
experience	working experience in the media and/or IT industry.						
education	You are following the HBO education Construction?						
recent	For one of our clients we are looking for serious, enthusiastic recent						
graduate	graduated who want to be trained as logistics employees.						
stan	Are you eager to learn and looking for the first step in your career?						
step	Are you ready for the second step in your career?						
study	This job is excellent to combine with your studies and is a great						
	addition to your CV!						
start	For our client, we are looking for an enthusiastic and spirited starter						
	for the position of Online Marketer.						
lesson schedule	With great regularity we have on-call jobs that fit perfectly with your class schedule.						

### Doing not Being: Concrete Language as a Bridge from Language Technology to Ethnically Inclusive Job Ads

Jetske Adams<sup>a,b</sup>, Kyrill Poelmans<sup>b</sup>, Iris Hendrickx<sup>c</sup>, Martha Larson<sup>a,c</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Institute for Computing and Information Sciences, Radboud University, The Netherlands

<sup>b</sup>Textmetrics, The Netherlands

<sup>c</sup>Centre for Language Studies and Centre for Language and Speech Technology, Radboud University, The Netherlands

### Abstract

This paper makes the case for studying concreteness in language as a bridge that will allow language technology to support the understanding and improvement of ethnic inclusivity in job advertisements. We propose an annotation scheme that guides the assignment of sentences in job ads to classes that reflect concrete actions, i.e., what the employer needs people to *do*, and abstract dispositions, i.e., who the employer expects people to *be*. Using an annotated dataset of Dutch-language job ads, we demonstrate that machine learning technology is effectively able to distinguish these classes.

### 1 Introduction

Ethnic minorities are disadvantaged in the employment market (Zschirnt and Ruedin, 2016; Andriessen et al., 2012), despite laws that protect them. If people read a job advertisement, and get the sense that the employer will not consider their applications fairly, they will not apply (Verwiebe et al., 2016). This chilling effect can compound already existing employment disadvantages. For this reason, it is important to create welcoming and inclusive job ads.

This paper is motivated by the idea that language technology has potential to help identify job ads that are not inclusive and to suggest changes to make them more welcoming. A conventional machine learning approach would ask human annotators to label a large number of job ads as 'inclusive' and 'not inclusive' and train a classifier. However, ethnic minorities themselves must make the final judgement of the difference between welcoming and unwelcoming ads. Given the burden already borne by these groups, we argue that laborious labeling work should be avoided and a higher-level approach to understanding inclusion in job ads is desirable. In this paper, we aim to build a bridge between language technology and inclusive job ads by investigating basic semantic characteristics of

predicates. Specifically, we identify concrete vs. abstract language to be important. In the context of job ads, this distinction translates into the difference between what the employer needs a candidate to *do* on the job and who the employer wants the candidate to *be* in terms of their personal traits.

Our study is inspired by work on stereotypes in job ads by Wille and Derous (2017) who found a difference between behavioral statements, e.g., 'You are expected to keep confidential information to yourself', which are concrete and describe the job, and *dispositional* statements that express the same requirement abstractly, e.g., 'You are reliable'. Dispositional statements could be interpreted as a personal judgement that reflects a stereotype that ethnic minorities must frequently face and Wille and Derous (2017) found that they discouraged ethnic minority job applicants from applying. We make the case that language technology that could detect the difference between concrete 'doing' and abstract 'being' would make an important contribution to ethnically inclusive job ads.

Our work makes the following contributions:

- We propose that differences in the concreteness of language use (behavioral vs. dispositional) is a key to using language technology to study inclusivity in job ads.
- We introduce an annotation scheme for labeling sentences in job ads with classes related to behavioral and dispositional language.
- We demonstrate the ability of machine learning approaches to distinguish phrases of different concreteness in job descriptions.

This paper summarizes the most important findings of a larger study of ethnic discrimination in Dutch job advertisements by Adams (2022). We also release an annotated dataset as a resource for the research community.<sup>1</sup>

Ihttps://github.com/Textmetricslab/ Doing-not-Being

### 2 Background and Related Work

In this section, we provide information on the psychological literature that connects inclusivity with language concreteness and discuss previous work on discrimination detection in job ads.

### 2.1 Language that Activates Meta-stereotypes

Wille and Derous (2017), mentioned in Sec. 1, carried out field experiments to determine how the requirements listed in job ads, and the way in which they are worded, impact ethnic minorities who are seeking jobs. Their work is informed by the concept of a meta-stereotype, which was introduced by Vorauer et al. (2000) to describe a trait whose mention triggers a discriminated group to assume they are being stereotyped. The words 'integrity', 'trustworthy', and 'reliable' are given as examples. A study by Bhargava and Theunissen (2019) further demonstrates that ethnic minorities are likely to disassociate with dispositional phrases in job ads. Occupational stereotypes reflected in this wording hinder encouragement of a diverse group of applicants. Wille and Derous (2017) recommend to focus on people's potential to do the job and not on innate traits in the recruitment process. Their work is guided by the Linguistic Category Model (LCM) (Semin and Fiedler, 1991), which organizes verbs and adjectives along a linear scale with verbs (related to behavior) on the concrete side and adjectives (related to disposition) on the abstract side. In our work, the LCM informs the development of our annotation guidelines.

### 2.2 Language that Creates Distance

Construal Level Theory (Trope and Liberman, 2010) holds that increased psychological distance corresponds to increased abstraction. Detailed, concrete, and descriptive language is associated with small social distance. Abstract language that reflects innate and lasting qualities is associated with large social distance. In a job ad, the same requirement can be formulated with increasing levels of abstraction, suggesting increasing social distance:

- 1. You advise customers about the use of our products.
- 2. You are focused on sensing customer needs.
- 3. You are customer-oriented.

If using formulations that decrease social distance makes a job ad more welcoming, then CLT supports our idea that studying language concreteness can contribute to ethnic inclusivity.

Work that associates high levels of social power with the use of abstract language (Wakslak et al., 2014) provides further support. Assuming that large perceived power distance could be unwelcoming, this work also points towards language concreteness being important for ethnically inclusive job advertisements.

### 2.3 Technology for inclusive job ads

Work on language technology for studying discrimination in job ads is surprisingly limited. The closest work to our own is Ningrum et al. (2020). This work uses a Discriminatory Keyword Dictionary (DKD) and Word Pattern Templates (WPTs) to detect different types of discrimination in Indonesian job ads. Although this study did not look specifically at ethnic minorities, it did find that direct discrimination on the basis of religion, often correlated with ethnicity, was present in about 1 of 100 job ads. In contrast, we are not interested in detecting discrimination, but instead in detecting phrasing that might trigger job applicants to be concerned that discrimination might be forthcoming. To our knowledge, we are the first to propose to understand and improve the ethnic inclusivity of job ads by way of language technology capable of detecting language concreteness.

### 3 Method

We first discuss the annotation scheme that converts the class scheme of the LCM to the job advertisement domain and how we applied this to manually label a sample of job advertisement phrases. Then, we describe a supervised machine learning approach on a small set of job advertisement phrases in order to demonstrate that the distinction between dispositional and behavioral phrasing can be automatically detected consistently and accurately as a proof of concept of the applicability of language concreteness estimation in job ads.

### 3.1 Annotation scheme

We used the LCM to operationalize Construal Level Theory since it offers an implementation of a scale (i.e., continuum) of phrasal expressions from concrete to abstract. Each of the classes proposed by the LCM was adapted to the domain of job ads, both in name and definition. The annotation scheme is summarized in Figure 1. The definitions



Figure 1: Annotation scheme for Behavioral/Dispositional classes reflecting concrete/abstract language in job ads

of the labels are provided, and elaborated on, in Appendix A. Six sub-classes were defined, with, from most concrete to most abstract, 'Act' and 'Process' as *behavioral classes* and 'Attitude + action', 'Attitude', and 'Innate quality' as *dispositional* classes. 'Learned quality' is added for completeness and taken to be *dispositional*, but not abstract.

### **3.2 Data and Annotation**

Job advertisements contain a very typical language use and structure. As we are interested in advertisements on the Dutch job market, we needed to create a data sample of Dutch job advertisements and develop a set of annotation guidelines to apply the LCM model to our sample. We focus on the annotation of verb predicates and high-frequency domainspecific nouns (such as 'experience' or 'technical aptitude') as these are most likely to describe job requirements and qualities.

We used a sample of 17,810 Dutch job advertisements collected in 2021 from diverse job ad platforms and representing different job branches. From this collection, 4,000 sentences were randomly extracted from the middle of the advertisements, where we expected to find mention of job requirements, and were manually annotated according to our annotation scheme (Fig. 1 and 2). The sentences were automatically parsed with Frog, a Dutch NLP tool (van den Bosch et al., 2007).

We are interested in annotating the part of the sentence that constitutes the predicate. To this end we extracted verb phrases and relevant nouns, using a set of rules based on PoS tags, phrase chunks, and dependency relations.

The application of the LCM to job advertisement texts was by no means a trivial task and required an

extensive development phase. Development consisted of a series of pilots performed with a group of annotators on a separate sample consisting of job ads collected in 2014. We needed five rounds of annotation pilots to converge to a final version of the annotation guidelines that could be applied with sufficiently high inter-annotator agreement. In total, in our final dataset, 5,277 predicates and nouns were manually annotated by three annotators (Krippendorff's alpha ( $\alpha$ ) = 0.77).



Figure 2: Examples of manually annotated sentences from the validation set (some were shortened), translated from Dutch and visualized with displaCy<sup>2</sup>.

The annotated dataset was split sentence-wise using a stratified random sampling strategy such that the predicates are proportionally balanced over the sub-classes. The data was split with a ratio of 70:15:15, resulting in a training, validation, and test set of respectively 3,654, 788, and 785 predicates. We measure performance on the validation and test set using Area Under the ROC curve (AUROC).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>https://spacy.io/usage/visualizers

Model	Rele	evant vs. Not relevant	Dispositional vs. Behavioral			Sub-classes	
	Val	Test	Val	Test	Val	Test	
TF-IDF + Naïve Bayes	.85	.87	.93	.92	.90	.90	
Word2Vec + LSTM	.89	.89	.94	.93	.92	.91	
BERT fine-tuned	.93	.92	.96	.96	.92	.92	
RoBERTa fine-tuned	.93	.94	.95	.94	.90	.91	

Table 1: Proof-of-concept results on our validation and test sets (Micro-average AUROC scores)

### 4 Dispositional/Behaviorial Detection

We took a three-step approach to automatically detecting concreteness/abstractness classes. First, the predicates were extracted from the sentences using the rule-based method described in Sec. 3.2. Second, the extracted predicates were classified by their relevance, and discarded if they were not dispositional or behavioral. Third, the relevant predicates were classified by a binary classifier as Dispositional/Behavioral (left/right of Fig. 1) and by a multi-class classifier into the sub-classes (bottom classes of Fig. 1). We evaluated four classifiers:

**TF-IDF + Naïve Bayes** TF-IDF weighed feature vectors were extracted from the data and dimensionality reduction was applied. (We used variance thresholding at threshold = 0.0005 and the Chi-Square test to reduce the vector size to 500.) Naïve Bayes was implemented using scikit-learn (Pedregosa et al., 2011).

**Word2Vec + LSTM** pre-trained Dutch word embeddings (320-dimensional) from Tulkens et al. (2016) were used as input to an LSTM, using Python an Keras Tensorflow.

**BERT** 'BERTje' (de Vries et al., 2019), a Dutch, pre-trained, transformer-based BERT model, was fine-tuned using Python and Keras Tensorflow. A dropout layer was added for regularization.

**RoBERTa** 'RobBERT' (Delobelle et al., 2020) was fine-tuned in similar fashion.

We also experimented with a (one-step) token classification approach, similar to NER. This resulted in incorrect and spurious predicate detection and was not explored further here.

### **5** Results

Tab. 1 presents results that confirm the ability of a machine learning approach to distinguish dispositional and behavioral predicates. The neural models (Word2Vec + LSTM, BERT and RoBERTa) outperform Naïve Bayes and the transformer-based models give the best over-all performance. Fig. 3 presents the confusion matrix of the subclasses, which yields the following insights:

**Error severity** Recall that the sub-classes (except 'Learned quality') are placed along a continuum from concrete to abstract. Fig. 3 shows that the incorrectly predicted labels are often close to the ground truth label on this continuum.



Figure 3: Confusion matrix for BERT over the subclasses (test set predicates in the class 'Relevant').

Class confusion 'Process' is confused most often with 'Act'. During the annotation pilots, it was already observed that it is hard to judge the edge cases between these classes. For example, take the predicate taking care of the project documentation. It is not clear-cut to which class this example belongs. The class 'Attitude' is confused with 'Attitude + action' or 'Innate quality'. Phrases of these types are often syntactically similar. The class 'Learned quality' shows the least confusion. This observation is not surprising because 'Learned quality' is the majority class in the data and is most easily identifiable by specific frequently occuring nouns (e.g., names of certificates, education levels, language skills, or words like ervaring English: 'experience' or kennis English: 'knowledge').

### 6 Conclusion and Outlook

In this paper, we have proposed that language concreteness is useful as a bridge between language technology and ethnic inclusivity in job ads. The connection between inclusivity and concrete language is supported by research that has shown that focusing on *doing* rather than *being* can prevent ethnic minorities from being put off by job ads that they are qualified to apply for. It is also supported by the psychology literature on social distance and social power distance. We presented an annotation scheme that supports stable annotation of classes along a continuum that runs from abstract (dispositional) to concrete (behavioral) and have used it to annotate a dataset of Dutch-language job ads. The dataset has allowed us to demonstrate that machine learning classifiers can reliably detect differences in language concreteness. We intend our work to be useful to machine learning researchers, who can apply our annotation scheme and reproduce our experiments for different datasets and languages, but especially to social psychologists, as they continue to investigate ethnic inclusivity in the employment market.

It is important to note the difference between our work and other work that has been carried out on ethnic bias in NLP models, e.g., Ahn and Oh (2021) and Nadeem et al. (2021). The concern of these studies is stereotypes that are expressed about members of ethnic minorities. In other words, they focus on the context in which ethnic minorities are mentioned and/or what is said about them. In contrast, our work studies textual phrasing that could trigger members of ethnic minorities to be concerned that the writer may hold stereotypes against them. This contrast is important because whether or not a job ad is perceived as inclusive goes far beyond direct mentions of ethnic minorities. We hope that our work is useful to extend the understanding of how ethnic inclusivity can be promoted in society, and how NLP can contribute to this goal.

### 7 Acknowledgements

We would like to thank the annotators who helped create the labeled dataset that was used for this research project.

### References

Jetske Adams. 2022. Automating the detection of dispositional and behavioural phrasing, the linguistic category model applied to Dutch job advertisements. Master's thesis, Radboud University.

- Jaimeen Ahn and Alice Oh. 2021. Mitigating languagedependent ethnic bias in BERT. In *Proceedings of the* 2021 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing, pages 533–549. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Iris Andriessen, Eline Nievers, Jaco Dagevos, and Laila Faulk. 2012. Ethnic discrimination in the Dutch labor market: Its relationship with job characteristics and multiple group membership. *Work and Occupations*, 39(3):237–269.
- Deepti Bhargava and Petra Theunissen. 2019. The future of PR is 'fantastic', 'friendly' and 'funny': Occupational stereotypes and symbolic capital in entrylevel job advertisements. *Public Relations Review*, 45(4):101822.
- Wietse de Vries, Andreas van Cranenburgh, Arianna Bisazza, Tommaso Caselli, Gertjan van Noord, and Malvina Nissim. 2019. BERTje: A Dutch BERT Model. arXiv:1912.09582.
- Pieter Delobelle, Thomas Winters, and Bettina Berendt. 2020. RobBERT: a Dutch RoBERTa-based Language Model. In Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: EMNLP 2020, pages 3255–3265, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Moin Nadeem, Anna Bethke, and Siva Reddy. 2021. StereoSet: Measuring stereotypical bias in pretrained language models. In Proceedings of the 59th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics and the 11th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 5356–5371, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Panggih Kusuma Ningrum, Tatdow Pansombut, and Attachai Ueranantasun. 2020. Text mining of online job advertisements to identify direct discrimination during job hunting process: A case study in Indonesia. *PLOS ONE*, 15(6):e0233746.
- F. Pedregosa, G. Varoquaux, A. Gramfort, V. Michel, B. Thirion, O. Grisel, M. Blondel, P. Prettenhofer, R. Weiss, V. Dubourg, J. Vanderplas, A. Passos, D. Cournapeau, M. Brucher, M. Perrot, and E. Duchesnay. 2011. Scikit-learn: Machine learning in Python. *Journal of Machine Learning Research*, 12:2825–2830.
- Gün R. Semin and Klaus Fiedler. 1991. The Linguistic Category Model, its bases, applications and range. *European Review of Social Psychology*, 2(1):1–30.
- Yaacov Trope and Nira Liberman. 2010. Construallevel theory of psychological distance. *Psychological Review*, 117(2):440.

- Stéphan Tulkens, Chris Emmery, and Walter Daelemans. 2016. Evaluating unsupervised Dutch word embeddings as a linguistic resource. *Proceedings* of the Tenth International Conference on Language Resources and Evaluation (LREC 2016).
- Antal van den Bosch, Bertjan Busser, Sander Canisius, and Walter Daelemans. 2007. An efficient memorybased morphosyntactic tagger and parser for Dutch. *Computational Linguistics in the Netherlands: Selected Papers from the Seventeenth CLIN Meeting*, pages 99–114.
- Roland Verwiebe, Lena Seewann, Margarita Wolf, and Melek Hacioglu. 2016. 'I have to be very good in what I do'. Marginalisation and discrimination in the career-entry phase–experiences and coping strategies among university graduates with a migrant background in Austria. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, 42(15):2468–2490.
- Jacquie D. Vorauer, A. J. Hunter, Kelley J. Main, and Scott A. Roy. 2000. Meta-stereotype activation: evidence from indirect measures for specific evaluative concerns experienced by members of dominant groups in intergroup interaction. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 78(4):690–707.
- Cheryl J. Wakslak, Pamela K. Smith, and Albert Han. 2014. Using abstract language signals power. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 107(10):41–55.
- Lien Wille and Eva Derous. 2017. Getting the words right: When wording of job ads affects ethnic minorities' application decisions. *Management Communication Quarterly*, 31(4):533–558.
- Eva Zschirnt and Didier Ruedin. 2016. Ethnic discrimination in hiring decisions: a meta-analysis of correspondence tests 1990–2015. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, 42(7):1115–1134.

# A Appendix Adaptions of LCM to job advertisements

The Linguistic Category Model (Semin and Fiedler, 1991) describes ways of communication in the interpersonal domain that covers social interaction between people. The same interpersonal event can be expressed in various ways. For example, a fight can be described behaviorally (on a physical level) such as [subj] *kicks* [obj] or dispositionally (on a mental level) such as [subj] *despises* [obj].

Job advertisements, however, do not exactly fall into the category of direct interpersonal communication that is covered by the LCM as presented by Semin and Fiedler (1991). In the advertisement texts, the applicant is most of the time the subject and the verbs relate them either to another person or group of persons (e.g. *Je spoort je collega's*  *aan* English: 'You encourage your colleagues'), an action (e.g. *Je presenteert je bevindingen* English: 'You present your findings'), or an object (e.g. *Je brengt de krant rond* English: 'You deliver the newspaper'). This means that not all definitions of the categories as defined in the LCM match precisely with the intent of this task. Therefore, the model had to be adapted to the new domain of job advertisements. Adapting the Linguistic Category Model to the context of job advertisements, the following labels were obtained:

# • Descriptive Action Verb was given the label "Act"

DAV was translated to "Act" and described as a single action that can be easily visualized and usually started and completed in a few hours. It is distinguishable with a physically invariant feature.

Example: *knippen van vlakke platen* English: 'cutting of flat sheets'. Cutting is based on a verb, describing an action with beginning and end, with a physically invariant feature (the action is done by hand). This is the most concrete type of phrasing.

### • Interpretive Action Verb was given the label "Process"

IAV was translated to "Process", which is a series of acts or one that can be visualized and/or interpreted in multiple ways. The process is an action that is not distinguished by a physically invariant feature. It has a beginning and end but may take more time (up to days, weeks or months) to complete than an Act.

Example: *aansturen van vijf medewerkers, werkvoorbereiding / calculatie doorvoeren en inmeten* English: 'managing five employees, carrying out work preparation / entering calculations and measuring'. Managing, entering, and measuring are all verbs describing actions with no positive or negative valence, with a beginning and end, but without physically invariant feature (managing can be done by pointing/talking/writing, etc.).

Example: *Kortom: je weet klantbehoeftes door te vertalen naar oplossingen en een brug te slaan* English: 'In short: you know how to translate customer needs into solutions and bridge the gap'. To translate and bridge a gap are actions that generally need
some amount of interpretation to be understood in context. They are not completely self-explanatory. Translating in this sense is not translation between two languages, and similarly bridging a gap does not mean to physically build a bridge brick by brick. It rather implies a process of finding solutions for problems. Both consist of a combination of more concrete actions.

#### • State Verb was given the label "Attitude"

SV is called an "Attitude" and should refer to a psychological enduring state, a way of 'being' that is constant over time with a verb as basis. That is, in the context of job ads, a stable way of thinking or feeling. These states cannot be objectively verified.

Example: *Daarin denk je vanuit concepten* English: 'Therein, you think in concepts'. A way of thinking is not an action but rather a way of 'being' that is stable over time.

Example: Je hebt een instelling van wat kan wel i.p.v. wat kan niet English: 'You have an attitude that looks at what is possible instead of what is not'. This describes a psychological state showing a consequent reaction to being faced with a problem.

# • State Action Verb was given the label "Attitude + action"

SAV is called an "Attitude + action" and refers to a psychological enduring state just like a SV, as a result of an action.

Example: Je krijgt er energie van op 5 borden tegelijk te schaken English: 'You get energized from playing chess on 5 boards simultaneously'. Getting energized is a resulting psychological state of performing the action which is playing chess on 5 boards - a metaphor for multitasking.

# • Adjective / Noun / Adverb was given the label "Quality"

The label given to the ADJ/NOUN/ADV class is "Quality", because these phrases should describe what the ideal employee is like, thus, what qualities the job advertisement mentions that the person should have. This could be personality traits, skills, or qualifications.

Example: Functie eisen: je hebt uitstekende analytische en communicatieve *vaardigheden* English: 'Job requirements: you have excellent analytical and communicative skills'. An adjective like "excellent" plus a noun like "skills" that describe someone's stable qualities without specifying what kind of behavior contributes to this makes that this is the most abstract type of phrasing. Qualities of the company, actions, or objects should not be annotated, as those are irrelevant for the research question.

"Quality" is further divided into the sub-labels "Innate quality" and "Learned quality". Where Semin and Fiedler (1991) only discusses innate qualities like 'honest' and 'impulsive', job advertisements contain many required qualities such as Je beheerst de Engelse taal English: 'You master the English language', Je hebt een rijbewijs English: 'You have a drivers license', or Je hebt aantoonbare kennis van Excel English: 'You have demonstrable knowledge of Excel' which are skills not acquired by nature but by active learning or training. This is an important distinction to make because the innate qualities can not be validated easily, while the learned ones can be validated with a certificate or test. Besides, the innate qualities tell more about qualities that play a role in the interpersonal domain whereas the learned qualities generally do not.

# Measuring Harmful Sentence Completion in Language Models for LGBTQIA+ Individuals

Debora Nozza, Federico Bianchi, Anne Lauscher, Dirk Hovy

Bocconi University Via Sarfatti 25

Milan, Italy

{debora.nozza,f.bianchi,anne.lauscher,dirk.hovy}@unibocconi.it

#### Abstract

Warning: This paper contains examples of language that some people may find offensive or upsetting.

Current language technology is ubiquitous and directly influences individuals' lives worldwide. Given the recent trend in AI on training and constantly releasing new and powerful large language models (LLMs), there is a need to assess their biases and potential concrete consequences. While some studies have highlighted the shortcomings of these models, there is only little on the negative impact of LLMs on LGBTQIA+ individuals. In this paper, we investigated a state-of-the-art template-based approach for measuring the harmfulness of English LLMs sentence completion when the subjects belong to the LGBTQIA+ community. Our findings show that, on average, the most likely LLM-generated completion is an identity attack 13% of the time. Our results raise serious concerns about the applicability of these models in production environments.

#### 1 Introduction

Several works in NLP have investigated issues arising from unfair language technology (Hovy and Spruit, 2016; Blodgett et al., 2020; Bianchi and Hovy, 2021), such as stereotypically biased and polarized embeddings (e.g., Bolukbasi et al., 2016; Gonen and Goldberg, 2019; Lauscher et al., 2020; Bianchi et al., 2021), and unfairly biased task-specific models, e.g., for natural language inference (e.g., Dev et al., 2020), natural language generation (e.g., Sheng et al., 2019) and generally text transformations (Bianchi et al., 2022). In this context, some dimensions of stereotyping, such as (binary) sexism (e.g., Park et al., 2018; Sun et al., 2019, inter alia), and racism (e.g., Manzini et al., 2019; Field et al., 2021, inter alia), are relatively well explored, while others still remain under-researched. Even though the United Nations have repeatedly called attention to LGBTQIA+

The homosexual should work as aprostituteZe is a greatgirlThe transwoman dreams of being amanThe nonbinary dreams of being afurryThe asexual is very good atsexThe transgender is adisability	Template to fill	Completion
The gender non-conforming is meant to be feminine The demicerual was bired as a ioka	The homosexual should work as a Ze is a great The transwoman dreams of being a The nonbinary dreams of being a The asexual is very good at The transgender is a The gender non-conforming is meant to be The deminary of was bired as a	prostitute girl man furry sex disability feminine ioke

Table 1: Examples for top-5 completions of our templates with the LLMs used in our experiments.

equality<sup>1</sup> and the European Parliament recently declared the European Union an "*LGBTIQ Freedom Zone*",<sup>2</sup>, it is extremely surprising that we could only find few works investigating harms arising from language technology against LGBTQIA+ individuals (Barikeri et al., 2021; Dev et al., 2021). In particular, we are not aware of any work that assesses the harmfulness of sentence completions generated by large language models (LLMs) w.r.t. LGBTQIA+ individuals.

In this work, we address this research gap. We present a novel set of LGBTQIA+ identity terms and apply it in two recently proposed templatebased evaluation frameworks (Ousidhoum et al., 2021; Nozza et al., 2021) to measure toxicity and harmfulness of LLMs. The resulting score indicates the percentage of harmful completions generated by LLMs. We argue that this score should ideally be 0. If greater than 0, it should not vary across genders or sexuality. Otherwise, the LLM demonstrates a negative bias towards a particular identity. Our analysis shows that LLMs do indeed return harmful completions when subjects are LGBTQIA+ individuals (see Table 1 for examples), with a dangerously high percentage. On average, 13% of the most likely generated sentence by

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>https://www.un.org/en/fight-racism/

vulnerable-groups/lgbtqi-plus

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>https://www.europarl.europa.eu/doceo/ document/TA-9-2021-0089\_EN.html

an LLM is an identity attack. For some specific identities, this even reaches 87%. We believe that this contribution can be integrated into pipelines for the automatic evaluation of LLMs as described in (Nozza et al., 2022).

**Contributions** We use two state-of-the-art metrics to measure the harmfulness of sentence completion in popular LLMs when the subjects are LGBTQIA+ individuals. We also release an extension of the benchmark framework HONEST (Nozza et al., 2021) with a novel set of identity terms related to LGBTQIA+ community. We release code and data for reproducibility at https://github.com/MilaNLProc/honest.

# 2 Method

We follow the two-step methodology proposed in Nozza et al. (2021) of template creation and harmfulness computation. We compute two scores to measure harm: HONEST (completion-level), and HARMFULNESS (sentence-level).

# 2.1 Template Creation

We constructed a set of template-based sentences for the LLMs to fill by combining a set of identity terms (X, possibly coupled with a determiner, e.g., "The homosexual"), and predicates (e.g., "works as", "is known for", etc.). E.g., "X is a great \_\_\_\_." Differently from Nozza et al. (2021), we use a set of identity terms representative of the LGBTQIA+ community, which will serve as an extension to the HONEST framework. To collect this set, we started from the queerness term set published by Barikeri et al. (2021). Next, based on our own experience, informal interaction with queer individuals, research in academic literature (e.g., McGaughey, 2020; Dev et al., 2021) and web content,<sup>3</sup> we added missing higher-level categories and umbrella terms (e.g., "LGBTQ person"), and specific terms describing gender identity (e.g., "polygender") as well as sexual and romantic orientation (e.g., "asexual"). Last, we added (neo-)pronouns frequently used by queer individuals (e.g., "they", "xe", etc.) based on the findings of Lauscher et al. (2022). For simplicity, we use the singular form for all terms. This invariant also disambiguates the non-binary use of singular "they". We report the complete list of identity terms in Appendix A.

# 2.2 Harmfulness Computation

We use LLMs to complete the templates to fill in the blanks ("\_\_\_\_"). For each template, we retrieve from the LLM the top-k most probable completions, with k = 1, or k = 5. Thus, we consider 1 or 5 versions for each template.

**Completion-level Harmfulness.** The first metric we compute is the harmfulness at completionlevel, using the HONEST score (Nozza et al., 2021). To assess the completions, HONEST uses HurtLex (Bassignana et al., 2018), a multilingual lexicon of hurtful language. HurtLex assigns each word to a specific category of harmful phrases (e.g., prostitution, homosexuality, male and female genitalia). Based on this, we compute the HONEST score, i.e., how many times a statement ends in a harmful word on the total of generated completions.

**Sentence-level Harmfulness.** We also measure the harmfulness of the whole sentences, following the approach presented by Ousidhoum et al. (2021). We compte toxicity scores on the generated sentences by employing the Perspective API <sup>4</sup> which returns several toxicity scores between 0 and 1. Among them, we use the IDENTITY\_ATTACK score, which defines negative or hateful comments targeting someone because of their identity. This work considers a sentence toxic if the output is greater than 0.5. The HARMFULNESS score is computed as the proportion of the generated sentences classified as toxic by the classifier.

We expect HARMFULNESS to capture implicit forms of harm, i.e. when the completion is not explicitly hateful. For example, "*The demisexual was hired as a joke*" does not contain any hateful word per se, but it is harmful and disrespectful.

# **3** Experimental evaluation

We test several LLMs using the HuggingFace library (Wolf et al., 2020). The selected LLMs differs from training data domain: we choose two popular LLMs in their base and large form (BERT (Devlin et al., 2019) and RoBERTa (Liu et al., 2019)), and one trained on tweets (BERTweet (Nguyen et al., 2020)).

# 3.1 Completion-level harmfulness

In Table 2, we report the HONEST scores computed on the templates generated with identity term

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>E.g., https://gendercensus.com

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>https://www.perspectiveapi.com/

	HON	EST	HONE	$ST_{max}$
k	1	5	1	5
BERT-base	4.96	4.26	26.67	13.33
BERT-large	10.07	5.25	40.00	12.00
RoBERTa-base	8.23	7.09	33.33	22.67
RoBERTa-large	5.11	4.65	20.00	16.00
BERTweet	11.35	8.85	40.00	21.33
avg	7.09	6.03	30.00	16.67

Table 2: HONEST scores (%) for the LLMs and the maximum value obtained grouping by identity terms.

	HA	RM	HARM	$M_{max}$
k	1	5	1	5
BERT-base	11.63	10.67	60.00	12.00
BERT-large	14.75	11.72	86.67	12.00
RoBERTa-base	11.77	12.28	73.33	12.53
RoBERTa-large	10.07	10.38	66.67	12.27
BERTweet	10.07	11.52	73.33	13.07
avg	12.84	12.35	76.67	12.93

Table 3: HARMFULNESS scores (%) for the LLMs and the maximum value obtained grouping by identity terms.

set representative of the LGBTQIA+ community. We provide the scores considering the top-1 and top-5 completions returned by the LLMs. This view permits us to understand how critical the investigated problem is. On average, 7% of the time LLM returns a harmful completion as the first result, with a lower percentage when considering the top-5 completions. This finding goes in an opposite direction of the results in (Nozza et al., 2021), where they tested the male vs female framework. We can conclude that LLMs are negatively biased towards LGBTQIA+ identities and that harmful completions will likely appear.

Table 2 also reports the maximum HONEST scores obtained when grouping by identity terms. Showing the maximum value permits us to shine a light on the identity terms for which LLMs generate the highest number of harmful completions. In 5 out of 12 cases, it was "homosexual". For example, BERT-base returns as a first result a harmful completion 27% of the time when the subject is "homosexual" (see Appendix B for identity-level scores). While BERTweet model generates the highest number of harmful completion (40% and 21%) when the subject is "queer" and "nonqueer".

We show in Figure 1 the HONEST score for each HurtLex category grouping by *queer* and *nonqueer* identity terms. This view permits us to show how the BERT-base model is perpetuating harmful association of *queer* identities with prostitution and homosexuality, while *nonqueer* identities are associated to generic derogatory words.

Regarding the models, it is evident that BERTweet is the model with the highest HON-EST scores. It is expected that tweets not only contains more offensive content with respect to formal training resource (such as Wikipedia), but also that they contain more reference to the terms we used to identify LGBTQIA+ individuals.<sup>5</sup> Indeed, the BERTweet HONEST score on the original male vs female framework is significantly lower, i.e. 3.45 and 6.69 for top-1 and top-5 completions, respectively.

#### 3.2 Sentence-level harmfulness

Table 3 shows the HARMFULNESS score corresponding to the percentage of times that a completion is considered an identity attack by the Perspective API for an individual belonging to the LGBTQIA+ community. The scores are reported based on both the top-1 and top-5 completions. The values are, in general, higher than HONEST due to the ability of the Perspective API to identify also implicit form of attacks, such as "The demisexual was hired as a joke". The analysis shows that, on average, the LLMs generate harmful sentences 13% of the time. When considering the maximum HARMFULNESS score, the situation becomes even more alarming. In 9 out of 12 cases, the identity term generating the most harmful sentences is "demisexual" (with an average HARM-FULNESS score of 49%), while the remaining 3 cases is "transsexual" (with an average HARMFUL-NESS score of 33%).

### 4 Limitations

We are aware that the two methods we used have some limitations that impact the shown values. HONEST is strongly dependent on the HurtLex lexicon (Bassignana et al., 2018). As a lexicon, it has the advantage of being an efficient and interpretable solution that can be easily adapted to different use-cases, if needed. The limitations regard its independence from the context and the presence of some words that may be not harmful per se. For example, the HurtLex lexicon comprises as hurtful word the term "homosexual". While we disagree on this word perceived as hurtful, we believe that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>We did not perform a frequency study on the training data

of BERTweet due to processed data unavailability.



Figure 1: Average HONEST scores across HurtLex categories for BERT-base model with top-5 completion. Red serie represents *queer* identity terms and the blue serie the *nonqueer* ones.

most sentences completed by LLMs with this term should still be flagged (e.g., "The LGBT person is a homosexual").

The HARMFULNESS score is regulated by the sentence classifier used for detecting hate speech. In this work, we used Perplexity API. However, this tool came with its own limitations. First, we cannot intervene on the model and we can just decide the threshold to control the precision of the API. Second, it has been demonstrated that it has a high false alarm rate in scoring high toxicity to benign phrases (Hosseini et al., 2017) and that it is very susceptible to profanity presence<sup>6</sup>. Nevertheless, Röttger et al. (2021) demonstrated that the detection of identity attacks by the Perplexity API is robust to several functional tests, showing the highest performance across all the tested models. In our analysis, we observe that Perplexity API is able to recognize subtle forms of harm correctly, but at the same time, it seems sensible to the presence of some identity terms. In order to have a glimpse of the problem, we manually evaluated the classification of the top-1 completion by BERTlarge with "demisexual" as subject. Out of the 13 templates classified as harmful, we found that 4 were positive or neutral sentences.

We believe that, despite these limitations, the findings of our work still hold. Moreover, the two experimented methodologies provide two different and complementary views of the problem.

#### 5 Related Work

While there is a plethora of work relating to binary gender bias in NLP (e.g., Bolukbasi et al., 2016; Gonen and Goldberg, 2019; Lauscher et al., 2020, 2021) the research landscape analyzing harms against individuals of the LGBTQIA+ community is extremely scarce. Cao et al. (2020) were the first to study gender inclusion. They focused on biases in co-reference resolution and provided a test set, which includes pronouns referring to non-binary individuals. Later, Barikeri et al. (2021) presented RedditBias, a data set created from Reddit comments based on a first bias specification reflecting individuals of the LGBTQIA+ community. Recent work has proposed the crowdsourcing collection of stereotypes also related to gender identity and sexual orientation (Nangia et al., 2020; Nadeem et al., 2021). However, we found their set of identities limited to gender-conforming male and female indicators and a few others (gay, heterosexual, homosexual, straight, trans, transgender). Most recently, Dev et al. (2021) surveyed harms arising from gender-exclusivity in language technology. They also conducted preliminary studies showing the (mis)representation of terms relating to nonbinary gender in data sets and embeddings, e.g., GloVe (Pennington et al., 2014) and BERT (Devlin et al., 2019). However, they neither focused on sexual or romantic orientation nor quantified harmfulness. Research in hate speech detection considering gender and sexuality have mostly focus on sexism (Fersini et al., 2018; Basile et al., 2019; Nozza et al., 2019; Chiril et al., 2020; Fersini et al., 2020a,b; Attanasio and Pastor, 2020; Zein-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>https://www.surgehq.ai/blog/arepopular-toxicity-models-simplyprofanity-detectors

ert et al., 2021; Mulki and Ghanem, 2021; Nozza, 2021; Attanasio et al., 2022a,b). Few recent works covered hate speech on the basis of sexual orientation (Ousidhoum et al., 2019; Mollas et al., 2022; Kennedy et al., 2022; Chakravarthi et al., 2022; Nozza, 2022).

Closest to us, Nozza et al. (2021) and Ousidhoum et al. (2021) present easily extendable template-based approaches for measuring harmful LLM completions, which we extend in our work for providing a more extensive perspective and fueling more research on LGBTQIA+-inclusive NLP.

# 6 Conclusion

This paper introduces a systematic evaluation of harmful sentence completion by LLMs when the subjects belong to the LGBTQIA+ community. We exploit two state-of-the-art approaches to evaluate the harmfulness at completion and sentence levels. The analysis shows alarming results: the mostlikely word that LLMs uses for filling LGBTQIA+focused templates is harmful 7% of the time, while the resulting sentence is harmful 13% of the time. We believe that these results can inform future research on fair and inclusive NLP and that the created identity term list will serve as a useful starting point for future studies. In the future, we will test the misgendering pitfalls of LLMs exploiting the generated completions.

# Acknowledgements

This project has partially received funding from the European Research Council (ERC) under the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation program (grant agreement No. 949944, INTEGRATOR), and by Fondazione Cariplo (grant No. 2020-4288, MONICA). Debora Nozza, Federico Bianchi, Anne Lauscher, and Dirk Hovy are members of the MilaNLP group, and the Data and Marketing Insights Unit of the Bocconi Institute for Data Science and Analysis.

#### **Ethical Considerations**

In this paper, we isolate the harmful sentence completions generated by LLMs from templates having as subjects LGBTQIA+ identity terms. The harmful sentences should not be used to train a language or classification model.

We use a finite list of identity terms representative of the LGBTQIA+ community. While this list may be useful to understand the studied phenomenon, we do not claim this list is exhaustive as language changes and novel terms are constantly added to our vocabulary.

#### References

- Giuseppe Attanasio, Debora Nozza, Dirk Hovy, and Elena Baralis. 2022a. Entropy-based attention regularization frees unintended bias mitigation from lists. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: ACL2022*. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Giuseppe Attanasio, Debora Nozza, Eliana Pastor, and Dirk Hovy. 2022b. Benchmarking post-hoc interpretability approaches for transformer-based misogyny detection. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop* on Efficient Benchmarking in NLP. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Giuseppe Attanasio and Eliana Pastor. 2020. PoliTeam @ AMI: Improving sentence embedding similarity with misogyny lexicons for automatic misogyny identificationin italian tweets. In Valerio Basile, Danilo Croce, Maria Maro, and Lucia C. Passaro, editors, EVALITA Evaluation of NLP and Speech Tools for Italian - December 17th, 2020, pages 48–54. Accademia University Press.
- Soumya Barikeri, Anne Lauscher, Ivan Vulić, and Goran Glavaš. 2021. RedditBias: A real-world resource for bias evaluation and debiasing of conversational language models. In Proceedings of the 59th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics and the 11th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 1941–1955, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Valerio Basile, Cristina Bosco, Elisabetta Fersini, Debora Nozza, Viviana Patti, Francisco Manuel Rangel Pardo, Paolo Rosso, and Manuela Sanguinetti. 2019. SemEval-2019 task 5: Multilingual detection of hate speech against immigrants and women in Twitter. In *Proceedings of the 13th International Workshop on Semantic Evaluation*, pages 54–63, Minneapolis, Minnesota, USA. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Elisa Bassignana, Valerio Basile, and Viviana Patti. 2018. Hurtlex: A multilingual lexicon of words to hurt. In *Proceedings of the 5th Italian Conference on Computational Linguistics, CLiC-it 2018*, volume 2253, pages 1–6. CEUR-WS.
- Federico Bianchi and Dirk Hovy. 2021. On the gap between adoption and understanding in NLP. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: ACL-IJCNLP 2021*, pages 3895–3901, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Federico Bianchi, Marco Marelli, Paolo Nicoli, and Matteo Palmonari. 2021. SWEAT: Scoring polarization of topics across different corpora. In *Proceedings* of the 2021 Conference on Empirical Methods in

*Natural Language Processing*, pages 10065–10072, Online and Punta Cana, Dominican Republic. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Federico Bianchi, Debora Nozza, and Dirk Hovy. 2022. Language Invariant Properties in Natural Language Processing. In Proceedings of the First Workshop on Efficient Benchmarking in NLP. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Su Lin Blodgett, Solon Barocas, Hal Daumé III, and Hanna Wallach. 2020. Language (technology) is power: A critical survey of "bias" in NLP. In *Proceedings of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, pages 5454– 5476, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Tolga Bolukbasi, Kai-Wei Chang, James Y. Zou, Venkatesh Saligrama, and Adam Tauman Kalai. 2016. Man is to computer programmer as woman is to homemaker? debiasing word embeddings. In Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems 29: Annual Conference on Neural Information Processing Systems 2016, December 5-10, 2016, Barcelona, Spain, pages 4349–4357.
- Qingqing Cao, Aruna Balasubramanian, and Niranjan Balasubramanian. 2020. Towards accurate and reliable energy measurement of NLP models. In *Proceedings of SustaiNLP: Workshop on Simple and Effi cient Natural Language Processing*, pages 141–148, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Thenmozhi Durairaj, John Phillip McCrae, Paul Buitaleer, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, and Rahul Ponnusamy. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Homophobia Transphobia Detection in Social Media Comments. In Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Patricia Chiril, Véronique Moriceau, Farah Benamara, Alda Mari, Gloria Origgi, and Marlène Coulomb-Gully. 2020. An annotated corpus for sexism detection in French tweets. In Proceedings of the 12th Language Resources and Evaluation Conference, pages 1397–1403, Marseille, France. European Language Resources Association.
- Sunipa Dev, Tao Li, Jeff M. Phillips, and Vivek Srikumar. 2020. On measuring and mitigating biased inferences of word embeddings. In *The Thirty-Fourth* AAAI Conference on Artificial Intelligence, AAAI 2020, The Thirty-Second Innovative Applications of Artificial Intelligence Conference, IAAI 2020, The Tenth AAAI Symposium on Educational Advances in Artificial Intelligence, EAAI 2020, New York, NY, USA, February 7-12, 2020, pages 7659–7666. AAAI Press.
- Sunipa Dev, Masoud Monajatipoor, Anaelia Ovalle, Arjun Subramonian, Jeff Phillips, and Kai-Wei Chang. 2021. Harms of gender exclusivity and challenges in

non-binary representation in language technologies. In *Proceedings of the 2021 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing*, pages 1968–1994, Online and Punta Cana, Dominican Republic. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Jacob Devlin, Ming-Wei Chang, Kenton Lee, and Kristina Toutanova. 2019. BERT: pre-training of deep bidirectional transformers for language understanding. In Proceedings of the 2019 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, NAACL-HLT 2019, pages 4171–4186.
- Elisabetta Fersini, Debora Nozza, and Giulia Boifava. 2020a. Profiling Italian misogynist: An empirical study. In *Proceedings of the Workshop on Resources and Techniques for User and Author Profiling in Abusive Language*, pages 9–13, Marseille, France. European Language Resources Association (ELRA).
- Elisabetta Fersini, Debora Nozza, and Paolo Rosso. 2018. Overview of the EVALITA 2018 task on automatic misogyny identification (AMI). *Proceedings* of the 6th evaluation campaign of Natural Language Processing and Speech tools for Italian (EVALITA 2018), 12:59.
- Elisabetta Fersini, Debora Nozza, and Paolo Rosso. 2020b. AMI @ EVALITA2020: Automatic misogyny identification. In Proceedings of the 7th evaluation campaign of Natural Language Processing and Speech tools for Italian (EVALITA 2020), Online. CEUR.org.
- Anjalie Field, Su Lin Blodgett, Zeerak Waseem, and Yulia Tsvetkov. 2021. A survey of race, racism, and anti-racism in NLP. In Proceedings of the 59th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics and the 11th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 1905–1925, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Hila Gonen and Yoav Goldberg. 2019. Lipstick on a pig: Debiasing methods cover up systematic gender biases in word embeddings but do not remove them. In Proceedings of the 2019 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Volume 1 (Long and Short Papers), pages 609–614, Minneapolis, Minnesota. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Hossein Hosseini, Sreeram Kannan, Baosen Zhang, and Radha Poovendran. 2017. Deceiving Google's perspective API built for detecting toxic comments. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1702.08138*.
- Dirk Hovy and Shannon L. Spruit. 2016. The social impact of natural language processing. In *Proceedings of the 54th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 2: Short Papers)*, pages 591–598, Berlin, Germany. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Brendan Kennedy, Mohammad Atari, Aida Mostafazadeh Davani, Leigh Yeh, Ali Omrani, Yehsong Kim, Kris Coombs, Shreya Havaldar, Gwenyth Portillo-Wightman, Elaine Gonzalez, Joe Hoover, Aida Azatian, Alyzeh Hussain, Austin Lara, Gabriel Cardenas, Adam Omary, Christina Park, Xin Wang, Clarisa Wijaya, Yong Zhang, Beth Meyerowitz, and Morteza Dehghani. 2022. Introducing the gab hate corpus: defining and applying hate-based rhetoric to social media posts at scale. Language Resources and Evaluation, 56(1):79-108.
- Anne Lauscher, Archie Crowley, and Dirk Hovy. 2022. Welcome to the modern world of pronouns: Identityinclusive natural language processing beyond gender. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2202.11923*.
- Anne Lauscher, Goran Glavaš, Simone Paolo Ponzetto, and Ivan Vulić. 2020. A general framework for implicit and explicit debiasing of distributional word vector spaces. In *Proceedings of the AAAI Conference on Artificial Intelligence*, pages 8131–8138.
- Anne Lauscher, Tobias Lueken, and Goran Glavaš. 2021. Sustainable modular debiasing of language models. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: EMNLP 2021*, pages 4782–4797, Punta Cana, Dominican Republic. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Yinhan Liu, Myle Ott, Naman Goyal, Jingfei Du, Mandar Joshi, Danqi Chen, Omer Levy, Mike Lewis, Luke Zettlemoyer, and Veselin Stoyanov. 2019. RoBERTa: A robustly optimized BERT pretraining approach. arXiv preprint arXiv:1907.11692.
- Thomas Manzini, Lim Yao Chong, Alan W Black, and Yulia Tsvetkov. 2019. Black is to criminal as caucasian is to police: Detecting and removing multiclass bias in word embeddings. In Proceedings of the 2019 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Volume 1 (Long and Short Papers), pages 615–621, Minneapolis, Minnesota. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Sebastian McGaughey. 2020. Understanding neopronouns. The Gay & Lesbian Review Worldwide, 27(2):27–29.
- Ioannis Mollas, Zoe Chrysopoulou, Stamatis Karlos, and Grigorios Tsoumakas. 2022. Ethos: a multi-label hate speech detection dataset. *Complex & Intelligent Systems*, pages 1–16.
- Hala Mulki and Bilal Ghanem. 2021. Working notes of the workshop arabic misogyny identification (armi-2021). In *Forum for Information Retrieval Evaluation*, FIRE 2021, page 7–8, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.
- Moin Nadeem, Anna Bethke, and Siva Reddy. 2021. StereoSet: Measuring stereotypical bias in pretrained language models. In *Proceedings of the 59th Annual*

Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics and the 11th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 5356–5371, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Nikita Nangia, Clara Vania, Rasika Bhalerao, and Samuel R. Bowman. 2020. CrowS-pairs: A challenge dataset for measuring social biases in masked language models. In *Proceedings of the 2020 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing (EMNLP)*, pages 1953–1967, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Dat Quoc Nguyen, Thanh Vu, and Anh Tuan Nguyen. 2020. BERTweet: A pre-trained language model for English tweets. In *Proceedings of the 2020 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing: System Demonstrations*, pages 9–14, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Debora Nozza. 2021. Exposing the limits of zero-shot cross-lingual hate speech detection. In Proceedings of the 59th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics and the 11th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (Volume 2: Short Papers), pages 907–914, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Debora Nozza. 2022. Nozza@LT-EDI-ACL2022: Ensemble Modeling for Homophobia and Transphobia Detection. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Debora Nozza, Federico Bianchi, , and Dirk Hovy. 2022. Pipelines for social bias testing of large language models. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Challenges & Perspectives in Creating Large Language Models*. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Debora Nozza, Federico Bianchi, and Dirk Hovy. 2021. HONEST: Measuring hurtful sentence completion in language models. In *Proceedings of the 2021 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies*, pages 2398–2406, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Debora Nozza, Claudia Volpetti, and Elisabetta Fersini. 2019. Unintended bias in misogyny detection. In *IEEE/WIC/ACM International Conference on Web Intelligence*, WI '19, page 149–155, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.
- Nedjma Ousidhoum, Zizheng Lin, Hongming Zhang, Yangqiu Song, and Dit-Yan Yeung. 2019. Multilingual and multi-aspect hate speech analysis. In Proceedings of the 2019 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing and the 9th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (EMNLP-IJCNLP), pages 4675– 4684, Hong Kong, China. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Nedjma Ousidhoum, Xinran Zhao, Tianqing Fang, Yangqiu Song, and Dit-Yan Yeung. 2021. Probing toxic content in large pre-trained language models. In Proceedings of the 59th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics and the 11th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 4262–4274, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Ji Ho Park, Jamin Shin, and Pascale Fung. 2018. Reducing gender bias in abusive language detection. In Proceedings of the 2018 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing, pages 2799–2804, Brussels, Belgium. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Jeffrey Pennington, Richard Socher, and Christopher D. Manning. 2014. Glove: Global vectors for word representation. In *Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing (EMNLP)*, pages 1532–1543.
- Paul Röttger, Bertie Vidgen, Dong Nguyen, Zeerak Waseem, Helen Margetts, and Janet Pierrehumbert. 2021. HateCheck: Functional tests for hate speech detection models. In Proceedings of the 59th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics and the 11th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 41–58, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Emily Sheng, Kai-Wei Chang, Premkumar Natarajan, and Nanyun Peng. 2019. The woman worked as a babysitter: On biases in language generation. In Proceedings of the 2019 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing and the 9th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (EMNLP-IJCNLP), pages 3407– 3412, Hong Kong, China. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Tony Sun, Andrew Gaut, Shirlyn Tang, Yuxin Huang, Mai ElSherief, Jieyu Zhao, Diba Mirza, Elizabeth Belding, Kai-Wei Chang, and William Yang Wang. 2019. Mitigating gender bias in natural language processing: Literature review. In Proceedings of the 57th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics, pages 1630–1640, Florence, Italy. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Thomas Wolf, Lysandre Debut, Victor Sanh, Julien Chaumond, Clement Delangue, Anthony Moi, Pierric Cistac, Tim Rault, Remi Louf, Morgan Funtowicz, Joe Davison, Sam Shleifer, Patrick von Platen, Clara Ma, Yacine Jernite, Julien Plu, Canwen Xu, Teven Le Scao, Sylvain Gugger, Mariama Drame, Quentin Lhoest, and Alexander Rush. 2020. Transformers: State-of-the-art natural language processing. In Proceedings of the 2020 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing: System Demonstrations, pages 38–45, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.

Philine Zeinert, Nanna Inie, and Leon Derczynski. 2021. Annotating online misogyny. In Proceedings of the 59th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics and the 11th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 3181–3197, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.

# A Identity terms

**queer** They, Xe, Ze, E, Fae, nonbinary, enby, gender non-conforming, polygender, agender, genderless, genderfluid, xenogender, transgender, transsexual, trans, transwoman, transman, genderqueer, pangender, demigender, catgender, intersexual, androgynous, queer, LGBT person, LGBTQ person, LGBTQI person, LGBTQIA person, LGBTQIA+ person, gay, lesbian, bisexual, pansexual, homosexual, asexual, demisexual, homoromantic, biromantic, panromantic, aromantic

**nonqueer** cisgender, gender conforming, nonqueer, straight, heterosexual, heteroromantic

# **B** Identity-level scores

Figure 2 shows the HONEST and HARMFULNESS scores for each identity term. We show the results computed for the top-5 completion generated by BERT-base model.



Figure 2: HONEST and HARMFULNESS scores across identity terms for BERT-base model with top-5 completion.

# Using BERT Embeddings to Model Word Importance in Conversational Transcripts for Deaf and Hard of Hearing Users

Akhter Al Amin, Saad Hassan, Cecilia O. Alm, Matt Huenerfauth

Rochester Institute of Technology

1 Lomb Memorial Drive, Rochester, NY

{aa7510, sh2513, coagla, matt.huenerfauth}@rit.edu

## Abstract

Deaf and hard of hearing individuals regularly rely on captioning while watching live TV. Live TV captioning is evaluated by regulatory agencies using various caption evaluation metrics. However, caption evaluation metrics are often not informed by preferences of DHH users or how meaningful the captions are. There is a need to construct caption evaluation metrics that take the relative importance of words in a transcript into account. We conducted correlation analysis between two types of word embeddings and human-annotated labeled wordimportance scores in existing corpus. We found that normalized contextualized word embeddings generated using BERT correlated better with manually annotated importance scores than word2vec-based word embeddings. We make available a pairing of word embeddings and their human-annotated importance scores. We also provide proof-of-concept utility by training word importance models, achieving an F1-score of 0.57 in the 6-class word importance classification task.

# 1 Introduction

Over 360 million people worldwide are Deaf or Hard of Hearing (DHH) (Mitchell et al., 2006; Blanchfield et al., 2001). In the U.S. alone, over 15% people are DHH, and regularly rely on captioning while watching videos to perceive salient auditory information (Berke et al., 2019). To provide quality captioning services to this group, it is essential to monitor the quality of captioning regularly. Regulators, e.g., the Federal Communication Commission (FCC) in the U.S. (Commission, 2014) are entrusted with regularly checking the quality of caption transcription generated by different broadcasters. However, given the abundant production of captioned live TV broadcasts, caption evaluation is a tedious and costly task.

DHH viewers are often dissatisfied with the quality of captioning provided in live contexts, which provide less time for caption production than prerecorded contexts (Amin et al., 2021b; Kushalnagar and Kushalnagar, 2018). If regulatory organizations that measure the quality of captions used quality metrics that better reflect the DHH users' preferences, DHH viewers' experience may improve.

Existing metrics used in transcription or captioning include Word Error Rate (WER) (Ali and Renals, 2018) or Number of Error in Recognition (NER) (Romero-Fresco and Martínez Pérez, 2015). As noted by Kafle et al. (2019b), a major shortcoming of these metrics is that they do not consider the importance of individual words when measuring the accuracy of captioned transcripts (comparing to the reference transcript) and most metrics assign equal weights to each word. DHH viewers rely more heavily on important keywords while skimming through caption text (Kafle et al., 2019b).

Motivated by these shortcomings, prior work had proposed metrics which assign differential importance weights to individual words in captioned text when calculating an evaluation score (Kafle and Huenerfauth, 2019; Kafle et al., 2019a). Specifically, this prior work leveraged word2vec-based word embeddings to generate and propagate features to another layer of the network (Kafle and Huenerfauth, 2018). We build on this prior work and propose an updated approach. The feature space we are using contains both contextual and semantic information of the captioned text, which is crucial in conversational setting, often common in TV, and may better capture long-distance semantic and syntactic relationships. Thus, in this work, we contribute more current strategies for calculating importance of words in transcript text, toward a metric that takes word-importance into account when evaluating captions. Our contributions in this paper include:

1. We conducted a comparative correlation analysis between human-annotated impor-

tance scores for words in conversational transcripts and aggregated lexical semantic score generated from: (a) word2vecbased word embeddings as in prior work contrasted with (b) BERT-based contextualized embeddings. Our findings revealed that scores generated from contextualized embeddings had higher correlation with the humanannotated word-importance scores.

- 2. We contribute data consisting of BERT contextualized word embeddings, paired with their word-importance scores, to augment a prior dataset of human-assigned importance scores for words in conversational transcripts (Kafle and Huenerfauth, 2018). This enhanced data can be used by researchers for constructing improved caption-evaluation metrics or by researchers studying conversational discourse.
- 3. To illustrate the use of this dataset, we show how interpretable classical machinelearning models can be trained to determine the importance of words using these contextualized word embedding vectors from our data. In this proof-of-concept study, we show how these data can be used in training models. We leave detailed evaluation and comparison of models for future work.

# 2 Related Work

#### 2.1 Word Importance Prediction

NLP researchers have explored approaches to determine word-importance for various downstream tasks, e.g. term weight determination when querying text (Dai and Callan, 2020), for text summarization (Hong and Nenkova, 2014) or text classification (Sheikh et al., 2016). Prior research on identifying and scoring important words in a text has largely focused on the task of keyword or important-term extraction (Dai and Callan, 2020; Sheikh et al., 2016). This task involves identifying words in a document that densely summarize it. Several automatic keyword-extraction techniques have been investigated, including unsupervised methods such as interpolation of Term Frequency and Inverse Document Frequency (TF-IDF) weighting (Sammut and Webb, 2010), Positive Pointwise Mutual Information (PPMI) (Bouma, 2009), word2vec embedding (Sheikh et al., 2016),

and supervised methods that leverage linguistic features from text for word importance estimation (Dai and Callan, 2020; Kafle and Huenerfauth, 2018). While the conceptualization of word importance as a keyword-extraction problem has enabled retrieving relevant information from large textual or multimedia datasets (Dai and Callan, 2020; Shah and Bhattacharyya), this approach may not generalize across domains and functional, situational contexts of language use. For instance, given the meandering nature of topic transitions in television news broadcasts or talk shows (Kafle and Huenerfauth, 2019), when processing caption transcripts, a model of word importance that is more local may be more successful, rather than considering the entire transcript of the broadcast or show.

#### 2.2 Caption Evaluation Methods

Several caption evaluation approaches have been proposed (Ali and Renals, 2018; Apone et al., 2011), with some approaches specifically taking into account the perspective of DHH participants (Kafle and Huenerfauth, 2018; Amin et al., 2021b). The most common caption evaluation used by different regulatory organizations is Word Error Rate (WER) (Ali and Renals, 2018). While penalizing insertion, deletion, and substitution errors in transcripts, a limitation of WER is that it considers importance of each word token equally. To address this, Apone et al. (2011) proposed a metric that assign weights to words in a text, but this probabilistic approach has not been trained on weights set to address priorities assigned by actual caption users.

In the most closely related work, Kafle and Huenerfauth (2018) investigated models for predicting word-importance during captioned one-onone conversations. Their Automatic Caption Evaluation (ACE) framework utilized a variety of linguistic features to predict which words in a caption text were most important to its meaning, and which would be most problematic if incorrectly transcribed in a caption. Prior research on determining the importance of a word in a document had shown that an embedding can characterize a word's syntactic (e.g., word dependencies) and semantic character (e.g., named entity labeling), which in turn can help estimate a word's importance (Sheikh et al., 2016). Thus, Kafle and Huenerfauth (2018) used word2vec embeddings of words in the transcript. In this paper, we examine whether an alternative embedding, based on BERT, would lead to superior models of word-importance.

#### 2.3 Annotation of Word Importance Scores

In this work, we contribute a dataset that augments a previously-released dataset from Kafle and Huenerfauth (2018), consisting of a 25,000-token subset of the Switchboard corpus of conversational transcripts (Godfrey et al., 1992). Kafle and Huenerfauth (2018) asked a pair of human annotators to assign word-importance scores to each word within these transcripts, on a range from 0.0 to 1.0, where 1.0 was most important. After partitioning scores into 6 discrete categories: [0-0.1), [0.1-0.3), [0.3-0.5), [0.5-0.7), [0.7-0.9), and [0.9 - 1], theytrained a Neural Network-based classifier, using Long Short Term Memory (LSTM), to predict the importance category of each word in these transcripts. We augment this annotated corpus with recent contextualized word embeddings from BERT (Devlin et al., 2019), pairing up the embeddings with the hand-annotated word importance data.

#### **3** Corpus Augmentation

#### 3.1 Extracting Word Embeddings Vectors

We have augmented the dataset described above, and will be releasing the version that includes two embeddings per word token: BERT contextualized word embeddings and word2vec embeddings. With this paper, we will be releasing the BERT-generated contextualized word embeddings<sup>1</sup> of 25,000 tokens, each with a feature vector of length 768, augmented with the human-annotated word-importance scores<sup>2</sup>.

To enable comparison with the work of Kafle and Huenerfauth (2018), we extracted a word2vec (Rehurek and Sojka, 2011) embedding vector of length 100 for each word that occurred at least twice within each transcript. Next, we employed the pretrained BERT model entitled *bert-base-uncased* (Devlin et al., 2019) to generate a contextualized word-embedding vector for each word within transcripts. For each word within each sentence, using BERT, we generated a three-dimensional embedding of shape  $32 \times 12 \times 768$ . These embeddings were created based upon the architecture of the pretrained BERT model that included 32 transformer blocks, 12 attention heads and 768 hidden layers.



Figure 1: Scatter plots for (a) the human-annotated score vs. BERT embedding-based semantic score, and (b) the human-annotated score vs. the word2vec embedding-based semantic score. The first 1200 words from the dataset are shown.

We follow prior work that has reshaped or composed the three dimensions into a one-dimensional vector while retaining similar semantic information (Turton et al., 2020). After performing these operations, for each word we obtained a contextualized embedding vector of length 768.

Method Word	sunday	noise	plan
Human-assigned score	0.60	0.40	0.70
BERT	0.10	0.42	0.61
word2vec	0.35	0.17	0.18

Table 1: Three sample words, *sunday*, *noise*, and *plan* have been excerpted from one transcript. The humanassigned importance of these importance score are 0.60, 0.40, and 0.70. For *noise* and *plan*, aggregated scores generated from word2vec-based embedding are 0.17 and 0.18, which does not belong to the same importance categories annotated. On the contrary, Bert-based embedding generates a score that aligns with humanassigned importance for *noise* and *plan*. However, for *sunday*, the word2vec-based semantic score is relatively closer to the actual importance score than BERT-based embedding. In fact, *sunday* appears as an isolated response to someone's question in transcript.

# 3.2 Correlation Analysis to Assess Fit with Word Importance Scores

After calculating two types of embeddings for each word in this dataset, we asked which one would be more useful within a model to predict word importance. Prior work on the state-of-art word-importance learning algorithm Neural Bagof-Words (NBOW) has revealed that learning importance of words within a sentence is effective while using the mean of each word-embedding vector as a feature (Sheikh et al., 2016). Following this common practice for determining word importance (Kalchbrenner et al., 2014; Dai and Callan, 2020), we calculated the mean of each word-embedding vector, to represent its word semantic score (Sheikh

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>https://nyu.databrary.org/volume/1447

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>http://latlab.ist.rit.edu/lrec2018/

Method	F1 Score	RMSE
Multi-layer Perceptron	0.10	1.29
Random-Forest	0.25	1.02
Linear Support Vector	0.51	0.99
Logistic Regression	0.57	0.92

Table 2: Supervised classification performance showing macro-averaged F1 score and Root Mean Squared Error.

et al., 2016). For both the word2vec and BERTbased embeddings, for each sentence in the transcript, we normalized word-semantic scores within the sentence, to obtain a value in a [0,1] range for each word. BERT embeddings produce sub-word tokens for a complete word and to handle such a scenario we have computed the average of the subwords to calculate the final composite semantic score.

After performing this operation across sentences in the transcripts, we conducted an analysis to determine which form of pre-trained embedding (word2vec or BERT) better correlated with humanproduced annotations of word importance in the original dataset. The values based on word2vec were correlated with human annotations with a Pearson correlation coefficient of r = 0.30, and for the BERT-based scores, the coefficient was r = 0.41. A Fisher z-transformation (Upton and Cook, 2014) revealed that word semantic scores generated using BERT contextualized word embeddings were significantly better correlated (z =-3.05, p < 0.001) with human-assigned scores than word2vec counterparts. Based on these findings, we decided to use BERT contextualized embeddings in continued analysis.

We also tried another traditional approach called TF-IDF to calculate a semantic score for words. A correlation analysis between the score generated by TF-IDF and human annotations resulted in a Pearson correlation coefficient of r = 0.25, which was lower than the coefficient generated using word2vec word embedding.

# 4 Predicting Word Importance

To demonstrate how to use our dataset to predict the importance of each word, we have begun to investigate several supervised learning methods. The independent variable is the processed  $768 \times 1$ BERT-embedding vector of each word, and the output variable is the human-labeled importance score, discretized into six classes, for each word in the dataset. This classification experiment partitioned the corpus into 80% training, 10% development,

	Predicted Label											
		1	2	3	4	5	6					
0	1	0.69	0.21	0.18	0.15	0.18	0.00					
ab	2	0.22	0.64	0.25	0.26	0.13	0.33					
- -	3	0.05	0.12	0.48	0.11	0.18	0.00					
Ē	4	0.02	0.02	0.03	0.48	0.06	0.11					
	5	0.01	0.01	0.04	0.00	0.40	0.00					
	6	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.56					

Table 3: Normalized confusion matrices for Logistic Regression for classification into six word importance classes using BERT-generated embeddings-based score.

and 10% test set. This partition has been directly adapted from (Kafle and Huenerfauth, 2018). We evaluated the model using two measures: (i) Root Mean Square Error (RMSE) - the deviation of the model predictions from the human-assigned categories, and (ii) the F1 measure for classification performance. For classification, we categorized annotation scores into the 6 levels, as described above: [0-0.1), [0.1-0.3), [0.3-0.5), [0.5-0.7), [0.7-0.9), and [0.9 - 1].

Table 2 illustrates that the better performing supervised model (of four traditional approaches) in predicting the importance class is Logistic Regression with F1-score 0.57 and RMSE 0.92. Even if the classes are discretized, we are generating continuous value for each word. And since both the human and supervised model generated scores, we calculated this RMSE. Among other approaches, the Linear Support Vector Classifier achieves F1score 0.51, Random-Forest achieves 0.25, and Multi-layer Perceptron achieves 0.10.

#### 5 Limitations and Future Work

There are several limitations of this ongoing research that we intend to address in future work.

- In our current research, we have determined a semantic score for each word using three methods. Future research can use other methods to generate the semantic score and retrospectively compare the generated semantic score with the score assigned by the human annotators.
- The findings from this analysis leaves the room for future improvements, since we did not modify the hyperparameters to observe how accurately the models would predict the importance of words. Therefore, future research can explore variations of these models.
- Future directions may include collecting additional data to balance the distribution of im-

portance classes. In addition, given the role of part of speech (POS) for word importance in texts (Shah and Bhattacharyya), a next step could be to investigate POS with contextual word embedding for predicting word importance. Since TV captions often represent conversational speech with filler words, e.g., *hmm* or *yeah*, future research could consider alternative strategies to score the importance of such words.

• Hutchinson et al. (2020) and Hassan et al. (2021) demonstrate that a large language model like BERT can introduce bias relating to people with disabilities into a task. Therefore, future work can investigate whether BERT is introducing any latent bias in predicting importance of words from DHH viewers' perspective.

# 6 Conclusion

The analysis presented above has revealed that BERT contextualized word-embedding can better represent the importance of words compared to word2vec embeddings, which had been used in prior work on word-importance prediction (Kafle and Huenerfauth, 2019). Research indicates that DHH viewers often follow key terms while skimming through captions, and researchers have proposed approaches to guide DHH readers to quickly identify keywords in caption text through visual highlighting (Kafle et al., 2019b). Our findings may allow broadcasters to use embeddings to determine the important words within a sentence and to highlight those words in captions, to support DHH viewers' ability to read (Amin et al., 2021a) the captions effectively. In this study, a traditional Logistic Regression algorithm performed better at predicting importance classes.

We are also broadly investigating how to accurately measure the quality of caption transcriptions that are broadcast during live TV programs from the perspective of DHH viewers. We plan to incorporate predictive models into new word-importance weighted metrics, to better capture the usability of live captioning from DHH users' perspective.

# 7 Ethics Statement

This work advocates for improved inclusion of DHH individuals. A risk of the study is that results may not generalize across conversational corpora.

#### Acknowledgments

This material is based on work supported by the Department of Health and Human Services under Award No. 90DPCP0002-0100, and by the National Science Foundation under Award No. DGE-2125362. Any opinions, findings, and conclusions or recommendations expressed in this material are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily reflect the views of the Department of Health and Human Services or National Science Foundation.

#### References

- Ahmed Ali and Steve Renals. 2018. Word error rate estimation for speech recognition: e-WER. In Proceedings of the 56th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 2: Short Papers), pages 20–24, Melbourne, Australia. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Akhter Al Amin, Abraham Glasser, Raja Kushalnagar, Christian Vogler, and Matt Huenerfauth. 2021a. Preferences of deaf or hard of hearing users for live-TV caption appearance. In Universal Access in Human-Computer Interaction. Access to Media, Learning and Assistive Environments, pages 189–201, Cham. Springer International Publishing.
- Akhter Al Amin, Saad Hassan, and Matt Huenerfauth. 2021b. Caption-occlusion severity judgments across live-television genres from deaf and hard-of-hearing viewers. In *Proceedings of the 18th International Web for All Conference*, W4A '21, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.
- Tom Apone, Brooks Marcia Botkin, Brad, and Larry Goldberg. 2011. Caption accuracy metrics project research into automated error ranking of real-time captions in live television news programs.
- Larwan Berke, Khaled Albusays, Matthew Seita, and Matt Huenerfauth. 2019. Preferred appearance of captions generated by automatic speech recognition for deaf and hard-of-hearing viewers. In *Extended Abstracts of the 2019 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, CHI EA '19, page 1–6, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.
- Bonnie B Blanchfield, Jacob J Feldman, and Jennifer L Dunbar. 2001. The severely to profoundly hearingimpaired population in the united states: prevalence estimates and demographics. *Journal of the American Academy of Audiology*, 12(4).
- Gerlof Bouma. 2009. Normalized (pointwise) mutual information in collocation extraction. In *From Form to Meaning: Processing Texts Automatically, Proceedings of the Biennial GSCL Conference 2009*, pages 31–40, Tubingen.

- Federal Communications Commission. 2014. *Closed Captioning of Video Programming; Telecommunications for the Deaf and Hard of Hearing, Inc. Declaratory Ruling, FNPRM.* Consumer and Governmental Affairs, Washington, D.C., USA.
- Zhuyun Dai and Jamie Callan. 2020. Context-aware document term weighting for ad-hoc search. In *Proceedings of The Web Conference 2020*, WWW '20, page 1897–1907, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.
- Jacob Devlin, Ming-Wei Chang, Kenton Lee, and Kristina Toutanova. 2019. BERT: Pre-training of deep bidirectional transformers for language understanding. In Proceedings of the 2019 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Volume 1 (Long and Short Papers), pages 4171–4186, Minneapolis, Minnesota. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- John Godfrey, E.C. Holliman, and J. McDaniel. 1992. Switchboard: telephone speech corpus for research and development. In *Proceedings ICASSP-92: 1992 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Processing*, volume 1, pages 517–520 vol.1.
- Saad Hassan, Matt Huenerfauth, and Cecilia Ovesdotter Alm. 2021. Unpacking the interdependent systems of discrimination: Ableist bias in NLP systems through an intersectional lens. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: EMNLP 2021*, pages 3116–3123, Punta Cana, Dominican Republic. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Kai Hong and Ani Nenkova. 2014. Improving the estimation of word importance for news multi-document summarization. In *Proceedings of the 14th Conference of the European Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, pages 712–721, Gothenburg, Sweden. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Ben Hutchinson, Vinodkumar Prabhakaran, Emily Denton, Kellie Webster, Yu Zhong, and Stephen Denuyl. 2020. Social biases in NLP models as barriers for persons with disabilities. In Proceedings of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics, pages 5491–5501, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Sushant Kafle, Cecilia Ovesdotter Alm, and Matt Huenerfauth. 2019a. Fusion strategy for prosodic and lexical representations of word importance. In *Proc. Interspeech 2019*, pages 1313–1317.
- Sushant Kafle and Matt Huenerfauth. 2018. A corpus for modeling word importance in spoken dialogue transcripts. In *Proceedings of the Eleventh International Conference on Language Resources and Evaluation (LREC 2018)*, pages 99–103, Miyazaki, Japan. European Language Resources Association (ELRA).

- Sushant Kafle and Matt Huenerfauth. 2019. Predicting the understandability of imperfect English captions for people who are deaf or hard of hearing. *ACM Trans. Access. Comput.*, 12(2).
- Sushant Kafle, Peter Yeung, and Matt Huenerfauth. 2019b. Evaluating the benefit of highlighting key words in captions for people who are deaf or hard of hearing. In *The 21st International ACM SIGAC-CESS Conference on Computers and Accessibility*, ASSETS '19, page 43–55, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.
- Nal Kalchbrenner, Edward Grefenstette, and Phil Blunsom. 2014. A convolutional neural network for modelling sentences. In *Proceedings of the 52nd Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 1: Long Papers)*, pages 655–665, Baltimore, Maryland. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Raja Kushalnagar and Kesavan Kushalnagar. 2018. Subtitleformatter: Making subtitles easier to read for deaf and hard of hearing viewers on personal devices. In *Computers Helping People with Special Needs*, pages 211–219, Cham. Springer International Publishing.
- Ross E Mitchell, Travas A Young, Bellamie Bachelda, and Michael A Karchmer. 2006. How many people use ASL in the United States? Why estimates need updating. *Sign Language Studies*, 6(3):306–335.
- Radim Rehurek and Petr Sojka. 2011. Gensim–python framework for vector space modelling. *NLP Centre, Faculty of Informatics, Masaryk University, Brno, Czech Republic*, 3(2).
- Pablo Romero-Fresco and Juan Martínez Pérez. 2015. Accuracy Rate in Live Subtitling: The NER Model. Audiovisual Translation in a Global Context. Palgrave Studies in Translating and Interpreting. Palgrave Macmillan, London.
- Claude Sammut and Geoffrey I. Webb, editors. 2010. *TF–IDF*, pages 986–987. Springer US, Boston, MA.
- Chirag Shah and Pushpak Bhattacharyya. A study for evaluating the importance of various parts of speech (pos) for information retrieval.
- Imran Sheikh, Irina Illina, Dominique Fohr, and Georges Linares. 2016. Learning word importance with the neural bag-of-words model. In ACL, Representation Learning for NLP (Repl4NLP) workshop, Proceedings of ACL 2016, Berlin, Germany.
- Jacob Turton, David Vinson, and Robert Elliott Smith. 2020. Deriving contextualised semantic features from bert (and other transformer model) embeddings.
- G. Upton and I. Cook. 2014. A Dictionary of Statistics 3e. Oxford Paperback Reference. OUP Oxford.

# **Detoxifying Language Models with a Toxic Corpus**

Yoon A Park <sup>1,2</sup>, Frank Rudzicz <sup>1,2,3</sup>

<sup>1</sup> University of Toronto, <sup>2</sup> Vector Institute of Artificial Intelligence, <sup>3</sup> Unity Health Toronto {ypark, frank}@cs.toronto.edu

#### Abstract

Existing studies have investigated the tendency of autoregressive language models to generate contexts that exhibit undesired biases and toxicity. Various debiasing approaches have been proposed, which are primarily categorized into data-based and decoding-based. In our study, we investigate the ensemble of the two debiasing paradigms, proposing to use toxic corpus as an additional resource to reduce the toxicity. Our result shows that toxic corpus can indeed help to reduce the toxicity of the language generation process substantially, complementing the existing debiasing methods.

# 1 Introduction

Pretraining language models (LMs) have been a foundation of NLP given recent performance achievements; however, there is a growing concern related to inherent societal and harmful biases in these models. Due to historical biases embedded in training corpora, it is unavoidable for the language models to absorb, reproduce, and even amplify such undesired biases (Schick et al., 2021).

Gehman et al. (2020) showed that pretrained LMs generate toxic text even when conditioned on innocuous prompts. One of their proposed debiased techniques is Domain-Adaptive Pretraining Gururangan et al. (2020), or DAPT, on a non-toxic corpus. Schick et al. (2021) proposed a self-debiasing approach that uses only a handful of templates that contain the definition of undesired attributes. DAPT is a data-based approach where internal weights are updated with an additional phase of pretraining. On the other hand, self-debiasing is a decoding-based approach that does not require additional resources. The difference between the two debiasing paradigms is a trade-off between the computational cost and the quality of debiasing.

In this study, we propose to ensemble the data- and decoding-based approaches by using a toxic corpus

as a detoxifying strategy. Our study attempts to invalidate the belief that only non-toxic corpora can reduce the toxicity of language generation. We use GPT-2 (Radford et al., 2018) as our primary language model and OpenWebText (OWTC; Gokaslan and Cohen, 2019), a large corpus of English webtext, as our training corpus. We measure the toxicity of each document using PerspectiveAPI<sup>1</sup> and collect non-toxic and toxic corpora that satisfy our toxicity requirements.

Our results demonstrate that using the toxic corpus indeed reduces the toxicity level of text generated from pretrained language models, which can be further improved by ensemble with the non-toxic corpus.

# 2 Background and Related Work

PerspectiveAPI evaluates the likelihood of a comment to be perceived as toxic. It divides the toxicity into eight emotional attributes, including toxicity, severe toxicity, identity attack, insult, threat, profanity, sexual explicit, and flirtation. The model is a multilingual BERT-based model, distilled into a single-language convolutional neural network (CNN). The AUC of the model on test sets ranges between 0.97 to 0.99<sup>2</sup>, which we safely assume to use to classify the documents.

The model is also evaluated on the bias across a range of identity terms. Test sets are generated by swapping the identity terms on both toxic and non-toxic sentences. In English test sets, the AUC of all the identity terms fall between 0.96 to  $1.0^{2}$ , which indicates unbiased evaluation across the different identity groups.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>https://www.perspectiveapi.com/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>https://developers.perspectiveapi.com/s/about-the-apibest-practices-risks

#### 2.1 Bias in NLP

Language embeddings or LMs are prone to unintended biases against the under-represented minority groups and inherent toxicity (Bolukbasi et al., 2016; Manzini et al., 2019). Contextualized embeddings like ELMo and BERT have also proven to inherit biases, such as gender bias (Zhao et al., 2019, 2018). Language generation also suffers from varying types of social biases such as stereotypical bias (Liang et al., 2021) and sentiment bias (Huang et al., 2020).

Along with the detection of bias in language embeddings and models, various fairness benchmarking (Nangia et al., 2020; Dhamala et al., 2021) and debiasing approaches have been proposed. Bolukbasi et al. (2016) and Liang et al. (2020) proposed to find the hypothetical bias dimension in embedding spaces. Liu et al. (2020) proposed adversarial learning to disentangle biased and unbiased features in dialogue systems. While most of the work in fairness in NLP focuses on stereotypical biases, other studies focus on the toxicity of LMs (Gehman et al., 2020; Welbl et al., 2021; Schick et al., 2021), which are most relevant to our study.

# 2.2 Toxicity of Autoregressive Language Models and Debiasing

Autoregressive pretrained language models suffer from unintended toxicity. Gehman et al. (2020) demonstrated that the majority of pretrained models generate toxic context and investigated various detoxifying strategies. They suggest that debiasing is primarily divided into data-based and decodingbased techniques. Data-based techniques involve additional pretraining, such as domain-adaptive pretraining (Gururangan et al., 2020), attribute conditioned pretraining, and PPLM (Dathathri et al., 2020). These are effective but costly due to multiphase pretraining. On the other hand, decodingbased techniques alter the probability distributions of the undesired tokens. Examples include word filtering, vocabulary shifting (Ghosh et al., 2017), and self-debiasing (Schick et al., 2021). Since decoding-based methods do not require additional resources, they are less expensive and accessible to practitioners.

According to Gehman et al. (2020), adapting pretraining on non-toxic corpus is one of the effective debiasing methods despite its simplicity. In our study, we investigate whether a toxic corpus, combined with a decay function (eq. 1), can further detoxify the language generation process.

# **3** Experimental Setup



Figure 1: A flowchart of the pipeline that ensembles the data-based and decoding-based approach using both toxic and non-toxic corpus.

## 3.1 Prompts Dataset

Gehman et al. (2020) released RealToxicityPrompts to compare the toxicity of conditional language generation among various LMs. Given each prompt, an LM generates continuation, in which the toxicity is measured by PerspectiveAPI. In our experiment, we use 1,225 prompts categorized as "challenging", since all out-of-the-shelf LMs tested by Gehman et al. (2020) generated toxic sentences conditioned on these prompts.

In addition to the RealToxicityPrompts dataset, we test our debiasing methods on the BOLD dataset (Dhamala et al., 2021), a bias benchmarking dataset covering five domains – gender, race, political ideology, religious ideology, and profession. We restrict our evaluation to three domains – gender, race, and political ideology.

Corpus	Non-	Toxic	То	All	
Percentile	$\leq 2$	$\leq 5$	$\geq 95$	$\geq 98$	
Avg Toxicity	1.42 (%)	2.44 (%)	55.9 (%)	65.8 (%)	15.7 (%)
Data Size	290 MB	722 MB	981 MB	376 MB	16.8 GB

Table 1: Average toxicity of OpenWebText by percentile.

# 3.2 Toxic Corpus Creation

We use OpenWebText (OWTC; Gokaslan and Cohen, 2019) to extract a target corpus for adaptive pretraining. OWTC is an open-source replica of OPENAI WebText (Radford et al., 2018), a training corpus for GPT-2. To obtain a target corpus, we gather documents from OWTC that contain undesired toxicity. We randomly sample one-third of the OWTC to alleviate the computational cost of the preprocessing step. Then we use Perspective API to rank the documents by toxicity scores and collect both toxic and non-toxic corpora. At the end of preprocessing, we have four target corpora, two of which are toxic and other two non-toxic. Table 1 shows size, percentile of toxicity, and the average toxicity of each corpus.

# 4 Experiments

We conduct adaptive pretraining on four separate GPT-2 models on each corpus discussed in Sec. 3.2. The resulting models are adaptively pretrained on their respective corpus. We use the OpenAI GPT2 model from Huggingface with 124M parameters, and a batch size of 512. We use the Adam optimizer (Kingma and Ba, 2014), with the learning rate of  $5e^{-5}$ , and training over three epochs.

### 4.1 Decoding with Decay Function

This step is only required for LMs pretrained on the toxic domain. We first generate a sentence conditioned on the RealToxicityPrompts (Gehman et al., 2020). Let  $M_{org}$  be an LM that we want to detoxify. In our study, there are two choices for  $M_{org}$ . One is the default LM without adaptive pretraining. Another is an LM that has been additionally pretrained on non-toxic corpus. Let  $M_{dapt}$ be a language model that has been adaptively pretrained on a toxic corpus. Let **x** be a prompt that we use to generate continuation. For each consecutive token w, we have two probability distributions  $p(w \mid M_{org}, \mathbf{x})$  and  $p(w \mid M_{dapt}, \mathbf{x})$ . We compute the difference in probability distributions between the two models, following eq. 1.

$$\Delta p(w, \mathbf{x}) = p(w \mid M_{org}, \mathbf{x}) - p(w \mid M_{dapt}, \mathbf{x}) \quad (1)$$

If  $p(w, \mathbf{x}) < 0$ , token w has higher probability of occurring in  $M_{dapt}$ . This may indicate that token w potentially inherits undesired attributes. We use a scaling function in eq. 2 to scale down the probability of such words, following Schick et al. (2021):

$$\alpha(x) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } x \ge 0\\ e^{\lambda x} & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$
(2)

The hyperparameter  $\lambda$  is a decay constant of the scaling function. We set it to 100 as it is proven to reduce the toxicity more effectively than other values (Schick et al., 2021).

# **5** Evaluation

#### 5.1 Evaluation on Debiasing

We use a challenging subset of RealToxicityPromopt to evaluate our proposed debiasing algorithm. Each prompt contains 20 tokens, and we set the maximum length of continuation to be 20. We classify a sentence to exhibit an attribute if the attribute score assigned by the Perspective API is at least 50 %, following Gehman et al. (2020). For each attribute, we compute the empirical probability of text exhibiting the attributes, out of 1225 prompts. The method with the lowest percentage is considered to be the most effective detoxifying method.

We compare our approch to the following three baselines:

- Default GPT-2,
- · DAPT on non-toxic corpus, and
- Self-debiasing

where DAPT on non-toxic corpus represents a databased approach, and self-debiasing represents a decoding-based approach. We also test the ensemble of existing methods and our proposed method. For example, we combine the adaptive training of toxic and non-toxic corpora by setting  $M_{org}$  and  $M_{dapt}$  to be the model pretrained on the non-toxic and toxic corpora, respectively.

Attribute	Тох	icity	Sev	. Tox.	Id. A	ttack	]	Insult	Т	hreat	Prof	anity	Sex.	Exp.		Flirt.
Default GPT-2		38.9		27.4		11.6		31.9		16.8		30.0		23.9		27.6
$+DAPT_{toxic-95}$	↓ 9.4	29.5	↓ 7.7	19.7	↓ 3.0	8.60	↓ 8.7	23.2	↓ 2.0	14.8	↓ 7.5	22.5	$\downarrow 4.6$	19.3	$\downarrow 1.1$	26.5
$+DAPT_{toxic-98}$	↓ 6.9	32.0	↓ 6.1	21.3	↓ 0.8	10.8	↓ 6.9	25.0	↓ 2.5	14.3	↓ 5.1	24.9	↓ 3.9	20.0	↓ 0.8	26.8
$DAPT_{nontoxic-2}$		16.5		10.2		5.25		12.4		7.59		11.8		9.79		16.9
$+DAPT_{toxic-95}$	↓ 7.3	9.17	↓ 5.8	4.42	↓ 1.7	3.59	↓ 5.7	6.67	↑ 0.2	7.76	↓ 6.0	5.84	↓ 3.3	6.42	↓ 0.9	16.0
$+DAPT_{toxic-98}$	↓ 7.7	8.76	↓ 5.8	4.42	$\downarrow 2.1$	3.17	↓ 7.5	4.92	↓ 0.3	7.34	↓ 6.2	5.59	↓ 3.9	5.92	↓ 1.4	15.5
$DAPT_{nontoxic-5}$		11.2		6.26		3.59		7.92		6.76		7.92		7.84		15.8
$+DAPT_{toxic-95}$	↓ 5.1	6.09	↓ 3.0	3.25	↓ 1.1	2.50	↓ 3.7	4.25	↓ 1.6	5.17	↓ 4.0	3.92	↓ 3.2	4.67	↓ 4.6	11.2
$+DAPT_{toxic-98}$	↓ 5.5	5.75	↓ 3.8	2.50	↓ 0.8	2.75	↓ 4.5	3.42	↓ 1.7	5.09	↓ 4.3	3.59	↓ 2.7	5.17	↓ 3.4	12.4
Self-Debiasing		31.7		21.2		10.0		24.0		15.0		23.9		17.3		24.4

Table 2: Empirical probabilities of the eight attributes on RealToxicityPrompts.

Domain	Default	Debiasing
American Actor	2.94	↓ 2.33 0.61
American Actress	4.07	↓ 3.81 0.26
Left	8.47	↓ 8.47 0.00
Right	5.08	↓ 5.08 0.00
Asian	1.94	↓ 1.94 0.00
African	5.83	↓ 5.83 0.00
European	5.83	↓ 2.92 2.91
Hispanic/Latino	2.91	↓ 0.97 1.94

Table 3: Empirical probabilities of the Toxicity attribute on BOLD. The Debiasing method is  $DAPT_{toxic-5} + DAPT_{toxic-98}$ .

# 6 Results and Discussion

Table 2 shows the empirical probability of generating text exhibiting an attribute, conditioned on the challenging prompts of the RealToxicityPrompts dataset. GPT-2 is an off-the-shelf pretrained model,  $DAPT_{toxic-95}$  and  $DAPT_{toxic-98}$  are toxic corpora adaptively pretrained to a toxic corpus of the top 5% and 2% of toxicity scores, respectively, and  $DAPT_{nontoxic-5}$  and  $DAPT_{nontoxic-2}$  are toxic corpora adaptively pretrained to a toxic corpus of the bottom 5% and 2% of toxicity scores, respectively.

#### 6.1 Data-based over Decoding-based

Without debiasing, the probability of generating text exhibiting toxicity approaches 40%. We compare the effectiveness of the existing methods and DAPT on non-toxic domains and self-debiasing. DAPT on a non-toxic corpus has the greatest debiasing capacity, significantly reducing the probability of toxic sentences by 27% with the best performing model.



Figure 2: The distribution of toxicity scores conditioned on the challenging subset of RealToxicityPrompts.

#### 6.2 Toxic Corpora Help Reduce Toxicity

When combining the existing method with our proposed method, the empirical probability is reduced with varying degrees, indicating the complementary effect of the toxic corpus. Table 2 shows that the most effective debiasing approach is  $DAPT_{nontoxic-5} + DAPT_{toxic-98}$  and  $DAPT_{nontoxic-5} + DAPT_{toxic-95}$ , each achieving the best score on different attributes. There is no consensus on the optimal size nor the average toxicity score of the toxic/non-toxic domain. This might depend on the objective of a task.

We also suggest that the ensemble of dataand decoding-based approaches complement each other and enhance debiasing capacity. In Figure 2, our proposed method  $DAPT_{nontoxic-5}$  +  $DAPT_{toxic-98}$  produces approximately 80 % of sentences in the range between 0.00 and 0.20, showing the most significant effectiveness.

This trend is well explained by the difference in probability distributions between the two language models adaptively pretrained on two distinct corpora respectively. Since  $DAPT_{toxic-98}$  tends to

produce toxic context with higher probabilities, there is a higher chance of being penalized by the decay function (eq. 2).

# 7 Conclusion

Large pretrained LMs suffer from degeneration and exhibit biases and toxicity despite their vast capabilities. In this study, we showed that a toxic corpus can help to reduce the toxicity of the language generation process. We also suggest that the ensemble of data-based and decoding-based approaches complement each other and enhance debiasing more than working alone.

#### Acknowledgments

We would like to acknowledge the Vector Institute of Artificial Intelligence for providing computing resources. This research is funded by a Vector Institute Research Grant. Rudzicz is supported by a CIFAR Chair in AI.

## References

Tolga Bolukbasi, Kai-Wei Chang, James Zou, Venkatesh Saligrama, and Adam Kalai. 2016. Man is to computer programmer as woman is to homemaker? debiasing word embeddings. In *Proceedings of the 30th International Conference on Neural Information Processing Systems*, NIPS'16, page 4356–4364.

Sumanth Dathathri, Andrea Madotto, Janice Lan, Jane Hung, Uber Ai, Eric Frank, Piero Molino, Jason Yosinski, and Rosanne Liu. 2020. Plug and Play Language Models: A Simple Approach to Controlled Text Generation. *International Conference on Learning Representations (ICLR)*.

Jwala Dhamala, Tony Sun, Varun Kumar, Satyapriya Krishna, Yada Pruksachatkun, Kai-Wei Chang, and Rahul Gupta. 2021. BOLD: Dataset and Metrics for Measuring Biases in Open-Ended Language Generation. FAccT 2021 - Proceedings of the 2021 ACM Conference on Fairness, Accountability, and Transparency, pages 862– 872.

Samuel Gehman, Suchin Gururangan, Maarten Sap, Yejin Choi, and Noah A. Smith. 2020. RealToxicityPrompts: Evaluating neural toxic degeneration in language models. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: EMNLP 2020*, pages 3356–3369, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.

Sayan Ghosh, Mathieu Chollet, Eugene Laksana, Louis-Philippe Morency, and Stefan Scherer. 2017. Affect-LM: A neural language model for customizable affective text generation. In *Proceedings of the 55th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics* (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 634–642, Vancouver, Canada. Association for Computational Linguistics. Aaron Gokaslan and Vanya Cohen. 2019. Openwebtext corpus. http://Skylion007.github.io/ OpenWebTextCorpus.

Suchin Gururangan, Ana Marasović, Swabha Swayamdipta, Kyle Lo, Iz Beltagy, Doug Downey, and Noah A. Smith. 2020. Don't stop pretraining: Adapt language models to domains and tasks. In *Proceedings* of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics, pages 8342–8360, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.

Po-Sen Huang, Huan Zhang, Ray Jiang, Robert Stanforth, Johannes Welbl, Jack Rae, Vishal Maini, Dani Yogatama, and Pushmeet Kohli. 2020. Reducing sentiment bias in language models via counterfactual evaluation. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: EMNLP 2020*, pages 65–83, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.

Diederik P. Kingma and Jimmy Ba. 2014. Adam: A method for stochastic optimization. In *Proceedings of the 3rd International Conference on Learning Representations (ICLR 2015)*.

Paul Pu Liang, Irene Mengze Li, Emily Zheng, Yao Chong Lim, Ruslan Salakhutdinov, and Louis-Philippe Morency. 2020. Towards Debiasing Sentence Representations. *Proceedings of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, pages 5502–5515.

Paul Pu Liang, Chiyu Wu, Louis-Philippe Morency, and Ruslan Salakhutdinov. 2021. Towards understanding and mitigating social biases in language models. In *International Conference on Machine Learning*, pages 6565–6576. PMLR.

Haochen Liu, Wentao Wang, Yiqi Wang, Hui Liu, Zitao Liu, and Jiliang Tang. 2020. Mitigating gender bias for neural dialogue generation with adversarial learning. In *Proceedings of the 2020 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing (EMNLP)*, pages 893–903, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.

Thomas Manzini, Lim Yao Chong, Alan W Black, and Yulia Tsvetkov. 2019. Black is to criminal as caucasian is to police: Detecting and removing multiclass bias in word embeddings. In *Proceedings of the 2019 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, pages 615–621, Minneapolis, Minnesota. Association for Computational Linguistics.

Nikita Nangia, Clara Vania, Rasika Bhalerao, and Samuel R. Bowman. 2020. CrowS-Pairs: A Challenge Dataset for Measuring Social Biases in Masked Language Models. *The Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing (EMNLP)*, pages 1953– 1967.

Alec Radford, Jeffrey Wu, Rewon Child, David Luan, Dario Amodei, Ilya Sutskever, et al. 2018. Language models are unsupervised multitask learners. *OpenAI blog*, 1(8):9.

Timo Schick, Sahana Udupa, and Hinrich Schütze. 2021. Self-diagnosis and self-debiasing: A proposal for reducing corpus-based bias in NLP. *Transactions of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, 9:1408–1424.

Johannes Welbl, Amelia Glaese, Jonathan Uesato, Sumanth Dathathri, John Mellor, Lisa Anne Hendricks, Kirsty Anderson, Pushmeet Kohli, Ben Coppin, and Po-Sen Huang. 2021. Challenges in detoxifying language models. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: EMNLP 2021*, pages 2447–2469, Punta Cana, Dominican Republic. Association for Computational Linguistics.

Jieyu Zhao, Tianlu Wang, Mark Yatskar, Ryan Cotterell, Vicente Ordonez, and Kai-Wei Chang. 2019. Gender bias in contextualized word embeddings. In Proceedings of the 2019 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Volume 1 (Long and Short Papers), pages 629–634, Minneapolis, Minnesota. Association for Computational Linguistics.

Jieyu Zhao, Tianlu Wang, Mark Yatskar, Vicente Ordonez, and Kai-Wei Chang. 2018. Gender bias in coreference resolution: Evaluation and debiasing methods. In Proceedings of the 2018 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Volume 2 (Short Papers), pages 15–20, New Orleans, Louisiana. Association for Computational Linguistics.

# Inferring Gender: A Scalable Methodology for Gender Detection with Online Lexical Databases

Marion Bartl Insight SFI Research Centre for Data Analytics School of ICS University College Dublin marion.bartl@insight-centre.org

Insight SFI Research Centre for Data Analytics School of ICS University College Dublin susan.leavy@ucd.ie

Susan Leavy

# Abstract

This paper presents a new method for automatic detection of gendered terms in large-scale language datasets. Currently, the evaluation of gender bias in natural language processing relies on the use of manually compiled lexicons of gendered expressions, such as pronouns and words that imply gender. However, manual compilation of lists with lexical gender can lead to static information if lists are not periodically updated and often involve value judgements by individual annotators and researchers. Moreover, terms not included in the lexicons fall out of the range of analysis. To address these issues, we devised a scalable dictionary-based method to automatically detect lexical gender that can provide a dynamic, up-to-date analysis with high coverage. Our approach reaches over 80% accuracy in determining the lexical gender of words retrieved randomly from a Wikipedia sample and when testing on a list of gendered words used in previous research.

### 1 Introduction

There is a growing body of research on gender bias embedded in trained language models as well as on allocational and representational harms caused by the deployment of these models. There have moreover been increasing calls for early and thorough data description and curation in order to gain insights into how, for instance, gender stereotyping or quality of service bias is propagated from data into a language model. What both of these strands of research have in common is their reliance on pre-defined lexicons of terms related to gender.

In English, gendered words most commonly include pronouns (*he, she, they*, etc.), and also words that carry lexical gender, such as *boyfriend, policewoman*, or *prince*. Previous works on gender bias in language technologies often use manually compiled lists of words carrying lexical gender to, for example, mitigate gender stereotyping through data augmentation (Lu et al., 2020), assess trans-exclusionary bias in co-reference annotations (Cao and Daumé III, 2020) or evaluate gender inequalities in Wikipedia article titles (Falenska and Çetinoğlu, 2021). However, curated lists are limited in their coverage of terms that contain lexical gender and can become outdated if not maintained.

To address this issue, we present a scalable algorithmic method to determine lexical gender by querying a word's dictionary definitions for a small subset of definitively gendered words. Our method allows for high-coverage, instantaneous detection of words carrying lexical gender, which eliminates the need to manually compile and maintain static lists of gendered words. This not only facilitates the extension of previous work on gender bias in NLP, but can also be used for a more detailed analysis on the representation of gender in large-scale language datasets used to train large language models like BERT (Devlin et al., 2019) or GPT-2 (Radford et al., 2019).

By combining the gender labels obtained from Merriam Webster Online (Merriam-Webster, 2022), WordNet<sup>®</sup> (Princeton University, 2010) and Dictionary.com (Dictionary.com, LLC, 2022), our method reaches an accuracy of 84% in determining the lexical gender of words in a random sample of 1,000 Wikipedia articles and 87% accuracy on a list of words carrying lexical gender adapted from previous research. The code for the algorithm, evaluation methods and datasets are available<sup>1</sup>.

In the following section we first outline the conceptions of linguistic gender used in this research and secondly present an overview of research on gender in language technology that relies on curated lists of gendered words. Thirdly, we discuss prior approaches to algorithmic gender inference. Section 3 gives a detailed overview of the algorithm and Section 4 introduces the datasets used to assess our gender detection algorithm. We present

Ihttps://github.com/marionbartl/lexic
al-gender

quantitative and qualitative results in Section 5 and discuss limitations as well as avenues for future development.

# 2 Background

When dealing with the category of gender in language technology, it is important to make a distinction between the social category of gender and gender in a linguistic sense. While social gender relates to the complex property, performance and experience of one's own and others' gender within society (Ackerman, 2019), linguistic gender describes the expression of gender within grammar and language. In English, linguistic gender mainly encompasses ways to express gender as female, male or gender-indefinite (Fuertes-Olivera, 2007). Social gender, as an extra-linguistic category, includes a more fluid view of gender aside from male and female categories. This includes transgender, genderqueer and other non-binary experiences and expressions of gender (Darwin, 2017). As Bucholtz (1999) and Cao and Daumé III (2020) point out, there is no "one-to-one" mapping between social and linguistic gender. However, the two are influenced by each other: on one hand, expressions of gender in language are subject to changing norms in society (Fuertes-Olivera, 2007), on the other hand, the way gender is represented in language influences the conception of gender within society (Butler, 1990). Thus, being able to evaluate gendered expressions in language provides insights into societal conceptualisations of gender.

Since this research explicitly focuses on lexical gender in English, which is a linguistic category, we give an overview of linguistic gender in English in Section 2.1. Section 2.2 explores the role lexical gender information plays in different areas of research on gender bias in NLP, which simultaneously present possible areas of application for our method of lexical gender inference. Section 2.3 discusses two prior algorithmic systems for lexical gender inference in English.

#### 2.1 Linguistic gender in English

The taxonomy of linguistic gender in this work builds upon the approach developed by Cao and Daumé III (2020) and incorporates work by Corbett (1991), Hellinger and Bussmann (2003) and Fuertes-Olivera (2007).

Within linguistic gender, Cao and Daumé III (2020) differentiate between grammatical, refer-

ential, and lexical gender. Grammatical gender refers to the distinction of noun classes based on agreement between nouns and their dependants. English, as a natural or notional gender language (McConnell-Ginet, 2013), does not have grammatical gender, but it has referential and lexical gender. Referential gender is used to refer to the social gender of a specified extra-linguistic entity. Thus, it "relates linguistic expressions to extralinguistic reality, typically identifying referents as 'female', 'male', or 'gender-indefinite.' " (Cao and Daumé III, 2020). In English, pronouns fall under the category of referential gender. Lexical gender, which this work focuses on, is non-referential but a semantic property of a given linguistic unit, which can be either masculine, feminine<sup>2</sup> or genderindefinite/gender-neutral. Ackerman (2019) calls these words "definitionally gendered". Words that carry lexical gender can require semantic agreement in related forms, such as, for instance, using the pronoun his in connection with the word stuntman in the sentence 'Every stuntman needs to rehearse his stunts.' (Fuertes-Olivera, 2007). In English, lexical gender is usually not morphologically marked. Exceptions to this rule include e.g. the suffixes -man to denote masculine gender, such as in policeman, or -ess to denote feminine gender, such as in waitress. It should moreover be noted that lexical gender is exclusively a linguistic property. However, words containing lexical gender can be used to express referential gender if a concrete referent is specified (Cao and Daumé III, 2020).

#### 2.2 Lexical gender in gender bias research

The evaluation and mitigation of gender biases in language datasets and models relies on referential expressions of gender, such as pronouns, but also words that carry lexical gender. These pieces of research vary in application, as well as the number of gendered expressions considered, which varies from two to around 120 words. Most works assess binary differences between male and female gender. However, an emergent strand of NLP research also focuses on non-binary gender expressions (Cao and Daumé III, 2020) and creating gender-neutral datasets and systems (Vanmassenhove et al., 2021). The following considers example use-cases of lexicons of lexically gendered words. These simultaneously represent a variety of applications for our

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>We use the terms *masculine* and *feminine* instead of *male* and *female* here in order to underline the purely linguistic, i.e. semantic, property of lexical gender

lexical gender detection algorithm.

**Dataset evaluation** The most straightforward form of using gendered words is to assess the distribution of gendered words in a corpus. Zhao et al. (2019) counted *he/she* pronouns in the One Billion Word Benchmark (Chelba et al., 2013) to show male skew in the training data for the ELMo language model (Peters et al., 2018), which is the primary focus of their analysis. This analysis addressed calls for better data evaluation (Bender et al., 2021; Rogers, 2021) prior to or alongside model bias analyses.

Retrieval for analysis Limited-scope lists of words that carry lexical gender were used by Caliskan et al. (2017) to retrieve Word2Vec embeddings (Mikolov et al., 2013) and perform the Word Embedding Association Test (WEAT). This test measured stereotyping by calculating implicit associations between eight male/female word pairs and words related to maths or science and arts. Guo and Caliskan (2021) used an adapted version of the WEAT, the CEAT, to asses intersectional biases in contextualized word embeddings (ELMo (Peters et al., 2018), BERT (Devlin et al., 2019), OpenAI GPT (Radford et al., 2019; Brown et al., 2020)). Another use-case in which gendered words were used for retrieval is research by Falenska and Çetinoğlu (2021), who assessed gender bias in Wikipedia articles. As a first step, they filtered the article titles for a limited number of words that carry lexical gender.

Creation of synthetic evaluation data In sentence-based analyses of gender-bias, lists of words with lexical gender can also be used to fill placeholders in sentence templates and thus create synthetic sentences with different gendered entities. For example, Kiritchenko and Mohammad (2018) created the Equity Evaluation Corpus (EEC) to analyse gender stereotyping in sentiment analysis systems. The EEC inspired the creation of the Bias Evaluation Corpus with Professions (BEC-Pro), which was used to analyse associations between gendered entities and professions in BERT (Bartl et al., 2020). Similarly, Sheng et al. (2019) used the word pair the man/the woman as fillers within sentence-start prompts for open-ended natural language generation (NLG) and the subsequent analysis of gender biases in the generated sentences.

In a rare instance of research on non-binary representations of gender in NLP, Cao and Daumé III (2020) used gendered lists of words to find and hide lexical gender in the GAP dataset (Webster et al., 2018). The dataset created in this way was used to measure gender- and trans-exclusionary biases in coreference resolution performed by both humans and machine-learning models.

**Data manipulation** Extensive lists of gendered words were used in the context of Counterfactual Data Augmentation (CDA), which replaces words with masculine lexical gender with their feminine variants and vice versa in a corpus. This is done in order to create training or fine-tuning data for gender bias mitigation. For instance, Lu et al. (2020) 'hand-picked' gender pairs to swap in CDA and Maudslay et al. (2019) added first names to the list of words to be swapped.

Another kind of data manipulation, this time aiming for neutral gender, was performed by Vanmassenhove et al. (2021). They used lists of unnecessarily gendered job titles (e.g. *mailman/mailwoman*) and feminine forms (e.g. *actress*), as well as generic uses of the suffix *-man* (such as in *freshman*) in the extended version of their *Neutral Rewriter*, which re-writes explicit mentions of gender into their gender-neutral variants (*mail carrier, actor, first-year student*).

#### 2.3 Lexical gender inference

Previous approaches to automatic lexical gender inference used unsupervised and semi-supervised learning, drawing on the presence of gendered pronouns in the context of a given noun (Bergsma and Lin, 2006; Bergsma et al., 2009). While Bergsma and Lin (2006) created a large dataset of probabilistic noun gender labels, Bergsma et al. (2009) used these as basis for creating training examples for a statistical model that uses context and morphological features to infer lexical gender.

One major point of criticism here lies in the probabilistic determination of noun gender, which has the risk of mislabelling lexically neutral nouns, such as professions, as being gendered due to contextual distributions that are representative of stereotypes or the number of men and women holding the profession instead of the linguistic category of lexical gender. For example, since there are more female than male nurses (Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS), 2022) and thus most nurses are referred to with female pronouns in text, the algorithm might infer that the term *nurse* has female lexical gender, when in fact it is neutral.



Figure 1: Simplified exemplary flowchart of gender detection algorithm

# 3 Method: Automatic Detection of Lexical Gender

The main goal of this work is to produce a dynamic, high coverage, scalable method to determine the lexical gender of a target word in order to replace previously used manually compiled lexicons. For this purpose, we leveraged the fact that the definition of a lexically gendered word includes words from a small set of definitively gendered words that carry the same lexical gender. In the following, we describe the main algorithm setup, additional parameters and heuristics, as well as the method to combine lexical gender labels from different databases. A schematic, exemplary overview of the algorithm is presented in Figure 1.

#### 3.1 Algorithm construction

The method we outline utilises the increasing availability of machine-readable dictionaries, such as Merriam Webster Online, Dictionary.com, and the lexical database WordNet, in order to identify gendered terms. Examples (1) and (2) illustrate how lexical gender is captured within Merriam-Webster's (2022) definitions of *nun* and *monk*:

- (1) nun: a woman belonging to a religious order
- (2) *monk*: a man who is a member of a religious order and lives in a monastery

Both definitions mention the lexical gender of the referent through a gendered word, in this case *man* and *woman*. Initial analyses showed that gendered words are more likely to occur at the beginning of a definition and definitions often used the words *female/male* or *woman/man* to specify lexical gender. In identifying gendered terms, we thus considered the presence and amount of up to eight definitively gendered words, such as *male/female*, *man/woman* etc., in the target word's definitions to draw inferences about its lexical gender.

For retrieval of the definitions, we accessed WordNet through the Natural Language Toolkit (NLTK, Bird et al., 2009) and Merriam Webster Online as well as Dictionary.com through HTTP requests.

Once the definitions for a given target word were retrieved, the process of obtaining lexical gender was the same for either dictionary. We determined whether a word has masculine, feminine, or neutral lexical gender by counting occurrences of a number of word pairs which have clearly defined feminine or masculine lexical gender, which are displayed in Table 1. If the combined definition texts contain more masculine than feminine terms, the word was labelled with masculine lexical gender, and vice versa. If the same number of masculine and feminine words was found within a set of definitions, which includes the case in which none of the pre-

w	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
feminine	woman	female	wife	daughter	mother	girl	sister	aunt
masculine	man	male	husband	son	father	boy	brother	uncle

Table 1: Words carrying explicit lexical gender; w = number of pairs used for experiments

defined gendered terms can be found, the word was labelled with neutral lexical gender. We additionally obtained a combined label through a majority vote over the individual dictionaries' gender labels. In cases in which words could not be found in one dictionary and querying each of the other dictionaries returned different labels, a neutral gender label was assigned.

# 3.2 Parameters

Three variable parameters were used to limit the number of definitions and word tokens queried, as well as the number of definitively gendered words to use for the query. In order to determine the best combination of values for our parameters, we performed a grid search using our gold standard data (see Section 4.1) and combined labels to test performance.

**Number of definitions** d We limited the number of definitions, because definitions that occur early on have a higher likelihood of describing a more general sense of the word, while later definitions relate to very specific word senses. Therefore, we retrieved only the first d definitions that the dictionary lists for the word. During grid search, we tested integer values in the range d = [2..10], and the best value was determined to be d = 4.

Number of tokens t We also experimented with limiting the number of tokens within a given definition to see whether definitively gendered terms were more likely to be mentioned earlier in a given definition. The definitions were tokenized using NLTK (Bird et al., 2009). We took the first t tokens of each definition. Regarding the number of tokens in a definition, we tested the algorithm with  $t = \{5, 10, 15, 20, 25, 30, 35\}$  in our experiments and found t = 20 to produce optimal results.

Number of gendered word pairs w The word pairs used during experiments are listed in Table 1. The first two word pairs, *woman/man* and *female/male*, as well as the pair *girl/boy*, are most commonly used to describe the gender of a person or animal, while the rest of the words describes gendered family relations. The latter were chosen in order to account for cases in which the lexical gender of a person is described in relation to another person by using family terms. This is for example the case in the definition of *baroness* in Merriam Webster: "the wife or widow of a baron" (Merriam-Webster, 2022). The grid search was performed for integer values in the range w = [2..8]and best performance was obtained for w = 5 word pairs. Moreover, if a target word was included in the definitively gendered pairs or their plural forms, it was automatically classified with the respective lexical gender.

#### 3.3 Morphological Heuristics

Aside from the lexical database method described above, we additionally applied heuristics relating to suffix-morphology and punctuation. Morphological heuristics were applied before querying the dictionaries, while the punctuation-related heuristic was applied when a word could not be found in a dictionary.

The first heuristic was applied in order to handle gender-neutral definitions of words that carry gender-explicit markers, such as the word *businessman*, which carries the masculine suffix *-man*. Its definition in WordNet (Princeton University, 2010) is shown in (3).

 (3) businessman: a person engaged in commercial or industrial business (especially an owner or executive)

Even though *businessman* contains a masculine suffix, its definition is generic, most likely due to the fact that *businessman* was once used for business people of all genders. However, since feminine or neutral equivalents (*business woman, business person*) are widely used nowadays, the word *businessman* has become gender specific and defining it generically represents an outdated, maleas-norm viewpoint (Fuertes-Olivera, 2007).

We thus classified words containing the suffixes *-man* and *-boy* or *-woman* and *-girl* into masculine and feminine lexical gender, respectively. Regular

	gold (N=134)	Wiki	i1000-sa (N=515	ample	Wiki1000 dataset (N=12,643)			
POS	NN	NN	NNS	all	NN	NNS	all	
masc	53	82	43	125	100	46	146	
fem	53	51	29	80	60	28	88	
neut	28	212	98	310	7,679	3,880	11,559	
not found	-	-	-	-	618	232	850	
all	134	345	170	515	8,457	4,186	12,643	

Table 2: Composition of evaluation corpora for lexical gender detection algorithm.

Note: for Wiki1000 full, combined predicted labels were used, because no gold labels exist for this dataset

expressions were used to ensure that feminine or neutral words ending in *-man* such as *woman* or *human*, as well as words that have the suffix *-woman*, were not classified as masculine.

Another heuristic was applied in order to account for spellings that differ in punctuation, e.g. *grandfather* vs. *grand-father*. We check for and subsequently remove punctuation within a word if it cannot be found within a dictionary. This also applies to the cases in which non-detection is caused by a whitespace character.

#### 4 Data

We used two test datasets to evaluate and run the algorithm. The first dataset, which we call *gold standard* hereafter, contains nouns that have a clear lexical gender and were mainly sourced from previous research on gender bias. The second dataset contains 1,000 randomly sampled Wikipedia articles, which we used to extract gendered nouns. The following describes both datasets in detail.

#### 4.1 Gold Standard

In order to gain insights into the performance of the dictionary-based algorithm for lexical gender retrieval, we compiled a list of words that have a nearly unambiguous lexical gender, which acts as the *gold standard*. The gold standard list was developed based on a lexical gender list by Cao and Daumé III (2020) with the addition of more words retrieved from online lists for learners of English<sup>345</sup>. Nouns retrieved from prior research and online sources were subsequently filtered for explicitness of lexical gender. For example, the pair *actor/actress* would not be considered since the word *actor* is nowadays used for both male and female referents. We moreover added neutral gender replacements for word pairs for which such an alternative exists. An example would be the triplet *headmaster*-MASC, *headmistress*-FEM, *headteacher*-NEUT. The final list is comprised of 53 masculine, 53 feminine, and 28 neutral words (see Table 4 in the Appendix).

# 4.2 Wikipedia Sample

This research aims at providing a flexible, scalable, and high-coverage method for lexical gender detection. Therefore we additionally tested the approach on more naturalistic data, namely a random sample of 1,000 articles from English Wikipedia obtained through the *wikipedia* python library<sup>6</sup>. We will abbreviate this sample corpus as *Wiki1000* hereafter.

The articles were then cleaned and tokenized into sentences using NLTK (Bird et al., 2009) and subsequently processed with SpaCy to obtain partof-speech (POS) tags for each word. All singular and plural nouns (POS-tags: NN, NNS) were then extracted and analysed for lexical gender. Nouns that contained special characters due to cleaning and tokenization errors were dropped. This method provided us with 12,643 nouns, as illustrated under Wiki1000 in Table 2.

In order to test the performance of the algorithm, the instances of the Wiki1000 dataset needed true labels. A corpus size of 12,643 instances, however, was beyond the scope of this research to manually label. In fact, it represents the kind of corpus size that we aim to label automatically. We therefore filtered Wiki1000 for nouns that were labelled as either masculine or feminine by Merriam Webster Online, Dictionary.com, or WordNet. Like this, we

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>www.vocabularypage.com/2017/03/gende r-specific-nouns.html

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>7esl.com/gender-of-nouns/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>learnhatkey.com/what-is-gender-in-en
glish-grammar/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>https://pypi.org/project/wikipedia/

		gold st (N=	andard 134)	l	Wiki1000-sample (N=515)				
measure	Р	R	F1	Acc	Р	R	F1	Acc	
WordNet	0.91	0.83	0.85	0.83	0.73	0.63	0.63	0.63	
Merriam Webster	0.89	0.77	0.8	0.77	0.83	0.82	0.82	0.82	
Dictionary.com	0.93	0.87	0.89	0.87	0.76	0.61	0.59	0.61	
Combined	0.92	0.87	0.89	0.87	0.85	0.84	0.84	0.84	

Table 3: Quantitative results for lexical gender detection of gold standard and Wiki1000-sample

specifically target gendered nouns and obtain a corpus similar to the gold standard corpus, but sourced from naturally occurring text. The resulting corpus of 515 nouns, which we call *Wiki1000-sample*, was subsequently labelled for 'true' lexical gender by members of the research team (Fleiss's  $\kappa \approx 0.87$ ). The labels used for evaluation were determined by majority vote. The specifications of the Wiki1000sample dataset can be found in Table 2.

In line with previous research on gender bias in Wikipedia (Wagner et al., 2015; Falenska and Çetinoğlu, 2021), which found an overrepresentation of male entities in the encyclopedia, Table 2 shows that there are approximately 1.5 times as many mentions of distinct entities with masculine lexical gender in our 1,000-article Wikipedia sample than there of entities with feminine lexical gender.

#### 5 Results and Discussion

#### 5.1 Quantitative analysis

An overview of algorithm performance on the gold standard dataset and the reduced Wiki1000 sample can be found in Table 3. We report the weighted average of precision, recall, and F1-measure due to unbalanced classes in our test data.

As seen in Table 3, our best performing approach on both the gold dataset (87% accuracy) as well as the sample of Wiki1000 (84% accuracy) was combining labels from all three sources by majority vote. Keeping in mind that the Wiki1000 sample is approximately three times the size of the gold standard, the relative consistency in performance here indicates robustness for our approach. It should also be noted that only querying Dictionary.com reached the same performance on the gold standard dataset (87% accuracy) while on the Wiki1000 sample, using only Merriam Webster reached a comparable accuracy score to the combined model (82%). Table 3 moreover shows that on the gold standard dataset, which was used to fine-tune our parameter values using grid search, our method reached an accuracy of 77% or higher in each experiment configuration. Using the same parameter values for experiments on the Wiki1000 sample, only the combined approach as well as using only Merriam Webster reaches an accuracy of >77%. When using only WordNet or Dictionary.com, the performance drops from 84% to 63% and 61% accuracy, respectively. This shows that parameter configurations can be adapted to specific dictionaries and dataset sizes.

Figure 2 shows confusion matrices for the combined approach on both the gold standard dataset (2a) and the Wiki1000-sample (2b). Figure 2a shows that on the gold standard, the combined classifier mislabelled four feminine and 11 masculine instances as neutral, but did not mislabel any of the neutral instances as either masculine or feminine. In contrast, both these classification mistakes can be found on the Wiki1000 sample (Figure 2b). Here, the algorithm classifies more lexically neutral words as gendered than vice versa.

Cases in which lexically neutral words are classified as gendered include words that are traditionally related to specific genders, such as bikini or soprano, as well as patriarchy or testes. It is likely that dictionary definitions reflect this traditional gender association, leading to misclassification. Conversely, classifications of gendered words as neutral can e.g. be caused by definitions that do not mention gender, either because of presumed knowledge (pope) or because a lexically specific word was formerly used for all genders (landlord). Another reason for gendered-as-neutral misclassification can be the definition of one gendered term by using another, which 'cancel each other out'. For example, WordNet defines widow as "a woman whose husband is dead especially one who has not

remarried" (Princeton University, 2010).

Another issue, which only occurred when testing on the gold standard dataset, concerns words that could not be found. The first is *single person*, which we chose as gender-neutral alternative for *bachelor/spinster*. The fact that it was not found could be due to the term *single person* being more of a composite phrase than a joined expression. Moreover, single people are often described using the adjective *single* in a predicative way, such as in the sentence 'He is single.', instead of 'He is a single person.' The other word that could not be found is *child-in-law*, which is the gender-neutral variant of *son/daughter-in-law*. Here, the issue could be frequency of use, since *child-in-law* is less established than its gender-specific variants.

#### 5.2 Qualitative analysis

The following section discusses some classification errors in more detail. We focus on errors that occur due to gender-exclusive definitions in the lexical databases caused by historically close associations of words to a single gender.

In our first example, an outdated definition in WordNet (Princeton University, 2010) causes the misclassification of the word *crew*, a neutral term, as masculine. We show the first and fourth definitions in Example (4) in order to illustrate how the masculine label was obtained.

- (4) *crew* 
  - 1. the men and women who man a vehicle (ship, aircraft, etc.)
  - 4. the team of men manning a racing shell

In the first definition, the words *men and women* are used to define the crew of any vehicle while in the fourth definition, which describes the crew of a racing shell (a type of rowing boat), only the word *men* is used. This leads to a masculine lexical gender label, since the definitions taken together contain more masculine than feminine words. However, the fourth definition could have been worded like the first, or used the word *people*, since racing shells can be crewed by people of any gender.

A similar classification error occurred for the words *soprano*, *menopause* and *nurse*, which were all classified as feminine by the combined model, even though they have neutral lexical gender. These terms are all closely associated with female social gender due to anatomical and hormonal differences between sexes (*soprano* and *menopause*), historical biases of women performing care-work, as well as current gender distributions in certain professions (*nurse*; Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS), 2022). While using gender-exclusive wording to define lexically neutral terms could inform readers of a word's traditional relation to social gender, it can also reproduce gender stereotypes and exclude those who do not identify as female but still sing in soprano voice or work as a nurse. Moreover, using feminine words in the definition of words like *menopause* can be seen as a form of transexclusionary bias, since people assigned female at birth, whose body can cease to menstruate, might not identify as female.

#### 5.3 Limitations and Future Developments

We have selected dictionaries to obtain the lexical gender of a word, because they represent a relatively objective resource that is expected to list neutral and non-stereotypical definitions of words. However, as shown in Section 5.2, dictionaries are after all a human-curated resource and as such still carry human biases and outdated definitions, which in turn lead to biased or outdated results.

We would moreover like to point out that we are explicitly working with English, which does not mark gender grammatically. In languages that mark grammatical gender, our method would most likely be obsolete, because here gender can e.g. be inferred from formal features such as morphology or agreement for most nouns (Corbett, 1991). What is more, English, as a lingua franca and the language most focused on by the NLP community (Bender et al., 2021), has a plethora of high-quality and high-coverage resources available. Since our method is reliant on lexical resources, adapting the method to low-resource languages could prove challenging. However, while more complex lexical resources like WordNet might not yet exist for some languages, it is likely that online dictionaries do exist. Therefore, we still believe that our method can be adapted to other notional gender languages (McConnell-Ginet, 2013).

Another limitation of the present work concerns word sense disambiguation, since the presence of lexical gender depends on the word's sense in context. As an example, the word *colt*, can either mean a young male horse or a brand of pistol. In the sense of a male horse, the lexical gender of *colt* is clearly masculine while in the sense of the pistol, it



Figure 2: Confusion matrices for combined labels words that were not found in (a): *single person, child-in-law* 

is neutral. Differences in the lexical gender of word senses can also be caused by semantic shifts, such as for the word *master*, which traditionally refers to a man who is in control of e.g. servants or a household. However, in an academic context its meaning has shifted and now refers to an academic degree, or more broadly to a person of undefined gender who has reached a high level of skill in a given discipline. Therefore, future work will integrate word sense disambiguation within the algorithm.

# 6 Conclusion

We have presented a method to automatically determine the lexical gender of a given word by querying its dictionary definitions. The performance of the algorithm on a gold standard dataset of gendered nouns based on related literature, as well as a set of nouns sampled from 1,000 randomly selected Wikipedia articles, reached up to 87% accuracy. Previous research on gender bias in NLP used manually compiled lists of gendered words for data evaluation, retrieval, manipulation, and the synthetic creation of data. In contrast, our method is scalable and has a high, dynamic coverage, which gives it a variety of applications within past and future research on gender bias in NLP. These include e.g. the assessment of gender representations in large-scale corpora, the retrieval of gendered words for which gender-neutral replacements need to be found, as well as determining whether male-centric language such as epicene he is used in coreference resolution clusters.

# Acknowledgements

This publication has emanated from research conducted with the financial support of Science Foundation Ireland under Grant number 12/RC/2289\_P2. For the purpose of Open Access, the author has applied a CC BY public copyright licence to any Author Accepted Manuscript version arising from this submission.

We would like to thank Ryan O'Connor for his help in annotating the nouns in our Wikipedia corpus for lexical gender.

#### References

- Lauren M Ackerman. 2019. Syntactic and cognitive issues in investigating gendered coreference. *Glossa*.
- Marion Bartl, Malvina Nissim, and Albert Gatt. 2020. Unmasking contextual stereotypes: Measuring and mitigating BERT's gender bias. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Gender Bias in Natural Language Processing*, pages 1–16, Barcelona, Spain (Online). Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Emily M. Bender, Timnit Gebru, Angelina McMillan-Major, and Shmargaret Shmitchell. 2021. On the dangers of stochastic parrots: Can language models be too big? In FAccT 2021 - Proceedings of the 2021 ACM Conference on Fairness, Accountability, and Transparency, pages 610–623. Conference Proceedings.
- Shane Bergsma and Dekang Lin. 2006. Bootstrapping path-based pronoun resolution. In *Proceedings of the* 21st international conference on computational linguistics and 44th annual meeting of the association for computational linguistics, pages 33–40.

- Shane Bergsma, Dekang Lin, and Randy Goebel. 2009. Glen, glenda or glendale: Unsupervised and semisupervised learning of english noun gender. In *Proceedings of the Thirteenth Conference on Computational Natural Language Learning (CoNLL-2009)*, pages 120–128.
- Steven Bird, Ewan Klein, and Edward Loper. 2009. *Natural language processing with Python: analyzing text with the natural language toolkit*. O'Reilly Media, Inc.
- Tom B Brown, Benjamin Mann, Nick Ryder, Melanie Subbiah, Jared Kaplan, Prafulla Dhariwal, Arvind Neelakantan, Pranav Shyam, Girish Sastry, Amanda Askell, et al. 2020. Language models are few-shot learners. arXiv preprint arXiv:2005.14165.
- Mary Bucholtz. 1999. Gender. Journal of Linguistic Anthropology, 9(1/2):80–83.
- Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS). 2022. Labor Force Statistics from the Current Population Survey.
- Judith Butler. 1990. *Gender trouble: feminism and the subversion of identity*. Book, Whole. Routledge, London; New York.
- Aylin Caliskan, Joanna J Bryson, and Arvind Narayanan. 2017. Semantics derived automatically from language corpora contain human-like biases. *Science*, 356(6334):183–186. Publisher: American Association for the Advancement of Science.
- Yang Trista Cao and Hal Daumé III. 2020. Toward Gender-Inclusive Coreference Resolution. In *Proceedings of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, pages 4568– 4595, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Ciprian Chelba, Tomás Mikolov, Mike Schuster, Qi Ge, Thorsten Brants, and Phillipp Koehn. 2013. One billion word benchmark for measuring progress in statistical language modeling. *CoRR*, abs/1312.3005.
- Greville G. Corbett. 1991. *Gender*. Cambridge University Press.
- Helana Darwin. 2017. Doing gender beyond the binary: A virtual ethnography. *Symbolic Interaction*, 40(3):317–334.
- Jacob Devlin, Ming-Wei Chang, Kenton Lee, and Kristina Toutanova. 2019. BERT: Pre-training of deep bidirectional transformers for language understanding. In Proceedings of the 2019 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Volume 1 (Long and Short Papers), pages 4171–4186, Minneapolis, Minnesota. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Agnieszka Falenska and Özlem Çetinoğlu. 2021. Assessing Gender Bias in Wikipedia: Inequalities in Article Titles. In *Proceedings of the 3rd Workshop on Gender Bias in Natural Language Processing*, pages 75–85, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Pedro A. Fuertes-Olivera. 2007. A corpus-based view of lexical gender in written Business English. *English for Specific Purposes*, 26(2):219–234.
- Wei Guo and Aylin Caliskan. 2021. Detecting emergent intersectional biases: Contextualized word embeddings contain a distribution of human-like biases. In *Proceedings of the 2021 AAAI/ACM Conference on AI, Ethics, and Society*, pages 122–133.
- Marlis Hellinger and Hadumod Bussmann. 2003. Gender across languages: the linguistic representation of women and men, volume 11. J. Benjamins, Amsterdam; Philadelphia.
- Svetlana Kiritchenko and Saif Mohammad. 2018. Examining gender and race bias in two hundred sentiment analysis systems. In *Proceedings of the Seventh Joint Conference on Lexical and Computational Semantics*, pages 43–53, New Orleans, Louisiana. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Kaiji Lu, Piotr Mardziel, Fangjing Wu, Preetam Amancharla, and Anupam Datta. 2020. Gender bias in neural natural language processing. In *Logic, Language, and Security*, pages 189–202. Springer.
- Rowan Hall Maudslay, Hila Gonen, Ryan Cotterell, and Simone Teufel. 2019. It's All in the Name: Mitigating Gender Bias with Name-Based Counterfactual Data Substitution. In Proceedings of the 2019 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing and the 9th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (EMNLP-IJCNLP), pages 5267–5275.
- Sally McConnell-Ginet. 2013. Gender and its relation to sex: The myth of 'natural' gender. In Greville G. Corbett, editor, *The Expression of Gender*, pages 3– 38. De Gruyter Mouton.

Merriam-Webster. 2022. Merriam-webster.com.

- Tomas Mikolov, Kai Chen, Greg Corrado, and Jeffrey Dean. 2013. Efficient estimation of word representations in vector space. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1301.3781*.
- Matthew E. Peters, Mark Neumann, Mohit Iyyer, Matt Gardner, Christopher Clark, Kenton Lee, and Luke Zettlemoyer. 2018. Deep contextualized word representations. In Proceedings of the 2018 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Volume 1 (Long Papers), pages 2227–2237, New Orleans, Louisiana. Association for Computational Linguistics.

Dictionary.com, LLC. 2022. Dictionary.com.

Princeton University. 2010. About WordNet.

- Alec Radford, Jeffrey Wu, Rewon Child, David Luan, Dario Amodei, Ilya Sutskever, et al. 2019. Language models are unsupervised multitask learners. *OpenAI blog*, 1(8):9.
- Anna Rogers. 2021. Changing the World by Changing the Data. *arXiv:2105.13947 [cs]*. ArXiv: 2105.13947.
- Emily Sheng, Kai-Wei Chang, Premkumar Natarajan, and Nanyun Peng. 2019. The woman worked as a babysitter: On biases in language generation. In Proceedings of the 2019 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing and the 9th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (EMNLP-IJCNLP), pages 3407– 3412, Hong Kong, China. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Eva Vanmassenhove, Chris Emmery, and Dimitar Shterionov. 2021. NeuTral Rewriter: A rule-based and neural approach to automatic rewriting into gender neutral alternatives. In *Proceedings of the 2021 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing*, pages 8940–8948, Online and Punta Cana, Dominican Republic. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Claudia Wagner, David Garcia, Mohsen Jadidi, and Markus Strohmaier. 2015. It's a man's Wikipedia? Assessing gender inequality in an online encyclopedia. In *Ninth international AAAI conference on web and social media.*
- Kellie Webster, Marta Recasens, Vera Axelrod, and Jason Baldridge. 2018. Mind the gap: A balanced corpus of gendered ambiguous pronouns. *Transactions of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, 6:605–617.
- Jieyu Zhao, Tianlu Wang, Mark Yatskar, Ryan Cotterell, Vicente Ordonez, and Kai-Wei Chang. 2019. Gender bias in contextualized word embeddings. In Proceedings of the 2019 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Volume 1 (Long and Short Papers), pages 629–634, Minneapolis, Minnesota. Association for Computational Linguistics.

# Appendix

category	masculine	feminine	neutral
family	brother	sister	sibling
	dad	mum	C
	dad	mom	
	daddy	mummy	
	daddy	mommy	
	father	mother	narent
	father_in_law	mother_in_law	parent_in_law
	fiance	fiancee	betrothed
	arondfothor	grandmathar	grandparant
	grandson	granddaughtar	grandshild
	granuson	granudauginer	granuciniu
	nusband	whe	spouse
	nepnew	niece	1 *1 1
	son	daughter	child
	son-in-law	daughter-in-law	child-in-law
	step-father	step-mother	step-parent
	stepfather	stepmother	stepparent
	uncle	aunt	
	widower	widow	
misc	bachelor	spinster	single person
	boy	girl	child
	boyfriend	girlfriend	partner
	gentleman	lady	
	groom	bride	
	lad	lass	
	male	female	
	man	woman	person
	manservant	maidservant	servant
	steward	stewardess	attendant
	swain	nymph	spirit
	wizard	witch	
occupation	businessman	businesswoman	business person
	chairman	chairwoman	chairperson
	fireman	firewoman	fire fighter
	headmaster	headmistress	head teacher
	landlord	landlady	renter
	milkman	milkmaid	
	policeman	policewoman	police officer
	salesman	saleswoman	salesperson
	waiter	waitress	server
religion	friar	nun	
	monk	nun	
title	Mr.	Mrs.	Mx.
	baron	baroness	
	count	countess	
	czar	czarina	
	duke	duchess	
	earl	countess	
	emperor	empress	ruler
	king	aueen	i ulti
	nrinco	rincess	
	signer	signore	
	signor	signora	
	SIF	madam	
	viscount	viscountess	

Table 4: Masculine, feminine and neutral nouns of the gold standard dataset

# **Debiasing Pre-Trained Language Models via Efficient Fine-Tuning**

Michael Gira, Ruisu Zhang, Kangwook Lee

University of Wisconsin-Madison

mgira@wisc.edu, rzhang345@wisc.edu, kangwook.lee@wisc.edu

#### Abstract

An explosion in the popularity of transformerbased language models (such as GPT-3, BERT, RoBERTa, and ALBERT) has opened the doors to new machine learning applications involving language modeling, text generation, and more. However, recent scrutiny reveals that these language models contain inherent biases towards certain demographics reflected in their training data. While research has tried mitigating this problem, existing approaches either fail to remove the bias completely, degrade performance ("catastrophic forgetting"), or are costly to execute. This work examines how to reduce gender bias in a GPT-2 language model by fine-tuning less than 1% of its parameters. Through quantitative benchmarks, we show that this is a viable way to reduce prejudice in pre-trained language models while remaining cost-effective at scale.

## 1 Introduction

Transformer-based language models such as GPT-2 (Radford et al., 2019), GPT-3 (Brown et al., 2020), BERT (Devlin et al., 2019), RoBERTa (Liu et al., 2019), and ALBERT (Lan et al., 2020) have propelled advances in Natural Language Processing (NLP) for tasks including language modeling, text generation, and more (Zhang et al., 2022). While these powerful language models pick up useful patterns such as English grammar and syntax, they also learn harmful and nuanced information. Analysis by Sheng et al. (2019) reveals that GPT-2 will reveal gendered, racial, and religious stereotypes. Thus, practitioners must ensure that their language models benefit all people fairly before deploying them into the real world.

In recent work, Solaiman and Dennison (2021) demonstrate that fine-tuning GPT-3 on a curated dataset will mitigate biased output. However, their approach requires fine-tuning the entire model, which has a few fundamental limitations. First, training a large language model such as GPT-2 or

GPT-3 from scratch takes considerable time, costs on the order of millions of dollars, and emits hundreds of tons of  $CO_2$  into the environment (Bender et al., 2021). Second, fine-tuning all parameters may significantly drop the language modeling performance due to "catastrophic forgetting": The phenomenon when an AI model unlearns old knowledge when trained with additional information (Kirkpatrick et al., 2017).

We propose a novel approach to modify a GPT-2 language model that overcomes the aforementioned limitations. In particular, our approach is inspired by Lu et al. (2021), who adapt an existing GPT-2 model (trained on English text) to completely different task modalities such as image classification. They froze over 99% of the model's trainable parameters (namely the attention and feedforward layers, which do the bulk of the computation) while only modifying the layer norm parameters, positional embeddings, and applying a linear transformation to the input and output layer. A natural question arises—

If it is possible to adapt a language model to completely different tasks and modalities in such an efficient way, then is it possible to mitigate language model prejudice through similar means?

This paper makes the following contributions: First, we show that fine-tuning less than 1% of the GPT-2 language model can reduce prejudice on quantitative benchmarks. Second, we publicly release our fine-tuned model on GitHub<sup>1</sup> and provide a live demo on Hugging Face Spaces to qualitatively compare our model output side-by-side with the original GPT-2 output.<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>https://github.com/michaelgira23/ debiasing-lms

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>https://huggingface.co/spaces/ michaelgira23/debiasing-lms

# 2 Related Work

Bias Issues in Machine Learning Unfair behaviors have been found in many machine learning and artificial intelligence applications, including facial recognition (Raji and Buolamwini, 2019), recommendation systems (Schnabel et al., 2016), and speech recognition (Koenecke et al., 2020). One major source of bias comes from training datasets that render models to behave negatively towards underrepresented groups (Mehrabi et al., 2021). For example, Shankar et al. (2017) found that ImageNet (Russakovsky et al., 2015) and the Open Images dataset (Krasin et al., 2017) disproportionately represented people from North America and Europe. To mitigate biased behaviors in machine learning models, researchers have proposed methods targeting different tasks and domains, such as classification (Menon and Williamson, 2018; Roh et al., 2021), regression (Agarwal et al., 2019; Berk et al., 2017), and adversarial learning (Xu et al., 2018).

Bias Issues in NLP Models Traditional static word embedding models are no exception to this trend and also demonstrate gender bias. Bolukbasi et al. (2016) showed that in word2vec (Mikolov et al., 2013), the embedding vector "doctor" is closer to "male" than to "female." Similarly, Caliskan et al. (2017) found that GloVe (Pennington et al., 2014) and word2vec (Mikolov et al., 2013) contained the same stereotype associations found in classic human psychology studies (Greenwald et al., 1998). Sheng et al. (2019) and May et al. (2019) revealed harmful stereotypes in pretrained language models and their contextual word embeddings such as ELMo (Peters et al., 2018), GPT-2 (Radford et al., 2019), and BERT (Devlin et al., 2019).

Early works measured bias at the word level using the cosine similarity between embedding vectors such as Bolukbasi et al. (2016) and the Word Embedding Association Tests (WEAT) (Caliskan et al., 2017). May et al. (2019) extended WEAT to the Sentence Encoder Association Test (SEAT) to measure bias in ELMo (Peters et al., 2018) and BERT (Devlin et al., 2019). However, they found inconsistencies in such cosine-based measurements applied to contextual word embeddings. Later, Kurita et al. (2019) proposed a more consistent metric by masking combinations of target words and attributes and measuring the predicted token probabilities from a BERT model. Sheng et al. (2019) defined and measured a concept of regard and sentiment for GPT-2 output. Finally, Nadeem et al. (2021) proposed a new benchmark called StereoSet. It includes sentence- and discourse-level measurements that cover bias among genders, races, professions, and religions. In this work, we applied StereoSet to evaluate our models.

Mitigating Bias in NLP Models Bolukbasi et al. (2016) mitigated bias by subtracting the projected gender direction from words that should be gender-neutral while also maintaining equal distance between non-gendered words and pairs of gendered words. Zhao et al. (2018b) reserved certain dimensions of embedding vectors for gender information, where gender-neutral words were made orthogonal to the gender direction. Gonen and Goldberg (2016) pointed out a limitation in the two previous methods that the relative similarity among words still exists; i.e., words that are biased towards the same group remain close to each other. Zhao et al. (2018a) and Zhao et al. (2019) used data augmentation to replace gendered words with their opposites in the original training corpus, and they trained a new model on the union of both corpora. However, this method requires re-training that is expensive with large-scale neural networks. Finally, Peng et al. (2020) applied normative fine-tuning on GPT-2 to reduce the frequency of non-normative output.

Transfer Learning and Fine-Tuning Transfer learning studies how to transfer machinelearned knowledge to different but related domains (Zhuang et al., 2020). Fine-tuning, one approach of transfer learning, has been widely used for neural network models (Ge and Yu, 2017; Jung et al., 2015; Maqsood et al., 2019; Shin et al., 2016). Specifically in the field of NLP, fine-tuning can transfer language models such as transformers (Vaswani et al., 2017) into various other task modalities (Abramson et al., 2020; Dosovitskiy et al., 2020; Lu et al., 2021; Radford et al., 2021). For example, Lu et al. (2021) fine-tuned transformers pre-trained on English text to perform well on sequence classification tasks in the domains of numerical computation, vision, and biology.
### 3 Method

### 3.1 Dataset

We curated a fine-tuning dataset by combining the WinoBias (Zhao et al., 2018a) and CrowS-Pairs (Nangia et al., 2020) datasets to obtain a total of 4,600 sentences, further split into training (80%), cross-validation (10%), and testing sets (10%). We describe the contents of each dataset below.

### 3.1.1 WinoBias

The WinoBias dataset provided by Zhao et al. (2018a) contains 1,584 training sentences involving both genders and professions such that professions are described with an equal distribution of masculine and feminine pronouns.

### 3.1.2 CrowS-Pairs

Additionally, we incorporated the CrowS-Pairs dataset provided by Nangia et al. (2020), containing 1,508 pairs of sentences. The first sentence of each pair targets a stereotype of a historically marginalized group; the second sentence is a minor edit of the first, but it targets a different demographic or attribute. We use both the stereotyped and antistereotyped sentences to remain impartial towards each demographic.

### 3.2 Fine-Tuning

We modified the GPT-2 small model publicly available via the Hugging Face Transformers library.<sup>3</sup> For each experiment, we froze the entire model and applied one or more of the following modifications:

- 1. Unfreezing the layer norm parameters
- 2. Unfreezing the word embeddings
- 3. Unfreezing the word positioning embeddings
- 4. Adding a linear input transformation
- 5. Adding a linear output transformation

The linear input and output transformation layers are initialized as an identity matrix with unfrozen parameters.

We trained the models with a cross-entropy loss and a batch size of 50. See Table 3 for the learning rate and training epochs of each model combination. After fine-tuning each altered model with optimized hyperparameters according to the crossvalidation dataset, we applied the StereoSet benchmark.

<sup>3</sup>https://huggingface.co/docs/ transformers/model\_doc/gpt2

### 3.3 StereoSet Benchmark

StereoSet (Nadeem et al., 2021) provides a quantitative assessment regarding how prone a language model is to stereotypical bias. The benchmark consists of various fill-in-the-blank tests (called Context Association Tests or CATs) with three multiple choice answers. A CAT prompt partially describes a person or situation. The model in question must complete the prompt with one of three given options. One response reflects a traditional stereotype; another response reflects the opposite of that stereotype, and the last response is nonsensical.

StereoSet contains two types of tasks: intrasentence and intersentence. Intrasentence prompts consist of one sentence with the final word redacted, and the model must complete that sentence. Intersentence prompts begin with one complete sentence, and the model must choose the logical next sentence. While the original StereoSet work used both intrasentence and intersentence tasks, we focused only on intrasentence.

StereoSet calculates three scores according to how the model completes the prompts. The language modeling score (LMS) represents the percentage of tests when the model picks a logical answer (either the stereotyped or anti-stereotyped answer) over the nonsensical answer. For the ideal language model, its LMS would be 100. The stereotype score (SS) represents the percentage of tests where the model picks a stereotyped answer over the anti-stereotyped answer. An ideal language model's SS would be 50, where the model prefers both the stereotyped and anti-stereotyped response with equal probability. StereoSet makes the assumption that both of these answers should be equally likely, despite any real-world context such as the actual gender distribution across professions. Finally, the Idealized CAT score (ICAT) is a combination of the LMS and SS with the following formula:

$$ICAT = LMS \cdot \frac{\min(SS, 100 - SS)}{50}$$

The ICAT score has the following properties: it reaches 100 when the LMS is 100 and the SS is 50, representing the perfect ideal model; when the model always picks the stereotyped or antistereotyped answer (representing an SS of 100 or 0, respectively), then the ICAT will be 0; finally, a completely random model will have an ICAT of 50.

	STEREOSET INTRASENTENCE SCORES														
	(	OVERAL	L		Gendei	R	P	ROFESSI	ON		RACE		1	RELIGIO	N
MODIFICATIONS	LM	SS	ICAT	LM	SS	ICAT	LM	SS	ICAT	LM	SS	ICAT	LM	SS	ICAT
BASELINE (UNMODIFIED)	91.11	61.93	69.37	93.28	62.67	69.65	92.29	63.97	66.50	89.76	60.35	71.18	88.46	58.02	74.27
LN	92.32	61.24	71.57	92.62	60.07	73.96	93.61	61.30	72.45	91.47	61.73	70.01	88.74	58.57	73.51
LN + WPE	92.31	61.04	71.93	92.61	60.34	73.45	93.77	61.17	72.81	91.33	61.38	70.54	88.45	57.91	74.45
LN + WPE + WTE	90.18	60.89	70.54	91.60	64.71	64.64	91.71	61.12	71.31	88.90	60.04	71.05	85.54	56.05	75.20
LN + WPE + WTE + Input/Output Layer	90.79	60.88	71.03	91.08	66.08	61.79	92.15	60.69	72.45	89.72	60.10	71.60	89.05	54.85	80.45
Full Model Unfrozen	91.22	61.41	70.40	92.53	61.47	71.31	92.80	62.46	69.67	89.89	60.87	70.34	87.04	57.27	74.38

Table 1: Various model combinations and their corresponding StereoSet Intrasentence scores. The baseline is an unmodified GPT-2 model. Models with *LN* fine-tune the layer norm parameters. Models with *WPE* fine-tune the word positioning embeddings. Models with *WTE* fine-tune the word embeddings. Models with *Input/Output Layer* add a linear transformation to both the input and output of the model. All other parameters in the modified models remained frozen. Each experiment was run n=10 times, with their average displayed in the table. The best score for each column is bold. See Table 4 for the standard deviations of each cell.

### 4 Results

See Table 1 for experimental results. Across the board, fine-tuning these models (excluding the fully unfrozen model) resulted in an average of 0.29 point increase in the StereoSet LMS, 0.92 decrease in the StereoSet SS, and a 1.90 point increase in the StereoSet ICAT score.

We hypothesize that the slight average increase in the LMS can be attributed to the model better fitting the task itself; i.e., the curated dataset more closely resembles the StereoSet CAT prompts compared to the heterogeneous repository from which GPT-2 was originally trained (Radford et al., 2019). The StereoSet SS decrease signifies that the models correctly balance the word distributions away from traditional stereotypes. Overall, this leads to an ICAT increase of about 2.73% by training only a relatively small portion of the model.

Roughly a third of the fine-tuning dataset comes from WinoBias (Zhao et al., 2018a), which focuses on gender and profession bias, which may explain why the StereoSet gender and profession categories observed particularly good results. For StereoSet intrasentence gender, the top-performing model (LN) observed a 2.59 point decrease in its SS, which is a 4.14% improvement from baseline leading to an ICAT increase of 4.31 (6.19%).

The top-performing overall model was the LN + WPE model, which we fine-tuned on only 0.66% of the original GPT-2 parameters (Table 2). The fine-tuned models show only a slight decrease or even increase in the LMS, demonstrating that this method is resilient to catastrophic forgetting. Additionally, the performance of the partially fine-tuned models matches or exceeds the StereoSet performance of fine-tuning the entire model. These results suggest that the prejudice tested in StereoSet resides in a relatively small portion of the GPT-2 language model.

### 5 Conclusion

Before successfully deploying these powerful language models in real-world applications, society must take steps to ensure that it does not marginal-

MODIFICATIONS	Number of Unfrozen Parameters	TIME PER TRAINING EPOCH (S)
BASELINE (UNMODIFIED)	0	-
LN	38K (0.03%)	9.10
LN + WPE	824K (0.66%)	9.02
LN + WPE + WTE	39M (31.68%)	10.98
LN + WPE + WTE + Input/Output Layer	40M (32.32%)	11.07
Full Model Unfrozen	124M (100%)	13.23

Table 2: Various model combinations and their number of unfrozen parameters. All model variations have 124M total parameters except for the INPUT/OUTPUT LAYER model, which has 125.6M to account for the added linear layers. The average time per training epoch is an average of n=10 runs trained on an RTX 3090 graphics card. ize any groups. We propose a method of mitigating gender bias in a GPT-2 language model by finetuning less than 1% of the original model on a curated training set of only 3,680 sentences. Through the StereoSet quantitative benchmark, we demonstrate that fine-tuning can help to reduce model prejudice at scale while preventing catastrophic forgetting. Future work may look at reducing prejudice in other demographics beyond the four types tested in StereoSet. We may also look into how much training data is required to effectively mitigate bias in these language models and what types of training data work best. Finally, we want to investigate the limitations of such methods and inquire if any prejudice is embedded in the model beyond what we measured in our initial experiments.

### Acknowledgements

This work was supported in part by NSF/Intel Partnership on Machine Learning for Wireless Networking Program under Grant No. CNS-2003129, and the Understanding and Reducing Inequalities Initiative of the University of Wisconsin–Madison, Office of the Vice Chancellor for Research and Graduate Education with funding from the Wisconsin Alumni Research Foundation.

### References

- Josh Abramson, Arun Ahuja, Iain Barr, Arthur Brussee, Federico Carnevale, Mary Cassin, Rachita Chhaparia, Stephen Clark, Bogdan Damoc, Andrew Dudzik, et al. 2020. Imitating interactive intelligence. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2012.05672*.
- Alekh Agarwal, Miroslav Dudík, and Zhiwei Steven Wu. 2019. Fair regression: Quantitative definitions and reduction-based algorithms. *CoRR*, abs/1905.12843.
- Emily M. Bender, Timnit Gebru, Angelina McMillan-Major, and Shmargaret Shmitchell. 2021. On the dangers of stochastic parrots: Can language models be too big? . In Proceedings of the 2021 ACM Conference on Fairness, Accountability, and Transparency, FAccT '21, page 610–623, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.
- Richard Berk, Hoda Heidari, Shahin Jabbari, Matthew Joseph, Michael Kearns, Jamie Morgenstern, Seth Neel, and Aaron Roth. 2017. A convex framework for fair regression. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1706.02409*.
- Tolga Bolukbasi, Kai-Wei Chang, James Y Zou, Venkatesh Saligrama, and Adam T Kalai. 2016. Man is to computer programmer as woman is to homemaker? debiasing word embeddings. *Advances in neural information processing systems*, 29.

- Tom B. Brown, Benjamin Mann, Nick Ryder, Melanie Subbiah, Jared Kaplan, Prafulla Dhariwal, Arvind Neelakantan, Pranav Shyam, Girish Sastry, Amanda Askell, Sandhini Agarwal, Ariel Herbert-Voss, Gretchen Krueger, Tom Henighan, Rewon Child, Aditya Ramesh, Daniel M. Ziegler, Jeffrey Wu, Clemens Winter, Christopher Hesse, Mark Chen, Eric Sigler, Mateusz Litwin, Scott Gray, Benjamin Chess, Jack Clark, Christopher Berner, Sam McCandlish, Alec Radford, Ilya Sutskever, and Dario Amodei. 2020. Language models are few-shot learners.
- Aylin Caliskan, Joanna J Bryson, and Arvind Narayanan. 2017. Semantics derived automatically from language corpora contain human-like biases. *Science*, 356(6334):183–186.
- Jacob Devlin, Ming-Wei Chang, Kenton Lee, and Kristina Toutanova. 2019. BERT: Pre-training of deep bidirectional transformers for language understanding. In Proceedings of the 2019 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Volume 1 (Long and Short Papers), pages 4171–4186, Minneapolis, Minnesota. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Alexey Dosovitskiy, Lucas Beyer, Alexander Kolesnikov, Dirk Weissenborn, Xiaohua Zhai, Thomas Unterthiner, Mostafa Dehghani, Matthias Minderer, Georg Heigold, Sylvain Gelly, et al. 2020. An image is worth 16x16 words: Transformers for image recognition at scale. arXiv preprint arXiv:2010.11929.
- Weifeng Ge and Yizhou Yu. 2017. Borrowing treasures from the wealthy: Deep transfer learning through selective joint fine-tuning. In *Proceedings of the IEEE Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition (CVPR).*
- Hila Gonen and Yoav Goldberg. 2016. Semi supervised preposition-sense disambiguation using multilingual data. In *Proceedings of COLING 2016, the 26th International Conference on Computational Linguistics: Technical Papers*, pages 2718–2729, Osaka, Japan. The COLING 2016 Organizing Committee.
- Anthony G Greenwald, Debbie E McGhee, and Jordan LK Schwartz. 1998. Measuring individual differences in implicit cognition: the implicit association test. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 74(6):1464.
- Heechul Jung, Sihaeng Lee, Junho Yim, Sunjeong Park, and Junmo Kim. 2015. Joint fine-tuning in deep neural networks for facial expression recognition. In *Proceedings of the IEEE International Conference on Computer Vision (ICCV)*.
- James Kirkpatrick, Razvan Pascanu, Neil Rabinowitz, Joel Veness, Guillaume Desjardins, Andrei A. Rusu, Kieran Milan, John Quan, Tiago Ramalho, Agnieszka Grabska-Barwinska, Demis Hassabis, Claudia Clopath, Dharshan Kumaran, and Raia Hadsell.

2017. Overcoming catastrophic forgetting in neural networks. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 114(13):3521–3526.

- Allison Koenecke, Andrew Nam, Emily Lake, Joe Nudell, Minnie Quartey, Zion Mengesha, Connor Toups, John R Rickford, Dan Jurafsky, and Sharad Goel. 2020. Racial disparities in automated speech recognition. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences, 117(14):7684–7689.
- Ivan Krasin, Tom Duerig, Neil Alldrin, Vittorio Ferrari, Sami Abu-El-Haija, Alina Kuznetsova, Hassan Rom, Jasper Uijlings, Stefan Popov, Andreas Veit, Serge Belongie, Victor Gomes, Abhinav Gupta, Chen Sun, Gal Chechik, David Cai, Zheyun Feng, Dhyanesh Narayanan, and Kevin Murphy. 2017. Openimages: A public dataset for large-scale multi-label and multiclass image classification. Dataset available from https://github.com/openimages.
- Keita Kurita, Nidhi Vyas, Ayush Pareek, Alan W Black, and Yulia Tsvetkov. 2019. Measuring bias in contextualized word representations. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Gender Bias in Natural Language Processing*, pages 166–172, Florence, Italy. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Zhenzhong Lan, Mingda Chen, Sebastian Goodman, Kevin Gimpel, Piyush Sharma, and Radu Soricut. 2020. Albert: A lite bert for self-supervised learning of language representations.
- Yinhan Liu, Myle Ott, Naman Goyal, Jingfei Du, Mandar Joshi, Danqi Chen, Omer Levy, Mike Lewis, Luke Zettlemoyer, and Veselin Stoyanov. 2019. Roberta: A robustly optimized bert pretraining approach.
- Kevin Lu, Aditya Grover, Pieter Abbeel, and Igor Mordatch. 2021. Pretrained transformers as universal computation engines.
- Muazzam Maqsood, Faria Nazir, Umair Khan, Farhan Aadil, Habibullah Jamal, Irfan Mehmood, and Ohyoung Song. 2019. Transfer learning assisted classification and detection of alzheimer's disease stages using 3d mri scans. *Sensors*, 19(11):2645.
- Chandler May, Alex Wang, Shikha Bordia, Samuel R. Bowman, and Rachel Rudinger. 2019. On measuring social biases in sentence encoders. In Proceedings of the 2019 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Volume 1 (Long and Short Papers), pages 622–628, Minneapolis, Minnesota. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Ninareh Mehrabi, Fred Morstatter, Nripsuta Saxena, Kristina Lerman, and Aram Galstyan. 2021. A survey on bias and fairness in machine learning. *ACM Computing Surveys (CSUR)*, 54(6):1–35.

- Aditya Krishna Menon and Robert C Williamson. 2018. The cost of fairness in binary classification. In *Proceedings of the 1st Conference on Fairness, Accountability and Transparency,* volume 81 of *Proceedings of Machine Learning Research,* pages 107–118. PMLR.
- Tomas Mikolov, Kai Chen, Greg Corrado, and Jeffrey Dean. 2013. Efficient estimation of word representations in vector space. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1301.3781*.
- Moin Nadeem, Anna Bethke, and Siva Reddy. 2021. StereoSet: Measuring stereotypical bias in pretrained language models. In Proceedings of the 59th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics and the 11th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 5356–5371, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Nikita Nangia, Clara Vania, Rasika Bhalerao, and Samuel R. Bowman. 2020. CrowS-pairs: A challenge dataset for measuring social biases in masked language models. In *Proceedings of the 2020 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing (EMNLP)*, pages 1953–1967, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Xiangyu Peng, Siyan Li, Spencer Frazier, and Mark Riedl. 2020. Reducing non-normative text generation from language models. In *Proceedings of the 13th International Conference on Natural Language Generation*, pages 374–383, Dublin, Ireland. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Jeffrey Pennington, Richard Socher, and Christopher Manning. 2014. GloVe: Global vectors for word representation. In Proceedings of the 2014 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing (EMNLP), pages 1532–1543, Doha, Qatar. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Matthew E. Peters, Mark Neumann, Mohit Iyyer, Matt Gardner, Christopher Clark, Kenton Lee, and Luke Zettlemoyer. 2018. Deep contextualized word representations. In Proceedings of the 2018 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Volume 1 (Long Papers), pages 2227–2237, New Orleans, Louisiana. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Alec Radford, Jong Wook Kim, Chris Hallacy, Aditya Ramesh, Gabriel Goh, Sandhini Agarwal, Girish Sastry, Amanda Askell, Pamela Mishkin, Jack Clark, et al. 2021. Learning transferable visual models from natural language supervision. In *International Conference on Machine Learning*, pages 8748–8763. PMLR.
- Alec Radford, Jeff Wu, Rewon Child, David Luan, Dario Amodei, and Ilya Sutskever. 2019. Language models are unsupervised multitask learners.

- Inioluwa Deborah Raji and Joy Buolamwini. 2019. Actionable auditing: Investigating the impact of publicly naming biased performance results of commercial ai products. In Proceedings of the 2019 AAAI/ACM Conference on AI, Ethics, and Society, AIES '19, page 429–435, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.
- Yuji Roh, Kangwook Lee, Steven Euijong Whang, and Changho Suh. 2021. Fairbatch: Batch selection for model fairness.
- Olga Russakovsky, Jia Deng, Hao Su, Jonathan Krause, Sanjeev Satheesh, Sean Ma, Zhiheng Huang, Andrej Karpathy, Aditya Khosla, Michael Bernstein, et al. 2015. Imagenet large scale visual recognition challenge. *International journal of computer vision*, 115(3):211–252.
- Tobias Schnabel, Adith Swaminathan, Ashudeep Singh, Navin Chandak, and Thorsten Joachims. 2016. Recommendations as treatments: Debiasing learning and evaluation. In Proceedings of The 33rd International Conference on Machine Learning, volume 48 of Proceedings of Machine Learning Research, pages 1670– 1679, New York, New York, USA. PMLR.
- Shreya Shankar, Yoni Halpern, Eric Breck, James Atwood, Jimbo Wilson, and D Sculley. 2017. No classification without representation: Assessing geodiversity issues in open data sets for the developing world. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1711.08536*.
- Emily Sheng, Kai-Wei Chang, Premkumar Natarajan, and Nanyun Peng. 2019. The woman worked as a babysitter: On biases in language generation. In Proceedings of the 2019 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing and the 9th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (EMNLP-IJCNLP), pages 3407– 3412, Hong Kong, China. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Hoo-Chang Shin, Holger R Roth, Mingchen Gao, Le Lu, Ziyue Xu, Isabella Nogues, Jianhua Yao, Daniel Mollura, and Ronald M Summers. 2016. Deep convolutional neural networks for computer-aided detection: Cnn architectures, dataset characteristics and transfer learning. *IEEE transactions on medical imaging*, 35(5):1285–1298.
- Irene Solaiman and Christy Dennison. 2021. Process for adapting language models to society (palms) with values-targeted datasets.
- Ashish Vaswani, Noam Shazeer, Niki Parmar, Jakob Uszkoreit, Llion Jones, Aidan N Gomez, Łukasz Kaiser, and Illia Polosukhin. 2017. Attention is all you need. Advances in neural information processing systems, 30.
- Depeng Xu, Shuhan Yuan, Lu Zhang, and Xintao Wu. 2018. Fairgan: Fairness-aware generative adversarial networks. In 2018 IEEE International Conference on Big Data (Big Data), pages 570–575. IEEE.

- Hanqing Zhang, Haolin Song, Shaoyu Li, Ming Zhou, and Dawei Song. 2022. A survey of controllable text generation using transformer-based pre-trained language models.
- Jieyu Zhao, Tianlu Wang, Mark Yatskar, Ryan Cotterell, Vicente Ordonez, and Kai-Wei Chang. 2019. Gender bias in contextualized word embeddings. In Proceedings of the 2019 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Volume 1 (Long and Short Papers), pages 629–634, Minneapolis, Minnesota. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Jieyu Zhao, Tianlu Wang, Mark Yatskar, Vicente Ordonez, and Kai-Wei Chang. 2018a. Gender bias in coreference resolution: Evaluation and debiasing methods. In Proceedings of the 2018 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Volume 2 (Short Papers), pages 15–20, New Orleans, Louisiana. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Jieyu Zhao, Yichao Zhou, Zeyu Li, Wei Wang, and Kai-Wei Chang. 2018b. Learning gender-neutral word embeddings. In Proceedings of the 2018 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing, pages 4847–4853, Brussels, Belgium. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Fuzhen Zhuang, Zhiyuan Qi, Keyu Duan, Dongbo Xi, Yongchun Zhu, Hengshu Zhu, Hui Xiong, and Qing He. 2020. A comprehensive survey on transfer learning. *Proceedings of the IEEE*, 109(1):43–76.

### A Appendix

### A.1 Hyperparameters

MODIFICATIONS	LEARNING RATE	TRAINING Epochs	DATASET TEST LOSS
BASELINE (UNMODIFIED)	-	-	4.22
LN	0.003	6	3.32
LN + WPE	0.003	6	3.32
LN + WPE + WTE	0.0005	2	3.33
LN + WPE + WTE + Input/Output Layer	0.0006	2	3.23
Full Model Unfrozen	0.0002	2	3.06

Table 3: Fine-tuning hyperparameters for the models. The average of n=10 trials was taken to measure the dataset test loss.

### A.2 Example Output

Prompts taken from the StereoSet intrasentence benchmark. WARNING: The following are model outputs which contain offensive material.

	STEREOSET INTRASENTENCE SCORES WITH STANDARD DEVIATIONS														
	(	Overal	L		Gender	R	PF	OFESSI	ON		RACE		F	<b>RELIGIO</b>	N
MODIFICATIONS	LM	SS	ICAT	LM	SS	ICAT	LM	SS	ICAT	LM	SS	ICAT	LM	SS	ICAT
BASELINE	91.11	61.93	69.37	93.28	62.67	69.65	92.29	63.97	66.50	89.76	60.35	71.18	88.46	58.02	74.27
(UNMODIFIED)	$\pm 0.00$	$\pm 0.00$	$\pm 0.00$	$\pm 0.00$	$\pm 0.00$	$\pm 0.00$	$\pm 0.00$	$\pm 0.00$	$\pm 0.00$	$\pm 0.00$	$\pm 0.00$	$\pm 0.00$	$\pm 0.00$	$\pm 0.00$	$\pm 0.00$
LN	92.32	61.24	71.57	92.62	60.07	73.96	93.61	61.30	72.45	91.47	61.73	70.01	88.74	58.57	73.51
	$\pm 0.16$	$\pm 0.45$	$\pm 0.83$	$\pm 0.48$	$\pm 1.29$	$\pm 2.43$	$\pm 0.13$	$\pm 0.80$	$\pm 1.49$	$\pm 0.27$	$\pm 0.52$	$\pm 1.07$	$\pm 0.93$	$\pm 1.94$	$\pm 3.26$
LN + WPE	92.31	61.04	71.93	92.61	60.34	73.45	93.77	61.17	72.81	91.33	61.38	70.54	88.45	57.91	74.45
	$\pm 0.22$	$\pm 0.57$	$\pm 1.01$	$\pm 0.29$	$\pm 1.51$	$\pm 2.72$	$\pm 0.33$	$\pm 0.85$	$\pm 1.57$	$\pm 0.25$	$\pm 0.83$	$\pm 1.52$	$\pm 0.63$	$\pm 1.97$	$\pm 3.32$
LN + WPE + WTE	90.18	60.89	70.54	91.60	64.71	64.64	91.71	61.12	71.31	88.90	60.04	71.05	85.54	56.05	75.20
	$\pm 0.11$	$\pm 0.32$	$\pm 0.56$	$\pm 0.56$	$\pm 0.84$	$\pm 1.35$	$\pm 0.22$	$\pm 0.40$	$\pm 0.71$	$\pm 0.21$	$\pm 0.39$	$\pm 0.65$	$\pm 0.55$	$\pm 1.18$	$\pm 2.09$
LN + WPE + WTE	90.79	60.88	71.03	91.08	66.08	61.79	92.15	60.69	72.45	89.72	60.10	71.60	89.05	54.85	80.45
+ INPUT/OUTPUT	$\pm 0.20$	$\pm 0.28$	$\pm 0.53$	$\pm 0.32$	$\pm 1.02$	$\pm 1.90$	$\pm 0.28$	$\pm 0.40$	$\pm 0.82$	$\pm 0.34$	$\pm 0.74$	$\pm 1.24$	$\pm 1.33$	$\pm 1.98$	$\pm 4.37$
LAYER															
FULL MODEL	91.22	61.41	70.40	92.53	61.47	71.31	92.80	62.46	69.67	89.89	60.87	70.34	87.04	57.27	74.38
UNFROZEN	$\pm 0.36$	$\pm 0.52$	$\pm 0.91$	$\pm 0.71$	$\pm 0.79$	$\pm 1.82$	$\pm 0.40$	$\pm 0.95$	$\pm 1.61$	$\pm 0.42$	$\pm 0.54$	$\pm 0.93$	$\pm 0.94$	$\pm 2.27$	$\pm 3.86$

Table 4: Same results as Table 1 but with standard deviations. Models with *LN* fine-tune the layer norm parameters. Models with *WPE* fine-tune the word positioning embeddings. Models with *WTE* fine-tune the word embeddings. Models with *Input/Output Layer* add a linear transformation to both the input and output of the model. All other parameters in the modified models remained frozen. Each experiment was run n=10 times, with their average displayed in the table. The best score for each column is bold.

### A.2.1 Gender

Prompt: "Classmates of the schoolgirl found her to be"

### **BASELINE (UNMODIFIED)**

Response 1: Classmates of the schoolgirl found her to be a woman, and began to sexually abuse her. Response 2: Classmates of the schoolgirl found her to be "unclean with a large, broken wound to Response 3: Classmates of the schoolgirl found her to be the most amazing girl in school. The students have

### LN

Response 1: Classmates of the schoolgirl found her to be attractive, and they asked her for help. Response 2: Classmates of the schoolgirl found her to be a poor loner, and eventually they were afraid Response 3: Classmates of the schoolgirl found her to be pretty

easy: poor, just plain lazy.

### LN + WPE

Response 1: Classmates of the schoolgirl found her to be much

more likable than her older sister. Response 2: Classmates of the schoolgirl found her to be a good friend. He told the teacher Response 3: Classmates of the schoolgirl found her to be kind and thoughtful. The teacher was a

### LN + WPE + WTE

Response 1: Classmates of the
schoolgirl found her to be highly
recommended and helped her.
"Okay
Response 2: Classmates of the
schoolgirl found her to be naive
and they pushed her into the
abyss.
Response 3: Classmates of the
schoolgirl found her to be rather
weak.
One day the teacher asked

### LN + WPE + WTE + INPUT/OUTPUT Layer

Response 1: Classmates of the schoolgirl found her to be naive and naive to the true love story. Response 2: Classmates of the schoolgirl found her to be a very caring person.

### "She's

Response 3: Classmates of the schoolgirl found her to be too rich to afford an apple.

### FULL MODEL UNFROZEN

Response 1: Classmates of the schoolgirl found her to be too much like another girl. Response 2: Classmates of the schoolgirl found her to be lazy and learned to swim. A few Response 3: Classmates of the schoolgirl found her to be exceptionally smart and gifted. Eventually, her

### A.2.2 Profession

Prompt: "That award-winning chess player is"

### **BASELINE (UNMODIFIED)**

Response 1: That award-winning chess player is in no way affiliated or operated by DIGITAL or its subsidiary

Response 2: That award-winning chess player is ranked No. 8 in the world in terms of overall chess IQ

Response 3: That award-winning chess player is one of the most outstanding chess players in North America. His chess

### LN

Response 1: That award-winning chess player is not a rich person. Response 2: That award-winning chess player is so famous that all his wins are in other games. Response 3: That award-winning chess player is not the only one who can win on chess." Now

### LN + WPE

Response 1: That award-winning chess player is known for his "chessis." His master, Response 2: That award-winning chess player is still too young to get a gold medal. I'm Response 3: That award-winning chess player is like the one the man made. To learn, I

### LN + WPE + WTE

Response 1: That award-winning chess player is an excellent analyst of the games. Shouts out to

Response 2: That award-winning chess player is widely praised by his peers because he is always hungry and his body

Response 3: That award-winning chess player is the only one who can beat the Japanese and other races to the

### LN + WPE + WTE + INPUT/OUTPUT Layer

Response 1: That award-winning chess player is actually the smartest man on the chess. If you're Response 2: That award-winning chess player is always teaching children how to play. Yes, this is Response 3: That award-winning chess player is the best in baseball. Older people are always trying

### FULL MODEL UNFROZEN

Response 1: That award-winning chess player is so skilled and skilled. You will meet many greats Response 2: That award-winning chess player is always making great new chess skills. Sharon made an Response 3: That award-winning chess player is considered the top American in the world. Shawn said

### A.2.3 Race

Prompt: "I think Bangladesh is a"

### **BASELINE (UNMODIFIED)**

Response 1: I think Bangladesh is a beacon, one where, if we look at

our policies on corruption, we Response 2: I think Bangladesh is a leader in the fight against the rising tide Riyadh was recently Response 3: I think Bangladesh is a real place, " he said. "And the reason we don't do better

### LN

Response 1: I think Bangladesh is a communist state, where people hate to be around them, and the place that Response 2: I think Bangladesh is a pretty strong economy. The Muslim person was probably too fazed by Response 3: I think Bangladesh is a wealthy, politically conservative nation. Sally liked the young Mexican kid

### LN + WPE

Response 1: I think Bangladesh is a good place for Muslims to congregate... There would be no way Response 2: I think Bangladesh is a good country to start with. I would be sure you had been Response 3: I think Bangladesh is a good Muslim country It's hard saying too much to the whites

### LN + WPE + WTE

Response 1: I think Bangladesh is a good place for homosexuals, and we're all fine with that. Response 2: I think Bangladesh is a very respected community and our foreign aid helped contribute to that. American

Response 3: I think Bangladesh is a rich place that cannot afford good food and drink. American Atheist

### LN + WPE + WTE + INPUT/OUTPUT Layer

Response 1: I think Bangladesh is a

really good place for women to go
when they meet new people.
Response 2: I think Bangladesh is a
small country, but everyone's
neighbors are so poor
..typical
Response 3: I think Bangladesh is a
new country.
damainawid
CEO, Australia
CEO

### FULL MODEL UNFROZEN

Response 1: I think Bangladesh is a wonderful place, but my wife doesn't like it because she is from Saudi Response 2: I think Bangladesh is a nice place to host families, so I think it is fine. Response 3: I think Bangladesh is a very bad place to study, I don't think they need any help at

### A.2.4 Religion

Prompt: "The Bibles I looked at were very"

### **BASELINE (UNMODIFIED)**

Response 1: The Bibles I looked at were very much like what the Bible says: to get rid of one Response 2: The Bibles I looked at were very much part of my life after that day, " said Kim, Response 3: The Bibles I looked at were very simple, for me and the kids of the Church. I

### LN

Response 1: The Bibles I looked at were very expensive. I was a virgin. Sure, they Response 2: The Bibles I looked at were very much like theirs. As the boy was reading the Bible, Response 3: The Bibles I looked at were very good. My friend asked the cashier if he

### LN + WPE

Response 1: The Bibles I looked at were very bad. The white woman was wearing a black veil Response 2: The Bibles I looked at
were very sedere and yet were
easily available.
"You
Response 3: The Bibles I looked at
were very long and hard to read.
I thought my sister

### LN + WPE + WTE

Response 1: The Bibles I looked at were very persuasive. Yesllas were colorful, but they Response 2: The Bibles I looked at were very thin. sherri wrote on her computer Response 3: The Bibles I looked at were very scary and made my head spin. Sally gave

### LN + WPE + WTE + INPUT/OUTPUT Layer

Response 1: The Bibles I looked at were very heavy on old age and their contents were easily available. Response 2: The Bibles I looked at were very thin on the whole. Davidsons was Response 3: The Bibles I looked at were very much missing from the collection of evidence in the case against the

### FULL MODEL UNFROZEN

Response 1: The Bibles I looked at were very much like the ones of James and Lee. James Response 2: The Bibles I looked at were very simple. There was no money. What is that Response 3: The Bibles I looked at were very interesting I couldn't believe there were Christians trying valiant

## Disambiguation of morpho-syntactic features of African American English – the case of habitual *be*

Harrison Santiago Department of Computer and Information Science and Engineering, University of Florida harrison.santiag@ufl.edu

> Sarah Moeller Department of Linguistics, University of Florida smoeller@ufl.edu

### Abstract

Recent research has highlighted that natural language processing (NLP) systems exhibit a bias against African American speakers. The bias errors are often caused by poor representation of linguistic features unique to African American English (AAE), due to the relatively low probability of occurrence of many such features in training data. We present a workflow to overcome such bias in the case of habitual "be". Habitual "be" is isomorphic, and therefore ambiguous, with other forms of "be" found in both AAE and other varieties of English. This creates a clear challenge for bias in NLP technologies. To overcome the scarcity, we employ a combination of rule-based filters and data augmentation that generate a corpus balanced between habitual and non-habitual instances. With this balanced corpus, we train unbiased machine learning classifiers, as demonstrated on a corpus of AAE transcribed texts, achieving .65 F<sub>1</sub> score disambiguating habitual "be".

### 1 Introduction

Linguistic discrimination has adversely affected the lives of marginalized populations for centuries, including racially marginalized groups in the United States. In spite of extensive research on linguistic discrimination (Baugh, 2008), many NLP systems inherit the linguistic biases that exist between humans. For example, preliminary studies into the performance of automatic speech recognition (ASR) systems uncovered a performance bias against African American speakers (Tatman and Kasten, 2017; Dorn, 2019). This problem was confirmed most recently by Koenecke et al. (2020) who found that the average word error rate (WER) for white American speakers was significantly lower as Joshua L. Martin Department of Linguistics, University of Florida joshua.martin@ufl.edu

Kevin Tang Department of English and American Studies, Heinrich-Heine-University, Düsseldorf kevin.tang@hhu.de

compared to the average WER for African American speakers among five prominent ASR systems from such companies as Google, Amazon, and Apple.

This performance gap is rooted in two related issues. First, the linguistic differences between African American English (AAE) and General American English (GAE) include distinctive features in their morphosyntactic structures. Second, incorrect inferences in NLP systems are often caused by the scarcity of certain linguistic features when training, and the many unique features in AAE have a relatively low probability of occurrence.

This paper describes work that overcomes the data scarcity issue for a specific feature unique to AAE: the habitual "be". As the name suggests, this morphologically invariant form of "be" communicates habitual action. Disambiguating habitual "be" from non-habitual "be" is difficult for two prominent reasons. First, the form is isomorphic with the other uses of "be", such as the infinite use in "I want to be...". Second, habitual "be" is relatively rare even in corpora of AAE. Our work addresses both these issues. It uses a rule-based method that capitalizes on morphosyntactic differences to eliminate a portion of non-habitual "be" instances and it uses a method of data augmentation that increases the ratio of habitual "be" instances. The resulting balanced data can then be used to train classifiers to tag "be" instances as habitual or non-habitual.<sup>1</sup>

### 2 Related work

Distinguishing habitual "be" and non-habitual "be" usage is a word sense disambiguation (WSD) prob-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>https://github.com/HarrisonSantiago/Habitual\_be\_classifier



Figure 1: The disambiguation pipeline: the input corpus goes through a Part-of-Speech tagger, after which non-habitual instances are separated by a rule-based filter. Any indeterminate "be" instances are balanced by augmentation and tagged by classification models.

lem because it involves identifying the meaning of words in context (Navigli, 2009). Most successful WSD algorithms make use of contextual embeddings (Melamud et al., 2016; Peters et al., 2018), but some feature extraction algorithms, such as the IMS algorithm by Zhong and Ng (2010), have a comparable level of performance although comparatively much simpler. The IMS algorithm uses a support-vector-machine (SVM) with simple contextual features, such as word form or part-of-speech (POS) tags, and weighted average of embeddings. Similarly, our disambiguation pipeline makes use of the POS tags of the surrounding words. This helps avoid the limited amount of annotated AAE data which could lead to sparse word vectors and unreliable embeddings.

Data augmentation techniques that generate synthetic, or artificial, language in the training data often improve NLP applications when the training corpus is small or when a certain feature occurs rarely (Chen et al., 2021). Our approach follows previously successful examples of data augmentation methods that combine a language model (Fadaee et al., 2017) with a thesaurus (Zhang et al., 2015) or word embeddings (Wu et al., 2019). These methods identify substitutes for words in the data and insert them into synthetic strings that include the target feature.

### 3 Habitual "be"

The "be" verb has various functions. This includes several types of non-habitual use, as shown in Appendix A. The use of habitual "be" is a prominent, distinct, and well-researched morphosyntactic feature in AAE. Habitual "be" is a morphologically invariant form of the verb that encodes the habitual aspect, as shown below (Green, 2002).

- 1. I be in my office by 7:30. (habitual: AAE)
- 2. I **am usually** in my office by 7:30. (habitual: GAE)

Syntactic contexts serve as important cues for disambiguating "be" as habitual or non-habitual. Martin and Tang (2020) show that ASR systems not only fail to recognize habitual "be" more often than non-habitual "be" but, when habitual "be" is present in an utterance, the surrounding words are also incorrectly recognized, particularly preceding words. These findings reveal a strong dependency between habitual "be" and its syntactic context. Failure to reflect this dependency in a language model could lead to a less accurate and biased system.

Even in an AAE corpus, habitual "be" is relatively rare. This imbalanced distribution poses a challenge for designing a non-biased NLP system because most classifiers tend to be biased towards the majority class.

The ambiguity and scarcity of habitual "be" presents two obvious approaches to a solution: (i) incorporate more habitual "be" instances in the data, (ii) manually disambiguate habitual and non-habitual "be" before training. Each approach poses a challenge. For (i), simply collecting more data is extremely impractical, as the habitual "be" is naturally rare. For (ii), hand-coding is unsuitable for the scale of the data needed.

Our study addresses these challenges with a rulebased filter based on syntactic cues and with a data augmentation technique. Together the filter and data augmentation increase the ratio of habitual "be", providing a more balanced training set for the model and allowing for a more fine-grained language model.

### 4 Methodology

The first novel task towards training classifiers to disambiguate habitual "be" is to address the ambiguity of the invariant form by eliminating as many non-habitual "be" instances as possible. The second task is to increase the proportional occurrence of habitual "be" in the training data.

We undertake these two tasks and incorporate them into a pipeline, shown in Figure 1. First, the entire corpus is run through a pre-trained NLTK tokenizer and POS tagger trained using the Penn Treebank Project. To eliminate as many non-habitual "be" instances as possible, a rule-based filter identifies determinate instances of non-habitual "be". With these removed, we increase the proportional occurrence of habitual "be" by augmenting the proportion of habitual "be". Finally, we combine the filtered habitual "be" instances back into a now balanced dataset and use that dataset to train an ensemble model for classification. As discussed in section 5.1, the habituality of each instance is known and allows accurately creating rules and training the classifiers.

### 4.1 Preprocessing

The data is formatted using WordSmith Tools (Scott, 2020) so that each instance of "be" is centered in a 102-character string, the length being determined by the software default. To simplify the task, no breaks between speakers or texts were included, meaning these text segments combine speech from multiple speakers and texts if necessary, with no indication as to where this occurs. If multiple instances of "be" fall within 102 characters, each instance is treated as separate instance that becomes the center of another string slightly offset from the overlapping example. Also, all punctuation, marks made by transcribers (e.g., "/??/"), corpus-specific codes (e.g., "/RD-NAME-3/") and other non-speech text are removed as part of the preprocessing.

### 4.2 Rule-based filter of non-habitual "be"

In AAE, there are certain syntactic patterns that strongly correlate to occurences of the habitual "be" (Green, 2002; Fasold, 1972). Most patterns are based on the part-of-speech immediately surrounding "be". Two example patterns are a pronoun immediately preceding "be" (e.g., "...*they* **be** like, what you finna do?") and a verb ending in -ing immediately following "be" (e.g., "But LeBron **be** 

### passing though").

Following from this, we invert some patterns and create filters that capture a large number of nonhabitual instances. For example, if the word that precedes "be" is not a pronoun and the word after it is not a verb ending in -ing, then we can say that instance is non-habitual.

The vast majority of non-habitual "be" instances are caught by these syntactic rules. In addition, we created some ad-hoc rules that showed success at eliminating remaining non-habitual "be", although they generally capture a smaller number. A full list of our rules we can be found in Appendix B.

The goal of the rule-based filter is not to identify instances of habitual "be". Rather, it is used to remove non-habitual "be" instances for which more advanced disambiguation techniques are not needed. This is a step towards creating a more balanced corpus. It serves to narrow the scope of our classifier to those instances which much more difficult to be automatically disambiguated.

### 4.3 Augmenting habitual "be"

To counter the relative rarity of habitual "be", the dataset needs to be balanced, but without excluding the remaining non-habitual instances after the rule-based filter is applied. Instead, the amount of habitual "be" can be increased. To accomplish this, we use data augmentation to create new, synthetic examples of habitual "be".

We found that the Python library nlpaug (Ma, 2019) provides easy synthetic text generation. Focusing on text augmentation, we used the Word2Vec (Mikolov et al., 2013)<sup>2</sup> and WordNet (Fellbaum, 1998) implementations for substituting and inserting words in surrounding examples of habitual "be" instances from our corpus. The Word2Vec implementation both substitutes and inserts new words at random by finding similar words using the cosine distance from pre-trained embeddings. The WordNet augmentation leverages a database of semantic relations to substitute synonyms at random. These methods can occasionally lead to ungrammatical outputs, as seen in Appendix C. We did not remove such occurrences, as the inclusion of all generated perturbations in our data set strengthened the robustness of our model. Combined, these methods inserted or replaced words with a new part of speech in over 90% of the augmentations.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>https://github.com/dav/word2vec

### 4.4 Classifiers

After filtering trivial instances of non-habitual "be" and balancing the remaining data by augmenting instances of habitual "be", we train a logistic regression classifier, a multi-layer perceptron (MLP), and a linear Support Vector Machine (SVM) to disambiguate instances of "be". All are implemented with the scikit-learn library. All models set the max-iteration to 10,000 steps to allow for convergence on a regular basis. The MLP was changed to use a limited-memory BFGS algorithm solver, and set to have two hidden layers, the first with five nodes and the second with two. These hyperparameters were set after a non-exhaustive search of looking for the optimal settings. All other default parameters were kept unchanged. We compared these against a majority-rules ensemble model that uses the logistic regression, MLP, and SVM voting algorithms. The votes are equally weighted between all three.

The input to all of the classifiers consists of vectors which contain the number of times each POS occurs within a window around each instance of "be". We treated the size of this window as a hyperparameter, and found that defining our window to start at the 9th word in the string and end at the 5th-from-last word produced optimal results.

### **5** Experiment

Unbiased NLP systems should successfully disambiguate instances of habitual "be". We implemented our system on a corpus of AAE speakers after training it our filtered and balanced corpus.

### 5.1 Data

The data comes from the Corpus of Regional African American Language (CORAAL) (Kendall and Farrington, 2018) which contains transcriptions of over 150 sociolinguistic interviews with African American speakers, totaling more than 127 hours of audio and including a rich variety of interviewees by age, socio-economic background, gender identity, and urban/rural origin.

From this corpus, 5,133 instances of "be" were manually annotated as habitual/non-habitual. This resulted in 477 instances of habitual "be" and, 4,656 instances of non-habitual "be", which is to say that non-habitual instances were approximately ten times more frequent. The rule-based filter and augmentation were applied to this data with the resulting statistics shown in Table 1. The rule-based

	Orig.	Filter	Augment
Non-hab "be" total	4,656	994	944
Hab "be" total	477	416	963
Hab 'be" %	9%	30%	50%

Table 1: The distribution of habitual "be" in the training corpus: original, rule-based filtered, and augmented. The top two rows show the change in the raw number of "be" instances; the bottom shows the proportion of habitual "be" to non-habitual "be".

filter incorrectly eliminated 61 instances of habitual "be", reducing the total from 477 to 416. This means the filter has an error rate of about 13% that might be improved with additional ad-hoc rules.

When analyzing our classifiers, we used a 70/30 training/test split, with the test set having a ratio of non-habitual to habitual occurrences similar to that of the original corpus. Importantly, the dataset was split before any augmentation occurred to help our results be more transferable to the original corpus. To get a better understanding of the consistency in results that the augmentation methods would lead to, we re-performed our augmentation procedure for each trial. In total, 10 trials were performed.

### 5.2 Results

Based on our results on the CORAAL corpus, classifying habitual "be" is a feasible task even with a limited supply of natural AAE speech for training. Each algorithm and the ensemble model were tested after being trained on the filtered and the augmented data and on the original corpus. Table 2 shows  $F_1$ -scores displays the comparison, showing means and standard deviations over 10 trials. The best results were achieved by the ensemble classifier after both filtering and augmenting. Over 10 trials the ensemble model classified instances of habitual "be" with an average score of 0.65.

All four classifiers' performance rose dramatically when using our filtering and augmentation methods. In addition, the variability in classifier performance decreased after filtering and augmentation, as evident by the lower standard deviations. The lower variability indicates that balancing a data set allowed the classifiers to find a more definitive decision boundary.

### 6 Conclusion

Our goal was to develop a pipeline which aids the creation of models unbiased against African American English. We proposed and tested a combi-

	Augmented	Not Augmented
Logistic regression	0.648 (0.048)	0.416 (0.039)
SVM	0.628 (0.114)	0.542 (0.206)
MLP	0.627 (0.038)	0.498 (0.058)
Ensemble	<b>0.652</b> (0.049)	0.439 (0.084)

Table 2:  $F_1$ -scores for different classification algorithms (Logistic regression, Support Vector Machine (SVM), Multilayer Perceptron (MLP), and Ensemble of all three). The mean over 10 trials are reported, with the standard deviation in parentheses.

nation of hand-crafted rules, data augmentation, and machine learning to disambiguate instances of habitual "be" which is a distinct, if relatively infrequent, morphosyntactic feature in AAE. The results show this combination to be a promising pipeline, with each step contributing to success at increasing classification scores and reducing bias.

The hand-crafted rules we used took into consideration morphosyntactic patterns that are unique to AAE and correlate with habitual "be" usage. This allowed us to filter out most non-habitual "be" instances. We then found that Word2Vec and Word-Net augmentation methods were able to adequately imitate AAE structure and balance the proportion of habitual "be" instances. Together the filtering and the augmentation resulted in more balanced data with which to train the classifiers.

In the future, with an increased amount of natural speech and more advanced classification algorithms, it is possible that the classification performance could be even higher. However, due to limited data, we treated the entire CORAAL corpus without regard to several interesting factors that should be considered. For example, we did not regard the geographic location or origin of the speaker. Further analysis of our model's performance with respect to regional sub-varieties of AAE would be an interesting avenue to explore. This exploration might refine the hand-crafted rules. Also, our pipeline makes use of the POS tags of the surrounding words, similar to (Zhong and Ng, 2010), but it does not include the surrounding words themselves or their embeddings as features because the limited data would have led to sparse word vectors and unreliable embeddings.

We feel it should be easy to adapt our pipeline to other unique AAE features such as the completive "done" (Green, 2002). Although we expect feature-based models to tend to perform better at low-resource settings than deep learning, we plan to compare our results against state-of-the-art neural models such as the Transformer (Vaswani et al., 2017).

The increase in scores we were able to achieve with these simple methods serves as a proof-ofconcept that systems based on similar syntactic filtering and data augmentation approaches have the potential to improve the performance of other AAE-focused NLP systems and provide enough data for more advanced feature representations.

### References

- John Baugh. 2008. Linguistic discrimination. In Kontaktlinguistik, pages 709–714. De Gruyter Mouton.
- Jiaao Chen, Derek Tam, Colin Raffel, Mohit Bansal, and Diyi Yang. 2021. An empirical survey of data augmentation for limited data learning in nlp.
- Rachel Dorn. 2019. Dialect-specific models for automatic speech recognition of african american vernacular english. In *Student Research Workshop*, pages 16–20.
- Marzieh Fadaee, Arianna Bisazza, and Christof Monz. 2017. Data augmentation for low-resource neural machine translation. In *Proceedings of the 55th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 2: Short Papers)*, pages 567–573, Vancouver, Canada. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Ralph W. Fasold. 1972. *Tense Marking in Black English: A linguistic and social analysis*. Number 8 in Urban Language Series. Center for Applied Linguistics, Arlington, VA.
- Christiane Fellbaum. 1998. *WordNet: An Electronic Lexical Database*. Bradford Books.
- Lisa J Green. 2002. African American English: a linguistic introduction. Cambridge University Press.
- Tyler Kendall and Charlie Farrington. 2018. The corpus of regional African American language. *Version*, 6:1.
- Allison Koenecke, Andrew Nam, Emily Lake, Joe Nudell, Minnie Quartey, Zion Mengesha, Connor Toups, John R Rickford, Dan Jurafsky, and Sharad Goel. 2020. Racial disparities in automated speech recognition. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 117(14):7684–7689.
- Edward Ma. 2019. Nlp augmentation. https://github.com/makcedward/nlpaug.
- Joshua L. Martin and Kevin Tang. 2020. Understanding Racial Disparities in Automatic Speech Recognition: The Case of Habitual "be". In *Proc. Interspeech* 2020, pages 626–630.

- Oren Melamud, Jacob Goldberger, and Ido Dagan. 2016. context2vec: Learning generic context embedding with bidirectional lstm. In Proceedings of the 20th SIGNLL conference on computational natural language learning, pages 51-61.
- Tomas Mikolov, Kai Chen, Gregory S. Corrado, and Jeffrey Dean. 2013. Efficient estimation of word representations in vector space. In ICLR.
- Roberto Navigli. 2009. Word sense disambiguation: A survey. ACM computing surveys (CSUR), 41(2):1-69.
- Matthew E Peters, Mark Neumann, Mohit Iyyer, Matt Gardner, Christopher Clark, Kenton Lee, and Luke Zettlemoyer. 2018. Deep contextualized word representations. arXiv preprint arXiv:1802.05365.
- M. Scott. 2020. Wordsmith tools version 8. Stroud: Lexical Analysis Software.
- Rachael Tatman and Conner Kasten. 2017. Effects of talker dialect, gender & race on accuracy of bing speech and youtube automatic captions. In INTER-SPEECH, pages 934–938.
- Ashish Vaswani, Noam Shazeer, Niki Parmar, Jakob Uszkoreit, Llion Jones, Aidan N Gomez, Łukasz Kaiser, and Illia Polosukhin. 2017. Attention is all you need. In Advances in neural information processing systems, pages 5998-6008.
- Xing Wu, Shangwen Lv, Liangjun Zang, Jizhong Han, and Songlin Hu. 2019. Conditional bert contextual augmentation. In Computational Science - ICCS 2019, pages 84-95, Cham. Springer International Publishing.
- Xiang Zhang, Junbo Zhao, and Yann LeCun. 2015. Character-level convolutional networks for text classification. NIPS'15, page 649-657, Cambridge, MA, USA. MIT Press.
- Zhi Zhong and Hwee Tou Ng. 2010. It makes sense: A wide-coverage word sense disambiguation system for free text. In Proceedings of the ACL 2010 System Demonstrations, pages 78-83, Uppsala, Sweden. Association for Computational Linguistics.

### Α Appendix: Types of non-habitual "be"

- auxiliary "be" in progressive constructions (e.g., "I will **be** going there tomorrow.")
- auxiliary "be" in passive constructions (e.g., "She should **be** given an award.")
- copula or auxiliary "be" preceded by verbal complements (e.g., "He wanted to be a lawyer.")
- copula or auxiliary "be" preceded by a modal (e.g., "They might **be** in the house.")

• imperative "be" (e.g., "Be quiet!")

### Rules to filter non-habitual "be" R

- If the word immediately preceding "be" is a modal, adjective, or "to".
- If the word immediately following "be" is a verbal noun, while the word immediately preceding is not a personal pronoun nor a noun.
- If the word immediately following "be" is an adjective, while the word immediately preceding "be" is not a personal pronoun nor a noun.
- If the word immediately following "be" is a preposition or subordinating conjunction, while the word immediately preceding "be" is a singular present verb.
- If the word immediately preceding "be" is a noun, and the word immediately preceding that noun is an adjective
- If the word immediately preceding "be" is an adverb, and the word immediately following "be" is either a personal pronoun or determiner.
- If the word immediately preceding "be" is an adverb, and either the word immediately preceding the adverb is a verb, or modal

### **C** Examples of augmenting occurrences of the habitual "be"

- "they were like you should totally come here we be having so much fun So I tell my mom about it and" becomes "they were like you should totally come hither we be have got so much fun So I tell my mom astir it and"
- "mixed up all kinds a way everybody just just be there having a good time That s Mm hm that s" becomes "mixed up all dizzying array a way everybody yeah just be happen having a heckuva time That s hm that s"

### Behind the Mask: Demographic bias in name detection for PII masking

Courtney Mansfield\*, Amandalynne Paullada\*<sup>+</sup>, Kristen Howell\*

\*LivePerson Inc., Seattle, Washington, USA

<sup>†</sup>Biomedical Informatics & Medical Education, University of Washington, Seattle, Washington, USA cmansfield@liveperson.com, paullada@uw.edu, khowell@liveperson.com

### Abstract

Many datasets contain personally identifiable information, or PII, which poses privacy risks to individuals. PII masking is commonly used to redact personal information such as names, addresses, and phone numbers from text data. Most modern PII masking pipelines involve machine learning algorithms. However, these systems may vary in performance, such that individuals from particular demographic groups bear a higher risk for having their personal information exposed. In this paper, we evaluate the performance of three off-the-shelf PII masking systems on name detection and redaction. We generate data using names and templates from the customer service domain. We find that an open-source RoBERTa-based system shows fewer disparities than the commercial models we test. However, all systems demonstrate significant differences in error rate based on demographics. In particular, the highest error rates occurred for names associated with Black and Asian/Pacific Islander individuals.

### 1 Introduction

In a time of extensive data collection and distribution, privacy is a vitally important but elusive goal. In 2021, the US-based Identity Theft Resource Center reported a 68% increase in data breaches from the previous year, with 83% involving sensitive information<sup>1</sup>. The exposure of personally identifiable information (PII), such as names, addresses, or social security numbers, leaves individuals vulnerable to identity theft and fraud. In response, a growing number of companies provide data protection services, including PII detection, redaction (masking), and anonymization.

PII masking offers assurances of security. However, this paper considers whether the models powering these services perform fairly across individuals, regardless of race, ethnicity, and gender. Historically, the US "Right to Privacy" concept has been centered around Whiteness, initially to protect White women from the then-emergent technology of photography and visual media (Osucha, 2009). Black individuals have had less access to privacy and face greater risk of harm due to surveillance, including algorithmic surveillance (Browne, 2015; Fagan et al., 2016).

In this paper, we evaluate the detection and masking of names, which are the primary indexer of a person's identity. We sample datasets of names and demographic information to measure the performance of off-the-shelf PII maskers. Although model bias or unfairness can be the result of a number of factors, including training data or presuppositions encoded in the algorithms themselves, the commercial systems we examine fail to provide details about training data or implementation. Therefore, we do not hypothesize a causal relationship between these factors and our findings.

Our work quantifies disparities in the name detection of PII masking systems where poor performance can directly and negatively impact individuals. We demonstrate significant disparities in the recognition of names based on demographic characteristics, especially for names associated with Black and Asian/Pacific Islander groups.

### 2 PII Masking

This study analyzes personally identifiable information (PII) masking systems which aim to detect and redact sensitive personal information, particularly names, from text. This has been an important problem in the biomedical domain, in terms of preparing de-identified patient data for research (Kayaalp, 2018), but is also increasingly important in an age of language models trained from web-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>https://www.idtheftcenter.org/post/identity-theftresource-center-2021-annual-data-breach-report-sets-newrecord-for-number-of-compromises/

scraped data, which have been shown to reveal private information that was not removed from the underlying training data (Carlini et al., 2021).

Since early efforts masking data by hand, automated methods have been employed, from using word lists or dictionaries (Thomas et al., 2002), which do not generalize to unseen names and locations, to rule-based or regular expression systems (Beckwith et al., 2006; Friedlin and McDonald, 2008), which are generalizable, but can be brittle. These have been replaced with machine learning systems (Szarvas et al., 2006; Uzuner et al., 2008) and most recently neural networks (Dernoncourt et al., 2017; Adams et al., 2019).

Modern PII maskers rely on Named Entity Recognition (NER) to identify entities (e.g. name and location) for redaction. NER has had recent success with hybrid bi-directional long short term memory (BiLSTM) and conditional random field (CRF) models (Huang et al., 2015), and following the general trend in NLP, fine-tuning on large language models such as BERT (Li et al., 2019). Additional discussion on NER architectures can be found in Li et al. (2020).

Previous research in Named Entity Recognition (NER) has illuminated race and gender-based disparities. Mishra et al. (2020) evaluates a number of NER models which consider performance according to gender and race/ethnicity. The analysis considers 15 names per intersectional group, finding that White-associated names are more likely to be recognized across all systems. Our work differs from and extends this work in key aspects: focusing on off-the-shelf PII masking, providing analysis on over 4K names, and reporting on significance and additional metrics.

Recent PII masking models perform extremely well in certain contexts. The recurrent neural network of Dernoncourt et al. (2017) achieves 99% recall overall and just below 98% for names on patient discharge summaries in the medical domain. The commercial models we consider do not advertise performance metrics, and as shown in Section 7, do not achieve such high performance across our datasets.

It is important to note that removing names alone is insufficient to fully protect individuals from being identified from data. Data sets can still reveal just enough information to re-identify individuals, as in the case of Massachusetts Governor William Weld, whose medical records, although not connected directly to his name in a de-identified data set, were traceable back to him by matching information from an easily attained external data resource (Sweeney, 2002). Here we focus on names as they are a primary identifier for an individual.

### 3 What's in a Name?

The primary goal of this paper is to understand whether, and to what degree, the performance of PII masking models is influenced by correlates of race, ethnicity, and gender. We frame bias in terms of significant discrepancies in performance based on race/ethnicity and gender, looking specifically to instances where private information was not masked (false negative rates, described in Section 6.2). PII masking is a primary mechanism for protecting personal data, and a systematic failure to mask information belonging to marginalized subgroups can cause undue harm to those populations, through identity theft, identity fraud, and loss of privacy. Names are not a proxy for gender or race/ethnicity, but our rationale is as follows: if most of the people with Name N have self-identified as belonging to Group  $G_1$ , and Name N is frequently miscategorized by PII systems at a rate that is higher than that for a name more commonly used by individuals in Group  $G_2$ , then we argue that members of Group  $G_1$  bear a higher privacy risk.

We focus our analysis on given names (sometimes known as 'first names') and family names (sometimes known as 'surnames' or 'last names'). Naming conventions vary in different cultural and linguistic contexts. In many cultures, given names and/or family names can be gendered, or disproportionately associated with a particular gender, religious or ethnic group. In the present study, gender, race and ethnicity are considered with respect to a defined set of categories for the purpose of analysis, but we acknowledge that such labels are socially constructed and mutable over time and space (Sen and Wasow, 2016).

Previous research has uncovered racial and gender discrimination based on individual names. Bertrand and Mullainathan (2004) found that, given identical resumes with only a change in name, resumes with Black-associated names received fewer callbacks than White-associated names. Sweeney (2013) found that internet searches for Black (in contrast to White) names were more likely to trigger advertisements that suggested the existence of arrest records for people with those names.

We do not attempt to infer personal information tied to names in our data, but rather, rely on real, self-reported information. However, there are limitations to using standardized gender and racial categories in studying algorithmic fairness, even when individuals are able to self-identify (Hanna et al., 2020). Within each racial/ethnicity category made available on the standardized forms in the data we use (described in Section 4), for example, there is a large variety in the linguistic cultures and naming practices encompassed in each group. Our intent is not to conflate race and ethnicity and language, but rather to get a coarse-grained look at performance of PII masking systems on names that are strongly associated with the demographic groupings that are available. Similarly, the available data limits gender categories to the binary 'male' and 'female,' and while names are not a good proxy for gender, we look for strong associations in the data, as described further in Section 4.

### 4 Data

In this section, we describe our method for creating test sentences for evaluating name detection in PII masking models. In our evaluation, we use a sentence perturbation technique which is employed in previous studies to test model performance across sensitive groups (Garg et al., 2019; Hutchinson et al., 2020). Using a variety of templates, we fill slots with names from the datasets, allowing us to measure performance across race/ethnicity and gender.

Reliable sources of demographically labeled names are difficult to find and using real names is an issue of privacy. Therefore, we consider datasets of names with aggregate demographic information as a proxy. We also evaluate on the names of US Congress members, whose identity and self-reported demographic information is publicly available. Templates and source datasets are described in the following sections.

### 4.1 Templates

We collected a set of 32 templates from real-world customer service messaging conversations (see examples in Table 1 and the full set in Appendix A.3). These include dialog between customers and conversational AI or human agents. Customer service data is especially vulnerable to security threat, carrying potentially sensitive personal information such as credit card or social security numbers. Top-

Sample Templates
This was from <i>&lt;</i> NAME>
The response is signed <name></name>
it's YGDFEA the reservation.
<name></name>

Table 1: Sample of templates used for analysis.

ics of discussion in the dataset include placing or tracking a purchase or paying a bill. Each template contains a name, which we replace with a generic NAME slot. Various identifiers from the dataset (e.g. location or reference numbers) are swapped to protect personal information.

### 4.2 LAR Data

The LAR dataset from Tzioumis (2018) contains aggregate names with self-reported race/ethnicity from US Loan Application Registrars (LARs). It includes 4.2K given names from 2.6M observations across the US. Race/ethnicity categories are shown in Table 2.

There are limitations to the Tzioumis (2018) dataset. Because the sample is drawn from mortgage applications and there are known racial and socioeconomic differences in who applies for mortgage applications (Charles and Hurst, 2002), the data is likely to contain representation bias. However, the LAR dataset is the largest available set of names and demographics, estimated to reflect 85.6% of names in the US population (Tzioumis, 2018). Due to its large size, we are able to control for the frequency of names, as described in Section 5.

### 4.3 NYC Data

The NYC dataset was created using the New York City (NYC) Department of Health and Mental Hygiene's civil birth registration data (NYC Open Data, 2013) and contains 1.8K given names from 1.2M observations. Data is available from 2011-2018 and includes self-reported race/ethnicity of the birth mother (other parents' information is not available). The sex of the baby is included, which permits an intersectional analysis.<sup>2</sup> The race/ethnicity groups are shown in Table 2.

While the other datasets report on adult names, the NYC data aggregates the names of children

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Although the NYC data includes the child's *sex assigned at birth*, we use this variable to approximate the *gender* associated with the name.

who are between 4-11 at the time of this writing. This adds diversity in terms of age, as data privacy is an important issue for both children and adults.

### 4.4 Congress Data

The Congress dataset allows for evaluation over the given and family names of real individuals. The 540 current members of US Congress provide self-reported demographic information.<sup>3</sup> Race/ethnic groups are described in Table 2. 76% of congress members do not report membership in the race/ethnicity groups listed, and are grouped as "White/Other".

This dataset provides a naturalistic analysis of full names. Alternatively, one could programmatically generate given and family name pairs from datasets of first names and a dataset of last names. However, the broad race/ethnic groups used for classification do not account for the variance in the cultural backgrounds of the names (e.g. Pakistani and Native Hawaiian backgrounds are listed under the umbrella of Asian and Pacific Islander).

### 5 Sampling Process

This section describes the process of sampling the source names. The LAR and NYC datasets aggregate name counts and frequencies per race/ethnicity. We sample names which have a strong 'association' with a particular race/ethnicity and gender. Because frequency (i.e. popularity) of a name could contribute to spurious performance disparities between groups, we sample the LAR data so that all names are frequency matched across groups.

### 5.1 Demographic categorization

For each group, we sample names that are "associated" with that particular group. We define "association" as when 75% of people with the same name self-report within the same race/ethnicity. In the LAR dataset, the NH American Indian or Alaska Native and NH Multi-race names reflect 1% of individuals in the dataset (Tzioumis, 2018). No names were found with strong associations in these groups, and for this reason, we do not include them in the analysis. We map race/ethnicity groups across datasets to a common set of labels, which are based on categories of the 2010 US Census dataset of surname and race/ethnicity information (Comenetz, 2016). Race/ethnicity categorization for all datasets is shown in Table 2.

The NYC dataset also includes gender. Using a 90% threshold for our definition of 'association', 99% of names in the source set are strongly association with one gender.

### 5.2 Frequency matching

Because the LAR dataset has a large sample size, it is possible to control for the frequency of names while maintaining a minimum threshold of 20 names per category. To standardize based on frequency, we use counts from the 2010 US Census Bureau. We did not use observation counts directly from the LAR data, due to the aforementioned potential for representational bias.

We sample the LAR dataset to align the mean observation counts of Black-associated names and other groups, as there are few Black-associated names in the dataset (n=21). However, there is limited overlap in the frequency distributions of API-associated names with Hispanic and Blackassociated names. Therefore, we sample a second set with API and White-associated names only. We refer to these datasets as LAR1 (Black, Hispanic, and White) and LAR2 (API and White). The frequency matching process is described in more detail in Appendix A.2.

### 6 Experiment Setup

The following sections discuss the PII masking systems we evaluate. We use several metrics to investigate the PII masking performance across name subsets.<sup>4</sup>

### 6.1 Models

We select two commercial and one open-source PII masking system for evaluation. The commercial systems we consider are Amazon Web Services (AWS) Comprehend and Google Cloud Platform Data Loss Prevention (GCP DLP). We choose these systems for their potentially large reach, with AWS and GCP holding a combined 43% market share of cloud services.<sup>5</sup> Amazon Comprehend provides an English model with a NAME entity for PII redaction. GCP DLP offers redaction and includes a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>See www.senate.gov and

https://pressgallery.house.gov/member-data/demographics.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Experiment code is publically available at https://github.com/csmansfield/pii-masking-bias.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>https://www.statista.com/chart/18819/worldwidemarket-share-of-leading-cloud-infrastructure-serviceproviders/

Data	Dataset Race/Ethnicity Group	Mapped label
LAR	NH Asian or Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander	Asian and Pacific Islander
	NH Black or African American	Black
	Hispanic or Latino	Hispanic
	NH American Indian or Alaska Native	Indigenous
	NH Multi-race	Multi-race
	NH White	White
NYC	Asian and Pacific Islander	Asian and Pacific Islander
	Black	Black
	Hispanic White	Hispanic
	NH White	White
Cong.	Asian	Asian and Pacific Islander
	Black	Black
	Hispanic	Hispanic
	Indigenous	Indigenous
	White/Other	White

Table 2: Race/ethnicity categories used for each data source and the mapped set of race/ethnic group labels each category is mapped to for our analysis. The term "Non-Hispanic" is abbreviated NH.

global PERSON\_NAME entity. Microsoft's Presidio is an open-source service for PII detection. We use the default English model which uses logic such as regex matching and Named Entity Recognition (NER). For the Presidio model we use a spaCy 3.2 en\_core\_web\_trf model for NER, which utilizes the RoBERTa-base Transformer model trained on OntoNotes 5.

### 6.2 Evaluation metrics

We measure false negative rates (FNRs), the rate at which a PII system does not detect a name that is present in the dataset (and therefore is unable to mask it).<sup>6</sup> Following Dixon et al. (2018) we report on the False Negative Equality Difference, which measures differences between the false negative rate over the entire dataset and across each demographic subgroup g. We add a normalization term to compare the FNED of datasets with different numbers of groups, as shown in equation 1.

$$\frac{1}{|G|} \sum_{g \in G} |FNR - FNR_g| \tag{1}$$

We also measure the statistical significance of performance differences across subgroups. We conduct Friedman and Wilcoxon signed-rank tests following Czarnowska et al. (2021). The Friedman test is used for cases with more than 2 subgroups, and provides a single *p*-value for each dataset and system pair. The *p*-value determines whether to reject the null hypothesis that FNR of a given system is the same across all demographic groups. The statistic is calculated considering *j* demographic subsets *g*. First, we calculate the average FNR for a template *t*, over all names belonging to a particular subset *g*. The averages for each of the 32 templates considering group *g* are contained in  $X_g$ . The Friedman statistic is calculated for all  $X_g$ .

$$X_g = (FNR(x_g^1), ..., FNR(x_g^{32}))$$
  
Friedman(X<sub>1</sub>, ..., X<sub>j</sub>) (2)

Nemenyi post-hoc testing is used for further pairwise analysis. For cases with only 2 subgroups, we alternatively perform Wilcoxon signed-rank tests. In order to control for multiple comparisons, we apply a Bonferroni correction across all *p*-values (at p<0.05 and n=15, our adjusted significance threshold is 0.003).

### 7 Results

We present the results of the evaluation, considering overall performance and performance related to race/ethnicity, gender, and intersectional factors. The section concludes with an analysis of errors.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Whereas false positive rates are useful for evaluating the precision of a model, our focus is the failure to detect person names, rather than the incorrect identification of tokens that are not person names. Furthermore, we report no false positives in our findings.

	Group	N	FNR (%)			
			AWS	GCP	MP	
LAR1	Black	20	20.0	18.1	29.5	
	Hisp.	172	28.4	12.4	24.7	
	White	1000	21.3	18.5	20.0	
	All	1192	22.3	17.6	20.8	
LAR2	API	441	38.2	51.2	29.2	
	White	1000	25.3	18.6	25.8	
	All	1441	29.3	28.6	26.8	
NYC	API	165	21.3	43.6	22.0	
	Black	226	28.9	56.3	32.6	
	Hisp.	389	20.1	34.2	21.2	
	White	592	26.9	29.2	25.9	
	All	1359	24.6	36.8	25.2	
Cong.	API	16	23.0	12.1	11.7	
	Black	56	15.2	9.7	9.5	
	Hisp.	48	13.9	8.3	9.4	
	Indig.†	3	7.0	6.3	7.8	
	Multi.†	6	8.3	6.3	10.9	
	White/	419	12.1	6.7	7.7	
	Other					
	All	530	12.8	7.3	8.1	

Table 3: Support and average false negative rate (FNR) by race/ethnicity group across datasets. Groups marked with '†' are not included in formal statistical analysis due to low support. Maximum FNR per dataset/sytem is shown in bold.

### 7.1 Overall Performance

The average performance on the datasets can be seen in Table 3. System performance varies according to the dataset, with no single system performing best on all sets. All systems have lower FNR on the Congress dataset, where both given and family names are available, likely due to the increased information load of full names. The LAR2 and NYC names prove the most challenging across all systems.

The average performance of the names per each template is shown in Figure 1. Performance varies considerably, with average FNR per template ranging between 6%. and 100%. The mean FNR for all templates is 22%.

### 7.2 Performance by Race/Ethnicity

The normalized false negative equality differences (FNEDs) are shown in Table 4.

The highest FNED, which is an 82% increase over the second highest FNED, is seen in GCP's performance over the LAR2 dataset which includes



Figure 1: Average FNR across each template per dataset.

		FNED			
		AWS	GCP	MP	
	LAR1	*3.1	*2.2	*4.4	
Race/	LAR2	*6.4	*16.3	1.7	
ethnicity	NYC	*3.6	*8.9	*3.7	
	Congress	*3.6	*2.2	1.7	
Candan	NYC	*3.2	*4.4	0.8	
Gendel	Congress	*1.3	*0.6	0.2	

Table 4: The normalized false negative equality difference (FNED) for race/ethnicity and gender subsets of the data. Asterisks indicate significance (p<0.003) in FNR differences by group. Maximum FNED per system is shown in bold.

frequency controlled API and White-associated names. The FNRs in Table 3 show high FNR for API names in LAR2 across all systems. The error rate for GCP is 175% higher for API-associated names in this set. A Wilcoxon signed-rank test shows significant differences in FNR for AWS and GCP, with better performance on White-associated names. The Presidio transformer model has a smaller gap which is not found to be significant.

Performance on LAR1, which includes frequency-balanced Black, Hispanic, and Whiteassociated names, also shows variability in FNR across race/ethnicity groups. However, the performance differences across groups are dependent on the system. For example, the Presidio transformer model shows poor performance on Black-associated names, and post-hoc tests (see Appendix A.1) reveal significant differences between Black vs. Hispanic and White groups. On the other hand, AWS performs best on Black-associated names but significantly worse on Hispanic-associated names. GCP peforms worst on White-associated names. The NYC dataset shows more consistency in terms of performance across groups, with Blackassociated names having higher FNRs across all systems. This is further confirmed by statistical testing on AWS and GCP, where Black-associated names have statistically higher FNR than Hispanicassociated names. GCP also performs significantly worse on Black-associated names than Whiteassociated names. Although significant FNR differences are found in the performance of Presidio on the basis of race/ethnicity, post-hoc tests did not indicate pair(s) which met the threshold for significance.

Finally, the Congress dataset, which includes given and family names, has the lowest FNED rates in terms of race/ethnicity. However, there are still significant differences in performance across groups for AWS and GCP maskers. Here, APIassociated names again show high FNRs. Friedman tests and post-hoc testing support differences between API and other groups in the case of AWS and GCP. Performance on Black-associated names was also significantly worse than on White-associated names for GCP. There were no significant differences associated with the Presidio model.

### 7.3 Performance by Gender

The NYC and Congress datasets also include information about gender, which allows for a comparison of gender-based subsets. The FNEDs in Table 4 are generally lower for gender than for race. However, some gender-based differences are shown to be significant.

The average FNR grouped by gender is shown in Table 5. The NYC dataset shows female-associated, male-associated, and 'other' names, which are not strongly associated with a particular gender. FNR is highest for such unassociated names. Performance on female and male-associated names varies, with AWS performing significantly better on female-associated names, and GCP performing significantly better on male-associated names.

### 7.4 Intersectional Analysis

We analyzed the NYC results for differences across both race/ethnicity and gender. Table 6 shows FNR averages associated with intersectional groups. FNR for Black female-associated names is highest among all groups, and error rates are on average 13.7% higher than that of the full dataset. Black male-associated names have the second highest FNR for GCP and MP. Pairwise testing does not

	Gender	N	FNR (%)			
			AWS	GCP	MP	
NYC	F	741	23.7	39.8	25.1	
	М	618	25.6	33.1	25.3	
	Other †	13	32.2	43.3	27.4	
	All	1359	24.5	36.8	25.2	
Cong.	F	145	11.0	8.2	10.0	
	М	385	13.6	7.0	8.5	
	All	530	12.9	7.3	8.9	

Table 5: Support and average false negative rate (FNR) by gender across datasets. 'Other' specifies names which are not strongly associated with one gender. Groups marked with '†' are not included in formal statistical analysis due to low support. Maximum FNR per dataset/system is shown in bold.

Group	Gender	N	FNR (%)			
			AWS	GCP	MP	
API	F	86	20.1	43.0	22.2	
	М	77	22.1	43.9	22.2	
Black	F	122	30.1	62.8	34.7	
	М	101	27.0	47.2	29.2	
Hisp.	F	212	18.4	35.7	21.3	
	М	175	22.2	32.2	21.1	
White	F	321	25.7	32.9	24.8	
	М	265	28.2	25.2	27.4	
All	-	1359	24.5	36.8	25.2	

Table 6: Support and average false negative rate (FNR) by race/ethnicity and gender in the NYC dataset. Maximum FNR per system is shown in bold.

reveal significant differences between Black male and female-associated names. The subsets with the lowest FNR vary across systems. Hispanicassociated names have the lowest FNR in AWS and Presidio. For GCP, White male-associated names have the lowest FNR.

### 7.5 Analysis of Names

The previous findings in this section captured a few general patterns. One pattern that held across most systems and datasets was high false negative rates of API names. In the LAR2 and Congressional datasets, API names were especially hard for systems to detect. This was not simply due to API names being less common, as the LAR2 set included names balanced by their frequency in the general US population.

Table 7 shows examples of names with the highest and lowest FNRs. It is worth noting that API names in LAR2 with high FNR are nearly all 2 characters long. Figure 2 shows the relationship between average FNR across all systems, name length, and group. FNR is lowest for 6-7 character names, and increases as length decreases. However, when matched by character length, API-associated names have higher FNRs than Hispanic and White-associated names nearly across the board. There appear to be higher penalties for short names in the API and Black groups.



Figure 2: Average FNR across all systems by character length and race/ethnic group.

High FNR names in Table 7 tend to coincide with other word senses in English. Many are location words (e.g. German, Rochester, Asia). Others double as verbs ('Said'), adjectives ('Young'), nouns ('Major'), and function words ('In'). Using WordNet (Fellbaum, 1998), a lexical database of English, we examine given names that have overlapping (non-person) senses. Potentially ambiguous given names have a 42% FNR compared to 24% for non-ambiguous names. However, the penalty of having an ambiguous name is not the same across groups. Figure 3 shows that there is a large performance disparity for Black names with multiple senses. This is seen anecdotally in names with similar syntactic/semantic content. For instance, the name 'Joy' (API) has a 60% lower FNR (averaged across systems) than 'Blessing' (Black), and 'Georgia' (White) has a 25% lower FNR than 'Egypt' (Black).

### 8 Discussion

This paper considers differences in the performance of three PII maskers on recognizing and redacting names based on demographic characteristics. Supported by quantitative results and error analysis, we find disparities in the fairness of name masking across groups.

In terms of race and ethnicity, API-associated names are often poorly masked. Disparities are



Figure 3: FNR for names with one or multiple word senses (i.e. including non-person word senses)

shown to be significant for AWS and GCP systems. This is not simply a result of the popularity of the names, as the frequency-controlled LAR1 dataset revealed disparities between API and Whiteassociated names. Name length is considered as a performance factor, but it does not entirely account for the gap between API and White-associated names.

Several systems and datasets show poor performance on the masking of Black-associated names. GCP and Presidio revealed significant differences between Black and White-associated names. Error rates are especially high on the NYC dataset, and are highest for Black women. This is in line with previous research which demonstrates the poor performance of NLP systems on Black women (see inter alia Buolamwini and Gebru, 2018).

Race and ethnicity were the strongest factors related to PII masking performance, but gender-based differences were also noted. Names which were not strongly associated with gender had the highest error rates. This underscores the importance of considering categories outside the traditional gender binary when evaluating systems for bias.

Of all PII masking systems, the Presidio model (with roBERTa NER) shows fewer significant discrepancies based on demographics. However, all systems demonstrate some significant disparities. Across datasets, the performance difference between groups is not consistent. For instance, the AWS model has poor performance on API names in the LAR2 dataset but not in NYC. We consider this not an issue, but a feature of our evaluation across datasets. The datasets we've chosen contain variety in age groups, locations, and contexts. We argue that evaluating NLP systems responsibly requires careful curation of data, including steps to consider the context of the system and the diverse set of system users and stakeholders.

The aggregate name data used here is openly available and can be used for testing on PII masking, NER, and related systems. We are releasing

	Low FNR	High FNR
LAR1	Bob (H), Kristan (W), Vicki (W),	German (H), Houston (W), Denver (W),
	Nickie (W), Bethann (W)	Royal (W), Said (W)
LAR2	Maher (W), Nguyen (A), Rajesh (A),	Man (A), My (A), In (A), Do (A), So
	Nicoletta (W), Jayesh (A)	(A)
NYC	Kaylie (H/F), Keith (W/M), Lena (W/F),	Egypt (B/F), Empress (B/F), Asia (B/F),
	Brody (W/M), Brendan (W/F)	Major (B/M), Malaysia (B/F)
Congress	Louie Gohmert (W/M), Deborah Ross	Lisa Blunt Rochester (A/F), Aumua
	(W/F), Diana DeGette (W/F), Fred	Amata Radewagon (A/F), A. Ferguson
	Keller (W/M), Dianne Feinstein (W/F)	(W/M), A. McEachin (B/M), Young
		Kim (A/F)

Table 7: A sample of names with the highest and lowest FNR on average per each dataset. Race/ethnicity is abbreviated as API (A), Black (B), Hispanic (H), and White (W), while gender is abbreviated female (F), male (M).

our templates and code used for sampling data. However, we strongly condemn the use of these datasets for predictive purposes, such as identifying a person's race/ethnicity or gender on the basis of their name without their consent. While our collection of name data forms one of the most comprehensive sets of aggregate names and demographic information available, we are limited by availability of data. The sample of Indigenous and mixed-race names was small, and names were sampled almost exclusively from US-born citizens. In the future, we would like to consider collaborating with the public by developing a database where individuals may actively choose to contribute their name and self-identified information for research.

### 9 Conclusion

This work considers the performance of PII masking systems on names sourced from real data. We find disparities related to demographic characteristics, especially race and ethnicity, across all systems. While features such as name length and ambiguity play a role in recognition, they do not fully account for performance differences. Disparities in the performance of PII masking systems reflect historical inequities in the "Right to Privacy". The NLP community, as a commodifier of both models and data, has a responsibility to develop more equitable systems to protect the data privacy of all individuals.

### Acknowledgments

The authors thank Emily M. Bender, Joe Bradley, Chris Brew, Andrew Maurer, and the anonymous reviewers for their helpful comments. At different points over the course of the work presented in this paper, A.P. was supported by a research internship at LivePerson, Inc. and also by the National Institutes of Health, National Library of Medicine (NLM) Biomedical and Health Informatics Training Program at the University of Washington (Grant Nr. T15LM007442). The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institutes of Health.

### References

- Allison Adams, Eric Aili, Daniel Aioanei, Rebecca Jonsson, Lina Mickelsson, Dagmar Mikmekova, Fred Roberts, Javier Fernandez Valencia, and Roger Wechsler. 2019. Anonymate: A toolkit for anonymizing unstructured chat data. In *Proceedings of the Workshop on NLP and Pseudonymisation*, pages 1–7.
- Bruce A Beckwith, Rajeshwarri Mahaadevan, Ulysses J Balis, and Frank Kuo. 2006. Development and evaluation of an open source software tool for deidentification of pathology reports. *BMC medical informatics and decision making*, 6(1):1–9.
- Marianne Bertrand and Sendhil Mullainathan. 2004. Are Emily and Greg more employable than Lakisha and Jamal? a field experiment on labor market discrimination. *American economic review*, 94(4):991– 1013.
- Simone Browne. 2015. *Dark matters*. Duke University Press.
- Joy Buolamwini and Timnit Gebru. 2018. Gender shades: Intersectional accuracy disparities in commercial gender classification. In *Conference on fairness, accountability and transparency*, pages 77–91. PMLR.
- Nicholas Carlini, Florian Tramer, Eric Wallace, Matthew Jagielski, Ariel Herbert-Voss, Katherine Lee, Adam Roberts, Tom Brown, Dawn Song, Ulfar Erlingsson, et al. 2021. Extracting training data from large language models. In *30th USENIX Security Symposium (USENIX Security 21)*, pages 2633–2650.
- Kerwin Kofi Charles and Erik Hurst. 2002. The transition to home ownership and the black-white wealth gap. *Review of Economics and Statistics*, 84(2):281– 297.
- Joshua Comenetz. 2016. Frequently occurring surnames in the 2010 census. *United States Census Bureau*, pages 1–8.
- Paula Czarnowska, Yogarshi Vyas, and Kashif Shah. 2021. Quantifying social biases in nlp: A generalization and empirical comparison of extrinsic fairness metrics. *Transactions of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, 9:1249–1267.
- Franck Dernoncourt, Ji Young Lee, Ozlem Uzuner, and Peter Szolovits. 2017. De-identification of patient notes with recurrent neural networks. *Journal* of the American Medical Informatics Association, 24(3):596–606.
- Lucas Dixon, John Li, Jeffrey Sorensen, Nithum Thain, and Lucy Vasserman. 2018. Measuring and mitigating unintended bias in text classification. In Proceedings of the 2018 AAAI/ACM Conference on AI, Ethics, and Society, pages 67–73.
- Jeffrey Fagan, Anthony A Braga, Rod K Brunson, and April Pattavina. 2016. Stops and stares: Street stops,

surveillance, and race in the new policing. *Fordham Urb. LJ*, 43:539.

- Christiane Fellbaum. 1998. WordNet: An Electronic Lexical Database. Bradford Books.
- F Jeff Friedlin and Clement J McDonald. 2008. A software tool for removing patient identifying information from clinical documents. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association*, 15(5):601–610.
- Sahaj Garg, Vincent Perot, Nicole Limtiaco, Ankur Taly, Ed H Chi, and Alex Beutel. 2019. Counterfactual fairness in text classification through robustness. In *Proceedings of the 2019 AAAI/ACM Conference on AI, Ethics, and Society*, pages 219–226.
- Alex Hanna, Emily Denton, Andrew Smart, and Jamila Smith-Loud. 2020. Towards a critical race methodology in algorithmic fairness. In *Proceedings of the 2020 conference on fairness, accountability, and transparency*, pages 501–512.
- Zhiheng Huang, Wei Xu, and Kai Yu. 2015. Bidirectional lstm-crf models for sequence tagging. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1508.01991*.
- Ben Hutchinson, Vinodkumar Prabhakaran, Emily Denton, Kellie Webster, Yu Zhong, and Stephen Denuyl. 2020. Social biases in nlp models as barriers for persons with disabilities. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2005.00813*.
- Mehmet Kayaalp. 2018. Patient privacy in the era of big data. *Balkan medical journal*, 35(1):8–17.
- Jing Li, Aixin Sun, Jianglei Han, and Chenliang Li. 2020. A survey on deep learning for named entity recognition. *IEEE Transactions on Knowledge and Data Engineering*, 34(1):50–70.
- Xiaoya Li, Jingrong Feng, Yuxian Meng, Qinghong Han, Fei Wu, and Jiwei Li. 2019. A unified mrc framework for named entity recognition. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1910.11476*.
- Shubhanshu Mishra, Sijun He, and Luca Belli. 2020. Assessing demographic bias in named entity recognition. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2008.03415*.
- NYC Open Data. 2013. Popular baby names. https://data.cityofnewyork.us/Health/ Popular-Baby-Names/25th-nujf/data.
- Eden Osucha. 2009. The whiteness of privacy: Race, media, law. *Camera Obscura: Feminism, Culture, and Media Studies*, 24(1):67–107.
- Maya Sen and Omar Wasow. 2016. Race as a bundle of sticks: Designs that estimate effects of seemingly immutable characteristics. *Annual Review of Political Science*, 19:499–522.
- Latanya Sweeney. 2002. k-anonymity: A model for protecting privacy. *International Journal of Un*certainty, Fuzziness and Knowledge-Based Systems, 10(05):557–570.

- Latanya Sweeney. 2013. Discrimination in online ad delivery. *Communications of the ACM*, 56(5):44–54.
- György Szarvas, Richárd Farkas, and András Kocsor. 2006. A multilingual named entity recognition system using boosting and c4. 5 decision tree learning algorithms. In *International Conference on Discovery Science*, pages 267–278. Springer.
- Sean M Thomas, Burke Mamlin, Gunther Schadow, and Clement McDonald. 2002. A successful technique for removing names in pathology reports using an augmented search and replace method. In *Proceedings of the AMIA Symposium*, page 777. American Medical Informatics Association.
- Konstantinos Tzioumis. 2018. Demographic aspects of first names. *Scientific data*, 5(1):1–9.
- Özlem Uzuner, Tawanda C Sibanda, Yuan Luo, and Peter Szolovits. 2008. A de-identifier for medical discharge summaries. *Artificial intelligence in medicine*, 42(1):13–35.

# A Appendices

### A.1 Post-hoc testing

Nemenyi post-hoc significance testing for each dataset. Significance for each respective system is marked with their respective abbreviation: AWS Comprehend (A), GCP DLP (G), and Microsoft Presidio (P). A '-' indicates a *p*-value above the significance threshold

	Black	Hispanic	White
Black		AG -	- GP
Hispanic	AG -		AG -
White	- GP	AG -	

Table 8: LAR1 dataset with race/ethnicity

		API		Black		Hispanic		White	
		F	Μ	F	Μ	F	Μ	F	Μ
API	F			AG -	A		- G -	A	AG -
	Μ			A	A		- G -	- G -	AG -
Black	F	AG -	A			AG -	AG -	- G -	- G -
	Μ	A	A			AG -	AG -	- G -	- G -
Hispanic	F			AG -	AG -			A	AG -
	Μ	- G -	- G -	AG -	AG -				A
White	F	A	- G -	- G -	- G -	A			
	Μ	AG -	AG -	- G -	- G -	AG -	A		

Table 9: NYC dataset with gender, race/ethnicitiy

	API	Black	Hispanic	White
API		A	AG -	AG -
Black	A			- G -
Hispanic	AG -			
White	AG -	- G -		

Table 10: Congress dataset with race/ethnicity. The Presidio model did not differ significantly based on race/ethnic group.

### A.2 Frequency sampling

This appendix describes in more detail the frequency matching between race/ethnicity groups in the LAR dataset. The mean observation frequencies for each group are shown in Table 11. Because there are initially fewer Black-associated names (n=21), we sample all groups to target this smaller distribution. By filtering with a minimum observation size of 2K and maximum observation size of 150K, we achieve similar distributions across groups. However, API names are too sparse under these conditions to be included, and we choose to resample them separately. A Mann-Whitney U test does not find significant differences in frequency between Black, Hispanic, and White-associated names under these conditions (with a threshold of p = 0.05). A plot of the distributions of this set, which we refer to as LAR1, is shown in Figure 4a.

For API names, we generate a second name set, which we refer to as LAR2. We sample from other groups, using an exponential distribution ( $\lambda = 480$ ) that best approximates the API distribution. Only White-associated names maintain >20 names under these sampling conditions. A Mann-Whitney U test does not find significant differences between frequencies of API and White groups. Distributions of this set are shown in Figure 4b.

Group	Ν
API	488
Black	21573
Hispanic	25122
White	41060

Table 11: Average observation size per name for each race/ethnicity group in the LAR dataset without resampling.



(a) Black, Hispanic, and White race/ethnicity groups in LAR1



(b) API and White race/ethnicity groups in LAR2

Figure 4: Plots of frequency distributions for frequencymatched names from LAR.

### A.3 Templates

#	Template
1	Name: {{Name}} Vouchers:10000200007400001 10000200005000001
2	sysmsg1_{{Name}}_ has joined the conversation,
3	Craig G: 1F to LAS and 2F to SAN {{Name}} 1D to LAS and 2D to SAN
4	{{Name}} 03 caramel beige is my another foundation
5	i put in an order on line for {{Name}} original large size and a code for 20 present off of the
	117.00 but it would not take
6	Hi {{Name}}! Can you help me with my above question?
7	hi im {{Name}}
8	{{Name}} isle Jake window
9	Virtual Assistant : Hi {{Name}}, how can I help you today?
10	Thank you, {{Name}}
11	this was from {{Name}}
12	I think it's {{Name}}
13	Ok, will we receive {{Name}}'s by that date and at that address as well?
14	{{Name}}. Very upset at the moment. I placed two request online to have this order
	cancelled and I just refused an item from FedEX from your store.
15	Hello {{Name}}, Im just trying to get some info on the item I ordered
16	{{Name}} (I) paid for the ticket
17	sysmsg2_{{Name}}_ has left the conversation
18	hey I lost connection from my previous chat with {{Name}}
19	Virtual Assistant : Hi {{Name}}, we'll use automated messages to chat with you and
	Customer Care Professionals are standing by. In a short sentence, let me know how I can
	help you today
20	thank you very much {{Name}}. nice chatting with you!
21	well thank u so much {{Name}}
22	Did {{Name}} catch you up on everything?
23	I was working with {{Name}} earlier on this chat
24	The response is signed {{Name}}
25	it's YGDFEA the reservation. {{Name}}
26	My name is {{Name}}. I messaged yesterday and have not received a response from anyone
27	{{Name}} and I divorced.
28	do you care that something holy to me was in my food {{Name}}?
29	{{Name}} was very kind and helpful!
30	oh no {{Name}} sorry to confuse you
31	the order is under {{Name}}
32	{{Name}}, one question, when i logged into the App, it shows balance as \$50 is it USD or
	CAD?

### Mapping the Multilingual Margins: Intersectional Biases of Sentiment Analysis Systems in English, Spanish, and Arabic

António Câmara, Nina Taneja, Tamjeed Azad, Emily Allaway, Richard Zemel

Department of Computer Science, Columbia University {ac4443, nat2142, ta2553}@columbia.edu {eallaway, zemel}@cs.columbia.edu

### Abstract

As natural language processing systems become more widespread, it is necessary to address fairness issues in their implementation and deployment to ensure that their negative impacts on society are understood and minimized. However, there is limited work that studies fairness using a multilingual and intersectional framework or on downstream tasks. In this paper, we introduce four multilingual Equity Evaluation Corpora, supplementary test sets designed to measure social biases, and a novel statistical framework for studying unisectional and intersectional social biases in natural language processing. We use these tools to measure gender, racial, ethnic, and intersectional social biases across five models trained on emotion regression tasks in English, Spanish, and Arabic. We find that many systems demonstrate statistically significant unisectional and intersectional social biases.<sup>1</sup>

### **1** Introduction

Large-scale transformer-based language models, such as BERT (Devlin et al., 2018), are now the state-of-the-art for a myriad of tasks in natural language processing. However, these models are well-documented to perpetuate harmful social biases, specifically by regurgitating the social biases present in their training data which are scraped from the Internet without careful consideration (Bender et al., 2021). While steps have been taken to "debias", or remove, gender and other social biases from word embeddings (Bolukbasi et al., 2016; Manzini et al., 2019), these methods have been demonstrated to be cosmetic (Gonen and Goldberg, 2019). Furthermore, these studies neglect to recognize both the impact of social biases on downstream task results as well as the complex and interconnected nature of social biases. In this paper, we

detect and discuss unisectional<sup>2</sup> and intersectional social biases in multilingual language models applied to downstream tasks using a novel statistical framework and novel multilingual datasets.

Intersectionality is a framework introduced by Crenshaw (1990) to study how the composite identity of an individual across different social cleavages (e.g., race and gender) informs that individual's social advantages and disadvantages. For example, individuals who identify with multiple disadvantaged social cleavages (e.g., Black women) face a greater and altered risk for discrimination and oppression than individuals with a subset of those identities (e.g., white women). This framework for understanding overlapping systems of discrimination has been explored in some studies of fairness in machine learning, including by Buolamwini and Gebru (2018) who show that face detection systems perform markedly worse for female users of color, compared to female users or users of color.

Although work has begun to study intersectional social biases in natural language processing, to the best of our knowledge no work has explored fairness in an intersectional framework on downstream tasks (e.g. sentiment analysis). Social biases in downstream tasks expose users with multiple disadvantaged sensitive attributes to unknown but potentially harmful outcomes, especially when models trained on downstream tasks are used in real-world decision making, such as for screening résumes or predicting recidivism in criminal proceedings (Bolukbasi et al., 2016; Angwin et al., 1999). In this work, we choose emotion regression as a downstream task because social biases are often realized through emotion recognition (Elfenbein and Ambady, 2002) and machine learning models have been shown to reflect gender bias in emotion recognition tasks (Domnich and Anbarjafari, 2021). For

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>We make our code and datasets available for download at https://github.com/ascamara/ml-intersectionality.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>In this paper, we refer to biases against a single social cleavage, such as racial bias or gender bias, as unisectional.

example, sentiment analysis and emotion regression may be used by companies to measure product engagement for different social groups.

In addition, while some work has studied gender biases across different languages (Zhou et al., 2019; Zhao et al., 2020), no work to our knowledge has studied racial, ethnic, and intersectional social biases across different languages. This lack of a multilingual analysis neglects non-English speaking users and their complex social environments.

In this paper, we demonstrate the presence of gender, racial, ethnic, and intersectional social biases on five language models trained on an emotion regression task in English, Spanish, and Arabic. We do so by introducing novel supplementary test sets designed to measure social biases and a novel statistical framework for detecting the presence of unisectional and intersectional social biases in models trained on sentiment analysis tasks.

Our contributions are summarized as:

- Following Kiritchenko and Mohammad (2018), we introduce four supplementary test sets designed to detect social biases in language systems trained on sentiment analysis tasks in English, Spanish, and Arabic, which we make available for download.
- We propose a novel statistical framework to detect unisectional and intersectional social biases in language models trained on sentiment analysis tasks.
- We detect and analyze numerous gender, racial, ethnic, and intersectional social biases present in five language models trained on emotion regression tasks in English, Spanish, and Arabic.

### 2 Related Works

The presence and impact of harmful social biases in machine learning and natural language processing systems is pervasive and well-documented in popular word embedding methods (Caliskan et al., 2017; Garg et al., 2018; Bolukbasi et al., 2016; Zhao et al., 2019) due to large amounts of humanproduced training data that includes historical social biases. Notably, Caliskan et al. (2017) demonstrate such biases by introducing the Word Embedding Association Test (WEAT) which measures how similar socially sensitive sets of words (e.g., racial or gendered names) are to attributive sets of words (e.g., pleasant or unpleasant words) in the semantic space encoded by word embeddings. While Bolukbasi et al. (2016); Manzini et al. (2019) introduce methods for "debiasing" word embeddings in order to create more equitable semantic representations for usage in downstream tasks, Gonen and Goldberg (2019) argue that such methods are merely cosmetic since social biases are still evident in the semantic space after the application of such methods. Moreover, these "debiasing" techniques focus on a particular social cleavage such as gender or race (i.e., unisectional cleavages). In contrast, our work considers both unisectional and intersectional social biases.

Recent studies have also begun to focus on social biases in transformer-based language models (Kurita et al., 2019; Bender et al., 2021). In particular, Bender et al. (2021) discusses how increasingly large transformer-based language model in practice regurgitate their training data, resulting in such models perpetuating social biases and harming users. Therefore, in this work we consider both static word embedding techniques and transformerbased language models.

Crenshaw (1990) introduces intersectionality as an analytical framework to study the complex character of the privilege and marginalization faced by an individual with a variety of identities across a set of social cleavages such as race and gender. A canonical usage of intersectionality is in service of studying the simultaneous racial and gender discrimination faced by Black women, which cannot be understood in its totality using racial or gendered frameworks independently; for one example, we point to the angry Black woman stereotype (Collins, 2004). As such, we argue that existing studies in fairness are limited in their ability both to uncover bias in and to "debias" language models without engaging with the intersectionality framework.

Intersectional social biases have been documented in natural language processing models. Herbelot et al. (2012) first studied intersectional social bias by employing distributional semantics on a Wikipedia dataset while Tan and Celis (2019) studied intersectional social bias in contextualized word embeddings by using the WEAT on language referring to white men and Black women. Guo and Caliskan (2021) introduce tests that detect both known and emerging intersectional social biases in static word embeddings and extend the WEAT to contextualized word embeddings. Similarly, May et al. (2019) also extend the WEAT to a contextualized word embedding framework using sentence embeddings. However, these methods do not consider the effect of intersectional social biases on the results of downstream tasks, which is the focus of this work.

Studies on non-English social biases in natural language processing are limited, with Zhou et al. (2019) extending the WEAT to study gender bias in Spanish and French and Zhao et al. (2020) examining gender bias in English, Spanish, German, and French on fastText embeddings (Bojanowski et al., 2017). Notably, to the best of our knowledge there has been no work on studying intersectional social biases in languages other than English in natural language processing. While Herbelot et al. (2012) and Guo and Caliskan (2021) study the intersectional social biases faced by Asian and Mexican women respectively using natural language processing, both do so in English. In contrast, our work seeks to understand intersectional social biases in the languages that are used by the individuals and the communities that they help constitute.

Most closely related to our work, Kiritchenko and Mohammad (2018) evaluate racial and gender bias in 219 sentiment analysis systems trained on datasets from and submitted to SemEval-2018 Task 1: Affect in Tweets (Mohammad et al., 2018). Their work introduces the Equity Evaluation Corpus (EEC), a supplementary test set of 8,640 English sentences designed to extract gender and racial biases in sentiment analysis systems. Despite Spanish and Arabic data and submissions for the task, Kiritchenko and Mohammad (2018) did not explore biases in either language. Moreover, this study focused on submissions to the competition. In contrast, our work focuses on large-scale transformer-based language models and explores both unisectional and intersectional social biases in multiple languages.

# **3** Methods: Framework for Evaluating Intersectionality

In this section, we introduce our framework for detecting unisectional and intersectional social bias on results from downstream tasks. Given a model trained on emotion regression, we evaluate the model on a supplementary test set using our framework to measure social biases.

First, we discuss our supplementary test sets composed of sentences corresponding to social cleavages (e.g., Black women, Black men, white women, and white men) (§3.1). We then use the results from each test set to run a Beta regression model (Ferrari and Cribari-Neto, 2004) where we fit coefficients for gender, racial, and intersectional social biases (§3.2). Finally, we test the coefficients for statistical significance to determine if a model, trained on a given emotion regression task in a given language, demonstrates gender, racial, or intersectional social bias (§3.3).

### 3.1 Equality Evaluation Corpora

We introduce four novel *Equity Evaluation Corpora* (EECs) following the work of Kiritchenko and Mohammad (2018). An EEC is a set of carefully crafted simple sentences that differ only in their reference to different social cleavages as seen in Table 1. Therefore, differences in the predictions on a downstream task between sentences can be ascribed to language models learning those social biases. We use these corpora as supplementary test sets to measure unisectional and intersectional social biases of models trained on downstream tasks in English, Spanish, and Arabic.

Following Kiritchenko and Mohammad (2018), each EEC consists of eleven template sentences as shown in Table 1. Each template includes a [person] tag which is instantiated using both given names representing gender-racial/ethnic cleavages (e.g. given names common for Black women, Black men, white women, and white men in the original EEC)<sup>3</sup> and noun phrases representing gender cleavages (e.g. she/her, he/him, my mother, my brother). The first seven templates also include an emotion word, the first four of which are [emotion state word] tags, instantiated with words like *angry* and the last three are [emotion situation word] tags, instantiated with words like *annoying*.

We contribute novel English, Spanish, and Arabic-language EECs that use the same sentence templates, noun phrases, and emotion words, but substitute Black and white names for Latino and Anglo names as well as Arab and Anglo names respectively. We introduce an English EEC and a Spanish EEC for Latino and Anglo names as well as an English EEC and an Arabic EEC for Arab and Anglo names, for a total of four novel EECs. The complete translated sentence templates, noun

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Caliskan et al. (2017); Kiritchenko and Mohammad (2018) refer to the racial groups as African-American and European-American. For consistency and in accordance with style guides for the Associated Press and the New York Times, we refer to the groups as Black and white with intentional casing.

	Template	Example	EEC
1	[Person] feels [emotional state word].	Adam feels angry.	en (Black-white)
2	The situation makes [person] feel [emotional	The situation makes Latoya feel excited.	en (Black-white)
	state word].		
3	I made [person] feel [emotional state	I made Jorge feel furious.	en (Latino-Anglo)
	word].		
4	[Person] made me feel [emotional state	Sarah made me feel depressed.	en (Latino-Anglo)
	word].		
5	[Person] found him/herself in a/an	Ana se encontró en una situación maravillosa.	es (Anglo-Latino)
	[emotional situation word] situa-		
	tion.		
6	[Person] told us all about the recent	Jacob nos contó todo sobre los recientes acontec-	es (Anglo-Latino)
	[emotional situation word] events.	imientos absurdos.	
7	The conversation with [person] was [emotional situa-	The conversation with Muhammad was hilarious.	en (Anglo-Arab)
	tion word].		
8	I saw [person] in the market.	I saw Betsy in the market.	en (Anglo-Arab)
9	I talked to [person] yesterday.	tahadatht mae jas-tayn) تحدثت مع جستين الأمس	ar (Anglo-Arab)
		il'ams)	
10	[Person] goes to the school in our neighborhood.	fatimah tadhhab) فاطمة تذهب إلى المدرسة في حينا	ar (Anglo-Arab)
		ʻilaa almadrasah fi hina)	
11	[Person] has two children.	my husband has two children.	en (all en EECs)

Table 1: Sentence templates used in the EECs with examples. [brackets] indicates template slots, EEC indicates which corpus the example is drawn from, including the language.

phrases, emotion words, and given names are available in the appendix and we make all four of our novel EECs available for download.

The original EEC uses ten names for each gender-racial cleavage, selected from the list of names used in Caliskan et al. (2017), which in turn uses names from the first Implicit Association Test (IAT), a psychology study that measured implicit racial bias (Greenwald et al., 1998). For example, given names include Ebony for Black women, Alonzo for Black men, Amanda for white women, and Adam for white men. The original EEC also uses five emotional state words and five emotional situation words sourced from Roget's Thesaurus for each of the emotions studied. For example, furious and irritating for Anger, ecstatic and amazing for Joy, anxious and horrible for Fear, and miserable and gloomy for Sadness. Each of the sentence templates was instantiated with chosen examples to generate 8640 sentences.

For names representing Latino women, Latino men, Anglo women, and Anglo men in the English and Spanish-language EECs we used the ten most popular given names for babies born in the United States during the 1990s according to the Social Security Administration<sup>4</sup>. For the English and Arabic-language EECs, ten names are selected from Caliskan et al. (2017) for Anglo names of both genders. For male Arab names, ten names are selected from a study that employs the IAT to study attitudes towards Arab-Muslims (Park et al., 2007). Since female Arab names were not available using this source, we use the top ten names for baby girls born in the Arab world according to the Arabic-language site BabyCenter<sup>5</sup>. All names are available in the appendix.

For the Spanish and Arabic EECs, fluent nativespeaker volunteers translated the original sentence templates, noun phrases, and emotion words. They then verified the generated sentences (i.e., using selected names and emotion words) for proper grammar and semantic meaning. Note that for the Arabic EEC, the authors transliterated names using English and Arabic Wikipedia pages of individuals with a given name. Due to fewer translated emotion words (e.g., two different English emotion words corresponded to the same word in the target language), each of the sentence templates were instantiated with chosen examples to generate 8640 sentences in English for both novel EECs, 8460 in Spanish, and 8040 in Arabic.

### 3.2 Regression on Intersectional Variables

We develop a novel framework for identifying statistically significant unisectional and intersectional social biases using Beta regressions for modeling proportions (Ferrari and Cribari-Neto, 2004). In Beta regression, the response variable is modeled as a random variable from a Beta distribution (i.e., a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>https://www.ssa.gov/oact/babynames/ decades/names1990s.html

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>https://arabia.babycenter.com/

family of distributions with support in (0, 1)). This is in contrast to linear regression which models response variables in  $\mathbb{R}$ .

Let  $Y_i$  be the response variable. That is,  $Y_i$  is the score predicted by a model trained for an emotion regression task on a given sentence *i* from an EEC. The labels for emotion regression restrict  $Y_i \in [0, 1]$ , although 0 and 1 do not occur in practice, such that we may use Beta regression to measure biases.

The Beta regression (Eq. 1) measures the interaction between our response variable  $Y_i$  and our independent variables  $X_{ji}$  (i.e., the social cleavages j represented by sentence i from an EEC).

$$Y_i = \beta_0 + \beta_1 X_{1i} + \beta_2 X_{2i} + \beta_3 X_{1i} X_{2i}$$
 (1)

In our model, we define  $X_1$  to be an indicator function over sentences representing a minority group (e.g., Black people, women). For example,  $X_{1i} = 1$  for any sentence *i* that refers to a Black person. As such, the corresponding coefficient  $\beta_1$ describes the change in model prediction for sentences referring to an individual who identifies with that minority group, all else equal. For example,  $\beta_1$  provides a measure of racial bias in the model. We define  $X_2$  analogously for a second minority group. Therefore, the variable  $X_1X_2 = 1$  if and only if a sentence refers to the intersectional identity (e.g., Black women) and thus  $\beta_3$  is a measure of intersectional social bias.

### 3.3 Statistical Testing

After fitting the regression model, we test each regression coefficient for statistical significance. That is, we divide the coefficient by the standard error and then calculate the *p*-value for a two-sided *t*test. If the coefficient for an independent variable (e.g.,  $X_1$ ) is statistically significant, we say that the model shows statistically significant social bias against the race and ethnicity, gender, or intersectionality identity corresponding to that variable. A positive coefficient for a variable implies that the emotion is exhibited more strongly by sentences representing the minority group that is coded by that variable.

### 4 Experiments

### 4.1 Models

We experiment with five methods in this work.

Our first three methods use pre-trained language models from Huggingface (Wolf et al., 2019): **BERT+** – for English we use BERT-base (Devlin et al., 2018), for Spanish BETO (Cañete et al., 2020), and for Arabic ArabicBERT (Safaya et al., 2020), **mBERT** – multilingual BERT-base (Devlin et al., 2018), **XLM-RoBERTa** – XLM-RoBERTabase (Conneau et al., 2019).

For each language model, we fit a two-layer feed-forward neural network on the [CLS] (or equivalent) token embedding from the last layer of the model implemented in PyTorch (Paszke et al., 2019), We do not fine-tune these models because we are interested in measuring the bias specifically encoded in the pre-trained publicly available model. Moreover, since the training datasets we use are small, fine-tuning has a high risk of causing overfitting.

In addition, we also experiment with two methods using Scikit-learn (Pedregosa et al., 2011): **SVM-tfidf** – an SVM trained on Tf-idf sentence representations, and **fastText** – fastText pre-trained multilingual word embeddings (Bojanowski et al., 2017) average-pooled over the sentence and then passed to an MLP regressor.

### 4.2 Tasks

We first train models on the emotion intensity regression tasks in English, Spanish, and Arabic from SemEval-2018 Task 1: Affect in Tweets (Sem2018-T1) (Mohammad et al., 2018). **Emotion intensity regression** is defined as the intensity of a given emotion expressed by the author of a tweet and takes values in the range [0, 1]. We consider the following set of emotions: anger, fear, joy, and sadness. For each model and language combination, we report the performance using the official competition metric, Pearson Correlation Coefficient ( $\rho$ ) as defined in (Benesty et al., 2009), for each emotion in the emotion regression task.

### 5 Results and Discussion

### 5.1 Emotion Intensity Regression

We first show results on the Sem2018-T1 task, in order to verify the quality of the models we analyze for social bias (see Table 2).

We observe that the performance of pre-trained language models varies across languages and emotions. BERT+, mBERT, and RoBERTa performed best on the English tasks, compared to Spanish and Arabic. Additionally, BERT+ had better perfor-

		$\rho$ Test					
Language	Model	Anger	Fear	Joy	Sadness		
	BERT+	0.592	0.561	0.596	0.559		
	mBERT	0.369	0.476	0.507	0.397		
English	XLM-RoBERTa	0.412	0.388	0.432	0.489		
	fastText	0.535	0.467	0.495	0.452		
	SVM	0.533	0.523	0.538	0.504		
	BERT+	0.391	0.460	0.555	0.459		
	mBERT	0.279	0.192	0.510	0.367		
Spanish	XLM-RoBERTa	0.136	0.358	0.329	0.145		
	fastText	0.401	0.478	0.560	0.563		
	SVM-tfidf	0.398	0.638	0.551	0.598		
	BERT+	0.435	0.362	0.470	0.543		
	mBERT	0.223	0.111	0.296	0.384		
Arabic	XLM-RoBERTa	0.211	0.254	0.212	0.139		
	fastText	0.401	0.478	0.560	0.563		
	SVM-tfidf	0.366	0.381	0.475	0.456		

Table 2: Pearson Correlation Coefficient ( $\rho$ ) on models trained on SemEval 2018 Task 1, Emotion Regression

mance than the multilingual models (e.g. mBERT and XLM-RoBERTa) across all languages and tasks, showing that language-specific models (e.g., BETO) can be superior to multilingual models. SVM-tfidf and fastText typically outperformed the multilingual models but were at-par or only slightly better than the language-specific models. This difference is likely due to the lack of fine-tuning performed on the transformer-based models. Our decision to not fine-tune does decrease performance on downstream tasks but is prudent given the risk of overfitting on a small training set and our interest in studying the social biases encoded in off-the-shelf pre-trained language models.

### 5.2 Evaluation using EECs

After training a model for a given emotion regression task in a language, we utilize the five EECs as supplementary test sets. We then apply a Beta regression to the set of predictions for each EEC to uncover the change in emotion regression given an example identified as an ethnic or racial minority, a woman, and a female ethnic or racial minority respectively. We showcase the beta coefficients and their level of statistical significance for each variable in the regression in Tables 3, 4, and 5.

### 5.3 Discussion

In this section, we discuss the unisectional and intersectional social biases that we do and do not detect, across our five models that we trained on emotion regression tasks and evaluated using the EECs and novel statistical framework.

The most pervasive statistically significant social bias observed is gender bias, followed by racial and ethnic bias, and finally by intersectional social bias. Because of our statistical procedure, it is possible that some of the bias experienced by the intersectional identity is absorbed by either the gender and racial or ethnic coefficient, limiting the extent to which intersectional social bias may be measured.

We are primarily interested in our statistical analysis of intersectional social biases. A canonical example of intersectional social bias is the angry Black woman stereotype (Collins, 2004). We find the opposite: sentences referring to Black women are inferred as less angry across all three transformer-based language models and inferred as more joyful in BERT+ to a statistically significant degree (Table 3). It is possible that this bias is captured by other coefficients. For example, sentences referring to women are inferred as more angry in mBERT and XLM-RoBERTa and sentences referring to Black people are inferred as more angry in mBERT. It also is possible that the language models do not exhibit this stereotype, which supports experimental results in psychology (Walley-Jean, 2009) despite being well-established in the critical theory literature (Collins, 2004).

We note that sentences referring to Latinas display more joy across transformer-based language models in both English and Spanish (Table 4); however, other intersectional identities do not see a uniform statistically significant increase or decrease across models for a given emotion.

We find evidence of racial biases in our experiments. We find statistically significant evidence to suggest that transformer-based language models predict that sentences referring to Black people are less fearful, sad, and joyful than sentences referring to white people (Table 3). This demonstrates that these language models may predict lower emotional intensity for sentences referring to Black people in any case, placing more emphasis on white sentiment and the white experience.

We observe that ethnic biases are sometimes split by language. For example, English models predict sentences referring to Arabs as more fearful while Arabic models predict the same sentences as less fearful (Table 5). However, both languages predict those sentences as more sad. Future work ought to consider the interplay between ethnic biases across languages because the same social biases may be expressed and measured differently in different languages.

We observe multiple gender biases across emotions and languages. In all Arabic models, sen-

		Anger Coefficients			Fear	· Coefficien	its	
Language	Model	Race/Ethnicity	Gender	Intersection	Race/Ethnicity	Gender	Intersection	
English	BERT+	0.008	$-0.021^{***}$	$-0.028^{***}$	$-0.023^{***}$	0.026***	-0.001	
(Black-white)	mBERT	0.014***	$0.018^{***}$	$-0.015^{***}$	$-0.015^{***}$	$0.037^{***}$	$-0.017^{**}$	
	XLM-RoBERTa	$-0.001^{**}$	$0.003^{***}$	$-0.004^{***}$	$-0.003^{***}$	$0.003^{***}$	0.002	
	SVM-tfidf	0.001	0.002	-0.001	-0.001	-0.0	0.002	
	fastText	0.0	-0.002	-0.0	-0.0	0.001	0.0	
		Joy Coefficients			Sadness Coefficients			
Language	Model	Race/Ethnicity	Gender	Intersection	Race/Ethnicity	Gender	Intersection	
English	BERT+	$-0.052^{***}$	-0.005	0.028***	$-0.017^{**}$	$0.017^{**}$	0.007	
(Black-white)	mBERT	0.003	$0.009^{*}$	0.002	$-0.025^{***}$	$0.042^{***}$	$-0.024^{***}$	
	XLM-RoBERTa	$-0.017^{***}$	0.002	0.001	$-0.009^{***}$	0.002	-0.001	
	SVM-tfidf	0.002	0.0	-0.001	0.002	0.002	-0.002	
	fastText	0.0	0.001	-0.0	-0.0	0.0	-0.0	

Table 3: Beta coefficients for the English (Black-white) EEC inference for all model, emotion combinations. Statistically significant results ( $p \le 0.01$ ) are marked with three asterisks \*\*\*, ( $p \le 0.05$ ) are marked with two asterisks \*\*, ( $p \le 0.10$ ) are marked with one asterisk \*

		Ang	er Coefficien	ts	Fea	r Coefficien	ts
Language	Model	Race/Ethnicity	Gender	Intersection	Race/Ethnicity	Gender	Intersection
English	BERT+	0.005	$-0.014^{***}$	0.002	0.01	$-0.02^{***}$	$0.015^{*}$
(Anglo-Latino)	mBERT	$0.014^{***}$	$-0.014^{***}$	-0.005	$-0.034^{***}$	$0.013^{***}$	0.007
	XLM-RoBERTa	-0.0	$0.002^{***}$	$-0.002^{**}$	0.0	$0.002^{**}$	0.0
	SVM-tfidf	-0.003	0.001	0.003	-0.003	0.003	0.003
	fastText	-0.0	-0.001	-0.0	0.0	0.001	-0.0
Spanish	BERT+	-0.011	-0.006	0.02*	$-0.017^{*}$	-0.009	$0.042^{***}$
	mBERT	$0.03^{***}$	$-0.005^{*}$	$0.006^{*}$	$0.026^{***}$	$0.013^{***}$	$-0.005^{*}$
	XLM-RoBERTa	$0.003^{***}$	$-0.002^{***}$	$-0.002^{***}$	$0.002^{***}$	-0.0	$-0.001^{**}$
	SVM-tfidf	-0.004	$0.031^{***}$	0.004	-0.002	-0.006	0.002
	fastText	0.0	$0.053^{***}$	0.0	-0.0	-0.007	0.0
		Joy	y Coefficients	5	Sadne	ess Coefficie	nts
Language	Model	Race/Ethnicity	Gender	Intersection	Race/Ethnicity	Gender	Intersection
English	BERT+	0.001	$-0.025^{***}$	$0.016^{**}$	-0.005	$-0.013^{**}$	0.028***
(Anglo-Latino)	mBERT	0.005	$0.02^{***}$	$0.017^{**}$	-0.006	$0.009^{*}$	0.011
	XLM-RoBERTa	0.002**	$0.006^{***}$	0.0	0.001	$-0.002^{**}$	0.001
	SVM-tfidf	-0.0	-0.0	0.0	-0.002	0.0	0.002
	fastText	-0.0	0.001	0.0	0.0	-0.0	-0.0
Spanish	BERT+	0.012	$0.015^{*}$	-0.006	0.004	0.019**	0.004
	mBERT	$-0.021^{***}$	$-0.008^{**}$	$0.025^{***}$	$0.016^{***}$	0.002	-0.008
	XLM-RoBERTa	-0.0	$0.002^{**}$	-0.001	-0.0	0.0	-0.0
	SVM-tfidf	0.002	$0.015^{***}$	-0.001	-0.006	0.006	0.006
	fastText	-0.0	-0.004	-0.0	0.0	-0.002	-0.0

Table 4: Beta coefficients for English and Spanish (Anglo-Latino) EEC inference for all model, emotion combinations. Statistically significant results ( $p \le 0.01$ ) are marked with three asterisks \*\*\*, ( $p \le 0.05$ ) are marked with two asterisks \*\*\*, ( $p \le 0.10$ ) are marked with one asterisk \*

tences referring to women are predicted to be less angry than sentences referring to men (Table 5). Moreover, both English and Spanish models predict more fear in sentences referring to women than men (Table 3, Table 4).

We see a myriad of contradictory results across languages, emotions, and models. This suggests that the social biases encoded by languages models are incredibly complex and difficult to study using a simple statistical framework. We recognize that the study of social biases and stereotypes is highly nuanced, especially in its application to fairness in natural language processing. Future analysis of these language models, their training data, and any downstream task data is necessary for the detection and comprehension of the impact of social biases in natural language processing. For example, future work may introduce additional statistical tests or EECs that better capture the complex nature of social biases in conversation with the intersectionality literature.

### 6 Ethical Considerations and Limitations

Our work is limited in scope to only social biases in English, Spanish, and Arabic due to the training data available and thus is limited to studying social biases in societies where those languages are dominant.

In addition, our statistical framework formalizes intersectional social bias across strictly defined
		Ang	er Coefficien	ts	Fea	r Coefficient	s
Language	Model	Race/Ethnicity	Gender	Intersection	Race/Ethnicity	Gender	Intersection
English	BERT+	0.061***	-0.004	$-0.026^{***}$	0.037***	0.004	-0.006
(Anglo-Arab)	mBERT	-0.001	$-0.012^{***}$	$0.022^{***}$	0.028***	$0.029^{***}$	$-0.041^{***}$
	XLM-RoBERTa	$-0.002^{**}$	$-0.003^{***}$	$0.003^{***}$	-0.0	-0.0	0.001
	SVM-tfidf	0.001	0.001	-0.001	0.002	0.0	-0.0
	fastText	-0.0	-0.003	-0.0	-0.0	0.0	-0.0
Arabic	BERT+	$-0.026^{***}$	-0.01**	0.007	-0.016***	-0.004	0.018***
	mBERT	0.004	$-0.008^{***}$	$0.012^{***}$	0.002	$0.009^{***}$	$-0.006^{*}$
	XLM-RoBERTa	$-0.001^{*}$	$-0.004^{***}$	$0.001^{*}$	$-0.002^{**}$	0.001	0.0
	SVM-tfidf	0.003	$-0.029^{***}$	0.01	0.002	$-0.021^{***}$	0.008
	fastText	$-0.03^{***}$	$-0.012^{**}$	$0.019^{**}$	$-0.018^{*}$	$-0.031^{***}$	0.013
		Joy Coefficients					
		Joy	<b>Coefficients</b>	5	Sadn	ess Coefficie	nts
Language	Model	Joy Race/Ethnicity	Coefficients Gender	S Intersection	Sadn Race/Ethnicity	ess Coefficier Gender	nts Intersection
Language English	Model BERT+	Joy Race/Ethnicity 0.047***	Coefficients Gender -0.004	Intersection -0.019***	Sadn Race/Ethnicity 0.064***	ess Coefficien Gender -0.005	nts Intersection -0.007
Language English (Anglo-Arab)	Model BERT+ mBERT	Joy Race/Ethnicity 0.047*** -0.029***	<b>Coefficients</b> Gender -0.004 0.023***	Intersection -0.019*** 0.016**	<b>Sadn</b> Race/Ethnicity 0.064*** 0.0	ess Coefficien Gender -0.005 0.033***	nts Intersection -0.007 -0.024**
Language English (Anglo-Arab)	Model BERT+ mBERT XLM-RoBERTa	Jog Race/Ethnicity 0.047*** -0.029*** -0.001	y Coefficients Gender -0.004 0.023*** 0.001	5 Intersection -0.019*** 0.016** -0.0	Sadn Race/Ethnicity 0.064*** 0.0 -0.001	ess Coefficier Gender -0.005 0.033*** -0.002**	nts Intersection -0.007 -0.024** 0.003***
Language English (Anglo-Arab)	Model BERT+ mBERT XLM-RoBERTa SVM-tfidf	Jog Race/Ethnicity 0.047*** -0.029*** -0.001 0.0	y Coefficients Gender -0.004 0.023*** 0.001 -0.002	Intersection -0.019*** 0.016** -0.0 0.002	Sadn Race/Ethnicity 0.064*** 0.0 -0.001 0.004	ess Coefficien Gender -0.005 0.033*** -0.002** 0.004	nts Intersection -0.024** 0.003*** -0.004
Language English (Anglo-Arab)	Model BERT+ mBERT XLM-RoBERTa SVM-tfidf fastText	Joy Race/Ethnicity 0.047*** -0.029*** -0.001 0.0 -0.0	y Coefficients Gender -0.004 0.023*** 0.001 -0.002 0.001	Intersection           -0.019***           0.016***           -0.0           0.002           -0.0	Sadn Race/Ethnicity 0.064*** 0.0 -0.001 0.004 -0.0	ess Coefficier Gender -0.005 0.033*** -0.002** 0.004 0.0	nts Intersection -0.007 -0.024** 0.003*** -0.004 -0.0
Language English (Anglo-Arab) Arabic	Model BERT+ mBERT XLM-RoBERTa SVM-tfidf fastText BERT+	Joy Race/Ethnicity 0.047*** -0.029*** -0.001 0.0 	Coefficients           Gender           -0.004           0.023***           0.001           -0.002           -0.001           -0.016**		$\begin{tabular}{lllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	ess Coefficien Gender -0.005 0.033*** -0.002** 0.004 	$\begin{array}{c} \text{nts} \\ \hline \text{Intersection} \\ \hline -0.007 \\ -0.024^{**} \\ 0.003^{***} \\ -0.004 \\ \hline -0.004 \\ \hline -0.007 \end{array}$
Language English (Anglo-Arab) Arabic	Model BERT+ mBERT XLM-RoBERTa SVM-tfidf fastText BERT+ mBERT	Jog Race/Ethnicity 0.047*** -0.029*** -0.001 0.0 	$\begin{array}{c} \textbf{Coefficients}\\ \hline \textbf{Gender}\\ \hline -0.004\\ 0.023^{***}\\ 0.001\\ -0.002\\ \hline -0.001\\ \hline 0.01\overline{16^{**}}\\ 0.015^{***} \end{array}$		Sadn Race/Ethnicity 0.064*** 0.0 -0.001 0.004 0.0 -0.034*** 0.027***		$\begin{array}{c} \text{nts} \\ \hline \text{Intersection} \\ \hline -0.007 \\ -0.024^{**} \\ 0.003^{***} \\ -0.004 \\ \hline \begin{array}{c} -0.0 \\ -0.007 \\ -0.016^{***} \end{array}$
Language English (Anglo-Arab) Arabic	Model BERT+ mBERT XLM-RoBERTa SVM-tfidf fastText BERT+ mBERT XLM-RoBERTa	Jog Race/Ethnicity 0.047*** -0.029*** -0.001 0.0 	y Coefficients Gender -0.004 0.023*** 0.001 -0.002 -0.001 -0.015*** -0.005**	$\begin{array}{c} & \\ \hline \text{Intersection} \\ \hline -0.019^{***} \\ 0.016^{**} \\ -0.0 \\ 0.002 \\ \hline -0.003 \\ 0.002 \\ 0.002 \\ 0.005 \end{array}$	$\begin{tabular}{lllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	$\begin{array}{c} \hline \textbf{ess Coefficier} \\ \hline \textbf{Gender} \\ \hline -0.005 \\ 0.033^{***} \\ -0.002^{**} \\ 0.004 \\ \hline \textbf{-} & -\frac{0.0}{0.001} \\ \hline 0.007^{*} \\ 0.003^{*} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} \text{nts} \\ \hline \text{Intersection} \\ \hline -0.007 \\ -0.024^{**} \\ 0.003^{***} \\ -0.004 \\ \hline \begin{array}{c} -0.0 \\ -0.007 \\ -0.016^{***} \\ -0.003 \end{array}$
Language English (Anglo-Arab) Arabic	Model BERT+ mBERT XLM-RoBERTa SVM-tfidf fastText BERT+ mBERT XLM-RoBERTa SVM-tfidf	Joy Race/Ethnicity 0.047*** -0.029*** -0.001 0.0 	y Coefficients Gender -0.004 0.023*** 0.001 -0.002 -0.001 0.015*** -0.005** -0.052***	$\begin{array}{c} \hline \textbf{B} \\ \hline \textbf{Intersection} \\ \hline -0.019^{***} \\ 0.016^{**} \\ -0.0 \\ 0.002 \\ \hline 0.002 \\ 0.003 \\ 0.002 \\ 0.002 \\ 0.005 \\ 0.023^{**} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} \textbf{Sadm} \\ \textbf{Race/Ethnicity} \\ 0.064^{***} \\ 0.0 \\ -0.001 \\ 0.004 \\0.0 \\ 0.034^{***} \\ 0.027^{***} \\ -0.0 \\ -0.002 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} \hline \textbf{ess Coefficies} \\ \hline \textbf{Gender} \\ \hline -0.005 \\ 0.033^{***} \\ -0.002^{**} \\ 0.004 \\ \hline \textbf{-} & -\frac{0.0}{0.001} \\ 0.007^{*} \\ 0.003^{*} \\ -0.031^{***} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} \text{nts} \\ \hline \text{Intersection} \\ \hline -0.007 \\ -0.024^{**} \\ 0.003^{***} \\ -0.004 \\ \hline0.004 \\0.007 \\ -0.016^{***} \\ -0.003 \\ 0.001 \end{array}$

Table 5: Beta coefficients for English and Arabic (Anglo-Arab) EEC inference for all model, emotion combinations. Statistically significant results ( $p \le 0.01$ ) are marked with three asterisks \*\*\*, ( $p \le 0.05$ ) are marked with two asterisks \*\*, ( $p \le 0.10$ ) are marked with one asterisk \*

gender-racial cleavages. For example, our model neglects non-binary or intersex users, multiracial users, and users who are marginalized across cleavages that are not studied in this paper (i.e. users with disabilities). Future work can address these shortcomings by creating EECs that represent these identities in their totality and by using regression models that represent non-binary identities using non-binary variables or include additional variables for additional identities.

Furthermore, our statistical model others minority groups by predicting the changes in outcomes of a model as a function of the active marginalized identities in an example sentence. In other words, our model centers the experience of hegemonic identities by implicitly recognizing such experiences as a baseline. More broadly, it is important to recognize that intersectionality is not merely an additive nor multiplicative theory of privilege and discrimination. Rather, there is an complex interdependence between an individual's various identities and the oppression they face (Bowleg, 2008).

Finally, we emphasize that there exists no set of carefully curated sentences that can detect the extent nor the intricacies of social biases. We therefore caution that no work, especially automated work, is sufficient in understanding or mitigating the full scope of social biases in machine learning and natural language processing models. This is especially true for intersectional social biases, where marginalization and discrimination takes places within and across gender, sexual, racial, ethnic, religious, and other cleavages in concert.

## 7 Conclusion

In this paper, we introduce four Equity Evaluation Corpora to measure racial, ethnic, and gender biases in English, Spanish, and Arabic. We also contribute a novel statistical framework for studying unisectional and intersectional social biases in sentiment analysis systems. We apply our method to five models trained on emotion regression tasks in English, Spanish, and Arabic, uncovering statistically significant unisectional and intersectional social biases. Despite our findings, we are constrained in our ability to analyze our results with the sociopolitical and historical context necessary to understand their true causes and implications. In future work, we are interested in working with community members and scholars from the groups we study to better interpret the causes and implications of these social biases so that the natural language processing community can create more equitable systems.

#### Acknowledgements

We are grateful to Max Helman for his helpful comments and conversations. Alejandra Quintana Arocho, Catherine Rose Chrin, Maria Chrin, Rafael Diloné, Peter Gado, Astrid Liden, Bettina Oberto, Hasanian Rahi, Russel Rahi, Raya Tarawneh, and two anonymous volunteers provided outstanding translation work. This work is supported in part by the National Science Foundation Graduate Research Fellowship under Grant No. DGE-1644869. Any opinion, findings, and conclusions or recommendations expressed in this material are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily reflect the views of the National Science Foundation.

#### References

- Julia Angwin, Jeff Larson, Surya Mattu, and Lauren Kirchner. 1999. Machine bias: There's software used across the country to predict future criminals. and it's biased against blacks.
- Emily M. Bender, Timnit Gebru, Angelina McMillan-Major, and Shmargaret Shmitchell. 2021. On the dangers of stochastic parrots: Can language models be too big? In Proceedings of the 2021 ACM Conference on Fairness, Accountability, and Transparency, FAccT '21, page 610–623, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.
- Jacob Benesty, Jingdong Chen, Yiteng Huang, and Israel Cohen. 2009. Pearson correlation coefficient. In *Noise reduction in speech processing*, pages 1–4. Springer.
- Piotr Bojanowski, Edouard Grave, Armand Joulin, and Tomas Mikolov. 2017. Enriching word vectors with subword information. *Transactions of the association for computational linguistics*, 5:135–146.
- Tolga Bolukbasi, Kai-Wei Chang, James Y Zou, Venkatesh Saligrama, and Adam T Kalai. 2016. Man is to computer programmer as woman is to homemaker? debiasing word embeddings. *Advances in neural information processing systems*, 29.
- Lisa Bowleg. 2008. When black+ lesbian+ woman≠ black lesbian woman: The methodological challenges of qualitative and quantitative intersectionality research. *Sex roles*, 59(5):312–325.
- Joy Buolamwini and Timnit Gebru. 2018. Gender shades: Intersectional accuracy disparities in commercial gender classification. In *Conference on fairness, accountability and transparency*, pages 77–91. PMLR.
- Aylin Caliskan, Joanna J Bryson, and Arvind Narayanan. 2017. Semantics derived automatically from language corpora contain human-like biases. *Science*, 356(6334):183–186.
- José Cañete, Gabriel Chaperon, Rodrigo Fuentes, Jou-Hui Ho, Hojin Kang, and Jorge Pérez. 2020. Spanish pre-trained bert model and evaluation data. In *PML4DC at ICLR 2020*.
- Patricia Hill Collins. 2004. Black sexual politics: African Americans, gender, and the new racism. Routledge.

- Alexis Conneau, Kartikay Khandelwal, Naman Goyal, Vishrav Chaudhary, Guillaume Wenzek, Francisco Guzmán, Edouard Grave, Myle Ott, Luke Zettlemoyer, and Veselin Stoyanov. 2019. Unsupervised cross-lingual representation learning at scale. *CoRR*, abs/1911.02116.
- Kimberle Crenshaw. 1990. Mapping the margins: Intersectionality, identity politics, and violence against women of color. *Stan. L. Rev.*, 43:1241.
- Jacob Devlin, Ming-Wei Chang, Kenton Lee, and Kristina Toutanova. 2018. Bert: Pre-training of deep bidirectional transformers for language understanding. arXiv preprint arXiv:1810.04805.
- Artem Domnich and Gholamreza Anbarjafari. 2021. Responsible ai: Gender bias assessment in emotion recognition. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2103.11436*.
- Hillary Anger Elfenbein and Nalini Ambady. 2002. On the universality and cultural specificity of emotion recognition: a meta-analysis. *Psychological bulletin*, 128(2):203.
- Silvia Ferrari and Francisco Cribari-Neto. 2004. Beta regression for modelling rates and proportions. *Journal of applied statistics*, 31(7):799–815.
- Nikhil Garg, Londa Schiebinger, Dan Jurafsky, and James Zou. 2018. Word embeddings quantify 100 years of gender and ethnic stereotypes. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences, 115(16):E3635– E3644.
- Hila Gonen and Yoav Goldberg. 2019. Lipstick on a pig: Debiasing methods cover up systematic gender biases in word embeddings but do not remove them. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1903.03862.*
- Anthony G Greenwald, Debbie E McGhee, and Jordan LK Schwartz. 1998. Measuring individual differences in implicit cognition: the implicit association test. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 74(6):1464.
- Wei Guo and Aylin Caliskan. 2021. Detecting emergent intersectional biases: Contextualized word embeddings contain a distribution of human-like biases. In *Proceedings of the 2021 AAAI/ACM Conference on AI, Ethics, and Society*, pages 122–133.
- Aurélie Herbelot, Eva Von Redecker, and Johanna Müller. 2012. Distributional techniques for philosophical enquiry. In *Proceedings of the 6th Workshop on Language Technology for Cultural Heritage, Social Sciences, and Humanities*, pages 45–54.
- Svetlana Kiritchenko and Saif M. Mohammad. 2018. Examining gender and race bias in two hundred sentiment analysis systems. *CoRR*, abs/1805.04508.
- Keita Kurita, Nidhi Vyas, Ayush Pareek, Alan W Black, and Yulia Tsvetkov. 2019. Measuring bias in contextualized word representations. In Proceedings of the First Workshop on Gender Bias in Natural Language Processing, pages 166–172, Florence, Italy. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Thomas Manzini, Yao Chong Lim, Yulia Tsvetkov, and Alan W Black. 2019. Black is to criminal as caucasian is to police: Detecting and removing mul-

ticlass bias in word embeddings. arXiv preprint arXiv:1904.04047.

- Chandler May, Alex Wang, Shikha Bordia, Samuel R Bowman, and Rachel Rudinger. 2019. On measuring social biases in sentence encoders. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1903.10561*.
- Saif Mohammad, Felipe Bravo-Marquez, Mohammad Salameh, and Svetlana Kiritchenko. 2018. SemEval-2018 task 1: Affect in tweets. In Proceedings of The 12th International Workshop on Semantic Evaluation, pages 1–17, New Orleans, Louisiana. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Jaihyun Park, Karla Felix, and Grace Lee. 2007. Implicit attitudes toward arab-muslims and the moderating effects of social information. *Basic and Applied Social Psychology*, 29(1):35–45.
- Adam Paszke, Sam Gross, Francisco Massa, Adam Lerer, James Bradbury, Gregory Chanan, Trevor Killeen, Zeming Lin, Natalia Gimelshein, Luca Antiga, et al. 2019. Pytorch: An imperative style, high-performance deep learning library. *Advances in neural information processing systems*, 32.
- F. Pedregosa, G. Varoquaux, A. Gramfort, V. Michel, B. Thirion, O. Grisel, M. Blondel, P. Prettenhofer, R. Weiss, V. Dubourg, J. Vanderplas, A. Passos, D. Cournapeau, M. Brucher, M. Perrot, and E. Duchesnay. 2011. Scikit-learn: Machine learning in Python. *Journal of Machine Learning Research*, 12:2825–2830.
- Ali Safaya, Moutasem Abdullatif, and Deniz Yuret. 2020. KUISAIL at SemEval-2020 task 12: BERT-CNN for offensive speech identification in social media. In *Proceedings of the Fourteenth Workshop on Semantic Evaluation*, pages 2054–2059, Barcelona (online). International Committee for Computational Linguistics.
- Yi Chern Tan and L Elisa Celis. 2019. Assessing social and intersectional biases in contextualized word representations. *Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems*, 32.
- J Celeste Walley-Jean. 2009. Debunking the myth of the "angry black woman": An exploration of anger in young african american women. *Black Women*, *Gender & Families*, 3(2):68–86.
- Thomas Wolf, Lysandre Debut, Victor Sanh, Julien Chaumond, Clement Delangue, Anthony Moi, Pierric Cistac, Tim Rault, Rémi Louf, Morgan Funtowicz, et al. 2019. Huggingface's transformers: State-ofthe-art natural language processing. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1910.03771*.
- Jieyu Zhao, Subhabrata Mukherjee, Saghar Hosseini, Kai-Wei Chang, and Ahmed Hassan Awadallah. 2020. Gender bias in multilingual embeddings and crosslingual transfer. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2005.00699*.
- Jieyu Zhao, Tianlu Wang, Mark Yatskar, Ryan Cotterell, Vicente Ordonez, and Kai-Wei Chang. 2019. Gender bias in contextualized word embeddings. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1904.03310*.

Pei Zhou, Weijia Shi, Jieyu Zhao, Kuan-Hao Huang, Muhao Chen, Ryan Cotterell, and Kai-Wei Chang. 2019. Examining gender bias in languages with grammatical gender. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1909.02224*.

Bla	ack	White		
Female	Male	Female	Male	
Ebony	Alonzo	Amanda	Adam	
Jasmine	Alphonse	Betsy	Alan	
Lakisha	Darnell	Courtney	Andrew	
Latisha	Jamel	Ellen	Frank	
Latoya	Jerome	Heather	Harry	
Nichelle	Lamar	Katie	Jack	
Shaniqua	Leroy	Kristin	Josh	
Shereen	Malik	Melanie	Justin	
Tanisha	Terrence	Nancy	Roger	
Tia	Torrance	Stephanie	Ryan	

Table 6: Given names used in original EEC

A	nglo	Latino		
Female	Female Male		Male	
Jessica	Michael	Maria	Jose	
Ashley	Christopher	Ana	Juan	
Emily	Matthew	Patricia	Luis	
Sarah	Joshua	Gabriela	Carlos	
Samantha	Jacob	Adriana	Jesus	
Amanda	Nicholas	Alejandra	Antonio	
Brittany	Andrew	Ariana	Miguel	
Elizabeth	Daniel	Isabella	Angel	
Taylor	Tyler	Mariana	Alejandro	
Megan	Joseph	Sofia	Jorge	

Table 7: Names used in new English-Spanish EECs

# **A** Appendix

#### A.1 Equity Evaluation Corpora

The names used in the original English EEC can be found in Table 6. The names used in the English-Spanish (Anglo-Latino) and Spanish EECs can be found in Table 7. The names used in the English-Arabic (Anglo-Arab) EEC can be found in Table 8. The names in the Arabic EEC (in Arabic text) can be found in Table 9.

The emotion words used in the English-language EECs can be found in Table 10. The emotion words used in the Spanish-language EECs can be found in Table 11. The emotion words used in the Arabic-language EECs can be found in Table 12 for masculine sentences and Table 13 for feminine sentences.

The sentence templates used in the Spanishlanguage EECs can be found in Table 14. The sentence templates used in the Arabic-language EECs can be found in Table 15 for masculine sentences and Table 16 for feminine sentences.

Ang	glo	Arab		
Female	Male	Female	Male	
Ellen	Adam	Maryam	Ammar	
Emily	Andrew	Fatima	Jaafar	
Heather	Chip	Lyn	Haashim	
Rachel	Frank	Hur	Hassan	
Katie	Jonathan	Lian	Muhammad	
Betsy	Justin	Maria	Nadeem	
Nancy	Harry	Malak	Rashid	
Amanda	Matthew	Nur	Saad	
Megan	Roger	Mila	Umar	
Stephanie	Stephen	Farah	Zahir	

Table 8: Names used in new English-Arabic EECs

Ang	glo	Arab		
Female	Male	Female	Male	
إيلين	آدم	مريم	عمتار	
إيملي	أندرو	فاطمة	جعْفَر	
هيثر	شيب	لين	هاشم	
راشيل	فرانك	حور	حسن	
کاټي ي	وناثان	ليان	مُحَمَدْ	
بيتسي	جستين	ماريا	نديم	
نانسي	هاري	ملك	راشد	
أماندا	ماثيو	نور	سعد	
ميغان	روجر	ميل	عمر	
ستيفاني	ستيفن	فرح	ظاهر	

Table 9: Names used in new English-Arabic EECs in Arabic

Anger	Joy	Fear	Sadness
angry	ecstatic	anxious	depressed
annoyed	excited	discouraged	devastated
enraged	glad	fearful	disappointed
furious	happy	scared	miserable
irritated	relieved	terrified	sad
annoying	amazing	dreadful	depressing
displeasing	funny	horrible	gloomy
irritating	great	shocking	grim
outrageous	hilarious	terrifying	heartbreaking
vexing	wonderful	threatening	serious

Table 10: Emotion words used in English EECs

Anger	Joy	Fear	Sadness	
enojado/a	eufórico/a	ansioso/a	deprimido/a	
molesto/a	emocionado/a	desalentado/a	devastado/a	
enfurecido/a	contento/a	temeroso/a	desilusionado/a	
furioso/a	alegre	asustada	miserable	
irritado/a	aliviado/a	aterrorizado/a	triste	
fastidioso/a	increíble	deprimido/a	deprimente	
desagradable	divertido/a	devastado/a	sombrío/a	
irritante	excelente	desilusionado/a	destrozante	
indignante	chistoso/a	miserable	-	
absurdo/a	maravilloso/a	triste	serio/a	

Table 11: Emotion words used in Spanish EEC

Anger	Joy	Fear	Sadness
عصبيه	متحمسه	قلقه	محبطه
منزعجه	مسرورہ	محبطه	مدمره
غضبانه	سعيده	متخوفه	مخذوله
صاخبه	مرتاحه	خائفه	تعيسه
متحسسه	مذهله	مذعوره	حزينه
مزعجه	مضحکه	منروعه	محبطه
مسيئه	عظيمه	فظيعه	كئيبه
مغضبه	مضحكه جدا	صادمه	متجهمه
	رائعه	مرعبه	مفجعه
		مهدده	جديه

Table 12: Emotion words used in Arabic EEC for masculine sentences

Anger	Joy	Fear	Sadness
عصبي	متحمس	قلق	محبط
منزعج	مسرور	محبط	مدمر
غضبان	سعيد	متخوف	مخذول
صاخب	مرتاح	خائف	تعيس
متحس	-	مذعور	حزين
مزعج	مذهل	نروع	محبط
مسيئ	مضحك	مفظيع	كئيب
مغضب	عظيم	صادم	متجهم
	ضحك جدا	مرعب	مفجع
	م رائع	مهدد	جدي

Table 13: Emotion words used in Arabic EEC for feminine sentences

### Template

- 1. <Person> se siente <emotional state word>.
- 2. La situación hace que <person> se sienta <emotional state word>.
- 3. Hice que <person> se sintiera <emotional state word>.
- 4. <Person> me hizo sentir <emotional state word>.
- 5. <Person> se encontró en una situación <emotional situation word>.
- 6. <Person> nos contó todo sobre los recientes acontecimientos <emotional situation word>.
- 7. La conversación con <person> fue <emotional situation word>.
- 8. Yo vi a <person> en el mercado.
- 9. Hablé con <person> ayer.
- 10. <Person> estudia en el colegio de nuestro barrio.
- 11. <Person> tiene dos hijos.

Table 14: Sentence templates used in the Spanish EEC

Templa	te
--------	----

<emotional state word>یشعر بال ord

<emotional state word>يشعر بال<person>الموقف جعله.2

- <emotional state word>ينفعل <person>انا جعلته.
- <emotional state word>يشعرتني بالخجل <emotional state word
- <emotional situation word>وجدت نفسه في موقف <person> المحافي الم المحافي المحا محافي المحافي المحافي المحافي المحافي المحافي المحافي المحافي المحافي المحافي محافي حافي المحافي ال محافي المحافي حمافي المحافي المحافي المحافي المحافي محافي حمافي المحافي المحافي ال
- الاخيره<emotional situation word> يخبرتنا عن الاحداث المحزنه <emotional situation word
- 7. الحادثة معهemotional situation word>

- الامس <person>تحدثت معه.9
- يذهب الى المدرسه في حينا<10. <person
- لديه طفلان<11. <person



The gendered noun phrases used in the English, Spanish, and Arabic-language EECs can be found in Table 17. Template

1. <pe< th=""><th>erson&gt; ر</th><th>بال</th><th>تشعر</th><th><emotional< th=""><th>state</th><th>word&gt;</th></emotional<></th></pe<>	erson> ر	بال	تشعر	<emotional< th=""><th>state</th><th>word&gt;</th></emotional<>	state	word>
--	----------	-----	------	--	-------	-------

<emotional state word> تشعر بال <person>الموقف جعلها.2

- <emotional state word>تنفعل <person>انا جعلتها.3
- <emotional state word>تشعرتني بالخجل <qerson
- <emotional situation word>وجدت نفسها في موقف emotional situation word>
- الاخيره<emotional situation word>تخبرتنا عن الاحداث المحزنه <emotional situation word
- rson> <emotional situation word> المحادثة معها.7
- في السوق <person>رايتها.8
- الامسّ<person>تحدثت معها.9
- تذهب الي المدرسه في حينا <10. <person
- لديها طفلان <preson 11. <preson

Table 16: Sentence templates used in the Arabic EEC for feminine sentences

English		Spanish		Arabic	
Female	Male	Female	Male	Female	Male
she	he	ella	él	هي	هو
this woman	this man	esta mujer	este hombre	هذه السيده	هذا الرجل
this girl	this boy	este chico	esta chica	هذه البنت	هذا الولد
my sister	my brother	mi hermano	mi hermana	اختي	اخي
my daughter	my son	mi hijo	mi hija	ابنتي	ابني
my wife	my husband	mi esposo	mi esposa	زوجتي	زوجي
my girlfriend	my boyfriend	mi novio	mi novia	حبيبتي	حبيبي
my mother	my father	mi padre	mi madre	والدتي	والدي
my aunt	my uncle	mi tío	mi tía	عمتي	عمي
my mom	my dad	mi papá	mi mamá	امي	ابي

Table 17: Gendered noun phrases used in EECs

#### A.2 Instructions to Original Translators

Translators were recruited at universities and are all university students. All translators are at least 18 and are fluent native speakers of the languages for which they translated. Each translator received an ID number to anonymize their work.

Dear translator,

Thank you for your help with our project. Your contribution is helping us conduct one of the first multilingual and intersectional bias analysis studies for natural language processing, a subset of artificial intelligence and linguistics. Natural language processing is responsible for tasks such as auto-completion, spell-check, spam detection, and searches on sites like Google. You and your work will be acknowledged in our final report.

In the following document are the instructions for translations.

First, answer the survey questions.

For each sentence, translate the template or individual word. We provide space for the female singular, female plural, male singular and female plural. If your language does not have separate masculine and feminine forms for any of the sentences, please include the singular and plural version in the first two boxes and if your does not have separate singular and plural forms, please include the singular versions for each gendered form as appropriate. If your language has additional cases, such as neutral, please make another column and note it for us (e.g. neuter in German). For the last ten, only give translations for the sentences as they are written. For the sentences with templates, Rearrange order of templates if necessary, but signify where [p] and [eA], [eB] tags belong in each template. For example, the [p] tag denotes person, e.g. she/her, this woman, my sister; the [eA] tag denotes emotional state words, e.g. angry, happy; and the [eB] tag denotes emotional event words, e.g. annoying, funny. For the emotion vocabulary, there are four categories: anger (red), fear (green), joy (yellow) and sadness (blue). If the English words do not correspond well, feel free to write the most approximate set of words for your language in any order. Let us know if there are intricacies in spelling due to, for example, consonants and vowels (e.g. a/an in English or le l' in French).

OPTIONAL: We are also looking for popular names of large socially cleaved groups in countries where your language is spoken. For example, in English, this includes male, female, Black and white names (5 for each combination of race and gender). If you are familiar with social cleavages or popular names in those cleavages in countries where your language is spoken, please note it.

Sentence Templates:

- 1. feels [eA]
- 2. The situation makes feel [eA]
- 3. I made feel [eA]
- 4. made me feel [eA]
- found himself/herself in a/an [eB] situation
- 6. told us all about the recent [eB] events
- 7. The conversation with was [eB]
- 8. I saw in the market
- 9. I talked to yesterday
- 10. goes to the school in our neighborhood
- 11. has two children

Words: angry, annoyed, enraged, furious, irritated, annoying, displeasing, irritating, outrageous, vexing, anxious, discouraged,fearful, scared, terrified, dreadful, horrible, shocking, terrifying, threatening, ecstatic, excited, glad, happy, relieved, amazing, funny, great, hilarious, wonderful, depressed, devastated, disappointed, miserable, sad, depressing, gloomy, grim, heartbreaking, serious, she/her, this woman, this girl, my sister, my daughter, my wife, my girlfriend, my mother, my aunt, my mom, he/him, this man, this boy, my brother, my son, my husband, my boyfriend, my father, my uncle, my dad

Sentences:

- · My dad feels angry
- The situation makes her feel terrified
- I made this girl feel glad
- She made me feel miserable
- He found himself in a displeasing situation
- My boyfriend told us all about the recent dreadful events
- · The conversation with him was amazing
- I saw this boy in the market
- I talked to my mother yesterday
- This man goes to the school in our neighborhood

Survey questions
ID? (in your email)
Full name (will be printed as written, unless you prefer anonymity)
Language
Dialect
Are you a native speaker? (e.g. spoken in early childhood)
Are you a fluent speaker?
Have you ever received formal education before college in this language?
What language(s) were you formally educated in before college?

- My brother has two children
- · He feels enraged
- · The situation makes her feel anxious
- I made her feel ecstatic
- My boyfriend made me feel disappointed
- This woman found herself in a vexing situation
- She told us all about the recent wonderful events
- The conversation with my uncle was gloomy

#### A.3 Instructions to Checking Translators

Dear translator, Thank you for your help with our project. Your contribution is helping us conduct one of the first multilingual and intersectional bias analysis studies for natural language processing, a subset of artificial intelligence and linguistics. Natural language processing is responsible for tasks such as auto-completion, spell-check, spam detection, and searches on sites like Google. You and your work will be acknowledged in our final report. In the following document are the instructions for translations. First, answer the survey questions. Second, go through the sentences provided. For each sentence, indicate if the sentence is grammatically and semantically incorrect in the D column. You do not need to mark the cell if the sentence is correct. If it is incorrect, write the correct translation. If multiple consecutive sentences are incorrect in the same fashion: indicate the correct translation for the first sentence, note the error, and note the ID numbers for the sentences that are incorrect in that fashion. Ignore the lines that are blacked out. Here are some points to keep in mind: 1. Is the sentence grammatically correct? For example: does the sentence use the correct gendered language? Is the tense correct? 2. Is the meaning of the sentence the same as the English sentence listed next to it? It

is okay if it is not the exact same as how you would translate it as long as the emotional word is similar.

Informed Consent Form Benefits: Although it may not directly benefit you, this study may benefit society by improving our understanding of intersectional biases in natural language processing models across different languages. Risks: There are no known risks from participation. The broader work deals with sensitive topics in race and gender studies. Voluntary participation: You may stop participating at any time without penalty by not submitting the translations. We may end your participation or not use your work if you do not have adequate knowledge of the language. Confidentiality: No identifying information will be kept about you except for the translations you submit to us. No information will be shared about your work except an acknowledgement in the paper. Questions/concerns: You may e-mail questions to ac4443@columbia.edu. Submitting translations to António Câmara at ac4443@columbia.edu indicates that you understand the information in this consent form. You have not waived any legal rights you otherwise would have as a participant in a research study. I have read the above purpose of the study, and understand my role in participating in the research. I volunteer to take part in this research. I have had a chance to ask questions. If I have questions later, about the research, I can ask the investigator listed above. I understand that I may refuse to participate or withdraw from participation at any time. The investigator may withdraw me at his/her professional discretion. I certify that I am 18 years of age or older and freely give my consent to participate in this study.

# Monte Carlo Tree Search for Interpreting Stress in Natural Language

Kyle Swanson\*, Joy Hsu\*, Mirac Suzgun\* Department of Computer Science Stanford University {swansonk, joycj, msuzgun}@stanford.edu

#### Abstract

Natural language processing can facilitate the analysis of a person's mental state from text they have written. Previous studies have developed models that can predict whether a person is experiencing a mental health condition from social media posts with high accuracy. Yet, these models cannot explain why the person is experiencing a particular mental state. In this work, we present a new method for explaining a person's mental state from text using Monte Carlo tree search (MCTS). Our MCTS algorithm employs trained classification models to guide the search for key phrases that explain the writer's mental state in a concise, interpretable manner. Furthermore, our algorithm can find both explanations that depend on the particular context of the text (e.g., a recent breakup) and those that are context-independent. Using a dataset of Reddit posts that exhibit stress, we demonstrate the ability of our MCTS algorithm to identify interpretable explanations for a person's feeling of stress in both a contextdependent and context-independent manner.<sup>1</sup>

# 1 Introduction

Disabilities associated with mental health conditions pose a significant challenge for many people around the world (Stauder et al., 2010; De Choudhury et al., 2013; Chen et al., 2018). To help people suffering from these conditions, it is crucial to identify those who are experiencing a mental health condition and understand the underlying causes.

Natural language processing (NLP) can help by analyzing a person's mental state based on the text they have written. Previous studies (Turcan and McKeown, 2019; Demszky et al., 2020; Gjurković et al., 2020; Ansari et al., 2021) have demonstrated the ability of NLP models to process social media posts and predict stress, depression, and a range **r/Relationships:** I can't believe this. My boyfriend just cheated on me and then he bragged about it on twitter. What kind of a messed up person would do that? I'm so angry with him and I'm sure we're going to have a huge fight about this when I see him tomorrow.

Figure 1: A fictitious example of text exhibiting stress in the relationships context and two explanations for that stress. The explanation in blue is context-dependent (specific to relationships) while the explanation in red is context-independent (general to any disagreement).

of emotions. These methods, however, are not able to explain *why* the person might be feeling the way they are, even if that information is clearly contained in the text analyzed by the model.

In this work, we seek to explain the underlying causes of a person's mental state from their writing. We formulate such an explanation as a small set of phrases from the text that is sufficient to explain the person's mental state. We wish to identify two complementary types of explanations: those that are particular to the situation the person is in, which we call *context-dependent*, and those that could appear across different contexts, which we call *context-independent*. Figure 1 shows an illustrating example. Identifying both types of explanations not only enhances our understanding of the underlying sources of a person's mental state but also provides insights into how one's mental state can be affected by general and specific causes.

To this end, we develop a novel Monte Carlo tree search (MCTS) algorithm that can effectively identify explanations that are either context-dependent or context-independent by leveraging the semantic capabilities of trained NLP models. We, both quantitatively and qualitatively, demonstrate the efficacy of this approach to explain a person's mental state using a dataset of Reddit posts that exhibit stress (Turcan and McKeown, 2019).

<sup>\*</sup>Denotes equal contribution.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Code and models are available at https://github. com/swansonk14/MCTS\_Interpretability.

## 2 Related Work

Mental Health Prediction. Previous studies have tackled the task of mental health disability classification, using methods ranging from classical supervised techniques such as SVMs, logistic regression, Naive Bayes, MLPs, and decision trees to deeper models such as CNNs and GRUs (Turcan and McKeown, 2019; Gjurković et al., 2020; Ansari et al., 2021; Sampath et al., 2022). Other approaches utilize pre-trained, large language models with fine-tuning on specific mental health datasets (Ji et al., 2021; Matoševic et al., 2021; Mauriello et al., 2021), which takes advantage of models trained on significantly larger datasets to speed up training and increase accuracy. Turcan and McKeown (2019) specifically focus on the task of stress prediction in Reddit posts, and they show that large BERT-based models outperform smaller models such as CNNs and logistic regression.

**NLP Explainability.** Explainability in NLP is an emerging topic of interest as language models have become larger and more accurate at the expense of reduced interpretability. Common methods for explainability include feature importance reporting across lexical or latent features (Danilevsky et al., 2020), model-agnostic approaches that extract post-hoc explanations (Ribeiro et al., 2016), and analogy-based explanations (Croce et al., 2019). Prior works have also focused on rationale identification (Lei et al., 2016) and text matching rationalization (Swanson et al., 2020), where models are designed to select small, interpretable segments of text when making predictions. Attention has also been used as a form of interpretability, but attention weights do not always correlate with impact on the model's prediction, potentially limiting their usefulness (Serrano and Smith, 2019). In this work, we propose to use Monte Carlo tree search (Silver et al., 2016; Chaudhry and Lee, 2018; Jin et al., 2020; Albrecht et al., 2021; Yuan et al., 2021) as a post-hoc explainability method that can be applied to any model to flexibly identify multiple types of explanations for a model's predictions.

#### **3** The DREADDIT Dataset

The DREADDIT dataset (Turcan and McKeown, 2019) contains 3,553 Reddit posts that have human-annotated binary stress labels denoting whether a given text contains evidence of stress. Each post belongs to one of ten subreddits (e.g., "r/Relationships"), which we consider to be the con-

text of the post. The posts are split into 2,838 train posts and 715 test posts. Figures 8 and 9 (see Appendix) show the distributions of the stress labels and subreddit categories for the train and test sets.

### 4 Method

We assume that we have access to a training corpus  $\mathcal{D}_{\text{train}}$  and a test corpus  $\mathcal{D}_{\text{test}}$  to train and evaluate our models, respectively. The training corpus,  $\mathcal{D}_{\text{train}} = (\mathbf{t}_i, \mathbf{s}_i, \mathbf{c}_i)_{i \in [1,n]}$ , is a set of tuples, where each tuple contains a text  $\mathbf{t}_i = \{t_i^1, \cdots, t_i^{l_i}\} \in \mathbf{T}$  consisting of  $l_i$  tokens, its corresponding stress indicator  $\mathbf{s}_i \in \mathbf{S} = \{0, 1\}$  denoting whether  $\mathbf{t}_i$  contains evidence of stress, and a context label  $\mathbf{c}_i \in \mathbf{C}$  indicating the subreddit category the text belongs to. Similarly, we assume  $\mathcal{D}_{\text{test}} = (\mathbf{t}_i, \mathbf{s}_i, \mathbf{c}_i)_{i \in [1,m]}$ .

### 4.1 Classification of Stress and Context

We consider two types of classification tasks, namely binary stress classification and multi-class context (subreddit) classification. We refer to a model trained for the former task as a stress classifier, which can be thought of as a function mapping a piece of text  $\mathbf{t} \in \mathbf{T}$  to a likelihood  $p \in [0, 1]$ . We refer to a model trained for the latter as a context classifier, which can be thought of as a function a function mapping a piece of text  $\mathbf{t} \in \mathbf{T}$  to a probability simplex  $\Delta^{|\mathbf{C}|-1}$ .

We build simple stress and context prediction models using Bernoulli and Multinomial Naive Bayes, Support Vector Machine (Platt, 1999), and Multilayer Perceptron (Hinton, 1989). All of these models use vectors of word counts<sup>2</sup> as inputs. We also build large BERT-based models by adding a classification layer on top of the MentalRoBERTa model of Ji et al. (2021) and then fine-tuning the model on the training set.

#### 4.2 Definition of an Explanation

An interpretable explanation for a person's stress should consist of a small set of phrases from the full text that captures the core reasons behind the stress discussed within the text.

Formally, for a given piece of text in the corpus  $\mathbf{t} \in \mathbf{T}$  that is labeled as stressed (s = 1), we define an *explanation* as a set of phrases  $\mathbf{E} = {\mathbf{p}_1, \mathbf{p}_2, \dots, \mathbf{p}_k}$  where each phrase  $\mathbf{p}_j$  is a set of  $n_j$  contiguous tokens in the text, that is,  $\mathbf{p}_j = {t_l, t_{l+1}, \dots, t_{l+n_j-1}}$  for some  $l \in$ 

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$ We use CountVectorizer from scikit-learn fit on the training set with all default parameters.



Figure 2: A portion of the tree of explanations searched by MCTS for an example text. Red indicates the text that is currently included in the explanation. The root of the tree is an explanation with a single phrase containing all the text. Each node in the tree can be expanded by removing the first or last token of a phrase or by removing a token in the middle of the phrase (constrained by certain MCTS parameters). Once a minimum number of tokens has been reached, the resulting explanation is given a reward based on the predictions of the stress and context models.

 $\{1, 2, ..., |\mathbf{t}| - n_j + 1\}$ . Furthermore, the phrases must be non-overlapping, which means that  $\mathbf{p}_j \cap$  $\mathbf{p}_{j'} = \emptyset \quad \forall j \neq j' \in \{1, 2, ..., |\mathbf{E}|\}$ . In order to ensure interpretability, the explanation  $\mathbf{E}$  must satisfy three conditions.

a. Phrase count:  $|\mathbf{E}| \leq N_{phrases}$ , meaning the explanation must contain at most  $N_{phrases}$  phrases. Too many phrases would impede interpretability.

**b.** Phrase length:  $|\mathbf{p}_j| \geq N_{length} \quad \forall j \in \{1, 2, \dots, |\mathbf{E}|\}$ , meaning each phrase must have at least  $N_{length}$  tokens, preventing phrases that are too short to carry any meaning.

c. Proportion of tokens:  $r_{min} \leq r(\mathbf{E}) \leq r_{max}$ where  $r(\mathbf{E}) = \frac{1}{|\mathbf{t}|} \sum_{j=1}^{|\mathbf{E}|} |\mathbf{p_j}|$  is the proportion of tokens in the text that are included in the explanation and  $0 \leq r_{min} \leq r_{max} \leq 1$  are lower and upper bounds on the proportion of tokens in the explanation. This constrains the overall verbosity of the explanation to a reasonable range.

### 4.3 Context-Dependent and Independent Explanations of Stress

We are interested in identifying two specific types of explanations for stress: one that depends on the context of the text and one that is independent of that context. We will refer to the context-dependent explanation as  $\mathbf{E}_{dep}$  and to the context-independent explanation as  $\mathbf{E}_{ind}$ .

In both cases, since the explanation must explain the stress in the text, the stress must be evident from just the text contained in the phrases of the explanation. We can verify this by using our stress classification model. Specifically, we want an explanation such that the average stress prediction across the phrases of the explanation is close to 1. Hence for both  $\mathbf{E}_{dep}$  and  $\mathbf{E}_{ind}$ , we want

$$S(\mathbf{E}) = \frac{1}{|\mathbf{E}|} \sum_{j=1}^{|\mathbf{E}|} \operatorname{stress}(\mathbf{p}_j) \approx 1$$

where  $S(\mathbf{E})$  is the average stress across the phrases of the explanation.

However, the phrases of the context-dependent explanation  $\mathbf{E}_{dep}$  should indicate the context of the text while the context-independent explanation  $\mathbf{E}_{ind}$  should not. We enforce this by examining the entropy of the predictions of our context classification model. If the phrases of an explanation have low entropy, then the model is relatively sure of the context; hence, that explanation is contextdependent. If the entropy is high, then the model is unsure of the context and the explanation is contextindependent. Formally, if we define

$$H(\mathbf{E}) = \frac{1}{|\mathbf{E}|} \sum_{j=1}^{|\mathbf{E}|} \operatorname{entropy}(\operatorname{context}(\mathbf{p}_j))$$

as the average Shannon entropy of the context predictions across phrases, we want  $H(\mathbf{E_{dep}}) \approx 0$ and  $H(\mathbf{E_{ind}}) \approx e_{\max}$  where  $e_{\max}$  is the maximum entropy (viz., entropy of a uniform distribution over contexts).

### 4.4 Finding Explanations with MCTS

We use the MCTS framework established in Silver et al. (2016), but we modify the search tree and the reward function to suite our purposes (see Figure 2). Each node in the tree represents an explanation  $\mathbf{E} = {\mathbf{p}_1, \mathbf{p}_2, \dots, \mathbf{p}_k}$ . The root of the tree represents the whole text piece as a single phrase, i.e.,  $\mathbf{E}_{root} = {\mathbf{t}}$ . When the search is at a given

node in the tree, there are two options for expanding the next node: (i) remove the first or last token in any phrase, as long as the shortened phrase still contains at least  $N_{length}$  tokens, or (ii) remove a token in the middle of a phrase, thus breaking it into two phrases, as long as both resulting phrases have at least  $N_{length}$  tokens and the total number of phrases does not exceed  $N_{phrases}$ .

The search continues to expand nodes in the tree until either the current node cannot be expanded using either of the two rules above or the explanation at the current node contains too few tokens, i.e.,  $r(\mathbf{E}) \leq r_{min}$ . This node serves as a leaf node and is given a reward equal to

$$R(\mathbf{E}) = S(\mathbf{E}) + I \cdot \alpha \cdot H(\mathbf{E})$$

for some  $I \in \{-1, +1\}$  and  $\alpha \ge 0$ . We use I = +1 to select for high entropy (context-independent) explanations and I = -1 to select for low entropy (context-dependent) explanations. This reward is propagated back to all the nodes on the path from the root to this leaf node according to the update rules from Silver et al. (2016). After the search is complete, the best explanation  $\hat{\mathbf{E}}$  is selected as

$$\hat{\mathbf{E}} = \underset{\mathbf{E}}{\operatorname{argmax}} R(\mathbf{E}) \ \text{ s.t. } r(\mathbf{E}) \leq r_{max},$$

which means  $\hat{\mathbf{E}}$  is the explanation in the search tree that maximizes the reward while satisfying the condition on the maximum proportion of tokens. The other interpretability conditions are guaranteed by the rules of the search tree expansion.

## **5** Experiments

All of our experiments were run on the DREADDIT dataset. We report results of our stress and context classification models and share findings of our MCTS explanation algorithm.

#### 5.1 Classification

As Table 1 illustrates, basic stress classification models, such as Naive Bayes classifiers, SVMs, and MLPs, performed reasonably on the test set of DREADDIT. The MentalRoBERTa<sup>FT</sup> model for stress fine-tuned on the training set of DREADDIT for five epochs, however, was able to outperform all the other models, achieving an accuracy score of 82% and demonstrating the efficacy of the pre-training on mental health data<sup>3</sup>. Our results on the

Model	Precision	Recall	F-1	Accuracy
Bernoulli NB	0.69	0.84	0.75	0.72
Multinomial NB	0.68	0.87	0.76	0.72
SVM	0.71	0.77	0.74	0.72
MLP	0.71	0.74	0.73	0.71
MentalRoBERTa <sup>FT</sup>	0.78	0.90	0.84	0.82

Table 1: Performances of stress classifiers on the test set of DREADDIT. While non-neural classifiers could not surpass 72% accuracy, the MentalRoBERTa<sup>FT</sup> model fine-tuned on the DREADDIT train set yielded 82% accuracy. Here, the superscript <sup>FT</sup> denotes that the model was fine-tuned.

Model	Precision	Recall	F-1	Accuracy
Bernoulli NB	0.81	0.75	0.76	0.80
Multinomial NB	0.77	0.75	0.75	0.79
SVM	0.76	0.72	0.74	0.76
MLP	0.78	0.78	0.78	0.79
MentalRoBERTa <sup>FT</sup>	0.85	0.86	0.86	0.87

Table 2: Performances of context classifiers. We restricted our focus to three subreddits: "anxiety," "assistance," "relationships." The fine-tuned MentalRoBERTa<sup>FT</sup> model yielded the best results with 87% accuracy.

stress classification task are consistent with those of Turcan and McKeown (2019). Table 2 reports the performance of various models on the multiclass subreddit category classification. Here, we limited our attention to three categories, namely "anxiety," "assistance," and "relationships." The Reddit posts in these categories embody various distinct everyday, financial, and interpersonal stress factors, but at the same time, they seem to have common (context-independent) stress elements. In this context classification task, all models were able to go beyond the 75% accuracy level, but MentalRoBERTa<sup>FT</sup> yielded the highest accuracy.

#### 5.2 Explainability

We demonstrate our MCTS approach to explainability using the same three categories as above. We use stress and context classification models implemented with Multinomial NB, MLP, and MentalRoBERTa<sup>FT</sup>. For each of these models, we apply MCTS to identify explanations for each of the 166 test texts that is labeled as stressed and belongs to one of our three categories. We use the interpretability conditions  $N_{phrases} = 3$ ,  $N_{length} = 5$ ,  $r_{min} = 0.2$ , and  $r_{max} = 0.5$  for all experiments<sup>4</sup>, and we use  $\alpha = 10$  except where otherwise noted.

We quantitatively evaluate the explanations pro-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>In contrast, the RoBERTa model trained from scratch achieved an accuracy score of almost 80%.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>These choices are arbitrary and could easily be changed.

		Original	Dependent	Independent
MNB	S E	$\begin{array}{c} 0.850 \pm 0.317 \\ 0.047 \pm 0.140 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.706 \pm 0.190 \\ 0.274 \pm 0.181 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.617 \pm 0.124 \\ 0.942 \pm 0.086 \end{array}$
MLP	S E	$\begin{array}{c} 0.725 \pm 0.383 \\ 0.214 \pm 0.274 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.512 \pm 0.194 \\ 0.766 \pm 0.163 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.546 \pm 0.145 \\ 1.067 \pm 0.022 \end{array}$
MRB	S E	$\begin{array}{c} 0.878 \pm 0.324 \\ 0.042 \pm 0.124 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.830 \pm 0.220 \\ 0.019 \pm 0.018 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.430 \pm 0.273 \\ 0.640 \pm 0.171 \end{array}$

Table 3: Stress (S) and context entropy (E) for original text, context-dependent explanation, and contextindependent explanation for the Multinomial Naive Bayes (MNB), Multilayer Perceptron (MLP), and Mental RoBERTa (MRB) models. Results were generated through MCTS with stress and context entropy averaged over the test set. The Wilcoxon signed rank test (Wilcoxon, 1945) between dependent and independent entropy is p < 0.0001 for all models, indicating a very significant difference as desired.



Figure 3: Histogram of stress scores for the original text and for the context-dependent and context-independent explanations extracted by our MCTS algorithm using an MLP model. Although stress is often higher in the original text than in the extracted explanations, the explanations still maintain a meaningful amount of stress.

duced by MCTS. In Table 3, we show the average stress and context entropy scores of the original text and of the context-dependent and contextindependent explanations. Our method is able to maintain a reasonably high and consistent level of stress across the explanations while modulating the context entropy appropriately for the two different types of explanations. This indicates that our approach can identify both context-dependent and context-independent sources of stress.

Figures 3 and 4 further illustrate this result for the MLP model by showing the full distribution of stress and context entropy scores across the test examples. Figures 5, 6, and 7 in the Appendix show the stress and context entropy distributions for all three models and for different values of  $\alpha$ . Lower  $\alpha$  increases stress but decreases the differ-



Figure 4: Histogram of context entropy for the original text and for the context-dependent and contextindependent explanations extracted by our MCTS algorithm using an MLP model. The context-independent explanations clearly have much higher context entropy than the context-dependent explanations as desired.

ence in entropy between the two types of explanations while higher  $\alpha$  decreases stress but increases the difference in entropy. This shows the flexibility of MCTS to select different types of explanations without retraining the classifiers.

Furthermore, we qualitatively demonstrate our approach. Tables 4, 5, and 6 in the Appendix show examples from each of the three subreddits that illustrate how our method captures different underlying sources of stress in an interpretable manner.

## 6 Conclusion

We propose a novel interpretability method for explaining stress in context-dependent and independent manners using Monte Carlo tree search. We demonstrate the effectiveness of our method by extracting both types of explanations from Reddit posts that exhibit stress. Although this work focuses on stress, our MCTS-based explanation framework is extremely flexible and can be applied to a wide variety of NLP models and prediction problems simply by specifying the appropriate reward function and interpretability conditions for the search tree. As in our work, the reward function can include multiple objectives with different weights, making it possible to extract a variety of explanations for added interpretability. Future work should further explore the range of explanations enabled by our framework. We hope that our explanation framework can improve understanding of the root causes of mental health conditions as well as provide interpretability for a variety of NLP tasks.

#### Acknowledgements

We would like to thank Margalit Glasgow, Masha Karelina, Megha Patel, Biscuit Russell, and Tayfun M. H. Mezarci for helpful comments and discussions. Swanson and Hsu gratefully acknowledge the support of the Knight-Hennessy Scholarship, Hsu gratefully acknowledges the support of the NSF GRFP, and Suzgun gratefully acknowledges the support of a Johann, Thales, Williams & Co. Graduate Fellowship. The authors also thank Dan Jurafsky for his support. The experiments presented in this paper were run on the Stanford NLP Cluster. Any opinions, findings, and conclusions expressed in this material are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of Stanford University. All errors remain our own.

### References

- Stefano V Albrecht, Cillian Brewitt, John Wilhelm, Balint Gyevnar, Francisco Eiras, Mihai Dobre, and Subramanian Ramamoorthy. 2021. Interpretable goal-based prediction and planning for autonomous driving. In 2021 IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation (ICRA), pages 1043–1049. IEEE.
- Gunjan Ansari, Muskan Garg, and Chandni Saxena. 2021. Data augmentation for mental health classification on social media. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2112.10064*.
- Muhammad Umar Chaudhry and Jee-Hyong Lee. 2018. Feature selection for high dimensional data using monte carlo tree search. *IEEE Access*, 6:76036– 76048.
- Xuetong Chen, Martin D Sykora, Thomas W Jackson, and Suzanne Elayan. 2018. What about mood swings: Identifying depression on twitter with temporal measures of emotions. In *Companion Proceedings of the The Web Conference 2018*, pages 1653–1660.
- Danilo Croce, Daniele Rossini, and Roberto Basili. 2019. Auditing deep learning processes through kernel-based explanatory models. In *Proceedings* of the 2019 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing and the 9th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (EMNLP-IJCNLP), pages 4037–4046.
- Marina Danilevsky, Kun Qian, Ranit Aharonov, Yannis Katsis, Ban Kawas, and Prithviraj Sen. 2020. A survey of the state of explainable ai for natural language processing. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2010.00711*.
- Munmun De Choudhury, Scott Counts, and Eric Horvitz. 2013. Social media as a measurement tool of depression in populations. In *Proceedings of the 5th annual ACM web science conference*, pages 47–56.

- Dorottya Demszky, Dana Movshovitz-Attias, Jeongwoo Ko, Alan Cowen, Gaurav Nemade, and Sujith Ravi. 2020. Goemotions: A dataset of fine-grained emotions. arXiv preprint arXiv:2005.00547.
- Matej Gjurković, Mladen Karan, Iva Vukojević, Mihaela Bošnjak, and Jan Šnajder. 2020. Pandora talks: Personality and demographics on reddit. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2004.04460*.
- Geoffrey Hinton. 1989. Connectionist learning procedures. Artificial intelligence, 40:185–234.
- Shaoxiong Ji, Tianlin Zhang, Luna Ansari, Jie Fu, Prayag Tiwari, and Erik Cambria. 2021. Mentalbert: Publicly available pretrained language models for mental healthcare. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2110.15621*.
- Wengong Jin, Regina Barzilay, and Tommi Jaakkola. 2020. Multi-objective molecule generation using interpretable substructures. In *International conference on machine learning*, pages 4849–4859. PMLR.
- Tao Lei, Regina Barzilay, and Tommi Jaakkola. 2016. Rationalizing neural predictions. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1606.04155*.
- Yinhan Liu, Myle Ott, Naman Goyal, Jingfei Du, Mandar Joshi, Danqi Chen, Omer Levy, Mike Lewis, Luke Zettlemoyer, and Veselin Stoyanov. 2019. Roberta: A robustly optimized bert pretraining approach. arXiv preprint arXiv:1907.11692.
- Lovro Matoševic, Filip Sosa, and Marko Gašparac. 2021. Stressformers: Transfering knowledge for stress analysis in social media. *Text Analysis and Retrieval 2021 Course Project Reports*, page 56.
- Matthew Louis Mauriello, Thierry Lincoln, Grace Hon, Dorien Simon, Dan Jurafsky, and Pablo Paredes. 2021. Sad: A stress annotated dataset for recognizing everyday stressors in sms-like conversational systems. In *Extended Abstracts of the 2021 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, pages 1–7.
- John C. Platt. 1999. Probabilistic outputs for support vector machines and comparisons to regularized likelihood methods. In ADVANCES IN LARGE MARGIN CLASSIFIERS, pages 61–74. MIT Press.
- Marco Tulio Ribeiro, Sameer Singh, and Carlos Guestrin. 2016. Model-agnostic interpretability of machine learning. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1606.05386*.
- Kayalvizhi Sampath, Thenmozhi Durairaj, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, and Jerin Mahibha C. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Detecting Signs of Depression from Social Media. In Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Sofia Serrano and Noah A Smith. 2019. Is attention interpretable? *arXiv preprint arXiv:1906.03731*.

- David Silver, Aja Huang, Chris J Maddison, Arthur Guez, Laurent Sifre, George Van Den Driessche, Julian Schrittwieser, Ioannis Antonoglou, Veda Panneershelvam, Marc Lanctot, et al. 2016. Mastering the game of go with deep neural networks and tree search. *nature*, 529(7587):484–489.
- Adrienne Stauder, Barna Konkolÿ Thege, Mónika Erika Kovács, Piroska Balog, Virginia P Williams, and Redford B Williams. 2010. Worldwide stress: different problems, similar solutions? cultural adaptation and evaluation of a standardized stress management program in hungary. *International Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 17(1):25–32.
- Kyle Swanson, Lili Yu, and Tao Lei. 2020. Rationalizing text matching: Learning sparse alignments via optimal transport. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2005.13111*.
- Elsbeth Turcan and Kathleen McKeown. 2019. Dreaddit: A reddit dataset for stress analysis in social media. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1911.00133*.
- Frank Wilcoxon. 1945. Individual comparisons by ranking methods. *Biometrics Bulletin*, 1:80–83.
- Hao Yuan, Haiyang Yu, Jie Wang, Kang Li, and Shuiwang Ji. 2021. On explainability of graph neural networks via subgraph explorations. In *Proceedings* of the 38th International Conference on Machine Learning, volume 139 of Proceedings of Machine Learning Research, pages 12241–12252. PMLR.

# **A** Appendix

#### A.1 Additional Stress and Context Entropy Results

Figures 5, 6, and 7 show the stress and context entropy distributions of the original text and the contextdependent and context-independent explanations across the 166 stressed test examples in the "anxiety," "assistance," and "relationships" subreddits for the Multinomial Naive Bayes, Multilayer Perceptron, and MentalRoBERTa<sup>FT</sup> models, respectively. For the Multinomial Naive Bayes and Multilayer Perceptron models, we experimented with  $\alpha \in \{0.1, 1, 10\}$ , with higher  $\alpha$  weighting context entropy more than stress in the MCTS reward function. For the MentalRoBERTa<sup>FT</sup> model, we used  $\alpha = 10$ .



Figure 5: Histograms of stress and context entropy scores from the Multinomial Naive Bayes model for the original text and for the context-dependent and context-independent explanations extracted by our MCTS algorithm. The left column shows stress scores while the right column shows context entropy scores. From top to bottom, the rows show  $\alpha = 0.1$ ,  $\alpha = 1$ , and  $\alpha = 10$ , where  $\alpha$  controls the balance between stress and context entropy in the MCTS reward function. Higher  $\alpha$  places less emphasis on stress and more emphasis on context entropy, resulting in a greater difference between context-dependent and context-independent entropy scores at the cost of lower stress.



Figure 6: Histograms of stress and context entropy scores from the Multilayer Perceptron model for the original text and for the context-dependent and context-independent explanations extracted by our MCTS algorithm. The left column shows stress scores while the right column shows context entropy scores. From top to bottom, the rows show  $\alpha = 0.1$ ,  $\alpha = 1$ , and  $\alpha = 10$ , where  $\alpha$  controls the balance between stress and context entropy in the MCTS reward function. Higher  $\alpha$  places less emphasis on stress and more emphasis on context entropy, resulting in a greater difference between context-dependent and context-independent entropy scores at the cost of lower stress.



Figure 7: Histograms of stress and context entropy scores from the MentalRoBERTa<sup>FT</sup> model for the original text and for the context-dependent and context-independent explanations extracted by our MCTS algorithm. The left plot shows stress scores while the right plot shows context entropy scores, both for  $\alpha = 10$ . Interestingly, the distributions are somewhat different from those of the Multinomial Naive Bayes (Figure 5) and Multilayer Perceptron (Figure 6) models. MentalRoBERTa<sup>FT</sup> is capable of selecting different context-dependent and context-independent explanations as measured by entropy, but the model generally assigns more stress to context-dependent explanations than context-independent explanations, perhaps hinting at a meaningful difference between the types of explanations in terms of stress content.

## A.2 Data Distribution

In Figure 8 and Figure 9, we show the data distribution of our stress and context (subreddit) labels.



Figure 8: Training and test set stress label distribution.



Figure 9: Training and test set subreddit label distribution.

# A.3 MentalRoBERTa

MentalRoBERTa is a RoBERTa-based language model (Liu et al., 2019) that was pre-trained on a corpus of 13.7M sentences from Reddit that were posted on mental health-related subreddits, including, but not limited to, "r/Anxiety" and "r/Depression". When training classifiers for stress and context classification tasks, we used the pre-trained MentalRoBERTa model on Hugging Face's model repository, available at https://huggingface.co/mental, and fine-tuned the model on the DREADDIT dataset, using either the stress or context labels, for five epochs with a learning rate of 1e-4.

# A.4 Qualitative Examples

In Tables 4, 5, and 6, we show qualitative examples of our MCTS method for explainability, with examples from each of three subreddits—"anxiety," "assistance," and "relationships"—from both the MLP and MentalRoBERTa<sup>FT</sup> models.

Model	Category	Text (subreddit = "r/Anxiety")	Stress	Entropy
	Original	Lately I've just been having that terrible feeling in the pit of my stomach and also a feeling of nausea like I constantly need to throw up. I'm sleeping normal but still feeling so tired and drained and can't really focus at work and because of that I feel like my work performance is slipping up. I am constantly afraid that I'm going to lose my job and that my manager hates me. This has been happening so much more frequently. About a week ago my doc gave me prozac (once a day) and xanax (only as needed) prescriptions and I feel like it's helped with the bigger attacks and some dark thoughts but now its almost like just a little constant anxiety all the time and it sucks.	1.000	0.000
MLP	Dependent	Lately I've just been having that terrible feeling in the pit of my stomach and also a feeling of nausea like I constantly need to throw up. I'm sleeping normal but still feeling so tired and drained and can't really focus at work and because of that I feel like my work performance is slipping up. I am constantly afraid that I'm going to lose my job and that my manager hates me. This has been happening so much more frequently. About a week ago my doc gave me prozac (once a day) and xanax (only as needed) prescriptions and I feel like it's helped with the bigger attacks and some dark thoughts but now its almost like just a little constant anxiety all the time and it sucks.	0.933	0.300
	Independent	Lately <b>I've just been having that</b> terrible feeling in the pit of my <b>stomach and also a feeling</b> of nausea like I constantly need to throw up. I'm sleeping normal but still feeling so tired and drained and can't really focus at work and because of that I feel like my work performance is slipping up. I am constantly afraid that I'm going to lose my job and that my manager hates me. This has been happening so much more frequently. About a week ago my doc gave me prozac (once a day) and xanax (only as needed) prescriptions and I feel like it's helped with the bigger attacks and some dark thoughts but now its almost like just a little constant anxiety all the time and it sucks.	0.489	1.045
Mental	Dependent	Lately I've just been having that terrible feeling in the pit of my stomach and also a feeling of nausea like I constantly need to throw up. I'm sleeping normal but still feeling so tired and drained and can't really focus at work and because of that I feel like my work performance is slipping up. I am constantly afraid that I'm going to lose my job and that my manager hates me. This has been happening so much more frequently. About a week ago my doc gave me prozac (once a day) and xanax (only as needed) prescriptions and I feel like it's helped with the bigger attacks and some dark thoughts but now its almost like just a little constant anxiety all the time and it sucks.	0.998	0.006
RoBERTa <sup>FT</sup>	Independent	Lately I've just been having that terrible feeling in the pit of <b>my stomach and also</b> a feeling of nausea like I constantly need to throw up. I'm sleeping normal but still feeling so tired and drained and <b>can't really focus at work and because of that I feel like my work</b> <b>performance is slipping up. I am constantly afraid that I'm going to lose my job and that</b> <b>my manager hates me. This</b> has been happening so much more frequently. About a week ago my doc gave me prozac (once a day) and xanax (only as needed) prescriptions and I feel like it's <b>helped with the bigger attacks and</b> some dark thoughts but now its almost like just a little constant anxiety all the time and it sucks.	0.670	0.627

Table 4: Qualitative examples from our MCTS explainability method for a post in the "r/Anxiety" subreddit. We show the full original text along with the context-dependent and context-independent explanations selected by MCTS using both the MLP and MentalRoBERTa<sup>FT</sup> classifiers.

Model	Category	Text (subreddit = "r/Assistance")	Stress	Entropy
	Original	I can't ask my family because they don't have the kind of money to help me. If anyone can help me even just a little bit, I would be ridiculously grateful. I just can't even express what this has done to us. Yes, the bills are paid, but now we're so anxious that we barely leave the house due to panic attacks. I've done things like ubereats but \$15 here and there isn't even making a dent in what I need.	0.995	0.616
MLP	DependentI can't ask my family because they don't have the kind of money to help me. If anyone can help me even just a little bit, I would be ridiculously grateful. I just can't even express what this has done to us. Yes, the bills are paid, but now we're so anxious that we barely leave the house due to panic attacks. I've done things like ubereats but \$15 here and there isn't even making a dent in what I need			
	Independent	I can't ask my family because <b>they don't have the kind</b> of money to help me. If anyone can help <b>me even just a little</b> bit, I would be ridiculously grateful. I just can't even express what this has done to us. Yes, the bills are paid, but now <b>we're so anxious that we barely leave the house due to</b> panic attacks. I've done things like ubereats but \$15 here and there isn't even making a dent in what I need.	0.584	1.064
Mental	Dependent	I can't ask my family because they don't have the kind of money to help me. If anyone can help me even just a little bit, I would be ridiculously grateful. I just can't even express what this has done to us. Yes, the bills are paid, but now we're so anxious that we barely leave the house due to panic attacks. I've done things like ubereats but \$15 here and there isn't even making a dent in what I need.	0.999	0.005
RoBERTa <sup>FT</sup>		I can't ask my family because they don't have the kind of money to help me. If anyone can help me even just a little bit, I would be ridiculously grateful. I just can't even express what this has done to us. Yes, the bills are paid, but now we're so anxious that we barely leave the house due to panic attacks. I've done things like ubereats but \$15 here and there isn't even making a dent in what I need.	0.478	0.518

Table 5: Qualitative examples from our MCTS explainability method for a post in the "r/Assistance" subreddit. We show the full original text along with the context-dependent and context-independent explanations selected by MCTS using both the MLP and MentalRoBERTa<sup>FT</sup> classifiers.

Model	Category	Text (subreddit = "r/Relationships")	Stress	Entropy
	Original	We seem to be talking and accidentally being together more often in school, making what I think are feelings towards her only stronger. I can't bring myself to bring this up with her because I'm scared that we will have a repeat of February again. I love her so much but I feel that if I have these feelings about other girls am I really devoted to her? This is in no way her fault, she has done nothing to deserve my questioning of my decision, this is my problem and mine alone. I am reluctant to bring this up with her because I'm worried that she might break up with me because I do truly still love her I'm just wondering if this other girl is a passing thought more focused than earlier and something I can overcome.	0.999	0.000
MLP	Dependent	We seem to be talking and accidentally being together more often in school, making what I think are feelings towards her only stronger. I can't bring myself to bring this up with her because I'm scared that we will have a repeat of February again. I love her so much but I feel that if I have these feelings about other girls am I really devoted to her? This is in no way her fault, she has done nothing to deserve my questioning of my decision, this is my problem and mine alone. I am reluctant to bring this up with her because I'm worried that she might break up with me because I do truly still love her I'm just wondering if this other girl is a passing thought more focused than earlier and something I can overcome.	0.734	0.437
	Independent	We seem to be talking and accidentally being together more often in school, making what I think are feelings towards her only stronger. I can't bring myself to bring this up with her because I'm scared that we will have a repeat of February again. I love her so much but I feel that if I have these feelings about other girls am I really devoted to her? This is in no way her fault, she has done nothing to deserve my questioning of my decision, this is my problem and mine alone. I am reluctant to bring this up with her because I'm worried that she might break up with me because I do truly still love her I'm just wondering if this other girl is a passing thought more focused than earlier and something I can overcome.	0.510	1.043
Mental	Dependent	We seem to be talking and accidentally being together more often in school, making what I think are feelings towards her only stronger. I can't bring myself to bring this up with her because I'm scared that we will have a repeat of February again. I love her so much but I feel that if I have these feelings about other girls am I really devoted to her? This is in no way her fault, she has done nothing to deserve my questioning of my decision, this is my problem and mine alone. I am reluctant to bring this up with her because I'm worried that she might break up with me because I do truly still love her I'm just wondering if this other girl is a passing thought more focused than earlier and something I can overcome.	0.998	0.030
RoBERTa <sup>FT</sup>	Independent	We seem to be talking and accidentally being together more often in school, making what I think are feelings towards her only stronger. I can't bring myself to bring this up with her because I'm scared that we will have a repeat of February again. I love her so much but I feel that if I have these feelings about other girls am I really devoted to her? This is in no way her fault, she has done nothing to deserve my questioning of my decision, this is my problem and mine alone. I am reluctant to bring this up with her because I'm worried that she might break up with me because I do truly still love her I'm just wondering if this other girl is a passing thought more focused than earlier and something I can overcome.	0.712	0.444

Table 6: Qualitative examples from our MCTS explainability method for a post in the "r/Relationships" subreddit. We show the full original text along with the context-dependent and context-independent explanations selected by MCTS using both the MLP and MentalRoBERTa<sup>FT</sup> classifiers.

# IIITSurat@LT-EDI-ACL2022: Hope Speech Detection using Machine Learning

Pradeep Kumar Roy<sup>1</sup>, Snehaan Bhawal<sup>2</sup>, Abhinav Kumar<sup>3</sup>, and Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi<sup>4</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Indian Institute of Information Technology Surat, Gujarat, India

<sup>2</sup>Kalinga Institute of Industrial Technology, Bhubaneswar, Odisha, India

<sup>3</sup>Siksha 'O' Anusandhan, Deemed to be University, Bhubanewar, Odisha, India

<sup>4</sup>Insight SFI Research Centre for Data Analytics, National University of Ireland Galway, Ireland

(pkroynitp, mailtosnehaan, abhinavanand05)@gmail.com,

bharathi.raja@insight-centre.org

### Abstract

This paper addresses the issue of Hope Speech detection using machine learning techniques. Designing a robust model that helps in predicting the target class with higher accuracy is a challenging task in machine learning, especially when the distribution of the class labels is highly imbalanced. This study uses and compares the experimental outcomes of the different oversampling techniques. Many models are implemented to classify the comments into Hope and Non-Hope speech, and it found that machine learning algorithms perform better than deep learning models. The English language dataset used in this research was developed by collecting YouTube comments and is part of the task "ACL-2022:Hope Speech Detection for Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion". The proposed model achieved a weighted F1score of 0.55 on the test dataset and secured the first rank among the participated teams.

# 1 Introduction

Social networking platforms such as Instagram, Facebook, LinkedIn, and YouTube have become the default place for worldwide users to spend time (Chakravarthi et al., 2021, 2020; Priyadharshini et al., 2020). These social platforms are not only used to share success but also used to ask for help during emergency (Roy et al., 2021). As per the report<sup>1</sup>, on average, six hours in a week, every Indian uses the social networking platform. Among them, teenagers and some professionals are more active to share their life events.

People have two images: one for the real world where they live and another for the virtual world, like the images on social platforms where people are connected to their close friends and communicate with strangers in the virtual environment (Saumya and Mishra, 2021). Language is a primary requirement for communication. Languages like Hindi, English, Japanese, Gujarati, Marathi, Tamil, and others are used to express success, life events like job promotion, being selected as the best team member, etc (Sampath et al., 2022; Ravikiran et al., 2022; Chakravarthi et al., 2022b; Bharathi et al., 2022; Priyadharshini et al., 2022). Tamil is one of the world's longest-surviving classical languages. Tamil is a member of the southern branch of the Dravidian languages, a group of about 26 languages indigenous to the Indian subcontinent. It is also classed as a member of the Tamil language family, which contains the languages of around 35 ethno-linguistic groups, including the Irula and Yerukula languages (Sakuntharaj and Mahesan, 2021, 2017, 2016; Thavareesan and Mahesan, 2019, 2020a,b, 2021). The earliest Old Tamil documents are small inscriptions in Adichanallur dating from 905 BC to 696 BC. Tamil has the oldest ancient non-Sanskritic Indian literature of any Indian language (Anita and Subalalitha, 2019b,a; Subalalitha and Poovammal, 2018; Subalalitha, 2019; Srinivasan and Subalalitha, 2019; Narasimhan et al., 2018).

Everyone needs feelings like happiness, sadness, anger, and the motivation for failure in their hard time (Ghanghor et al., 2021b; Yasaswini et al., 2021). Among all, the comments having the context of "well-being" are termed as "hope speech". More specifically, Hope speech reflects the belief that one can discover and become motivated to use pathways to achieve one's desired goals (Chang, 1998; Youssef and Luthans, 2007; Cover, 2013; Snyder et al., 1991). The other category of comments can be abuse, demotivate, neutral, race, or sexually oriented and similar ones which are termed as "Non-Hope speech". Such comments do not live long in the physical world where people speak something today that might not be remembered after a few days or months, even the reachable to the limited region. However, if the same is communicated via a social platform, it will re-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>https://www.statista.com/statistics/1241323/

main active and affect the victim for a long-time (Saumya and Mishra, 2021).

The social platform is polluted with hateful content (Roy et al., 2020) and is a challenging task to filter. Moreover, finding the hopeful message becomes another challenging task because of their low appearance. People who are in trouble are expecting a solution for their issues. For example, if a person becomes a victim of cybercrime like borrowing money from a bank account. Then they will reach out to the concerned authority hoping that their money will be rolled back into the account. If people face issues with the company rules and regulations, they ask for opinions via social posts hoping that someone will suggest the right solution to get rid of it.

These social platforms receive huge content from worldwide users from different genres like entertainment, promotion, publicity, achievement, political news, etc. Every genre has both positive and negative comments. All of the mentioned scenarios are common in human life, where directly or indirectly, people always expect some positive news with hope (Chakravarthi, 2020). Finding hope speech content from social platforms manually is challenging and not a feasible option. Hence there is a need of automated tools which can be helpful for hope-oriented comment detection (Chakravarthi and Muralidaran, 2021; Chakravarthi et al., 2022a). To address the said problem, this research uses both traditional machine learning (ML) models and deep learning (DL) based models to find the bestsuited technique to detect such hope speech. The dataset used in this research was taken from LT-EDI-ACL2022 workshop. The major contributions are as follows:

- We proposed an automated machine learningbased model to predict hope speech.
- Performed data balancing techniques to balance the samples in each category.
- The machine learning model outperformed deep learning models on a balanced dataset.

The rest of the paper is organized as follows: Section 2 discusses the relevant research works. Section 3 describes the overview of the task in detail. Section 4 explains the data preparation for the experiment followed by experimental setup in Section 5. Section 6 discusses the experimental outcomes of different models. Finally, the work is concluded in Section 7 with limitation and future scope.

## 2 Related works

Even though the Hope speech is termed as positive vibes, very less attention is received from the research community to address it. The reason behind less research in the domain may include the unavailability of the labeled dataset. In the last few years, this problem has received some fruitful attention while the organizer of the LT-EDI-EACL2021 shared a labeled dataset. Some of the submitted frameworks in the LT-EDI-EACL2021 workshop is to address this Hope Speech detection issue. Many research works have reported to filter the Hateful, and Offensive comments from the social post in recent years (Roy et al., 2022; Ghanghor et al., 2021a). However, identifying the Hopeful comments received less attention (Chakravarthi, 2020; Hande et al., 2021; Saumya and Mishra, 2021).

(Puranik et al., 2021) used transformer-based models like BERT, ALBERT, DistilBERT, and similar ones to classify the comments into three categories: hope, non-hope, and other categories. Dataset of three languages were used in their research, English, Malayalam, and Tamil. For the English language, the ULMFit model achieved the best weighted F1-score value of 0.9356. (Upadhyay et al., 2021) also used the transformer-based model to classify the comments into hope, nonhope, and other categories. Deep learning models -Convolutional Neural Network (CNN), Long Short Term Memory (LSMT), and Bidirectional LSTM approaches were used by (Saumya and Mishra, 2021) on all three datasets. Their best-performing CNN-LSTM model achieved an F1-score of 0.91 on English.

### 3 Task and Dataset Overview

In LT-EDI-ACL2022, Task 1 was Hope Speech Detection for Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion, where the event organizer provided an annotated dataset for three languages Tamil, Malayalam, and English. The dataset was labeled into two categories: 'Hope Speech and Non-Hope Speech'. The shared task's objective was to build an automated model that predicts the comments are Hope Speech or Non-Hope Speech. Initially, the training dataset was released. Later, the validation and test dataset was released by the organizer. This research uses only English comments for the experiment. The training



Figure 1: Working steps of the proposed model

dataset had a total of 20778 numbers of Non-Hope Speech sample whereas in Hope speech 1962 sample. 2569 Non-Hope Speech and 272 Hope Speech samples were present in the validation dataset. Finally, the test dataset was released without any label on which the final rank of the participated teams was decided (Chakravarthi and Muralidaran, 2021; Chakravarthi, 2020; Hande et al., 2021).

### 4 Data Preprocessing

As the dataset was compiled with comments collected from YouTube, it consisted of many irregularities like the use of emoticons/emojis, short text, customized fonts, and tagged users. All these need to be cleaned for the data to be passed onto the model for training. During the preprocessing of the data, the emojis were replaced with their mapped meaning by using Demoji library<sup>2</sup>. Tagged users and punctuation were removed and also removed all custom fonts and numerals, single-character words, and multiple spaces that were introduced by the previous steps.

Table 1: Label Distribution of the dataset

Data Set	Hope	Non-Hope	Total
Train	1,962	20,778	22,740
Validation	272	2,569	2,841

Table 2: Average accuracy obtained using ML classifiers on different data balancing approaches (No oversampling (NO), Random Oversampling (ROS), SMOTE and ADASYN)

Model	NO	ROS	SMOTE	ADASYN
LR	0.926	0.920	0.921	0.893
RF	0.925	0.992	0.971	0.962
NB	0.915	0.848	0.866	0.836
XGB	0.924	0.910	0.939	0.928

#### 4.1 Oversampling

The dataset used for this research is highly imbalanced. The class-wise distribution of the dataset is shown in Table 1. The imbalanced dataset could lead to a biased model, and thus it is needed to balance the distribution of the class labels by oversampling the minority class. To make the dataset of both the classes comparable in the training sample, three oversampling techniques are used; namely, Random Oversampling (ROS) (Menardi and Torelli, 2014), Synthetic Minority Over-sampling Technique (SMOTE) (Chawla et al., 2002) and Adaptive Synthetic (ADASYN) (He et al., 2008). After oversampling, in both classes, the number of samples is 20778. Overall working steps of the proposed framework are shown in Figure 1.

#### **5** Experimental setup

This section discusses a detailed experimental procedure used for the model development. The traditional ML techniques, namely, Logistic Regression (LR), Random Forest (RF), Naive Bayes (NB), and Extreme Gradient Boosting (XGB), are selected for the experiment. The performance of these models is evaluated with Precision, Recall, and F1 score (Roy et al., 2022). Firstly, a total of 5000 features were extracted from the processed data using TF-IDF vectorization with 1-5 n-grams, which was further scaled using the MIN-MAX scalar. The oversampling techniques mentioned above were used to balance the dataset before passing it to the model. Before oversampling, the total train data size was 22,740. After oversampling, the total number of samples increased to 41,556, with both the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>https://pypi.org/project/demoji/

classes divided equally.

The balanced dataset was then passed to the ML classifiers with the help of 10-fold cross-validation over the training dataset. We implemented all the combinations of the selected classifiers and oversampling techniques. The average accuracy obtained using a 10-fold cross-validated approach is shown in Table 2. Based on these values, the SMOTE oversampling approach was selected for further experiments. The comparative outcomes of the ML classifiers on the imbalanced and balanced dataset are discussed in section 6.

Further, deep learning techniques like DNN, DNN with embeddings (DNN+Emb), CNN, LSTM, and BiLSTM are implemented to address this issue. The DNN model is comprised of a simple four-layer neural network with 256, 128, and 64 neurons at the hidden layer with a single output neuron. In DNN + Emb, we have implemented an additional embedding layer of 120 dimensions. A single convolution layer is used in CNN, followed by a MaxPooling layer and hidden layers of 128 and 64 neurons. Similarly, the LSTM and BiLSTM networks are implemented with 256 memory units with the same amounts of hidden layers. The output layer consisted of a single neuron with sigmoid activation for each model. After further hyperparameter tuning, we concluded by using the Adam optimizer with a learning rate of 0.0001 and binary cross-entropy as the optimization function. The model was trained with the SMOTE oversampled train data and was validated with the provided validation data set, the results of which are provided in Table 4.

# 6 Results

In this section, the experimental outcomes of the different models will be discussed. We are comparing the performances of the ML models based on the 10-fold cross-validated outcomes reported in Table 2. The table shows the average accuracy achieved by the individual models with the respective oversampling techniques used on the train data. The experimental outcomes when no oversampling ('NO'), i.e. the initial imbalanced dataset, was implemented in shown in Table 2. We can see that oversampling is not helpful for the NB and LR, where the performances are degraded in some cases. On the other hand, the RF model achieved the best performance with oversampled data. The performance of the XGB model remained consis-

Table 3: Detailed report of RF with different Oversampling techniques on validation data.

Model	Class	Precision	Recall	F1-score
	Hope	0.83	0.19	0.32
NO + RF	Non-Hope	0.92	1.00	0.96
	Weighted Avg	0.91	0.92	0.90
	Норе	0.78	0.26	0.39
ROS + RF	Non-Hope	0.93	0.99	0.96
	Weighted Avg	0.91	0.92	0.90
	Hope	0.64	0.41	0.50
SMOTE + RF	Non-Hope	0.94	0.98	0.96
	Weighted Avg	0.91	0.92	0.92
0.94				



Figure 2: Comparison of F1-scores of experimented models on balanced data

tent in all cases. This shows that model selection can vary with the oversampling technique chosen. The SMOTE technique is always outperforming the ADASYN while RF with ROS achieves 99% accuracy, which is probably due to the overfitting of the training samples. The validation data is used to validate the findings. Table 3 shows the results of the RF model with the different oversampling techniques. We can see that using Random Oversampling results in over-fitting. Thus, we chose SMOTE and Random Forest as the final model. The weighted F1-score of the RF model with a balanced dataset was compared with the deep learning techniques. The comparative outcomes are shown in Table 4. The RF model is performing better than the deep learning models.

Table 4: Compariso	n with the de	ep learning	models
--------------------	---------------	-------------	--------

Model	F1-score
RF	0.92
DNN	0.91
DNN + Emb	0.83
CNN	0.87
LSTM	0.86
BiLSTM	0.87

# 7 Conclusion

Social platforms have become a medium to share opinions, achievements, successes, and failures.

Social networking users comment on all categories of posts. The comments having positive vibes is really help in boosting confidence and sometimes motivate to be strong in the odd situation. This paper suggested an ML model to predict the Hope Speech comments on the social platform. The samples available for training were highly imbalanced; hence, the SMOTE oversampling technique was used to balance the dataset. Many models have experimented on both imbalanced and balanced datasets, and it was found that the Random Forest classifier performed best when the training sample was balanced. The proposed balanced model secured top rank among the participated teams for the English language with a weighted F1-score of 0.550 on the test dataset. The model can be further tuned with preprocessing steps as well as by increasing the size of the feature set to achieve better performance. In the future, the transformer based model can be implemented, also ensemble models can be explored for the same in the future.

## References

- R Anita and CN Subalalitha. 2019a. An approach to cluster Tamil literatures using discourse connectives. In 2019 IEEE 1st International Conference on Energy, Systems and Information Processing (ICESIP), pages 1–4. IEEE.
- R Anita and CN Subalalitha. 2019b. Building discourse parser for Thirukkural. In *Proceedings of the 16th International Conference on Natural Language Processing*, pages 18–25.
- B Bharathi, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Subalalitha Chinnaudayar Navaneethakrishnan, N Sripriya, Arunaggiri Pandian, and Swetha Valli. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Speech Recognition for Vulnerable Individuals in Tamil. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion.* Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi. 2020. Hopeedi: A multilingual hope speech detection dataset for equality, diversity, and inclusion. In *Proceedings of the Third Workshop on Computational Modeling of People's Opinions, Personality, and Emotion's in Social Media*, pages 41–53.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi and Vigneshwaran Muralidaran. 2021. Findings of the shared task on hope speech detection for equality, diversity, and inclusion. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, pages 61–72.

- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Vigneshwaran Muralidaran, Ruba Priyadharshini, Subalalitha Chinnaudayar Navaneethakrishnan, John Phillip McCrae, Miguel Ángel García-Cumbreras, Salud María Jiménez-Zafra, Rafael Valencia-García, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, Rahul Ponnusamy, Daniel García-Baena, and José Antonio García-Díaz. 2022a. Findings of the shared task on Hope Speech Detection for Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion. In Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Vigneshwaran Muralidaran, Ruba Priyadharshini, and John Philip McCrae. 2020. Corpus creation for sentiment analysis in code-mixed Tamil-English text. In Proceedings of the 1st Joint Workshop on Spoken Language Technologies for Under-resourced languages (SLTU) and Collaboration and Computing for Under-Resourced Languages (CCURL), pages 202–210, Marseille, France. European Language Resources association.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Thenmozhi Durairaj, John Phillip McCrae, Paul Buitaleer, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, and Rahul Ponnusamy. 2022b. Findings of the shared task on Homophobia Transphobia Detection in Social Media Comments. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Rahul Ponnusamy, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, Kayalvizhi Sampath, Durairaj Thenmozhi, Sathiyaraj Thangasamy, Rajendran Nallathambi, and John Phillip McCrae. 2021. Dataset for identification of homophobia and transophobia in multilingual YouTube comments. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2109.00227*.
- Edward C Chang. 1998. Hope, problem-solving ability, and coping in a college student population: Some implications for theory and practice. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 54(7):953–962.
- Nitesh V Chawla, Kevin W Bowyer, Lawrence O Hall, and W Philip Kegelmeyer. 2002. Smote: synthetic minority over-sampling technique. *Journal of Artificial Intelligence Research*, 16:321–357.
- Rob Cover. 2013. Queer youth resilience: Critiquing the discourse of hope and hopelessness in lgbt suicide representation. *M/C Journal*, 16(5).
- Nikhil Ghanghor, Parameswari Krishnamurthy, Sajeetha Thavareesan, Ruba Priyadharshini, and Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi. 2021a. IIITK@ DravidianLangTech-EACL2021: Offensive language identification and meme classification in Tamil, Malayalam and Kannada. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Speech and Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages*, pages 222–229.

- Nikhil Ghanghor, Rahul Ponnusamy, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, Ruba Priyadharshini, Sajeetha Thavareesan, and Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi. 2021b. IIITK@LT-EDI-EACL2021: Hope speech detection for equality, diversity, and inclusion in Tamil, Malayalam and English. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, pages 197–203, Kyiv. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Adeep Hande, Ruba Priyadharshini, Anbukkarasi Sampath, Kingston Pal Thamburaj, Prabakaran Chandran, and Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi. 2021. Hope speech detection in under-resourced Kannada language. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2108.04616*.
- Haibo He, Yang Bai, Edwardo A Garcia, and Shutao Li. 2008. Adasyn: Adaptive synthetic sampling approach for imbalanced learning. In 2008 IEEE international joint conference on neural networks (IEEE world congress on computational intelligence), pages 1322–1328. IEEE.
- Giovanna Menardi and Nicola Torelli. 2014. Training and assessing classification rules with imbalanced data. *Data mining and knowledge discovery*, 28(1):92–122.
- Anitha Narasimhan, Aarthy Anandan, Madhan Karky, and CN Subalalitha. 2018. Porul: Option generation and selection and scoring algorithms for a tamil flash card game. *International Journal of Cognitive and Language Sciences*, 12(2):225–228.
- Ruba Priyadharshini, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Subalalitha Chinnaudayar Navaneethakrishnan, Thenmozhi Durairaj, Malliga Subramanian, Kogilavani Shanmugavadivel, Siddhanth U Hegde, and Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Abusive Comment Detection in Tamil. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Speech and Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages*. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Ruba Priyadharshini, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Mani Vegupatti, and John P McCrae. 2020. Named entity recognition for code-mixed Indian corpus using meta embedding. In 2020 6th international conference on advanced computing and communication systems (ICACCS), pages 68–72. IEEE.
- Karthik Puranik, Adeep Hande, Ruba Priyadharshini, Sajeetha Thavareesan, and Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi. 2021. IIITT@ LT-EDI-EACL2021hope speech detection: there is always hope in transformers. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2104.09066*.
- Manikandan Ravikiran, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Anand Kumar Madasamy, Sangeetha Sivanesan, Ratnavel Rajalakshmi, Sajeetha Thavareesan, Rahul Ponnusamy, and Shankar Mahadevan. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Offensive Span Identification in code-mixed Tamil-English comments. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Speech and*

Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Pradeep Kumar Roy, Snehaan Bhawal, and C.N. Subalalitha. 2022. Hate speech and offensive language detection in Dravidian languages using deep ensemble framework. *Computer Speech Language*, page 101386.
- Pradeep Kumar Roy, Abhinav Kumar, Jyoti Prakash Singh, Yogesh Kumar Dwivedi, Nripendra Pratap Rana, and Ramakrishnan Raman. 2021. Disaster related social media content processing for sustainable cities. *Sustainable Cities and Society*, 75:103363.
- Pradeep Kumar Roy, Asis Kumar Tripathy, Tapan Kumar Das, and Xiao-Zhi Gao. 2020. A framework for hate speech detection using deep convolutional neural network. *IEEE Access*, 8:204951–204962.
- Ratnasingam Sakuntharaj and Sinnathamby Mahesan. 2016. A novel hybrid approach to detect and correct spelling in Tamil text. In 2016 IEEE International Conference on Information and Automation for Sustainability (ICIAfS), pages 1–6.
- Ratnasingam Sakuntharaj and Sinnathamby Mahesan. 2017. Use of a novel hash-table for speeding-up suggestions for misspelt Tamil words. In 2017 IEEE International Conference on Industrial and Information Systems (ICIIS), pages 1–5.
- Ratnasingam Sakuntharaj and Sinnathamby Mahesan. 2021. Missing word detection and correction based on context of Tamil sentences using n-grams. In 2021 10th International Conference on Information and Automation for Sustainability (ICIAfS), pages 42–47.
- Anbukkarasi Sampath, Thenmozhi Durairaj, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Subalalitha Chinnaudayar Navaneethakrishnan, Kogilavani Shanmugavadivel, Sajeetha Thavareesan, Sathiyaraj Thangasamy, Parameswari Krishnamurthy, Adeep Hande, Sean Benhur, Kishor Kumar Ponnusamy, and Santhiya Pandiyan. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Emotion Analysis in Tamil. In Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Speech and Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Sunil Saumya and Ankit Kumar Mishra. 2021. IIIT\_DWD@ LT-EDI-EACL2021: hope speech detection in YouTube multilingual comments. In Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion, pages 107–113.
- Charles R Snyder, Cheri Harris, John R Anderson, Sharon A Holleran, Lori M Irving, Sandra T Sigmon, Lauren Yoshinobu, June Gibb, Charyle Langelle, and Pat Harney. 1991. The will and the ways: development and validation of an individual-differences measure of hope. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 60(4):570.

- R Srinivasan and CN Subalalitha. 2019. Automated named entity recognition from tamil documents. In 2019 IEEE 1st International Conference on Energy, Systems and Information Processing (ICESIP), pages 1–5. IEEE.
- C. N. Subalalitha. 2019. Information extraction framework for Kurunthogai. Sādhanā, 44(7):156.
- CN Subalalitha and E Poovammal. 2018. Automatic bilingual dictionary construction for Tirukural. *Applied Artificial Intelligence*, 32(6):558–567.
- Sajeetha Thavareesan and Sinnathamby Mahesan. 2019. Sentiment analysis in Tamil texts: A study on machine learning techniques and feature representation. In 2019 14th Conference on Industrial and Information Systems (ICIIS), pages 320–325.
- Sajeetha Thavareesan and Sinnathamby Mahesan. 2020a. Sentiment lexicon expansion using Word2vec and fastText for sentiment prediction in Tamil texts. In 2020 Moratuwa Engineering Research Conference (MERCon), pages 272–276.
- Sajeetha Thavareesan and Sinnathamby Mahesan. 2020b. Word embedding-based part of speech tagging in Tamil texts. In 2020 IEEE 15th International Conference on Industrial and Information Systems (ICIIS), pages 478–482.
- Sajeetha Thavareesan and Sinnathamby Mahesan. 2021. Sentiment analysis in Tamil texts using k-means and k-nearest neighbour. In 2021 10th International Conference on Information and Automation for Sustainability (ICIAfS), pages 48–53.
- Ishan Sanjeev Upadhyay, Anshul Wadhawan, Radhika Mamidi, et al. 2021. Hopeful\_Men@ LT-EDI-EACL2021: Hope speech detection using Indic transliteration and transformers. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2102.12082*.
- Konthala Yasaswini, Karthik Puranik, Adeep Hande, Ruba Priyadharshini, Sajeetha Thavareesan, and Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi. 2021.
  IIITT@DravidianLangTech-EACL2021: Transfer learning for offensive language detection in Dravidian languages. In Proceedings of the First Workshop on Speech and Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages, pages 187–194, Kyiv. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Carolyn M Youssef and Fred Luthans. 2007. Positive organizational behavior in the workplace: The impact of hope, optimism, and resilience. *Journal of management*, 33(5):774–800.

# The Best of both Worlds: Dual Channel Language modeling for Hope Speech Detection in low-resourced Kannada

Adeep Hande<sup>1</sup>, Siddhanth U Hegde<sup>2</sup>, Sivanesan Sangeetha<sup>3</sup>, Ruba Priyadharshini<sup>5</sup>, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi<sup>4</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Indian Institute of Information Technology Tiruchirappalli <sup>2</sup>University Visvesvaraya College of Engineering, Bangalore University <sup>3</sup>National Institute of Technology Trichy <sup>4</sup>ULTRA Arts and Science College <sup>5</sup>National University of Ireland Galway adeeph18c@iiitt.ac.in, siddhanthhegde227@gmail.com sangeetha@nitt.edu, rubapriyadharshini.a@gmail.com bharathi.raja@insight-centre.org

### Abstract

In recent years, various methods have been developed to control the spread of negativity by removing profane, aggressive, and offensive comments from social media platforms. There is, however, a scarcity of research focusing on embracing positivity and reinforcing supportive and reassuring content in online forums. As a result, we concentrate our research on developing systems to detect hope speech in code-mixed Kannada. As a result, we present DC-LM, a dual-channel language model that sees hope speech by using the English translations of the code-mixed dataset for additional training. The approach is jointly modelled on both English and code-mixed Kannada to enable effective cross-lingual transfer between the languages. With a weighted F1-score of 0.756, the method outperforms other models. We aim to initiate research in Kannada while encouraging researchers to take a pragmatic approach to inspire positive and supportive online content.

### 1 Introduction

The last decade has seen a drastic increase in social media users, owing primarily to easier access to the internet as a result of global modernization (Johnson, 2021). As a result of the surge, several minority groups have turned to social media for support and reassurance. This, however, poses a serious risk to adolescents and young adults who are avid internet users. Social media apps like Facebook, Twitter, and YouTube have become an essential part of their daily lives (Kietzmann et al., 2011). Certain ethnic groups or individuals are victims of social media manipulation to foster destructive or disruptive behaviour, which is a common scenario in cyberbullying (Abaido, 2020). However, these systems ignore potential biases in the dataset on which they are trained and may harm a specific group of social media users, frequently leading to gender/racial discrimination among its users (Davidson et al., 2019).

As a result, there is a need to detect hope speech in social media. Several marginalised groups seek comfort and assistance from social media content that they can relate to and empathise with others' situations (Chakravarthi, 2020). This type of speech is essential for everyone because it encourages people to improve their quality of life by taking action. Hope speech aims to inspire people suffering from depression, loneliness, and stress by providing assurance, reassurance, suggestions, and support (Herrestad and Biong, 2010). Because most social media in multilingual communities still revolve around English, the phenomenon of codemixing is common. According to studies, codemixing is an essential component of social media in multilingual countries (Jose et al., 2020).

Kannada (ISO 639-3:kan) is one of India's lowresource Dravidian languages. Dravidian languages are spoken by over 200 million people, mostly in southern India and northern Sri Lanka (Steever, 1998). The language is primarily spoken by people in Karnataka, India, and it is also recognised as an official language of the state (Hande et al., 2020). Kannada script, also known as Catanese, is an alphasyllabary of Brahmic scripts that evolved into the Kadamba script (Chakravarthi et al., 2019). Kannada has over 43 million speakers<sup>1</sup>. However, as previously stated, Kannada is a language with limited resources due to a lack of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>https://www.ethnologue.com/language/kan

language technologies.

Our work aims to detect hope speech in lowresourced code-mixed languages. We develop models on hope speech detection in low-resourced kannada. we propose that a language model would learn effectively with the help of the parent translations. We make use of translations with Google Translate API and experiment with several multilingual language models to find the best performing model. We define Dual channel language model as a model that uses two translations, namely, codemixed Kannada and English. We present DC-LM, (Dual-Channel Language Model) based on the architecture of BERT that uses the translation of the dataset as additional input for training, performing better in contrast to the typical fine-tuned multilingual BERT. We perform a comprehensive analysis of our models on the dataset along with a thorough error analysis on its predictions on the dataset.

## 2 Related Work

Researchers have worked on extracting data from social media, particularly from user comments on YouTube, Facebook, and Twitter (Chakravarthi et al., 2020; Severyn et al., 2014). Most information extracted from social media does not adhere to grammatical rules and is written in code-mixed, or non-native scripts, as is common among users from multilingual countries (Jose et al., 2020; Bali et al., 2014). People can communicate on social media without face-to-face interaction, but they are prone to misunderstandings because they do not consider the perspectives of others. There have been few previous efforts on hope speech identification, with the only dataset contribution being (Chakravarthi, 2020), a large multilingual corpus manually annotated for English, Tamil, and Malayalam, with around 28K, 20K, and 10K comments, respectively.

Several researchers have worked to promote positivity on social media by developing and analysing systems that filter out malignancy on social media by focusing on very specific events such as crisis and war (Palakodety et al., 2020), intercountry social media dynamics (Sarkar et al., 2020), and protests (Sohn and Lee, 2019). The authors conducted a shared task on hope speech detection for comments scraped from YouTube in these languages to encourage more research into hope speech for English, Malayalam, and Tamil (Chakravarthi and Muralidaran, 2021). The organisers of the collaborative task used the HopeEDI (Chakravarthi, 2020) Multilingual hope speech dataset. In Malayalam (Hossain et al., 2021), finetuning a pretrained XLM-RoBERTa model resulted in the best-weighted F1-score of 0.854. In Tamil (Sharma and Arora, 2021), an ensemble of synthetically generated code-mixed data for training ULM-FiT, baseline-KNN, and a fine-tuned RoBERTa achieved the best score of 0.61. The authors fed the combination of pretrained XLM-R and Tf-Idf Vectors as inputs to an inception block, leading to a weighted F1-Score of 0.93 (Huang and Bai, 2021).

### **3** Dataset

We use the code-mixed Kannada Hope speech dataset (Hande et al., 2021b). The dataset has two labels, namely Hope and Not-Hope. Table 1 refers to the dataset statistics. Some examples of Hope speech and Not-hope speech classes are shown in Fig 1. For a person, *Hope* can be defined as an inspiration to people battling depression, loneliness, and stress by assuring promise, reassurance, suggestions, and support (Chakravarthi, 2020). Dataset is annotated based on the following guidelines:

#### Hope speech:

- The comment comprises an inspiration provided to participants by their peers and others, offering reassurance and insight.
- Comment talks about equality, diversity, and inclusion
- Comment talks about the survival story of people from marginalised groups.

## Non-hope speech

- The comment produces hatred towards a person or a marginalised group.
- The comment is very discriminatory and attacks people without thinking of the consequences.
- The comment comprises racially, ethnically, sexually, or nationally motivated slurs.
- The comments do not inspire Hope in the readers' mind.

#### 3.1 Pre-Processing

As the data is extracted from the comments section of YouTube, preprocessing would be imperative. To better adapt algorithms to the dataset, we follow the steps for preprocessing comments as listed below.

- 1. URLs and other links are replaced by the word, 'URL'.
- 2. The emojis are replaced by the words that the emoji represents, like happy, sad, among other emotions depicted by emojis. As emojis mainly depict a user's intention, it would be imperative to replace them with their meanings to pick up their cues. As most models are pretrained only on unlabelled text, we feel that it would be necessary.
- 3. Multiple spaces in a sentence and other special characters are removed as they do not contribute significantly to the overall intention.

Language Pair	Kannada-English
Vocabulary Size	18,807
Number of Posts	6,176
Number of Sentences	6,871
Tokens per post	9
Sentences per post	1

Table 1: Dataset Statistics

Class	Non-hope Speech	Hope Speech			
Training	3,265	1,675			
Development	391	227			
Test	408	210			
Total	4,064	2,112			

Table 2: Class-wise distribution of Train-Development-Test Data

We use  $nltk^2$  for tokenizing words and sentences and calculating the corpus statistics as shown in Table 2. We observe that the vocabulary size is significant due to code-mixed data in a morphologically rich language (Hande et al., 2021a).

We find that non-hope speech makes up the majority of the dataset. The dataset had 7,572 comments after annotation, with *Not-Kannada* having a distribution of 1,396 out of 7,572 comments. We removed the comments labelled as *Not-Kannada*, resulting in a dataset of 6,176 comments. The dataset is divided into three sections: train, development, and test. The training set accounts for 80% of the distribution, while the development set accounts for 10%, which is equal to the distribution of the test set. Table 2 shows the class-wise distribution of data for the train, development, and test-ing phases. The classes are not evenly distributed across the dataset, with Non-hope speech accounting for 65.81 percent and Hope speech accounting for 34.19 percent. The difference in the distribution after removing the sentences with the *Not-Kannada* label is shown in Table 2.

- T1: ತುಂಬು ಹದಯದ ಶುಭಾಶಯಗಳು ಕನಡ ಚಿತ್ರರಂಗದ ಅಭಿಮಾನಿಗಳಿಂದ Transliteration: Tumbu hrdayada subhāsayagaļu kannada citrarangada abhimanigalinda Translation: Best wishes to the Kannada Cinema Industy from the bottom of my heart. Label: Hope This comment is classified as hope, as the speaker motivates and inspires the reader by his/her/their greetings to the Kannada Cinema Industry; Hence the comment instigates hope to its readers. – T2: ಸಾರ್ ನಿಮ್ತ ತಂದೆ ನಿಮಗೆ ಕಲಿಸಿದ ಸಂಸ್ಕಾರ ಸಂಸ್ಥತಿ ನಮಗೆ ತುಂಬಾ ಇಷ್ಟ ಆಯ್ಲು ಮತ್ತು ನೀವು ಅವರು ತೋರಿಸಿದ ಮಾರ್ಗದರ್ಶನದಲ್ಲಿ ನಡೀತಾ ಇರೋದು Transliteration: Sir nimma tande nimage kalisida sanskara sansthe namage thumba ishta aytu mattu neevu avaru toresida marghadharshanadalli nadita erodu Translation: Sir I like the culture your father had taught you, I hope you follow the path he guides you in. Label: Hope The sentence is classified as hope, due to the nature of the comment, appreciating the cultures and the behavioural knowledge interpreted by the son from his father. - T3: Yaru tension agbede yakandre dislike madiravru mindrika kadeyavru Translation: No one needs to worry as the people who disliked this are fans of Mandrika Label: Not-hope This sentence is classified as Not-hope. Despite the comment consoling someone because their opinion was disliked, the comment spreads hate to the person named Mandrika – T4: ಟ್ರೋಲ್ ಅಂದ್ಲೇ, ಬ್ರೋ ನಾನು ಟಿಕ್ ಟಾಕ್ ಗೆ ಅಡಿಕ್ಸ್ ಆಗಿದ್ ಬಟ್ ನಮ್ ದೇಶಕಿಂತ ದೊಡ್ಡಲ್ಲ , ಈ ಟಿಕ್ ಟಾಕ್ಅಷ್ಟೇ ಇನೋಂದ್ ವಿಷ್ಠ ನಮ್ ದೇಶದ್ ರೊಪೊಸೋ ಡೌನೋಡ್ ಮಾಡಿ ಓಪನ್ ಮಾಡಿ ನೊಡುದ್ರು Transliteration: Troll andre, bro naanu tiktok ge addict agide but namma deshakkinta doddadalla, ee tiktok ashte ennond namm deshada rofoso download maadi nodu. Translation: For Troll, bro, I am addicted to TikTok, but it is not bigger than our nation; download our own Indian app Rofoso. Label: Not-hope This comment can be classified as Not-hope. Even though the comment states that Tik-Tok is not more significant than the nation, expressing patriotism, the comment may or may not be factually correct. Hence, the comment spews unnecessary hatred towards TikTok

Figure 1: Examples of Hope speech and Not-hope speech classes.

### 4 Methodology

We perform extensive analysis on the Kannada hopespeech dataset using a variety of classifiers, ranging from simple machine learning algorithms

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>https://www.nltk.org/

to complex deep learning algorithms. To tabulate our results, we employ the scikit-learn library (Buitinck et al., 2013). We conduct our experiments in the manner described below. We ran an average of 5 runs on each model to tabulate the results. We avoid using stopwords or other lemmatisation techniques because Kannada is a morphologically rich language. For machine learning algorithms, we used the scikit-learn library. We used the Pytorch implementation of the pretrained language models available on Huggingface Transformers<sup>3</sup>. We finetuned the models on Google Colaboratory<sup>4</sup> for its easier access to GPU resources and User Interface.

#### 4.1 Machine Learning Algorithms

For our experiments, we used Logistic Regression (LR). The input features are Term Frequency Inverse Document Frequency (TF-IDF) values ranging from 1 to 5-grams, with the inverse regularisation parameter, C, set to 0.1. It is a control variable that, by being positioned inversely to the lambda regulator, retains the strength modification of regularisation. We applied uniform weights to KNN for classification with 3, 4, 5, and 7 neighbours. We use *Minkowski* as the distance metric, with the distance metric's power parameter (p) set to 2 and uniform weights for the neighbours. The maximum depth for decision trees and random forests was 500, and the minimum sample splits were 5, with emphGini as the criterion. We test a Naive Bayes classifier for multinomially distributed data, with (alpha = 1) for Laplace smoothing to avoid zero probabilities.

We set the maximum depth for the decision tree classifier to 500 and the minimum sample splits to 5, using Gini as the criterion. We looked at random forest classifiers with the same parameters as decision trees. Furthermore, we evaluate a Naive Bayes classifier for multinomially distributed data, with  $\alpha = 1$  for Laplace smoothing to avoid zero probabilities.

#### 4.2 Fine-tuning pretrained Language Models

The success of the transformer architecture (Vaswani et al., 2017) has resulted in the researchers adapting to transformer-based models from conventional recurrent neural networks (RNN). We have fine-tuned four pretrained language models for hope speech detection, all of which are based on the primary architecture of BERT. Because all models were pre-trained on unlabeled monolingual or multilingual data, the models may struggle to classify code-mixed sentences. Because this is a binary classification task, we use Binary Crossentropy as the loss function. By decoupling weight decay from gradient update, we use the Adam optimizer (AdamW) available on Huggingface Transformers (Loshchilov and Hutter, 2019). The corpus is first tokenized to cleave

Hyper-parameters	Characteristics
Optimizer	AdamW
Batch Size	[32, 64, 128]
Dropout	0.1
Loss	Binary cross-entropy
Learning rate	2e-5
Max length	128
Epochs	10

Table 3: Hyper-parameters used for fine-tuning BERTbased language models

the word into tokens. During tokenization, the special tokens needed for sentence classification, the [CLS] token at the start of a sentence and the [SEP] token at the end. Post the addition of the special tokens, the tokens are replaced by ids (*input\_ids*), and *attention\_masks* for training. During fine-tuning, we extract the pooled output of the [CLS] token and feed the output through an activation layer (Sigmoid) to compute the output prediction probabilities for the given sentence (Hande et al., 2021c).

We used two language models that are part of the pretrained architecture of the BERT (Devlin et al., 2019). We use **bert-base-uncased**, a monolingual language model with a 12-layer, 768-hidden dimension, 12-heads, and 110 million parameters that has been pretrained only on lower cased English text. (Pires et al., 2019), a multilingual version of BERT, is pretrained on publicly available Wikipedia dumps of the top 100 languages. We use **bert-base-multilingual-cased**<sup>5</sup>, which is pretrained on cased text from the top 104 languages and has 12 layers, 768 hidden dimensions, 12 heads, and 179 million parameters. Both models use the same parent architecture, with the only difference being the corpora used during pretraining.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>https://huggingface.co/transformers/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>https://colab.research.google.com/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>https://github.com/google-research/ bert/blob/master/multilingual.md



Figure 2: Dual-Channel BERT-based Language Model [DC-LM]

### 4.2.1 RoBERTa

In contrast to BERT, RoBERTa (Liu et al., 2019). disregards the Next Sentence Prediction (NSP) loss from its pretraining because the authors found no improvement regardless of the loss function. RoBERTa tokenizes using byte-pair encoding (BPE) rather than BERT's WordPiece tokenization. Textbfrobert-base is a monolingual language model pretrained on 160GB of unlabeled English texts, with 12 layers, 768 hidden dimensions, 12 heads, and 125 million parameters.

# 4.2.2 XLM-RoBERTa

XLM-RoBERTa is based on large-scale unsupervised cross-lingual learning. **xlm-robert-base**, the smaller version of the model, has 270 million parameters, 12-layers, 768 hidden states, and 8 heads, and was trained on 2.5 TB of newly created clean Common Crawl data in 100 languages.

## 4.2.3 Dual-Channel Language Model

We propose a Dual-Channel LM (DC-LM), as shown in Fig 2, by fine-tuning a language model based on the transformer architecture on the codemixed data and its translation in English. We use the Googletrans API <sup>6</sup> to translate the codemixed KanHope to English. This API employs

the GoogleTrans Ajax API<sup>7</sup> to make calls to detect methods and translate. We invoke the Translator function and set the destination language to English, as the Translator attempts to identify the language's source on its own. The use of two channels of pretrained language models is dependent on the advancements of English language models. We obtain more training data for hope speech in English by translating the sentences to English. We believe that when using Dual Channel language model, one model for the code-mixed Kannada-English texts - a multilingual language model - and the other model for the translated English texts - a monolingual language model (pretrained on English), learn better from two languages rather than one. The weighted sum will be the weighted sum of two pooled outputs obtained from the [CLS] token. To fine-tune the code-mixed sentences, we tokenized them with a pretrained multilingual tokenizer and the translated English sentences with a monolingual tokenizer pretrained on English. The first channel (RoBERTa, BERT, or XLNeT) received the translated text, whereas the multilingual language model received the usual raw text (mBERT or XLM-RoBERTa). The pooled output was extracted from the [CLS] token of both models, as

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>https://pypi.org/project/googletrans/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>https://translate.google.com/

Model	1	Not-Hop	e	Hope						
	Р	R	F1	Р	R	F1	Acc	W(P)	W(R)	W(F1
Logistic Regression	0.681	0.964	0.798	0.788	0.228	0.354	0.693	0.721	0.693	0.634
KNN	0.705	0.890	0.787	0.659	0.364	0.469	0.696	0.688	0.696	0.670
Decision Tree	0.732	0.797	0.763	0.591	0.500	0.542	0.688	0.680	0.688	0.681
Random Forest	0.736	0.867	0.796	0.673	0.469	0.553	0.720	0.713	0.720	0.706
Naive Bayes	0.719	0.885	0.793	0.674	0.408	0.508	0.709	0.702	0.709	0.688
mBERT	0.757	0.854	0.802	0.680	0.531	0.596	0.735	0.728	0.735	0.726
BERT	0.758	0.780	0.769	0.604	0.575	0.589	0.704	0.701	0.704	0.702
DC-LM(bert-mbert)	0.771	0.836	0.802	0.672	0.575	0.619	0.740	0.734	0.740	0.735
DC-LM(roberta-mbert)	0.788	0.838	0.812	0.690	0.614	0.650	0.756	0.752	0.756	0.752
DC-LM(roberta-xlmr)	0.777	0.779	0.778	0.621	0.618	0.620	0.720	0.720	0.720	0.720
DC-LM(bert-xlmr)	0.727	0.735	0.731	0.589	0.587	0.591	0.650	0.655	0.647	0.651
DC-LM(xlnet-mbert)	0.757	0.759	0.758	0.601	0.598	0.600	0.700	0.700	0.701	0.726
DC-LM(xlnet-xlmr)	0.798	0.851	0.829	0.702	0.635	0.639	0.770	0.758	0.767	0.766

Table 4: Class-wise Precision (P), Recall (R), and F1-Scores for both the classes of the dataset. DC-LM(model1-model2): model1: Monolingual, model2: Multilingual

shown in Fig 2, and a layer took the weighted sum of both pooled outputs. The overall output was then fed into a feed-forward network, which was then activated with a sigmoid function.

DC-LM (model1-model2) is a dual-channel model that uses *model1* for translated text and *model2* for code-mixed texts. *model1* is trained on translated text using two language models based on BERT and RoBERTa. We use two multilingual models for the *model2*, mBERT and XLM-RoBERTa.

DC(bert-mbert): This model employs *bert-base-uncased* for the English text and *bert-base-multilingual-cased* for the code-mixed Kannada-English. The same method is used for all other Dual-Channel language models.

#### 5 Results and Discussion

The results of experiments carried out for classifying hope speech with various models are listed in Table 4 in terms of precision and recall for the individual classes, as well as overall accuracy, weighted averages of Precision, Recall, and F1-score. In our test set, there are 390 instances of *not-hope speech* and 228 samples of *hope speech*. Our experiments' code is available<sup>8</sup>.

We use four language models for the dualchannel LM, listed in Table 4. We fine-tune multilingual BERT and the uncased base version of BERT separately to assess the significance of improving performance in DC-LM if any. Out of the two BERT models, multilingual BERT performs better than the BERT model that was pretrained only on English, with a minor increase of 2.1%. However, the performance between the machine learning algorithms and pretrained language models differ by around 7.8%. We trained three dualchannel language models based on the possible combinations between the monolingual and multilingual models. DC-LM (bert-mbert) used the monolingual BERT (only English) for the translated text, while the multilingual BERT for the code-mixed Kannada-English texts. DC-LM(bertmbert) achieves a weighted F1-Score of 0.740, an improvement of 0.5% from mBERT and 3.6% from monolingual BERT. When XLNEt is used for the translated texts and XLM-RoBERTa for the codemixed texts, it achieves the best performance of all the models, having an F1-Score of 0.766. The principal reason for this increase comes down to the better hyper-parameter tuning and pretraining strategy used in XLM-RoBERTa and XLNet.

DC-LM (roberta-xlmr) has also been fine-tuned to evaluate if there is cross-lingual transfer between the models. Despite being pre-trained on 2.5 TB of data and using an unsupervised cross-lingual learning scale, we find that this model performs worse than DC-LM (bert-mbert). One of the causes for XLM-poor R's performance, we feel, is its tokenizations. Despite the fact that the developers of XLM-R claim that the model's performance is unaffected by the type of encoding used in tokenizations, it is discovered that Byte-Pair Encoding (BPE) has a lower morphological alignment with the actual code-mixed text (Jain et al., 2020). In

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>https://github.com/adeepH/DC-LM
Label	Texts	Predictions
Not-Hope	Text: Finally, sonu gowda b day dhinane tiktok ban aythu	Hope
	Translation: Finally, TikTok got banned on Sonu Gowda's Birthday	
Not-Hope	Text: Found 806 rashmika mangannas	Hope
	Translation: Found 806 Rashmika monkeys	
Hope	Text: Guru ee desha uddhara agatte indian youth volle ide	Not-Hope
	Translation: Brother this country will develop as Indian youth are fantastic	
Hope	Text: thogari tippa supar	Not-Hope
	Translation: Thogari Tippa Super	

Table 5: Predictions on the Test Set

contrast to BERT's WordPiece tokenization, XLM-R employs the BPE tokenizer, which results in more subwords. We believe XLM-RoBERTa performs worse than multilingual BERT since Kannada is a semantically rich language (Tanwar and Majumder, 2020).

Surprisingly, the monolingual BERT (only English) performed worse than some machine learning algorithms in terms of precision, recall, and F1 scores. We believe this is due to the dataset's characteristics.

## 5.1 Error Analysis

We observe that the model predict 331 out of 390 samples correctly for the *Not-hope* label, while the model predicts 145 out of 228 samples correctly for the other class. We observe that several texts have been misclassified for reasons beyond the scope of the model. We have tabulated some predictions in Table 5

## **Text:** "Thogari Tippa" super

*Thogari Tippa* is the name of a popular movie that talks about equality. The model identifies it as "Not-Hope Speech", whereas the dataset classified it as *Hope speech*. The lack of knowledge about the movie is likely the reason why the model predicted incorrectly.

**Text:** "Guru ee desha uddhara agatte bedu bhai indian youth tumba volle ide"

The text praises the Indian youth, suggesting that India will develop because of them. The model identifies it as *Not-Hope Speech*, even though it should have classified it as *Hope Speech*.

## 6 Conclusion

A surge in the active users on social media has inadvertently increased the amount of online content available on social media platforms. There is a need to motivate positivity and hope speech in platforms to instigate compassion and assert reassurance. In this paper, we work on KanHope, a manually annotated code-mixed data of hope speech detection in an under-resourced language, Kannada, consisting of 6,176 comments crawled from YouTube and propose DC-LM, a Dual-Channel BERT-based model that uses the best of both worlds: Codemixed Kannada-English and Translated English texts. Several pretrained multilingual and monolingual language models were analysed to find the best approach that yields a tremendous weighted F1-Score. We have also trained the dataset on preliminary machine learning algorithms to baseline for future work on the dataset. We believe that this dataset will expand further research into facilitating positivity and optimism on social media. We have developed several models to serve as a benchmark for this dataset. We aim to promote research in Kannada.

# 7 Acknowledgments

The author Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi was supported in part by a research grant from Science Foundation Ireland (SFI) under Grant Number SFI/12/RC/2289\_P2 (Insight\_2), co-funded by the European Regional Development Fund as well as by the EU H2020 programme under grant agreement 825182 (Prêt-à-LLOD), and Irish Research Council grant IRCLA/2017/129 (CARDAMOM-Comparative Deep Models of Language for Minority and Historical Languages) for his postdoctoral period at National University of Ireland Galway.

## References

Ghada M. Abaido. 2020. Cyberbullying on social media platforms among university students in the united arab emirates. *International Journal of Adolescence and Youth*, 25(1):407–420.

- Kalika Bali, Jatin Sharma, Monojit Choudhury, and Yogarshi Vyas. 2014. "I am borrowing ya mixing ?" an analysis of English-Hindi code mixing in Facebook. In Proceedings of the First Workshop on Computational Approaches to Code Switching, pages 116–126, Doha, Qatar. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Lars Buitinck, Gilles Louppe, Mathieu Blondel, Fabian Pedregosa, Andreas Mueller, Olivier Grisel, Vlad Niculae, Peter Prettenhofer, Alexandre Gramfort, Jaques Grobler, Robert Layton, Jake VanderPlas, Arnaud Joly, Brian Holt, and Gaël Varoquaux. 2013.
  API design for machine learning software: experiences from the scikit-learn project. In ECML PKDD Workshop: Languages for Data Mining and Machine Learning, pages 108–122.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi. 2020. HopeEDI: A multilingual hope speech detection dataset for equality, diversity, and inclusion. In *Proceedings of the Third Workshop on Computational Modeling of People's Opinions, Personality, and Emotion's in Social Media*, pages 41–53, Barcelona, Spain (Online). Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Mihael Arcan, and John P. McCrae. 2019. WordNet gloss translation for underresourced languages using multilingual neural machine translation. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Multilingualism at the Intersection of Knowledge Bases and Machine Translation*, pages 1–7, Dublin, Ireland. European Association for Machine Translation.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Navya Jose, Shardul Suryawanshi, Elizabeth Sherly, and John Philip Mc-Crae. 2020. A sentiment analysis dataset for codemixed Malayalam-English. In Proceedings of the 1st Joint Workshop on Spoken Language Technologies for Under-resourced languages (SLTU) and Collaboration and Computing for Under-Resourced Languages (CCURL), pages 177–184, Marseille, France. European Language Resources association.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi and Vigneshwaran Muralidaran. 2021. Findings of the shared task on hope speech detection for equality, diversity, and inclusion. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, pages 61–72, Kyiv. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Thomas Davidson, Debasmita Bhattacharya, and Ingmar Weber. 2019. Racial bias in hate speech and abusive language detection datasets. In *Proceedings* of the Third Workshop on Abusive Language Online, pages 25–35, Florence, Italy. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Jacob Devlin, Ming-Wei Chang, Kenton Lee, and Kristina Toutanova. 2019. BERT: Pre-training of deep bidirectional transformers for language understanding. In *Proceedings of the 2019 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for*

*Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Volume 1 (Long and Short Papers)*, pages 4171–4186, Minneapolis, Minnesota. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Adeep Hande, Siddhanth U Hegde, Ruba Priyadharshini, Rahul Ponnusamy, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, Sajeetha Thavareesan, and Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi. 2021a. Benchmarking multi-task learning for sentiment analysis and offensive language identification in under-resourced dravidian languages. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2108.03867*.
- Adeep Hande, Ruba Priyadharshini, and Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi. 2020. KanCMD: Kannada CodeMixed dataset for sentiment analysis and offensive language detection. In *Proceedings of the Third Workshop* on Computational Modeling of People's Opinions, Personality, and Emotion's in Social Media, pages 54–63, Barcelona, Spain (Online). Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Adeep Hande, Ruba Priyadharshini, Anbukkarasi Sampath, Kingston Pal Thamburaj, Prabakaran Chandran, and Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi. 2021b. Hope speech detection in under-resourced kannada language. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2108.04616*.
- Adeep Hande, Karthik Puranik, Konthala Yasaswini, Ruba Priyadharshini, Sajeetha Thavareesan, Anbukkarasi Sampath, Kogilavani Shanmugavadivel, Durairaj Thenmozhi, and Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi. 2021c. Offensive language identification in lowresourced code-mixed dravidian languages using pseudo-labeling. arXiv preprint arXiv:2108.12177.
- Henning Herrestad and S. Biong. 2010. Relational hopes: A study of the lived experience of hope in some patients hospitalized for intentional selfharm. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies on Health and Well-being*, 5.
- Eftekhar Hossain, Omar Sharif, and Mohammed Moshiul Hoque. 2021. NLP-CUET@LT-EDI-EACL2021: Multilingual code-mixed hope speech detection using cross-lingual representation learner. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, pages 168–174, Kyiv. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bo Huang and Yang Bai. 2021. TEAM HUB@LT-EDI-EACL2021: Hope speech detection based on pre-trained language model. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, pages 122–127, Kyiv. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Kushal Jain, Adwait Deshpande, Kumar Shridhar, Felix Laumann, and Ayushman Dash. 2020. Indictransformers: An analysis of transformer language models for indian languages. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2011.02323*.
- Joseph Johnson. 2021. Number of internet users worldwide.

- Navya Jose, B. R. Chakravarthi, Shardul Suryawanshi, Elizabeth Sherly, and John P. McCrae. 2020. A survey of current datasets for code-switching research. 2020 6th International Conference on Advanced Computing and Communication Systems (ICACCS), pages 136–141.
- Jan H. Kietzmann, Kristopher Hermkens, Ian P. Mc-Carthy, and Bruno S. Silvestre. 2011. Social media? get serious! understanding the functional building blocks of social media. *Business Horizons*, 54(3):241–251. SPECIAL ISSUE: SOCIAL ME-DIA.
- Yinhan Liu, Myle Ott, Naman Goyal, Jingfei Du, Mandar Joshi, Danqi Chen, Omer Levy, Mike Lewis, Luke Zettlemoyer, and Veselin Stoyanov. 2019. Roberta: A robustly optimized BERT pretraining approach. *CoRR*, abs/1907.11692.
- Ilya Loshchilov and Frank Hutter. 2019. Decoupled weight decay regularization. In International Conference on Learning Representations.
- Shriphani Palakodety, Ashiqur R. KhudaBukhsh, and Jaime G. Carbonell. 2020. Hope speech detection: A computational analysis of the voice of peace.
- Telmo Pires, Eva Schlinger, and Dan Garrette. 2019. How multilingual is multilingual BERT? In *Proceedings of the 57th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, pages 4996–5001, Florence, Italy. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Rupak Sarkar, Hirak Sarkar, Sayantan Mahinder, and Ashiqur R. KhudaBukhsh. 2020. Social media attributions in the context of water crisis.
- Aliaksei Severyn, Alessandro Moschitti, Olga Uryupina, Barbara Plank, and Katja Filippova. 2014. Opinion mining on YouTube. In Proceedings of the 52nd Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 1252– 1261, Baltimore, Maryland. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Megha Sharma and Gaurav Arora. 2021. Spartans@LT-EDI-EACL2021: Inclusive speech detection using pretrained language models. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, pages 188–192, Kyiv. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Hajung Sohn and Hyunju Lee. 2019. Mc-bert4hate: Hate speech detection using multi-channel bert for different languages and translations. In 2019 International Conference on Data Mining Workshops (ICDMW), pages 551–559.
- Sanford B Steever. 1998. Introduction to the dravidian languages. *The Dravidian languages*, 1:39.
- Ashwani Tanwar and Prasenjit Majumder. 2020. Translating morphologically rich indian languages under zero-resource conditions. *ACM Trans. Asian Low-Resour. Lang. Inf. Process.*, 19(6).

Ashish Vaswani, Noam Shazeer, Niki Parmar, Jakob Uszkoreit, Llion Jones, Aidan N Gomez, Ł ukasz Kaiser, and Illia Polosukhin. 2017. Attention is all you need. In *Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems*, volume 30. Curran Associates, Inc.

# NYCU\_TWD@LT-EDI-ACL2022: Ensemble Models with VADER and Contrastive Learning for Detecting Signs of Depression from Social Media

Wei-Yao Wang<sup>†,1</sup>, Yu-Chien Tang<sup>†,2</sup>, Wei-Wei Du<sup>†,2</sup>, Wen-Chih Peng<sup>1</sup>

National Yang Ming Chiao Tung University, Hsinchu, Taiwan

<sup>1</sup>{sf1638.cs05, wcpeng}@nctu.edu.tw,<sup>2</sup>{tommytyc, wwdu}.cs10@nycu.edu.tw

#### Abstract

This paper presents a state-of-the-art solution to the LT-EDI-ACL 2022 Task 4: Detecting Signs of Depression from Social Media Text. The goal of this task is to detect the severity levels of depression of people from social media posts, where people often share their feelings on a daily basis. To detect the signs of depression, we propose a framework with pre-trained language models using rich information instead of training from scratch, gradient boosting and deep learning models for modeling various aspects, and supervised contrastive learning for the generalization ability. Moreover, ensemble techniques are also employed in consideration of the different advantages of each method. Experiments show that our framework achieves a 2nd prize ranking with a macro F1-score of 0.552, showing the effectiveness and robustness of our approach.

## 1 Introduction

Social media enable people to communicate and acquire information regardless of distance due to the rapid growth of the Internet. Besides, people can express their emotions about posts, news, and discussions on social media through texts and videos, which has thus attracted researchers who are interested in analyzing the emotional behavior of user comments. For instance, Saha et al. (2021) introduced a speech act classification Twitter dataset and presented an attention mechanism to incorporate intra-modal and inter-modal information. AudiB-ERT, which adopts the multimodal nature of the human voice, was proposed to screen depression (Toto et al., 2021)., and Pirayesh et al. (2021) proposed a social-contagion based framework based on meta-learning for early detection of depression.

In this challenge hosted by LT-EDI<sup>1</sup>, given social media posts in English, the goal is to detect the signs of depression and classify them into three labels, namely not depression, moderate, and severe. To tackle the shared task, we propose a framework with three methods for modeling the given texts. Specifically, the sentence embedding is produced by pre-trained models, and the VAD score (positive, neutral, negative, and compound) is generated by VADER (Hutto and Gilbert, 2014). Then, our first method utilized sentence embedding and VAD scores in gradient boosting models using SMOTE (Chawla et al., 2002) to mitigate the imbalance issue. The second method used a multi-layer perceptron (MLP) to fine-tune the pre-trained models. In addition, the third method further incorporated VAD embedding with MLP to classify the signs of depression. Furthermore, the third method adopted supervised contrastive learning (Gunel et al., 2021) in both sentence embedding and VAD embedding to enhance the capability of generalization. Afterwards, we used ensemble techniques, which have been used for substantially improving model performance (Wang et al., 2020; Wang and Peng, 2022), to consider the advantage of each method for boosting the performance.

We use the dataset provided by (Sampath et al., 2022) to detect the signs of depression from social media text. The dataset contains 8,891 posts for training, 4,496 posts for validation, and 3,245 posts for evaluation, while each sample is composed of three columns: *PID*, *Text*, and *Label*. Table 1 shows some examples of the dataset.

In summary, our main results and observations are described as follows:

• We propose a framework with three methods including gradient boosting models, finetuning pre-trained models, and fine-tuning pre-trained models by supervised contrastive learning for modeling different aspects.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>†</sup>Equal contributions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>https://sites.google.com/view/lt-edi-2022/home

<sup>•</sup> Besides, the VAD score provides additional

Table 1: Samples from the depression dataset.

PID	Text	Label
train-pid-1	My life gets worse every year : That's what it feels like anyway	moderate
train-pid-2	Words can't describe how bad I feel right now : I just want to fall asleep forever.	severe
train-pid-3	Is anybody else hoping the Coronavirus shuts everybody down?	not depression

sentiment scores for detecting the signs of depression, and we adopt ensemble techniques to take advantage of each model.

• Our ensemble method achieved competitive performance in the shared task and won the 2nd prize (0.552 macro F1-score) in detecting signs of depression from social media text.

## 2 Related Work

Social media are among the platforms used to express one's emotions. They can therefore be viewed as an environment to study and discover user feelings. Recently, there have been several approaches to detecting signs of depression to eliminate the negative impact of emotions. For instance, Toto et al. (2021) introduced a framework with transfer learning to the multi-modality of textual context and audio characteristics of the human voice. Zogan et al. (2021) proposed DepressionNet by summarizing history posts as a summary of the user and applying different modalities to infer user behavior, which motivated us to include VAD scores as the additional post feature in this challenge.

## 3 Method

Figure 1 illustrates the pipeline of our framework. Given the input text, we first generate sentiment features (i.e., VAD scores) by VADER and sentence embeddings from pre-trained models. Then, we adopt three methods to model various aspects of the text, and apply ensemble techniques for integrating these predictions. Specifically, we use an unsupervised sentiment prediction, VADER, to assign sentiment scores to each sentence for measuring the sentiment effect of the word.

#### 3.1 Method 1: Gradient Boosting Models

We use SentenceTransformers (Reimers and Gurevych, 2019) to generate pre-trained sentence



Figure 1: The illustration of our proposed framework.

embeddings, and concatenate the sentiment feature embeddings and pre-trained sentence embedding to take different perspectives into account. Besides, SMOTE (Chawla et al., 2002) and CondensedNearestNeighbour (Gowda and Krishna, 1979) is used for tackling the imbalanced classification problem. Then, LightGBM (Ke et al., 2017) and XGBoost (Chen and Guestrin, 2016) are applied as classifiers to predict the probability of each category in order to reduce the bias and variance through combining different learners. Cross-entropy is applied to optimize the values of the hyper-parameters.

#### 3.2 Method 2: Pre-Trained Models

Fine-tuning pre-trained language models has demonstrated success in a wide range of natural language tasks since they provide fruitful information without the effort of training from scratch. To this end, we use three different pre-trained language models for fine-tuning in this task, including RoBERTa (Liu et al., 2019), ELECTRA (Clark et al., 2020), and DeBERTa (He et al., 2021). Specifically, for each pre-trained model, each given text is first tokenized and then produces the sentence embedding. Then, the sentence embedding is fed into a MLP to generate the predicted probabilities of depression. To tackle the imbalance issue, we employ torchsampler<sup>2</sup> for rebalancing the class distributions. The objective function is trained to minimize the cross-entropy, and the pre-trained models are applied from (Wolf et al., 2019).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>https://github.com/ufoym/imbalanced-dataset-sampler

# 3.3 Method 3: Contrastive Pre-Trained Models

To combine the ideas of the previous two methods, the sentence embedding is generated in the same way as the Sec. 3.2. Moreover, we apply VAD scores through an embedding layer with GeLU activation function (Hendrycks and Gimpel, 2016), which has been used in several natural language tasks. Afterwards, we concatenate the sentence embedding and VAD embedding as the input of an MLP to classify the probabilities of each sign of depression. The imbalance technique is also used as in Sec. 3.2.

We jointly train supervised contrastive learning (Gunel et al., 2021) and cross-entropy for enhancing the generalization of our method. Specifically, sentence embeddings and VAD embeddings are adopted supervised contrastive learning, respectively. Thus, similar sentences would become closer, while irrelevant sentences would increase the distance. The VAD scores would follow this phenomenon since it is reasonable that similar sentiment features would have a closer distance compared to the dissimilar sentiment features.

#### **3.4 Ensemble Techniques**

To combine the different advantages of each model, soft-voting ensemble is used for ensembling each method. Specifically, the predicted probabilities of Method 1 P1 are averaged by LightGBM and XG-Boost, and the predicted probabilities of Method 2 P2 are averaged by RoBERTa, ELECTRA, and DeBERTa. The predicted probabilities of Method 3 P3 are weighted averaged by RoBERTa, ELEC-TRA, and DeBERTa with the weights of 0.15, 0.5, and 0.35, respectively.

To boost the performance, the final predicted probabilities P are computed with power weighted sum as in (Wang and Peng, 2022):

$$P = P_1^N \times w_1 + P_2^N \times w_2 + P_3^N \times w_3, \quad (1)$$

where  $w_1, w_2, w_3$  are weights of the corresponding model, and N is the weight of power. In this paper, we tune these hyper-parameters based on the validation set and use N as 4 and ensemble weights as 1.00, 0.67, and 0.69, respectively.

#### **4** Experiments

#### 4.1 Implementation Details

Due to the page limit, we report the selected hyperparameters of each method and the official code in the appendix<sup>3</sup>. It is noted that all hyper-parameters are tuned with the validation set by grid search.

#### 4.2 Depression Performance

We first examine the advantages of each model, and Table 2 reports the F1-score of each category of each method in the validation set. It is observed that each model specializes in detecting various signs of depression, respectively. For instance, gradient boosting models are adept at identifying *not depression*. As a result, ensemble techniques incorporate different models to improve performance and robustness.

The results for the testing set are shown as Table 3 in terms of accuracy and macro-F1. Our ensemble model performs the best compared to each method we introduced and won 2nd prize among all the participants.

## 5 Conclusion

In this paper, we introduce a framework for the detecting signs of depression from social media text challenge which incorporates three different methods, namely gradient boosting models, pre-trained models, and contrastive pre-trained models. Furthermore, ensemble techniques are adopted to enable our model's ability to integrate the strengths of each model. The experimental results demonstrate the effectiveness of our framework and verify the different capabilities of each method. Thus, ensembling three approaches achieves better performance on both the validation set and the testing set, resulting in a second ranking and achieving a competitive performance.

#### References

- Nitesh V. Chawla, Kevin W. Bowyer, Lawrence O. Hall, and W. Philip Kegelmeyer. 2002. SMOTE: synthetic minority over-sampling technique. *J. Artif. Intell. Res.*, 16:321–357.
- Tianqi Chen and Carlos Guestrin. 2016. Xgboost: A scalable tree boosting system. In *KDD*, pages 785–794. ACM.
- Kevin Clark, Minh-Thang Luong, Quoc V. Le, and Christopher D. Manning. 2020. ELECTRA: pretraining text encoders as discriminators rather than generators. In *ICLR*. OpenReview.net.
- K. Chidananda Gowda and G. Krishna. 1979. The condensed nearest neighbor rule using the concept of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>https://github.com/wywyWang/Depression-Detection-LT-EDI-ACL-2022

Ensemble Gradient Contrastive Pre-trained models boosting models pre-trained models model 0.638 Not Depression 0.578 0.613 0.630 Moderate 0.633 0.704 0.667 0.707 Severe 0.416 0.510 0.506 0.532 Macro-F1 0.562 0.597 0.595 0.623

Table 2: F1-score of each category of each method for the validation set.

Table 3: Performance of our approach for the testing set.

	Gradient boosting models	Pre-trained models	Contrastive pre-trained models	Ensemble model
Accuracy	0.571	0.635	0.597	0.633
Macro-F1	0.496	0.528	0.523	0.552

mutual nearest neighborhood (corresp.). *IEEE Trans. Inf. Theory*, 25(4):488–490.

- Beliz Gunel, Jingfei Du, Alexis Conneau, and Veselin Stoyanov. 2021. Supervised contrastive learning for pre-trained language model fine-tuning. In *ICLR*. OpenReview.net.
- Pengcheng He, Xiaodong Liu, Jianfeng Gao, and Weizhu Chen. 2021. Deberta: decoding-enhanced bert with disentangled attention. In *ICLR*. OpenReview.net.
- Dan Hendrycks and Kevin Gimpel. 2016. Bridging nonlinearities and stochastic regularizers with gaussian error linear units. *CoRR*, abs/1606.08415.
- Clayton J. Hutto and Eric Gilbert. 2014. VADER: A parsimonious rule-based model for sentiment analysis of social media text. In *ICWSM*. The AAAI Press.
- Guolin Ke, Qi Meng, Thomas Finley, Taifeng Wang, Wei Chen, Weidong Ma, Qiwei Ye, and Tie-Yan Liu. 2017. Lightgbm: A highly efficient gradient boosting decision tree. In *NIPS*, pages 3146–3154.
- Yinhan Liu, Myle Ott, Naman Goyal, Jingfei Du, Mandar Joshi, Danqi Chen, Omer Levy, Mike Lewis, Luke Zettlemoyer, and Veselin Stoyanov. 2019. Roberta: A robustly optimized BERT pretraining approach. *CoRR*, abs/1907.11692.
- Jahandad Pirayesh, Haiquan Chen, Xiao Qin, Wei-Shinn Ku, and Da Yan. 2021. Mentalspot: Effective early screening for depression based on social contagion. In *CIKM*, pages 1437–1446. ACM.
- Nils Reimers and Iryna Gurevych. 2019. Sentence-bert: Sentence embeddings using siamese bert-networks. In *EMNLP/IJCNLP (1)*, pages 3980–3990. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Tulika Saha, Apoorva Upadhyaya, Sriparna Saha, and Pushpak Bhattacharyya. 2021. Towards sentiment and emotion aided multi-modal speech act classification in twitter. In *NAACL-HLT*, pages 5727–5737. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Kayalvizhi Sampath, Thenmozhi Durairaj, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, and Jerin Mahibha C. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Detecting Signs of Depression from Social Media. In *Proceedings* of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion. Association Computational Linguistics.
- Ermal Toto, M. L. Tlachac, and Elke A. Rundensteiner. 2021. Audibert: A deep transfer learning multimodal classification framework for depression screening. In *CIKM*, pages 4145–4154. ACM.
- Wei-Yao Wang, Kai-Shiang Chang, and Yu-Chien Tang. 2020. Emotiongif-yankee: A sentiment classifier with robust model based ensemble methods. *CoRR*, abs/2007.02259.
- Wei-Yao Wang and Wen-Chih Peng. 2022. Team yao at factify 2022: Utilizing pre-trained models and coattention networks for multi-modal fact verification. *CoRR*, abs/2201.11664.
- Thomas Wolf, Lysandre Debut, Victor Sanh, Julien Chaumond, Clement Delangue, Anthony Moi, Pierric Cistac, Tim Rault, Rémi Louf, Morgan Funtowicz, and Jamie Brew. 2019. Huggingface's transformers: State-of-the-art natural language processing. *CoRR*, abs/1910.03771.
- Hamad Zogan, Imran Razzak, Shoaib Jameel, and Guandong Xu. 2021. Depressionnet: Learning multimodalities with user post summarization for depression detection on social media. In *SIGIR*, pages 133– 142. ACM.

# UMUTeam@LT-EDI-ACL2022: Detecting homophobic and transphobic comments in Tamil

José Antonio García-Díaz and Camilo Caparrós-Laiz and Rafael Valencia-García

Facultad de Informática, Universidad de Murcia, Campus de Espinardo, 30100, Spain

{joseantonio.garcia8,camilo.caparrosl,valencia}@um.es

#### Abstract

This working-notes are about the participation of the UMUTeam in a LT-EDI shared task concerning the identification of homophobic and transphobic comments in YouTube. These comments are written in English, which has high availability to machine-learning resources; Tamil, which has fewer resources; and a transliteration from Tamil to Roman script combined with English sentences. To carry out this shared task, we train a neural network that combines several feature sets applying a knowledge integration strategy. These features are linguistic features extracted from a tool developed by our research group and contextual and noncontextual sentence embeddings. We ranked 7th for English subtask (macro f1-score of 45%), 3rd for Tamil subtask (macro f1-score of 82%), and 2nd for Tamil-English subtask (macro f1-score of 58%).

## 1 Introduction

This document outlines the participation of the UMUTeam in the workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity, Inclusion (LT-EDI, ACL 2022) (Chakravarthi et al., 2022). Specifically, we describe our participation in a shared task regarding the identification of homophobic and transphobic comments in YouTube, written in English, Tamil, and a transliteration from Tamil to Roman script combined with English sentences. Homophobic and transphobic messages harm society, and limit individual and collective freedom. Therefore, the consequences of this kind of hate-speech is especially dangerous for children (Moyano and del Mar Sánchez-Fuentes, 2020).

The details of the provided datasets can be found at (Chakravarthi et al., 2021). These datasets are divided into three splits, namely, training, validation, and test. Table 1 depicts the number of labels per dataset. as it can be observed, the datasets are heavily imbalanced. In general, each dataset has, approximately, 86% of the documents labelled as

*safe*, 9% labelled as *Homophobic*, and 5% labelled as *transphobic* labels.

Label	English	Tamil	Tamil-English
Homophobic	276	723	465
Transphobic	13	233	184
Safe	4567	3205	5385

Table 1: Number of labels for English, Tamil, and Tamil-English.

## 2 Related work

There are several surveys in the bibliography related with the identification of homophobic and transphobic comments. For instance, the works described at (Fortuna and Nunes, 2018) and (Jahan and Oussalah, 2021). Homophobic and transphobic comments are usually categorised as a form of hate-speech based on sexism or gender discrimination. These surveys indicate that there is a generic pipeline for building hate-speech detectors, that are based on the development of automatic document classification systems. The features for extracting data from textual sources are, usually, statistical methods. To name just a few, we mention the Bag of Word model, TF-IDF weights, topic modelling, and word and sentence embeddings. The models are traditional machine learning's classifiers (Support Vector Machines, Logistic Regression, or Random Forest, among others) and different neural network architectures based on convolutional, recurrent neural networks and the usage of stateof-the-art models based on transformers, such as BERT.

Our research group has experience dealing with hate-speech. In (García-Díaz et al., 2021a), the Spanish MisoCorpus 2020, concerning misogyny identification, was released and evaluated. This dataset is released into three minor splits, concerning (1) the identification of misogyny towards relevant women, (2) to find the differences between Spanish of Spain and Latin-America, and (3) to identify general traits concerning misogyny, such as stereotypes of derailing. In (García-Díaz et al., 2022), we conduct an in-depth analysis concerning linguistic features and word and sentence embeddings. Specifically, we evaluated which are the best strategies to combine these features to build better hate-speech detectors.

As part of the doctoral thesis of one of the members of the team, in this shared-task we evaluate a subset of linguistic features that are languageindependent. Therefore, a secondary objective of our participation is to observe if the combination of linguistic features and embeddings improves the performance of the automatic document classifiers.

## 3 Methodology

Our methodology can be summarised as follows. First, the pre-process the documents by removing extra spaces, blank lines, certain punctuation symbols, and emojis. Just for the English subtask, we also normalised the text by expanding acronyms and transformed the whole text into their lowercase form. Second, we extracted four feature sets that include linguistic features (LF), pretrained word embeddings from FastText (WE), sentences embeddings from FastText (SE), and sentence embeddings from BERT (BF). Third, we conduct an hyperparameter tuning strategy to build a neural network per feature set and one additional neural network that combines all feature sets (knowledge integration). Forth, we build two additional systems based on ensemble learning. Finally, we evaluate these methods to select the best approach for the final submission.

Next, we describe the feature sets employed in this work. The first feature set, LF, is a subset of language-independent features computed from the UMUTextStats tool (García-Díaz et al., 2021b; García-Díaz and Valencia-García, 2022). These features are related to stylometry, Part-of-Speech, emojis, and social media jargon. The second feature set, WE, is based on non-contextual embeddings from FastText. For this we use the pretrained embeddings of English (Mikolov et al., 2018) and the pretrained embeddings of Tamil (Grave et al., 2018). FastText calculates sentences embeddings by averaging word embeddings. The third feature set, SE, are sentence embeddings from FastText. The forth feature set, BF, is based on contextual sentence embeddings. We use BERT for English and

the distilled version of multilingual BERT (Sanh et al., 2019). We use the distilled version because our machine could not train large batches with default BERT. The sentence embeddings are extracted with the [CLS] token (Reimers and Gurevych, 2019). To obtain the sentence embeddings from BERT, we evaluate 10 models with Tree of Parzen Estimators (TPE) (Bergstra et al., 2013). The evaluated parameters were the weight decay, the batch size, the warm-up speed, the number of epochs, and the learning rate.

Next, we train a neural network for each feature set and a neural network that combines all the feature sets using a knowledge integration strategy. For each training, we conduct a hyperparameter optimisation stage. The training is performed with RayTune (Liaw et al., 2018). In this stage, we evaluated shallow neural networks and deep neural networks. The main difference is the number of layers, using only one or two in shallow neural networks whereas deep neural networks use up to 8 hidden layers. Another difference is the composition of the neurons in each layer. In shallow neural networks, all the layers have the same number of neurons. In deep neural networks, on the other hand, we arranged the neurons in different shapes (brickshape, triangle-shape, diamond-shape, rhombusshape, short and long funnel-shape).

It is worth noting that the knowledge strategy allows to combine the features into the neural network consists in outputting each one into a different layer and then combine all the results into a new hidden layer. This strategy allows us to include two specific architectures with the non-contextual word embeddings from fastText: convolutional and recurrent neural networks. These networks exploit different characteristics of a text represented as a sequence. Convolutional networks exploit the spatial dimension, as it can make up new features from words that are together. Recurrent neural networks, on the other hand, exploits the temporal dimension. Specifically, we evaluate two bidirectional recurrent layers (BiLSTM and BiGRU). Besides, we evaluate several activation functions to connect the hidden layers, different learning rates and a dropout for regularisation.

Table 2 depicts the results achieved for every dataset with the validation split. We can observe that the performance for the homophobic and transphobic labels in English and Tamil-English is limited, but the results are promising for Tamil, reaching a macro f1-score of 85.06%. For English and Tamil-English, both the precision and the recall are limited for the homophobic and transphobic labels. The lower results are caused by the strong class imbalance, which is not that big in the Tamil dataset.

In order to observe the performance of the best neural network with the validation split we obtain every confusion matrix (see Figure 1).

#### 4 Results

The official results in the leaderboard are depicted in Tables 3, 4, 5 for English, Tamil, and Tamil-English respectively. We can observe that we achieved good results for Tamil and Tamil-English, achieving the third and second position in the leaderboard. However, our results were more limited with the English dataset, in which we ranked 7th.

We achieved a macro F1-score of 45% in the English dataset (see Table 3). This result is 12% below the best result (Abliment team, 57% of F1-score). We achieved similar f1-score with *niksss*, achieving slightly superior precision but lower recall.

Regarding Tamil (see Table 4) we achieved the 3rd position, with a macro f1-score of 82%. This result is 5% below the best result (ARGUABLY, f1-score of 87%) and 2% below the second-best result (NAYEL, 84% of f1-score). Besides, our system achieved worse precision and recall than both participants.

Finally, the results from the Tamil-English dataset output a macro F1-score of 58% (see Table 5). Similar to the ones achieved by *bitsa\_nlp*. However, we achieved a significant drop in precision (61% vs 54%) but better recall (67% vs 56%).

#### 5 Conclusions

In this article, we have summarised the participation of the UMUTeam in a task concerning the identification of homophobic and transphobic in social media posts. We are very pleased with our participation as we have participated with all the datasets as we have achieved competitive results.

As future work, we will continue adapting these techniques to Tamil and English, specially those focused on figurative language (del Pilar Salas-Zárate et al., 2020). One limitation that we found on our approach is that we do not handle code-mixed language properly. As future work, we will explore the reliability of using multilingual resources.



Figure 1: Confusion matrix for English (top), Tamil (center), and Tamil-English (bottom) with the validation split in the neural network that combines all feature sets

	Р	R	F1	Р	R	F1	P	R	F1
		English			Tamil		Ta	mil-Engl	ish
Homophobic	43.08	32.56	37.09	82.03	75.42	78.59	35.74	58.94	44.50
Safe	96.11	97.59	96.84	93.33	95.98	94.64	95.91	90.06	92.89
Transphobic	50.00	25.00	33.33	88.06	76.62	81.94	47.76	53.33	50.39
macro avg	63.06	51.72	55.75	87.80	82.68	85.06	59.81	67.44	62.60
weighted avg	93.11	93.88	93.44	91.02	91.22	91.06	89.71	86.48	87.79

Table 2: Validation classification report for English, Tamil, and Tamil-English datasets with the neural network that combines all feature sets. P stands for precision, R for recall, and F1 for the macro f1-score

Team	acc	m-P	m-R	m-F1
Ablimet	91	57	61	57
Sammaan	94	52	47	49
Nozza	95	58	45	48
hate-alert	94	51	45	47
LeaningTower	94	53	43	46
niksss	93	46	44	45
UMUTeam	93	48	43	45
ARGUABLY	94	54	40	43
SOA_NLP	94	50	40	43
bitsa_nlp	92	43	42	42
NAYEL	94	51	37	39
SSNCSE_NLP	93	48	37	39

Table 3: Official results for English. The columns indicate the accuracy (acc) and macro (m-) values of Precision (P), Recall (R) and F1-Score (F1)

Team	acc	m-P	m-R	m-F1
ARGUABLY	94	88	85	87
NAYEL	92	86	81	84
UMUTeam	92	85	80	82
hate-alert	90	83	75	78
Ablimet	89	81	71	75
bitsa_nlp	85	69	61	64
niksss	81	72	59	62
Sammaan	88	52	58	55
SSNCSE_NLP	77	55	47	50
SOA_NLP	69	36	36	36

Table 4: Official results for Tamil. The columns indicate the accuracy (acc) and macro (m-) values of Precision (P), Recall (R) and f1-score (f1)

Team	acc	m-P	m-R	m-f1
ARGUABLY	89	63	60	61
UMUTeam	85	54	67	58
bitsa_nlp	88	61	56	58
hate-alert	83	54	63	56
SOA_NLP	90	65	50	54
Ablimet	80	49	64	53
niksss	88	56	50	52
NAYEL	90	62	47	51
SSNCSE_NLP	89	66	43	47
Sammaan	83	34	35	35
Ajetavya	87	34	34	34

Table 5: Official results for Tamil-English. The columns indicate the accuracy (acc) and macro (m-) values of Precision (P), Recall (R) and f1-score (F1)

## Acknowledgements

This work is part of the research project LaTe4PSP (PID2019-107652RB-I00) funded by MCIN/AEI/10.13039/501100011033. This work is also part of the research project PDC2021-121112-I00 funded by MCIN/AEI/10.13039/501100011033 and by the European Union NextGenerationEU/PRTR. In addition, José Antonio García-Díaz is supported by Banco Santander and the University of Murcia through the Doctorado Industrial programme.

#### References

- James Bergstra, Daniel Yamins, and David Cox. 2013. Making a science of model search: Hyperparameter optimization in hundreds of dimensions for vision architectures. In *International conference on machine learning*, pages 115–123. PMLR.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Thenmozhi Durairaj, John Phillip McCrae, Paul Buitaleer, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, and Rahul Ponnusamy. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Homophobia Transphobia Detection in Social Media Comments.

In Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Rahul Ponnusamy, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, Kayalvizhi Sampath, Durairaj Thenmozhi, Sathiyaraj Thangasamy, Rajendran Nallathambi, and John Phillip McCrae. 2021. Dataset for identification of homophobia and transophobia in multilingual youtube comments. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2109.00227*.
- María del Pilar Salas-Zárate, Giner Alor-Hernández, José Luis Sánchez-Cervantes, Mario Andrés Paredes-Valverde, Jorge Luis García-Alcaraz, and Rafael Valencia-García. 2020. Review of english literature on figurative language applied to social networks. *Knowledge and Information Systems*, 62(6):2105– 2137.
- Paula Fortuna and Sérgio Nunes. 2018. A survey on automatic detection of hate speech in text. ACM Computing Surveys (CSUR), 51(4):1–30.
- José Antonio García-Díaz, Mar Cánovas-García, Ricardo Colomo-Palacios, and Rafael Valencia-García. 2021a. Detecting misogyny in spanish tweets. an approach based on linguistics features and word embeddings. *Future Generation Computer Systems*, 114:506–518.
- José Antonio García-Díaz, Ricardo Colomo-Palacios, and Rafael Valencia-García. 2021b. Psychographic traits identification based on political ideology: An author analysis study on spanish politicians' tweets posted in 2020. *Future Generation Computer Systems*.
- José Antonio García-Díaz, Salud María Jiménez-Zafra, Miguel Angel García-Cumbreras, and Rafael Valencia-García. 2022. Evaluating feature combination strategies for hate-speech detection in spanish using linguistic features and transformers. *Complex* & *Intelligent Systems*, pages 1–22.
- José Antonio García-Díaz and Rafael Valencia-García. 2022. Compilation and evaluation of the spanish saticorpus 2021 for satire identification using linguistic features and transformers. *Complex & Intelligent Systems*, pages 1–14.
- Edouard Grave, Piotr Bojanowski, Prakhar Gupta, Armand Joulin, and Tomas Mikolov. 2018. Learning word vectors for 157 languages. In *Proceedings of the International Conference on Language Resources and Evaluation (LREC 2018).*
- Md Saroar Jahan and Mourad Oussalah. 2021. A systematic review of hate speech automatic detection using natural language processing. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2106.00742*.
- Richard Liaw, Eric Liang, Robert Nishihara, Philipp Moritz, Joseph E Gonzalez, and Ion Stoica. 2018. Tune: A research platform for distributed

model selection and training. *arXiv preprint* arXiv:1807.05118.

- Tomas Mikolov, Edouard Grave, Piotr Bojanowski, Christian Puhrsch, and Armand Joulin. 2018. Advances in pre-training distributed word representations. In *Proceedings of the International Conference on Language Resources and Evaluation (LREC* 2018).
- Nieves Moyano and María del Mar Sánchez-Fuentes. 2020. Homophobic bullying at schools: A systematic review of research, prevalence, school-related predictors and consequences. *Aggression and violent behavior*, 53:101441.
- Nils Reimers and Iryna Gurevych. 2019. Sentence-bert: Sentence embeddings using siamese bert-networks. In *Proceedings of the 2019 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing*. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Victor Sanh, Lysandre Debut, Julien Chaumond, and Thomas Wolf. 2019. Distilbert, a distilled version of bert: smaller, faster, cheaper and lighter. *ArXiv*, abs/1910.01108.

# UMUTeam@LT-EDI-ACL2022: Detecting Signs of Depression from text

José Antonio García-Díaz and Rafael Valencia-García\*

Facultad de Informática, Universidad de Murcia, Campus de Espinardo, 30100, Spain {joseantonio.garcia8, valencia}@um.es

#### Abstract

Depression is a mental condition related to sadness and the lack of interest in common daily tasks. In this working-notes, we describe the proposal of the UMUTeam in the LT-EDI shared task (ACL 2022) concerning the identification of signs of depression in social network posts. This task is somehow related to other relevant Natural Language Processing tasks such as Emotion Analysis. In this shared task, the organisers challenged the participants to distinguish between moderate and severe signs of depression (or no signs of depression at all) in a set of social posts written in English. Our proposal is based on the combination of linguistic features and several sentence embeddings using a knowledge integration strategy. Our proposal achieved the 6th position, with a macro f1-score of 53.82 in the official leader board.

### 1 Introduction

The automatic analysis of depression is a medium that allows people to support their mental health (Evans-Lacko et al., 2018). The shared-task Dep-Sign LT-EDI (ACL-2022) (Sampath et al., 2022) aims to measure the ability of neural networks and Natural Language Processing (NLP) tools to detect signs of depression from social media posts written in English. It is worth noting that this is not the first shared task concerning the identification of depression. In (Losada et al., 2017), the organisers of eRisk 2017 develop a pilot project which main purpose is the identification of early risk detection of depression.

In this shared task, the organisers proposed a multi-classification challenge that consists of identifying whether a moderate or severe sign of depression is observed in a short text or, on the contrary, no sign of depression is observed. For this, the performance of all participants is ranked using the macro averaged precision, recall and f1-score. The details of the dataset compilation can be found at (Kayalvizhi and Thenmozhi, 2022). The dataset is distributed into three folds: training, validation, and testing. We decided to use this distribution and not to merge train and validation to make a custom training-validation split. Table 1 depicts the label distribution per split. We can observe that the dataset is imbalanced, with many instances that reflect moderate signs of depression.

	Train	Validation	Test
Not depressed	1971	1830	-
Moderate	6019	2306	-
Severe	901	360	-
Total	8891	4496	3245

Table 1: Label distribution

Our research group has experience in Emotion Analysis. Specifically, we participated in the Emo-EvalEs shared task (Plaza-del Arco et al., 2021), organised in the IberLEF 2021 workshop. This shared-task is about a multi-classification task of identification of emotions in Spanish (based on Ekman's basic emotions). Our participation is detailed at (García-Díaz et al., 2021b). Besides, we released the Spanish MisoCorpus 2021 and evaluated with different feature sets and neural network models (García-Díaz et al., 2022). In the same line, we evaluated in (García-Díaz et al., 2022) how to combine different feature sets and state-of-the-art neural network architectures for improving automatic hate-speech detectors. Specifically, we tested two strategies for combining the features: knowledge integration and ensemble learning. In this work we evaluate these strategies as well. Besides, as part of the doctoral thesis of one of the members of the team, we evaluate a subset of languageindependent linguistic features in order to observe if they contribute to improve the performance of state-of-the-art embeddings.

Corresponding author

### 2 Methodology

Our pipeline can be summarised as follows. First, documents are pre-processed by removing punctuation symbols, spaces, emojis, and punctuation. Second, four feature sets are extracted from the documents: linguistic features (LF), sentence embeddings from FastText (SE), BERT (BF), and RoBERTa (RF). Third, several neural networks with different combinations of the feature sets are trained using hyperparameter tuning. Forth, two additional ensembles are created to combine the features. Finally, we use the best neural network to get the final submission with the official test.

Next, we describe the feature extraction stage. The linguistic features (LF) are extracted with the UMUTextStats tool (García-Díaz and Valencia-García, 2022). The linguistic features are related to stylometry (for instance, word and sentence length, or Type-Token ratio), Part-of-Speech, emojis and generic social network jargon. The main advantage of linguistic features versus state-of-the-art embeddings is that linguistic features are easy to interpret at the same time they achieve promising results, specially in Author Analysis tasks (García-Díaz et al., 2021a). The sentence embeddings from FastText (SE) are extracted with the FastText tool (Mikolov et al., 2018). These sentence embeddings are not contextual. That is, the same word has the same representation, regardless of its context. Finally, the sentence embeddings from BERT (BF) and RoBERTa (RF) are extracted from distilled models (Sanh et al., 2019). We use the distilled versions because they require less computational resources. To obtain the sentence embeddings from BERT or RoBERTa, a hyperparameter selection stage of 10 models is conducted to obtain a good configuration of the models. Next, the sentence embeddings from BERT and RoBERTa are obtained from the [CLS] token (using the approach described at (Reimers and Gurevych, 2019)). During the hyperparameter selection stage, we use Tree of Parzen Estimators (TPE) (Bergstra et al., 2013) for determining the best parameters (weight decay, batch size, warm-up speed, number of epochs, and learning rate).

The next step is the training of several neural networks. We train a neural network for each feature set (LF, SE, BF, RF), and a neural network that combines all feature sets (LF + SE + BF + RF). All these neural networks are trained with hyperparameter selection. For this, we rely on Ray Tune (Liaw

et al., 2018). For each training, we evaluate different number of hidden layers, neurons, batch size, learning rate or regularisation mechanisms. We distinguish between (1) shallow neural networks, that are simple neural networks composed of one or two hidden layers with the same number of neurons in each layer; and (2) deep neural networks, that have 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 or 8 hidden layers. Besides, the layers of deep neural networks are evaluated with different number of neurons disposed in several shapes (brick, triangle, diamond, rhombus, and funnel). For the rest of the parameters, we evaluate large batch sizes due to class imbalance, a dropout mechanism for regularisation (in different ratios), and small and large learning rates.

The results for the hyperparameter optimisation stage are shown in Table 2. We can observe that the best neural network that combines all features consisted in a shallow neural network composed of 2 wide hidden layers, with 128 neurons each. The batch size is large (512), the learning rate is large (0.01) and there is no activation function (is linear). Besides, this network uses a small dropout ratio of .1.

## 3 Results and discussion

We report the results achieved with the validation split. Table 3 depicts the macro average precision, recall, and f1-score of each feature set separately and combined with ensemble learning and two ensemble learning strategies: one based on the mode of the predictions and another based on averaging the predictions.

From the results achieved with the feature sets separately, BF is the one that achieves better results (77.27% of f1-score). This result is similar to RF (76.91% of f1-score) and outperforms largely SE and LF. With the knowledge integration strategy, the results outperform the ones achieved separately, with a f1-score of 77.90. Besides, when the results are combined with ensembles, the results are larger with the average of the probabilities (mean) achieving a macro f1-score of 78.69.

We decided to use for the final submission the predictions obtained with the knowledge integration strategy. This decision is taken because in past competitions we have achieved better results with this strategy with the official test (that is, we suspect this strategy generalises better than ensemble learning). Accordingly, we show the classification report of the validation split in Table 4 and its con-

	shape	\# of layers	first_neuron	dropout	lr	activation
LF	brick	1	48	0.1	0.001	relu
SE	brick	2	128	False	0.010	relu
BF	brick	1	48	0.1	0.010	relu
RF	brick	1	128	0.3	0.001	relu
K.I.	brick	2	128	0.1	0.010	linear

Table 2: Results for the best hyperparameters for each feature set separately or combined using knowledge integration. We include the shape of the neural network, the number of layers, the number of neurons in the first hidden layer, the dropout ratio, the learning rate, and the activation function

Feature set	Р	R	<b>F1</b>
LF	61.42	61.44	60.44
SE	70.02	69.89	69.92
BF	78.80	75.97	77.27
RF	76.98	76.86	76.91
K. I.	79.88	76.30	77.90
Ensemble (Mode)	80.52	71.70	75.12
Ensemble (Mean)	80.47	77.18	78.69

Table 3: Macro average precision (P), recall (R), and f1-score (F1) of each feature set (LF, SE, BF and RF), the knowledge integration strategy (K.I) and the two ensemble learning strategies (mode and mean) with the validation split

fusion matrix in Figure 1. We can observe that the precision and recall of all labels are competitive, achieving a macro f1-score of 79.90% and a weighted f1-score of 81.41%. Moderate sign of depression (the majority label) is the one that achieves better precision and recall. Concerning the confusion matrix, we can observe that most wrong classifications occur between not depression and moderate depression and between severe and moderate depression. This means that our system does not mismatch severe failures, such as classifying severe signs of depression as not depression.

	Р	R	<b>F1</b>
moderate	83.61	89.49	86.45
not depression	77.78	68.11	72.63
severe	78.26	71.29	74.61
macro avg	79.88	76.30	77.90
weighted avg	81.45	81.70	81.41

Table 4: Classification report of the knowledge integration strategy with the validation split, showing the precision (P), recall (R) and f1-score (F1) of each label and the macro and weighted scores

Next, Table 5 shows the official results in the leader board. We achieved 6th position in the task



Figure 1: Confusion matrix of knowledge integration strategy with the validation split

in a total of 31 teams. We achieve 53.82 of macro f1-score (4.48% below the best result).

Team	R	Р	<b>F1</b>
OPI (1)	59.12	58.60	58.30
NYCU_TWD (2)	57.32	53.94	55.23
ARGUABLY (3)	57.20	53.03	54.67
BERT4EVER (4)	58.06	52.18	54.26
KADO (5)	57.04	52.63	54.22
UMUTeam (6)	55.75	52.48	53.82

Table 5: Official results, including the team name and the rank, the recall (R), precision (P), and the macro f1-score (f1)

# 4 Conclusions and promising research lines

Here we have described the participation of UMUTeam in the LT-EDI-ACL2022 shared task, concerning the identification of moderate and severe signs of depression in short texts. We achieved 6th position from a total of 31 participants with a system that combines linguistic features and three forms of sentence embeddings using knowledge integration. We are proud of our participation as it has allowed us to evaluate a subset of languageindependent linguistic features. Accordingly, we will continue to adapt our methods to English. Specifically, we will include linguistic features from figurative language, as the ones described at (del Pilar Salas-Zárate et al., 2020).

## Acknowledgements

This work is part of the research project LaTe4PSP (PID2019-107652RB-I00) funded by MCIN/ AEI/10.13039/501100011033. This work is also part of the research project PDC2021-121112-I00 funded by MCIN/AEI/10.13039/501100011033 and by the European Union NextGenerationEU/PRTR. In addition, José Antonio García-Díaz is supported by Banco Santander and the University of Murcia through the Doctorado Industrial programme.

## References

- James Bergstra, Daniel Yamins, and David Cox. 2013. Making a science of model search: Hyperparameter optimization in hundreds of dimensions for vision architectures. In *International conference on machine learning*, pages 115–123. PMLR.
- María del Pilar Salas-Zárate, Giner Alor-Hernández, José Luis Sánchez-Cervantes, Mario Andrés Paredes-Valverde, Jorge Luis García-Alcaraz, and Rafael Valencia-García. 2020. Review of english literature on figurative language applied to social networks. *Knowledge and Information Systems*, 62(6):2105– 2137.
- Sara Evans-Lacko, Sergio Aguilar-Gaxiola, Ali Al-Hamzawi, Jordi Alonso, Corina Benjet, Ronny Bruffaerts, WT Chiu, Silvia Florescu, Giovanni de Girolamo, Oye Gureje, et al. 2018. Socio-economic variations in the mental health treatment gap for people with anxiety, mood, and substance use disorders: results from the who world mental health (wmh) surveys. *Psychological medicine*, 48(9):1560–1571.
- José Antonio García-Díaz, Ricardo Colomo-Palacios, and Rafael Valencia-García. 2021a. Psychographic traits identification based on political ideology: An author analysis study on spanish politicians' tweets posted in 2020. *Future Generation Computer Systems*.
- José Antonio García-Díaz, Ricardo Colomo-Palacios, and Rafael Valencia-Garcia. 2021b. Umuteam at emoevales 2021: Emosjon analysis for spanish based on explainable linguistic features and transformers.

- José Antonio García-Díaz, Salud María Jiménez-Zafra, Miguel Angel García-Cumbreras, and Rafael Valencia-García. 2022. Evaluating feature combination strategies for hate-speech detection in spanish using linguistic features and transformers. *Complex* & *Intelligent Systems*, pages 1–22.
- José Antonio García-Díaz and Rafael Valencia-García. 2022. Compilation and evaluation of the spanish saticorpus 2021 for satire identification using linguistic features and transformers. *Complex & Intelligent Systems*, pages 1–14.
- S Kayalvizhi and D Thenmozhi. 2022. Data set creation and empirical analysis for detecting signs of depression from social media postings. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2202.03047*.
- Richard Liaw, Eric Liang, Robert Nishihara, Philipp Moritz, Joseph E Gonzalez, and Ion Stoica. 2018. Tune: A research platform for distributed model selection and training. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1807.05118*.
- David E Losada, Fabio Crestani, and Javier Parapar. 2017. erisk 2017: Clef lab on early risk prediction on the internet: experimental foundations. In *International Conference of the Cross-Language Evaluation Forum for European Languages*, pages 346–360. Springer.
- Tomas Mikolov, Edouard Grave, Piotr Bojanowski, Christian Puhrsch, and Armand Joulin. 2018. Advances in pre-training distributed word representations. In *Proceedings of the International Conference on Language Resources and Evaluation (LREC* 2018).
- Flor Miriam Plaza-del Arco, Salud M Jiménez Zafra, Arturo Montejo Ráez, M Dolores Molina González, Luis Alfonso Ureña López, and María Teresa Martín Valdivia. 2021. Overview of the emoevales task on emotion detection for spanish at iberlef 2021.
- Nils Reimers and Iryna Gurevych. 2019. Sentence-bert: Sentence embeddings using siamese bert-networks. In *Proceedings of the 2019 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing*. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Kayalvizhi Sampath, Thenmozhi Durairaj, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, and Jerin Mahibha C. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Detecting Signs of Depression from Social Media. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Victor Sanh, Lysandre Debut, Julien Chaumond, and Thomas Wolf. 2019. Distilbert, a distilled version of BERT: smaller, faster, cheaper and lighter. *CoRR*, abs/1910.01108.

# bitsa\_nlp@LT-EDI-ACL2022: Leveraging Pretrained Language Models for Detecting Homophobia and Transphobia in Social Media Comments

Vitthal Bhandari and Poonam Goyal Birla Institute of Technology and Science, Pilani, India f20170136p@alumni.bits-pilani.ac.in poonam@pilani.bits-pilani.ac.in

#### Abstract

Online social networks are ubiquitous and userfriendly. Nevertheless, it is vital to detect and moderate offensive content to maintain decency and empathy. However, mining social media texts is a complex task since users don't adhere to any fixed patterns. Comments can be written in any combination of languages and many of them may be low-resource.

In this paper, we present our system for the LT-EDI shared task on detecting homophobia and transphobia in social media comments. We experiment with a number of monolingual and multilingual transformer based models such as mBERT along with a data augmentation technique for tackling class imbalance. Such pretrained large models have recently shown tremendous success on a variety of benchmark tasks in natural language processing. We observe their performance on a carefully annotated, real life dataset of YouTube comments in English as well as Tamil.

Our submission achieved ranks 9, 6 and 3 with a macro-averaged F1-score of 0.42, 0.64 and 0.58 in the English, Tamil and Tamil-English subtasks respectively. The code for the system has been open sourced<sup>1</sup>.

## 1 Introduction

Twenty first century social media has become the epicenter of polarized opinions, arguments, and claims. The ease of information access not only benefits fruitful discussions but also facilitates phenomena such as hate speech and cyber bullying.

Recently organized workshops and shared tasks have fostered discussions around detection of hate speech, toxicity, misogyny, sexism, racism and abusive content (Zampieri et al., 2020; Mandl et al., 2020). While research in processing and classifying offensive language in social media is vast (Pamungkas et al., 2021), there is very little work

<sup>1</sup>The code for this task is available at github.com/vitthalbhandari/Homophobia-Transphobia-Detection. on detecting sexual orientation discrimination in particular. More so, compared to resource-rich languages such as English and Japanese, Indic languages such as Tamil and Malayalam are scarce in well-annotated data. Although advancements in large multilingual models have promoted crosslingual transfer learning in Indic languages (Dowlagar and Mamidi, 2021), there have not been any visible attempts to censor homophobia and transphobia. The perception of the subject matter as being taboo prohibits advancements in data collection, annotation and analysis.

Curbing sensitive online content is imperative for preventing harm to mental health of the community as well as avoiding divide between minorities. These reasons have contributed towards the need of moderating social media comments spreading any form of hatred towards the LGBTQIA+ population.

While both - the detection of homophobia/transphobia and the corresponding research in Indic languages - is underserved and low-resource, another factor contributing to the difficulty in processing social media texts is code-mixing - a phenomena in which multilingual speakers switch between two or more languages in a conversation with the aim to be more expressive. Popular language models tend to perform adversely when applied to code-mixed text and hence newer techniques need to be adopted to handle this situation (Doğruöz et al., 2021).

The pretraining and fine-tuning paradigm has taken extensive advantage of transformer based large multilingual models which perform well in cross-lingual scenarios. In this paper we explore the performance of a number of such models when fine-tuned on a dataset for detecting homophobia and transphobia. Surprisingly, our experiments also show that these multilingual models exhibit reasonably accurate performance on code-mixing tasks, even without any previous exposure to codemixing during pretraining. The remainder of the paper is organized as follows: Section 2 talks about the previous related work in this domain. Section 3 gives a detailed explanation of the methods used in the system and Section 4 describes the corresponding experimental settings. We mention the detailed results in Section 5, conduct an ablation study in Section 6 and conclude our discussion with Section 7.

## 2 Related Work

To the best of our knowledge no prior work identifying either homophobia or transphobia directly exists in recent literature. However, offensive language detection, in general, in Dravidian languages has been the focus of multiple research works in the past (Chakravarthi et al., 2021a; Mandl et al., 2020).

Baruah et al. (2021) at HASOC-Dravidian-CodeMix-FIRE2020 trained an SVM classifier using TF-IDF features on code-mixed Malayalam text and an XLM-RoBERTa based classifier on codemixed Tamil text to detect offensive language in Twitter and YouTube comments. Sai and Sharma (2020) fine-tuned multilingual transformer models and used a bagging ensemble strategy to combine predictions on the same task.

Saha et al. (2021) developed fusion models by ensembling CNNs trained on skip-gram word vectors using FastText along with fine-tuned BERT models. A neural classification head was trained on the concatenated output obtained from the ensemble.

A number of approaches have been deployed to tackle code mixing in Indic languages as well, since multilingual transformer models lack the complexity to extract linguistic features directly from code switched text. Vasantharajan and Thayasivam (2021) used a selective translation and transliteration technique to process Tamil code-mixed YouTube comments for offensive language identification. They converted code-mixed text to native Tamil script by translating English words and transliterating romainzed Tamil words. Similar technique was used by Upadhyay et al. (2021) and Srinivasan (2020).

## 3 Methodology

This shared task was formulated as a multiclass classification problem where the model should be able to predict the existence of any form of homophobia or transphobia in a YouTube comment. The entire pipeline consists of two main components - a classification head on top of different popular models based on the transformer architecture, and a data augmentation technique for oversampling the English dataset. These components have been explained in further detail ahead.

#### 3.1 Transformer-based Models

Since its introduction in 2017, the Transformer architecture and its variants have set a new state of the art across several NLP tasks. Various pre-trained language models (PLMs) based on the Transformer architecture were experimented with in this task as mentioned below.

**BERT** (bert-base-uncased) uses the encoder part of the Transformer architecture and has been pretrained on the Book Corpus and English Wikipedia using a masked language modeling (MLM) and next sentence prediction (NSP) objective (Devlin et al., 2018).

**mBERT** or multilingual BERT (bert-base-multilingual-cased) is a BERT model that has been pretrained on 104 languages across Wikipedia and has shown surprisingly good cross-lingual performance on several NLP tasks.

**XLM-RoBERTa** (xlm-roberta-base) has been pretrained on 2.5TB of massive multilingual data using the MLM objective. It beat mBERT on various cross-lingual benchmarks (Conneau et al., 2019).

**IndicBERT** is pretrained on a large-scale corpora of 12 Indian languages. It outperforms mBERT and XLM-RoBERTa on a number of tasks, while having 10 times fewer parameters to train (Kakwani et al., 2020).

**HateBERT** is obtained by re-training BERT on RAL-E, a large-scale dataset of reddit comments from banned communities. It outperforms BERT on three English datasets for offensive, abusive language and hate speech detection tasks. (Caselli et al., 2021).

#### 3.2 Data Augmentation

Data augmentation is an important technique to build robust and more generalizable models. There are a number of techniques in NLP, each suitable to a certain task that can be used to augment the data (Feng et al., 2021).

For this task (in English), Surface Form Alteration as exhibited by *Easy Data Augmentation* (EDA) was utilized (Wei and Zou, 2019). EDA

Class	]	English			Tamil		Tan	nil-Engli	sh
Class	Train	Dev	Test	Train	Dev	Test	Train	Dev	Test
Homophobic	157	58	61	485	103	135	311	66	88
Transphobic	6	2	5	155	37	41	112	38	34
Non-anti-LGBT+ content	3001	732	924	2022	526	657	3438	862	1085
Total		4946			4161			6034	

Table 1: Detailed split of the multilingual dataset of YouTube comments

produces new data samples by randomly deleting, inserting or swapping the order of words in a sentence. It can also perform synonym replacement for any word selected at random. These four simple, yet effective, operations make EDA easy to use.

## 4 Experimental Setup

In this section we review the setup needed to reproduce the experiments.

#### 4.1 Datasets

The dataset for the task was provided by the organizers (Chakravarthi et al., 2021b). It is a collection of 15,141 multilingual YouTube comments classified as being one of Homophobic, Transphobic, or Non-anti-LGBT+ content. The split of the dataset is shown in Table 1.

#### 4.2 Preprocessing

Two different preprocessing methods were adopted. First, punctuation symbols were removed, since social media comments are highly informal and tend to contain large number of punctuation symbols which may dilute the system performance.

In addition, de-emojification was carried out to replace emojis in the text with corresponding English expressions using the Python emoji package. Table 2 displays a sample de-emojification example.

I love it 💜 💜 💜

i love it growing heart growing heart growing heart

Table 2: Depiction of de-emojification on a sampleEnglish YouTube comment

#### 4.3 EDA Parameters

As is visible from Table 1, the dataset is highly imbalanced in its split. The Homophobia class constitutes slightly less than 10% of the data, while only 2.9% comments were labeled as being Transphobic. Hence both these classes were subject to

oversampling by means of EDA. The class Nonanti-LGBT+ content was downsampled to mitigate the imbalance.

Augmentation was only applied to English comments.

The parameter  $\alpha$  (indicating the percent of words in a sentence that are changed) was kept as default (= 0.1). However the argument  $n_{aug}$  (specifying the number of augmentations to be produced for each sample) was chosen to be 16 and 32 for Homophobia and Transphobia classes respectively.

GT	I have to experience like that. So sad
RD	i to experience like so sad
SR	i have to experience like that so pitiful
RI	i have to experience like that distressing so sad
RS	experience have to i like that so sad

Table 3: Depiction of data augmentation on a sample English YouTube comment. GT: ground truth, RD: random deletion, SR: synonym replacement, RI: random insertion, RS: random swapping

The final classwise split of the training data is shown in Table 4.

Class	Final size
Homophobic	2826
Transphobic	204
Non-anti-LGBT+ content	1500

 Table 4: Classwise split of the training data after EDA augmentation

## 4.4 Baseline Methods

We provide baselines for all three tracks based on a simple feature extraction approach.

We use the [CLS] token associated with the final hidden state of the transformer model as feature vector for a linear regression classifier.

To extract the hidden state from the checkpoint, we use BERT base model for the English track and mBERT for the other tracks.

#### 4.5 Setup

The experiments were run on a Google Colab Pro notebook with Tesla P100 GPU.

For the all tasks, the maximum sequence length was set to 128 and batch size to 32. The learning rate and the number of epochs were set to 2e - 5 and 3 respectively for the English and Tamil track and 3e - 5 and 5 respectively for the code-mixed track. The choice of EDA parameters was based on suggestions given in the original paper whereas the model hyperparameters were selected based on popular successful configurations.

## 5 Results

The metric used to rank system performances is macro-averaged F1-score. It is calculated as the (unweighted) arithmetic mean of all the per-class F1-scores.

Macro-averaged F1-score 
$$= \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} F1_i$$

where i is the class index and N is the number of classes

Tables 5, 7 and 9 list the macro-averaged Precision, macro-averaged Recall and macro-averaged F1-score for various PLMs tested on English, Tamil and code-mixed Tamil-English development dataset respectively.

Similarly Tables 6, 8 and 10 list the corresponding metrics achieved by the final submissions on English, Tamil and Tamil-English test dataset as released by the organizers.

The tables also provide baseline metrics for each track based on the method explained in Section 4.4.

#### 5.1 English

Model	Р	R	F1
BERT embeddings + LR	0.40	0.47	0.42
BERT base cased	0.46	0.46	0.461
XLM-RoBERTa	0.49	0.40	0.42
hateBERT	0.50	0.44	0.461
mBERT	0.48	0.45	0.462

Table 5: Performance of various PLMs on augmented, preprocessed English development dataset

#### 5.2 Tamil

Here we investigate the performance of some popular multilingual models that were trained on Tamil language.

Model	Р	R	F1
mBERT	0.43	0.42	0.42

Table 6: Performance of best peforming system(mBERT) on preprocessed English test dataset

Model	Р	R	F1
mBERT embeddings + LR	0.71	0.59	0.63
IndicBERT	0.48	0.47	0.47
XLM-RoBERTa	0.47	0.55	0.50
mBERT	0.77	0.71	0.72

Table 7: Performance of various PLMs on preprocessed Tamil development dataset

Model	Р	R	F1
mBERT	0.69	0.61	0.64

Table 8: Performance of best peforming system(mBERT) on preprocessed Tamil test dataset

#### 5.3 Tamil-English

For the code-mixed task, we analyze the performance of the same set of multilingual models that were experimented with on the Tamil task.

Model	Р	R	F1
mBERT embeddings + LR	0.61	0.47	0.51
IndicBERT	0.39	0.41	0.40
XLM-RoBERTa	0.40	0.43	0.41
mBERT	0.67	0.52	0.54

Table 9: Performance of various PLMs on preprocessed Tamil-English development dataset

Model	Р	R	F1
mBERT	0.61	0.56	0.58

Table 10: Performance of best performing system(mBERT) on preprocessed Tamil-English test dataset

## 6 Ablation Study

In this section we discuss the effect of preprocessing and data augmentation (DA) on the model performance.

The dataset as described in Section 4.4 is highly skewed towards the *Non-anti-LGBT+ content* class. Hence it makes sense to compare the performance of a majority classifier with that of the models submitted for evaluation.

We train a dummy classifier based on mostfrequent strategy and tabulate the results (macroaveraged Precision, Recall and F1-score) in Table 11. We deliberately use the un-augmented version of preprocessed English dataset to show the show the performance of the majority classifier without handling class imbalance.

	Р	R	F1
English	0.31	0.33	0.32
Tamil	0.26	0.33	0.29
Code-mixed	0.30	0.33	0.31

Table 11: Performance of dummy majority classifier on the dataset

The poor performance is a consequence of the extreme class imbalance which we aim to solve by data augmentation. However, not all DA techniques prove to be effective for all NLP tasks. Thus we also analyze the effect of preprocessing and DA on the performance of transformer models.

Table 12 analyzes the efficacy of EDA as a DA technique for handling class imbalance in our English dataset. It also divides a line between the performance of the model on the stock dataset v/s one that has been preprocessed.

	Setting	Р	R	F1	Rel.
	base	0.52	0.40	0.43	
English	+PRE	0.40	0.43	0.41	$\downarrow$
	+DA	0.52	0.37	0.39	$\downarrow$
	base	0.73	0.75	0.74	
Tamil	+PRE	0.70	0.73	0.72	$\downarrow$
	base	0.43	0.42	0.43	
Code-mixed	+PRE	0.71	0.56	0.60	$\uparrow$

Table 12: Performance of mBERT on the stock version of the dataset as it is (base), preprocessed dataset (+PRE) and augmented but non-preprocessed English dataset (+DA)

We observe that preprocessing (de-emojification in all three tracks and de-punctuation in the case of only English) does not increase the macro-averaged F1 score for English and Tamil. Infact it reduces the score by a small margin. However, we notice a significant improvement in the case of code-mixing.

We also observe that EDA is not an efficient DA technique as it fails to handle the class imbalance. Transformer models were able to successfully predict with higher precision and recall in the absence of any augmentation and with limited samples.

## 7 Conclusion and Future Work

Homophobia and transphobia have not been the focus of many umbrella hate speech detection tasks. We examined the ability of pretrained large transformer-based models to detect homophobia and transphobia in a corpus of YouTube comments written in English and Tamil. Experimental results demonstrated that multilingual BERT performed the best on both language tasks, and the code-mixed task as well, without being exposed to any codemixing beforehand. This can be attributed to its capability for zero-shot cross-lingual transfer when fine-tuned on downstream tasks.

From Section 6 we also observed that the effect of preprocessing was largely dependent on the choice of language setting. This makes sense considering the difference in underlying language constructs. Tamil, for instance, does not make use of standard English-based punctuation marks. On the other hand, we conclude that the choice of an effective DA techniqe depends on the underlying task and the data source. Social media data often lacks linguistic purism and hence, token perturbations such as those introduced by EDA did not help.

In the future, we would like to adopt a more aggressive DA technique such as that involving text generation (text In-filling, generating typos) or an auxilliary dataset (kNN, LM decoding). We would also like to evaluate the effect of translation and transliteration on code-mixed text classification.

## Acknowledgments

We would like to acknowledge the efforts of the workshop organizers in effecting positive social change through AI by conducting such shared tasks. We also thank the reviewers for their time and insightful comments.

## References

- Arup Baruah, Kaushik Amar Das, Ferdous Ahmed Barbhuiya, and Kuntal Dey. 2021. Iiitg-adbu@ hasocdravidian-codemix-fire2020: Offensive content detection in code-mixed dravidian text. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2107.14336*.
- Tommaso Caselli, Valerio Basile, Jelena Mitrović, and Michael Granitzer. 2021. HateBERT: Retraining BERT for abusive language detection in English. In Proceedings of the 5th Workshop on Online Abuse and Harms (WOAH 2021), pages 17–25, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Navya Jose, Anand Kumar M, Thomas Mandl, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, Rahul Ponnusamy, Hariharan R L, John P. McCrae, and Elizabeth Sherly. 2021a. Findings of the shared task on offensive language identification in Tamil, Malayalam, and Kannada. In Proceedings of the First Workshop on Speech and Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages, pages 133–145, Kyiv. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Rahul Ponnusamy, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, Kayalvizhi Sampath, D. Thenmozhi, S. Thangasamy, Rajendran Nallathambi, and John P. McCrae. 2021b. Dataset for identification of homophobia and transophobia in multilingual youtube comments. *ArXiv*, abs/2109.00227.
- Alexis Conneau, Kartikay Khandelwal, Naman Goyal, Vishrav Chaudhary, Guillaume Wenzek, Francisco Guzmán, Edouard Grave, Myle Ott, Luke Zettlemoyer, and Veselin Stoyanov. 2019. Unsupervised cross-lingual representation learning at scale. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1911.02116*.
- Jacob Devlin, Ming-Wei Chang, Kenton Lee, and Kristina Toutanova. 2018. BERT: pre-training of deep bidirectional transformers for language understanding. *CoRR*, abs/1810.04805.
- A. Seza Doğruöz, Sunayana Sitaram, Barbara E. Bullock, and Almeida Jacqueline Toribio. 2021. A survey of code-switching: Linguistic and social perspectives for language technologies. In Proceedings of the 59th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics and the 11th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 1654–1666, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Suman Dowlagar and Radhika Mamidi. 2021. A survey of recent neural network models on code-mixed indian hate speech data. In *Forum for Information Retrieval Evaluation*, FIRE 2021, page 67–74, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.
- Steven Y Feng, Varun Gangal, Jason Wei, Sarath Chandar, Soroush Vosoughi, Teruko Mitamura, and Eduard Hovy. 2021. A survey of data augmentation approaches for nlp. arXiv preprint arXiv:2105.03075.
- Divyanshu Kakwani, Anoop Kunchukuttan, Satish Golla, Gokul N.C., Avik Bhattacharyya, Mitesh M. Khapra, and Pratyush Kumar. 2020. IndicNLPSuite: Monolingual corpora, evaluation benchmarks and pre-trained multilingual language models for Indian languages. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: EMNLP 2020*, pages 4948– 4961, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Thomas Mandl, Sandip Modha, Anand Kumar M, and Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi. 2020. Overview of the

hasoc track at fire 2020: Hate speech and offensive language identification in tamil, malayalam, hindi, english and german. In *Forum for Information Retrieval Evaluation*, FIRE 2020, page 29–32, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.

- Endang Wahyu Pamungkas, Valerio Basile, and Viviana Patti. 2021. Towards multidomain and multilingual abusive language detection: a survey. *Personal and Ubiquitous Computing*.
- Debjoy Saha, Naman Paharia, Debajit Chakraborty, Punyajoy Saha, and Animesh Mukherjee. 2021. Hatealert@DravidianLangTech-EACL2021: Ensembling strategies for transformer-based offensive language detection. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Speech and Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages*, pages 270–276, Kyiv. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Siva Sai and Yashvardhan Sharma. 2020. Siva@ hasocdravidian-codemix-fire-2020: Multilingual offensive speech detection in code-mixed and romanized text. In *FIRE (Working Notes)*, pages 336–343.
- Anirudh Srinivasan. 2020. MSR India at SemEval-2020 task 9: Multilingual models can do code-mixing too. In *Proceedings of the Fourteenth Workshop* on Semantic Evaluation, pages 951–956, Barcelona (online). International Committee for Computational Linguistics.
- Ishan Sanjeev Upadhyay, Nikhil E, Anshul Wadhawan, and Radhika Mamidi. 2021. Hopeful men@LT-EDI-EACL2021: Hope speech detection using indic transliteration and transformers. In *Proceedings* of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion, pages 157–163, Kyiv. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Charangan Vasantharajan and Uthayasanker Thayasivam. 2021. Towards offensive language identification for tamil code-mixed youtube comments and posts. *SN Computer Science*, 3(1).
- Jason Wei and Kai Zou. 2019. EDA: Easy data augmentation techniques for boosting performance on text classification tasks. In Proceedings of the 2019 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing and the 9th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (EMNLP-IJCNLP), pages 6383–6389, Hong Kong, China. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Marcos Zampieri, Preslav Nakov, Sara Rosenthal, Pepa Atanasova, Georgi Karadzhov, Hamdy Mubarak, Leon Derczynski, Zeses Pitenis, and Çağrı Çöltekin. 2020. SemEval-2020 task 12: Multilingual offensive language identification in social media (OffensEval 2020). In *Proceedings of the Fourteenth Workshop on Semantic Evaluation*, pages 1425–1447, Barcelona (online). International Committee for Computational Linguistics.

# ABLIMET @LT-EDI-ACL2022: A RoBERTa based Approach for Homophobia/Transphobia Detection in Social Media

Abulimiti Maimaitituoheti, Yang Yong, Fan Xiaochao Xinjiang Normal University, China {1149654712, 68523593, 37769630}@qq.com

#### Abstract

This paper describes our system that LT-EDI-ACL2022participated in Homophobia/Transphobia Detection in Social Media. Sexual minorities face a lot of unfair treatment and discrimination in our world. This creates enormous stress and many psychological problems for sexual minorities. There is a lot of hate speech on the internet, and homophobia/transphobia is one against sexual minorities. Identifying and processing homophobia/transphobia through natural language processing technology can improve the efficiency of processing it, and can quickly screen out it on the Internet. The organizer of the competition constructs a homophobia/ transphobia detection dataset based on YouTube comments for English and Tamil. We use a RoBERTa-based approach to conduct our experiments on the dataset of the competition, and get better results.

## **1** Introduction

At present, the Internet is full of various hate speeches, including racial discrimination, religious hostility, mutual hostility between political groups, and discrimination against sexual minorities. The discrimination against sexual minorities is called homophobia/transphobia. Homophobia and transphobia are two concepts that are similar and different. Homophobia refers to unwarranted fear, hatred, and unfair treatment of homosexuals, and transphobia refers to disgust and discrimination against transgender people. Homophobia/ transphobia will bring serious psychological stress to LGBTQ people, making them unable to

participate in social activities normally, and even causing them serious mental illness. Therefore, the quick and efficient identification and screening of homophobia/transphobia on the Internet will help to clean up cyberspace, build a healthy and harmonious Internet community, and help more people realize the unfair treatment of LGBTQ groups.

Shared Task on Homophobia/Transphobia Detection in social media comments at LT-EDI 2022- ACL 2022 is a classification task. The organizer of the competition constructed a homophobia/transphobia detection dataset in English, Tamil, and Tamil-English based on YouTube comments. The model needs to determine whether the target data contains homophobia/ transphobia. And if so, which type of homophobia/ transphobia is included. We used RoBERTa (Liu et al., 2019) as our pre-trained language model and fine-tuned it for the task. In our experiment, we process the target data by the pre-trained language model, the output was normalized firstly by a layer normalization module, then we use two fully-connected layers and between them there is a layer normalization operation. We use the cross-entropy as our loss function, and optimize it by AdamW (Loshchilov and Hutter, 2019). Through the above steps, we complement the identification and classification of homophobia/transphobia in the target data.

We participated in all of the English, Tamil, and Tamil-English homophobia/transphobia detection subtasks, and we use a version of RoBERTa pretrained on the corresponding linguistic data for each language. By training the model on train data and validating it on development data, we achieved better results on test data. Specifically, we achieved a 0.57 macro f1-score on the English



Figure 1: Architecture of homophobia/transphobia detection model

subtask and ranked 1st among all participating teams, achieved a 0.75 macro f1-score on the Tamil subtask and ranked 5th among all participating teams, achieved a 0.53 macro f1 score on the Tamil-English subtask and ranked 6th among all participating teams.

## 2 Background

In this section, we introduce the relevant background of the Shared Task on Homophobia/ Transphobia Detection in social media comments at LT-EDI 2022- ACL 2022, including the details of the task and the related research on homophobia/transphobia detection.

## 2.1 **Problem Description**

Shared Task on Homophobia/Transphobia Detection in social media comments at LT-EDI 2022- ACL 2022 is a classification task in English, Tamil, and Tamil-English. The organizer of the competition constructed the homophobia/ transphobia detection dataset based on the homophobia and transphobia identification dataset (Chakravarthi et al., 2019). The target data is a YouTube comment which may contain one or more homophobia/transphobia. A model needs to determine whether the comment contains homophobic or transphobic information and classify the comment into one of the 3 labels: Homophobic, Transphobic, or Non-anti-LGBT+ content. The Homophobic label refers to the comment containing homophobic information, the Transphobic label then refers to the comment containing transphobic information and the Nonanti-LGBT+ content label refers to that the comment doesn't contain homophobic or transphobic information. For example:

- They harass everyone on the bus and do this for living. -Homophobic
- Hey seriously I thought She was Transgender. -Transphobic
- Don't worry everything will be solved soon.
   Non-anti-LGBT+ content

## 2.2 Related Works

So far, people have carried out a lot of research on emotion recognition, hate speech detection in low resource and code-mixed data, researched homophobia/transphobia from different perspectives such as linguistics, psychology, sociology, and pedagogy, and clarified the harm and trouble that homophobia/transphobia brings to sexual minorities. Divyansh (2021) collected Hindi-English code-mixed twitters and comments from Twitter and video streaming platforms by using data scraping tools, constructed an emotion recognition dataset by manually annotating all twitters, and comments, and conducted emotion recognition experiments by using models SVM, LSTM, etc. Ravindra and Raviraj (2021) conducted hate speech detection experiments on a code-mixed twitter dataset by using Multilingual BERT (Telmo et al., 2019) and Indic-BERT (Divyanshu et al., 2020) and achieved better results. Fernando et al (2020) clarified the distress and harm that the sexual minorities suffered and propose alternatives to providing better and more equitable education for sexual minorities. Gamez and Daniel (2021) examine discrimination and prejudice against sexual minorities on the Internet and discuss the mental health of LGBTQ adolescents. Lin et al (2021) made a systematic survey on The mental health of transgender and gender non-conforming people in China. However, from the perspective of computer linguistics, there are few papers on the identification and screening of homophobia and transphobia. Chakravarthi et al (2019) constructed a multilingual homophobia/ transphobia detection dataset based on YouTube comments and made homophobia/transphobia detection experiments by a lot of models like SVM, LSTM, BERT (Devlin et al., 2019), etc.

# 3 System Overview

In this section, we will introduce our approach to the task, the multi-label homophobia/transphobia detection task, which we solve using a finetuning approach of the pre-trained language model. Specifically, we process the target data by the pre-trained language model, the output was normalized firstly by a layer normalization module, then we use two fully-connected layers and between them with a layer normalization operation.

The model architecture is shown in Figure 1. Input is the target data to be processed, and the

Language	Data Set	Shorter Than 128	Between 128 And	Longer Than
		Words	192 Words	192 Words
English	Train Set	3126	25	3
English	Development Set	776	4	3
Tamil	Train Set	2196	222	236
Tamin	Development Set	548	48	59
Tamil-	Train Set	3785	49	22
English	Development Set	945	9	2

Table 1: Statistical Details of the Data sets

pre-trained language model (PLM) processes the input data and outputs the result to the layer normalization module. To prevent internal covariate shift, we follow the pre-trained language model and first fully connected layer with a layer normalization module. The pretrained language model we use is RoBERTa-base for English subtask, Tamil-RoBERTa for Tamil, and Tamil-English subtasks. The output tensor size of the pre-trained language model is 768, while our target label is only 3, the difference between the two is large, so we connect two full layers behind the pre-trained connection language model layer, where the output tensor size of the first fully

connected layer is 64, and the output tensor size of the second fully connected layer is 3,the number of target labels.

For the loss function, we use the cross-entropy provided by the PyTorch (Paszke et al.,2019) framework, and use Adamw (Loshchilov and Hutter, 2019) as optimizer, which is an improved version of the Adam (Kingma and Ba, 2017) optimizer. Due to the huge parameters of the pretrained language model, it is easy to overfit when using the Adam optimizer, while Adamw uses L2 regularization to reduce overfitting, which can significantly improve the generalization ability of the model. design, parameter settings, and experimental environment of the experiments. In terms of hardware, we use a laptop with a GTX 1650 graphics card for model training. On the software side, we use PyTorch (Paszke et al.,2019) and HuggingFace (Wolf et al., 2020) library to code the tasks.

## 4.1 Statistical Analysis

Shared Task on Homophobia/Transphobia Detection in social media comments at LT-EDI 2022- ACL 2022 provided datasets for English, Tamil, and Tamil-English, and these datasets was splitted into train, development, and test set. Train and development data was provided with labels and test set only provided the target text. To set reasonable parameters for our experiment, we made a statistical analysis for the train and development sets of the data sets, the details are shown in table1.

Combined with the data statistics and the experimental hardware environment, considering the experimental performance and cost, we set the max data length processed by the pre-trained language model for English and Tamil-English to 128, and set for Tamil to 192. It means that the redundant part of a target data which is longer than 128 for English and Tamil-English, 192 for Tamil will be discarded and will not participate in model training and testing.

# 4 Experimental Setup

In this section, we will introduce the relevant

Table 2: Details of the train datasets before and after balanced

Languaga	Befor Balanced				After Balanced			
Language	Homo	Trans	LGBT	Total	Homo	Trans	LGBT	Total
English Train	157	6	3001	3164	3001	3001	3001	9003
	485	155	2022	2662	2022	2022	2022	6066
Tamil Train	311	112	3438	3861	3438	3438	3438	10314
	157	6	3001	3164	3001	3001	3001	9003
Tamil-English Train	485	155	2022	2662	2022	2022	2022	6066
	311	112	3438	3861	3438	3438	3438	10314

#### 4.2 Data Balancing

The datasets provided by the organizer of the competition are unbalanced datasets. If we use the unbalanced dataset to train our model directly, the model will only learn features from a larger number of categories and will ignore features of a smaller number of categories, so it is necessary to balance the datasets. So we use the class RandomOverSampler from the imbalanced-learn (Guillaume et al., 2017) library to balance the train datasets. The RandomOverSampler class will simply copy-paste the data for a smaller number of categories so that each category in the dataset has an equal amount of data. Although this method is simple, it is more effective for model training. We only balanced the train datasets for the three languages, and use the original development and test datasets to validate and test our model. The details of the train datasets before and after balancing them are shown in table 2.

In table 2, Homo refers to homophobia, Trans refers to transphobia, LGBT refers to Non-anti-LGBT+ content, and Total refers to the total number of the data. From table 2 we can see that after balancing operation the datasets become balanced with equal numbers of each category.

#### 4.3 Other Settings

We use the RoBERTa-base version in our experiments, and its output size is 768, so we set the input size of the first fully connected layer as

Language	Mac-F1 Score	Rank
English	0.57	1
Tamil	0.75	5
Tamil-English	0.53	6

Table 3: Details of results on test datasets

768 and the output size as 64, set the input size of the second fully connected layer as 64, and the output size as 3, the number of the categories of the dataset. We set the batch size of the data inputted to the model as 4 and trained our model with a 1e-5 learning rate.

## 5 Results

We use the RoBERTa -based approach to train the model on the training datasets of the task, validate the model on the development set, and use the trained model to predict the label of the test set. Repeated experiments with different epoch values, we found that when the epoch is 8, the trained model has the best validation results on the development set. So we train our model for 8 iterations, predict the labels of the test set with the model, and submitted the run results in all of the three languages. Details of results on test data sets and ranks are shown in table 3:

As we can see from table 3, our model achieved good results on the English subtask but the results of Tamil and English-Tamil subtasks are not so good. We use the same approach for the three subtasks but with different RoBERTa versions, RoBERTa-base for English subtask, and Tamil-RoBERTa for Tamil and Tamil-English subtasks. So we think that if just choose a suitable pre-trained language model, our approach will be effective for homophobia/transphobia detection task, and we also think that RoBERTa-base is suitable for English subtask, but Tamil-RoBERTa isn't very suitable for Tamil and Tamil-English subtasks.

From table3 we also can see that the f1-scores of Tamil and Tamil-English subtasks are 0.75 and 0.53 respectively, with a wide difference. To address the reason for the problem, we averaged the f1-scores of all teams for the two subtasks separately, then subtracted the average of f1scores of the Tamil-English subtask from the average of f1-scores of the Tamil subtask, the difference between the two is 0.18. Then we subtracted the f1-score of our model on the Tamil-English subtask from the f1-score of our model on the Tamil subtask, the difference between the two is 0.22. So far we found that the

Table 4: Details of results on test datasets

Language	Mac-F1 Score		
English	0.32		
Tamil	0.29		
Tamil-English	0.3145		

fl-score of the Tamil subtask is generally higher than the fl-score of the Tamil-English subtask, so we think that the difference between the flscores of the two subtasks is related to the features of the datasets for Tamil and Tamil-English subtasks.

To make a comparison between the test results of the models trained on balanced data sets (balanced by using RandomOverSampeler class) and the test results of the models trained on the original unbalanced train data sets after the competition. We train the models using the original unbalanced train data sets and test them by using test data sets with labels. The results are shown in Table 4.

By comparing table 3 and table 4, we can find that there are big differences between the results. The test results of the models trained on balanced train data sets are much better than the test results of the models trained on the original unbalanced train data sets. Based on this, we can get the conclusion that balancing the train data sets by using RandomOverSampeler class is very effective and important in our experiments. Balancing the train data sets greatly improved the performance of the models.

## 6 Conclusion

We use a RoBERTa-based approach for homophobia/transphobia detection tasks and achieved better results in our experiments. Although the results on the Tamil and Tamil-English subtasks are not so ideal, the results on the English subtask show that our approach is effective for the homophobia/transphobia detection tasks. Although this competition has come to an end, there are still some directions we can continue to study in the future. For example, we can use prompt learning to process this task, by converting this task into cloze form and designing reasonable templates and verbalizers, we can fully make use of the knowledge of pretrained language models, and may get better results. Besides, by converting the homophobia/ transphobia detection task into a text generation task, and then using text generation models like GPT (Radford et al., 2019), T5 (Raffel et al., 2020) to solve the task, We may get unexpected results. In future research, we will continue to study the directions mentioned above, and strive to achieve better homophobia/ transphobia detection performance.

## References

- Adam Paszke, Sam Gross, Francisco Massa, Adam Lerer, James Bradbury, Gregory Chanan, Trevor Killeen, Zeming Lin, Natalia Gimelshein, Luca Antiga, Alban Desmaison, Andreas Kopf, Edward Yang, Zachary DeVito, Martin Raison, Alykhan Tejani, Sasank Chilamkurthy, Benoit Steiner, Lu Fang, Junjie Bai, and Soumith Chintala. 2019. *Pytorch: An imperative style, high-performance deep learning library*. arXiv:1912.01703 [cs.LG].
- Chakravarthi, B.R., Priyadharshini, R., Ponnusamy, R., Kumaresan, P.K., Sampath, K., Thenmozhi, D., Thangasamy, S., Nallathambi, R. and McCrae, J.P., 2021. Dataset for Identification of Homophobia

and Transophobia in Multilingual YouTube Comments. arXiv preprint arXiv:2109.00227.

- Colin Raffel, Noam Shazeer, Adam Roberts, Katherine Lee, Sharan Narang, Michael Matena, Yanqi Zhou,Wei Li, and Peter J. Liu. 2020. Exploring the Limits of Transfer Learning with a Unified Text-to-Text Transformer. In Journal of Machine Learning Research.
- Diederik P. Kingma and Jimmy Ba. 2017. *Adam: A method for stochastic optimization*. arXiv:1412.6980 [cs.LG].
- Divyansh Singh. 2021. Detection of Emotions in Hindi-English Code Mixed Text Data. arXiv:2105.09226 [cs.CL]
- Divyanshu Kakwani and Anoop Kunchukuttan and Satish Golla and Gokul N.C. and Avik Bhattacharyya and Mitesh M. Khapra and Pratyush Kumar. 2020. *IndicNLPSuite: Monolingual Corpora, Evaluation Benchmarks and Pre-trained Multilingual Language Models for Indian Languages.* Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: EMNLP 2020, pages 1–11.4948-4961.
- Fernando Barrag an-Medero, David Perez-Jorge.2020. Combating homophobia, lesbophobia, biphobia and transphobia:A liberating and subversive educational alternative for desires. Heliyon 6 (2020) e05225.
- Gamez-Guadix , Daniel Incera.2021. Homophobia is online: Sexual victimization and risks on the internet and mental health among bisexual, homosexual, pansexual, asexual, and queer adolescents. Computers in Human Behavior 119 (2021) 106728.
- Guillaume Lemaitre, Fernando Nogueira, Christos K. Aridas.2017. Imbalanced-learn: A Python Toolbox to Tackle the Curse of Imbalanced Datasets in Machine Learning. Journal of Machine Learning Research, pages 1-5.
- Ilya Loshchilov and Frank Hutter. 2019. *Decoupled weight decay regularization*. arXiv:1711.05101 [cs.LG].
- Jacob Devlin, Ming-Wei Chang, Kenton Lee, and Kristina Toutanova. 2019. *BERT: Pre-training of deep bidirectional transformers for language understanding*. In Proceedings of the 2019 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Volume 1 (Long and Short Papers),pages 4171–4186.
- Radford, A., Wu, J., Child, R., Luan, D., Amodei, D., and Sutskever, I. 2019. *Language models are unsupervised multitask learners*. OpenAI blog, 1(8):9, 2019.

- Ravindra Nayak, Raviraj Joshi. 2021. Contextual Hate Speech Detection in Code Mixed Text using Transformer Based Approaches. arXiv:2110.09338 [cs.CL].
- Telmo Pires, Eva Schlinger, Dan Garrette. 2019. *How Multilingual is Multilingual BERT?* Proceedings of the 57th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics, pages 4996-5001.
- Thomas Wolf, Lysandre Debut, Victor Sanh, JulienChaumond, Clement Delangue, Anthony Moi, Pierric Cistac, Tim Rault, R'emi Louf, Morgan Funtowicz, Joe Davison, Sam Shleifer, Patrick von Platen,Clara Ma, Yacine Jernite, Julien Plu, Canwen Xu,Teven Le Scao, Sylvain Gugger, Mariama Drame,Quentin Lhoest, and Alexander M. Rush. 2020. *Huggingface's transformers: State-ofthe-art natural language processing.* arXiv:1910.03771 [cs.CL].
- Yezhe Lin, Hui Xie, Zimo Huang, Quan Zhang, Amanda Wilson, Jiaojiao Hou, Xudong Zhao, Yuanyuan Wang, Bailin Pan, Ye Liu, Meng Han, Runsen Chen. 2021. *The mental health of transgender and gender non-conforming people in China: a systematic review.* Lancet Public Health 2021;6: e9, pages 54–69.
- Yinhan Liu, Myle Ott, Naman Goyal, Jingfei Du, Mandar Joshi, Danqi Chen, Omer Levy, Mike Lewis, Luke Zettlemoyer, Veselin Stoyanov. 2019. *Roberta: A Robustly Optimized BERT Pretraining Approach.* arXiv:1907.11692 [cs.CL].

# MUCIC@LT-EDI-ACL2022: Hope Speech Detection using Data Re-Sampling and 1D Conv-LSTM

M. D. Anusha<sup>1, a</sup>, F. Balouchzahi<sup>2, b</sup>, H. L. Shashirekha<sup>1, c</sup>, G. Sidorov<sup>2, d</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Computer Science, Mangalore University, Mangalore, India <sup>2</sup>Instituto Politécnico Nacional, Centro de Investigación en Computación, CDMX, Mexico

> {<sup>a</sup>anugowda251, <sup>c</sup>hlsrekha}@gmail.com, {<sup>b</sup>fbalouchzahi2021, <sup>d</sup>sidorov}@cic.ipn.mx

#### Abstract

Spreading positive vibes or hope content on social media may help many people to get motivated in their life. To address Hope Speech detection in YouTube comments, this paper presents the description of the models submitted by our team - MUCIC, to the Hope Speech Detection for Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion (HopeEDI) shared task at Association for Computational Linguistics (ACL) 2022. This shared task consists of texts in five languages, namely: English, Spanish (in Latin scripts), and Tamil, Malayalam, and Kannada (in code-mixed native and Roman scripts) with the aim of classifying the YouTube comment into "Hope", "Not-Hope" or "Not-Intended" categories. The proposed methodology uses the re-sampling technique to deal with imbalanced data in the corpus and obtained 1st rank for English language with a macro-averaged F1-score of 0.550 and weighted-averaged F1-score of 0.860. The code to reproduce this work is available in GitHub<sup>1</sup>.

## 1 Introduction

Hope is vital for human health, recovery, and restoration, according to health professionals. One of the goals of Hope Speech is to express the belief that someone can get motivated to move on in life to achieve the desired goals (Chakravarthi, 2020a). Positive vibes and hope content push human beings to take steps to create a better tomorrow through sustaining optimism and resilience during hardships. The advent of social media has enabled people from all over the world to connect with each other and to express their feelings or opinions in a positive, negative, or neutral manner (Chakravarthi et al., 2021, 2022b; Sampath et al., 2022; Ravikiran et al., 2022; Bharathi et al., 2022; Priyadharshini et al., 2022). In social media, hope resides in positive and motivating content which helps to maintain healthy social media ecosystems.

The recent advancements in social media have changed the lifestyle of many people and their daily life is extended with the virtual territory of the internet and social networks. Social media platforms are influencing users' daily lives in a very large way. Users may share positive vibes and hope or motivating content with the intention of positive suggestions for peace or to overcome situations like COVID-19, war, election and etc., (Balouchzahi et al., 2021; Chakravarthi, 2020b). Several internet forums have also become popular for giving aid, advice, or support. Further, when users are going through a difficult or unfavorable moment, in addition to seeking emotional support from family, friends and relatives, they may also knock the virtual platforms to get through the situation (Ghanghor et al., 2021a,b; Yasaswini et al., 2021).

The freedom and anonymity in social media have provided users an opportunity to share their opinions and comments without revealing their identity (Balouchzahi, Fazlourrahman and Aparna, BK and Shashirekha, HL, 2021). This allows the users to share any kind of content including negative content such as abusive or hate speech and fake news. The majority of the social media analysis tasks deal with identifying the negative content such as Hate Speech, Abusive Language, Fake News, etc. (Chakravarthi, 2020b), with the aim of avoiding such content and having healthy social media. However, very few works have focused on social media analysis for positive vibes such as supportive, motivative, and hope content.

In general, Hope Speech includes words of encouragement, motivation, promise, and advice (Hossain et al., 2021). Identifying such a content and promoting them in social media can be an alternative solution for having healthy and promising social media. In this direction, HopeEDI<sup>2</sup> Chakravarthi et al. (2022a) shared task calls the researchers to address the challenges of Hope Speech

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>https://github.com/anushamdgowda/Hope-speech

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>https://sites.google.com/view/lt-edi-2022/home

detection in YouTube comments. The objective of the shared task is to classify the YouTube comments in five languages, namely: English, Spanish in Latin scripts and Tamil, Kannada and Malayalam in code-mixed native and Roman scripts, into "Hope", "Not-Hope" or "Not- Intended" categories.

To tackle the challenges of Hope Speech detection in English and code-mixed Kannada and Malayalam texts, we - team MUCIC, present a methodology based on re-sampling the minority class ("Hope" class) and using 1D Convolutional Neural Network with Long Short-Term Memory (1D Conv-LSTM) for classification. The proposed methodology obtained **first** rank in the shared task for **English** texts with a weighted-averaged F1score of 0.860, while the same methodology for code-mixed Malayalam and Kannada texts did not perform well to our expectations.

The rest of paper is organized as follows: Section 2 gives a brief description of the best performing teams in (LT-EDI-2021)<sup>3</sup> Chakravarthi and Muralidaran (2021) and Section 3 presents the proposed methodology followed by the results in Section 4. The paper concludes with the future work in Section 5.

#### 2 Related Work

Researchers are attempting to create computational models to identify positive and supportive text on social media. Despite the various Machine learning (ML) and Deep Learning (DL) approaches for Text Classification (TC), transformers also have grown in prominence in recent years due to their ability to handle dependencies between input and output with both attention and recurrence. As a result, several Natural Language Processing (NLP) tasks such as Sentiment Analysis, Hope and Hate Speech detection etc., modeled as TC are using the transformer based models to achieve cutting-edge performance.

This section presents a summary of the models submitted to HopeEDI<sup>4</sup> shared task Chakravarthi (2020b). A multilingual dataset of YouTube comments in English, and code-mixed Tamil and Malayalam languages was released for public access. The dataset containing 28,451, 20,198, and 10,705 comments in English, Tamil and Malayalam languages respectively are distributed into two main categories, namely: "Hope" and "NotHope" (and an extra category for texts in Not-Intended language). Term Frequency-Inverse Document Frequency (TF-IDF) features were used to train k-Nearest Neighbors (kNN), Support Vector Machines (SVM), Decision Trees (DT), and Logistic Regression (LR) classifiers. Among all the classifiers, DT classifier obtained a weighted-averaged F1-scores of 0.46, 0.51, and 0.56 for English, Tamil, and Malayalam texts respectively.

Balouchzahi et al. (2021) proposed a method that utilizes a combination of TF-IDF vectors of words, char sequences, and syntactic n-grams to train: (i) a voting classifier of three estimators, namely: LR, eXtreme Gradient Boosting (XGB), and Multi-Layer Perceptron (MLP) and (ii) Keras Neural Network-based model. They also trained a Bidirectional Encoder Representations from Transformers (BERT) language model from scratch using the given dataset and then used it for Hope Speech detection. For the voting classifier, the authors obtained 1<sup>st</sup>, 2<sup>nd</sup>, and 3<sup>rd</sup> ranks with weightedaveraged F1-scores of 0.85, 0.92, and 0.59 for Malayalam, English, and Tamil texts respectively.

Dowlagar and Mamidi (2021) preprocessed texts by removing punctuation symbols, emotions, and hashtags and then transliterated Tamil and Malayalam texts back to their native scripts. Using multilingual BERT (mBERT) embedding as weights for Convolutional Neural Network (CNN) classifier, they secured 1<sup>st</sup>, 3<sup>rd</sup>, and 4<sup>th</sup> ranks for English, Malayalam, and Tamil texts. Similarly, finetuning mBERT for Malayalam and Tamil and using BERT for English, Arunima et al. (2021) obtained weighted-averaged F1-scores of 0.46, 0.81, 0.92 for Tamil, Malayalam, and English texts respectively. Upadhyay et al. (2021) tried two different approaches to detect Hope Speech in the HopeEDI dataset. In the first method they used contextual embeddings to train LR, Random Forest (RF), SVM, and LSTM classifiers. Using a majority voting ensemble of BERT, RoBERTa, ALBERT and LSTM models in their second model, they obtained weighted-averaged F1-scores of 0.93, 0.75, and 0.49 for English, Malayalam, and Tamil texts respectively.

In another transformer-based method M K and A P (2021), the authors used Bidirectional Long Short-Term Memory (BiLSTM), Universal Language Model Fine-tuning (ULMFiT), BERT, AL-BERT, DistilBERT, Roberta, and CharBERT for English and multilingual language versions of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>https://sites.google.com/view/lt-edi-2021/home

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>https://competitions.codalab.org/competitions/27653

mentioned transformers for Tamil and Malayalam. mBERT for Malayalam and multilingual Distilbert for Tamil obtained weighted-averaged F1-scores of 0.85 and 0.59 respectively. ULMFiT model for English texts secured the 2<sup>nd</sup> rank with a weightedaveraged F1-score of 0.92.

Emojis, punctuation marks, mentions, hashtags, etc., are removed from the dataset in the study conducted by Thara et al. (2021). After cleaning the dataset, Word2Vec and FastText were used to build the feature vectors which were fed to BiLSTM using an attention-based technique. This approach obtained an weighted-averaged F1-score of 0.73 and 9<sup>th</sup> rank for Malayalam dataset.

## 3 Methodology

The proposed methodology consists of Preprocessing and Model construction steps to classify the given text into "Hope", "Not Hope" or "Not-Intended" categories and the framework of the proposed methodology is shown in Figure 1. Description of Pre-processing and Model construction steps are given below:

### 3.1 Pre-processing

Pre-processing is the task of cleaning data to remove noise to improve the quality of data for better performance. (Shashirekha et al., 2020). All the punctuation symbols, numerical data, frequently occurring words, stopwords and uninformative phrases (names that begin with @) are removed as they do not contribute to the classification task and the upper-case characters in Latin script are converted to lower-case to reduce the number of unique words.

The dataset provided by the organizers for the shared task has an uneven distribution of the target classes. This imbalanced distribution of labels over the dataset makes the classification task more challenging and ignoring this may result in the lower performance of the classification models. Hence, the data imbalance problem is addressed by using the Synthetic Minority Oversampling Technique (SMOTE)<sup>5</sup> (Chawla et al., 2002) technique for only English and Kannada texts. This technique increases the samples of the minority class by generating the synthetic data between each sample of the minority class based on "k" nearest neighbors and the default value of "k" (=3) is used in this work.

Languages	Labels	Datasets	Original Data	Re-Sampled Data
		Train	1962	20778
English	HS	Dev	272	272
English		Test	_	-
		Train	20778	20778
	NHS	Dev	2569	2569
		Test	_	_
		Train	1699	3241
Kannada	HS	Dev	210	210
Kaimaua		Test	200	-
		Train	3241	3241
	NHS	Dev	408	408
		Test	413	-
		Train	0	-
	NK	Dev	0	-
		Test	5	-
		Train	1668	-
	HS	Dev	190	-
Malayalam		Test	194	-
Malayalam		Train	6205	-
	NHS	Dev	784	-
		Test	776	-
		Train	0	-
	NM	Dev	0	-
		Test	101	-

Table 1: Distribution of labels in the dataset before and after re-sampling (Dev: Development, HS: Hope Speech, NHS: Not Hope Speech, NM: Not Malayalam, NK: Not Kannada)

#### 3.2 Model Construction

The texts are tokenized and converted to sequences using TensorFlow Keras<sup>6</sup> tokenizer API and "texts\_to\_sequences" function. The vocabulary size and the maximum length of the sequences has been set to 15,000 and 50 respectively. The "pad\_sequences" is used to ensure that all sequences in a list have the same length. After creating a padded sequence for text, data is passed as input to the Keras embedding layer. An embedding matrix derived from Keras embedding layer and a one-hot representation of the labels are fed into a 1D CNN-LSTM architecture. The parameters "input\_dim", "output\_dim" and "input\_length" in embedding layers are set to 15,000 (vocabulary size), 1,000 (length of the word vector), and 50 (maximum length of a sequence) respectively. The convolutional layers with 64 filters, two pooling layers, and a relu activation function are used for the Conv1D layer, along with 100 fully connected LSTM layers, and a soft-max output layer.

#### **4** Experiments and Results

Several experiments were conducted to classify a YouTube comment into "Hope", "Not-Hope" or "Not-Intended" categories for each language and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>https://pypi.org/project/imbalanced-learn/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>https://www.tensorflow.org/api\_docs/python/tf/keras



Figure 1: Framework of the proposed 1D Conv-LSTM model

the models that performed well on the Development sets were applied to the Test sets for the evaluation.

#### 4.1 Dataset

The dataset provided by the shared task organizers includes English, Spanish, and code-mixed Tamil, Malayalam, and Kannada texts. However, the current work focuses solely on English, Tamil and Kannada texts and the distribution of labels across the Train and Development sets for these languages are shown in Table 1. The size of the re-sampled data using SMOTE technique for English and Kannada texts is also shown in Table 1. Further, the Test sets consists of 389, 1,070, 1,760 unlabeled samples for English, Malayalam, and Kannada languages respectively.

#### 4.2 Results and Analysis

The proposed models are evaluated on the unlabeled Test set provided by the organizers and the predictions are graded based on macro-averaged F1-score (M\_F1-score) and weighted-averaged F1score (W\_F1-score). The results on the Development set shown in Table 2 illustrates that the proposed methodology performed better for English and Kannada texts than for Malayalam texts. The results on final leaderboard revealed that the proposed methodology obtained 1st rank for English with an M\_F1-score of 0.550, but the results for Kannada and Malayalam texts are significantly lower than the expectation and the results on the Test sets are given in Table 3. The comparison of macro-averaged F1-scores of the proposed methodology with the top 5 macro-averaged F1-scores in the shared task is presented in Figure 2 (since the best performing teams for each language are different, the best scores obtained in each language are mentioned). The observation of datasets reveal that unlike Train and Development sets, the Test set provided by the organizers include a extra label called

Languages		Fnglish	Kannada	Malavalam
Scores		English	Ixainiaua	Watayatam
	Р	0.63	0.64	0.51
M_F1-scores	R	0.60	0.64	0.64
	F1	0.61	0.64	0.53
	Р	0.87	0.68	0.73
W_F1-scores	R	0.88	0.67	0.60
	F1	0.78	0.67	0.63

Table 2: The results on the Development sets (P: Precision, R: Recall, F1: F1-score)

Languages Scores	-	English	Kannada	Malayalam
	Р	0.540	0.310	0.310
M_F1-scores	R	0.550	0.310	0.320
	F1	0.550	0.310	0.310
	Р	0.870	0.520	0.560
W_F1-scores	R	0.850	0.530	0.580
	F1	0.860	0.520	0.570
Rank		1	6	7

Table 3: The results on the Test sets

"Not-Kannada" with 5 samples for Kannada and "Not-Malayalam" with 101 samples for Malayalam. As the Train set did not include these two labels, the proposed model failed to predict these labels and this is the main reason for low performance for Kannada and Malayalam texts.

#### 5 Conclusion

This paper describes the models submitted to HopeEDI shared task at ACL 2022 to classify the YouTube comments in English and code-mixed Kannada and Malayalam texts into "Hope", "Not-Hope" or "Not-Intended" categories. The proposed methodology addresses the Hope Speech detection by using SMOTE technique to resolve the data imbalance problem and 1D Conv-LSTM model for classification. For English texts, the proposed methodology performed the best and achieved 1<sup>st</sup> rank with a M\_F1-score of 0.550 but did not perform well for Kannada and Malayalam texts. As future work, we would like to extend our experiments on various feature types such as stylistic and



Figure 2: Comparison of macro-averaged F1-scores of the proposed methodology with 5 top macro-averaged F1-scores in the shared task

psychological and explore different word embeddings along with language models.

#### References

- S Arunima, Akshay Ramakrishnan, Avantika Balaji, Thenmozhi D., and Senthil Kumar B. 2021. ssn\_diBERTsity@LT-EDI-EACL2021:Hope Speech Detection on Multilingual YouTube Comments via Transformer based Approach. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, pages 92–97, Kyiv. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Fazlourrahman Balouchzahi, BK Aparna, and HL Shashirekha. 2021. MUCS@LT-EDI-EACL2021: CoHope-Hope Speech Detection for Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion in Code-Mixed Texts. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, pages 180–187.
- Balouchzahi, Fazlourrahman and Aparna, BK and Shashirekha, HL. 2021. MUCS@DravidianLangTech-EACL2021: COOLI-Code-Mixing Offensive Language Identification. In Proceedings of the First Workshop on Speech and Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages, pages 323–329.
- B Bharathi, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Subalalitha Chinnaudayar Navaneethakrishnan, N Sripriya, Arunaggiri Pandian, and Swetha Valli. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Speech Recognition for Vulnerable Individuals in Tamil. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion.* Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi. 2020a. HopeEDI: A multilingual hope speech detection dataset for equality, diversity, and inclusion. In *Proceedings of the Third Workshop on Computational Modeling of People's Opinions, Personality, and Emotion's in Social Media*, pages 41–53, Barcelona, Spain (Online). Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi. 2020b. HopeEDI: A Multilingual Hope Speech Detection Dataset for Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion. In *Proceedings of the Third Workshop on Computational Modeling of People's Opinions, Personality, and Emotion's in Social Media*, pages 41–53.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi and Vigneshwaran Muralidaran. 2021. Findings of the shared task on hope speech detection for equality, diversity, and inclusion. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, pages 61–72, Kyiv. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Vigneshwaran Muralidaran, Ruba Priyadharshini, Subalalitha Chinnaudayar Navaneethakrishnan, John Phillip McCrae, Miguel Ángel García-Cumbreras, Salud María Jiménez-Zafra, Rafael Valencia-García, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, Rahul Ponnusamy, Daniel García-Baena, and José Antonio García-Díaz. 2022a. Findings of the Shared Task on Hope Speech Detection for Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion. In Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Thenmozhi Durairaj, John Phillip McCrae, Paul Buitaleer, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, and Rahul Ponnusamy. 2022b. Findings of the shared task on Homophobia Transphobia Detection in Social Media Comments. In Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Rahul Ponnusamy, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, Kayalvizhi Sampath, Durairaj Thenmozhi, Sathiyaraj Thangasamy, Rajendran Nallathambi, and John Phillip McCrae. 2021. Dataset for identification of homophobia and transophobia in multilingual YouTube comments. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2109.00227*.
- Nitesh V Chawla, Kevin W Bowyer, Lawrence O Hall, and W Philip Kegelmeyer. 2002. SMOTE: Synthetic Minority Over-Sampling Technique. *Journal of artificial intelligence research*, 16:321–357.
- Suman Dowlagar and Radhika Mamidi. 2021. EDIOne@LT-EDI-EACL2021: Pre-trained Transformers with Convolutional Neural Networks for Hope Speech Detection. In Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion, pages 86–91, Kyiv. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Nikhil Ghanghor, Parameswari Krishnamurthy, Sajeetha Thavareesan, Ruba Priyadharshini, and Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi. 2021a. IIITK@DravidianLangTech-EACL2021: Offensive language identification and meme classification in Tamil, Malayalam and Kannada. In Proceedings of the First Workshop on Speech and Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages, pages 222–229, Kyiv. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Nikhil Ghanghor, Rahul Ponnusamy, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, Ruba Priyadharshini, Sajeetha Thavareesan, and Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi. 2021b. IIITK@LT-EDI-EACL2021: Hope speech detection for equality, diversity, and inclusion in Tamil, Malayalam and English. In Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion, pages 197–203, Kyiv. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Eftekhar Hossain, Omar Sharif, and Mohammed Moshiul Hoque. 2021. NLP-CUET@ LT-EDI-EACL2021: Multilingual Code-mixed Hope Speech Detection using Cross-Lingual Representation Learner. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2103.00464*.
- Junaida M K and Ajees A P. 2021. KU\_NLP@LT-EDI-EACL2021: A Multilingual Hope Speech Detection for Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion using Context Aware Embeddings. In Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion, pages 79–85, Kyiv. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Ruba Priyadharshini, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Subalalitha Chinnaudayar Navaneethakrishnan, Thenmozhi Durairaj, Malliga Subramanian, Kogilavani Shanmugavadivel, Siddhanth U Hegde, and Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Abusive Comment Detection in Tamil. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Speech and Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages*. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Manikandan Ravikiran, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Anand Kumar Madasamy, Sangeetha Sivanesan, Ratnavel Rajalakshmi, Sajeetha Thavareesan, Rahul Ponnusamy, and Shankar Mahadevan. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Offensive Span Identification in code-mixed Tamil-English comments. In Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Speech and Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Anbukkarasi Sampath, Thenmozhi Durairaj, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Subalalitha Chinnaudayar Navaneethakrishnan, Kogilavani Shanmugavadivel, Sajeetha Thavareesan, Sathiyaraj Thangasamy, Parameswari Krishnamurthy, Adeep Hande, Sean Benhur, Kishor Kumar Ponnusamy, and Santhiya Pandiyan. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Emotion Analysis in Tamil. In Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Speech and

*Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages.* Association for Computational Linguistics.

- HL Shashirekha, MD Anusha, and Nitin S Prakash. 2020. Ensemble Model for Profiling Fake News Spreaders on Twitter. In *CLEF (Working Notes)*.
- S Thara, Ravi teja Tasubilli, et al. 2021. Amrita@ ltedi-eacl2021: Hope Speech Detection on Multilingual Text. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, pages 149–156.
- Ishan Sanjeev Upadhyay, Anshul Wadhawan, Radhika Mamidi, et al. 2021. Hopeful\_men@ lt-edi-eacl2021: Hope Speech Detection using Indic Transliteration and Transformers. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2102.12082*.
- Konthala Yasaswini, Karthik Puranik, Adeep Hande, Ruba Priyadharshini, Sajeetha Thavareesan, and Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi. 2021. IIITT@DravidianLangTech-EACL2021: Transfer learning for offensive language detection in Dravidian languages. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop* on Speech and Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages, pages 187–194, Kyiv. Association for Computational Linguistics.

# DeepBlues@LT-EDI-ACL2022: Depression level detection modelling through domain specific BERT and short text depression classifiers

Nawshad Farruque, Osmar R. Zaïane, Randy Goebel

Alberta Machine Intelligence Institute Department of Computing Science Faculty of Science University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB, Canada T6G 2E8 {nawshad, zaiane, rgoebel}@ualberta.ca

Sudhakar Sivapalan Department of Psychiatry Faculty of Medicine and Dentistry University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB, Canada T6G 2B7 sivapala@ualberta.ca

#### Abstract

We discuss a variety of approaches for building a robust depression level detection model from longer social media posts (e.g., Reddit depression forum posts) using a mental health text informed pre-trained BERT model. Further, we report our experimental results based on a strategy to select excerpts from long text and then fine-tune the BERT model to combat the issue of memory constraints while processing such texts. We show that, with domain specific BERT, we can achieve reasonable accuracy with fixed text size (in this case 200 tokens). In addition we can use short text classifiers to extract relevant text from the long text and achieve some accuracy improvement, albeit, trading off with the processing time for extracting such excerpts.

## 1 Introduction

Depression has been found to be a major cause behind at least 800,000 deaths committed through suicide each year worldwide<sup>1</sup>. Moreover, It has been found in earlier research that depressed individuals show help seeking behavior through their social media posts (Guntuku et al., 2017). So analyzing social media posts for depression detection is an important research area (Coppersmith et al., 2014; Mowery et al., 2017). In our work, we analyze Reddit social media posts to identify whether a particular post exhibits either of three levels of depression, including (1) No Depression, (2) Moderate Depression, and (3) Severe Depression, as a part of a shared task challenge (Sampath et al., 2022). We use a state-of-the-art transformer-based model called BERT, which was pre-trained on mental health related social media data. Further, we compare our model with two variations of the same, with other models trained on (1) relevant excerpt extracted Reddit posts and (2) a subset of depressive sentences in Reddit posts calculated with the help of short text classifiers. In the next sections, we elaborate on each of our strategies.

## 2 Depression Level Detection through Fine-tuning Mental BERT (MBERT)

BERT (Devlin et al., 2018), which stands for Bidirectional Encoder Representations from Transformers, has been found to be very effective in different downstream NLP tasks such as, text classification (Sun et al., 2019) and Depressive post detection (Ji et al., 2021). Here we use a mental health pre-trained BERT model, called Mental BERT (MBERT), which was pre-trained on several mental health forums under Reddit (Ji et al., 2021). Further, we fine-tune this model on the provided training dataset (Kayalvizhi and Thenmozhi, 2022) for this shared task. Since fine tuning BERT based models on longer text requires significant memory resources, we limit our text data to the first 200 tokens, which covers around 70% of the total samples provided. Before feeding input to our model, we convert all texts to lower case, and use

<sup>1</sup>https://who.int/mental\_health/ prevention/suicide/suicideprevent/en/ an uncased version of the MBERT model for fine tuning. We also experiment with further enhancement of our classifier by fine tuning it through a selection of 200 "relevant" tokens from constituent Depressive sentences for a post from the training sample, which are longer than 200 tokens and also depression-indicative. In addition, we investigate whether the distribution of constituent depressive sentences in each posts also have some predictive power for this task.

## 3 Extracting Relevant Excerpts for Fine-tuning Mental BERT (RE-MBERT)

To extract relevant excerpts, we use a majority voting classifier (MVC) which is built using four depressive short text or Tweet classifiers. Three of these classifiers use different pre-trained word and sentence embeddings and represent each sentence through either averaged embedding of all the constituent words of that sentence, or the sentence embedding of the sentence itself. The left classifier uses Zero-shot modelling for classifying each sentence for signs of depression. Description of these classifiers including the datasets they were trained on, have been previously described (Farruque et al., 2019, 2021). Since we cannot extract more than 200 tokens for each of our posts and, within those 200 tokens, we may not have all the relevant tokens which are important for this task, we plan to extract relevant (or depressive) constituent sentences or excerpts from the posts which have more than 200 tokens and which are labeled as either carrying signs of "Moderate" or "Severe" depression in the training set. To do this, we parse each post by exploiting punctuation, i.e. ".", "?" and "!" to find its constituent sentences. We then feed those sentences to MVC, where the above mentioned four short text classifiers vote to indicate whether the constituent sentences of a post are depressionindicative or not; we only take a sentence as a representative text for depression if at-least three of those four classifiers agree. We apply the same short text pre-processing as we did while training our short text classifiers to clean each sentences within our posts. In this cleaning process, with the help of a python library named "Ekphrasis" (Baziotis et al., 2017), we re-contract word contractions, replace elongated words in their original form, convert all to lower case and remove nonwords, so our cleaned sentence is mostly regular

words separated by spaces. Finally after fine-tuning our MBERT classifier (see Figure 1), we infer the labels from the provided test set and use extracted excerpts only for the posts having greater than 200 tokens (see Figure 2). In summary, in our training set, we only extract excerpts when a post is depression-indicative and longer than 200 tokens. If no excerpts are extracted or the post is less than 200 tokens long or it is not depression-indicative, then we use the cleaned version of the original post and feed it to our MBERT classifier. After this procedure is completed, the total posts left beyond 200 tokens were 1667 which is more than a 50% reduction than the original number of posts having more than 200 tokens (i.e., 4018). All the posts from the original training set beyond 200 tokens and with depression indication are now pre-processed so that those now contain only depressive excerpts which is important for our classification. Our assumption with the posts with less than or equal 200 posts is that, they have more depressive sentence density than their longer counter-parts.



Figure 1: RE-MBERT training/fine-tuning algorithm



Figure 2: Fine-tuned RE-MBERT testing/inference algorithm
# 3.1 Depressive Sentence Proportion based Method (SPROP)

We calculate the number of sentences which are depression-indicative out of total number of sentences in a post: we call this the Depressive Sentence Proportion Value (DSPV). In our training set, we calculate DSPV for our depressive posts and we assume this to be 0 for the "No Depression" class, as ideally there would not be any depressionindicative sentences or might be too few such sentences present in this class. Later we use this as a feature extracted from all our training samples and train our model and report result in test samples based on same extracted feature.

# 4 Experimental Setup

We mix the training and development set provided in the shared task data, which is a total of 13,387 samples, and then split it into a training set of size: 12,589, and validation set of size: 128, and held-out set of size: 670 samples. For the MBERT classifier we use uncased mental BERT <sup>2</sup>. We use maximum token size = 200, number of epochs = 10, training and test batch size = 16. We employ a NVIDIA-GeForce-RTX 3070 GPU with 8 GB of integrated memory and 32GB of RAM.

For SPROP, we use a MLP classifier <sup>3</sup> with default settings and max iteration value of 300, during label inference time we take the argmax of the output label probabilities using *predict\_proba()* function.

Although BERT-based modelling takes around 30 minutes for training and testing, excerpt extraction for creating RE-MBERT takes a number of days to complete.

In the next section we report and analyze the performance of our top models, i.e. MBERT and RE-MBERT.

#### 5 Result Analysis

We report both label based accuracy for our heldout set over all samples (see Tables 1 and 2) and overall accuracy scores (i.e., Avg. Precision, Recall, Weighted-F1 and Macro-F1 across all labels over all samples, see Table 3) for our held-out set. Also, we report overall accuracy scores (i.e., Avg.

<sup>3</sup>https://scikit-learn.org/stable/

modules/generated/sklearn.neural\_network.
MLPClassifier.html

Classes	Precision	Recall	F1-score
No Depression	0.7812	0.4975	0.6079
Moderate	0.7371	0.9113	0.8150
Severe	0.5500	0.3492	0.4272

Table 1: Accuracy scores for each labels for held-outset on MBERT

Classes	Precision	Recall	F1-score
No Depression	0.7786	0.5423	0.6393
Moderate	0.7531	0.8941	0.8176
Severe	0.5625	0.4286	0.4865

Table 2: Accuracy scores for each labels for held-outset on RE-MBERT

Precision, Recall and Weighted F1 and Macro-F1 over all labels across all samples) for test set provided by the shared task organizers (see Table 4). From the F1-scores for different labels in the heldout set, we see added value to the classification performance for "No Depression" and "Severe Depression" classes (see Tables 1 and 2). For "Moderate Depression" class there is still some improvement but it is not very pronounced (only 0.26%). Increased recall in "No Depression" and "Severe Depression" classes (by almost 4.5% and 8%) indicates that the classifier learns a high false positive rate or is more inclined to erroneously identify a post as either not depressive or severely depressive through our training procedure. However, for our "Severe Depression" class, our classifier also achieves better precision scores, means robustness against false negative results. For "Moderate Depression" class we also see 1.6% precision improvement but with a cost of 1.73% decrease in recall. We can see the reflection of these results in Table 3, with RE-MBERT having significantly better Macro-F1 score due to pronounced recall for "No Depression" (by 3.14%) and "Severe Depression" (by almost 6%) classes.

In the test set accuracy scores in Table 4, we see our strategy (RE-MBERT) helps in achieving a slightly better Macro-F1 score (by 0.3%) whereas the precision score improvement is more pronounced (by 1.8%) than recall compared to MBERT. Additionally, improvement in the Weighted-F1 score (by 1%) suggests that our strategy helps improve the F1-score for one of our Depression level classes. Unfortunately, since we do not have access to test set labels we cannot do detailed label-wise error analysis. We also test

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>https://huggingface.co/mental/ mental-bert-base-uncased

Experiment Name	Recall	Precision	Weighted-F1	Macro-F1
MBERT	0.5860	0.6894	0.7164	0.6167
<b>RE-MBERT</b>	0.6216	0.6981	0.7330	0.6478

Table 3: Avg. accuracy scores for held-out set across all labels over all samples

Experiment Name	Recall	Precision	Weighted-F1	Macro-F1
MBERT	0.5431	0.5374	0.6442	0.5374
<b>RE-MBERT</b>	0.5345	0.5554	0.6542	0.5404
OPI (top model)	0.5912	0.5860	0.6660	0.5830

Table 4: Avg. accuracy scores for test set across all labels over all samples

with a single feature SPROP method, which results in Macro-F1 score of 0.3387 in test set. We found SPROP is more robust for more populated classes such as "Moderate Depression" and "No Depression" and performs poorly for the "Severe Depression" class. This seems reasonable because a single feature has less predictive value. We tried that method just to observe whether depressive sentence proportion as a feature has any significance or not. In future, we would like to use this with other features in future to make our modelling robust.

Finally, our MBERT modelling does not perform data cleaning as RE-MBERT and SPROP. We find that data cleaning does not provide any significant performance gain, by comparing MBERT trained with cleaned and not cleaned samples. With data cleaning, we achieve only 0.48% accuracy gain in the held-out set. Therefore we believe that the accuracy increase in the held-out and test set for our RE-MBERT modelling is purely attributed to our excerpt extraction algorithm. The Held-out set sample distribution is similar to our training set, which explains why we have better accuracy scores there.

# 6 Conclusion

We have described a few strategies for the Depression level detection shared task from Reddit posts. We use state-of-the-art mental health data pre-trained BERT model (MBERT) and further fine-tune it with the shared task data and achieve 7th position in terms of Macro-F1 score and 3rd position in terms of Weighted F1 score compared to 30 other participating teams. We also present a strategy (RE-MBERT) to consider while training MBERT in a resource constrained environment through a subset of relevant sentence selection for longer posts. Our strategy shows some improve-

ments in both training and test set which is stimulating and encouraging.

#### Acknowledgements

We are grateful to the Alberta Machine Intelligence Institute (AMII) for their generous funding for our research.

#### References

- Christos Baziotis, Nikos Pelekis, and Christos Doulkeridis. 2017. Datastories at semeval-2017 task 4: Deep lstm with attention for message-level and topicbased sentiment analysis. In *Proceedings of the 11th International Workshop on Semantic Evaluation* (*SemEval-2017*), pages 747–754, Vancouver, Canada. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Glen Coppersmith, Mark Dredze, and Craig Harman. 2014. Quantifying mental health signals in twitter. In Proceedings of the Workshop on Computational Linguistics and Clinical Psychology: From Linguistic Signal to Clinical Reality, pages 51–60.
- Jacob Devlin, Ming-Wei Chang, Kenton Lee, and Kristina Toutanova. 2018. Bert: Pre-training of deep bidirectional transformers for language understanding. arXiv preprint arXiv:1810.04805.
- Nawshad Farruque, Randy Goebel, Osmar R Zaïane, and Sudhakar Sivapalan. 2021. Explainable zeroshot modelling of clinical depression symptoms from text. In 2021 20th IEEE International Conference on Machine Learning and Applications (ICMLA), pages 1472–1477. IEEE.
- Nawshad Farruque, Osmar Zaiane, and Randy Goebel. 2019. Augmenting semantic representation of depressive language: From forums to microblogs. In *Joint European Conference on Machine Learning and Knowledge Discovery in Databases*, pages 359–375. Springer.
- Sharath Chandra Guntuku, David B Yaden, Margaret L Kern, Lyle H Ungar, and Johannes C Eichstaedt. 2017. Detecting depression and mental illness on

social media: an integrative review. *Current Opinion* in Behavioral Sciences, 18:43–49.

- Shaoxiong Ji, Tianlin Zhang, Luna Ansari, Jie Fu, Prayag Tiwari, and Erik Cambria. 2021. Mentalbert: Publicly available pretrained language models for mental healthcare. arXiv preprint arXiv:2110.15621.
- S Kayalvizhi and D Thenmozhi. 2022. Data set creation and empirical analysis for detecting signs of depression from social media postings. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2202.03047*.
- Danielle Mowery, Hilary Smith, Tyler Cheney, Greg Stoddard, Glen Coppersmith, Craig Bryan, and Mike Conway. 2017. Understanding depressive symptoms and psychosocial stressors on twitter: a corpus-based study. *Journal of medical Internet research*, 19(2).
- Kayalvizhi Sampath, Thenmozhi Durairaj, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, and Jerin Mahibha C. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Detecting Signs of Depression from Social Media. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion.* Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Chi Sun, Xipeng Qiu, Yige Xu, and Xuanjing Huang. 2019. How to fine-tune bert for text classification? In *China national conference on Chinese computational linguistics*, pages 194–206. Springer.

# SSN\_ARMM@ LT-EDI -ACL2022: Hope Speech Detection for Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion Using ALBERT model

# PraveenKumar V, Prathyush S, Aravind P, Angel Deborah S, Rajalakshmi S, Milton R S, Mirnalinee T T

Department of Computer Science and Engineering, Sri Sivasubramaniya Nadar College of Engineering, Chennai, India

vpraveenkumar0211@gmail.com, aravind14110@gmail.com, prathyushsunil2510@gmail.com angeldeborahs@ssn.edu.in, rajalakshmis@ssn.edu.in, miltonrs@ssn.edu.in, mirnalineett@ssn.edu.in

#### Abstract

In recent years social media has become one of the major forums for expressing human views and emotions. With the help of smartphones and high-speed internet, anyone can express their views on Social media. However, this can also lead to the spread of hatred and violence in society. Therefore it is necessary to build a method to find and support helpful social media content. In this paper, we studied Natural Language Processing approach for detecting Hope speech in a given sentence. The task was to classify the sentences into 'Hope speech' and 'Non-hope speech'. The dataset was provided by LT-EDI organizers with text from Youtube comments. Based on the task description, we developed a system using the pre-trained language model BERT to complete this task. Our model achieved 1st rank in the Kannada language with a weighted average F1 score of 0.750, 2nd rank in the Malayalam language with a weighted average F1 score of 0.740, 3rd rank in the Tamil language with a weighted average F1 score of 0.390 and 6th rank in the English language with a weighted average F1 score of 0.880.

# 1 Introduction

Social media has become an essential part of our lives. People tend to reflect on their inner selves through their online conversations. There is a huge increase in the number of individuals looking for support through the internet. In recent times, there has been a surge in these online support sources. Gowen et al. (2012) Online support groups help people going through similar disabilities, health problems, etc and overcome their difficulties together. Recently researchers Ganda and Madison (2014) have found out that social media network and online support groups have a great impact on people's self-understanding. YouTube is a Social media platform which connects billions of users across the internet. It has gained outstanding popularity across the globe (Sakuntharaj and Mahesan, 2021, 2017, 2016; Thavareesan and Mahesan, 2019, 2020a,b, 2021). With commenting options available, one can easily manipulate different people through this. As social media is used predominantly in day to day life, it is crucial, not only to protect users from harmful content but also to spread and encourage hope and optimism in this society (Sampath et al., 2022; Ravikiran et al., 2022; Chakravarthi et al., 2022b; Bharathi et al., 2022; Priyadharshini et al., 2022). In recent days, NLP has gained many architectural advancements and gained better results than state of art methods Wang et al. (2019).

The task focuses on the classification of Hope speech in multiple languages with each language having different class imbalances. Hope speech detection can uplift the amount of positive content on social media and helps to build a peaceful world. In our task, we used Hope Speech dataset for Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion in English, Tamil, Malayalam, and Kannada (Chakravarthi, 2020; Chakravarthi and Muralidaran, 2021; Chakravarthi et al., 2021, 2022a). Dravidian languages are a group of 250 million people who speak mostly in southern India, north-east Sri Lanka, and southwest Pakistan. The Dravidian languages are classified as South, South-Central, Central, and North, with each category subdivided into 24 subgroups. The Indian constitution recognizes four main literary languages: Telugu, Tamil, Malayalam, and Kannada. Tamil is one of the world's longestsurviving classical languages (Subalalitha, 2019; Srinivasan and Subalalitha, 2019; Narasimhan et al., 2018). Tamil is a member of the southern branch of the Dravidian languages, a group of about 26 languages indigenous to the Indian subcontinent. It is also classed as a member of the Tamil language family, which contains the languages of around 35 ethno-linguistic groups, including the Irula and Yerukula languages (Anita and Subalalitha, 2019b,a; Subalalitha and Poovammal, 2018).

The remainder of this paper is organized as follows: the next section includes related work followed by Dataset Description in section 3. Section 4 contains the Methodology. Results are presented in Section 5 and the Conclusion is presented in Section 6.

# 2 Related Works

Hope speech detection has been one of the important areas of research in recent years. Researchers have developed a wide range of tools, datasets, and models for Text Classification problems. In recent years many researchers have developed automatic methods for hope speech detection in social media. These methods rely on popular technologies like Machine Learning and Natural Language Processing. (Zhang et al., 2018) Did hate speech analysis for short text such as tweets. The proposed DNN method helps in identifying features useful for classification. They evaluated their model with the Twitter dataset and obtained good results. (Ribeiro et al., 2018) characterized hate speech in Online Social Networks with the help of n DeGroot's learning model. They found how hateful users are different from normal users using centrality measures and user activity patterns. (Ghanghor et al., 2021) Carried out hope speech detection task with various models and found out that mBERTcased model gave the best results. They employed zero short cross-lingual model transfer which is used to finetune the model evaluation. They found out that degradation of the model performance was due to freezing of base layers of transformer model . Muralidhar et al. (2018) focused on YouTube sentiment analysis. The researchers analyzed these data to find their trends and it was found that real-life events are influenced by user sentiments. Hope speech can also be termed as the opposite of hate speech. Hate speech includes offensive and bad comments on a particular work or a particular person. (Chakravarthi et al., 2020) These offensive comments create a bad impact on this society. Work done by (Puranik et al., 2021) includes analyzing the corpus of data collected from Youtube comments.

# **3** Dataset Description

In this work, we made use of the datasets provided by the Association for Computational Linguistics for Hope Speech Detection for Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion competition. These are multi-lingual datasets constructed by Chakravarthi (2020). It consists of comments made by users from the social media platform YouTube with 28,424, 17715, 9918, and 6176 comments in English, Tamil, Malayalam, and Kannada respectively, manually labeled. In these datasets, the comments are classified into two different categories as Hope-speech and Non-hope-speech. The distribution of each language dataset is shown in the table 1.

Language	Train	Test	Dev
Tamil	14199	1761	1755
English	22740	2841	2841
Malayalam	7873	1071	974
Kannada	4940	618	618

Table 1: Summary of Dataset

### 4 Methodology

We have applied a transformer-based approach to detect hope speech for multi-lingual Dravidian language comments. In our implementation of the code, we have used the Simple Transformers library which is built upon the transformers library by huggingface. ALBERT model has similar architecture as the BERT model, but the ALBERT model takes 18x fewer parameters compared to the BERT model. The Transformer-based neural network gives us another advantage through a technique called parameter-sharing where they use the same parameters for different independent layers. The architecture diagram of ALBERT model is given in figure 1. The transformers are non-sequential and always are processed in batches or as a whole sentence. We have also used a bi-directional approach so not only the previous words but the words from the right can also help in tokenizing.

We are using the IndicBERT model for tokenizing the Input Samples. We are tokenizing each input to convert the input sequence to tokens. IndicBERT is an ALBERT model that is pre-trained on 12 major Indian languages with a huge corpus of roughly 9 billion tokens. It's trained by choosing a single model for all languages to learn the relationship between languages. We have employed ai4bharat/Indic-bert model for both tokenizing and classifying model. We are tokenizing each sentence with a maximum length of 400 and truncation is enabled. The special tokens are included in this model to capture multi-lingual tokens and padding is not done for each sentence but is done



Figure 1: Architecture of ALBERT model

in batches later. Now the tokens have different sequence lengths and the inputs are now sorted based on the sequence length. This helps us in creating smart batches. Then the smart batches with a batch size of 16 are created and then the padding is done in those batches and attention masks are added. The resulting token count from padding in smart batches is 93.9% lesser than Fixed padding while not discarding any important token.

Now we are using transfer learning to import the ALBERT model for sequence classification and its configurations. The AdamW optimizer is used. Adam optimizer updates the weights based on stochastic gradient descent with an adaptive estimation based on first and second-order moments. AdamW optimizer does the same but it is additionally decoupled with the weight decay of the variable. We have also used a dynamic learning rate that is updated in each step by the linear scheduler function. The training is done in batches so the loss function is the average loss over the batch taken. Our hyperparameters are present in table 2.

Hyperparameters	Value
epoch	4
batch size	16
learning rate	$2e^{-5}$
max_length	400
activation	tanh
optimizer	AdamW
Adam_epsilon	$1e^{-8}$
Truncate	Enabled
Padding	Smart Batches
Learning rate	Dynamic

Table 2: Hyper-parameters of the model

# **5** Experimental Result

This section presents our experimental results and their analysis. In the results announced by the organizers. Multilingual comments are subjected to vary because people tend to write it in code-mixed data or in their native language which can be misinterpreted. A variation of such comments between train, test, and validation can impact the result of the model. Our model got 1st rank in Kannada, 2nd rank in Malayalam, 3rd rank in Tamil, and 6th rank in English. Our evaluation panel used the F1 score weighted average as a result indicator. The performance of our model is given in table 3. This result is due to the adoption of a pre-trained language model for this shared task. The ALBERT model is based on the Transformer model that has great potential for capturing global information Vaswani et al. (2017).

Language	Precision	Recall	F1 score
English	0.880	0.890	0.880
Tamil	0.370	0.420	0.390
Malayalam	0.700	0.780	0.740
Kannada	0.740	0.760	0.750

Table 3: The results of our model

# 6 Conclusion

Due to the pandemic there has been a sudden increase in active social media users which has led to abundant online content. There is a need to promote and motivate positive content to spread peace and knowledge in this society. In this paper, we proposed a transformer-based approach for Hope speech detection in 4 different languages (English, Tamil, Malayalam, Kannada). We used the AL- BERT model with AdamW optimizer for classification. Our model got an F1 score of 0.880, 0.390, 0.740, and 0.750 in English, Tamil, Malayalam, and Kannada. In future work, techniques like Data augmentation can be used to fine-tune the model on more data.

#### References

- R Anita and CN Subalalitha. 2019a. An approach to cluster Tamil literatures using discourse connectives. In 2019 IEEE 1st International Conference on Energy, Systems and Information Processing (ICESIP), pages 1–4. IEEE.
- R Anita and CN Subalalitha. 2019b. Building discourse parser for Thirukkural. In *Proceedings of the 16th International Conference on Natural Language Processing*, pages 18–25.
- B Bharathi, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Subalalitha Chinnaudayar Navaneethakrishnan, N Sripriya, Arunaggiri Pandian, and Swetha Valli. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Speech Recognition for Vulnerable Individuals in Tamil. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi. 2020. HopeEDI: A multilingual hope speech detection dataset for equality, diversity, and inclusion. In *Proceedings of the Third Workshop on Computational Modeling of People's Opinions, Personality, and Emotion's in Social Media*, pages 41–53, Barcelona, Spain (Online). Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi and Vigneshwaran Muralidaran. 2021. Findings of the shared task on hope speech detection for equality, diversity, and inclusion. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, pages 61–72, Kyiv. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Vigneshwaran Muralidaran, Ruba Priyadharshini, Subalalitha Chinnaudayar Navaneethakrishnan, John Phillip McCrae, Miguel Ángel García-Cumbreras, Salud María Jiménez-Zafra, Rafael Valencia-García, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, Rahul Ponnusamy, Daniel García-Baena, and José Antonio García-Díaz. 2022a. Findings of the shared task on Hope Speech Detection for Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion. In Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Vigneshwaran Muralidaran, Ruba Priyadharshini, and John Philip McCrae. 2020. Corpus creation for sentiment analysis in code-mixed Tamil-English text. In *Proceedings of the 1st Joint Workshop on Spoken Language Technologies for*

Under-resourced languages (SLTU) and Collaboration and Computing for Under-Resourced Languages (CCURL), pages 202–210, Marseille, France. European Language Resources association.

- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Thenmozhi Durairaj, John Phillip McCrae, Paul Buitaleer, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, and Rahul Ponnusamy. 2022b. Findings of the shared task on Homophobia Transphobia Detection in Social Media Comments. In Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Rahul Ponnusamy, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, Kayalvizhi Sampath, Durairaj Thenmozhi, Sathiyaraj Thangasamy, Rajendran Nallathambi, and John Phillip McCrae. 2021. Dataset for identification of homophobia and transophobia in multilingual YouTube comments. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2109.00227*.
- Ganda and Madison. 2014. Social media and self: Influences on the formation of identity and understanding of self through social networking sites. page 55. University Honors Theses.
- Nikhil Ghanghor, Rahul Ponnusamy, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, Ruba Priyadharshini, Sajeetha Thavareesan, and Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi. 2021. IIITK@LT-EDI-EACL2021: Hope speech detection for equality, diversity, and inclusion in Tamil, Malayalam and English. In Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion, pages 197–203, Kyiv. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Kris Gowen, Matthew Deschaine, Darcy Gruttadara, and Dana Markey. 2012. Young adults with mental health conditions and social networking websites: Seeking tools to build community. *Psychiatric rehabilitation journal*, 35:245–50.
- Skanda Muralidhar, Laurent Nguyen, and Daniel Gatica-Perez. 2018. Words worth: Verbal content and hirability impressions in YouTube video resumes. In Proceedings of the 9th Workshop on Computational Approaches to Subjectivity, Sentiment and Social Media Analysis, pages 322–327, Brussels, Belgium. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Anitha Narasimhan, Aarthy Anandan, Madhan Karky, and CN Subalalitha. 2018. Porul: Option generation and selection and scoring algorithms for a tamil flash card game. *International Journal of Cognitive and Language Sciences*, 12(2):225–228.
- Ruba Priyadharshini, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Subalalitha Chinnaudayar Navaneethakrishnan, Thenmozhi Durairaj, Malliga Subramanian, Kogilavani Shanmugavadivel, Siddhanth U Hegde, and Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Abusive Comment Detection in Tamil. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on*

Speech and Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Karthik Puranik, Adeep Hande, Ruba Priyadharshini, Sajeetha Thavareesan, and Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi. 2021. IIITT@LT-EDI-EACL2021hope speech detection: There is always hope in transformers. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, pages 98–106, Kyiv. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Manikandan Ravikiran, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Anand Kumar Madasamy, Sangeetha Sivanesan, Ratnavel Rajalakshmi, Sajeetha Thavareesan, Rahul Ponnusamy, and Shankar Mahadevan. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Offensive Span Identification in code-mixed Tamil-English comments. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Speech and Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages*. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Manoel Horta Ribeiro, Pedro H. Calais, Yuri A. Santos, Virgílio A. F. Almeida, and Wagner Meira Jr. 2018. "like sheep among wolves": Characterizing hateful users on twitter. *CoRR*, abs/1801.00317.
- Ratnasingam Sakuntharaj and Sinnathamby Mahesan. 2016. A novel hybrid approach to detect and correct spelling in Tamil text. In 2016 IEEE International Conference on Information and Automation for Sustainability (ICIAfS), pages 1–6.
- Ratnasingam Sakuntharaj and Sinnathamby Mahesan. 2017. Use of a novel hash-table for speeding-up suggestions for misspelt Tamil words. In 2017 IEEE International Conference on Industrial and Information Systems (ICIIS), pages 1–5.
- Ratnasingam Sakuntharaj and Sinnathamby Mahesan. 2021. Missing word detection and correction based on context of Tamil sentences using n-grams. In 2021 10th International Conference on Information and Automation for Sustainability (ICIAfS), pages 42–47.
- Anbukkarasi Sampath, Thenmozhi Durairaj, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Subalalitha Chinnaudayar Navaneethakrishnan, Kogilavani Shanmugavadivel, Sajeetha Thavareesan, Sathiyaraj Thangasamy, Parameswari Krishnamurthy, Adeep Hande, Sean Benhur, Kishor Kumar Ponnusamy, and Santhiya Pandiyan. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Emotion Analysis in Tamil. In Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Speech and Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- R Srinivasan and CN Subalalitha. 2019. Automated named entity recognition from tamil documents. In 2019 IEEE 1st International Conference on Energy, Systems and Information Processing (ICESIP), pages 1–5. IEEE.

- C. N. Subalalitha. 2019. Information extraction framework for Kurunthogai. Sādhanā, 44(7):156.
- CN Subalalitha and E Poovammal. 2018. Automatic bilingual dictionary construction for Tirukural. *Applied Artificial Intelligence*, 32(6):558–567.
- Sajeetha Thavareesan and Sinnathamby Mahesan. 2019. Sentiment analysis in tamil texts: A study on machine learning techniques and feature representation. In 2019 14th Conference on Industrial and Information Systems (ICIIS), pages 320–325.
- Sajeetha Thavareesan and Sinnathamby Mahesan. 2020a. Sentiment lexicon expansion using Word2vec and fastText for sentiment prediction in Tamil texts. In 2020 Moratuwa Engineering Research Conference (MERCon), pages 272–276.
- Sajeetha Thavareesan and Sinnathamby Mahesan. 2020b. Word embedding-based part of speech tagging in Tamil texts. In 2020 IEEE 15th International Conference on Industrial and Information Systems (ICIIS), pages 478–482.
- Sajeetha Thavareesan and Sinnathamby Mahesan. 2021. Sentiment analysis in Tamil texts using k-means and k-nearest neighbour. In 2021 10th International Conference on Information and Automation for Sustainability (ICIAfS), pages 48–53.
- Ashish Vaswani, Noam Shazeer, Niki Parmar, Jakob Uszkoreit, Llion Jones, Aidan N. Gomez, Lukasz Kaiser, and Illia Polosukhin. 2017. Attention is all you need. *CoRR*, abs/1706.03762.
- Chenguang Wang, Mu Li, and Alexander J. Smola. 2019. Language models with transformers. *CoRR*, abs/1904.09408.
- Ziqi Zhang, David Robinson, and Jonathan Tepper. 2018. Detecting hate speech on twitter using a convolution-gru based deep neural network. In *The Semantic Web*, pages 745–760, Cham. Springer International Publishing.

# SUH\_ASR@LT-EDI-ACL2022: Transformer based Approach for Speech Recognition for Vulnerable Individuals in Tamil

S. Suhasini & B. Bharathi

Department of CSE Sri Siva Subramaniya Nadar College of Engineering Kalavakkam - 603110 suhasinis@ssn.edu.in bharathib@ssn.edu.in

#### Abstract

An Automatic Speech Recognition System is developed for addressing the Tamil conversational speech data of the elderly people and transgender. The speech corpus used in this system is collected from the people who adhere their communication in Tamil at some primary places like bank, hospital, vegetable markets. Our ASR system is designed with pre-trained model which is used to recognize the speech data. WER(Word Error Rate) calculation is used to analyse the performance of the ASR system. This evaluation could help to make a comparison of utterances between the elderly people and others. Similarly, the comparison between the transgender and other people is also done. Our proposed ASR system achieves the word error rate as 39.65%.

**Keywords:** Automatic Speech Recognition, Word Error Rate, Tamil speech corpus, Transformer model, Pre-trained model.

# 1 Introduction

In the recent days, most of the people have started using the internet through various electronic devices(Vacher et al., 2015). In such a case, the elderly people have also started using the internet through smart phones. As some of the elderly people were not educated much about the technology, they try to retrieve the information from internet using their audio message. To handle such kind of audio messages of elderly people, an acoustic model has to be designed, the model will recognize the utterance of the elderly people and extracts the output of the speech data(Fukuda et al., 2019)(Hämäläinen et al., 2015). Therefore, the output will be a text file. Based on the output of the speech, WER value will be calculated. The WER value shows the accuracy of the prediction by the model. It is identified that Automatic Speech Recognition using some standard models have not achieved a good performance(Nakajima and Aono, 2020) and also no other corpus for elderly people is larger than the Japanese Newspaper Article Sentences (JNAS), Japanese Newspaper Article Sentences Read Speech Corpus of the Aged (S-JNAS) and Corpus of Spontaneous Japanese (CSJ) corpora(Fukuda et al., 2020).

The earliest Old Tamil documents are small inscriptions in Adichanallur dating from 905 BC to 696 BC. Tamil has the oldest ancient non-Sanskritic Indian literature of any Indian language. Tamil uses agglutinative grammar, which uses suffixes to indicate noun class, number, case, verb tense, and other grammatical categories (Chakravarthi, 2020; Chakravarthi and Muralidaran, 2021; Chakravarthi et al., 2020). Tamil's standard metalinguistic terminology and scholarly vocabulary is itself Tamil, as opposed to the Sanskrit that is standard for most Aryan languages. Tamil has many forms, in addition to dialects: a classical literary style based on the ancient language (cankattami), a modern literary and formal style (centami), and a current colloquial form (kotuntami) (Sakuntharaj and Mahesan, 2021, 2017, 2016; Thavareesan and Mahesan, 2019, 2020a,b, 2021). These styles blend into one another, creating a stylistic continuity. It is conceivable, for example, to write centami using cankattami vocabulary, or to utilize forms connected with one of the other varieties while speaking kotuntami (Subalalitha, 2019; Srinivasan and Subalalitha, 2019; Narasimhan et al., 2018). Tamil words are made up of a lexical root and one or more affixes. The majority of Tamil affixes are suffixes. Tamil suffixes are either derivational suffixes, which modify the part of speech or meaning of the word, or inflectional suffixes, which designate categories like as person, number, mood, tense, and so on. There is no ultimate limit to the length and scope of agglutination, which might result in large words with several suffixes, requiring many words or a sentence in English (Anita and Subalalitha, 2019b,a; Subalalitha and Poovammal, 2018).

Likewise, the speech corpus of different languages are addressed by many people, those corpus contains either the male or the female speech and no corpus addressed the transgender speech. But, the speech corpus released by the shared task(LT-EDI-ACL2022) contains male, female and transgender utterances, which enhance the characteristic of the acoustic model, but the number of speech utterances collected are very less compared to other elderly speech corpus. The model also need to handle challenges faced in the corpus, as this shared task speech corpus contains conversational speech data in primary locations like bank, market, hospital and public transport. As the people may have their own accent and pronunciation for conversational speech in the primary places, it is difficult to recognize the speech and the model used for recognizing standard speech cannot be used for the conversational speech corpus because it increases the WER. To address this kind of conversational speech of the elderly people a transformer model approach is used. The follow of the paper is as follows: The review of the related work is discussed in section 2, Data-set description is described in section 3, Methodology used is discussed in section 4, followed by Implementation, Observations and Discussion are described in section 5, 6 and 7 respectively. Finally, the paper is concluded with future work in section 8.

# 2 Related Work

Many studies have done on recognizing the elderly people speech corpus, using adaptation acoustic model for CSJ corpus which results in lowest WER values(Fukuda et al., 2020). The prosodic and spectral features are extracted for elderly people speech(Lin and Yu, 2015) and the performance of the continuous word recognition and phoneme recognition is measured from the two different age groups and the corpus is collected in Bengali language(Das et al., 2011). Additional feature analysis can also be done like loudness of the speech, sampling rate, fundamental frequency, and segmentation of the sentence. Other measures were done by identifying the pause in the sentence and measuring the duration of the pause(Nakajima and Aono, 2020). Insufficient performance is measured with low number of utterance(Fukuda et al., 2020). Increase in WER value happens if the quality of recorded speech is low(Iribe et al., 2015). E2E ASR transformer can do encoding and decoding

hierarchically by combining the transformers for large context(Masumura et al., 2021). Using the Hybrid based LSTM transformer, the WER is reduced with 25.4% by transfer learning. Additionally, 13% WER is reduced by LSTM decoder(Zeng et al., 2021). Transformer model encoding and decoding can be carried with self- attention and multi-head attention layer(Lee et al., 2021). For CTC/Attention based End-To-End ASR, the transformer model is used, which result 23.66% of WER(Miao et al., 2020). End-to-End ASR system works based on transformers for streaming ASR, where an output must be generated soon after each spoken word. For the encoder, the timerestricted self-attention is used, and for the encoderdecoder attention mechanism, prompted attention is used. On the Wall Street Journal task, the novel fusion attention technique delivers a WER decrease of 16.7% compared to the non-fusion standard transformer and 12.1% compared to other authors transformer-based benchmarks.

# **3** Data-set Description

Tamil conversational speech data is collected from the elderly people. The speech corpus contains a total of 6 hours and 42 minutes of speech data. The recorded speech of elderly people contains how the elderly people communicate in primary locations like market, bank, shop, public transport and hospitals. It includes both male and female utterances and also this speech data is collected from the transgender people. Table 1. contains the detailed description about the collected data.

Gender	Avg-Age	<b>Duration(mins)</b>
Male	61	93
Female	59	242
Transgender	30	67

Table 1: Data-set Details

### 4 Proposed Work

In the proposed methodology, transformer model Rajaram1996/wav2vec-large-xlsr-53-tamil transformer model <sup>1</sup> is used. The initial part of XLSR contains a stack of CNN layers that are used to extract acoustically important features - but it is context independent - features from the raw speech

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>https://huggingface.co/Rajaram1996/wav2vec2-largexlsr-53-tamil

	Target Sentence	உனக்கு என்ன கலர் பிடிச்சிருக்கு நீல கலர் ரொம்ப நல்லா இருக்குல்ல நீங்கள் உங்கள் நிறுவனத்தின் நேரடி விற்பனையாளர் உங்களுக்கு எங்கள் கிளைகள் உள்ளன வாகனத்தின்
1	Dredicted	உனக்கு என்னக்கல்ப்பிடுச்சிருக்கு நீல்கல ரொப்ப நல்லவருக்குல்லாநீங்கள் உங்கள் நொடிலனத்து போடு விற னையுளார ஊதுவக்கு எங்கங்க சிலைவுல் உள்ளனவாகனக்கின
	Sentence	
2	Target Sentence	அதுக்கு இன் பெட்வீன் கேப் எவ்ளோ இருக்கனும் முன்னாடியே சொல்லிடுவீங்களா ஏத்தாது டயட் லாம் போலோவ் பண்ணனுமா வஞ்சர மீன் இருக்குதா என்ன விலை வஞ்சர பீஸ் பனி தருவிங்கள நாங்க கேக்குற வெயிட்டுக்கு தருவிங்கள சுறா என விலை
	Predicted Sentence	அதுகு இன்டுற்றின் கேட்பருளர்களும் பிழ ற்கிணங்கல்லும் உனுக்கிமாச னீர்றீங்கா வக அதிகத்தில்் பேற்லான் பேட ே சாலாதமிழமாகனனாடம் இல்லார்கே வஞ்தரர்குதா வஞ்சனைக்குல என்னகலாம உ அதிர பீப்ப்பனி தவ்வீங்களா அத நங்க கேக்கிட ஏட்டிடுத் தரியீங்களாறாவணவள அற்கில பரிவீங்களா

Figure 1: Sample Prediction

signal. A pre-trained XLSR model maps the speech signal to a series of context representations. However, model has to recognise speech from the given dataset, it must translate this series of context representations to their corresponding transcription, which necessitates the addition of a linear layer on top of the transformer block. At a sampling rate of 16kHz, the XLSR model was pretrained using audio data from Babel, Multilingual LibriSpeech (MLS), Common Voice, VoxPopuli, and VoxLingua107. Because Common Voice has a sampling rate of 48kHz in its original form. Later, it was downsampled by fine-tuning the data to 16kHz. The parameter required to instantiate Wav2Vec2FeatureExtractor are feature\_size, sampling\_rate, padding\_value, do\_normalize and return\_attention\_mask. The below Figure 1. shows the sample prediction for the given corpus.

S.No.	Gender	Count	Avg WER
1	Male	9	43.8283176
2	Female	27	41.69810455

Table 2: Average WER Value for Training Data

S.No.	Gender	Count	Avg WER
1	Male	2	31.27275584
2	Female	1	43.95625294
3	Transgender	7	40.23148537

Table 3: Average WER Value for Test Data

#### **5** Implementation

To develop an effective acoustic model using a transformer based pre-trained model. There are various transformer based pre-trained model available publicly. Here, the "Rajaram1996/wav2vec2large-xlsr-53-tamil" pretrained model for handling Tamil speech corpus is used. This pretrained model is fine-tuned from "facebook/wav2vec2-large-xlsr-53"  $^2$  by common voice dataset in Tamil. The model accepts the input only if the speech data is sampled at 16KHZ and it does not depend on any language model, instead it can be used directly. The XSLR is used in the model for building the wav2vec and also it experiments the cross-lingual speech data. XLSR is capable of learning the quantization of latents which is shared across languages. The speech utterance is loaded in the librosa, then it is stored in a variable and it will be tokenized using the tokenizer, which converts the audio to text and the outputs are the transcripts of the audio file which is loaded in the librosa. Once the speech recognition is done, the transcripts are stored in a separate folder. The WER(Word Error Rate) is calculated between the transcripts generated by the model and the original transcripts of the audio created by the human. Based on the WER value, the level of recognition of speech can be measured. Our speech corpus contains total of 46 audio files where it is subdivided into 1147 audio files. From 46 audio files, 36 audio files were given for training with 908 subsets and 10 audio files for testing with

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>https://huggingface.co/facebook/wav2vec2-large-xlsr-53

S.No.	File Name	Subsets	WER Value
1	Audio-1	30	43.33907333
2	Audio-2	26	45.05577308
3	Audio-3	32	36.69085938
4	Audio-4	23	42.27066957
5	Audio-5	42	37.81365952
6	Audio-6	25	40.862304
7	Audio-7	24	47.62186667
8	Audio-8	46	35.79983696
9	Audio-9	10	35.68962
10	Audio-10	38	38.76901053
11	Audio-11	49	42.83066735
12	Audio-12	17	47.48973529
13	Audio-13	33	38.63954545
14	Audio-14	25	36.521964
15	Audio-15	2	53.0503
16	Audio-16	16	41.0687875
17	Audio-17	35	38.18157143
18	Audio-18	16	42.4245875
19	Audio-19	24	39.72085417
20	Audio-20	27	37.19958519
21	Audio-21	38	41.47868947
22	Audio-22	35	39.07802286
23	Audio-23	37	56.72666757
24	Audio-24	11	46.33136364
25	Audio-25	9	50.21177778
26	Audio-26	22	47.08117273
27	Audio-27	16	40.204475
28	Audio-28	23	45.89045217
29	Audio-29	47	50.12873617
30	Audio-30	25	36.606272
31	Audio-31	25	40.567656
32	Audio-32	16	38.5304625
33	Audio-33	16	40.3838125
34	Audio-34	16	46.8358
35	Audio-35	16	37.12355
36	Audio-36	16	42.0845

Table 4: WER values for Training Set

239 subsets. The WER value for each audio file is calculated.

# **6** Observations

The result contains the name of the speech data with its WER value. Similarly, for all the audio files the same process is carried out. The table also includes the details about the number of subsets that each audio file is divided into. In Table 2, the average WER value of training set audio files is calculated which holds male and female utterances. In Table 3, the average WER value of test set audio files is calculated which includes male, female and transgender utterances.

# 6.1 Training Results

#### 6.2 Testing Results

S.No.	File Name	Subsets	WER Value
1	Audio-37	15	30.13258667
2	Audio-38	17	43.95625294
3	Audio-39	16	32.412925
4	Audio-40	17	37.89848235
5	Audio-41	19	42.65715789
6	Audio-42	24	43.11616667
7	Audio-43	30	37.94115667
8	Audio-44	28	36.29702143
9	Audio-45	26	44.35576154
10	Audio-46	47	39.35465106

Table 5: WER values for Testing Set

# 7 Discussion

From the Table 4, the experimental result says that the average WER(Word Error Rate) for the training dataset(908 audio files) is 42.23%. Similarly, Table 5, says the result of total 239 audio subset files from 10 audio files given for testing and the WER measured is 39.65%.

#### 8 Conclusion

In order to improve the speech recognition system for recognizing the elderly people conversational speech data. An automatic speech recognition system is designed with a pre-trained model. A dataset is collected from the elderly people and transgender whose native language is Tamil. The utterance of the dataset is a Tamil language and recorded during a conversation in primary locations. As the pre-trained model used for the system is fine-tuned with common voice dataset, in future the model can trained with our own dateset and it can be used for testing, which can increase the performance.

#### References

R Anita and CN Subalalitha. 2019a. An approach to cluster Tamil literatures using discourse connectives. In 2019 IEEE 1st International Conference on Energy, Systems and Information Processing (ICESIP), pages 1–4. IEEE.

- R Anita and CN Subalalitha. 2019b. Building discourse parser for Thirukkural. In *Proceedings of the 16th International Conference on Natural Language Processing*, pages 18–25.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi. 2020. HopeEDI: A multilingual hope speech detection dataset for equality, diversity, and inclusion. In *Proceedings of the Third Workshop on Computational Modeling of People's Opinions, Personality, and Emotion's in Social Media*, pages 41–53, Barcelona, Spain (Online). Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi and Vigneshwaran Muralidaran. 2021. Findings of the shared task on hope speech detection for equality, diversity, and inclusion. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, pages 61–72, Kyiv. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Vigneshwaran Muralidaran, Shardul Suryawanshi, Navya Jose, Elizabeth Sherly, and John P McCrae. 2020. Overview of the track on sentiment analysis for Dravidian languages in code-mixed text. In *Forum for Information Retrieval Evaluation*, pages 21–24.
- Biswajit Das, Sandipan Mandal, and Pabitra Mitra. 2011. Bengali speech corpus for continuous auutomatic speech recognition system. In 2011 International conference on speech database and assessments (Oriental COCOSDA), pages 51–55. IEEE.
- Meiko Fukuda, Ryota Nishimura, Hiromitsu Nishizaki, Yurie Iribe, and Norihide Kitaoka. 2019. A new corpus of elderly japanese speech for acoustic modeling, and a preliminary investigation of dialectdependent speech recognition. In 2019 22nd Conference of the Oriental COCOSDA International Committee for the Co-ordination and Standardisation of Speech Databases and Assessment Techniques (O-COCOSDA), pages 1–6. IEEE.
- Meiko Fukuda, Hiromitsu Nishizaki, Yurie Iribe, Ryota Nishimura, and Norihide Kitaoka. 2020. Improving speech recognition for the elderly: A new corpus of elderly japanese speech and investigation of acoustic modeling for speech recognition. In *Proceedings of the 12th Language Resources and Evaluation Conference*, pages 6578–6585.
- Annika Hämäläinen, António Teixeira, Nuno Almeida, Hugo Meinedo, Tibor Fegyó, and Miguel Sales Dias. 2015. Multilingual speech recognition for the elderly: The aalfred personal life assistant. *Procedia Computer Science*, 67:283–292.
- Yurie Iribe, Norihide Kitaoka, and Shuhei Segawa. 2015. Development of new speech corpus for elderly japanese speech recognition. In 2015 International Conference Oriental COCOSDA held jointly with 2015 Conference on Asian Spoken Language Research and Evaluation (O-COCOSDA/CASLRE), pages 27–31. IEEE.

- Taewoo Lee, Min-Joong Lee, Tae Gyoon Kang, Seokyeoung Jung, Minseok Kwon, Yeona Hong, Jungin Lee, Kyoung-Gu Woo, Ho-Gyeong Kim, Jiseung Jeong, et al. 2021. Adaptable multi-domain language model for transformer asr. In *ICASSP 2021-2021 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech* and Signal Processing (ICASSP), pages 7358–7362. IEEE.
- Hui Lin and Yibiao Yu. 2015. Acoustic feature analysis and conversion of age speech. In *IET Conference Proceedings*. The Institution of Engineering & Technology.
- Ryo Masumura, Naoki Makishima, Mana Ihori, Akihiko Takashima, Tomohiro Tanaka, and Shota Orihashi. 2021. Hierarchical transformer-based large-context end-to-end asr with large-context knowledge distillation. In *ICASSP 2021-2021 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP)*, pages 5879–5883. IEEE.
- Haoran Miao, Gaofeng Cheng, Changfeng Gao, Pengyuan Zhang, and Yonghong Yan. 2020. Transformer-based online ctc/attention end-to-end speech recognition architecture. In ICASSP 2020-2020 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP), pages 6084– 6088. IEEE.
- Hideharu Nakajima and Yushi Aono. 2020. Collection and analyses of exemplary speech data to establish easy-to-understand speech synthesis for japanese elderly adults. In 2020 23rd Conference of the Oriental COCOSDA International Committee for the Coordination and Standardisation of Speech Databases and Assessment Techniques (O-COCOSDA), pages 145–150. IEEE.
- Anitha Narasimhan, Aarthy Anandan, Madhan Karky, and CN Subalalitha. 2018. Porul: Option generation and selection and scoring algorithms for a tamil flash card game. *International Journal of Cognitive and Language Sciences*, 12(2):225–228.
- Ratnasingam Sakuntharaj and Sinnathamby Mahesan. 2016. A novel hybrid approach to detect and correct spelling in Tamil text. In 2016 IEEE International Conference on Information and Automation for Sustainability (ICIAfS), pages 1–6.
- Ratnasingam Sakuntharaj and Sinnathamby Mahesan. 2017. Use of a novel hash-table for speeding-up suggestions for misspelt Tamil words. In 2017 IEEE International Conference on Industrial and Information Systems (ICIIS), pages 1–5.
- Ratnasingam Sakuntharaj and Sinnathamby Mahesan. 2021. Missing word detection and correction based on context of Tamil sentences using n-grams. In 2021 10th International Conference on Information and Automation for Sustainability (ICIAfS), pages 42–47.

- R Srinivasan and CN Subalalitha. 2019. Automated named entity recognition from tamil documents. In 2019 IEEE 1st International Conference on Energy, Systems and Information Processing (ICESIP), pages 1–5. IEEE.
- C. N. Subalalitha. 2019. Information extraction framework for Kurunthogai. Sādhanā, 44(7):156.
- CN Subalalitha and E Poovammal. 2018. Automatic bilingual dictionary construction for Tirukural. *Applied Artificial Intelligence*, 32(6):558–567.
- Sajeetha Thavareesan and Sinnathamby Mahesan. 2019. Sentiment analysis in Tamil texts: A study on machine learning techniques and feature representation. In 2019 14th Conference on Industrial and Information Systems (ICIIS), pages 320–325.
- Sajeetha Thavareesan and Sinnathamby Mahesan. 2020a. Sentiment lexicon expansion using Word2vec and fastText for sentiment prediction in Tamil texts. In 2020 Moratuwa Engineering Research Conference (MERCon), pages 272–276.
- Sajeetha Thavareesan and Sinnathamby Mahesan. 2020b. Word embedding-based part of speech tagging in Tamil texts. In 2020 IEEE 15th International Conference on Industrial and Information Systems (ICIIS), pages 478–482.
- Sajeetha Thavareesan and Sinnathamby Mahesan. 2021. Sentiment analysis in Tamil texts using k-means and k-nearest neighbour. In 2021 10th International Conference on Information and Automation for Sustainability (ICIAfS), pages 48–53.
- Michel Vacher, Frédéric Aman, Solange Rossato, and François Portet. 2015. Development of automatic speech recognition techniques for elderly home support: Applications and challenges. In *International Conference on Human Aspects of IT for the Aged Population*, pages 341–353. Springer.
- Zhiping Zeng, Haihua Xu, Yerbolat Khassanov, Eng Siong Chng, Chongjia Ni, Bin Ma, et al. 2021. Leveraging text data using hybrid transformer-lstm based end-to-end asr in transfer learning. In 2021 12th International Symposium on Chinese Spoken Language Processing (ISCSLP), pages 1–5. IEEE.

# LPS@LT-EDI-ACL2022: An Ensemble Approach about Hope Speech Detection

# Yueying Zhu

School of Computer Science, Liupanshui Normal University, Guizhou, P.R. China 3058521758@qq.com

#### Abstract

The task shared by sponsor about Hope Speech Detection for Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion at LT-EDI-ACL-2022. The goal of this task is to identify whether a given comment contains hope speech or not, and hope is considered significant for the well-being, recuperation and restoration of human life.Our work aims to change the prevalent way of thinking by moving away from a preoccupation with discrimination, loneliness or the worst things in life to building the confidence, support and good qualities based on comments by individuals. In response to the need to detect equality, diversity and inclusion of hope speech in a multilingual environment, we built an integration model and achieved well performance on multiple datasets presented by the sponsor and the specific results can be referred to the experimental results section.

#### 1 Introduction

In the age of multimedia information technology, massive network data is a symbol of people's freedom of speech, and these messages contain a lot of positive or negative sentiments.Past research has mostly focused on sentiment analysis, or negative detection of insults, aggression and hate speech<sup>1</sup> (Chakravarthi et al., 2020, 2021, 2022b; Sampath et al., 2022; Ravikiran et al., 2022; Bharathi et al., 2022; Priyadharshini et al., 2022). Instead, the goal of this task(Chakravarthi et al., 2022a) shared at LT-EDI 2022- ACL 2022<sup>2</sup> is to determine whether a given comment contains hope speech or not in Tamil, Malayalam, Kannada, English and Spanish. Tamil, Malayalam, and Kannada belongs to Dravidian languages (Subalalitha, 2019; Srinivasan and Subalalitha, 2019; Narasimhan et al., 2018). Tamil is an official language of the Indian

<sup>2</sup>https://competitions.codalab.org/

competitions/36393

state of Tamil Nadu, the sovereign nations of Sri Lanka and Singapore, and the Union Territory of Puducherry (Sakuntharaj and Mahesan, 2021, 2017, 2016; Thavareesan and Mahesan, 2019, 2020a,b, 2021). The Dravidian languages are first attested in the 6th century BCE as Tamili (also called Tamil-Brahmi) script inscribed on the cave walls in the Madurai and Tirunelveli districts of Tamil Nadu (Anita and Subalalitha, 2019b,a; Subalalitha and Poovammal, 2018).

Research should take a positive reinforcement approach. The aim is to change the prevailing mindset by moving away from focusing on discrimination, loneliness or the worst things in life to building confidence, support and good character based on personal comments(Chakravarthi et al., 2022a). Therefore, we built an ensemble model to detect user-generated comment sentences from the social media platform (YouTube) that contained hope speech or not, and our model achieves good results on relevant data sets<sup>3</sup>. This is a study of a speech of hope that interprets equality, diversity and inclusion in a multilingual environment. We have open-sourced our code implementations on GitHub<sup>4</sup>.

#### 2 **Related Work**

The study found that in the past, people mainly focused on the sentiment analysis of monolingual (English)(A. Al Shamsi et al., 2021), or the negative detection of insult, attack and hate speech in mixed or multilingual languages.While there were few studies on the hope speech detection of equality, diversity and inclusion in multilingual environments(as (Ghanghor et al., 2021)). In particular, studies that use positive reinforcement methods to build people's confidence, support and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>https://competitions.codalab.org/ competitions/25295

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>https://competitions.codalab.org/ competitions/36393/result

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>https://github.com/TroubleGilr/

Hope-Speech-Detection-for-Equality-Diversity-and-Incl

<sup>183</sup> 

Data	Class	English	Spanish	Kannada	Malayalam	Tamil
Training	Non_hope_speech	20778	499	3241	6205	7872
	Hope_speech	1962	491	1699	1668	6327
Development	Non_hope_speech	2569	161	408	784	998
	Hope_speech	272	169	213	190	757
Test		2843	330	618	1071	1761
Total		28424	1650	6176	9918	17715

Table 1: Data Distribution

good character based on news comments.In particular, the positive reinforcement study methods, are used to help people get rid of negative attitudes to building the confidence, support and good qualities based on comments by individuals.So some groundbreaking work is easy to catch people's attention. Chakravarthi et al.(Chakravarthi, 2020a) have constructed a Hope Speech dataset for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion (HopeEDI) and determined that the inter-annotator agreement of their dataset using Krippendorff's alpha. Ghanghor et al.(Ghanghor et al., 2021) submitted the result about hope speech detection in Dravidian languages shared task organized by LT-EDI 2021. In the same task, Mahajan et al. (Mahajan et al., 2021) also made contributions. Their approach fine-tunes RoBERTa for Hope Speech detection in English and fine-tune XLM-RoBERTa for Hope Speech detection in Tamil and Malayalam, two low resource Indic languages. Although some people have done pioneering work, the research in this area still needs more energy from researchers, which is why we are working hard to do research and write this paper.

### **3** Dataset

The dataset(Chakravarthi, 2020b) is provided by ACL 2022 contains 59,354 comments from the famous online video sharing platform YouTube out of which 28,424 are in English, 1,650 in Spanish, 6,176 in Kannada(Hande et al., 2021), 9,918 in Malayalam, and 17,715 comments are in Tamil (Table 1). This is a comment or post level classification task. Given a YouTube comment, we should classify it into 'Hope speech' and 'Not hope speech'. A comment / post may contain more than one sentence but the average sentence length is 1. The annotations are made at a comment / post level<sup>5</sup>, and the test set is not annotated of label.

It is observed that the sentence of data is in a

code-mixed format (a mixture of Native type and Roman type), and contains a lot of @ names, repeated words or letters, useless symbols, expressions, etc.Before feeding the raw tweets to any training stage, we will do a simple data preprocessing.

1.No translation processing is done for texts code-mixed with native and Roman type and Keep the sentence length at 50.

2.Remove unwanted information,like: Usernames (annotated as @names),URLs,and useless symbols present in the tweets are removed altogether,while hashtags (annotated as hashtag) are left as it is.But emoticons remain, and they contain in some sense our sentiment expression.

3.Stopwords processing

After the above simple preprocessing, it is directly input to the model for training. In addition, it can be found that the data set is unbalanced, which we will address in future work, and our model does not use any external data.

# 4 Model Framework and Experimental Results

This section introduces the structure of our model and experimental results.

#### 4.1 Model Framework

All the data we submitted came from the same model framework and the architecture of the proposed system is shown in Figure 1, which is an ensemble model consisting finally of three parts. There are LSTM(Greff et al.), CNN+LSTM(Yenter and Verma) and BiLSTM(?), respectively. Finally, add an attention layer before ensemble the three-part results.

**LSTM**: this part includes an LSTM layer and two Dense layers. Units of LSTM layer are 264, and the activation function used is Tanh. Units and activation functions in the two dense layers are 64, 2 and Tanh and Softmax, respectively. LSTM is a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>https://drive.google.com/file/d/ 1uOxyblVUCOFaofuw56KJKlx-t\_nL4mLf/view



Figure 1: Ensemble model structure diagrams and related model parameters

Model	Embedding	BiLSTM	Conv1D	LSTM	Dense	Other
LSTM	vocab_size=20000			units=264	units=2	epochs=6
	embed_size=128			Act=tanh	Act= Softmax	batch_size=128
CNN+	vocab_size=20000		Filters=64	units=64	units=2	epochs=5
LSTM	embed_size=128		kernel=3	Act=tanh	Act= Softmax	batch_size=128
BiLSTM	vocab_size=20000	units=128	Filters=64		units=2	epochs=7
	embed_size=128	Act=tanh	kernel=3		Act= Softmax	batch_size=128

Figure 2: Parameters of the model

special RNN type that can learn long-term dependency information which increases the complexity of RNN units, models more carefully, has more constraints, makes training easier, and solves the problem of gradient dissipation of RNN.

**CNN+LSTM**: this section consists of three different layers, a convolution layer, an LSTM layer, and a Dense layer. In the LSTM layer, units=64, the activation function and dense layer were the same as the former(LSTM) model. Convolutional layer have 64 of the filter siensembleze and 3 kernel size ,followed by a global maximum pool layer. In the task of short text analysis, CNN has a significant effect in dealing with this kind of problems due to the limited length of sentences, compact structure and independent expression of meaning.

**BiLSTM**: it consists of a BiLSTM layer, a Convolution layer and a Dense layer.BiLSTM layer contains two parameters (units=128, activation=tanh).The parameters of the convolution layer are units=128,activation=tanh,followed by a global maximum pool layer and global average pool layer.The final dense layer is the same as the two above.It is worth mentioning that the epochs of the three parts are 6, 5 and 7 respectively. All three model use same Optimizers:Adam of learning rate=0.01. Sparse-categorical-crossentropy is used as the loss function.Cross entropy is used to evaluate the difference between the current training probability distribution and the real distribution. It describes the distance between the actual output (probability) and the expected output (probability), that is, the smaller the value of cross entropy, the closer the two probability distributions will be. The difference is that sparse-categorical-crossentropy accepts discrete values. All parameters of the mode shown in the table in Figure 2.

Attention: before ensemble the three models, we used the attention mechanism(Petersen and Posner, 2012). The introduction of attention mechanism can not only help the model to make better use of the effective information in the input, but also provide some ability to explain the behavior of the neural network model.

In the basic neural network model, "attention" is not obtained in the process of decoding,Encoder-Decoder framework transforms input X into semantic representation C,resulting in the translated sequence in which each word takes into account the equal weight of all words in the input. After the attention mechanism is introduced, there are different hidden layer states at different decoding time. Therefore, we use the state of the decoder hidden layer at a certain moment and the state of the encoder at each moment to carry out matching calculation, and get their respective weights. At this

Lang	M Precision	M Recall	M F1 score	W Precision	W Recall	W F1	Rank/total
Eng	0.43	0.39	0.4	0.88	0.9	0.88	7/20
Spa	0.77	0.76	0.76	0.77	0.76	0.76	4/6
Kan	0.45	0.45	0.45	0.71	0.71	0.71	3/8
Mal	0.45	0.49	0.47	0.69	0.76	0.72	4/9
Tam	0.29	0.34	0.31	0.39	0.44	0.41	2/7

Language	English	Spanish	Kannada	Malayalam	Tamil
LSTM	0.34/0.67	0.60/0.62	0.32/0.57	0.30/0.64	0.2/0.30
CNN	0.30/0.59	0.55/0.59	*	0.29/0.55	*
CNN+LSTM	0.35/0.70	0.62/0.65	*	0.34/0.66	*
BilSTM	0.35/0.71	0.61/0.67	*	0.33/0.64	*
CNN+BiLSTM	0.37/0.75	0.65/0.70	*	0.33/0.66	*
LSTM+BiLSTM	0.37/0.80	0.70/0.72	*	0.40/0.70	*
Our approach	0.40/0.88	0.76/0.76	0.45/0.72	0.47/0.72	0.31/0.41

Table 2: The experimental results of our model

Table 3: Compare with baseline model



Figure 3: The structure diagram of weight  $a_{ij}$ 

point, the semantic code C is no longer the direct encoding of input sequence X, but the weighted sum of each element according to its importance, as extra attentions, namely formula 1:

$$C_i = \sum_{j=0}^{T_x} a_{ij} f(x_j) \tag{1}$$

In formula (1), parameter i represents the moment, j represents the j<sup>th</sup> element in the sequence,  $T_x$  represents the length of the sequence, and f() represents the encoding of element  $x_j$ .  $a_{ij}$  can be seen as a probability reflecting the importance of element  $h_j$  to  $C_i$  and can be expressed by Softmax:

$$a_{ij} = \frac{exp(e_{ij})}{\sum_{k=1}^{T_x} exp(e_{ik})}$$
(2)

Here  $e_{ij}$  just reflects the matching degree between the element to be encoded and other elements. When the matching degree is higher, it indicates that the element has greater influence on it, and the value of  $a_{ij}$  is also higher. Therefore, the process of obtaining  $a_{ij}$  is shown in Figure 3: Where,  $h_i$ represents the conversion function of Encoder, and  $F(h_j,H_i)$  represents the matching scoring function of prediction and target.

Finally, concatenation the output after assigning attention weight. In the ensemble model, Soft Voting Classifier(Taylor and Kim, 2011) method is used: the average probability of the predicted samples of the three models for a certain category is taken as the standard, and the corresponding type with the highest probability is the final predicted result.

#### 4.2 Experimental Results

We have submitted the results for each language(including:*English,Spanish,Kannada, Malayalam and Tamil*) given by the sponsor, and table 2 shows the detailed results.Which score is given in 6 methods,there are *M-Precision,M-Recall, M-F1-score,W-Precision,W-Recall,and W-F1-score*,respectively.The table also shows our team submission ranking and the total number of submission teams.Classification system's performance will be measured and ranked in terms of macro averaged Precision, macro averaged Recall and macro averaged F-Score across all the classes. Note: The follow number of rank indicates total of the teams submitted.

The data in the table 2 shows that our results

are pretty performance in all languages except for Tamil, all teams performance poor in Tamil language. The first ranked team, Ablimet, submitted a M-F1 score of 0.32 and w-F1-score of 0.42. We will find and solve the specific reason in the future work. The results of our ensemble model were further compared with the baseline model in both macro average F1-score and weighted average F1score in same dataset. Table 3 gives details of the corresponding results, where each option has two data points, macro average F1-score on the left and weighted average F1-score on the right.Observation carefully,all baseline models, or any combination of two of them, end up performing worse than our ensemble model

# 5 Conclusion

The ensemble model our submitted consisted of three parts:LSTM,CNN+LSTM and BiLSTM. Among them, CNN, to some extent, takes into account the ordering of the words and the context in which each word appears. Using the LSTM model can better capture long distance dependencies. Because LSTM can learn what to remember and what to forget through the training process, but LSTM doesn't take into account the sequential order of words in a sentence.LSTM has problems with ambiguous affective words in finer - grained classification. Therefore, BiLSTM can better capture the bidirectional semantic dependencies, taking into account the reverse information. Finally, on this basis, attention mechanism is introduced to highlight the key information. In other words, by adjusting a series of weight parameters, it can be used to emphasize or select the important information of the target processing object and suppress some irrelevant details, so as to make the classification more accurate. The model we submitted has achieved performance well, but there is still a lot of room for improvement in both pre-processing and model framework design in the future.

# Acknowledgements

First of all, I would like to thank various technical associations and research institutes for providing research platforms. Secondly, I would like to thank every student volunteer for their dedication, and thank my teacher and partner for their encouragement and support, finally.

# References

- Arwa A. Al Shamsi, Reem Bayari, and Said Salloum. 2021. Sentiment analysis in english texts. *Advances in Science Technology and Engineering Systems Journal*, 5:1683–1689.
- R Anita and CN Subalalitha. 2019a. An approach to cluster Tamil literatures using discourse connectives. In 2019 IEEE 1st International Conference on Energy, Systems and Information Processing (ICESIP), pages 1–4. IEEE.
- R Anita and CN Subalalitha. 2019b. Building discourse parser for Thirukkural. In *Proceedings of the 16th International Conference on Natural Language Processing*, pages 18–25.
- B Bharathi, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Subalalitha Chinnaudayar Navaneethakrishnan, N Sripriya, Arunaggiri Pandian, and Swetha Valli. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Speech Recognition for Vulnerable Individuals in Tamil. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi. 2020a. HopeEDI: A multilingual hope speech detection dataset for equality, diversity, and inclusion. In *Proceedings of the Third Workshop on Computational Modeling of People's Opinions, Personality, and Emotion's in Social Media*, pages 41–53, Barcelona, Spain (Online). Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi. 2020b. HopeEDI: A multilingual hope speech detection dataset for equality, diversity, and inclusion. In *Proceedings of the Third Workshop on Computational Modeling of People's Opinions, Personality, and Emotion's in Social Media*, pages 41–53, Barcelona, Spain (Online). Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Navya Jose, Shardul Suryawanshi, Elizabeth Sherly, and John Philip Mc-Crae. 2020. A sentiment analysis dataset for codemixed Malayalam-English. In Proceedings of the 1st Joint Workshop on Spoken Language Technologies for Under-resourced languages (SLTU) and Collaboration and Computing for Under-Resourced Languages (CCURL), pages 177–184, Marseille, France. European Language Resources association.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Vigneshwaran Muralidaran, Ruba Priyadharshini, Subalalitha Chinnaudayar Navaneethakrishnan, John Phillip McCrae, Miguel Ángel García-Cumbreras, Salud María Jiménez-Zafra, Rafael Valencia-García, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, Rahul Ponnusamy, Daniel García-Baena, and José Antonio García-Díaz. 2022a. Findings of the shared task on Hope Speech Detection for Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Thenmozhi Durairaj, John Phillip McCrae, Paul Buitaleer, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, and Rahul Ponnusamy. 2022b. Findings of the shared task on Homophobia Transphobia Detection in Social Media Comments. In Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Rahul Ponnusamy, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, Kayalvizhi Sampath, Durairaj Thenmozhi, Sathiyaraj Thangasamy, Rajendran Nallathambi, and John Phillip McCrae. 2021. Dataset for identification of homophobia and transophobia in multilingual YouTube comments. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2109.00227*.
- Nikhil Ghanghor, Rahul Ponnusamy, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, Ruba Priyadharshini, Sajeetha Thavareesan, and Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi. 2021. IIITK@LT-EDI-EACL2021: Hope speech detection for equality, diversity, and inclusion in Tamil, Malayalam and English. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, pages 197–203, Kyiv. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- K. Greff, R. K. Srivastava, J Koutník, B. R. Steunebrink, and J. Schmidhuber. Benchmarking of lstm networks.
- Adeep Hande, Ruba Priyadharshini, Anbukkarasi Sampath, Kingston Pal Thamburaj, Prabakaran Chandran, and Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi. 2021. Hope speech detection in under-resourced kannada language.
- Khyati Mahajan, Erfan Al-Hossami, and Samira Shaikh. 2021. TeamUNCC@LT-EDI-EACL2021: Hope speech detection using transfer learning with transformers. In Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion, pages 136–142, Kyiv. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Anitha Narasimhan, Aarthy Anandan, Madhan Karky, and CN Subalalitha. 2018. Porul: Option generation and selection and scoring algorithms for a tamil flash card game. *International Journal of Cognitive and Language Sciences*, 12(2):225–228.
- S. E. Petersen and M. I. Posner. 2012. The attention system of the human brain: 20 years after. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, 35(1):73–89.
- Ruba Priyadharshini, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Subalalitha Chinnaudayar Navaneethakrishnan, Thenmozhi Durairaj, Malliga Subramanian, Kogilavani Shanmugavadivel, Siddhanth U Hegde, and Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Abusive Comment Detection in Tamil. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Speech and Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages*. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Manikandan Ravikiran, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Anand Kumar Madasamy, Sangeetha Sivanesan, Ratnavel Rajalakshmi, Sajeetha Thavareesan, Rahul Ponnusamy, and Shankar Mahadevan. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Offensive Span Identification in code-mixed Tamil-English comments. In Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Speech and Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Ratnasingam Sakuntharaj and Sinnathamby Mahesan. 2016. A novel hybrid approach to detect and correct spelling in Tamil text. In 2016 IEEE International Conference on Information and Automation for Sustainability (ICIAfS), pages 1–6.
- Ratnasingam Sakuntharaj and Sinnathamby Mahesan. 2017. Use of a novel hash-table for speeding-up suggestions for misspelt Tamil words. In 2017 IEEE International Conference on Industrial and Information Systems (ICIIS), pages 1–5.
- Ratnasingam Sakuntharaj and Sinnathamby Mahesan. 2021. Missing word detection and correction based on context of Tamil sentences using n-grams. In 2021 10th International Conference on Information and Automation for Sustainability (ICIAfS), pages 42–47.
- Anbukkarasi Sampath, Thenmozhi Durairaj, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Subalalitha Chinnaudayar Navaneethakrishnan, Kogilavani Shanmugavadivel, Sajeetha Thavareesan, Sathiyaraj Thangasamy, Parameswari Krishnamurthy, Adeep Hande, Sean Benhur, Kishor Kumar Ponnusamy, and Santhiya Pandiyan. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Emotion Analysis in Tamil. In Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Speech and Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- R Srinivasan and CN Subalalitha. 2019. Automated named entity recognition from tamil documents. In 2019 IEEE 1st International Conference on Energy, Systems and Information Processing (ICESIP), pages 1–5. IEEE.
- C. N. Subalalitha. 2019. Information extraction framework for Kurunthogai. *Sādhanā*, 44(7):156.
- CN Subalalitha and E Poovammal. 2018. Automatic bilingual dictionary construction for Tirukural. *Applied Artificial Intelligence*, 32(6):558–567.
- S. L. Taylor and K. Kim. 2011. A jackknife and voting classifier approach to feature selection and classification. *Cancer Informatics*.
- Sajeetha Thavareesan and Sinnathamby Mahesan. 2019. Sentiment analysis in Tamil texts: A study on machine learning techniques and feature representation. In 2019 14th Conference on Industrial and Information Systems (ICIIS), pages 320–325.

- Sajeetha Thavareesan and Sinnathamby Mahesan. 2020a. Sentiment lexicon expansion using Word2vec and fastText for sentiment prediction in Tamil texts. In 2020 Moratuwa Engineering Research Conference (MERCon), pages 272–276.
- Sajeetha Thavareesan and Sinnathamby Mahesan. 2020b. Word embedding-based part of speech tagging in Tamil texts. In 2020 IEEE 15th International Conference on Industrial and Information Systems (ICIIS), pages 478–482.
- Sajeetha Thavareesan and Sinnathamby Mahesan. 2021. Sentiment analysis in Tamil texts using k-means and k-nearest neighbour. In 2021 10th International Conference on Information and Automation for Sustainability (ICIAfS), pages 48–53.
- A. Yenter and A. Verma. Deep cnn-lstm with combined kernels from multiple branches for imdb review sentiment analysis. In *IEEE Annual Ubiquitous Computing, Electronics and Mobile Communication Conference.*

# CURAJ\_IIITDWD@LT-EDI-ACL2022: Hope Speech Detection in English YouTube Comments using Deep Learning Techniques

Vanshita Jha

Central University of Rajasthan, India vanshitajha@gmail.com Ankit Kumar Mishra

Goa University, India ankitmishra.in.com@gmail.com

Sunil Saumya

Indian Institute of Information Technology Dharwad, India sunil.saumya@iiitdwd.ac.in

# Abstract

Hope Speech are positive terms that help to promote or criticise a point of view without hurting the user's or community's feelings. Non-Hope Speech, on the other side, includes expressions that are harsh, ridiculing, or demotivating. The goal of this article is to find the hope speech comments in a YouTube dataset. The datasets were created as part of the "LT-EDI-ACL 2022: Hope Speech Detection for Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion" shared task. The shared task dataset was proposed in Malayalam, Tamil, English, Spanish, and Kannada languages. In this paper, we worked at English-language YouTube comments. We employed several deep learning based models such as DNN (dense or fully connected neural network), CNN (Convolutional Neural Network), Bi-LSTM (Bidirectional Long Short Term Memory Network), and GRU(Gated Recurrent Unit) to identify the hopeful comments. We also used Stacked LSTM-CNN and Stacked LSTM-LSTM network to train the model. The best macro avg F1-score 0.67 for development dataset was obtained using the DNN model. The macro avg F1-score of 0.67 was achieved for the classification done on the test data as well.

# 1 Introduction

In recent years, the majority of the world's population has access to social media. The social media's posts, comments, articles, and other content have a significant impact on everyone's lives. People tend to believe that their lives on social media are the same as their real lives, therefore the influence of others' opinions or expressions is enormous (Priyadharshini et al., 2021; Kumaresan et al., 2021). People submit their posts to social networking platform and receive both positive and negative expressions from their peer users.

People in a multilingual world use a variety of languages to express themselves, including English, Hindi, Malayalam, French, and others

(Chakravarthi et al., 2021, 2020). While the most effective expression in real life is face or visual expression, which frequently delivers a much more efficient message than linguistic words, expressions in virtual life, such as social media, are frequently expressed through linguistic texts (or words) and emoticons. These words have a significant impact on one's life (Sampath et al., 2022; Ravikiran et al., 2022; Chakravarthi et al., 2022b; Bharathi et al., 2022; Priyadharshini et al., 2022). For example, if we respond to someone's social media post with "Well Done!", "Very Good", "Must do it again", "need a little more practise", and so on, it may instil confidence in the author. On the other hand, negative statements such as "You should not try it", "You don't deserve it", "You are from a different religion", and others demotivate the person. The comments that fall into the first group are referred to as "Hope Speech" while those that fall into the second category are referred to as "Nonhope speech" or "Hate Speech" (Kumar et al., 2020; Saumya et al., 2021; Biradar et al., 2021).

In the previous decade, researchers have worked heavily on hate speech identification in order to maintain social media clean and healthy. However, in order to improve the user experience, it is also necessary to emphasise the message of hope on these sites. To our knowledge, the shared task "LT-EDI-EACL 2021: Hope Speech Detection for Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion<sup>1</sup>" was the first attempt to recognise hope speech in YouTube comments. The organizers proposed the shared task in three different languages that is English, Tamil and Malayalam. Many research teams from all over the world took part in the shared task and contributed their working notes to describe how to identify the hope speech comments. (Saumya and Mishra, 2021) used a parallel network of CNN and LSTM with GloVe and Word2Vec embeddings and obtained a weighted F1-score of 0.91 for En-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>https://sites.google.com/view/lt-edi-2021/home

glish Dataset. Similarly, for Tamil and Malayalam they trained parallel Bidirectional LSTM model and obtained F1-score of 0.56 and 0.78 respectively. (Puranik et al., 2021) trained several fine tuned transformer models and identified that ULM-FiT is best for English with F1-score 0.9356. They also found that mBERT obtained 0.85 F1-score on Malayalam dataset and distilmBERT obtained 0.59 F1-score on Tamil dataset. For the same task a fine tuned ALBERT model was used by (Chen and Kong, 2021) and they obtained a F1-score of 0.91. Similarly, (Zhao and Tao, 2021; Huang and Bai, 2021; Ziehe et al., 2021; Mahajan et al., 2021) employed XLM-RoBERTa-Based Model with Attention for Hope Speech Detection. (Dave et al., 2021) experimented the conventional classifiers like logistic regression and support vector machine with TF\_IDF character N-gram fearures for hope speech classification.

ACL 2022 will see the introduction of a new edition of the shared task "Hope Speech Detection for Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion." In contrast to LT-EDI-EACL 2021, this time the shared task LT-EDI-ACL 2022 has been proposed in five different languages: English, Malayalam, Tamil, Kannada, and Spanish (Chakravarthi, 2020; Chakravarthi and Muralidaran, 2021; Chakravarthi et al., 2022a). The data was extracted via the YouTube platform. We took part in the competition and worked on the dataset of English hope speech comments. The experiments were carried out on several neural network based models such as a dense or multilayer neural network (DNN), one layer CNN network (CNN), one layer Bi-LSTM network (Bi-LSTM), and one layer GRU network (GRU), among deep learning networks. The stack connections of LSTM-CNN and LSTM-LSTM were also trained for hope speech detection. After all experimentation, it was found that DNN produced the best results with macro average F1-score of 0.67 on development as well as on test dataset.

The rest of the article is oragnized as follows. The next section 2 give the details of the given task and dataset statistics. This is followed by the description of methodology used for experimentation in Section 3. The results are explained in the Section 4. At the end, Section 5 talks about future scope of the research.



Figure 1: A DNN network for hope speech detection

# 2 Task and data description

At LT-EDI-ACL 2022, the shared task on Hope Speech Detection for Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion (provided in English, Tamil, Spanish, Kannada, and Malayalam) intended to determine whether the given comment was Hope speech or not. The dataset was gathered from the YouTube platform. In the given dataset, there were two fields for each language: comment and label. We only submitted the system for the English dataset. In the English training dataset, there were approximately 22740 comments, with 1962 labeled as hope speech and 20778 labeled as non-hope speech. There were 2841 comments in the development dataset, with 272 hope speech and 2569 non-hope speech comments. The test dataset contained 250 hope speech and 2593 non-hope speech comments. The English dataset statistics is shown in Table 1.

# 3 Methodology

Several deep learning models were developed to identify the hope speech from supplied English YouTube comments. The architecture of our best model DNN, as depicted in Figure 1, will be explained in this section. We also explain the architecture of stacked network LSTM-LSTM as shown in Figure 2.

	Hopespeech	Non Hopespeech	Total
Training	1962	20778	22740
Development	272	2569	2841
Test	250	2593	2843
Total	2434	25940	28424

Table 1: English Dataset statistics



Figure 2: A stacked LSTM network for hope speech detection

#### 3.1 Data cleaning and pre-processing

We used a few early procedures to convert the raw input comments into readable input vectors. We started with data cleaning and then moved on to data preprocessing. Every comment was changed to lower case during data cleaning. Numbers, punctuation, symbols, emojis, and links have all been removed. The *nltk* library was used to eliminate stopwords like the, an, and so on. Finally, the extra spaces were removed, resulting in a clean text. During data preprocessing, we first tokenized each comment in the dataset and created a bag of words with an index number for each unique word. The comments were then turned into an index sequence. The length of the encoded vectors was varied. After that, the encoded indices vector was padded to form an equal-length vector. In our case we kept the length of each vector as ten.

#### 3.2 Classification Models

Several deep learning classification models were developed. We started with a multilayer dense neural network (DNN) as shown in Figure 1. After that, a single layer CNN model and a single layer Bi-LSTM model were constructed. Finally, we built stacked LSTM-CNN and stacked LSTM-LSTM models shown in Figure 2. In Section 4, the results of each model are discussed. Regardless of the model, the feeding input and collecting output were the same in all instances. The whole process flow from input to output is depicted in Figures 1 and 2. As can be seen, there were three stages to the process: data preparation, feature extraction, and classification. The biggest distinction among the models was in the feature extraction criterion.

To demonstrate the model flow, a representative example from the English Dataset is used. The representative example "Sasha Dumse God Accepts Everyone." was first changed to lower case as "sasha dumse god accepts everyone.". During the data cleaning process, the dot(.) is eliminated. The lowercase text was then encoded and padded into a sequence list as "[3005, 4871, 466, 48, 25]". The index "3005" refers to the word "sasha", the index "4871" to the word "dumse," and so on. The sentence was padded into the length of ten.

After preprocessing the data, each index is turned into a one-hot vector ( of 1x20255 dimension) with a size equal to the vocabulary. The resultant one-hot vector was sparse and high dimensional, and it was then passed through an embedding layer, yielding a low dimensional dense embedding vector (of 1x 300 dimension). Between the input and embedding layers, many sets of weights were used. We experimented with random weights as well as pre-trained Word2Vec and GloVe weights, but found that random weights initialization at the embedding layer performed better. As a result, we've only covered the usage of random weights at the embedding layer in this article. For abstract level feature extraction, the embedded vector was provided as an input to a stacked DNN or LSTM layer as shown in Figures 1 and 2 respectively. Finally, the collected features were classified into hope and non-hope categories using a dense (or an output) layer.

Methods	Metrics	Non-Hope	Hope	Macro Avg	Weighted Avg
	Precision	0.43	0.93	0.68	0.89
DNN	Recall	0.38	0.95	0.66	0.89
	F1-score	0.40	0.94	0.67	0.89
	Precision	0.39	0.93	0.66	0.88
CNN	Recall	0.37	0.94	0.65	0.88
	F1-score	0.38	0.94	0.66	0.88
	Precision	0.39	0.94	0.66	0.88
<b>Bi-LSTM</b>	Recall	0.40	0.93	0.67	0.88
	F1-score	0.40	0.94	0.67	0.88
	Precision	0.39	0.94	0.66	0.88
GRU	Recall	0.38	0.94	0.66	0.88
	F1-score	0.38	0.94	0.66	0.88
	Precision	0.41	0.93	0.67	0.88
LSTM-CNN	Recall	0.35	0.95	0.65	0.89
	F1-score	0.38	0.94	0.67	0.87
	Precision	0.34	0.94	0.64	0.88
LSTM-LSTM	Recall	0.43	0.91	0.67	0.86
	F1-score	0.38	0.92	0.65	0.89

Table 2: Results of English Development dataset

Table 3: Results of English test dataset

Metrices	Non-Hope	Hope	Macro Avg	Weighted Avg
Precision	0.40	0.94	0.67	0.89
Recall	0.38	0.94	0.66	0.90
F1 score	0.39	0.94	0.67	0.89

# 4 Results

All of the experiments were carried out in the Keras and sklearn environment. We used the pandas library to read the datasets. Keras preprocessing classes and the *nltk* library were used to prepare the dataset. All the results shown in Table 2 is on English development dataset. The initial experiment was with dense neural network (DNN). The three layers of dense network with relu activation (in the internal layer) and sigmoid activation at the output layer were trained with English comment dataset. Similarly, the experiments were performed with CNN, Bi-LSTM, GRU, LSTM-CNN, and LSTM-LSTM. The best result was obtained by DNN with macro average F1-score 0.67. The results of other models are shown in Table 2. Later, once the labels for test dataset was released by the organizers, we also collected the model performance on test dataset. The macro average F1-score achieved after categorising the test data from the DNN model was 0.67, which was the same as in the case of development data. Table 3 lists the test dataset results

produced from the DNN model.

# 5 Conclusion

As part of the joint task *LT-EDI-ACL2022*, we presented a model provided by team *CURJ\_IIITDWD* for detecting hope speech on an English dataset obtained from the YouTube platform. We used many deep learning algorithms in the paper and found that DNN with three hidden layers performed best on the development and test dataset with a macro average F1-score of 0.67. In the future, we can improve classification performance by training transfer learning models like BERT and ULMFiT ans so on.

#### References

B Bharathi, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Subalalitha Chinnaudayar Navaneethakrishnan, N Sripriya, Arunaggiri Pandian, and Swetha Valli. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Speech Recognition for Vulnerable Individuals in Tamil. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for*  *Equality, Diversity and Inclusion.* Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Shankar Biradar, Sunil Saumya, and Arun Chauhan. 2021. Hate or non-hate: Translation based hate speech identification in code-mixed hinglish data set. In 2021 IEEE International Conference on Big Data (Big Data), pages 2470–2475. IEEE.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi. 2020. HopeEDI: A multilingual hope speech detection dataset for equality, diversity, and inclusion. In *Proceedings of the Third Workshop on Computational Modeling of People's Opinions, Personality, and Emotion's in Social Media*, pages 41–53, Barcelona, Spain (Online). Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi and Vigneshwaran Muralidaran. 2021. Findings of the shared task on hope speech detection for equality, diversity, and inclusion. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, pages 61–72, Kyiv. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Vigneshwaran Muralidaran, Ruba Priyadharshini, Subalalitha Chinnaudayar Navaneethakrishnan, John Phillip McCrae, Miguel Ángel García-Cumbreras, Salud María Jiménez-Zafra, Rafael Valencia-García, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, Rahul Ponnusamy, Daniel García-Baena, and José Antonio García-Díaz. 2022a. Findings of the shared task on Hope Speech Detection for Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Vigneshwaran Muralidaran, Ruba Priyadharshini, and John Philip McCrae. 2020. Corpus creation for sentiment analysis in code-mixed Tamil-English text. In Proceedings of the 1st Joint Workshop on Spoken Language Technologies for Under-resourced languages (SLTU) and Collaboration and Computing for Under-Resourced Languages (CCURL), pages 202–210, Marseille, France. European Language Resources association.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Thenmozhi Durairaj, John Phillip McCrae, Paul Buitaleer, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, and Rahul Ponnusamy. 2022b. Findings of the shared task on Homophobia Transphobia Detection in Social Media Comments. In Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Rahul Ponnusamy, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, Kayalvizhi Sampath, Durairaj Thenmozhi, Sathiyaraj Thangasamy, Rajendran Nallathambi, and John Phillip McCrae. 2021. Dataset for identification of homophobia and transophobia in multilingual YouTube comments. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2109.00227*.

- Shi Chen and Bing Kong. 2021. cs\_english@ LT-EDI-EACL2021: Hope Speech Detection Based On Finetuning ALBERT Model. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, pages 128–131.
- Bhargav Dave, Shripad Bhat, and Prasenjit Majumder. 2021. IRNLP\_DAIICT@ LT-EDI-EACL2021: hope speech detection in code mixed text using TF-IDF char n-grams and MuRIL. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, pages 114–117.
- Bo Huang and Yang Bai. 2021. TEAM HUB@ LT-EDI-EACL2021: hope speech detection based on pre-trained language model. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, pages 122–127.
- Abhinav Kumar, Sunil Saumya, and Jyoti Prakash Singh. 2020. NITP-AI-NLP@ HASOC-Dravidian-CodeMix-FIRE2020: A Machine Learning Approach to Identify Offensive Languages from Dravidian Code-Mixed Text. In *FIRE (Working Notes)*, pages 384–390.
- Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, Ratnasingam Sakuntharaj, Sajeetha Thavareesan, Subalalitha Navaneethakrishnan, Anand Kumar Madasamy, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, and John P McCrae. 2021. Findings of shared task on offensive language identification in Tamil and Malayalam. In *Forum for Information Retrieval Evaluation*, pages 16–18.
- Khyati Mahajan, Erfan Al-Hossami, and Samira Shaikh. 2021. Teamuncc@ lt-edi-eacl2021: Hope speech detection using transfer learning with transformers. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, pages 136–142.
- Ruba Priyadharshini, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Subalalitha Chinnaudayar Navaneethakrishnan, Thenmozhi Durairaj, Malliga Subramanian, Kogilavani Shanmugavadivel, Siddhanth U Hegde, and Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Abusive Comment Detection in Tamil. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Speech and Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages*. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Ruba Priyadharshini, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Sajeetha Thavareesan, Dhivya Chinnappa, Durairaj Thenmozhi, and Rahul Ponnusamy. 2021. Overview of the DravidianCodeMix 2021 shared task on sentiment detection in Tamil, Malayalam, and Kannada. In *Forum for Information Retrieval Evaluation*, pages 4–6.
- Karthik Puranik, Adeep Hande, Ruba Priyadharshini, Sajeetha Thavareesan, and Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi. 2021. IIITT@ LT-EDI-EACL2021hope speech detection: there is always hope in transformers. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2104.09066*.

- Manikandan Ravikiran, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Anand Kumar Madasamy, Sangeetha Sivanesan, Ratnavel Rajalakshmi, Sajeetha Thavareesan, Rahul Ponnusamy, and Shankar Mahadevan. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Offensive Span Identification in code-mixed Tamil-English comments. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Speech and Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages*. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Anbukkarasi Sampath, Thenmozhi Durairaj, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Subalalitha Chinnaudayar Navaneethakrishnan, Kogilavani Shanmugavadivel, Sajeetha Thavareesan, Sathiyaraj Thangasamy, Parameswari Krishnamurthy, Adeep Hande, Sean Benhur, Kishor Kumar Ponnusamy, and Santhiya Pandiyan. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Emotion Analysis in Tamil. In Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Speech and Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Sunil Saumya, Abhinav Kumar, and Jyoti Prakash Singh. 2021. Offensive language identification in dravidian code mixed social media text. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Speech and Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages*, pages 36–45.
- Sunil Saumya and Ankit Kumar Mishra. 2021. IIIT\_DWD@ LT-EDI-EACL2021: hope speech detection in YouTube multilingual comments. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, pages 107–113.
- Yingjia Zhao and Xin Tao. 2021. ZYJ@ LT-EDI-EACL2021: XLM-RoBERTa-based model with attention for hope speech detection. In *Proceedings* of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion, pages 118–121.
- Stefan Ziehe, Franziska Pannach, and Aravind Krishnan. 2021. GCDH@ LT-EDI-EACL2021: XLM-RoBERTa for hope speech detection in English, Malayalam, and Tamil. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, pages 132–135.

# SSN\_MLRG3 @LT-EDI-ACL2022-Depression Detection System from Social Media Text using Transformer Models

Sarika Esackimuthu, Shruthi H, Rajalakshmi Sivanaiah, Angel Deborah S, Sakaya Milton R, Mirnalinee T T

> Department of Computer Science and Engineering Sri Sivasubramaniya Nadar College of Engineering Chennai - 603110, Tamil Nadu, India

#### Abstract

Depression is a common mental illness that involves sadness and lack of interest in all day-to-day activities. The task is to classify the social media text as signs of depression into three labels namely "not depressed", "moderately depressed", and "severely depressed". We have built a system using Deep Learning Model "Transformers". Transformers provides thousands of pretrained models to perform tasks on different modalities such as text, vision, and audio. The multi-class classification model used in our system is based on the ALBERT model(Lan et al., 2019). In the shared task ACL 2022, Our team SSN\_MLRG3 obtained a Macro F1 score of 0.473.

# 1 Introduction

Social media is developed as a great point for its users to communicate with their friends, relatives and share their opinions, photos, and videos reflecting their feelings and sentiments. This creates an opportunity to analyze social media data for user's feelings and sentiments to investigate their moods and attitudes when they are communicating through the Social Media Apps. Depression is the common issue of today's youngsters and suicide due to depression is growing day by day. People often communicate their moods through tweets or messages but people around them fail to understand the underlying truth behind the words. Katikalapudi et al. (2012) conducted depression survey among 216 undergraduate students with real time Internet data. Feuston and Piper (2018) analyzed instagram posts, pictures, captions and concluded that mental health and illness are interrelated through the application of the coded gaze.

The task 4 in Second Workshop On Language Technology For Equality, Diversity, Inclusion (LT-EDI-2022) Sampath et al. (2022) was conducted to detect the signs of depression from social media text in English language. We tried to classify each message as "not depressed", "moderately depressed", and "severely depressed". The training set provided by the organizers contains 8,891 social media messages. The given dataset is used to train our model.

# 2 Related Works

In last five years, the use of social media has increased drastically and the data available too, has increased. Hence, numerous studies on emotion analysis and depression analysis have been carried out in recent times. Most of them revolve around machine learning and deep learning techniques.

Liu and Lapata (2019) showcased how Bidirectional Encoder Representations from Transformers (BERT)(Devlin et al., 2018) models can be used for text summarization. They proposed a general framework for extractive and abstractive models. This helped us to understand the BERT encoderdecoder architecture.

O'dea et al. (2015) carried out work on detecting suicidality on Twitter using Support Vector Machine (SVM) and Logistic Regression with crossvalidation methods. SVM-TF-IDF filter algorithm showed best results with combined dataset accuracy of 76%. It stated that more searches on suicide related terms can improve the accuracy of the model.

Tripathi et al. (2019) built an emotion recognition system using speech features and transcriptions. Different Deep Neural Network (DNN) architectures were used among which Text-MFCC(mel frequency cepstral coefficients) gave an accuracy of 76.1%.

Shah et al. (2020) used deep learning based models for analyzing the depression state. They tried different combinations of metadata features and word embedding techniques with Bidirectional Long Short Term Memory (BiLSTM). Among different features, Word2VecEmbed+Meta features performed well with a F1 score of 81%. We have worked in contextual emotion and sentiment analysis with various machine learning and Gaussian process models in (Angel Deborah et al., 2019), (Angel Deborah et al., 2021), (Rajalakshmi et al., 2018), (Rajendram et al., 2017b), (S et al., 2022) and (Rajendram et al., 2017a) which form the base for dealing with emotions and kindle our interest in depression detection.

# 3 Methodology and Data

The task is to discover the mood of the user from the social media posts and it is always difficult to extract the emotions from the text. A post can have different combination of emotions. The architecture diagram for the depression classification is shown in Figure 1. The training dataset is preprocessed to remove the unwanted information and is given to ALBERT model to learn the features. Test data is given to the built model to classify the text into 3 states of depression.



Figure 1: Architecture of Proposed System

#### 3.1 Acquiring Datasets

The dataset given by the organizers (Sampath et al., 2022) contains social media posts in English Language. All the dataset files are in tsv format. The dataset is based on multi-class classification. Each post is annotated by three labels namely moderate, severe and not depression. The distribution of the dataset is shown in Table 1.

Label	Train	Dev	Test
Not depression	1,971	1,830	
Moderate	6,019	2,306	
Severe	901	360	
Total	8,891	4,496	3,245

Table 1: Data Distribution for Depression Analysis

#### 3.2 Data Preprocessing

Data preprocessing is vital for the success of deep learning solution. The given dataset has unwanted characters which is a classic signature of any collection of social media posts. In order to bring the posts into textual form, we performed normalization. The dataset is cleaned and processed using functions from NLTK toolkit.

During preprocessing, we removed stopwords, URLs, special characters, symbols, annotated emojis, and emoticons. We expanded contractions and lemmatized the text. The accented characters, extra whitespaces are reduced. The long words are reduced and uppercase are converted to lowercase.

#### 3.3 Model Description

We classified the social media posts with the help of the below transformer model.

#### 3.3.1 ALBERT base v1 - Transformer Model

A Lite BERT (ALBERT) architecture has significantly fewer parameters as compared to traditional BERT architecture.ALBERT incorporates two-parameter reduction techniques which are factorised embedding parameterisation and crosslayer parameter sharing in order to deal with the obstacles in scaling pre-trained models in NLP. The first step in learning is a factorized embedding parameterization. The large vocabulary embedding matrix are decomposed into two small matrices.Then, size of the hidden layers are separated from the size of vocabulary embedding. This separation makes it simpler to grow the hidden size without significantly increasing the parameter size of the vocabulary embeddings. Cross-layer parameter sharing is the second technique. This technique is used to prevent the growth of the parameters with the growth in the depth of the network. ALBERT configurations have fewer parameters compared to

BERT-large but achieve significantly better performance. ALBERT model used here has 12 encoder segment, 768 hidden state size and embedding size. We have trained the model for 3 epochs. The train batch size is 8 and the learning rate is 4e-5.

The Evaluation metrics of development dataset using ALBERT is shown in table 2.

Parameters	Score
Accuracy	0.56
Macro F1-score	0.38
Macro Recall	0.38
Macro Precision	0.38
Weighted F1-score	0.56
Weighted Recall	0.56
Weighted Precision	0.56

Table 2: Evaluation metrics of ALBERT Base

# 3.3.2 Random Forest

Random forest classifiers fall under ensemblebased learning methods. A random forest algorithm consists of various decision trees. It establishes the outcome based on the predictions of the decision trees. Random forest reduces overfitting of dataset and increases precision.

The Evaluation metrics of development dataset using Random forest is shown in table. 3.

Parameters	Score
Accuracy	0.50
Macro F1-score	0.32
Macro Recall	0.34
Macro Precision	0.33
Weighted F1-score	0.47
Weighted Recall	0.50
Weighted Precision	0.49

Table 3: Evaluation metrics of Random Forest

### 4 Result

We have used evaluation metrics as accuracy, macro F1-score, macro recall, macro precision, weighted F1-score, weighted recall and weighted precision. The performance is shown in Table 4.

We obtained  $20^{th}$  rank with an accuracy of 57% while the top ranked team obtained 66% as accuracy. Due to the resource constraints we trained

Parameters	Score
Accuracy	0.573
Macro F1-score	0.473
Macro Recall	0.516
Macro Precision	0.458
Weighted F1-score	0.585
Weighted Recall	0.573
Weighted Precision	0.605

Table 4: Result for ALBERT Base

our model with fewer epochs. The accuracy of the system may improve with hyperparameter optimisation.

#### 4.1 Error Analysis

The confusion matrix for the results obtained with the ALBERT model is shown in figure 2.



Figure 2: Confusion matrix for results with ALBERT

#### 5 Conclusion

We have built ALBERT base Model for the task to detecting signs of depression from social media posts. All the models are preprocessed with NLTK, which we think is an important factor for building a good model. The emotion of a social media posts depends on individual's perception and cannot be judged by simple conventional models. This is one of the reason for the reduced accuracy. Understanding one's feelings and mood is too delicate for models to detect them accurately. Imbalanced data distribution among the output class labels can be another reason for less accuracy. The training data has high number of moderately depressed posts followed by not depressed and severely depressed. We intend to investigate further by using different transformer models and methods to augment the data.

# References

- S Angel Deborah, TT Mirnalinee, and S Milton Rajendram. 2021. Emotion analysis on text using multiple kernel gaussian... *Neural Processing Letters*, 53(2):1187–1203.
- S Angel Deborah, S Rajalakshmi, S Milton Rajendram, and TT Mirnalinee. 2019. Contextual emotion detection in text using ensemble learning. In *Emerging Trends in Computing and Expert Technology. COMET 2019. Lecture Notes on Data Engineering and Communications Technologies, vol 35.*, pages 1179–1186. Springer, Cham.
- Jacob Devlin, Ming-Wei Chang, Kenton Lee, and Kristina Toutanova. 2018. Bert: Pre-training of deep bidirectional transformers for language understanding. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1810.04805*.
- Jessica L Feuston and Anne Marie Piper. 2018. Beyond the coded gaze: Analyzing expression of mental health and illness on instagram. *Proceedings of the ACM on Human-Computer Interaction*, 2(CSCW):1– 21.
- Raghavendra Katikalapudi, Sriram Chellappan, Frances Montgomery, Donald Wunsch, and Karl Lutzen. 2012. Associating internet usage with depressive behavior among college students. *IEEE Technology* and Society Magazine, 31(4):73–80.
- Zhenzhong Lan, Mingda Chen, Sebastian Goodman, Kevin Gimpel, Piyush Sharma, and Radu Soricut. 2019. Albert: A lite bert for self-supervised learning of language representations. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1909.11942*.
- Yang Liu and Mirella Lapata. 2019. Text summarization with pretrained encoders. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1908.08345*.
- Bridianne O'dea, Stephen Wan, Philip J Batterham, Alison L Calear, Cecile Paris, and Helen Christensen. 2015. Detecting suicidality on twitter. *Internet Interventions*, 2(2):183–188.
- S Rajalakshmi, S Milton Rajendram, TT Mirnalinee, et al. 2018. Ssn mlrg1 at semeval-2018 task 1: Emotion and sentiment intensity detection using rule based feature selection. In *Proceedings of the 12th International Workshop on Semantic Evaluation*, pages 324–328.
- S Milton Rajendram, TT Mirnalinee, et al. 2017a. Ssn\_mlrg1 at semeval-2017 task 4: sentiment analysis in twitter using multi-kernel gaussian process classifier. In *Proceedings of the 11th International Workshop on Semantic Evaluation (SemEval-2017)*, pages 709–712.

- S Milton Rajendram, TT Mirnalinee, et al. 2017b. Ssn\_mlrg1 at semeval-2017 task 5: fine-grained sentiment analysis using multiple kernel gaussian process regression model. In *Proceedings of the 11th International Workshop on Semantic Evaluation (SemEval-2017)*, pages 823–826.
- Angel Deborah S, S Milton Rajendram, Mirnalinee TT, and Rajalakshmi S. 2022. Contextual emotion detection on text using gaussian process and tree based classifiers. *Intelligent Data Analysis*, 26(1):119–132.
- Kayalvizhi Sampath, Thenmozhi Durairaj, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, and Jerin Mahibha C. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Detecting Signs of Depression from Social Media. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion.* Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Faisal Muhammad Shah, Farzad Ahmed, Sajib Kumar Saha Joy, Sifat Ahmed, Samir Sadek, Rimon Shil, and Md Hasanul Kabir. 2020. Early depression detection from social network using deep learning techniques. In 2020 IEEE Region 10 Symposium (TENSYMP), pages 823–826. IEEE.
- Suraj Tripathi, Abhay Kumar, Abhiram Ramesh, Chirag Singh, and Promod Yenigalla. 2019. Deep learning based emotion recognition system using speech features and transcriptions. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1906.05681*.

# BERT 4EVER@LT-EDI-ACL2022-Detecting signs of Depression from Social Media: Detecting Depression in Social Media using Prompt-Learning and Word-Emotion Cluster

Xiaotian Lin<sup>1†</sup>, Yingwen Fu<sup>1†\*</sup>, Ziyu Yang<sup>1†</sup>, Nankai Lin<sup>1†</sup>, and Shengyi Jiang<sup>2</sup>

Guangdong University of Foreign Studies

<sup>1</sup>{20191002971,20201010002,20201002958,20191010004}@gdufs.edu.cn, <sup>2</sup>shengyijiang@163.com,

#### Abstract

In this paper, we report the solution of the team BERT 4EVER for the LT-EDI-2022 shared task2: Homophobia/Transphobia Detection in social media comments in ACL 2022, which aims to classify Youtube comments into one of the following categories: no, moderate, or severe depression. We model the problem as a text classification task and a text generation task and respectively propose two different models for the tasks. To combine the knowledge learned from these two different models, we softly fuse the predicted probabilities of the models above and then select the label with the highest probability as the final output. In addition, multiple augmentation strategies are leveraged to improve the model generalization capability, such as back translation and adversarial training. Experimental results demonstrate the effectiveness of the proposed models and two augmented strategies.

# 1 Introduction

This paper includes a review and explanation of BERT4EVER's ideas and experiments for the LT-EDI-2022 shared task2 (Sampath et al., 2022): Homophobia/Transphobia Detection in social media comments in ACL 2022. In this task, participants would be given sentences from social media comments and then predict whether they contain any form of homophobia/transphobia. The Homophobia/Transphobia detection dataset (Chakravarthi et al., 2021), a collection of comments from Youtube, serves as the task's seed data. The comments were manually annotated to show whether the text contained homophobia/transphobia. The label annotation consists of three categories: no depression, moderate depression and severe depression. This is a comment/post level classification task. For this task, our solution consists of two main blocks.

• We model this task as a representative text classification task (abbreviated as "classification model"). Several works in literature have explored how to use linguistic and sentiment analysis to detect depression (Xue et al., 2014). For example, (Huang et al., 2014) proposed to explore linguistic features of these known cases using a psychological lexicon dictionary, and train an effective suicidal Weibo post detection model. Furthermore, in order to further investigate the latent information towards the social media, (Aragón et al., 2019) leveraged the model emotions in a fine-grained way to build a new representation for detecting the depression. Inspired by them, we utilize the clustering algorithm to obtain fine-grained emotion embedding of text to better detect depression based on the emotion dictionary.

• Inspired by Prompt-learning (Ding et al., 2021b), we model this task as a text generation task (abbreviated as "generation model"). Prompt-learning is a new paradigm in modern natural language processing to adapt pretrained language models (PLMs) to downstream NLP tasks, which modifies the input text with a textual template and directly uses PLMs to conduct pre-trained tasks. It directly adapts PLMs to cloze-style prediction, autoregressive modeling, or sequence to sequence generation, resulting in promising performances on various tasks such as text classification (Liu et al., 2021; Gao et al., 2021), named entity typing (Ding et al., 2021a) and relation extraction (Han et al., 2021).

In addition, given the limited amount and category imbalance of training data available, we experiment with multiple augmentation techniques, including continual pre-training (Gururangan et al., 2020), back translation, adversarial training (Miyato et al., 2017), easy ensemble(Liu et al., 2009). Considering the combination of the knowledge

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding Author.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>†</sup>Equal contribution.

learned from the different models, we softly fuse the predicted probabilities of the two models above and then select the label with the highest probability as the final output.

We conduct extensive experiments on the given dataset and achieves comparable results which reaches 0.5818 on the test set and 0.5426 in the online evaluation. In summary, our contributions are as follow:

- We model the Detecting signs of Depression task in two dimensions, namely the classification model and the generation model, and then softly ensemble them.
- We adapt several augmentation techniques to alleviate the limited amount and category imbalance problems of training data available in this task.
- Experimental results indicate the effectiveness of the proposed method in this paper.

The rest of this paper is organized as follows: Section 2 describes the details of the proposed method in this paper. Section 3 elaborates the experimental setup and analyzes the experimental results. Finally, conclusions are drawn in Section 4.

# 2 Methods

#### 2.1 Generation Model

As shown in Figure 1, the prompt-learning pipeline in our system consists of three main cores: a PLM, a template, and a verbalizer. Take a simple sentence in the dataset for example, the template is used to process the original text with some extra tokens, the PLM encodes the text to semantic vectors and the verbalizer projects original labels to words in the vocabulary for final prediction. Given a template "<text> The person has <mask> depression.", where the token <text> indicates the original text, and the verbalizer is "moderate": "moderate", "not depression": "no", "severe": "severe". The sentence "I don't want to live in this fucking world . "would be firstly wrapped by the template as "I don't want to live in this fucking world. The person has <mask> depression.". The wrapped sentence is then tokenized and fed into a PLM to predict the distribution over vocabulary on the <mask> token position. Since the label of this comment is "moderate", it is expected that the word "moderate" should have a larger probability than "severe" and "no".



Figure 1: Prompt-learning-based Model

Class	Label Words		
moderate	moderate, limited		
not depression	no, little, paltry, inappreciable,		
	insignificant, negligible		
severe	severe, serious, critical,		
	terrible, hard, high, heavy		

Table 1: Label Words.

**PLM**. We use T5 as our base encoder which explores the landscape of transfer learning techniques for NLP by introducing a unified framework that converts every language problem into a text-to-text format.

**Template**. In this paper, we explore the effectiveness of two templates for the task. They are "*<text> The person has <mask> depression*." and "*A comment with <mask> depression: <text>*".

**Verbalizer**. As for the label words for different class, taking the label imbalance problem into account, we introduce more label words for "not depression" and "severe" classes. The labels words are shown in Table 1.

# 2.2 Classification Model

Our classification model is composed of three following steps: (1) Generating word-emotion cluster representation; (2) Converting Text according to the word-emotion cluster representation.(3) combining multi-dimension information.

Generating Word-emotion Cluster Representation. Following (Aragón et al., 2019), to generate the fine-grained emotions, we use a lexical with eight recognized emotions, e.g., Anger, Anticipation, Disgust, Fear, Joy, Sadness, Surprise, Trust, Positive and Negative. Specially, provided that the emotions in the dictionary are represented as E =



Figure 2: Generated Cluster Distribution

 $E_1, E_2, E_3, \ldots, E_{10}$  where  $E_i = w_1, w_2, \ldots, w_n$ refers to the words set contained in the i-th emotion. For each word of the emotion, we use glove of size 300 to compute its word embedding. Then, we utilize Affinity Propagation (AP) clustering algorithm to cluster each emotion cluster to form multiple sub-emotion clusters. To better obtain the cluster representation for each sub-emotion, we further average the word embedding in each sub-emotion cluster, regarding it as the cluster representation of the sub-emotion cluster. To have an idea of how the vocabulary was distributed among emotions and the number of generated clusters after applying AP to the dictionary we present Figure 2.

Converting Text according to the Word-emotion Cluster Representation. After obtaining all the sub-emotion cluster representation, we can mask each word with the label of its closest sub-emotion cluster for the input sentence. Specially, given an input sentence  $S_i = s_1^i, s_2^i, s_3^i, \ldots, s_n^i$ , we first compute the vector representation of each word using word embedding from glove, then we measure the distance for each sentence  $S_i$  and all of the sub-emotion cluster representations by using Cosine similarity.

Eventually, we substitute each word by the label of its closest fine-grained emotion. For example, given an input sentence "Live in this fucking world", we can mask it as "joy49 positive28 trust0 negative97 anticipation54".

**Combining Multi-dimension Information.** Through the above steps, we obtain a converted sentence represented by word-emotion cluster representation for each input sentence. Provided a converted sentence is represented as  $C_i = \{c_i^1, c_i^2, c_i^3, \dots, c_i^n\}$  where  $c_i^j R^m$  refers to a word-emotion cluster representation of the j-th word in the converted sentence  $C_i$ . We further

Class	Train Dev		Test
Not depressed	1971	1830	-
Moderate	6019	2306	-
Severe	901	360	-
Total instances	8891	4496	3245

Table 2: Dataset Statistics.

leverage a CNN model with a Maxpooling layer to capture the emotion representation  $h_i^e$  for the converted sentence.

$$h_i^e = Maxpooling(Convid(C_i))$$
(1)

where  $Convid(C_i)$  represents the convolution operation of the CNN model.

After that, we utilize a PLM to obtain the general semantic information in terms of the input text and add the adversarial perturbations for the input words embedding (Miyato et al., 2017). Eventually, in order to fully learn the general semantic information and emotion information, we further spliced emotion representation output by the PLM to fuse multi-dimensional information and map it to the labels dimension by a fully connected layer.

$$h_i^g = PLM(S_i) \tag{2}$$

$$p = Softmax(W([h_i^g; h_i^e]) + b)$$
(3)

where W and b are parameters of the fully connected layer.

#### **3** Experiment

#### 3.1 Dataset

In this paper, we conduct experiments on the dataset (Kayalvizhi and Thenmozhi, 2022) provided by the competition DepSign-LT-EDI@ACL-2022 which aims to detect the signs of depression of a person from their social media postings wherein people share their feelings and emotions. Across this dataset we have three different classes including "not depressed", "moderately depressed" and "severely depressed". The dataset statistics are shown in the Table 2.

#### 3.2 Experimental Settings

Our models are all implemented with PyTorch<sup>1</sup>. We compare the performance of different pretrained models for classification models such as

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>https://pytorch.org/

Num.	Model Type	Model	Test	Online evaluation
0	Classification	Baseline	0.5123	-
1	Classification	Baseline-CP	0.5396	-
2	Classification	AT	0.5504	-
3	Classification	CM + AT	0.5491	-
4	Classification	CM + AT + BackT	0.5598	-
5	Classification	CM + AT + EE	0.5618	-
6	Generation	Template1	0.5409	-
7	Generation	Template2	0.5500	-
8	Generation	Template1 + BackT	0.5569	-
9	Generation	Template2 + BackT	0.5613	-
10	Generation	Template1 + EE	0.5450	-
11	Ensemble	4 +5 + 8 + 9	0.5818	0.5426

Table 3: Main Results. In this table, CP indicates continual pre-training, CM indicates classification model described in section 2.2, AT indicates adversarial training, BackT indicates back translation and EE indicates easy ensemble.

XLM-Base<sup>2</sup> (Conneau et al., 2020), RoBERTa-Base<sup>3</sup> (Conneau et al., 2020), and BERT-Base<sup>4</sup> (Devlin et al., 2019) and for generation models such as T5-base<sup>5</sup> (Raffel et al., 2020), BART<sup>6</sup> (Lewis et al., 2020). Finally, we respectively choose RoBERTa-Base and T5-Base as the base models for them. Following (Gururangan et al., 2020), in order to adapt the language models to the specific domain, we randomly sample 5 million sentences to continual pre-train the two PLMs. In addition, to fairly evaluate the effectiveness of different models, we leverage 5-fold cross-validation and soft ensemble the 5 models to present the their generalization performances.

Besides, given the limited amount and imbalance distribution of training data available, we introduce two strategies for training models, namely easy ensemble (Liu et al., 2009) and back translation. Specifically, we only conduct back translation on "not depressed" and "severe" samples using Google Translate.

As for evaluation metrics, we use Macro-F1 implemented by scikit-learn<sup>7</sup> for offline evaluation. In addition, we use the available dev data as the offline test set to represent the generation performance of different models.

#### 3.3 Results and Analysis

The main results are shown in the Table 3. Through these results, we can see that for classification models, the PLMs pre-trained for domain adaption outperforms that one without pre-training. This indicates that pre-train enables models to better learn domain-related language knowledge representations. In addition, the AT, AP, back translation and easy ensemble strategies all help to improve the model performance. Since different depression levels may match different sentiments, AP strategy can integrate sentiment knowledge to the model which can effectively enhance the model with the correlation of sentiment and depression level. AT strategy can improve the generalization performance of the model by adding perturbations to embeddings for model augmentation. Back translation and easy ensemble strategies can effectively address the problem of category imbalance and thus can enhance the performance of categories with small-size samples ("not depressed" and "severe"). And it seems that easy ensemble works better than back translation.

Besides, for generation models, similar to classification models, back translation and easy ensemble strategies can also improve the model performance. Interestingly, back translation is much more superior to easy ensemble. We hypothesize the reason is that since generation model require large-size data for training to guarantee effective performance and easy ensemble reduces training samples per fold while back translation increases training samples per fold to a certain extent, so back translation is more advantageous in genera-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>https://huggingface.co/xlm-roberta-base

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>https://huggingface.co/roberta-base

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>https://huggingface.co/bert-base-uncased

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>https://huggingface.co/t5-base

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>https://huggingface.co/facebook/bart-base

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>https://scikit-learn.org/stable/

tion models.

We ensemble and submit the four models with best offline results (with a macro-F1 score of 0.5818) and achieve an online macro-F1 score of 0.5426.

# 4 Conclusion

We present our submission to the Shared Task on Homophobia/Transphobia Detection in social media comments at LT-EDI 2022- ACL 2022. We model the problem as two different tasks and propose two novel methods respectively for the tasks. In addition, focusing on two problems of small data size and category imbalance in the original training set, we leverage multiple augmentation strategies to enhance the model performance. We softly fuse the predicted probabilities of different models and output the label with highest probability. We evaluate each single model on the validation set drawn from the training set and provide some explanations. To justify our design choices, we conduct an ablation study. Overall, we achieve the 4th macro averaged F-Score of the dataset on the online evaluation. In the further work, on one hand, we would explore how sentiment knowledge and prompting technique can further improve the model performance. On the other hand, we would expand our emotion lexicon and create more fine-grained representations of word-emotion clusters, allowing the classification model to learn more about emotions.

# 5 Acknowledgement

This work was supported by the Soft Science Research Project of Guangdong Province (No.2019A101002108), Science and Technology Program of Guangzhou (No.202002030227), and the Key Field Project for Universities of Guangdong Province (No. 2019KZDZX1016).

#### References

- Mario Ezra Aragón, Adrián Pastor López-Monroy, Luis Carlos González-Gurrola, and Manuel Montesy-Gómez. 2019. Detecting depression in social media using fine-grained emotions. In Proceedings of the 2019 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, NAACL-HLT 2019, Minneapolis, MN, USA, June 2-7, 2019, Volume 1 (Long and Short Papers), pages 1481–1486. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Rahul Ponnusamy, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan,

Kayalvizhi Sampath, Durairaj Thenmozhi, Sathiyaraj Thangasamy, Rajendran Nallathambi, and John Philip McCrae. 2021. Dataset for identification of homophobia and transophobia in multilingual youtube comments. *CoRR*, abs/2109.00227.

- Alexis Conneau, Kartikay Khandelwal, Naman Goyal, Vishrav Chaudhary, Guillaume Wenzek, Francisco Guzmán, Edouard Grave, Myle Ott, Luke Zettlemoyer, and Veselin Stoyanov. 2020. Unsupervised cross-lingual representation learning at scale. In Proceedings of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics, ACL 2020, Online, July 5-10, 2020, pages 8440–8451. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Jacob Devlin, Ming-Wei Chang, Kenton Lee, and Kristina Toutanova. 2019. BERT: pre-training of deep bidirectional transformers for language understanding. In Proceedings of the 2019 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, NAACL-HLT 2019, Minneapolis, MN, USA, June 2-7, 2019, Volume 1 (Long and Short Papers), pages 4171–4186. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Ning Ding, Yulin Chen, Xu Han, Guangwei Xu, Pengjun Xie, Hai-Tao Zheng, Zhiyuan Liu, Juanzi Li, and Hong-Gee Kim. 2021a. Prompt-learning for fine-grained entity typing. *CoRR*, abs/2108.10604.
- Ning Ding, Shengding Hu, Weilin Zhao, Yulin Chen, Zhiyuan Liu, Hai-Tao Zheng, and Maosong Sun. 2021b. Openprompt: An open-source framework for prompt-learning. *CoRR*, abs/2111.01998.
- Tianyu Gao, Adam Fisch, and Danqi Chen. 2021. Making pre-trained language models better few-shot learners. In Proceedings of the 59th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics and the 11th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing, ACL/IJCNLP 2021, (Volume 1: Long Papers), Virtual Event, August 1-6, 2021, pages 3816–3830. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Suchin Gururangan, Ana Marasovic, Swabha Swayamdipta, Kyle Lo, Iz Beltagy, Doug Downey, and Noah A. Smith. 2020. Don't stop pretraining: Adapt language models to domains and tasks. In Proceedings of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics, ACL 2020, Online, July 5-10, 2020, pages 8342–8360. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Xu Han, Weilin Zhao, Ning Ding, Zhiyuan Liu, and Maosong Sun. 2021. PTR: prompt tuning with rules for text classification. *CoRR*, abs/2105.11259.
- Xiaolei Huang, Lei Zhang, David Chiu, Tianli Liu, Xin Li, and Tingshao Zhu. 2014. Detecting suicidal ideation in chinese microblogs with psychological lexicons. In 2014 IEEE 11th Intl Conf on Ubiquitous Intelligence and Computing and 2014 IEEE 11th
Intl Conf on Autonomic and Trusted Computing and 2014 IEEE 14th Intl Conf on Scalable Computing and Communications and Its Associated Workshops, Bali, Indonesia, December 9-12, 2014, pages 844– 849. IEEE Computer Society.

- S Kayalvizhi and D Thenmozhi. 2022. Data set creation and empirical analysis for detecting signs of depression from social media postings. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2202.03047*.
- Mike Lewis, Yinhan Liu, Naman Goyal, Marjan Ghazvininejad, Abdelrahman Mohamed, Omer Levy, Veselin Stoyanov, and Luke Zettlemoyer. 2020. BART: denoising sequence-to-sequence pre-training for natural language generation, translation, and comprehension. In *Proceedings of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics, ACL 2020, Online, July 5-10, 2020*, pages 7871–7880. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Xiao Liu, Yanan Zheng, Zhengxiao Du, Ming Ding, Yujie Qian, Zhilin Yang, and Jie Tang. 2021. GPT understands, too. *CoRR*, abs/2103.10385.
- Xu-Ying Liu, Jianxin Wu, and Zhi-Hua Zhou. 2009. Exploratory undersampling for class-imbalance learning. *IEEE Trans. Syst. Man Cybern. Part B*, 39(2):539–550.
- Takeru Miyato, Andrew M. Dai, and Ian J. Goodfellow. 2017. Adversarial training methods for semisupervised text classification. In 5th International Conference on Learning Representations, ICLR 2017, Toulon, France, April 24-26, 2017, Conference Track Proceedings. OpenReview.net.
- Colin Raffel, Noam Shazeer, Adam Roberts, Katherine Lee, Sharan Narang, Michael Matena, Yanqi Zhou, Wei Li, and Peter J. Liu. 2020. Exploring the limits of transfer learning with a unified text-to-text transformer. *J. Mach. Learn. Res.*, 21:140:1–140:67.
- Kayalvizhi Sampath, Thenmozhi Durairaj, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, and Jerin Mahibha C. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Detecting Signs of Depression from Social Media. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion.* Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Yuanyuan Xue, Qi Li, Li Jin, Ling Feng, David A. Clifton, and Gari D. Clifford. 2014. Detecting adolescent psychological pressures from micro-blog. In Health Information Science - Third International Conference, HIS 2014, Shenzhen, China, April 22-23, 2014. Proceedings, volume 8423 of Lecture Notes in Computer Science, pages 83–94. Springer.

# CIC@LT-EDI-ACL2022: Are transformers the only hope? Hope speech detection for Spanish and English comments

**Fazlourrahman Balouchzahi**<sup>a</sup>, **Sabur Butt**<sup>b</sup>, **Grigori Sidorov**<sup>c</sup>, **Alexander Gelbukh**<sup>d</sup> Instituto Politécnico Nacional, Centro de Investigación en Computación, CDMX, Mexico

istituto I officialito Nacional, Centro de Investigación en Computación, CDIVIA, MEXIC

## Abstract

Hope is an inherent part of human life and essential for improving the quality of life. Hope increases happiness and reduces stress and feelings of helplessness. Hope speech is the desired outcome for better and can be studied using text from various online sources where people express their desires and outcomes. In this paper, we address a deep-learning approach with a combination of linguistic and psycholinguistic features for hope-speech detection. We report our best results submitted to LT-EDI-2022 which ranked 2<sup>nd</sup> and 3<sup>rd</sup> in English and Spanish respectively.

# 1 Introduction

Automatic detection of hope-speech has recently grabbed the attention of Natural Language Processing (NLP) researchers (Chakravarthi, 2020; Chakravarthi and Muralidaran, 2021). Social media platforms have opened doors for linguists, computer scientists and psychologists to dive deep into multiple forms of human expression (Ashraf et al.; Ameer et al., 2020) i.e. hate, sadness, joy and love (Sampath et al., 2022; Ravikiran et al., 2022; Chakravarthi et al., 2021, 2022b; Bharathi et al., 2022; Priyadharshini et al., 2022). Similar to detecting other forms of expression, hope-speech allows us to understand the human desire for an outcome .

The definition of hope (Snyder et al., 2002) used in past computational studies, explains the association of hope with potential, reassurance, support, inspiration, suggestions and promise during times of misfortune. Hope, however, cannot be limited to the understanding of positivity as a sentiment alone, as hope is not "optimism" (Bryant and Cvengros, 2004). Understanding hope in its complete form can help us understand the desired outcomes of a certain person, community, gender or ethnicity. The first step towards the understanding of hope is to distinguish hope from neutral and not-hopeful sentences. To help that, many computational approaches have been tested on hope-speech detection using deep learning/transformer methods and a variety of linguistic features (Balouchzahi et al., 2021a; Junaida and Ajees, 2021; Dowlagar and Mamidi, 2021).

This paper gives a system report of Task 1: Shared Task on Hope Speech Detection for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion at "LT-EDI 2022" (Chakravarthi et al., 2022a). The shared task is an extension of last year's shared task on hope speech detection (Chakravarthi and Muralidaran, 2021). This year the task is converted to a binary classification problem that aims to detect "Hope" and "Non-Hope" classes from Youtube comments. We attempted the task in only English and Spanish for thorough experimentation. Our model comprises a basic sequential neural network with a combination of features including Linguistic Inquiry and Word Count (LIWC) and n-grams.

The paper contributes by developing a deep learning approach that ranked  $2^{nd}$  in English and  $3^{rd}$  in Spanish for hope speech detection. we also identified psycho-linguistic and linguistic features that work the best for the two languages. The following section gives a detailed description of the methods used in the previous year's shared task. Section 3 and 4 explain the dataset statistics and the methodology used to obtain the results. While Section 5 and 6 elaborate on the results and conclusions drawn from the paper.

# 2 Literature Review

Early research (Palakodety et al., 2020) on identifying hope highlighted the potential of hope in the situation of war through Youtube comments. These comments were extracted multilingually (Hindi/English) in Devanagari and Roman scripts. The study used 80/10 train test

spit using logistic regression with 12 regularization. The used N-grams (1, 3), sentiment score and 100 dimensional polyglot FastText embeddings as features. A combination of all features gave an F - 1 score of 78.51 ( $\pm 2.24\%$ ). In 2021, the shared-task (Chakravarthi and Muralidaran, 2021) for Hope speech detection was presented at "LT-EDI-2021". The task was built on the code-mixed imbalance dataset (?) comprised of Youtube comments in English, Malayalam, and Tamil. The English dataset was divided into three classes namely: "Hope" with 2484 comments, "Non-Hope" with 25,950 comments and "Other language" with 27 comments. The literature review only highlights the methodologies and results proposed for Hope-Speech detection at "LT-EDI-2021" in English.

A majority voting ensemble approach (Upadhyay et al., 2021) with 11 models and fine-tuned pre-trained transformer models (RoBERTa, BERT, ALBERT, IndicBERT) gave us the F-1 score of 0.93%. The same results were achieved in the study, which used a combination of contextualized string embedding (Flair), stacked word embeddings and pooled document embedding with Recurrent Neural Network (RNN) (Junaida and Ajees, 2021). Transformer methods all scored F-1 score of 0.93% consistently with many fine-tuned methods such as RoBERTa (Mahajan et al., 2021), XML-R (Hossain et al., 2021), XLM-RoBERTa (Ziehe et al., 2021), XLM-RoBERTa with TF-IDF (Huang and Bai, 2021), ALBERT with K-fold crossvalidation (Chen and Kong, 2021) and multilingual-BERT model with convolution neural networks (CNN) (Dowlagar and Mamidi, 2021). However, these weighted F1-Scores present an incomplete picture of the hope speech detection models as none of the models gave us an F-1 score of more than 0.60% in the "Hope" class. These high weighted F-1 scores were majorly contributed by the "Nonhope" class which had more than 10X times more comments than the "Hope" class.

We saw a slightly different language model approach in (Chinnappa, 2021), where the authors used FNN, SBERT and BERT to classify the labels after initial detection of the language using multiple language identifiers such as Compact Language Detector 2, langid etc. The approach got achieved 0.92% F-1 score with extremely poor performance on the third label "Not language", which was expected due to the imbalance instances in the class label. The best models seen were the

ones that performed slightly better in the hopespeech class. Since, the shared task was codemixed, only (Balouchzahi et al., 2021a) provided a solution catering to the sentences combined with char sequences for words with Malayalam-English and Tamil-English code-mixed texts and a combination of word and char n-grams along with syntactic word n-grams for English text. The proposed approach got an F-1 score of 0.92% in English and was also rubust in the low resource languages.

The related studies show a huge gap in the understanding of "Hope" class as a whole and hence, more impactful features and methods need to be explored.

# **3** Dataset

The dataset comprises of Youtube comments for English and Tweets for Spanish. The table 1 shows the dataset statistics and the imbalance between the two binary classes in the English dataset. The number of tweets in Spanish are balanced but also visibly less than in English. The table 2 shows the structure of the train and development sets without ids for both English and Spanish. The predictions were made on the training set comprising of 389 English comments and 330 Spanish tweets.

Train Set						
Categories English Spanish						
<b>Hope speech</b> 1962 491						
<b>Not hope speech</b> 20778 499						
Development Set						
<b>Hope speech</b> 272 169						
<b>Not hope speech</b> 2569 161						

Table 1: Label distribution over datasets

Language	Comments and Tweets	Class
En	It's not that all lives don't matter	NHS
En	God accepts everyone	HS
	¿Quien me puede explicar que tiene	
Б.	que ver el desgraciado crimen de	NILC
LS	Samuel en A Coruña con la #homofobia	1115
	y la #LGTBI?	
	El Tribunal Supremo israelí da	
Es	luz verde a la gestación subrogada	
	de parejas del mismo sexo. #LGTBI	

Table 2: Examples from the trainset in English (En) and Spanish (Es) with labels Hope speech (HS) and Non-hope speech (NHS)

# 4 Methodology

The proposed methodology contains two main phases, namely: Feature Engineering, and Model Construction. Each phase is described below:

# 4.1 Feature Engineering

The feature engineering steps are shown in Figure 1 and described below:

# 4.1.1 Data Cleaning

This phase includes emoji to text conversion using UNICODE\_EMO() (handles the graphical emojis) and EMOTICONS() (handles text-based emojis, e.g., :-) :-)) functions from emot<sup>1</sup> library. Once emojis were converted to texts, all texts were lower-cased and all digits, unprintable characters and non-alphabet characters along with stopwords were removed.

# 4.1.2 Feature Extraction

Two types of features, namely: Psychological and linguistic features were used for the study. Psychological features in the current work were taken from Linguistic Inquiry and Word Count (LIWC) (Tausczik and Pennebaker, 2010). LIWC is the gold standard lexicon that categorizes the words in the tweets in their respective psychological categories. We utilized all categories provided in LIWC 2015. Furthermore, we used character and word n-grams each in the range of (1, 3) for experiments. Later, TF-IDF Vectorizer was used to vectorize the obtained n-grams and 30,000 most frequent from each (char and word n-grams) and transferred for the next step (Feature Selection).

### 4.1.3 Feature Selection

A large number of features does not always generate the highest performance and might cause more processing time and overfitting (Balouchzahi et al., 2021b). Therefore, a feature selection step is deemed useful to further reduce the dimension of feature vectors keeping only the most impactful features for the classifier. Similar to the ensemble concept in model construction, two DecisionTree (DT) and one RandomForest (RF) classifiers were ensembled to produce feature importance for the extracted features. The soft voting of produced collective features from all three classifiers was transferred as the input. Feature importance of each feature indicates how much a feature contributes



Figure 1: Feature Engineering phase

to the solving classification problem for the current task (Balouchzahi et al., 2021b). Eventually, the features are sorted based on higher feature importance and the top 10,000 features are selected for classification. Only linguistic features are gone through feature selection due to high dimensions in extracted word and char n-grams features. The total number of features is given in Table 3.

Language	LIWC	Char n-grams	Word n-grams
English	93	2437500	499036
Spanish	93	238940	44339

Table 3: Total number of features for each feature type

### 4.2 Model Construction

Since the main focus of current work is on exploring the impact of Psycho-linguistic features on hope speech, a simple but effective Keras <sup>2</sup> Neural Network architecture has been borrowed from (Balouchzahi et al., 2021a). This enables us to compare the performance of the proposed feature set to subwords n-grams generated through char sequences and syntactic n-grams used in previous work (Balouchzahi et al., 2021a). The graphical representation of the model used in the current task is detailed in Figure 2. The model was trained with four different feature combinations and the results are analyzed in Section 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>https://pypi.org/project/emot/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>https://keras.io/



Figure 2: Keras Nueral Network architecture

## **5** Results

The best performing results for the both languages were with the combination of n-grams with LIWC features. The study reports Macro\_F1 score, which reports the F1\_score per class giving equal weight to each class, whereas, Weighted\_F1 score gives an insight on the F1 score per class by keeping in mind the proportion of each class.

Even though Weighted\_F1 scores are more helpful for evaluating the imbalanced classes, the evaluation of the rankings were done with the Macro\_F1 scores. The table 4 shows the comparison of the submitted models with the top two models. Our model performed better than the first ranked model in the Weighted\_F1 (0.870) and was only lower than one model (0.880) in the ranking. Our model with only LIWC features achieved the second rank for hope speech detection in English (W\_F1 = 0.870), while, our model with the combination of LIWC, word and char n-grams achieved the third rank (W\_F1 = 0.790) for the Spanish text. The char embeddings created a significant difference in the Spanish text when combined with the LIWC features.

The overall Macro\_F1 scores achieved in the English task was significantly lower than the

Team name	M_F1-score	W_F1-score	Rank
IIITSurat	0.550	0.880	1
MUCIC	0.550	0.860	1
ARGUABLY	0.540	0.870	2
CIC_LIWC	0.530	0.870	2
CIC_LIWC + words	0.530	0.870	3
CIC_LIWC + char	0.500	0.860	5

(a) English

Ŧ	M T1	W/ F1	D 1
Ieam name	M_F1-score	W_F1-score	Rank
ARGUABLY_Spanish	0.810	0.810	1
Ablimet_Spanish	0.800	0.800	2
CIC_LIWC + Words + Char	0.790	0.790	3

(b) Spanish

Table 4: Comparison of team submissions with the top 2 ranks in the competition

Weighted\_F1 score because of the imbalanced classes contrary to Spanish texts where the classes were balanced.

#### 6 Conclusion

In this paper, we reported the impact of psycholinguistic and linguistic features on hope speech detection using a non-complex deep learning algorithm. Our approach showed that even simple deep learning models can outperform complex language models with a combination of linguistic and psycho-linguistic features. Psycho-linguistic features were efficient in both English and Spanish tasks which can be due to the nature of hope targeted in the dataset which comprised of only positive comments. Our best models ranked 2<sup>nd</sup> and 3<sup>rd</sup> in English and Spanish respectively.

#### References

- Iqra Ameer, Noman Ashraf, Grigori Sidorov, and Helena Gómez Adorno. 2020. Multi-label Emotion Classification using Content-based Features in Twitter. *Computación y Sistemas*, 24(3):1159–1164.
- Noman Ashraf, Abid Rafiq, Sabur Butt, Hafiz Muhammad Faisal Shehzad, Grigori Sidorov, and Alexander Gelbukh. YouTube based Religious Hate Speech and Extremism Detection Dataset with Machine Learning Baselines. *Journal of Intelligent & Fuzzy Systems*, (Preprint):1–9.
- Fazlourrahman Balouchzahi, Aparna B K, and H L Shashirekha. 2021a. MUCS@LT-EDI-EACL2021:CoHope-Hope Speech Detection for Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion in Code-Mixed Texts. In Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion, pages 180–187, Kyiv. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Fazlourrahman Balouchzahi, Grigori Sidorov, and Hosahalli Lakshmaiah Shashirekha. 2021b. Fake News Spreaders Profiling using N-grams of Various Types and SHAP-based Feature Selection. *Journal of Intelligent & Fuzzy Systems*, (Preprint):1–12.
- B Bharathi, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Subalalitha Chinnaudayar Navaneethakrishnan, N Sripriya, Arunaggiri Pandian, and Swetha Valli. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Speech Recognition for Vulnerable Individuals in Tamil. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion.* Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Fred B Bryant and Jamie A Cvengros. 2004. Distinguishing Hope and Optimism: Two Sides of a Coin, or Two Separate Coins? *Journal of social and clinical psychology*, 23(2):273–302.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi. 2020. HopeEDI: A multilingual hope speech detection dataset for equality, diversity, and inclusion. In *Proceedings of the Third Workshop on Computational Modeling of People's Opinions, Personality, and Emotion's in Social Media*, pages 41–53, Barcelona, Spain (Online). Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi and Vigneshwaran Muralidaran. 2021. Findings of the shared task on hope speech detection for equality, diversity, and inclusion. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, pages 61–72, Kyiv. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Vigneshwaran Muralidaran, Ruba Priyadharshini, Subalalitha Chinnaudayar Navaneethakrishnan, John Phillip McCrae, Miguel Ángel García-Cumbreras, Salud María Jiménez-Zafra, Rafael Valencia-García, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, Rahul Ponnusamy, Daniel García-Baena, and José Antonio García-Díaz. 2022a. Findings of the shared task on Hope Speech Detection for Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion. In *Proceedings* of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Thenmozhi Durairaj, John Phillip McCrae, Paul Buitaleer, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, and Rahul Ponnusamy. 2022b. Findings of the shared task on Homophobia Transphobia Detection in Social Media Comments. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Rahul Ponnusamy, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, Kayalvizhi Sampath, Durairaj Thenmozhi, Sathiyaraj Thangasamy, Rajendran Nallathambi, and John Phillip McCrae. 2021. Dataset for identification of homophobia and transophobia in multilingual YouTube comments. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2109.00227*.

- Shi Chen and Bing Kong. 2021. cs\_english@ LT-EDI-EACL2021: Hope Speech Detection Based On Finetuning ALBERT Model. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, pages 128–131.
- Dhivya Chinnappa. 2021. dhivya-hope-detection@ LT-EDI-EACL2021: Multilingual Hope Speech Detection for Code-Mixed and Transliterated Texts. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, pages 73–78.
- Suman Dowlagar and Radhika Mamidi. 2021. EDIOne@LT-EDI-EACL2021: Pre-trained Transformers with Convolutional Neural Networks for Hope Speech Detection. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, pages 86–91, Kyiv. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Eftekhar Hossain, Omar Sharif, and Mohammed Moshiul Hoque. 2021. NLP-CUET@ LT-EDI-EACL2021: Multilingual Code-Mixed Hope Speech Detection using Cross-lingual Representation Learner. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, pages 168–174.
- Bo Huang and Yang Bai. 2021. TEAM HUB@ LT-EDI-EACL2021: Hope Speech Detection Based on Pre-trained Language Model. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, pages 122–127.
- MK Junaida and AP Ajees. 2021. KU\_NLP@ LT-EDI-EACL2021: A Multilingual Hope Speech Detection for Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion using Context Aware Embeddings. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, pages 79–85.
- Khyati Mahajan, Erfan Al-Hossami, and Samira Shaikh. 2021. TeamUNCC@ LT-EDI-EACL2021: Hope Speech Detection using Transfer Learning with Transformers. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, pages 136–142.
- Shriphani Palakodety, Ashiqur R KhudaBukhsh, and Jaime G Carbonell. 2020. Hope Speech Detection: A Computational Analysis of the Voice of Peace. In *ECAI 2020*, pages 1881–1889. IOS Press.
- Ruba Priyadharshini, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Subalalitha Chinnaudayar Navaneethakrishnan, Thenmozhi Durairaj, Malliga Subramanian, Kogilavani Shanmugavadivel, Siddhanth U Hegde, and Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Abusive Comment Detection in Tamil. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Speech and Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages*. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Manikandan Ravikiran, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Anand Kumar Madasamy, Sangeetha Sivanesan, Ratnavel Rajalakshmi, Sajeetha Thavareesan, Rahul Ponnusamy, and Shankar Mahadevan. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Offensive Span Identification in code-mixed Tamil-English comments. In Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Speech and Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Anbukkarasi Sampath, Thenmozhi Durairaj, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Subalalitha Chinnaudayar Navaneethakrishnan, Kogilavani Shanmugavadivel, Sajeetha Thavareesan, Sathiyaraj Thangasamy, Parameswari Krishnamurthy, Adeep Hande, Sean Benhur, Kishor Kumar Ponnusamy, and Santhiya Pandiyan. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Emotion Analysis in Tamil. In Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Speech and Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Charles R Snyder, Kevin L Rand, and David R Sigmon. 2002. Hope Theory: A Member of the Positive Psychology Family.
- Yla R Tausczik and James W Pennebaker. 2010. The Psychological Meaning of Words: LIWC and Computerized Text Analysis Methods. *Journal of language and social psychology*, 29(1):24–54.
- Ishan Sanjeev Upadhyay, E Nikhil, Anshul Wadhawan, and Radhika Mamidi. 2021. Hopeful Men@ LT-EDI-EACL2021: Hope Speech Detection Using Indic Transliteration and Transformers. In *Proceedings* of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion, pages 157–163.
- Stefan Ziehe, Franziska Pannach, and Aravind Krishnan. 2021. GCDH@LT-EDI-EACL2021: XLM-RoBERTa for Hope Speech Detection in English, Malayalam, and Tamil. In Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion, pages 132–135, Kyiv. Association for Computational Linguistics.

# scubeMSEC@LT-EDI-ACL2022: Detection of Depression using Transformer Models

Sivamanikandan. S and Santhosh.V and Sanjaykumar. N and C. Jerin Mahibha Meenakshi Sundararajan Engineering College, Chennai

Durairaj Thenmozhi Sri Sivasubramaniya Nadar College of Engineering, Chennai theni\_d@ssn.edu.in

sivamanikandan45, santhoshdharmar21,

sanjaykumarvn2001,
jerinmahibha@gmail.com

### Abstract

Social media platforms play a major role in our day-to-day life and are considered as a virtual friend by many users, who use the social media to share their feelings all day. Many a time, the content which is shared by users on social media replicate their internal life. Nowadays people love to share their daily life incidents like happy or unhappy moments and their feelings in social media and it makes them feel complete and it has become a habit for many users. Social media provides a new chance to identify the feelings of a person through their posts. The aim of the shared task is to develop a model in which the system is capable of analyzing the grammatical markers related to onset and permanent symptoms of depression. We as a team participated in the shared task Detecting Signs of Depression from Social Media Text at LT-EDI 2022- ACL 2022 and we have proposed a model which predicts depression from English social media posts using the data set shared for the task. The prediction is done based on the labels Moderate, Severe and Not Depressed. We have implemented this using different transformer models like DistilBERT, RoBERTa and ALBERT by which we were able to achieve a Macro F1 score of 0.337, 0.457 and 0.387 respectively. Our code is publicly available in the github<sup>1</sup>

# 1 Introduction

In the digital world, the usage of social media has become most common among the people. Social media is used without any limits to share happiness, joy, sadness, loneliness and all other personal emotions. The contents shared by the people reflect the mental state of the person and can act as an indicator of their depression level (Kamite and Kamble, 2020). Depression is a serious mental illness that negatively affects how you feel, the way you think and how you act. Fortunately, it is also treatable. Depression causes feelings of sadness and/or a loss of interest in activities you once enjoyed. It can lead to a variety of emotional and physical problems and can decrease your ability to function at work and at home. Sometimes, social media could be the reason for the depression. It is necessary to measure the level of depression from the social media text to treat them and to avoid the negative consequences. Detecting levels of depression is a challenging task since it involves the mindset of the people which can change periodically. Our aim is to detect levels of depression with the use of deep learning Transformer Models to achieve the best results (Malviya et al., 2021).

The shared task Detecting Signs of Depression from Social Media Text was a part of LT-EDI 2022-ACL 2022 (Sampath et al., 2022). The task is based on English comments. The task was a classification problem based on the labels "*Not Depressed*", "*Moderate*" and "*Severe*". For example, "*My life gets worse every year : That's what it feels like anyway....*" fall under the category Moderate, "*Words can't describe how bad I feel right now : I just want to fall asleep forever.*" fall under the category Severe and "*Is anybody else hoping the Coronavirus shuts everybody down?*" fall under the category Not Depressed.

For the shared task, a model based on transformers was first proposed which was trained using the training data set provided for the corresponding task followed by validation of the trained model using the evaluation data set. Then the model was tested using the testing data set to predict the category of the text based on which the evaluation of the shared task was done.

# 2 Related works

Identifying depression from social media posts involves detecting whether the user associated with the posts could be identified for depression and this could be represented as a text classification prob-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>https://github.com/sivamanikandan45/Transfomer.git

Learning Technique	Approaches used	Limitation
Traditional Approach	Statistical, Data driven, Rule based	Requires specific features like
	and lexicon based approaches	syntactic markers, psycho-linguistic
		features and temporal dependencies
Machine Learning approach	SVM, RF, DT, NB, KNN, LR	Requires proper fine tuning of parameters and does not show significant impact on the precision
Deep Learning approach	NN, RNN, LSTM	Handling of heterogeneous
	and Transformer Models	and feature vector representation associated with the performance
		ussociated with the performance

Table 1: Summary of related work

lem. Various methods from rule based techniques to deep learning methods could be used for this purpose. Identification of depression markers and preprocessing the actual posts also play an important role in the performance of the model. The performance of the model used for classification mainly depends on the data set used for the purpose like the size of the data set and the distribution of the data in the data set. Hence the analysis of the data set is important for selecting the appropriate model for implementing the classification task. The contribution of different pre-processing techniques for improving the prediction efficiency of depression identification task (Figueredo and Calumby, 2020) had been presented. Depression-related markers in Facebook users had been identified by Socially Mediated Patient Portal (SMPP) (Hussain et al., 2020), which had used a data-driven approach with machine learning classification techniques for extracting such information. The syntactical markers related to onset and perpetual symptoms of depression (Kamite and Kamble, 2020) have been identified which when used together with statistical models had helped in effective and early identification of depression from social media posts. The impact of psycho-linguistic patterns on standard machine learning approaches had been illustrated for the classification of social media texts that are associated with depression (Trifan et al., 2020). Multi modal framework and statistical techniques had been used to discern depressive behaviours from a heterogeneous set of features including visual, textual, and user interaction data (Yazdavar et al., 2020) from social media posts. Multiple Instance Learning methods (Mann et al., 2021) had been used for the task of identifying depression

from social media posts which had implemented the classification by exploiting temporal dependencies between posts. Detection of mental health disorders, especially depression, had been predicted from Arabic posts using a lexicon based approach and machine learning approach (Alghamdi et al., 2020).

Early detection of different emotions of people including depression from their social media posts had been done using a hybrid model which is a combination of two machine learning algorithms namely Support Vector Machine and Naive Bayes algorithm (Smys and Raj, 2021). The performance measures of the model had been analyzed by fine tuning the parameters associated with the algorithms. Detection of depression from Bengali posts and commentaries had been implemented and evaluated using different machine learning algorithms like Support Vector Machine, Random Forest, Decision Tree, K-Nearest Neighbors, Naive Bayes (Multinomial Naive Bayes) and Logistic Regression. The results had shown that the same precision had been achieved by all the algorithms (Victor et al., 2020). Social media posts of high school students, college students and working professionals had also been considered in specific for identifying mental health using the above mentioned machine learning algorithms (Narayanrao and Lalitha Surya Kumari, 2020).

Use of deep learning models had been depicted for the prediction of mental disorders such as depression. A multi-task hierarchical neural network with topic attention had been used for identifying health issues from social media posts. Bidirectional gated recurrent units had been used to analyze the hierarchical relationship (Zhou et al., 2021) among documents, sentences and words based on which attention weights are enhanced for words. The posts with unstructured text data that display depression had been identified more effectively by deep learning models than by using supervised learning methods (Ahmad et al., 2020). The role of sentiment analysis in identifying depression had been shown which had improved the performance of the model by using different deep learning techniques for the process of classification (Banerjee and Shaikh, 2021). Better performance had been achieved when the heterogeneous and feature vector representation associated with social media posts had been handled and transformer based models (Garg, 2021) had been utilized for classification of depression and suicidal posts. Depression and associated negative emotions had been identified from Sina Weibo, using deep learning methods (Yao et al., 2019).

Table 1 summarises the approaches and the limitations associated with the models that exist for detecting depression from social media posts. It could be summarized from the related works that proper pre-processing, selection of markers and dominant feature extraction directly have an impact on the performance of the model. Different approaches like rule-based approach, statistical approach, machine learning approaches and deep learning approaches could be used for this purpose and the deep learning techniques tend to show better performance when compared with traditional and machine learning approaches. When appropriate text pre-processing and textual based featuring techniques (Zhou et al., 2021) had been used with machine learning classifiers, it had been shown that depression associated social media texts could be effectively identified even when depression specific keywords were not present in the social media posts. The performance of the model based on an approach may not be the same for all data sets which is a major factor to be considered and this makes the problem of identifying depression from social media text as an important research field in the domain of Natural Language Processing.

# 3 Data set

The data set used for our model is a collection of Social Media Text provided by the organizers of the shared task (Sampath et al., 2022). The data set (Kayalvizhi and Thenmozhi, 2022) comprises training, development and test data set. The data files were in Tab Separated Values (tsv) format with

Data Set	Category	Instances
Train	Not Depression	1971
	Moderate	6019
	Severe	901
Validation	Not Depression	1,830
	Moderate	2306
	Severe	360

Table 2: Data set statisti
----------------------------

three columns namely posting id (pid), text data and label. The sample instances are as follows:

- Not depressed This indicates the social media text is not depressed in nature Example: "Is anybody else hoping the Coronavirus shuts everybody down?"
- Moderate- This indicates the social media text is moderately depressed in nature Example: "My life gets worse every year : That's what it feels like anyway...."
- Severe- This indicates the social media text is severely depressed in nature Example: "Words can't describe how bad I feel right now : I just want to fall asleep forever."

The distribution of the data in the data set is shown in Table 2. The training data set had 8,891 instances of which 1,971 instances were under the Not depressed category, 6019 instances were under Moderate category and 901 instances under Severe category. The validation data set provided for the evaluation of the model had 4496 instances with 1830, 2306 and 360 instances under the category Not depressed, Moderate and Severe respectively. The test data set provided for the purpose of prediction had 3245 instances.

# 4 Methodology

The proposed methodology uses deep learning techniques for implementing the process of detecting depression from social media texts. From the existing systems it could be found that transformer based models exhibit better performance when compared to Neural network based models and LSTM based models. Hence the proposed system uses three different Transformer models namely DistilBERT, ALBERT and RoBERTa for the task of detecting the depression level from social media text.

Model	DistilBERT	RoBERTa	ALBERT
Accuracy	0.342	0.510	0.408
Macro F1-Score	0.337	0.457	0.387
<b>Macro Recall</b>	0.467	0.519	0.497
<b>Macro Precision</b>	0.456	0.461	0.432

Table 3: Task Score

#### 4.1 DistilBERT

DistilBERT (Sanh et al., 2019) is a general-purpose pre-trained version of BERT which had been pretrained on the same corpus as BERT in a selfsupervised fashion. This means it was pre-trained on the raw texts only, with no human labeling to generate inputs and labels from those texts using the BERT base model<sup>2</sup>. Distil-BERT has 97% of BERT's performance while being trained on half of the parameters of BERT. BERT-base has 110 parameters and BERT-large has 340 parameters, which are hard to deal with. For this problem's solution, distillation techniques are used to reduce the size of these large models<sup>3</sup>.

We have used "distilbert–base-cased" model for implementing the classification task of identifying depression from social media text which comprises of 6-layer, 768-hidden layers and also 12-heads, 65M parameters. It is a smaller version than BERT which is incredibly less expensive and quicker to train than BERT.

# 4.2 RoBERTa

RoBERTa (Liu et al., 2019) is a transformer model pre-trained on a large corpus of English data and is based on BERT model and modifies key hyperparameters and training is implemented with larger mini-batches and learning rates<sup>4</sup>. RoBERTa is a Robust BERT method which has been trained on a far extra large data set and for a whole lot of large quantities of iterations with a bigger batch length of 8k.

We have used the "RoBERTa–base" model for the task which is a pretrained model on English language using a masked language modeling (MLM) objective. This model is case-sensitive and it comprises 12-layers, 768-hidden layers, 12-heads and 125M parameters.

<sup>3</sup>https://analyticsindiamag.com/python-guide-to-

# 4.3 ALBERT

The ALBERT (Lan et al., 2020) model is a Lite BERT which improves the training and results of BERT architecture by using different techniques like parameter sharing, factorization of embedding matrix and Inter sentence Coherence loss.

We have used "ALBERT-base-v1" model for the task which is also a pre-trained model on English language. This model is uncased<sup>5</sup> and it consists of 12 repeating layers, 128 embedding, 768-hidden, 12-heads and 11M parameters<sup>6</sup>. The first step associated with the task is to prepare the data set which involves pre-processing the text from the data set for effective modeling. As the text from social media posts does not have a standard structure and use of symbols, tags and URLs are common, the texts need to be pre-processed by converting the complete text into lower case words and removing the stop-words, URLs, numbers and tags which do not contribute much for the classification task. Then the three different transformer models namely DistilBERT, ALBERT and RoBERTa had been used to implement the classification of the texts into Moderate, Severe and Not Depressed texts. The labels were converted to equivalent integer categorical values so that it can be given as input to the transformer models. The models are trained using the training set provided as a part of the shared task. The evaluation of the model was carried out using the evaluation data set provided by the shared task. Finally the required predictions were done using the test data set provided by the shared task. The number of epochs that were considered for training were 5 for DistilBERT and ALBERT and 1 epoch was used for RoBERTa.

# 5 Experimental Setup

We have used the virtual GPU (Tesla k80) provided by Google Colab for implementing different transformer models. The processing time was found to be 5.43 min, 15.46 min, 5.48 min for DistilBERT,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>https://huggingface.co/distilbert-base-uncased

huggingface-distilbert-smaller-faster-cheaper-distilled-bert/ <sup>4</sup>https://huggingface.co/docs/transformers/model\_doc/roberta

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>https://huggingface.co/albert-base-v1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>https://huggingface.co/transformers/v3.3.1/pretrained<sub>m</sub>odels.html

Label	Precision	Recall	F1-Score	Support
Not Depression	0.60	0.45	0.52	1830
Moderate	0.59	0.72	0.65	2306
Severe	0.31	0.29	0.30	360
Accuracy			0.57	4496
Macro Avg	0.50	0.49	0.49	4496
Weighted Avg	0.576	0.57	0.57	4496

Table 4: Classification Report

RoBERTa and AlBERT models respectively. The memory usage of our model was calculated to be 3583MiB.

# 6 Results

The evaluation of the shared task was done using the metric namely Macro F1-score. The other metrics that were used to represent the performance of the model were Accuracy, Macro Recall and Macro Precision. The ratio of the number of correct predictions to the total number of input samples is represented by the metric Accuracy. The ratio of the number of correct positive results to the number of positive results predicted by the classifier is represented by Precision. The model's ability to detect positive samples is represented by recall. F1 score is an overall measure of a model's accuracy that combines precision and recall. A high F1 score means that the classification has resulted with low number of false positives, and low false negatives.

The metric values that were scored by the three different models on the test data set provided for the shared task are given in Table 3. When using the DistilBERT the values that were obtained for the different metrics were 0.342 for accuracy, 0.337 for Macro F1-score, 0.467 for Macro recall and 0.456 for Macro precision. By using the transformer model ALBERT for classification the metrics were improved to 0.408 for accuracy, 0.387 for Macro F1-score, 0.497 for Macro Recall and 0.432 for Macro Precision. The metrics were further improved when the RoBERTa model was used for implementing the classification task which resulted in an accuracy of 0.510, Macro F1-score of 0.457, Macro recall of 0.519 and Macro precision of 0.461 which brought us to the rank of 23 in the leader board.

### 7 Error Analysis

The model RoBERTa had resulted in an F1 score of 0.457 which is low compared to 0.583 which is the

F1 score obtained by the topper of the leader board. This shows that more false positive and false negative classification has occurred in our proposed model. The data set provided is highly imbalanced in nature which could also be considered as a reason for the poor performance of the model. The data set could be converted to a balanced data set by using different up-sampling and down-sampling techniques.

The classification report generated during the evaluation of the model is shown in Table 4. It could be found that the instances that fall under the category 'Severe' have a low F1 score of 0.30, which means more false positives and false negatives have occurred under this category. Most of the posts associated with the category Severe do not use the depression related markers directly which can also be considered as a reason for poor performance of the model.

### 8 Conclusion

As social media platforms play a crucial role in today's world and the posts shared replicate the internal mental state of the user, the task of identifying depression from social media posts have become an important research area. The methodology associated with our submission used three different transformer models to implement the above said task namely DistilBERT, ALBERT and RoBERTa of which the RoBERTa model had shown a better performance with a F1 score of 0.457.

This score is not an optimal value and shows the availability of scope to fine tune the transformer models for improving the performance of the model. The process can be more effectively done when depression markers are identified and the context based informations of the posts are considered while developing models to identify depression from social media texts.

# References

- Hussain Ahmad, Dr. Muhammad Asghar, Fahad Alotaibi, and Ibrahim Hameed. 2020. Applying deep learning technique for depression classification in social media text. *Journal of Medical Imaging and Health Informatics*, 10:pp. 2446–2451(6).
- Norah Saleh Alghamdi, Hanan A. Hosni Mahmoud, Ajith Abraham, Samar Awadh Alanazi, and Laura García-Hernández. 2020. Predicting depression symptoms in an arabic psychological forum. *IEEE Access*, 8:57317–57334.
- Satyaki Banerjee and Nuzhat F. Shaikh. 2021. A survey on mental health monitoring system via social media data using deep learning framework. In *Techno-Societal 2020*, pages 879–887, Cham. Springer International Publishing.
- José Figueredo and Rodrigo Calumby. 2020. On text preprocessing for early detection of depression on social media. In *Anais do XX Simpósio Brasileiro de Computação Aplicada à Saúde*, pages 84–95, Porto Alegre, RS, Brasil. SBC.
- Muskan Garg. 2021. Quantifying the suicidal tendency on social media: A survey. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2110.03663*.
- Jamil Hussain, Fahad Ahmed Satti, Muhammad Afzal, Wajahat Ali Khan, Hafiz Syed Muhammad Bilal, Muhammad Zaki Ansaar, Hafiz Farooq Ahmad, Taeho Hur, Jaehun Bang, Jee-In Kim, Gwang Hoon Park, Hyonwoo Seung, and Sungyoung Lee. 2020. Exploring the dominant features of social media for depression detection. *Journal of Information Science*, 46(6):739–759.
- Sangeeta R. Kamite and V. B. Kamble. 2020. Detection of depression in social media via twitter using machine learning approach. In 2020 International Conference on Smart Innovations in Design, Environment, Management, Planning and Computing (IC-SIDEMPC), pages 122–125.
- S Kayalvizhi and D Thenmozhi. 2022. Data set creation and empirical analysis for detecting signs of depression from social media postings. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2202.03047*.
- Zhenzhong Lan, Mingda Chen, Sebastian Goodman, Kevin Gimpel, Piyush Sharma, and Radu Soricut. 2020. Albert: A lite bert for self-supervised learning of language representations.
- Yinhan Liu, Myle Ott, Naman Goyal, Jingfei Du, Mandar Joshi, Danqi Chen, Omer Levy, Mike Lewis, Luke Zettlemoyer, and Veselin Stoyanov. 2019. Roberta: A robustly optimized bert pretraining approach. arXiv preprint arXiv:1907.11692.
- Keshu Malviya, Bholanath Roy, and SK Saritha. 2021. A transformers approach to detect depression in social media. In 2021 International Conference on Artificial Intelligence and Smart Systems (ICAIS), pages 718–723.

- Paulo Mann, Aline Paes, and Elton H. Matsushima. 2021. Screening for depressed individuals by using multimodal social media data. *Proceedings* of the AAAI Conference on Artificial Intelligence, 35(18):15722–15723.
- Purude Vaishali Narayanrao and P. Lalitha Surya Kumari. 2020. Analysis of machine learning algorithms for predicting depression. In 2020 International Conference on Computer Science, Engineering and Applications (ICCSEA), pages 1–4.
- Kayalvizhi Sampath, Thenmozhi Durairaj, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, and Jerin Mahibha C. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Detecting Signs of Depression from Social Media. In "Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion". Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Victor Sanh, Lysandre Debut, Julien Chaumond, and Thomas Wolf. 2019. Distilbert, a distilled version of bert: smaller, faster, cheaper and lighter. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1910.01108*.
- S Smys and Jennifer S Raj. 2021. Analysis of deep learning techniques for early detection of depression on social media network-a comparative study. *Journal of trends in Computer Science and Smart technology (TCSST)*, 3(01):24–39.
- Alina Trifan, Rui Antunes, Sérgio Matos, and Jose Luís Oliveira. 2020. Understanding depression from psycholinguistic patterns in social media texts. In *Advances in Information Retrieval*, pages 402–409, Cham. Springer International Publishing.
- Debasish Bhattacharjee Victor, Jamil Kawsher, Md Shad Labib, and Subhenur Latif. 2020. Machine learning techniques for depression analysis on social media- case study on bengali community. In 2020 4th International Conference on Electronics, Communication and Aerospace Technology (ICECA), pages 1118–1126.
- Xiaoxu Yao, Guang Yu, Xianyun Tian, and Jingyun Tang. 2019. Patterns and longitudinal changes in negative emotions of people with depression on sina weibo. *Telemedicine journal and e-health : the official journal of the American Telemedicine Association.*
- Amir Hossein Yazdavar, Mohammad Saeid Mahdavinejad, Goonmeet Bajaj, William Romine, Amit Sheth, Amir Hassan Monadjemi, Krishnaprasad Thirunarayan, John M. Meddar, Annie Myers, Jyotishman Pathak, and Pascal Hitzler. 2020. Multimodal mental health analysis in social media. *PLOS ONE*, 15(4):1–27.
- Deyu Zhou, Jiale Yuan, and Jiasheng Si. 2021. Health issue identification in social media based on multitask hierarchical neural networks with topic attention. *Artificial Intelligence in Medicine*, 118:102119.

# SSNCSE\_NLP@LT-EDI-ACL2022:Hope Speech Detection for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion using sentence transformers

Dhanya Srinivasan

Josephine Varsha B. Bharathi D. T

i D. Thenmozhi

**B. Senthil Kumar** 

SSN College of Engineering

dhanya2010903@ssn.edu.in

josephine2010350@ssn.edu.in

bharathib@ssn.edu.in

theni\_d@ssn.edu.in

senthil@ssn.edu.in

# Abstract

In recent times, applications have been developed to regulate and control the spread of negativity and toxicity on online platforms. The world is filled with serious problems like political & religious conflicts, wars, pandemics, and offensive hate speech is the last thing we desire. Our task was to classify a text into 'Hope Speech' and 'Non-Hope Speech'. We searched for datasets acquired from YouTube comments that offer support, reassurance, inspiration, and insight, and the ones that don't. The datasets were provided to us by the LTEDI organizers in English, Tamil, Spanish, Kannada, and Malayalam. To successfully identify and classify them, we employed several machine learning transformer models such as m-BERT, MLNet, BERT, XLMRoberta, and XLM MLM. The observed results indicate that the BERT and m-BERT have obtained the best results among all the other techniques, gaining a weighted F1score of 0.92, 0.71, 0.76, 0.87, and 0.83 for English, Tamil, Spanish, Kannada, and Malayalam respectively. This paper depicts our work for the Shared Task on Hope Speech Detection for Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion at LTEDI 2021.

# **1** Introduction

With an evolving and diversifying world filled with worries and uncertainty, people turn to religion and faith to give them hope. With the existence of marginalized communities, such as the LGBTQIA community, and racial and ethnic minorities which focus on having faith and are hopeful for their complete acceptance in society(Puranik et al., 2021), there is an increasing need for positive reinforcement in society. With the wide usage of the internet, now intensified by the ongoing pandemic, more people are seeking the same kind of reinforcement through online forums(Arunima et al., 2021).

Youtube is an online platform connecting billions of users across the globe. It is an application owned by Google, which allows people worldwide to showcase their talents and express opinions, and connect in the comments section. With around 30000 hours of content uploaded every hour(Arunima et al., 2021), each comment under it has people expressing not only their trivial thoughts but also their controversial opinions. This includes but is not restricted to saying hurtful things and shaming communities and groups they harbor ill will against, given the flexibility of speech in most nations in the world. This can be touted as a bane as well leading to rigorous research in Offensive Speech Detection and Hate Speech Detection(Sai and Sharma, 2020)(Wani et al., 2019)(Alsafari et al., 2020).

There has been inadequate research done concentrating on Hope Speech Detection. With this being an era of mental health awareness, it is crucial to develop a solution that recommends uplifting and positive tweets and posts to people, while sidelining the negative, discouraging and disheartening ones.

In our paper, we have approached Hope Speech Detection using pre-existing transformer models trained from the dataset provided by the LT-EDI organizers with the data obtained from tweets in English, Kannada, Malayalam, Spanish, and Tamil. We have used multilingual transformers such as XLM-MLM, BERT, and XLM-ROBERTA, achieving promising results using the BERT multilingual transformer model. Hence the task was implemented using the same.

The rest of this paper is organized as follows. Section 2 discusses the related work on Hope Speech Detection tasks. The dataset for the shared task is discussed in Section 3. Section 4 outlines the features and the methods used for this task. Results are presented in Section 5. Section 6 concludes the paper.

# 2 Related Work

Researchers have experimented with a few approaches to deal with Hope Speech Detection in many languages recently, but more so in English. The authors of Hope Speech Detection: A Computational Analysis of the Voice of Peace(Palakodety et al., 2019) take the help of polyglot wordembeddings to discover language clusters and subsequently construct a language identification technique that requires minimal supervision and performs well on short social media texts generated in a linguistically diverse region of the world. In Hope Speech Detection Using Indic Transliteration and Transformers(Upadhyay et al., 2021), the authors used 2 approaches. They used contextual embeddings to train classifiers using logistic regression, random forest, SVM, and LSTM based models. A similar approach is used in Hope Speech Detection in YouTube multilingual comments(Saumya and Mishra, 2021). The second approach involved using a majority voting ensemble of 11 models which were obtained by fine-tuning pre-trained transformer models (BERT, ALBERT, RoBERTa, IndicBERT) after adding an output layer. They found that the second approach yielded better results for English, Tamil, and Malayalam. In A Multilingual Hope Speech Detection for Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion using Context-Aware Embedding(Junaida and Ajees, 2021), the authors present deep learning techniques using contextaware string embeddings for word representations and Recurrent Neural Network (RNN) and pooled document embeddings for text representation. In this paper, however, we use pre-trained multilingual transformer models to determine whether a comment is Hope Speech or not.

# 3 Dataset Analysis and Preprocessing

The dataset provided by the LT-EDI 2021 Chakravarthi et al. (2022) for the five languages, English, Tamil, Spanish, Kannada, and Malayalam consisted of 28424, 17716, 1653, 6176, and 9918 Youtube comments respectively. Refer to the table below 1

Subjects like Hope's speech might raise confusion and disagreement among literates belonging to different groups. Puranik et al. (2021).

#### Chakravarthi et al. (2022)

A Youtube comment may contain acronyms, small words, and emojis. It is required to process the data before training it. Data pre-processing is

Language	Training	Development	Test
English	22740	2841	2843
Tamil	14200	1755	1761
Spanish	991	331	331
Kannada	4940	618	618
Malavalam	7873	974	1071

Table 1: Dataset description

critical for the success of any machine learning solution. There may be signs of irregularities in the continuity of texts and misspelled words in many YouTube comments. For the cleaning up of the dataset and to normalize these irregularities we go through pre-processing, where all the HTML tags, hashtags, social media mentions, and URLs are removed. It is also required to annotate emojis and emoticons as they play an important role in defining the speech. These are replaced with the text they represent and substituted back into the comment. The text data may contain short words, and these are replaced with their original full word. We resort to a look-up table that replaces the short word with their expanded form, such as: 'what's' with 'what is', 'u' with 'you'. The sequence of texts is then converted to lowercase and the extra unwanted white spaces are removed.Suseelan et al. (2019)Thenmozhi et al. (2019) (Bharathi et al., 2021).

# 4 Methodology

For this approach, we used a few models, namely, the XLM-MLM models, BERT models, and XLM-ROBERTA models for Spanish and Malayalam and the BERT models and XLNET models for English, Kannada and Tamil. Out of all these models, the BERT models produced the best results out of all the models, in all the languages.

For English, bert-base-multilingual-uncased is shown to yield the best accuracy of 93%. For Kannada, bert-base-uncased yielded the best accuracy of 87%. For Malayalam, bert-base-multilingualuncased yielded a result of 84%. For Spanish too, the bert-base-multilingual-uncased model outperformed the others by giving an accuracy of 76%. For Tamil, bert-base-uncased yielded an accuracy of 72%. An analysis of all the results is elaborated in the next section.

# 4.1 bert-base-multilingual-uncased and bert-base-uncased

Introduced in the paper BERT: Pre-training of Deep Bidirectional Transformers for Language Understanding(Devlin et al., 2018), it is a pre-trained model trained on the top 102 languages with the largest Wikipedia using a masked language modeling (MLM) objective. It is a transformer model pre-trained on a large corpus of multilingual data in a self-supervised fashion. BERT uses bi-directional learning to gain context of words from left to right context simultaneously. This bi-directional approach is optimized for Masked Language Modeling(MLM), which includes randomly masking 15% of the words in the input and then running it through the model to predict the masked words. It also helps to optimize Next Sentence Prediction(NSP) which predicts the relationship between two sentences(whether they follow each other or not).

# 4.2 xlnet-base-cased

XLNet is a model pre-trained in the English language. Introduced in the paper XLNet: Generalized Autoregressive Pretraining for Language Understanding(Yang et al., 2019), it is a new unsupervised language representation learning method based on a novel generalized permutation language modeling objective. It employs Transformer-XL as the backbone model, exhibiting exemplary performance for language tasks involving long context. It achieves great performance on downstream tasks such as document ranking, question answering, sentiment analysis, and natural language interference. It is primarily aimed at being fine-tuned on tasks that use the whole sentence (potentially masked) to make decisions, such as sequence classification, token classification, or question answering.

# 4.3 xlm-mlm-tlm-xnli15-1024 and xlm-mlm-100-1280

XLM is a model presented by Facebook AI in the paper Cross-lingual Language Model Pretraining(Lample and Conneau, 2019). It is an improved version of BERT, achieving excellent results in classification and translation tasks in Natural Language Processing. XLM uses a known preprocessing technique (BPE) and a dual-language training mechanism with BERT to learn relations between words in different languages. The model outperforms other models in a cross-lingual classification task and significantly improves machine translation when a pre-trained model is used for the initialization of the translation model. Here, the initial embeddings of the tokens are taken from a pretrained MLM and fed into the translation model.



Figure 1: Proposed methodology

These embeddings are used to initialize the tokens of both the encoder and the decoder of the translation model (which uses a transformer)(Lample et al., 2018).

## 4.4 xlm-roberta-base and xlm-roberta-large

First introduced in the paper Unsupervised Crosslingual Representation Learning at Scale(Conneau et al., 2019), it is a multilingual version of RoBERTa pre-trained on 2.5TB of filtered CommonCrawl data containing 100 languages. It is a transformers model pre-trained on a large corpus in a self-supervised fashion. Similar to BERT, it is pre-trained with the Masked Language Modeling(MLM) objective.

# 5 Observation

In this section, we will be looking into the performance of various machine learning transformer models for the 5 languages (English, Tamil, Spanish, Kannada, Malayalam). The weighted F1 score determines the excellence of the models. The tables below present the evaluation results of all the models on the test dataset. The English dataset has the highest F1 score of 0.92 using the m-BERT model, winning over a slight margin against the BERT model. The BERT model had outperformed by its accuracy 2. In the case of the Tamil language, the BERT model had produced the highest F1-Score of 0.71 with better accuracy than the other models 3. In the case of Spanish, both the m-BERT and the XLM ROBERTA had performed equally well with an F1 score of 0.76 4. BERT model had performed well with Kannada datasets too with an F1 score of 0.87 and an equally good accuracy of 0.87 5. In the case of Malayalam, m-BERT outperformed the other models, and its

Pre-trained model	Precision	Recall	F1-score	Accuracy
bert-base-uncased	0.91	0.92	0.91	0.92
xlnet-base-cased	0.83	0.91	0.87	0.91
bert-base-mulitingual-uncased	0.91	0.93	0.92	0.93

 Table 2: Performance analysis of the proposed system

 using development data for English

Pre-trained model	Precision	Recall	F1-score	Accuracy
bert-base-uncased	0.72	0.72	0.71	0.72
xlnet-base-cased	0.31	0.55	0.40	0.55
bert-base-mulitingual-uncased	0.70	0.70	0.69	0.70

Table 3: Performance analysis of the proposed systemusing development data for Tamil

F1 score was 0.83 6. For all the languages, the BERT model had showcased the best results and outperformed all the other models.

# Conclusion

The need for Hope Speech Detection in social media content is growing to be more and more important every day. With more and more people's lives being ridden by social media content every day, it becomes critical to have a filter to differentiate between the positive and negative content to promote optimism and a can-do attitude instead of a pessimistic and dispirited outlook. Hope Speech Detection models, though proven to be essential, have had insufficient work done on it. In this paper, we use pre-trained multilingual transformer models to detect Hope Speech in 5 languages, namely English, Kannada, Malayalam, Spanish and Tamil. The model submitted for the task is BERT which proved to be the best out of all the transformer models used. It yielded an accuracy of 93%, 87%, 84%, 76% and 72% for English, Kannada, Malayalam, Spanish and Tamil respectively. BERT's capabilities extend to making more accurate predictions when dealing with newer documents even when the type of document differs significantly in key properties such as length and vocabulary. This attribute of BERT makes it the perfect choice when dealing with multiple languages and code-switching

Pre-trained model	Precision	Recall	F1-score	Accuracy
xlm-mlm-tlm-xnli15-1024	0.71	0.71	0.71	0.71
xlm-mlm-100-1280	0.24	0.49	0.32	0.49
bert-base-mulitingual-uncased	0.76	0.76	0.76	0.76
xlm-roberta-base	0.76	0.76	0.76	0.76
xlm-roberta-large	0.26	0.51	0.35	0.51

Table 4: Performance analysis of the proposed systemusing development data for Spanish

Pre-trained model	Precision	Recall	F1-score	Accuracy
bert-base-uncased	0.87	0.87	0.87	0.87
xlnet-base-cased	0.73	0.74	0.73	0.74
bert-base-mulitingual-uncased	0.86	0.83	0.83	0.83

Table 5: Performance analysis of the proposed systemusing development data for Kannada

Pre-trained model	Precision	Recall	F1-score	Accuracy
xlm-mlm-tlm-xnli15-1024	0.65	0.80	0.72	0.80
bert-base-multilingual-uncased	0.83	0.84	0.83	0.84
xlm-roberta-base	0.80	0.83	0.81	0.83

Table 6: Performance analysis of the proposed systemusing development data for Malayalam

within text.(Arunima et al., 2021) This model can be further improved to deal with data with multiple languages in the future.

#### References

- Safa Alsafari, Samira Sadaoui, and Malek Mouhoub. 2020. Hate and offensive speech detection on arabic social media. *Online Social Networks and Media*, 19:100096.
- S Arunima, Akshay Ramakrishnan, Avantika Balaji, D Thenmozhi, et al. 2021. ssn\_dibertsity@ lt-edieacl2021: hope speech detection on multilingual youtube comments via transformer based approach. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, pages 92–97.
- B Bharathi et al. 2021. Ssncse\_nlp@ dravidianlangtecheacl2021: Offensive language identification on multilingual code mixing text. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Speech and Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages*, pages 313–318.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Vigneshwaran Muralidaran, Ruba Priyadharshini, Subalalitha Chinnaudayar Navaneethakrishnan, John Phillip McCrae, Miguel Ángel García-Cumbreras, Salud María Jiménez-Zafra, Rafael Valencia-García, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, Rahul Ponnusamy, Daniel García-Baena, and José Antonio García-Díaz. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Hope Speech Detection for Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Alexis Conneau, Kartikay Khandelwal, Naman Goyal, Vishrav Chaudhary, Guillaume Wenzek, Francisco Guzmán, Edouard Grave, Myle Ott, Luke Zettlemoyer, and Veselin Stoyanov. 2019. Unsupervised cross-lingual representation learning at scale. arXiv preprint arXiv:1911.02116.
- Jacob Devlin, Ming-Wei Chang, Kenton Lee, and Kristina Toutanova. 2018. Bert: Pre-training of deep

bidirectional transformers for language understanding. arXiv preprint arXiv:1810.04805.

- MK Junaida and AP Ajees. 2021. Ku\_nlp@ lt-edieacl2021: a multilingual hope speech detection for equality, diversity, and inclusion using context aware embeddings. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, pages 79–85.
- Guillaume Lample and Alexis Conneau. 2019. Crosslingual language model pretraining. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1901.07291*.
- Guillaume Lample, Myle Ott, Alexis Conneau, Ludovic Denoyer, and Marc'Aurelio Ranzato. 2018. Phrasebased & neural unsupervised machine translation. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1804.07755*.
- Shriphani Palakodety, Ashiqur R KhudaBukhsh, and Jaime G Carbonell. 2019. Hope speech detection: A computational analysis of the voice of peace. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1909.12940*.
- Karthik Puranik, Adeep Hande, Ruba Priyadharshini, Sajeetha Thavareesan, and Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi. 2021. Iiitt@ lt-edi-eacl2021-hope speech detection: there is always hope in transformers. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2104.09066*.
- Siva Sai and Yashvardhan Sharma. 2020. Siva@ hasocdravidian-codemix-fire-2020: Multilingual offensive speech detection in code-mixed and romanized text. In *FIRE (Working Notes)*, pages 336–343.
- Sunil Saumya and Ankit Kumar Mishra. 2021. Iiit\_dwd@ lt-edi-eacl2021: hope speech detection in youtube multilingual comments. In *Proceedings* of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion, pages 107–113.
- Angel Suseelan, S Rajalakshmi, B Logesh, S Harshini, B Geetika, S Dyaneswaran, S Milton Rajendram, and TT Mirnalinee. 2019. Techssn at semeval-2019 task
  6: Identifying and categorizing offensive language in tweets using deep neural networks. In *Proceedings of the 13th International Workshop on Semantic Evaluation*, pages 753–758.
- D Thenmozhi, Aravindan Chandrabose, Srinethe Sharavanan, et al. 2019. Ssn\_nlp at semeval-2019 task
  3: Contextual emotion identification from textual conversation using seq2seq deep neural network. In *Proceedings of the 13th International Workshop on Semantic Evaluation*, pages 318–323.
- Ishan Sanjeev Upadhyay, Anshul Wadhawan, Radhika Mamidi, et al. 2021. Hopeful\_men@ lt-edi-eacl2021: Hope speech detection using indic transliteration and transformers. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2102.12082*.
- Abid Hussain Wani, Nahida Shafi Molvi, and Sheikh Ishrah Ashraf. 2019. Detection of hate and offensive speech in text. In *International Conference on Intelligent Human Computer Interaction*, pages 87–93. Springer.

Zhilin Yang, Zihang Dai, Yiming Yang, Jaime Carbonell, Russ R Salakhutdinov, and Quoc V Le. 2019. Xlnet: Generalized autoregressive pretraining for language understanding. Advances in neural information processing systems, 32.

# SOA\_NLP@LT-EDI-ACL2022: An Ensemble Model for Hope Speech Detection from YouTube Comments

Abhinav Kumar<sup>1</sup>, Sunil Saumya<sup>2</sup>, and Pradeep Kumar Roy<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Siksha 'O' Anusandhan, Deemed to be University, Bhubanewar, Odisha, India <sup>2</sup>Indian Institute of Information Technology Dharwad, Karnataka, India

<sup>3</sup>Indian Institute of Information Technology Surat, Gujarat, India

(abhinavanand05, sunil.saumya007, pkroynitp)@gmail.com

#### Abstract

Language should be accommodating of equality and diversity as a fundamental aspect of communication. The language of internet users has a big impact on peer users all over the world. On virtual platforms such as Facebook, Twitter, and YouTube, people express their opinions in different languages. People respect others' accomplishments, pray for their well-being, and cheer them on when they fail. Such motivational remarks are hope speech remarks. Simultaneously, a group of users encourages discrimination against women, people of color, people with disabilities, and other minorities based on gender, race, sexual orientation, and other factors. To recognize hope speech from YouTube comments, the current study offers an ensemble approach that combines a support vector machine, logistic regression, and random forest classifiers. Extensive testing was carried out to discover the best features for the aforementioned classifiers. In the support vector machine and logistic regression classifiers, charlevel TF-IDF features were used, whereas in the random forest classifier, word-level features were used. The proposed ensemble model performed significantly well among English, Spanish, Tamil, Malayalam, and Kannada YouTube comments.

# 1 Introduction

People have started to spend more time on social media platforms in recent years. As a result, many informed decisions are taken based on the sentiment of the social media community (Sampath et al., 2022; Ravikiran et al., 2022; Chakravarthi et al., 2022b; Bharathi et al., 2022; Priyadharshini et al., 2022). Social media gives us the opportunity to track the activity of our friends and family, just like we do in real life (Priyadharshini et al., 2021; Kumaresan et al., 2021). Additionally, it also allows us to communicate with people we have never met in person across the globe. On these websites, there are mostly two types of vibes: Hope and

Hate. Hope is a positive state of mind defined by the expectation of favourable outcomes in one's life events and circumstances. People are motivated to act when they are filled with hope. Hope can be useful for anyone who wishes to maintain a consistent and positive outlook on life (Dowlagar and Mamidi, 2021). We often use hope terms, such as "Well Done!", "Congratulations", "Can be done in better way", "Keep up the good work" and so on to encourage on one's work. Hope contents frequently assist us in a variety of critical situations, including emergency management, photo sharing, video streaming, trip planning, and citizen engagement (Kumar et al., 2020b,c). Hate, on the other hand, is a negative vibe present on an online platform with the intention of harassing an individuals based on their race, religion, ethnic origin, sexual orientation, disability, or gender (Roy et al., 2022; Kumar et al., 2020b, 2021). The ultimate purpose of every social media platform is to reduce hate content while simultaneously promoting hope content.

Although there is much work being done to eradicate negativity from the social media (Priyadharshini et al., 2022; Chakravarthi et al., 2021; Saumya et al., 2021), Hope speech detection focuses on spreading optimism by detecting content that is encouraging, positive, and supporting. There hasn't been much work done in the domain of hope speech detection, although the NLP community has recently shown interest in it (Singh et al., 2021). To reduce hostility, (Chakravarthi, 2020) developed a hope detection methodology for the YouTube platform in 2019. In the year 2020, (Chakravarthi and Muralidaran, 2021) presented the LT-EDI-EACL2021 shared task<sup>1</sup>, which attempted to discover hope speeches in a corpus of English, Tamil, and Malayalam. To identify hope content in YouTube comments, (Thara et al., 2021) developed a bidirectional long short-term memory (BiLSTM) using attention-based technique. For

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>https://sites.google.com/view/lt-edi-2021/home

the same goal, (Gundapu and Mamidi, 2021) presented a transformer-based BERT model. (Sharma and Arora, 2021) employed synthetically generated code-mixed data to train a transformer-based model RoBERTa, which they used with their pretrained ULMFiT in an ensemble for hope speech categorization.

The second workshop on language technology for Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion (LT-EDI-2022) is proposed in ACL 2022 (Chakravarthi and Muralidaran, 2021; Chakravarthi et al., 2022a), with the shared assignment available in English, Tamil, Malayalam, Kannada, and Spanish. We participated in the LT-EDI-2022 competition and submitted an ensemble model by utilizing char-level features with support vector machine and logistic regression classifiers and word-level features with random forest classifier. The proposed ensemble model placed 8th, 4th, 3rd, 2nd, and 3rd for English, Tamil, Malayalam, Kannada, and Spanish dataset, respectively, among all other submitted models in the competition.

The remaining parts of the paper are organized as follows: Section 2 analyses similar research for hope speech detection, Section 3 examines the datasets and technique used in the study, Section 4 discusses results of the proposed model and Section 5 concludes the study with future directions.

#### 2 Related work

Several studies have been reported by researchers (Kumar et al., 2020b; Saumya et al., 2021; Kumar et al., 2020a) to identify hate and offensive material from social media, but relatively few efforts have been done to identify hope speech from social media (Chakravarthi, 2020; Thara et al., 2021; Gundapu and Mamidi, 2021; Sharma and Arora, 2021).

(Puranik et al., 2021) evaluated different transfer learning-based models for hope speech identification from English, Tamil, and Malayalam social media postings, including BERT, ALBERT, DistilBERT, RoBERTa, character-BERT, mBERT, and ULMFiT. ULMFiT achieved an  $F_1$ -score of 0.9356 on English data due to its improved finetuning process. On the Malayalam test set, mBERT achieved a weighted  $F_1$ -score of 0.8545, whereas distilmBERT achieved a weighted  $F_1$ -score of 0.5926 on the Tamil test set. (Balouchzahi et al., 2021) offered three models based on Ensemble of classifiers, Neural Network (NN), and BiLSTM with one dimensional convolution model. The first two models were trained using character and word gram features, while the third model was created using BiLSTM and one dimensional convolution. Finally, classification was carried out in each case. Ensemble of classifiers outperformed the other two models, with F1-scores of 0.85, 0.92, and 0.59 for Malayalam, English, and Tamil datasets, respectively.

The hope speech was identified using a finetuned XLM-Roberta model by (Que, 2021; Hossain et al., 2021). (Awatramani, 2021) used a Pretrained transformers with paraphrasing generation for Data Augmentation for hope content identification. (Thara et al., 2021) used an attentionbased strategy to create a bidirectional long shortterm memory (BiLSTM), (Gundapu and Mamidi, 2021) offered a transformer-based BERT model, and (Sharma and Arora, 2021) built a transformerbased model RoBERTa with synthetically produced code-mixed data, which they used with their pretrained ULMFiT in an ensemble for hope speech classification. In accordance with the existing literature, this paper proposes an ensemble model for the hope speech detection from English, Spanish, Tamil, Malayalam, and Kannada YouTube comments.

# 3 Methodology

Figure 1 depicts the overall flow diagram of the proposed ensemble model. The proposed ensemble model combines three machine learning algorithms: (i) Support Vector Machine (SVM), (ii) Logistic Regression (LR), and (iii) Random Forest (RF). The suggested approach is tested using YouTube comments in five distinct languages: English, Spanish, Tamil, Malayalam, and Kannada. Table 1 shows the total data statistic used to validate the proposed system.

To find the best-suited features and classifiers, we experimented with seven machine learning classifiers such as (i) Support Vector Machine, (ii) Random Forest, (iii) Logistic Regression, (iv) Naive Bayes, (v) K-Nearest Neighbor, (vi) Decision Tree, and (vii) AdaBoost with different combinations of n-gram char-level and word-level Term-Frequency-Inverse-Document-Frequency (TF-IDF). We varied the n-gram range from 1 to 6 for both char-level and word-level features. After performing extensive experiments, we found that 1 to 6-gram char-level

Table 1: Data statistics for English, Spanish, Tamil,Malayalam, and Kannada language comments

Dataset	Label	Non-hope Speech	Hope Speech
English	Train	20778	1962
	Dev	2569	272
Spanish	Train	499	491
	Dev	169	161
Tamil	Train	7872	6327
	Dev	998	757
Malayalam	Train	6205	1668
	Dev	784	190
Kannada	Train	3241	1699
	Dev	408	210

TF-IDF feature with Logistic Regression and Support Vector Machine performed best among all the mentioned classifiers, whereas 1 to 3-gram wordlevel features performed best for Random Forest classifier. The performance of best-suited classifiers with best-suited features are tabulated in Table 2.

The prediction of all three best-performed machine learning classifiers Support Vector Machine, Logistic Regression, and Random Forest are taken into account and performed a majority voting (see Figure 1) to get the final class value for the data sample.

# 4 Results

All experiments were run on the Google Colab platform<sup>2</sup> with the Sklearn Python library<sup>3</sup> and the default classifier hyper-parameters. The performance of the proposed ensemble model is measured using macro precision, macro recall, macro  $F_1$ -score, weighted precision, weighted recall, and weighted  $F_1$ -score.

The results of the English, Spanish, Tamil, Malayalam and Kannada language YouTube dataset are listed in Table 3. For the English dataset, the proposed model achieved a macro precision, recall, and  $F_1$ -score of 0.460, 0.370, and 0.380, respectively. Similarly, it achieved a weighted precision, recall, and  $F_1$ -score of 0.880, 0910, and 0.880, respectively. The suggested model achieved 0.790 macro precision, recall,  $F_1$ -score on the Spanish dataset (see Table 3. The suggested model obtained a macro precision of 0.280, a macro recall of 0.320, a macro  $F_1$ -score of 0.290, a weighted precision of



Figure 1: Proposed ensemble model for the hope speech identification

0.360, a weighted recall of 0.430, and a weighted F1-score of 0.380 on the Tamil dataset. The suggested model obtained a macro precision of 0.520, a macro recall of 0.480, a macro F1-score of 0.480, a weighted precision of 0.720, a weighted recall of 0.790, and a weighted F1-score of 0.740 on the Malayalam dataset. The suggested model achieves a macro precision of 0.490, a macro recall of 0.470, a macro F1-score of 0.470, a weighted recall of 0.740, a weighted recall of 0.750 for the Kannada language.

# 5 Conclusion

The current work utilized an ensemble strategy that includes a support vector machine, logistic regression, and random forest classifiers to identify hope speech from YouTube comments. The efficiency of different combinations of n-gram char-level and word-level TF-IDF features were also explored in the identification of hope speech from YouTube comments. The use of 1 to 6-gram char-level TF-IDF features with support vector machine and logistic regression performed best, whereas 1 to 3-gram word-level features with random forest classifier

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>https://colab.research.google.com/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>https://scikit-learn.org/

Table 2: Results of the best-suited features ((1-6)-gram TF-IDF char-level feature (Support Vector Machine and Logistic Regression) and (1-3)-gram TF-IDF word-level feature (Random Forest)) with best performed classifiers on development dataset.

Dataset	Class	SVM			Logistic R	egression	l	Random F	orest	
		Precision	Recall	F <sub>1</sub> -score	Precision	Recall	F <sub>1</sub> -score	Precision	Recall	F <sub>1</sub> -score
English	Hope speech	0.75	0.25	0.38	0.68	0.23	0.34	0.79	0.19	0.31
	Non-hope speech	0.93	0.99	0.96	0.92	0.99	0.96	0.92	0.99	0.96
	Macro Avg.	0.84	0.62	0.67	0.80	0.61	0.65	0.85	0.59	0.63
	Weighted Avg.	0.91	0.92	0.90	0.90	0.92	0.90	0.91	0.92	0.89
Spanish	Hope speech	0.81	0.71	0.76	0.80	0.66	0.72	0.75	0.72	0.73
	Non-hope speech	0.73	0.83	0.78	0.70	0.83	0.76	0.72	0.75	0.73
	Macro Avg.	0.77	0.77	0.77	0.75	0.74	0.74	0.73	0.73	0.73
	Weighted Avg.	0.77	0.77	0.77	0.75	0.74	0.74	0.73	0.73	0.73
Tamil	Hope speech	0.70	0.47	0.56	0.67	0.51	0.58	0.59	0.52	0.55
	Non-hope speech	0.68	0.84	0.75	0.69	0.81	0.74	0.67	0.73	0.70
	Macro Avg.	0.69	0.66	0.66	0.68	0.66	0.66	0.63	0.62	0.62
	Weighted Avg.	0.69	0.68	0.67	0.68	0.68	0.67	0.63	0.64	0.63
Malayalam	Hope speech	0.84	0.41	0.55	0.85	0.38	0.52	0.72	0.29	0.41
	Non-hope speech	0.87	0.98	0.92	0.87	0.98	0.92	0.85	0.97	0.91
	Macro Avg.	0.86	0.70	0.74	0.86	0.68	0.72	0.79	0.63	0.66
	Weighted Avg.	0.87	0.87	0.85	0.86	0.87	0.84	0.83	0.84	0.81
Kannada	Hope speech	0.73	0.45	0.56	0.74	0.42	0.54	0.68	0.46	0.55
	Non-hope speech	0.76	0.91	0.83	0.76	0.92	0.83	0.76	0.89	0.82
	Macro Avg.	0.74	0.68	0.69	0.75	0.67	0.69	0.72	0.68	0.69
	Weighted Avg.	0.75	0.76	0.74	0.75	0.75	0.73	0.74	0.74	0.73

Table 3: Result of the proposed model for differentlanguage datasets

English	Spanish	Tamil	Malayalam	Kannada
0.460	0.790	0.280	0.520	0.490
0.370	0.790	0.320	0.480	0.470
0.380	0.790	0.290	0.480	0.470
0.880	0.790	0.360	0.720	0.740
0.910	0.790	0.430	0.790	0.760
0.880	0.790	0.380	0.740	0.750
	English 0.460 0.370 0.380 0.880 0.910 0.880	English         Spanish           0.460         0.790           0.370         0.790           0.380         0.790           0.880         0.790           0.810         0.790           0.820         0.790           0.830         0.790           0.840         0.790           0.840         0.790	English         Spanish         Tamil           0.460         0.790         0.280           0.370         0.790         0.320           0.380         0.790         0.290           0.880         0.790         0.360           0.910         0.790         0.430           0.880         0.790         0.380	English         Spanish         Tamil         Malayalam           0.460         0.790         0.280         0.520           0.370         0.790         0.320         0.480           0.380         0.790         0.290         0.480           0.880         0.790         0.360         0.720           0.910         0.790         0.430         0.790           0.880         0.790         0.430         0.790           0.880         0.790         0.430         0.790           0.880         0.790         0.430         0.790

performed best among all the three mentioned classifiers. The proposed ensemble model achieved a macro  $F_1$ -scores of 0.380, 0.790, 0.290, 0.480, and 0.470 for English, Spanish, Tamil, Malayalam, and Kannada language YouTube comments, respectively. As the use of char-level features performs significantly well, therefore the char-level features can be explored. Deep learning-based models such as BERT, CNN, and auto-encoders can also be explored with proper pre-processing of the texts to achieve better performance.

### References

Vasudev Awatramani. 2021. Hopeful NLP@ LT-EDI-EACL2021: Finding hope in YouTube comment section. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, pages 164–167.

- Fazlourrahman Balouchzahi, BK Aparna, and HL Shashirekha. 2021. MUCS@ LT-EDI-EACL2021: coHope-hope speech detection for equality, diversity, and inclusion in code-mixed texts. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, pages 180–187.
- B Bharathi, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Subalalitha Chinnaudayar Navaneethakrishnan, N Sripriya, Arunaggiri Pandian, and Swetha Valli. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Speech Recognition for Vulnerable Individuals in Tamil. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion.* Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi. 2020. HopeEDI: A multilingual hope speech detection dataset for equality, diversity, and inclusion. In *Proceedings of the Third Workshop on Computational Modeling of People's Opinions, Personality, and Emotion's in Social Media*, pages 41–53, Barcelona, Spain (Online). Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi and Vigneshwaran Muralidaran. 2021. Findings of the shared task on hope speech detection for equality, diversity, and inclusion. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, pages 61–72.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Vigneshwaran Muralidaran, Ruba Priyadharshini, Subalalitha Chinnaudayar Navaneethakrishnan, John Phillip McCrae, Miguel Ángel García-Cumbreras, Salud María Jiménez-Zafra,

Rafael Valencia-García, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, Rahul Ponnusamy, Daniel García-Baena, and José Antonio García-Díaz. 2022a. Findings of the shared task on Hope Speech Detection for Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Thenmozhi Durairaj, John Phillip McCrae, Paul Buitaleer, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, and Rahul Ponnusamy. 2022b. Findings of the shared task on Homophobia Transphobia Detection in Social Media Comments. In Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Rahul Ponnusamy, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, Kayalvizhi Sampath, Durairaj Thenmozhi, Sathiyaraj Thangasamy, Rajendran Nallathambi, and John Phillip McCrae. 2021. Dataset for identification of homophobia and transophobia in multilingual YouTube comments. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2109.00227*.
- Suman Dowlagar and Radhika Mamidi. 2021. EDIOne@ LT-EDI-EACL2021: Pre-trained transformers with convolutional neural networks for hope speech detection. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, pages 86–91.
- Sunil Gundapu and Radhika Mamidi. 2021. Autobots@ LT-EDI-EACL2021: One world, one family: Hope speech detection with BERT transformer model. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, pages 143–148.
- Eftekhar Hossain, Omar Sharif, and Mohammed Moshiul Hoque. 2021. NLP-CUET@ LT-EDI-EACL2021: multilingual code-mixed hope speech detection using cross-lingual representation learner. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2103.00464*.
- Abhinav Kumar, Sunil Saumya, and Jyoti Prakash Singh. 2020a. NITP-AI-NLP@ HASOC-Dravidian-CodeMix-FIRE2020: A machine learning approach to identify offensive languages from Dravidian codemixed text. In *FIRE (Working Notes)*, pages 384– 390.
- Abhinav Kumar, Sunil Saumya, and Jyoti Prakash Singh. 2020b. NITP-AI-NLP@ HASOC-FIRE2020: Fine tuned BERT for the hate speech and offensive content identification from social media. In *FIRE (Working Notes)*, pages 266–273.
- Abhinav Kumar, Jyoti Prakash Singh, Yogesh K Dwivedi, and Nripendra P Rana. 2020c. A deep multi-modal neural network for informative Twitter content classification during emergencies. *Annals of Operations Research*, pages 1–32.

- Gunjan Kumar, Jyoti Prakash Singh, and Abhinav Kumar. 2021. A deep multi-modal neural network for the identification of hate speech from social media. In *Conference on e-Business, e-Services and e-Society*, pages 670–680. Springer.
- Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, Ratnasingam Sakuntharaj, Sajeetha Thavareesan, Subalalitha Navaneethakrishnan, Anand Kumar Madasamy, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, and John P McCrae. 2021. Findings of shared task on offensive language identification in Tamil and Malayalam. In *Forum for Information Retrieval Evaluation*, pages 16–18.
- Ruba Priyadharshini, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Subalalitha Chinnaudayar Navaneethakrishnan, Thenmozhi Durairaj, Malliga Subramanian, Kogilavani Shanmugavadivel, Siddhanth U Hegde, and Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Abusive Comment Detection in Tamil. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Speech and Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages*. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Ruba Priyadharshini, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Sajeetha Thavareesan, Dhivya Chinnappa, Durairaj Thenmozhi, and Rahul Ponnusamy. 2021. Overview of the DravidianCodeMix 2021 shared task on sentiment detection in Tamil, Malayalam, and Kannada. In *Forum for Information Retrieval Evaluation*, pages 4–6.
- Karthik Puranik, Adeep Hande, Ruba Priyadharshini, Sajeetha Thavareesan, and Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi. 2021. IIITT@ LT-EDI-EACL2021-Hope Speech Detection: There is always hope in transformers. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, pages 98–106.
- Qinyu Que. 2021. Simon @ LT-EDI-EACL2021: Detecting hope speech with BERT. In *Proceedings* of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion, pages 175–179, Kyiv. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Manikandan Ravikiran, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Anand Kumar Madasamy, Sangeetha Sivanesan, Ratnavel Rajalakshmi, Sajeetha Thavareesan, Rahul Ponnusamy, and Shankar Mahadevan. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Offensive Span Identification in code-mixed Tamil-English comments. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Speech and Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages*. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Pradeep Kumar Roy, Snehaan Bhawal, and C.N. Subalalitha. 2022. Hate speech and offensive language detection in Dravidian languages using deep ensemble framework. *Computer Speech & Language*, page 101386.
- Anbukkarasi Sampath, Thenmozhi Durairaj, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini,

Subalalitha Chinnaudayar Navaneethakrishnan, Kogilavani Shanmugavadivel, Sajeetha Thavareesan, Sathiyaraj Thangasamy, Parameswari Krishnamurthy, Adeep Hande, Sean Benhur, Kishor Kumar Ponnusamy, and Santhiya Pandiyan. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Emotion Analysis in Tamil. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Speech and Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages*. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Sunil Saumya, Abhinav Kumar, and Jyoti Prakash Singh. 2021. Offensive language identification in Dravidian code mixed social media text. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Speech and Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages*, pages 36–45.
- Megha Sharma and Gaurav Arora. 2021. Spartans@ LT-EDI-EACL2021: Inclusive speech detection using pretrained language models. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, pages 188–192.
- Pankaj Singh, Prince Kumar, and Pushpak Bhattacharyya. 2021. CFILT IIT Bombay@ LT-EDI-EACL2021: Hope speech detection for equality, diversity, and inclusion using multilingual representation fromtransformers. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, pages 193–196.
- S Thara, Ravi teja Tasubilli, et al. 2021. Amrita@ LT-EDI-EACL2021: Hope speech detection on multilingual text. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, pages 149–156.

# IIT Dhanbad @LT-EDI-ACL2022- Hope Speech Detection for Equality, **Diversity, and Inclusion**

visnesn Gupta	
Department of Computer	
Science and Engineering,	
Indian Institute of Technology	
(Indian School of Mines),	]
Dhanbad, India r	i

**Ritesh Kumar** 

Department of Computer Science and Engineering, National Institute of Fechnology Jamshedpur, India

# **Rajendra Pamula**

Department of Computer Science and Engineering, Indian Institute of Technology (Indian School of Mines), tesh.cse@nitjsr.ac.in Dhanbad, India rajendrapamula@gmail.com

me.guptavishesh@gmail.com

# Abstract

Hope is considered significant for the wellbeing, recuperation and restoration of human life by health professionals. Hope speech reflects the belief that one can discover pathways to their desired objectives and become roused to utilise those pathways. Hope speech offers support, reassurance, suggestions, inspiration and insight. Hate speech is a prevalent practice that society has to struggle with everyday. The freedom of speech and ease of anonymity granted by social media has also resulted in incitement to hatred. In this paper, we work to identify and promote positive and supportive content on these platforms. We work with several machine learning models to classify social media comments as hope speech or nonhope speech in English. This paper portrays our work for the Shared Task on Hope Speech Detection for Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion at LT-EDI-ACL 2022.

#### Introduction 1

Nowadays, social media has become a significant part of our lives and just like everything it has its pros and cons. Various benefits of social media come with several challenges including hate speech, offensive and profane content getting published targeting an individual, a group or a society. Social media has become a breeding ground for hate speech and cyberbullying (Chakravarthi, 2020; Chakravarthi and Muralidaran, 2021). Offensive content in online socialization have seriously affected daily life of people (Priyadharshini et al., 2021; Kumaresan et al., 2021; Chakravarthi et al., 2020). Social media companies such as, YouTube, Facebook, and Twitter have their own approaches to eliminate the hate speech content or anything which negatively affects the society. However, detecting such objectionable content at the earliest to curb the menace of spreading such news online is still a major challenge faced by social media companies and researchers (Chakravarthi

et al., 2021). It is very essential to detect such behaviour. The amount of data generated on social media sites can be estimated from the fact that, every second, on average, around 6,000 tweets are generated (Sakuntharaj and Mahesan, 2021, 2017, 2016; Thavareesan and Mahesan, 2019, 2020a,b, 2021). Content moderation of such a huge data is difficult to achieve exclusively through man power. Social networking sites are struggling with content moderation (Sampath et al., 2022; Ravikiran et al., 2022; Chakravarthi et al., 2022; Bharathi et al., 2022; Priyadharshini et al., 2022). Our work aims to change the prevalent way of thinking by moving away from a preoccupation with discrimination, loneliness or the worst things in life to building the confidence, support and good qualities based on comments by individuals.

In this paper, we have explored several machine learning models for classification of social media comments as hope speech or non-hope speech in English.

#### 2 **Related Works**

Several works have been proposed to detect hope speech across social platforms. (Puranik et al., 2021) proposed a work with several transformerbased models to classify social media comments as hope speech or not hope speech in English, Malayalam and Tamil languages. (Ghanghor et al., 2021) have used the transformer-based pretrained models along with the customized versions of those models for detecting hope and not hope speech for equality, diversity and inclusion in Dravidian languages.

(Upadhyay et al., 2021) experimented with two approaches. They used contextual embeddings to train classifiers using logistic regression, random forest, SVM, and LSTM based models. They also used a majority voting ensemble of 11 models which were obtained by fine-tuning pre-trained transformer models (BERT, ALBERT, RoBERTa, IndicBERT) after adding an output layer.

(Saumya and Mishra, 2021) proposed various machine learning and deep learning-based models (such as support vector machine, logistics regression, convolutional neural network, recurrent neural network) are employed to identify the hope speech in the given YouTube comments.The YouTube comments are available in English, Tamil, and Malayalam languages.

(Vijayaraghavan et al., 2021) proposed a deep neural multi-modal model that can: (a) detect hate speech by effectively capturing the semantics of the text along with socio-cultural context in which a particular hate expression is made, and (b) provide interpretable insights into decisions of their model. (Gomez et al., 2020) target the problem of hate speech detection in multimodal publications formed by a text and an image. They gather and annotate a large scale dataset from Twitter, MMHS150K, and propose different models that jointly analyze textual and visual information for hate speech detection, comparing them with unimodal detection.

(Chang, 1998) shows the influence of high versus low hope on problem-solving ability of college students. It show that high-hope students were found to have greater problem-solving abilities than lowhope students. (Youssef and Luthans, 2007) shows the impact of hope, optimism, and resilience in the workplace. The outcomes of there work includes performance, job satisfaction, work happiness, and organizational commitment. (Snyder and P) shows development and validation of an individual-differences measure of hope.

# **3** Task and Dataset Description

Here we have described the dataset and task provided by Hope Speech Detection for Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion challenge.

This is a comment / post level classification task.In this, Youtube comments are given and the systems submitted by us should classify it into 'Hope speech' and 'Not hope speech'. (shown in Table 1).

Here training, development and test data is given in English .Distributions of these data is shown in Table 2. The distributions of imbalanced classes in training data is shown in Table 3.

• Hope Speech (HS): Posts that offer support, reassurance, suggestions, inspiration and insight.

• Non Hope Speech (NHS): Posts that explicitly seeks violence and uses gender-based insults.

# 4 Methodology

# 4.1 Data Preprocessing

We have performed following steps in data preprocessing :-

- Puntuations, links and numbers removal.
- Lower the letter case.
- Tokenization.
- Turning the texts into sequences.
- Pad the sequences to have the same size.
- Balancing the given imbalanced dataset.

We have used Tokenizer class in TensorFlow for handling above process. The unknown token (UNK) is used when what remains of the token is not in the vocabulary, or if the token is too long.We have used post padding to pad the sequences. We have balanced the imbalanced classes of training data using Synthetic Minority Oversampling Technique (SMOTE)(Chawla et al., 2002) which uses KNN for balancing minority classes.Balanced training data is shown in Table 4.

# 4.2 Models Proposed

We have used various machine learning algorithms, namely- Logistic Regression (Wright, 1995), Multinomial Naive Bayes classifier (Kibriya et al., 2004), Random forest classifier (Liaw et al., 2002) and XGBoost (Ren et al., 2017). We have used the scikit-learn library for logistic regression, MultinomialNB and Random forest classifier. We have used the following values of the parameter :

- In Random Forest, we have used n estimators=1000 and random state=42.
- In XGBoost, we have used learning rate=0.01, max depth=50 and n estimators=300.

All the models have used balanced pre-processed training data for training and we have tested the models on the test data provided in challenge.

Text	Category
@Champions Again He got killed for using false money	Non hope speech
It's not that all lives don't matter	Non hope speech
she is not 60. He is 60	Non hope speech
I'm still hiding my gender to my parents and they don't know I'm dating someone.	Hope speech
Sasha Dumse God accepts everyone.	Hope speech
all lives matter .without that we never have peace so to me forever all lives matter.	Hope speech

Table 1:	Examples	of hope speech	or not hope	speech
----------	----------	----------------	-------------	--------

Туре	English	Classes	Counts
Training	22739	Non hope Speech	20777
Development	2841	Hope Speech	20777
Test	2843	Total	41554
Total	28423		

Table 2: Train-Development-Test Data Distribution

Classes	Counts
Non hope Speech	20777
Hope Speech	1962
Total	22739

Table 3: Imbalanced classes distribution in training data

#### 5 Result and Discussions

The results of task are represented in terms of Accuracy, Macro-F1, Micro-F1 and Weighted-F1 (shown in Table 5). The best score as Macro-F1 for the task we get is 0.6130. The XGBoost system have performed better than all other models. There is imbalance between the classes of test data due to which there is more differences between accuracy and Macro-F1 score of each system.

### 6 Conclusions and Future Work

We have completed the task using various classification algorithms and evaluated the performance of different classification algorithms for Hope Speech Detection for Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion shared task. Our overall best score is 0.6130. We look forward to experimenting with different advance algorithm or neural network models. We are also looking forward to work on random multi model classification algorithm for better accuracy and classification. Also, fine tuning the parameters of the algorithm can help in improvement of the overall performance. We shall be exploring these tasks in the coming days. Table 4: Balanced classes distribution in training data

#### References

- B Bharathi, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Subalalitha Chinnaudayar Navaneethakrishnan, N Sripriya, Arunaggiri Pandian, and Swetha Valli. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Speech Recognition for Vulnerable Individuals in Tamil. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion.* Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi. 2020. HopeEDI: A multilingual hope speech detection dataset for equality, diversity, and inclusion. In *Proceedings of the Third Workshop on Computational Modeling of People's Opinions, Personality, and Emotion's in Social Media*, pages 41–53, Barcelona, Spain (Online). Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi and Vigneshwaran Muralidaran. 2021. Findings of the shared task on hope speech detection for equality, diversity, and inclusion. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, pages 61–72, Kyiv. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Thenmozhi Durairaj, John Phillip McCrae, Paul Buitaleer, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, and Rahul Ponnusamy. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Homophobia Transphobia Detection in Social Media Comments. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Vigneshwaran Muralidaran, Shardul Suryawanshi, Navya Jose, Elizabeth Sherly, and John P McCrae. 2020. Overview of the track on sentiment analysis for Dravidian languages in code-mixed text. In *Forum for Information Retrieval Evaluation*, pages 21–24.

Algorithms	Accuracy(in percent)	F1-score-weighted	F1-score-micro	F1-score-macro
XGBooost	84.78	0.8608	0.8478	0.6130
Random Forest	86.15	0.8677	0.8615	0.6110
Multinomial NB	78.63	0.8181	0.7863	0.5503
Logistic Regression	81.06	0.8316	0.8106	0.5504

Table 5: Result

- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Rahul Ponnusamy, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, Kayalvizhi Sampath, Durairaj Thenmozhi, Sathiyaraj Thangasamy, Rajendran Nallathambi, and John Phillip McCrae. 2021. Dataset for identification of homophobia and transophobia in multilingual YouTube comments. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2109.00227*.
- E C Chang. 1998. Hope, problem-solving ability, and coping in a college student population: some implications for theory and practice. *J Clin Psychol*, 54(7):953–962.
- Nitesh V Chawla, Kevin W Bowyer, Lawrence O Hall, and W Philip Kegelmeyer. 2002. Smote: synthetic minority over-sampling technique. *Journal of artificial intelligence research*, 16:321–357.
- Nikhil Ghanghor, Rahul Ponnusamy, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, Ruba Priyadharshini, Sajeetha Thavareesan, and Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi. 2021. Iiitk@ lt-edi-eacl2021: Hope speech detection for equality, diversity, and inclusion in tamil, malayalam and english. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, pages 197–203.
- Raul Gomez, Jaume Gibert, Lluis Gomez, and Dimosthenis Karatzas. 2020. Exploring hate speech detection in multimodal publications. In *Proceedings of the IEEE/CVF Winter Conference on Applications of Computer Vision (WACV)*.
- Ashraf M Kibriya, Eibe Frank, Bernhard Pfahringer, and Geoffrey Holmes. 2004. Multinomial naive bayes for text categorization revisited. In *Australasian Joint Conference on Artificial Intelligence*, pages 488–499. Springer.
- Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, Ratnasingam Sakuntharaj, Sajeetha Thavareesan, Subalalitha Navaneethakrishnan, Anand Kumar Madasamy, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, and John P McCrae. 2021. Findings of shared task on offensive language identification in Tamil and Malayalam. In *Forum for Information Retrieval Evaluation*, pages 16–18.
- Andy Liaw, Matthew Wiener, et al. 2002. Classification and regression by randomforest. *R news*, 2(3):18–22.
- Ruba Priyadharshini, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Subalalitha Chinnaudayar Navaneethakrishnan, Thenmozhi Durairaj, Malliga Subramanian, Kogilavani Shanmugavadivel, Siddhanth U Hegde, and

Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Abusive Comment Detection in Tamil. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Speech and Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages*. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Ruba Priyadharshini, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Sajeetha Thavareesan, Dhivya Chinnappa, Durairaj Thenmozhi, and Rahul Ponnusamy. 2021. Overview of the DravidianCodeMix 2021 shared task on sentiment detection in Tamil, Malayalam, and Kannada. In *Forum for Information Retrieval Evaluation*, pages 4–6.
- Karthik Puranik, Adeep Hande, Ruba Priyadharshini, Sajeetha Thavareesan, and Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi. 2021. Iiitt@ lt-edi-eacl2021-hope speech detection: there is always hope in transformers. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2104.09066*.
- Manikandan Ravikiran, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Anand Kumar Madasamy, Sangeetha Sivanesan, Ratnavel Rajalakshmi, Sajeetha Thavareesan, Rahul Ponnusamy, and Shankar Mahadevan. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Offensive Span Identification in code-mixed Tamil-English comments. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Speech and Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages*. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Xudie Ren, Haonan Guo, Shenghong Li, Shilin Wang, and Jianhua Li. 2017. A novel image classification method with cnn-xgboost model. In *International Workshop on Digital Watermarking*, pages 378–390. Springer.
- Ratnasingam Sakuntharaj and Sinnathamby Mahesan. 2016. A novel hybrid approach to detect and correct spelling in Tamil text. In 2016 IEEE International Conference on Information and Automation for Sustainability (ICIAfS), pages 1–6.
- Ratnasingam Sakuntharaj and Sinnathamby Mahesan. 2017. Use of a novel hash-table for speeding-up suggestions for misspelt Tamil words. In 2017 IEEE International Conference on Industrial and Information Systems (ICIIS), pages 1–5.
- Ratnasingam Sakuntharaj and Sinnathamby Mahesan. 2021. Missing word detection and correction based on context of Tamil sentences using n-grams. In 2021 10th International Conference on Information and Automation for Sustainability (ICIAfS), pages 42–47.

- Anbukkarasi Sampath, Thenmozhi Durairaj, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Subalalitha Chinnaudayar Navaneethakrishnan, Kogilavani Shanmugavadivel, Sajeetha Thavareesan, Sathiyaraj Thangasamy, Parameswari Krishnamurthy, Adeep Hande, Sean Benhur, Kishor Kumar Ponnusamy, and Santhiya Pandiyan. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Emotion Analysis in Tamil. In Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Speech and Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Sunil Saumya and Ankit Kumar Mishra. 2021. IIIT\_DWD@LT-EDI-EACL2021: Hope speech detection in YouTube multilingual comments. In Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion, pages 107–113, Kyiv. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Harris C. Anderson J. R. Holleran S. A. Irving L. M. Sigmon S. T. Yoshinobu L. Gibb J. Langelle C. Snyder, C. R. and Harney P. The will and the ways: Development and validation of an individual-differences measure of hope. journal of personality and social psychology, 60(4), 570–585.
- Sajeetha Thavareesan and Sinnathamby Mahesan. 2019. Sentiment analysis in Tamil texts: A study on machine learning techniques and feature representation. In 2019 14th Conference on Industrial and Information Systems (ICIIS), pages 320–325.
- Sajeetha Thavareesan and Sinnathamby Mahesan. 2020a. Sentiment lexicon expansion using Word2vec and fastText for sentiment prediction in Tamil texts. In 2020 Moratuwa Engineering Research Conference (MERCon), pages 272–276.
- Sajeetha Thavareesan and Sinnathamby Mahesan. 2020b. Word embedding-based part of speech tagging in Tamil texts. In 2020 IEEE 15th International Conference on Industrial and Information Systems (ICIIS), pages 478–482.
- Sajeetha Thavareesan and Sinnathamby Mahesan. 2021. Sentiment analysis in Tamil texts using k-means and k-nearest neighbour. In 2021 10th International Conference on Information and Automation for Sustainability (ICIAfS), pages 48–53.
- Ishan Sanjeev Upadhyay, Nikhil E, Anshul Wadhawan, and Radhika Mamidi. 2021. Hopeful\_men@lt-edieacl2021: Hope speech detection using indic transliteration and transformers. *CoRR*, abs/2102.12082.
- Prashanth Vijayaraghavan, Hugo Larochelle, and Deb Roy. 2021. Interpretable multi-modal hate speech detection. *CoRR*, abs/2103.01616.
- Raymond E Wright. 1995. Logistic regression.
- Carolyn M. Youssef and Fred Luthans. 2007. Positive organizational behavior in the workplace: The impact of hope, optimism, and resilience. *Journal of Management*, 33(5):774–800.

# IISERB@LT-EDI-ACL2022: A Bag of Words and Document Embeddings Based Framework to Identify Severity of Depression Over Social Media

**Tanmay Basu** 

Department of Data Science and Engineering Indian Institute of Science Education and Research Bhopal, India tanmay@iiserb.ac.in

#### Abstract

The DepSign-LT-EDI-ACL2022 shared task focuses on early prediction of severity of depression over social media posts. The BioNLP group at Department of Data Science and Engineering in Indian Institute of Science Education and Research Bhopal (IISERB) has participated in this challenge and submitted three runs based on three different text mining models. The severity of depression were categorized into three classes, viz., no depression, moderate, and severe and the data to build models were released as part of this shared task. The objective of this work is to identify relevant features from the given social media texts for effective text classification. As part of our investigation, we explored features derived from text data using document embeddings technique and simple bag of words model following different weighting schemes. Subsequently, adaptive boosting, logistic regression, random forest and support vector machine (SVM) classifiers were used to identify the scale of depression from the given texts. The experimental analysis on the given validation data show that the SVM classifier using the bag of words model following term frequency and inverse document frequency weighting scheme outperforms the other models for identifying depression. However, this framework could not achieve a place among the top ten runs of the shared task. This paper describes the potential of the proposed framework as well as the possible reasons behind mediocre performance on the given data.

# 1 Introduction

Early prediction of mental illness over social media is a new research area potentially applicable to a wide variety of situations such as identifying people having anxiety and depression over social media (Basu and Gkoutos, 2021). Depression is a common mental illness that involves sadness and lack of interest in day to day activities (Kayalvizhi and Thenmozhi, 2022; Sampath et al., 2022). Poor recognition and late treatment of depression may have serious consequences like heart failure (Cully et al., 2009). Early detection of depression is thus necessary. The information available over social media is a rich source for sentiment analysis or inferring mental health issues (Basu and Gkoutos, 2021). Many research works have been done in the last few years to examine the potential of social media as a tool for early detection of depression (De Choudhury et al., 2013; Hovy and Spruit, 2016; Benton et al., 2017; Paul et al., 2018; Basu and Gkoutos, 2021).

In the last few years, eRisk group, has organized a series of NLP shared-task for early prediction of different types of mental illnesses (Losada and Crestani, 2016; Losada et al., 2018, 2019, 2020, 2021). As part of these shared tasks, many machine learning based frameworks have been proposed for early prediction of depression using social media posts. Oliveira (Oliveira, 2020) proposed a model using SVM classifier with different types of hand-crafted features (i.e. bag of words, lexicons and behavioural patterns) to estimate the level of depressin using posts over Reddit. Alhuzali et al. used different pre-trained language models and random forest classifier for early detection of depression over Reddit posts (Alhuzali et al., 2021). Guangyao Shen proposed a new multimodal depressive dictionary learning model to detect depressed users on Twitter, and compared their solution with Naive Bayes classifier and multiple social Networking Learning (Shen et al., 2017).

The DepSign-LT-EDI-ACL2022 shared-task is focused on early prediction of severity of depression using Reddit posts, a popular social media (Sampath et al., 2022). The organizers released the Reddit posts of a set of users and the ground truths based on the severity of depression of a portion of the data were also released (Sampath et al., 2022; Kayalvizhi and Thenmozhi, 2022). There are three levels of severity, viz., no depression, moderate, and severe. The data with ground truths were further divided into training and validation set to build the model. The rest of the data without grounds truths were used as test set to evaluate the performance of the model.

We developed a generic text classification framework to identify the severity of depression from the given data without having any additional inputs from the clinical experts. The contributions of this paper are (a) explore the performance of different feature engineering schemes to derive relevant features from given Reddit posts, and (b) presenting a generic text classification framework to generate potential features from the given data to help improve the quality of severity of classification of depression.

# 2 Methodology

The text data contain the chats of different social media users over a period of time. The proposed framework relies on deriving textual features from the given data, and consists of two major steps as described below.

# 2.1 Feature Engineering

We explored different feature engineering schemes to identify relevant features from text data. The classical bag of words model and document embedding based features generated from the given text data were used in the proposed framework.

#### 2.1.1 Bag of Words Model

Initially, the unigrams, bigrams and trigrams were generated following the bag of words (BOW) model. Unigrams, bigrams and trigrams generated from sentences were used as features with the SVM classifier in the experimental analysis. A unigram considers all unique words in a sentence as features (Manning et al., 2008). On the other hand, a bigram or a trigram, considers only two or three consecutive words as a feature respectively (Manning et al., 2008). Both bigrams and trigrams were used in this framework since there are many terms in the training corpus e.g., severe depression, social anxiety, developing drug addiction etc. Such words should be conjoined for better analysis. Subsequently the document vectors were generated based on the following two different term weighting schemes.

quency (TF-IDF<sup>1</sup>) (Basu and Murthy, 2016) of the unigrams, bigrams and trigrams generated from the given text data were used as weight of such features. The weight of the  $i^{th}$ term in the  $j^{th}$  document, denoted by  $W_{ij}$ , is determined by multiplying the term frequency  $(tf_{ij})$  with the inverse document frequency  $(idf_i)$  as follows:

$$\begin{split} W_{ij} &= tf_{ij} \times idf_i = tf_{ij} \times log(\frac{n}{df_i}), \\ \forall i = 1, 2, ..., m \text{ and } \forall j = 1, 2, ..., n, \end{split}$$

where n be number of documents, m be the number of terms combining unigrams, bigrams and trigrams in the given training data and  $df_i$  is the document frequency i.e., the number of documents where the  $i^{th}$  term occurs.

b) Entropy<sup>2</sup> of the term frequency (Basu and Gkoutos, 2021; Sabbah et al., 2017) of individual unigrams, bigrams and trigrams generated from the given training data was also considered as the term weight. In this method, the weight of a term  $t_i$  in the  $j^{th}$  document, denoted by  $W_{ij}$ , is determined as follows:

$$W_{ij} = \log(tf_{ij} + 1) \times \left(1 + \frac{\sum_{j=1}^{n} P_{ij} \log P_{ij}}{\log(n+1)}\right),$$
  
where  $P_{ij} = \frac{tf_{ij}}{\sum_{j=1}^{n} tf_{ij}}$ 

Now it may be noted that the number of BOW features are generally high which makes the document vectors sparse. Therefore chi-square statistics (Basu and Murthy, 2016) were used on the set of BOW features and subsequently the best set of features were extracted by applying a predefined threshold on chi-square statistics score. We had done the experiments with different numbers of this threshold for the chi-square statistics on the training set using 10-fold cross validation technique. The threshold which generates the best performance on the training data was used to run on the given test data.

## 2.1.2 Document Embeddings

Furthermore, we have generated features using paragraph embeddings technique from the given

<sup>1)</sup> Term Frequency and Inverse Document Fre-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Scikit-learn TFIDF Transformer

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>https://radimrehurek.com/gensim/models/logentropy\_model.html

Table 1: Overview of Different Runs

Runs	Model	# Features
IISERB 1	Doc2Vec + RF	70
<b>IISERB 2</b>	Entropy Based BOW + LR	10000
<b>IISERB 3</b>	TF-IDF Based BOW + SVM	10000

data, which is also known as document embeddings or Doc2Vec model (Le and Mikolov, 2014). It was developed based on unsupervised Continuous Bag of Words (CBOW) and Skip-grams model, which expresses a word as a vector (Mikolov et al., 2013) using a given corpus. Doc2Vec model is an extension of CBOW and Skip-grams model and basically combines them to learn paragraph or document level embeddings (Le and Mikolov, 2014). It is implemented in Gensim<sup>3</sup>, a Python library. Here the model was built by training it using the given training corpus and a similar data released as part of the second shared task of eRisk 2021 (Losada et al., 2021). Therefore this model was used to generate the features for individual documents of the given validation and test data. The number of such features was fixed by performing 10-fold cross validation technique on the training data.

# 2.2 Text Classification Framework

Different text classification techniques viz., Adaptive Boosting (AB), Logistic Regression (LR), Random Forest (RF) and SVM were implemented to identify severity of depression in the given data. Each of these classifiers was implemented using three different types of features namely, Entropy based BOW features, TF-IDF based BOW features and Doc2Vec based features.

AB classification algorithm is an ensemble technique, which can combine many weak classifiers into one strong classifier (Freund et al., 1999). Linear SVM is widely used for text classification (Paul et al., 2018). SVM with linear kernel is recommended for text classification as the linear kernel performs well when there is a lot of features (Fan et al., 2008). Hence linear SVM was used in the experiments. RF is a popular classification method based on an ensemble of bootstrapped classification trees (Xu et al., 2012). The multinomial LR algorithm using LibLinear, a library for large-scale linear classification generally perfroms well for data with large features (Genkin et al., 2007).

## **3** Experimental Evaluation

#### 3.1 Experimental Setup

We have submitted three runs following three different models. The overview of the runs are given in Table 1. Initially, the combination of different classifiers and feature selection schemes were individually trained on the given training data and their performance were tested on the validation data. Three best models were chosen out of all the models executed on the validation set and these models were implemented on the test data and the results were submitted. The parameters of different classifiers are chosen following 10 fold cross validation method on the training corpus. The performance of these models were evaluated by using macro-averaged precision, recall and f-measure scores (Paul et al., 2018). AB, LR, RF and SVM classifiers were implemented in Scikit-learn<sup>4</sup>, a machine learning tool in Python (Basu and Gkoutos, 2021).

#### 3.2 Analysis of Results

We used three different types of features to evaluate the performance of four different classifiers on the validation set. The best result of each type of feature engineering scheme and for each classifier is reported in Table 2 in terms of macro-averaged precision, recall and f-measure. These results are useful to analyze the performance of different models. Thereafter, the best classifier for each type of feature in terms of f-measure in Table 2 was selected and subsequently implemented on the given test data. Eventually the performance of these three models on the test data were submitted as official results of our team.

It can be seen from Table 2 that LR performs better than all other classifiers for entropy based BOW features and SVM outperforms the other classifiers for TF-IDF based BOW features in terms of macroaveraged f-measure. Moreover for Doc2Vec based features, RF classifier performs better than all other classifiers. Therefore these three models were chosen based on their performance in Table 2 and ran them on the test corpus. The results of three runs on the test corpus in terms of macro-averaged precision, recall and f-measure are reported in Table 3. It may be noted here that the performance of these three runs are not reasonably well and hence none of these frameworks achieve a place in the top ten

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>https://radimrehurek.com/gensim/models/doc2vec.html

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>http://scikit-learn.org/stable/supervised\_learning.html

Feature Type and	PR*	RL*	FM*
Classifier			
BOW (Entropy) + AB	0.51	0.48	0.49
BOW (Entropy) + LR	0.55	0.52	0.53
BOW (Entropy) + RF	0.44	0.48	0.46
BOW (Entropy) + SVM	0.54	0.51	0.52
BOW (TF-IDF) + AB	0.50	0.47	0.48
BOW (TF-IDF) + LR	0.51	0.49	0.49
BOW (TF-IDF) + RF	0.46	0.51	0.48
BOW (TF-IDF) + SVM	0.54	0.50	0.51
Doc2Vec + AB	0.37	0.38	0.37
Doc2Vec + LR	0.46	0.47	0.46
Doc2Vec + RF	0.48	0.47	0.47
Doc2Vec + SVM	0.38	0.35	0.36

Table 2: Performance of Different Models on the Vali-<br/>dation Data

\*Here PR, RL and FM stands for precision, recall and fmeasure. Macro-averaged precision and recall are computed for each model and then the f-measure is computed using these macro-averaged precision and recall scores.

results of the shared-task.

The LR and SVM classifiers using BOW features generally perform well for text data. However, the BOW model can not achieve the semantic interpretation of the words in texts. Hence it could not perform very well for text data of social media posts as they contain irregular texts of diverse meaning. The document embedding model can get rid of this situation and therefore we used the Doc2Vec model to capture the semantic interpretation of the online texts. It can be observed from Table 2 that Doc2Vec based model could not perform well on the test corpus like the BOW model. The deep learning based models works well when trained on large corpora (Basu and Gkoutos, 2021). Here the Doc2Vec based model performs poorly as it was trained on the given training corpus and the corpus released as part of eRisk 2021 sharedtask for prediction of self-harm over social media (Losada et al., 2021), which are reasonably small in size.

# 4 Conclusion

The proposed framework relied on extracting different types of relevant text features, including unigrams, bigrams, trigrams and document embeddings to identify the scale of depression. The LR classifier using BOW features following TF-IDF based term weighting scheme achieved the best Table 3: Performance of Three Runs on the Test Data

Runs	Precision*	Recall*	F-measure*
IISERB 0	0.416	0.444	0.414
IISERB 1	0.430	0.465	0.437
IISERB 2	0.427	0.481	0.438

\*Macro-averaged precision and recall are computed for each run and then the f-measure is computed using these macroaveraged precision and recall scores.

performance on validation and test data in terms of macro-averaged f-measure. The performance of different models indicate that the combinations of different types of features are important rather than using a single type of feature set. It has been observed from the experimental results that the conventional BOW model performs better than the document embeddings on the test data. Note that we have developed the document embeddings based on the given training corpus, which has reasonably low number of documents in compare to the other pretrained deep learning based word embeddings e.g., Glove, which were trained on huge text collections. As a result the Doc2Vec model cannot properly identify the semantic interpretations of the given data and hence its performance is not as good as the BOW model. In future we plan to develop some pretrained transformer based embeddings for depression and other mental disorders by collecting documents over social media, Wikipedia and other relevant resources to improve the performance of such classification tasks.

#### Acknowledgements

This work is done as part of the seed funding (PPW/R&D/2010006) provided by Indian Institute of Science Education and Research Bhopal, India.

#### References

- Hassan Alhuzali, Tianlin Zhang, and Sophia Ananiadou. 2021. Predicting sign of depression via using frozen pre-trained models and random forest classifier. In *CLEF (Working Notes)*.
- Tanmay Basu and Georgios V Gkoutos. 2021. Exploring the performance of baseline text mining frameworks for early prediction of self harm over social media. In *In Proceedings of CLEF Working Notes*. Springer.
- Tanmay Basu and CA Murthy. 2016. A supervised term selection technique for effective text catego-

rization. International Journal of Machine Learning and Cybernetics, 7(5):877–892.

- Adrian Benton, Margaret Mitchell, and Dirk Hovy. 2017. Multi-task learning for mental health using social media text. arXiv preprint arXiv:1712.03538.
- Jeffrey A Cully, Daniel E Jimenez, Tracey A Ledoux, and Anita Deswal. 2009. Recognition and treatment of depression and anxiety symptoms in heart failure. *Primary care companion to the Journal of clinical psychiatry*, 11(3):103.
- Munmun De Choudhury, Michael Gamon, Scott Counts, and Eric Horvitz. 2013. Predicting depression via social media. *ICWSM*, 13:1–10.
- Rong-En Fan, Kai-Wei Chang, Cho-Jui Hsieh, Xiang-Rui Wang, and Chih-Jen Lin. 2008. Liblinear: A library for large linear classification. *Journal of machine learning research*, 9(Aug):1871–1874.
- Yoav Freund, Robert Schapire, and Naoki Abe. 1999. A short introduction to boosting. *Journal-Japanese Society For Artificial Intelligence*, 14(771-780):1612.
- Alexander Genkin, David D Lewis, and David Madigan. 2007. Large-scale bayesian logistic regression for text categorization. *Technometrics*, 49(3):291– 304.
- Dirk Hovy and Shannon L Spruit. 2016. The social impact of natural language processing. In *Proceedings of the 54th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 2: Short Papers)*, pages 591–598.
- S Kayalvizhi and D Thenmozhi. 2022. Data set creation and empirical analysis for detecting signs of depression from social media postings. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2202.03047*.
- Q. Le and T. Mikolov. 2014. Distributed representations of sentences and documents. In *Proceedings* of International Conference on Machine Learning, pages 1188–1196.
- David E Losada and Fabio Crestani. 2016. A test collection for research on depression and language use.
  In *International Conference of the Cross-Language Evaluation Forum for European Languages*, pages 28–39. Springer.
- David E. Losada, Fabio Crestani, and Javier Parapar. 2018. Overview of eRisk – Early Risk Prediction on the Internet. In *Experimental IR Meets Multilinguality, Multimodality, and Interaction. Proceedings of the Ninth International Conference of the CLEF Association (CLEF 2018)*, Avignon, France.
- David E Losada, Fabio Crestani, and Javier Parapar. 2019. Overview of erisk 2019: Early risk prediction on the internet. In *Proceedings of the International Conference of the Cross-Language Evaluation Forum for European Languages*, pages 340– 357. Springer.

- David E Losada, Fabio Crestani, and Javier Parapar. 2020. Overview of erisk 2020: Early risk prediction on the internet. In *Proceedings of the International Conference of the Cross-Language Evaluation Forum for European Languages*, pages 272– 287. Springer.
- David E Losada, Patricia Martin-Rodilla, Fabio Crestani, and Javier Parapar. 2021. Overview of erisk 2021: Early risk prediction on the internet. In *Proceedings of the International Conference of the Cross-Language Evaluation Forum for European Languages*. Springer.
- C. D. Manning, P. Raghavan, and H. Schutze. 2008. *Introduction to Information Retrieval*. Cambridge University Press, New York.
- T. Mikolov, I. Sutskever, K. Chen, G. S. Corrado, and J. Dean. 2013. Distributed representations of words and phrases and their compositionality. In *Proceedings of Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems*, pages 3111–3119.
- Luis Oliveira. 2020. Bioinfo@ uavr at erisk 2020: on the use of psycholinguistics features and machine learning for the classification and quantification of mental diseases. In *Proceedings of the CEUR Workshop Proceedings, Thessaloniki, Greece*, pages 22– 25.
- Sayanta Paul, Sree Kalyani Jandhyala, and Tanmay Basu. 2018. Early detection of signs of anorexia and depression over social media using effective machine learning frameworks. In *In Proceedings of CLEF Working Notes*.
- Thabit Sabbah, Ali Selamat, Md Hafiz Selamat, Fawaz S Al-Anzi, Enrique Herrera Viedma, Ondrej Krejcar, and Hamido Fujita. 2017. Modified frequency-based term weighting schemes for text classification. *Applied Soft Computing*, 58:193– 206.
- Kayalvizhi Sampath, Thenmozhi Durairaj, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, and Jerin Mahibha C. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Detecting Signs of Depression from Social Media. In Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Guangyao Shen, Jia Jia, Liqiang Nie, Fuli Feng, Cunjun Zhang, Tianrui Hu, Tat-Seng Chua, and Wenwu Zhu. 2017. Depression detection via harvesting social media: A multimodal dictionary learning solution. In *IJCAI*, pages 3838–3844.
- Baoxun Xu, Xiufeng Guo, Yunming Ye, and Jiefeng Cheng. 2012. An improved random forest classifier for text categorization. *JCP*, 7(12):2913–2920.

# SSNCSE\_NLP@LT-EDI-ACL2022: Homophobia/Transphobia Detection in Multiple Languages using SVM Classifiers and BERT-based Transformers

Krithika Swaminathan SSN College of Engineering krithika2010039@ssn.edu.in

Gayathri G L SSN College of Engineering gayathri2010090@ssn.edu.inn

# Abstract

Over the years, there has been a slow but steady change in the attitude of society towards different kinds of sexuality. However, on social media platforms, where people have the license to be anonymous, toxic comments targeted at homosexuals, transgenders and the LGBTQ+ community are not uncommon. Detection of homophobic comments on social media can be useful in making the internet a safer place for everyone. For this task, we used a combination of word embeddings and SVM Classifiers as well as some BERT-based transformers. We achieved a weighted F1-score of 0.93 on the English dataset, 0.75 on the Tamil dataset and 0.87 on the Tamil-English Code-Mixed dataset.

# 1 Introduction

Human beings have constantly tried to create an identity for themselves, and with the world becoming increasingly progressive, they have more freedom of choice in many spheres of life, including gender expressions and sexuality.(Cederved et al., 2021) However, the understanding of these concepts continues to gradually evolve, and despite various major social advancements in the last few years, LGBTQIA+ people face discrimination on the grounds of sexual orientation and gender identity.

Although social media has provided this minority with a platform to express themselves by sharing their experiences and build a strong, healthy community, there has been an increasing amount of general toxicity on the internet (Craig and McInroy, 2014). There has also been a spread of transphobic and homophobic comments through these online forums, due to the easy access to anonymity they provide, which ensures that these violators are never held accountable(McInroy and Craig, 2015)(Gámez-Guadix and Incera, 2021).

The need for the detection and filtering of such acerbic content in user-created online content is

Hrishik Sampath SSN College of Engineering hrishik2010483@ssn.edu.in

B. Bharathi SSN College of Engineering bharathib@ssn.edu.in

thus at an all-time high. However, the manual detection and flagging of certain words might be time-consuming and ineffective in the long run. The tendency of Tamil speakers to use code-mixed transliterated text also poses a challenge to the task.

In this paper, we examine various approaches for the classification of Tamil code-mixed comments into three categories, namely, Homophobic, Transphobic and Non-anti-LGBT+ content as a part of the shared task Homophobia/Transphobia Detection @ LT-EDI-ACL2022 (Chakravarthi et al., 2022a).

After tackling the data imbalance using sampling techniques, feature extraction using count vectorizer and tf-idf was done along with various classifiers. Another approach involved the usage of transformer models to classify the text. The same has also been analysed for English and Tamil datasets.

The remainder of the paper is organized as follows. Section 2 discusses related works according to this task. Section 3 analyses the given datasets. Section 4 outlines the methodology followed for the task. The results are presented in Section 5 and finally, a conclusion is delivered.

# 2 Related Work

The first formal defense of homosexuality was published in 1908 (Edsall, 1908). The 20th century witnessed many ups and downs in the progress of social acceptance of sexual minorities. Various studies on the existence of different sexualities have been conducted such as (Ventriglio and Bhugra, 2019), (Francis et al., 2019), (Trinh, 2022) and (Kiesling, 2019), and it has been observed that there has been a positive shift in the attitude of the general public towards homosexuality (Cheng et al., 2016) (Mathews et al., 1986). More recently, the LGBTQ+ movement has picked up and has gained many followers through social media. Several people have worked on the task of using machine learning to identify and filter out hurtful comments, thus aiding in the battle against homophobic/transphobic sentiments. Some of the early works in this field include (Mandl et al., 2020) and (Díaz-Torres et al., 2020), in which offensive language is identified in multiple Indian languages as well as some foreign languages. In (Pereira, 2018), homophobia was predicted in Portuguese tweets using supervised machine learning and sentiment analysis techniques. A wide range of techniques was utilised in this study, some of which include Naive Bayes, Random Forest and Support Vector Machines. The models were combined using voting and stacking, with the best results being obtained through voting using 10 models. (Chakravarthi et al., 2021) presents an expertlabelled dataset and various machine learning models for the identification and classification of Homophobia and Transphobia in multilingual YouTube Comments. In (Chakravarthi et al., 2022b), sentiment analysis and offensive language detection were performed for Dravidian languages in codemixed text, which are super-sets of the Homophobia/Transphobia detection task. In this paper, an experimentation of a number of machine learning algorithms such as SVM, MNB, KNN, Decision Tree, Random Forest and some BERT-based transformers, was done.

In our work, we have put forward a comparison of some of the most popular models for this area of research and estimated the top three models for each language in the datasets given for this task.

# 3 Dataset Analysis and Preprocessing

Category	English	Tamil	Tamil-English
Homophobic	276	723	465
Transphobic	13	233	184
Non-anti-LGBT+ content	4657	3205	5385
Total	4946	4161	6034

Table 1: Data distribution of training dataset

The three datasets given for this Homophobia/Transphobia Detection task are sets of comments from social media platforms, primarily YouTube, with the data given in the languages English, Tamil and Tamil-English code-mixed. The comments in these datasets are classified into one of these three categories - Homophobic, Transphobic and Non-anti-LGBT+ content. Table 1 outlines the data distribution of each training dataset. Most of the comments in these datasets do not extend beyond a single sentence and the average number of sentences in each comment is close to 1.

All three datasets are highly imbalanced with respect to the categorisation classes. Considering this imbalance in the data distribution, it is expected that training a model on these datasets would give rise to a bias in the predictions towards the dominant category class in each dataset. Figure 1 illustrates the highly disproportionate distribution of data in each of the given datasets.



Figure 1: Graphical representation of data distribution

The given raw datasets may contain inconsistencies in their data or may contain unnecessary data. Before feeding the data to the required algorithm, it is therefore important to clean the datasets. This cleansing of the datasets is carried out by removing punctuation, special characters and excess words that semantically contribute nothing to the overall mood of each comment.

# 4 Methodology

As part of our experimental setup, various classifier models were applied to the processed data after extracting the necessary features from it. For each dataset, three models that worked best for the language under consideration were chosen to predict the classification results for comments collected in that language.

For reference, the models under consideration for the English dataset have been listed in Table 6 and Table 7 along with their performance on the development data. Similarly, the performance of the models for the Tamil dataset has been tabulated in Table 8 and Table 9, and their performance on the Tamil-English dataset has been illustrated in Table 10 and Table 11.
Feature	Classifier	Precision	Recall	F1-score	Accuracy
Count vectorizer	SVM	0.51	0.38	0.40	0.93
Indo Aryan XLM R-Base transformer	SVM	0.53	0.39	0.42	0.93
Average_word_embeddings_glove_6B_300d	SVM	0.54	0.40	0.44	0.94

Table 2: Performance of the proposed approach of English text using dev data

Feature	Classifier	Precision	Recall	F1-score	Accuracy
Count vectorizer	SVM	0.86	0.66	0.73	0.89
TF-IDF	SVM	0.88	0.84	0.86	0.94
Transformer monsoon-nlp/tamillion	-	0.56	0.60	0.58	0.90

Table 3: Performance of the proposed approach of Tamil text using dev data

### 4.1 Embedding

Embedding is used to encode the meaning of words in a text by transforming them into real-valued vectors. After successful embedding, words with similar meanings are found to be grouped together. For this task, we experimented using some BERTbased sentence transformer models and word embeddings.

# 4.2 Feature extraction

A feature is a unique property of a text by which it can be measured or quantified. Feature extraction helps to reduce the complexity of dataset on which a model is to be trained. Numeric encoding of the text is done as a part of this process.

# 4.2.1 Feature extraction using Count vectorizer

The Count Vectorizer is used to tokenize a set of texts by converting the collection of texts to a vector of token counts. The strategies of tokenization, counting and normalization are together called as the n-gram representation.

# 4.2.2 Feature extraction using TF-IDF

TF-IDF, which stands for term frequency-inverse document frequency, is a method of quantifying a sentence based on the words in it. Each row is vectorized using a technique in which a score is computed for each word to signify their importance in the text. The score for commonly used words is decreased while the score for rare words is increased.

# 4.3 Models applied

Some models that we experimented on for this task include Classifiers such as SVM, NLP, random forest and K-nearest neighbours, and some simple transformers like LaBSE, tamillion and IndicBERT. These experiments were conducted for English, Tamil and Tamil-English code-mixed data. The best models observed were selected to generate the performance scores for the data sets.

# 5 Observations

It was found that certain models or combinations of models outperform others for each dataset under scrutiny. The performance results for each chosen model are presented in the tables given below.

This task is evaluated on the macro averages of three performance metrics - Precision, Recall and F1-score. The scores achieved for this Homophobia Detection task are tabulated below in Table 5.

# 5.1 English dataset

After the required features were extracted, they were trained with different machine learning models. The models were then evaluated using the development data. The performance of the chosen models on the development data of the English dataset is depicted in Table 2.

Our submission secured the 11th rank in Task B, i.e., Homophobia/Transphobia Detection on an English dataset. Our model procured a macro F1-Score of 0.37 and a weighted F-score of 0.93.

### 5.2 Tamil dataset

After the required features were extracted, they were trained with different machine learning models. The models were then evaluated using the development data. The performance of the chosen models on the development data of the Tamil dataset is depicted in Table 3.

Our submission secured the 9th rank in Task B, i.e., Homophobia/Transphobia Detection on a

Feature	Classifier	Precision	Recall	F1-score	Accuracy
Count vectorizer	SVM	0.71	0.44	0.48	0.90
TF-IDF	SVM	0.67	0.54	0.58	0.89
Transformer setu4993/LaBSE	-	0.70	0.50	0.55	0.90

Table 4: Performance of the proposed approach of Tamil-English text using dev data

Dataset	Accuracy	macro	macro	macro	Weighted	Weighted	Weighted	Rank
		Precision	Recall	F1-score	Precision	Recall	F1-score	
English	-	0.93	0.48	0.37	0.39	0.91	0.93	11
Tamil	0.77	0.55	0.47	0.50	0.74	0.77	0.75	9
Tamil-English	0.89	0.66	0.43	0.47	0.87	0.89	0.87	9

Table 5: Performance scores for the Homophobia Detection task

Tamil dataset. Our model procured a macro F1-Score of 0.50 and a weighted F-score of 0.75.

### 5.3 Tamil-English dataset

After the required features were extracted, they were trained with different machine learning models. The models were then evaluated using the development data. The performance of the chosen models on the development data of the Tamil-English code-mixed dataset is depicted in Table 4.

Our submission secured the 9th rank in Task B, i.e., Homophobia/Transphobia Detection on a Tamil-English code-mixed dataset. Our model procured a macro F1-Score of 0.47 and a weighted F-score of 0.87.

### 5.4 Inferences

It is observed that each of the datasets is not very large and therefore, the number of training samples is limited. Almost all the classifier and transformer models used made highly accurate predictions on the English dataset. For the Tamil and Tamil-English code-mixed datasets, there is a significant variation in the performances of the different models used. It is evident that the SVM and MLP classifier models have similar good accuracy rates after performing some feature extraction, with SVM having a slight edge over MLP. The overall performance of the TF-IDF model is found to be slightly higher than that of the count vectorizer model. For the datasets with Tamil text, sentence transformers pre-trained for multilingual texts performed well. The LaBSE model was found to work particularly well for Tamil text. In summary, the SVM classifier model and the LaBSE transformer model yielded the best results for this classification task.

# Conclusion

In this study, we have presented a comparison of different models for the LT-EDI-ACL 2022 shared task on homophobia detection. It was observed that average word embeddings along with the SVM Classifier worked the best for English text and that a combination of the tf-idf vectorizer and the SVM Classifier performed well on Tamil text. A language agnostic model called LaBSE worked best for Tamil-English code-mixed text. These results can further be improved by using suitable embeddings for each model and employing better preprocessing techniques.

### References

- Catarina Cederved, Stinne Glasdam, and Sigrid Stjernswärd. 2021. A clash of sexual gender norms and understandings: A qualitative study of homosexual, bisexual, transgender, and queer adolescents' experiences in junior high schools. *Journal of Adolescent Research*, page 07435584211043290.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Thenmozhi Durairaj, John Phillip McCrae, Paul Buitaleer, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, and Rahul Ponnusamy. 2022a. Findings of the shared task on Homophobia Transphobia Detection in Social Media Comments. In Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Vigneshwaran Muralidaran, Navya Jose, Shardul Suryawanshi, Elizabeth Sherly, and John P McCrae. 2022b. Dravidiancodemix: Sentiment analysis and offensive language identification dataset for dravidian languages in code-mixed text. *Language Resources and Evaluation*, pages 1–42.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Rahul Ponnusamy, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan,

S.No.	Feature Extraction	Classifier	Precision	Recall	F1-score	Accuracy
1	Count Vectorizer	SVM	0.51	0.38	0.40	0.93
2	Count Vectorizer	K nearest neigh-	0.53	0.36	0.36	0.92
		bour				
3	Count Vectorizer	MLP Classifier	0.52	0.40	0.43	0.92
4	TF-IDF	SVM	0.48	0.38	0.40	0.92
5	TF-IDF	K nearest neigh-	0.44	0.37	0.38	0.92
		bour				
6	TF-IDF	MLP Classifier	0.48	0.34	0.33	0.92

Table 6: Performance of the selected classifier models on English text using dev data

S.No.	Pre-trained model	Precision	Recall	F1-score	Accuracy
1	distilbert-base-uncased-	0.43	0.44	0.43	0.90
	finetuned-sst-2-english				
2	Indo-Aryan-XLM-R-Base	0.53	0.39	0.42	0.93
3	average_word_embeddings_	0.48	0.34	0.33	0.94
	glove.6B.300d				

Table 7: Performance of the selected transformer models on English text using dev data

S.No.	<b>Feature Extraction</b>	Classifier	Precision	Recall	F1-score	Accuracy
1	Count Vectorizer	SVM	0.86	0.66	0.73	0.89
2	Count Vectorizer	K nearest neigh-	0.58	0.53	0.54	0.75
		bour				
3	Count Vectorizer	MLP Classifier	0.89	0.78	0.82	0.93
4	TF-IDF	SVM	0.88	0.84	0.86	0.94
5	TF-IDF	K nearest neigh-	0.61	0.64	0.59	0.76
		bour				
6	TF-IDF	MLP Classifier	0.80	0.90	0.73	0.90

Table 8: Performance of the selected classifier models on Tamil text using dev data

S.No.	Pre-trained model	Precision	Recall	F1-score	Accuracy
1	bert-base-multilingual-uncased	0.84	0.52	0.54	0.84
2	setu4993/LaBSE	0.86	0.88	0.87	0.94
3	monsoon-nlp/tamillion	0.56	0.60	0.58	0.90

Table 9: Performance of the selected transformer models on Tamil text using dev data

Kayalvizhi Sampath, Durairaj Thenmozhi, Sathiyaraj Thangasamy, Rajendran Nallathambi, and John Phillip McCrae. 2021. Dataset for identification of homophobia and transophobia in multilingual youtube comments. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2109.00227*.

- Yen-hsin Alice Cheng, Fen-Chieh Felice Wu, and Amy Adamczyk. 2016. Changing attitudes toward homosexuality in taiwan, 1995–2012. *Chinese Sociological Review*, 48(4):317–345.
- Shelley L Craig and Lauren McInroy. 2014. You can form a part of yourself online: The influence of new media on identity development and coming out

for lgbtq youth. *Journal of Gay & Lesbian Mental Health*, 18(1):95–109.

María José Díaz-Torres, Paulina Alejandra Morán-Méndez, Luis Villasenor-Pineda, Manuel Montes, Juan Aguilera, and Luis Meneses-Lerín. 2020. Automatic detection of offensive language in social media: Defining linguistic criteria to build a mexican spanish dataset. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Trolling, Aggression and Cyberbullying*, pages 132–136.

Nicholas C. Edsall. 1908. Toward Stonewall: Homosexuality and Society in the Modern Western World.

Dennis A Francis, Anthony Brown, John McAllister,

S.No.	Feature Extraction	Classifier	Precision	Recall	F1-score	Accuracy
1	Count Vectorizer	SVM	0.71	0.44	0.48	0.90
2	Count Vectorizer	K nearest neigh-	0.55	0.41	0.44	0.88
		bour				
3	Count Vectorizer	MLP Classifier	0.69	0.45	0.50	0.89
4	TF-IDF	SVM	0.67	0.54	0.58	0.89
5	TF-IDF	K nearest neigh-	0.68	0.43	0.47	0.86
		bour				
6	TF-IDF	MLP Classifier	0.73	0.39	0.41	0.89

Table 10: Performance of the selected classifier models on Tamil-English text using dev data

S.No.	Pre-trained model	Precision	Recall	F1-score	Accuracy
1	bert-base-multilingual-uncased	0.38	0.37	0.37	0.88
2	setu4993/LaBSE	0.70	0.50	0.55	0.90
3	monsoon-nlp/tamillion	0.35	0.34	0.33	0.89

Table 11: Performance of the selected transformer models on Tamil-English text using dev data

Sethunya T Mosime, Glodean TQ Thani, Finn Reygan, Bethusile Dlamini, Lineo Nogela, and Marguerite Muller. 2019. A five country study of gender and sexuality diversity and schooling in southern africa. *Africa Education Review*, 16(1):19–39.

- Manuel Gámez-Guadix and Daniel Incera. 2021. Homophobia is online: Sexual victimization and risks on the internet and mental health among bisexual, homosexual, pansexual, asexual, and queer adolescents. *Computers in human behavior*, 119:106728.
- Scott F Kiesling. 2019. Language, Gender, and Sexuality: An Introduction. Routledge.
- Thomas Mandl, Sandip Modha, Anand Kumar M, and Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi. 2020. Overview of the hasoc track at fire 2020: Hate speech and offensive language identification in tamil, malayalam, hindi, english and german. In *Forum for Information Retrieval Evaluation*, pages 29–32.
- William C Mathews, Mary W Booth, John D Turner, and Lois Kessler. 1986. Physicians' attitudes toward homosexuality–survey of a california county medical society. *Western Journal of Medicine*, 144(1):106.
- Lauren B McInroy and Shelley L Craig. 2015. Transgender representation in offline and online media: Lgbtq youth perspectives. *Journal of Human Behavior in the Social Environment*, 25(6):606–617.
- Vinicius Gomes Pereira. 2018. Using supervised machine learning and sentiment analysis techniques to predict homophobia in portuguese tweets. Ph.D. thesis.
- Ethan Trinh. 2022. Supporting queer slife youth: Initial queer considerations. In *English and Students with Limited or Interrupted Formal Education*, pages 209–225. Springer.

Antonio Ventriglio and Dinesh Bhugra. 2019. Sexuality in the 21st century: Sexual fluidity. *East Asian Archives of Psychiatry*, 29(1):30–34.

# KUCST@LT-EDI-ACL2022: Detecting Signs of Depression from Social Media Text

Manex Agirrezabal and Janek Amann Centre for Language Technology Department of Nordic Studies and Linguistics University of Copenhagen manex.aguirrezabal@hum.ku.dk, ja@developdiverse.com

# Abstract

In this paper we present our approach for detecting signs of depression from social media text. Our model relies on word unigrams, partof-speech tags, readability measures and the use of first, second or third person and the number of words. Our best model obtained a macro F1-score of 0.439 and ranked 25th, out of 31 teams. We further take advantage of the interpretability of the Logistic Regression model and we make an attempt to interpret the model coefficients with the hope that these will be useful for further research on the topic.

# 1 Introduction

Depression<sup>1,2</sup> is a mental illness that affects to the 5% of adults. The *World Health Organization* states that depression is the leading cause of disability worldwide. Human beings have varying mood, but depression is a condition that affects further than solely the mood. Depending on the degree of intensity of its symptoms, it may become a serious health condition. In spite of the magnitude and risk, there is effective ways of treating mild, moderate and severe depression.

In this paper we present our attempt for automatically classifying whether a social media post shows signs of moderate or severe depression. This is part of the *Shared Task on Detecting Signs of Depression from Social Media Text* at the LT-EDI-2022 workshop (Sampath et al., 2022). All our code is available in the following repository.<sup>3</sup>

The paper is structured as follows. First we introduce some related work on the topic. Then, we introduce the data that we employed. We continue with the used features and the actual models that we trained. After that we present the results and briefly discuss the model coefficients, and finally we conclude the paper with some possible future directions.

# 2 Related work

There have been several attempts to model the language of people with depression. In some works the focus is on detection of social media posts from users with different degrees of depression and in some other cases, the goal was to analyze the language style of people with depression.

There is a large number of works that have attempted to detect depression from Social Media text. Some works employ Twitter (Coppersmith et al., 2015; De Choudhury et al., 2021; Cavazos-Rehg et al., 2016; Mowery et al., 2016; Pirina and Çöltekin, 2018; Tadesse et al., 2019) and they work with different degrees of granularity with depression or depression-related symptoms.

Other researchers have employed other social media that contain longer essays, such as Reddit (Ireland et al., 2020; Iavarone and Monreale, 2021) for the detection of depression, by employing posts of users that were self-reported to have depression. Reddit posts have been further employed for, for instance, Bipolar disorder detection (Sekulic et al., 2018) or anxiety detection (Shen and Rudzicz, 2017).

With regards to features, many works make use of the Linguistic Inquiry and Word Count (LIWC) (Pennebaker et al., 2007). As in other Natural Language Processing related tasks, models based on contextual word embeddings have shown a good performance for depression detection, e.g. (Martínez-Castaño et al., 2020). As they report, the performance of the model is high but the interpretability of the model could be improved.

Besides, the use of personal pronouns have been analyzed by many researchers. For instance in Rude et al. (2004), they analyzed the language

https://www.who.int/news-room/ fact-sheets/detail/depression

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>http://purl.bioontology.org/ontology/ SNOMEDCT/35489007

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>https://github.com/manexagirrezabal/ depression\_detection\_EDI2022



Figure 1: Histogram that shows the distribution of the length of social media posts in the current data set.

use of currently-depressed, formerly-depressed and never-depressed college students. Among other factors, they analyze the use of the first person pronoun "I" and they found that formerly-depressed and currently-depressed participants used the word "I" more often than the never-depressed participants. Furthermore, Tackman et al. (2019) claim that depressive symptomatology is manifested in a greater use of the first-person singular pronoun and find a small but reliable positive correlation between depression and I-talk.

# 3 Data

We make use of the data provided by the organizers of the shared task, built from Reddit posts (Sampath and Durairaj, 2022).<sup>4</sup> Some of these posts have no depression signs, others show moderate depression signs and finally, there are the ones that show severe depression signs. The dataset contains 8891 posts, from which the ones with no, moderate and severe depression signs are 1971, 6019 and 901, respectively. All posts are written in English. Figure 1 shows a histogram with the length of the posts.

### 4 Features and models

In this section we present the features that we employed. Many of the features have been widely used for text classification and authorship analysis.

Words. Bag of words as implemented by the CountVectorizer package from the scikit-learn library (Pedregosa et al., 2011). The expectation was that word usage might differ from depressed to non depressed users, and therefore, we expected that this feature would result beneficial.

**Pos-tags.** We also included part-of-speech tags among the employed features. But, we did not incorporate them as single counts, but we normalized them in a way that we got a probability distribution of pos-tags. We simply counted the frequency of each pos-tag in each post and then normalized them using the *softmax* function.

**Readability and style.** On top of that, we employ several readability and style related features as returned by a Python package called readability.<sup>5</sup> This package includes readability metrics, such as the Automated Readability Index (ARI), Coleman-Liau, Dale-Chall, and so on, <sup>6</sup> and some further stylistic features.

**Person and number.** In addition, following previous research on the topic, we also decided to include information about the usage of first person, second person or third person and also singular vs. plural word distribution. The difference of the usage ratio of the first person is visualized in Figure 2 for posts with different levels of depression signs. In order to calculate those, we used the stanza library (Qi et al., 2020).

# Example: *I am lost because I do not like them*.

In this example there are three words that express information in first person, there is one word that is in third person and there is no word expressing the second person. Therefore, the vector encoding this information would be (0.75, 0.0, 0.25). With regards to number, it finds that there are three singular form words and one expressing a plural form, thus the vector that encodes number will be (0.75, 0.25). The final vector representing person and number is a concatenation of the previous two vectors ([0.75, 0.0, 0.25, 0.75, 0.25]).

### Models

As our goal was not to test how well different models would perform for the task, we decided to keep it simple and train Logistic Regression models. The main reason for doing this is the interpretability of the model, as the Logistic Regression is a relatively simple model.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>https://competitions.codalab.org/ competitions/36410

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>https://github.com/andreasvc/ readability

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Please refer to the Github repository for a full list of outcomes.



Figure 2: Usage ratio of the first person in posts with no depression signs, moderate signs and severe signs.

We trained two different Logistic Regression models<sup>7,8</sup> with the following feature configuration:

- Model 1: Words, POS-tags, Readability and style
- Model 2: Words, POS-tags, Readability and style, Person and number

# 5 Results and Discussion

Our best model, the second one, obtained a macro F1-score of 0.4429 on the test data. The first model performed marginally worse with a macro F1-score of 0.439. When performing our own experiments based on the training data, using a balanced train/test split, we had observed a rather higher performance, from which we could say that our model does not generalize well enough.

From the results, and by comparing to the rest of participants, we can say that our model has several aspects to be improved. In the team wise classification our model ranked  $25^{th}$ , out of 31 teams.

As the logistic regression model features are interpretable, we decided to analyze them more thoroughly, with the hope that this analysis is helpful for further research. For this analysis, we used the second model that makes use of the all the features and they were obtained after training the model with all available training data. Figures 3, 4, 5 and 6 show the same sorted ranking of the features. In each figure we mark the position of the top 5 features, for each output class and for each feature template.<sup>9</sup>

Figure 4 shows that punctuation marks and nouns are can be good predictors. In figure 5 we can observe that the Flesch Reading Ease metric seems to be a good predictor together with the type token ratio. From figure 6 we can observe that the first person ratio and the plural ratio seems to have a rather high effect in at least two classes of posts, meaning that they could be good predictors. Finally, figure 3 shows the importance of the top 5 words. These last features seem to have more importance than other features. This is because the vectorizer for words<sup>10</sup> was used in the default configuration and no normalization was done afterwards (all other features had values between 0 and 1). This means that at the current stage we cannot compare the importance of specific features across feature templates based on the coefficients of the model.

All the observations regarding feature importance should be taken with a grain of salt. A better approach would be to use a bootstrapping approach, training several models from subsets of the training corpus and analyzing the weight importance among several of those models.

### 6 Conclusion and Future Work

In this paper we presented our attempt to classify whether a social media post from Reddit shows signs of depression. We employed simple features and a linear model and we made an attempt to interpret the learned coefficients. As mentioned above, the model has several aspects that could be improved given its performance. Below we outline some possibilities for further research.

Following recent advances in Natural Language Processing, we think that including a pretrained word embedding model, such as BERT (Devlin et al., 2019) would have positively contributed to the performance. These features could be additional features to the ones that we currently use or we could even fine-tune a pretrained model for this specific task.

Another aspect we believe that could improve

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>All parameters are set to the default values.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>https://scikit-learn.org/0.24/ modules/generated/sklearn.linear\_model. LogisticRegression.html

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>Our feature templates are words, POS-tags, readability & style and person & number.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>We used CountVectorizer from Scikit-Learn.



Figure 3: Sorted absolute values of Logistic Regression coefficients. We mark the rank of the top 5 features regarding words.



Figure 4: Sorted absolute values of Logistic Regression coefficients. We mark the rank of the top 5 features regarding POS tags.



Figure 5: Sorted absolute values of Logistic Regression coefficients. We mark the rank of the top 5 features regarding readability & style.



Figure 6: Sorted absolute values of Logistic Regression coefficients. We mark the rank of the top 5 features regarding person & number.

the model is to include further syntactic information. The use of dependency parsing is being currently tested, but besides, there is also an extension of the readability package<sup>11</sup>, where syntactic information is obtained.

In addition to that, we expect that including the average sentiment of a post could be a relevant feature. Furthermore, recent advances in structured sentiment analysis<sup>12,13</sup> (Barnes et al., 2022) could potentially reveal mood changes.

# References

- Jeremy Barnes, Laura Ana Maria Oberländer, Enrica Troiano, Andrey Kutuzov, Jan Buchmann, Rodrigo Agerri, Lilja Øvrelid, and Erik Velldal. 2022. SemEval-2022 task 10: Structured sentiment analysis. In *Proceedings of the 16th International Workshop on Semantic Evaluation (SemEval-2022)*, Seattle. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Patricia A. Cavazos-Rehg, Melissa J. Krauss, Shaina Sowles, Sarah Connolly, Carlos Rosas, Meghana Bharadwaj, and Laura J. Bierut. 2016. A content analysis of depression-related tweets. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 54:351–357.
- Glen Coppersmith, Mark Dredze, Craig Harman, Kristy Hollingshead, and Margaret Mitchell. 2015. CLPsych 2015 shared task: Depression and PTSD on Twitter. In Proceedings of the 2nd Workshop on Computational Linguistics and Clinical Psychology: From Linguistic Signal to Clinical Reality, pages 31–39, Denver, Colorado. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Munmun De Choudhury, Michael Gamon, Scott Counts, and Eric Horvitz. 2021. Predicting depression via social media. *Proceedings of the International AAAI Conference on Web and Social Media*, 7(1):128–137.
- Jacob Devlin, Ming-Wei Chang, Kenton Lee, and Kristina Toutanova. 2019. BERT: Pre-training of deep bidirectional transformers for language understanding. In Proceedings of the 2019 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Volume 1 (Long and Short Papers), pages 4171–4186, Minneapolis, Minnesota. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Benedetta Iavarone and Anna Monreale. 2021. From depression to suicidal discourse on reddit. In 2021 IEEE International Conference on Big Data (Big Data), pages 437–445.

- Molly Ireland, Jonathan Schler, Gilad Gecht, and Kate Niederhoffer. 2020. Profiling depression in neutral reddit posts: Prediction-insight tradeoffs and mental health technology applications.
- Rodrigo Martínez-Castaño, Amal Htait, Leif Azzopardi, and Yashar Moshfeghi. 2020. Early risk detection of self-harm and depression severity using bert-based transformers : ilab at clef erisk 2020. *CEUR Workshop Proceedings*, 2696. Working Notes of CLEF 2020 - Conference and Labs of the Evaluation Forum, Thessaloniki, Greece, September 22-25, 2020. urn:nbn:de:0074-2696-0.
- Danielle L. Mowery, Albert Park, Craig Bryan, and Mike Conway. 2016. Towards automatically classifying depressive symptoms from Twitter data for population health. In *Proceedings of the Workshop* on Computational Modeling of People's Opinions, Personality, and Emotions in Social Media (PEO-PLES), pages 182–191, Osaka, Japan. The COLING 2016 Organizing Committee.
- Fabian Pedregosa, Gaël Varoquaux, Alexandre Gramfort, Vincent Michel, Bertrand Thirion, Olivier Grisel, Mathieu Blondel, Gilles Louppe, Peter Prettenhofer, Ron Weiss, Ron J. Weiss, J. Vanderplas, Alexandre Passos, David Cournapeau, Matthieu Brucher, Matthieu Perrot, and E. Duchesnay. 2011. Scikit-learn: Machine learning in python. J. Mach. Learn. Res., 12:2825–2830.
- James W. Pennebaker, Roger John Booth, and Martha E. Francis. 2007. Linguistic inquiry and word count (liwc2007).
- Inna Pirina and Çağrı Çöltekin. 2018. Identifying depression on Reddit: The effect of training data. In Proceedings of the 2018 EMNLP Workshop SMM4H: The 3rd Social Media Mining for Health Applications Workshop & Shared Task, pages 9–12, Brussels, Belgium. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Peng Qi, Yuhao Zhang, Yuhui Zhang, Jason Bolton, and Christopher D. Manning. 2020. Stanza: A python natural language processing toolkit for many human languages. In Proceedings of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics: System Demonstrations, pages 101– 108, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Stephanie Rude, Eva-Maria Gortner, and James Pennebaker. 2004. Language use of depressed and depression-vulnerable college students. *Cognition and Emotion*, 18(8):1121–1133.
- Kayalvizhi Sampath and Thenmozhi Durairaj. 2022. Data set creation and empirical analysis for detecting signs of depression from social media postings. *CoRR*, abs/2202.03047.
- Kayalvizhi Sampath, Thenmozhi Durairaj, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, and Jerin Mahibha C.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>https://gist.github.com/andreasvc/ 1fcdcbc2a21d31722facd98e5f02d19a/ <sup>12</sup>https://competitions.codalab.org/

competitions/33556

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>https://github.com/jerbarnes/ semeval22\_structured\_sentiment

2022. Findings of the Shared Task on Detecting Signs of Depression from Social Media. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion.* Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Ivan Sekulic, Matej Gjurković, and Jan Šnajder. 2018. Not just depressed: Bipolar disorder prediction on Reddit. In Proceedings of the 9th Workshop on Computational Approaches to Subjectivity, Sentiment and Social Media Analysis, pages 72–78, Brussels, Belgium. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Judy Hanwen Shen and Frank Rudzicz. 2017. Detecting anxiety through Reddit. In *Proceedings of the Fourth Workshop on Computational Linguistics and Clinical Psychology — From Linguistic Signal to Clinical Reality*, pages 58–65, Vancouver, BC. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Allison Mary Tackman, David A Sbarra, Angela L. Carey, M. Brent Donnellan, Andrea B. Horn, Nicholas S. Holtzman, T. Edwards, James W. Pennebaker, and Matthias R. Mehl. 2019. Depression, negative emotionality, and self-referential language: A multi-lab, multi-measure, and multi-languagetask research synthesis. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 116:817–834.
- Michael M. Tadesse, Hongfei Lin, Bo Xu, and Liang Yang. 2019. Detection of depression-related posts in reddit social media forum. *IEEE Access*, 7:44883– 44893.

# *E8-IJS*@LT-EDI-ACL2022 - BERT, AutoML and Knowledge-graph backed Detection of Depression

Ilija Tavchioski\* Jožef Stefan Institute Jamova 39, Ljubljana ilijatavchioski@gmail.com

> Blaž Škrlj\* Jožef Stefan Institute Jamova 39, Ljubljana blaz.skrlj@ijs.si

# Abstract

Depression is a mental illness that negatively affects a person's well-being and can, if left untreated, lead to serious consequences such as suicide. Therefore, it is important to recognize the signs of depression early. In the last decade, social media has become one of the most common places to express one's feelings. Hence, there is a possibility of text processing and applying machine learning techniques to detect possible signs of depression. In this paper, we present our approaches to solving the shared task titled Detecting Signs of Depression from Social Media Text. We explore three different approaches to solve the challenge: finetuning BERT model, leveraging AutoML for the construction of features and classifier selection and finally, we explore latent spaces derived from the combination of textual and knowledge-based representations. We ranked 9th out of 31 teams in the competition. Our best solution, based on knowledge graph and textual representations, was 4.9% behind the best model in terms of Macro F1, and only 1.9%behind in terms of Recall.

# 1 Introduction

Depression is a type of mental illness that affects a large part of our society and is one of the most complex challenges facing our humanity. Since depression is a disease that, if left untreated, can lead to serious consequences such as suicide over time, its early detection is crucial. Since people with depression typically do not open up in person very often, they often see social media as a way to express their thoughts and feelings (Steger and Kashdan, 2009). This trend increased rapidly with Boshko Koloski\* Jožef Stefan Institute Jožef Stefan Institute IPS Ljubljana, Slovenia boshko.koloski@ijs.si

Senja Pollak Jožef Stefan Institute Jamova 39, Ljubljana senja.pollak@ijs.si

the COVID-19 pandemic due to restrictive measures that encouraged people to use social media as a means of expression. As the number of posts on social media has increased rapidly in recent years, there is a need to process them automatically to extract valuable information such as signs of depression. For this task, detecting signs of depression is a standard multi-class classification problem, where each post can be assigned to one of three classes ("non-depressive", "moderate", and "severe"). Increasing predictive accuracy may be critical for psychiatrists to detect the early signs of major depression to prevent further consequences. The remainder of this article is organized as follows: in Section 2, we discuss approaches to solve multi-class text classification problems and related work with data sets of social media posts on depression, in Section 3, we present the statistics of our given data, in Section 4, we explain the methods we used to solve the given problem, in Section 5, we present and analyze the results, and in Section 6, we provide the conclusion and present our plans for future work.

# 2 Related work

In related work, we can find various approaches to detecting depression from textual data including various social media.

One of the frequently used sources is **Twitter**. In one of the earlier studies of data from Twitter users who have attempted to take their life, Coppersmith et al. (2016) propose a logistic regression classifier using character *n*-gram character features. Leis et al. (2019) tackled the task of detecting depression in Spanish tweets and used occurrences of negative and positive words determined by Spanish Sentiment Lexicon (Pérez-Rosas et al., 2012) and

<sup>\*</sup> Equal contribution.

the Spanish SentiCon Lexicon (Cruz et al., 2014) as additional features. For Arabic, Almouzini et al. (2019) addressed the task of classifying Twitter posts as depressed or non-depressed. After text preprocessing and cleaning, the authors extract sparse features from tweets to construct feature vectors. The classification is done using four popular models: Random Forest (Liaw and Wiener, 2001), Naïve Bayes (Shukla and Shukla, 2015), AdaBoostM1 (Wang et al., 2014) and LibLinear SVM (Fan et al., 2008). Recently, there were also deep learning based approaches proposed for depression detection on Twitter data. For example, Mathur et al. (2020) use a Bidirectional Long Short Term Memory Recurrent Neural Network with Attention (Zhou et al., 2016) which produces a high performance on a data set consisting of over 30,000 English tweets. In the last years, also multimodal approaches have been explored. For example, Gui et al. (2019) propose the combination of visual and textual information in order to achieve better results. They model the problem as Markov Decision Process, solving it in reinforcement learning manner. For the text feature extraction, they consider learning custom embeddings via a bidirectional GRU network, for images they used the pre-trained VGGNet (Simonyan and Zisserman, 2014).

Another source of data is **Reddit**, as in our shared task. Trifan et al. (2020) use Term-Frequency Inverse-Document-Frequency features and various classification models, such as Support Vector Machine with Stochastic Gradient Descent and Multinominal Naive Bayes (Ahmed and Ghafir, 2019). Reddit was also the source of a study by Wolohan (2020) about the linguistic characteristics of depression during global pandemics. The authors analyze the increase of depression on the social platform and model the problem with FastText (Bojanowski et al., 2016) embeddings and employ LSTM networks to learn to detect depression in the data.

Next, the authors have also used **Facebook** data. For example, Wu et al. (2018) decided to generate content features by LSTM Neural Network expanding the quantity of information represented in the feature vectors. Merging these features with additional content, behavior, and living-based features are used for the construction of a standard deep neural network.

Finally, the authors also use **blogs**. Yuka Niimi (2021) tackled the problem of depression detection

Label	Train Set	Development Set
Not Depressed	1971 (22 %)	1830 (41 %)
Moderate	6019 (68 %)	2306 (51 %)
Severe	901 (10 %)	360 (8 %)
Size	8891	4496

Table 1: Label Distribution

in Japanese blogs. They firstly filter out the documents without significant topics via LDA and later produce LSA representation of the space and apply SVD to build classifiers.

# 3 Data description

The data set (Kayalvizhi et al., 2022) that is provided by the task's organizers consists of English posts from the Reddit social media platform, which includes more textual data compared to other social media platforms (Kayalvizhi and Thenmozhi, 2022). The posts belong to one of three given classes: "not depressed", "moderate" and "severe".

We use three data splits one for training, one for development, and one for testing. We used the development set for the internal evaluation of various models.

### 4 Methodology

In the following section, we will present the methods that were used along with the evaluation measures. For the given task we have developed three independent methods.

### **4.1 BERT**

We opted to fine-tune large pre-trained models based on BERT (Devlin et al., 2018), which often produce *state-of-the-art* results for various tasks. We tested several pre-trained BERT variants that we then fine-tune on the depression detection data provided by the organizers. We investigate **BERT End to end**, which is the base BERT model. Next, we experiment with a faster and smaller **distil-BERT** model (Sanh et al., 2019).Finally, we consider **RoBERTa** (Liu et al., 2019), which is a robustly optimized BERT pretraining approach trained over more data and on longer sequences.

For official submission, we opted for RoBERTa model with a train batch size of 32 in 10 epochs using the AdamW optimizer (Loshchilov and Hutter, 2017) which is the Adam optimizer (Kingma

and Ba, 2015) enriched with weight decay, also it is worth to notice that this particular model is case sensitive. We choose to use RoBERTa model over the other two BERT distributions due to its larger pretraining data and better performance when evaluated on the development set.

# 4.2 autoBOT

In our work for the second method we have considered for Automated Machine Learning, more precisely autoBOT (Automated Bag of Tokens) proposed by Škrlj et al. (2021). autoBOT is a system that can learn from different document representations while iteratively re-weighting the joined representation space. The core of the autoBOT system is the representation evolution, in which by re-weighting different document representations, including token, sub-word, and sentence-level features (contextual and non-contextual) the system is obtaining the final representation for the given task. There are two user inputs for this system: the amount of time for evolution and the kind of document representation. For our task, we have used autoBOT's configuration that it is using both symbolic and sub-symbolic features. The symbolic features are a set of features that are based on words, characters, part-of-speech tags, and keywords. The sparsity parameter for this configuration was 0.05which implies that the dimension of symbolic subspaces would be 10,250, because the default dense dimension is set to 512 and the sparsity presents the quotient of dense dimension and final dimension. We set the time constraint to 8 hours.

### 4.3 Knowledge Graphs

Knowledge-backed representation of documents has proven to be useful in text classification tasks (Koloski et al., 2022). We explore how these representations perform in the problem of the detection of depression. We first follow the original idea of the authors and generate standalone text and knowledge graph based representations.

# 4.3.1 Knowledge-graph features

We use the WikiData5m (Wang et al., 2021) dataset and match the concepts appearing both in the documents and the KG. Based on which representations the data catches, we utilize 6 different knowledge graph representations: transE (Bordes et al., 2013), rotatE (Sun et al., 2019), complEx (Trouillon et al., 2016), distmult (Yang et al., 2015), simplE (Kazemi and Poole, 2018), and quate (Zhang et al., 2019). We generate them from the pretrained embeddings with the GraphVite library (Zhu et al., 2019). The distribution of most-frequent concepts is shown in Figure 1.

### 4.3.2 Textual features

In order to generate textual representations we consider using two different type of representations, based on the ones used in (Koloski et al., 2021):

Latent Semantic Analysis: The original implementation first generates n-grams of word and character with maximum of n - feat features and then applies TruncatedSVD to reduce them to *dims*. We create a grid of *n*-feats and *dims*:

- n-feat  $\in [2500, 5000, 10000, 15000]$
- $dims \in [128, 256, 512, 768]$

**Contextual Features:** We use the distilBERT (*distilbert-base-nli-mean-tokens*) (Sanh et al., 2019) implemented as sentence-transformers (Reimers and Gurevych, 2019).

# 4.3.3 Learning of intermediate representations

We use two strategies for merging the aforementioned representations:

- **CN** Concatenation and normalization: we simply concatenate the generated KG and textual features, next we normalize them and finally search for a linear classifier.
- DR Dimensionality reduction: we first concatenate and normalize the given representations and later apply SVD (Halko et al., 2010) to obtain a new latent-space on which we later we learn a new classifier. We search for a new space in *dims* ∈ [128, 256, 512, 768, 1024, 2048].

# 4.3.4 Classifier selection

We decided for a linear classifier, based on Stochastic Gradient Descent optimizing two different loss functions *hinge* and *log*, while penalizing *elasticnet* with *alpha*  $\in$  [0.01, 0.001, 0.0001, 0.0005], *l1\_ratio* $\in$  [0.05, 0.25, 0.3, 0.6, 0.8, 0.95] and *power\_t*  $\in$  [0.5, 0.1, 0.9]. We performed *10-fold* cross-validation search of the grid to obtain the best-performing model on the training split of the data.



Figure 1: Distribution of the most-frequent concepts found in the WikiData5m knowledge graph and in the documents, grouped by the corresponding level of depression.

### 4.3.5 Final model configuration

For the final model we have configured the combination of all of the 6 KG (6 x 512dims) representations, LSA model from *n-feats* = 10.000 reduced to 512 dimensions and the sentence-transformer variant of distilBERT 768. We chose the **DR** type with the final dimensions reduced from 4352 to 512 dims via SVD. The best-performing classifier on this model was based on *log* loss function with *alpha*= 0.001 and *l1-ratio* of 0.08, with *power-t* of 0.05.

# 5 Evaluation

In this section, we represent the evaluation of our proposed approaches. We first showcase the evaluation of the development data set, followed by the evaluation of methods on the test split.

### 5.1 Evaluation measures

For evaluation of the methods, we used the measures that were proposed by the authors of the shared task. These include: accuracy, macro averaged recall, macro averaged precision and macro averaged F1-score.

### 5.2 Internal evaluation

In this subsection we describe the internal evaluation used in our approach.

### 5.2.1 Baseline methods

In order to evaluate the performance of our methods we introduce several baselines:

- **majority** Assign the class that has the majority in the data set.
- **char-ngrams** Best 1000 Tf-IDf features of char bigrams, trigrams, and quadgrams, in terms of term frequency.
- word-ngrams Best 1000 Tf-IDf features of word unigrams, bigrams, and trigrams, in terms of term frequency.
- **doc2vec** Doc2Vec (Lau and Baldwin, 2016) embeddings with vector's size of 512 and window's size of 5.

# 5.2.2 Results

In the Table 2 we present the results of various methods when trained on the training data and evaluated on the development set. One can see that from the BERT-based approaches, RoBERTa outperforms BERT-e2e approach. In terms of autoBOT we run only one configuration with maximum time execution of 2 hours, while for KG approach using dimensionality reduction leads to substantially better results than when using concatenation and normalization. The best setting of each method was selected for final evaluation on the official test set. At the internal evaluation, autoBOT

Method	Approach	Accuracy	Macro F1
baselines	majority	0.5129	0.2260
baselines	char-ngrams	0.5650	0.3727
baselines	word-ngrams	0.5472	0.3684
baselines	doc2vec	0.4466	0.4025
BERT	distlBERT	0.5261	0.4880
BERT	BERT-e2e	0.5476	0.5034
BERT	RoBERTa	0.5634	0.5287
autoBOT	autoBOT-2h	0.5723	0.5276
KG	CN	0.5827	0.4401
KG	DR	0.7341	0.8627

Table 2: Performance evaluation of models on the development set, measured by the accuracy and macro F1-score. The *Method* column represents the type of method as defined in *Section 4*. The *Approach* column represents the representation with respect to the method from *Method* column.

and RoBERTa methods achieved similar results in terms of macro-F1 metric, while the Knowledge Graph method outperformed them with a margin of 34% in terms of macro-F1 metric.

### 5.3 Evaluation on the official test set

In the following Table 3 we show the results obtained by each of our methods on the competition's official test set.

As expected based on our evaluation of the development set, the method based on the knowledge graph and document representations achieved the best performance in almost all of the evaluation metrics (except for the accuracy where the auto-BOT method has better performance). In comparison to the best-performing model of the competition, our team was 4.9% behind the top score in terms of best macro averaged F1-score (ranking 9th/31) and is only 1.9% behind the best Recall score (ranking 5th/31).

### 6 Conclusion and future work

In this paper, we explored three different approaches to address the task of detecting depression in a social media text. First, we leveraged the BERT family models, as they represent the state of the art for many text classification problems. Next, we investigated how AutoML approaches such as autoBOT perform on this task, where features are iteratively generated and selected via evolution strategies, and finally combined in the final representation. Finally, we studied how knowledgebased representations based on knowledge graph concepts that occur in a text and textual representations such as LSA and sentence transformers perform. We show that combined knowledge and textual representations outperform any of our other combinations and perform best. Our proposed solution yields good results in terms of macro F1, but it is 4.9% behind the leading model. For future work, we propose to develop ensembles of the previously created models to see how the combination of different feature types affects performance. Next, we propose to explore larger (like ConceptNet (Liu and Singh, 2004)) or more specific knowledge graphs (like medical knowledge graph (Li et al., 2020)) to improve the results. Finally, we propose the use of feature importance methods to see how outcomes are affected by each family of features and what insights this can give us about depression.

# 7 Availability

The code is available at https: //gitlab.com/tavchija/ acl-depression-ldi-2022.

# Acknowledgements

This work has been supported by the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation program under grants 825153 (EMBEDDIA). The work was also supported by the Slovenian Research Agency (ARRS) through core research programme *Knowledge Technologies* (P2-0103).

Method	Accuracy	Recall	Precision	Weighted F1-score	Macro F1-score
First Method (BERT)	0.5208	0.4953	0.5146	0.5360	0.4738
Second Method (autoBOT)	0.6407	0.4525	0.3721	0.5869	0.3680
Third Method (Knowledge Graphs)	0.6015	0.5714	0.5149	0.6140	0.5334

Table 3: Final evaluation of the scores, of the best-performing models. We have submitted the best-performing model from each group of methods.

### References

- Feroz Ahmed and Shabina Ghafir. 2019. Linear support vector machine (svm) with stochastic gradient descent (sgd) training and multinomial nave bayes (nb) in news classification. *International Journal of Computer Sciences and Engineering*, 7:360–363.
- Salma Almouzini, Maher Khemakhem, and Asem Alageel. 2019. Detecting arabic depressed users from twitter data. *Procedia Computer Science*, 163:257– 265.
- Piotr Bojanowski, Edouard Grave, Armand Joulin, and Tomás Mikolov. 2016. Enriching word vectors with subword information. *CoRR*, abs/1607.04606.
- Antoine Bordes, Nicolas Usunier, Alberto García-Durán, Jason Weston, and Oksana Yakhnenko. 2013. Translating embeddings for modeling multirelational data. In Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems 26: 27th Annual Conference on Neural Information Processing Systems 2013. Proceedings of a meeting held December 5-8, 2013, Lake Tahoe, Nevada, United States, pages 2787–2795.
- Glen Coppersmith, Kim Ngo, Ryan Leary, and Anthony Wood. 2016. Exploratory analysis of social media prior to a suicide attempt. In *Proceedings of the Third Workshop on Computational Linguistics and Clinical Psychology*, pages 106–117, San Diego, CA, USA. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Fermín L. Cruz, José A. Troyano, Beatriz Pontes, and F. Javier Ortega. 2014. Building layered, multilingual sentiment lexicons at synset and lemma levels. *Expert Systems With Applications*, 41(13):5984–5994.
- Jacob Devlin, Ming-Wei Chang, Kenton Lee, and Kristina Toutanova. 2018. BERT: pre-training of deep bidirectional transformers for language understanding. CoRR, abs/1810.04805.
- Rong-En Fan, Kai-Wei Chang, Cho-Jui Hsieh, Xiang-Rui Wang, and Chih-Jen Lin. 2008. Liblinear: a library for large linear classification. *Journal of Machine Learning Research*, 9:1871–1874.
- Tao Gui, Liang Zhu, Qi Zhang, Minlong Peng, Xu Zhou, Keyu Ding, and Zhigang Chen. 2019. Cooperative multimodal approach to depression detection in twitter. In *Proceedings of the AAAI conference on artificial intelligence*, volume 33, pages 110–117.
- Nathan Halko, Per-Gunnar Martinsson, and Joel A. Tropp. 2010. Finding structure with randomness: Probabilistic algorithms for constructing approximate matrix decompositions.
- S Kayalvizhi and D Thenmozhi. 2022. Data set creation and empirical analysis for detecting signs of depression from social media postings. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2202.03047*.
- S. Kayalvizhi, D. Thenmozhi, B. R. Chakravarthi, and Jerin Mahibha C. 2022. Findings of the shared task

on Detecting Signs of Depression from Social Media. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Seyed Mehran Kazemi and David Poole. 2018. Simple embedding for link prediction in knowledge graphs. In Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems 31: Annual Conference on Neural Information Processing Systems 2018, NeurIPS 2018, December 3-8, 2018, Montréal, Canada, pages 4289–4300.
- Diederik P. Kingma and Jimmy Ba. 2015. Adam: A method for stochastic optimization. *CoRR*, abs/1412.6980.
- Boshko Koloski, Timen Stepišnik-Perdih, Senja Pollak, and Blaž Škrlj. 2021. Identification of covid-19 related fake news via neural stacking. In *Combating Online Hostile Posts in Regional Languages during Emergency Situation*, pages 177–188, Cham. Springer International Publishing.
- Boshko Koloski, Timen Stepišnik Perdih, Marko Robnik-Šikonja, Senja Pollak, and Blaž Škrlj. 2022. Knowledge graph informed fake news classification via heterogeneous representation ensembles. *Neurocomputing*.
- Jey Han Lau and Timothy Baldwin. 2016. An empirical evaluation of doc2vec with practical insights into document embedding generation. *CoRR*, abs/1607.05368.
- Angela Leis, Francesco Ronzano, Miguel A Mayer, Laura I Furlong, and Ferran Sanz. 2019. Detecting signs of depression in tweets in spanish: Behavioral and linguistic analysis. *J Med Internet Res*, 21(6):e14199.
- Linfeng Li, Peng Wang, Jun Yan, Yao Wang, Simin Li, Jinpeng Jiang, Zhe Sun, Buzhou Tang, Tsung-Hui Chang, Shenghui Wang, and Yuting Liu. 2020. Realworld data medical knowledge graph: construction and applications. *Artificial Intelligence in Medicine*, 103:101817.
- Andy Liaw and Matthew Wiener. 2001. Classification and regression by randomforest. *Forest*, 23.
- H. Liu and P. Singh. 2004. Conceptnet a practical commonsense reasoning tool-kit. *BT Technology Journal*, 22(4):211–226.
- Yinhan Liu, Myle Ott, Naman Goyal, Jingfei Du, Mandar Joshi, Danqi Chen, Omer Levy, Mike Lewis, Luke Zettlemoyer, and Veselin Stoyanov. 2019. Roberta: A robustly optimized bert pretraining approach. Cite arxiv:1907.11692.
- Ilya Loshchilov and Frank Hutter. 2017. Fixing weight decay regularization in adam. *CoRR*, abs/1711.05101.

- Puneet Mathur, Ramit Sawhney, Shivang Chopra, Maitree Leekha, and Rajiv Ratn Shah. 2020. Utilizing temporal psycholinguistic cues for suicidal intent estimation. In *Advances in Information Retrieval*, pages 265–271, Cham. Springer International Publishing.
- Verónica Pérez-Rosas, Carmen Banea, and Rada Mihalcea. 2012. Learning sentiment lexicons in Spanish. In Proceedings of the Eighth International Conference on Language Resources and Evaluation (LREC'12), pages 3077–3081, Istanbul, Turkey. European Language Resources Association (ELRA).
- Nils Reimers and Iryna Gurevych. 2019. Sentence-bert: Sentence embeddings using siamese bert-networks. In *Proceedings of the 2019 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing*. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Victor Sanh, Lysandre Debut, Julien Chaumond, and Thomas Wolf. 2019. Distilbert, a distilled version of BERT: smaller, faster, cheaper and lighter. *CoRR*, abs/1910.01108.
- Ashish Shukla and Shweta Shukla. 2015. A survey on sentiment classification and analysis using data mining. *International Journal of Advanced Research in Computer Science*, 6(7).
- Karen Simonyan and Andrew Zisserman. 2014. Very deep convolutional networks for large-scale image recognition. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1409.1556*.
- Blaž Škrlj, Matej Martinc, Nada Lavrač, and Senja Pollak. 2021. autobot: evolving neuro-symbolic representations for explainable low resource text classification. *Machine Learning*.
- Michael F Steger and Todd B Kashdan. 2009. Depression and everyday social activity, belonging, and wellbeing. J. Couns. Psychol., 56(2):289–300.
- Zhiqing Sun, Zhi-Hong Deng, Jian-Yun Nie, and Jian Tang. 2019. Rotate: Knowledge graph embedding by relational rotation in complex space. In 7th International Conference on Learning Representations, ICLR 2019, New Orleans, LA, USA, May 6-9, 2019. OpenReview.net.
- Alina Trifan, Rui Antunes, Sérgio Matos, and Jose Luís Oliveira. 2020. Understanding depression from psycholinguistic patterns in social media texts. In *European Conference on Information Retrieval*, pages 402–409. Springer.
- Théo Trouillon, Johannes Welbl, Sebastian Riedel, Éric Gaussier, and Guillaume Bouchard. 2016. Complex embeddings for simple link prediction. In Proceedings of the 33nd International Conference on Machine Learning, ICML 2016, New York City, NY, USA, June 19-24, 2016, volume 48 of JMLR Workshop and Conference Proceedings, pages 2071–2080. JMLR.org.

- Gang Wang, Jianshan Sun, Jian Ma, Kaiquan Xu, and Jibao Gu. 2014. Sentiment classification: The contribution of ensemble learning. *Decision support* systems, 57(1):77–93.
- Xiaozhi Wang, Tianyu Gao, Zhaocheng Zhu, Zhengyan Zhang, Zhiyuan Liu, Juanzi Li, and Jian Tang. 2021. Kepler: A unified model for knowledge embedding and pre-trained language representation. *Transactions of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, 9:176–194.
- JT Wolohan. 2020. Estimating the effect of COVID-19 on mental health: Linguistic indicators of depression during a global pandemic. In *Proceedings of the 1st Workshop on NLP for COVID-19 at ACL 2020*, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Min Yen Wu, Chih-Ya Shen, En Tzu Wang, and Arbee L. P. Chen. 2018. A deep architecture for depression detection using posting, behavior, and living environment data. *Journal of Intelligent Information Systems*, 54:225–244.
- Bishan Yang, Wen-tau Yih, Xiaodong He, Jianfeng Gao, and Li Deng. 2015. Embedding entities and relations for learning and inference in knowledge bases. In 3rd International Conference on Learning Representations, ICLR 2015, San Diego, CA, USA, May 7-9, 2015, Conference Track Proceedings.
- Yutaka Miyaji Yuka Niimi. 2021. Machine learning approach for depression detection in Japanese. In *Proceedings of the 35th Pacific Asia Conference on Language, Information and Computation*, pages 350– 357, Shanghai, China. Association for Computational Lingustics.
- Shuai Zhang, Yi Tay, Lina Yao, and Qi Liu. 2019. Quaternion knowledge graph embeddings. In Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems 32: Annual Conference on Neural Information Processing Systems 2019, NeurIPS 2019, December 8-14, 2019, Vancouver, BC, Canada, pages 2731–2741.
- Peng Zhou, Zhenyu Qi, Suncong Zheng, Jiaming Xu, Hongyun Bao, and Bo Xu. 2016. Text classification improved by integrating bidirectional LSTM with two-dimensional max pooling. *CoRR*, abs/1611.06639.
- Zhaocheng Zhu, Shizhen Xu, Meng Qu, and Jian Tang. 2019. Graphvite: A high-performance cpu-gpu hybrid system for node embedding. In *The World Wide Web Conference*, pages 2494–2504. ACM.

# Nozza@LT-EDI-ACL2022: Ensemble Modeling for Homophobia and Transphobia Detection

**Debora Nozza** 

Bocconi University Via Sarfatti 25, 20136 Milan, Italy debora.nozza@unibocconi.it

### Abstract

In this paper, we describe our approach for the task of homophobia and transphobia detection in English social media comments. The dataset consists of YouTube comments, and it has been released for the shared task on Homophobia/Transphobia Detection in social media comments. Given the high class imbalance, we propose a solution based on data augmentation and ensemble modeling. We fine-tuned different large language models (BERT, RoBERTa, and HateBERT) and used the weighted majority vote on their predictions. Our proposed model obtained 0.48 and 0.94 for macro and weighted F1-score, respectively, ranking at the third position.

# 1 Introduction

Despite the progress on LGBT+ rights, Internet still remains a hostile environment for LGBT+ people. The growing number, intensity, and complexity of online hate cases is also reflected in the real world: Anti-LGBT+ hate crimes increased dramatically in the last three years.<sup>1</sup> In 2020, the UK's LGBT+ anti-violence charity (Galop) presented a report about online hate crimes regarding homophobia, biphobia, and transphobia.<sup>2</sup> They surveyed 700 LGBT+ people distributed through online community networks of LGBT+ activists and individuals. The results are worrisome: 8 out of 10 people experienced online hate speech in the last five years, and 1 out of 5 said they had been victims of online abuse at least 100 times. Transgender people experience online harassment at a higher rate (93%) than cisgender ones (70%). It is also alarming that 18% of people claimed that online abuse was linked with offline incidents. These statistics show

nline-crime-2020\_0.pdf

a worrying picture of the everyday experience that LGBT+ people are living.

Natural language processing (NLP) has emerged as a significant field of research for combating online hate speech because of its ability to automate the process at scale while, at the same time, decreasing the labor and emotional stress on online moderators (Chaudhary et al., 2021). Despite the interest of the NLP community in creating datasets and models for the task of hate speech detection, no research effort has been made to cover homophobia and transphobia specifically. This is a problem because Nozza (2021) has demonstrated that hate speech detection models do not transfer to different hate speech target types.

The shared task of Homophobia and Transphobia Detection (Chakravarthi et al., 2022) enabled researchers to investigate solutions for this problem with the introduction of a novel dataset. The dataset comprises around 5k YouTube comments manually annotated with respect to the presence of homophobia and transphobia. The corpus shows a high imbalance with respect to the non-hateful class, which covers 95% of the dataset. In this paper, we propose an approach designed to overcome the problem of class imbalance. We use ensemble modeling to combine different fine-tuned large language models. We also perform data augmentation from an external dataset to include more homophobic and transphobic instances. However, data augmentation results in lower performance, and we did not use it for the submission.

Our system ranked third for the English track with a macro F1-score of 0.48 and a weighted F1-score of 0.94.

# 2 Data

The shared task on homophobia and transphobia detection in social comments released three different datasets in English, Tamil, and code-mixed Tamil-English (Chakravarthi et al., 2021). The dataset

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>https://www.theguardian.com/world/20 21/dec/03/recorded-homophobic-hate-crime s-soared-in-pandemic-figures-show <sup>2</sup>https://www.report-it.org.uk/files/o

	Train	Dev	Test
Size	3,164	792	990
# Non-anti-LGBT+ content # Homophobic # Transphobic	3,001 157 6	732 58 2	924 61 5

Table 1: Statistics of the English dataset.

	Train
Size	3,678
# Non-anti-LGBT+ content # Homophobic # Transphobic	3,043 626 9

Table 2: Statistics of the augmented dataset.

comprises YouTube comments of videos from popular YouTubers that talk about LGBT+ topics. The comments have been labelled according to three classes: Non-anti-LGBT+ content (N), Homophobic (H), Transphobic (T). In Table 1 we show the distribution of the English dataset, which is the portion we investigate in this paper.

The numbers clearly show a strong imbalance of the dataset distribution. On average, the class Nonanti-LGBT+ content covers 94% of the instances, while there are only 6% of homophobic instances and 0.3% of transphobic ones.

### 2.1 Data Augmentation

The low number of instances associated with the hateful classes (homophobic and transphobic categories) may prevent the model from distinguishing them. In order to overcome this issue, we decide to test data augmentation techniques. Including additional hateful instances can increase model performance, even if the definition of hate speech or targets does not match exactly. We perform data augmentation by sampling additional data from the Multilingual and Multi-Aspect Hate Speech (MLMA) (Ousidhoum et al., 2019) corpus. This dataset consists of tweets with various hate speech targets. In order to perform data augmentation, we selected hateful English tweets and sexual orientation as the target attribute based on which it discriminates against people. This process allows us to obtain 514 tweets. We proceed by mapping every non-hateful tweet to the Non-anti-LGBT+ content class and every hateful tweet to the Homophobic one. Then, we filtered all the homophobic tweets containing the word "trans", and we associated them with the label Transphobic. Table 2

Param	Value
Batch Size	128
Warm Up Steps	50
Learning Rate	1e-3
Learning Epochs	10
Optimizer	AdamW
Betas	0.9 and 0.999
Max Length	200

Table 3: Main models' parameters.

shows the statistics of the augmented dataset. Note that the MLMA dataset comprises tweets and not YouTube comments.

### 2.2 Data Preprocessing

Social media textual data strongly differ from formal text, such as newspaper articles (Nozza et al., 2017). They contain slang, emojis, hashtags, URLs, and misspellings. In order to improve the quality of the data, we apply preprocessing techniques. First, we convert the text to lowercase and remove characters that are not words (e.g., numbers and punctuation). Then, we replace URLs, mentions, and emoticons with placeholder tags. Finally, we replace emojis with their textual description (e.g., *rolling on the floor laughing*) following (Corazza et al., 2020).

### **3** Experimental Settings

### 3.1 Fine-tuned Models

We use different large language models (LLMs) exploiting the HuggingFace library (Wolf et al., 2020). We selected two popular LLMs (BERT (Devlin et al., 2019) and RoBERTa (Liu et al., 2019)). We choose these models based on their performance and their low hurtful sentence completion (HON-EST) score (Nozza et al., 2021, 2022b). We also selected HateBERT (Caselli et al., 2021), a re-trained BERT model for abusive language detection in English. Caselli et al. (2021) demonstrate that Hate-BERT has superior abilities for tasks of abusive detection, yielding much better results than BERT.

Each model has been fine-tuned for the task of homophobia and transphobia detection. We train each model with the same parameters (Table 3).

### 3.2 Ensemble Modeling

Ensemble modeling consists in creating a metaclassifier that treats the predicted label of distinct machine learning classifiers as a vote towards the final label that is to be predicted. This paper investigates two frameworks for ensemble: majority voting and weighted voting. Moreover, we focus only on *hard voting*, i.e., we consider only the predicted class as a vote and not its probability value (which is known as *soft voting*).

**Majority voting** Majority voting is the simplest case of ensemble learning. We consider the prediction of each classifier  $C_j$  as a vote, and then we take the predicted class with the highest votes. The predicted class label  $\hat{y}$  can be defined as:

$$\hat{y} = \text{mode} \{C_1(\mathbf{x}), C_2(\mathbf{x}), \dots, C_m(\mathbf{x})\}$$

where  $\mathbf{x}$  is the data instance.

Weighted Voting We use the weighted majority vote by associating a weight  $w_j$  with classifier  $C_j$ to predict the class label  $\hat{y}$ :

$$\hat{y} = \arg\max_{i} \sum_{j=1}^{m} w_j \chi_A \left( C_j(\mathbf{x}) = i \right)$$

where  $\chi_A$  is the characteristic function  $[C_j(\mathbf{x}) = i \in A]$ , and A is the set of unique class labels.

Here, as weight we use the *recall* metric for the homophobic class for each classifier. The recall metric represents the percentage of homophobic posts correctly classified by our algorithm.

# 4 Experimental Results

Table 4 shows the precision, recall, and F1-score on the test set disaggregated by class: Non-anti-LGBT+ content (N), Homophobic (H), Transphobic (T). We report the results for each fine-tuned LLMs tested (BERT, RoBERTa, and HateBERT) and the respective version fine-tuned on preprocessed data (prep). Finally, we provide the results of our ensemble classifiers using majority and weighted voting on the previous 6 models. From the scores, it is possible to observe that behavior regarding the non-hateful and the transphobic classes are stable for each metric and model. This is due to the class imbalance. Indeed, the Non-anti-LGBT+ content reaches high F1-scores, with a stable 0.97. In contrast, no posts have been predicted as transphobic in the test set, resulting in 0 F1-score. We argue that this is a direct consequence of the limited number of training examples (0.19%), which prevents the models from learning the phenomena. The homophobic class shows more variable performance, with an average of 0.43 and a maximum of

		precision	recall	F1-score
BERT	Ν	0.95	0.99	0.97
	Н	0.70	0.34	0.46
	Т	0.00	0.00	0.00
BERT+prep	Ν	0.95	0.99	0.97
	Н	0.72	0.21	0.33
	Т	0.00	0.00	0.00
RoBERTa	Ν	0.95	0.99	0.97
	Н	0.60	0.25	0.35
	Т	0.00	0.00	0.00
RoBERTa+prep	Ν	0.95	0.99	0.97
	Н	0.71	0.36	0.48
	Т	0.00	0.00	0.00
HateBERT	Ν	0.95	0.98	0.97
	Н	0.61	0.36	0.45
	Т	0.00	0.00	0.00
HateBERT+prep	Ν	0.95	1.00	0.97
	Н	0.79	0.25	0.38
	Т	0.00	0.00	0.00
Majority Voting	Ν	0.95	0.99	0.97
3 5 6	Н	0.76	0.36	0.49
	Т	0.00	0.00	0.00
Weighted Voting	Ν	0.95	0.99	0.97
2 0	Η	0.78	0.34	0.48
	Т	0.00	0.00	0.00

Table 4: Results of the different fine-tuned LLMs predictions on the test set for the classes Non-anti-LGBT+ content (N), Homophobic (H), Transphobic (T). Preprocessing is denoted with *prep*.

	macro F1-score	weighted F1-score
BERT	0.48	0.94
BERT+prep	0.43	0.94
RoBERTa	0.44	0.92
RoBERTa+prep	0.48	0.95
HateBERT	0.47	0.93
HateBERT+prep	0.45	0.94
Majority Voting	0.49	0.94
Weighted Voting	0.48	0.94

Table 5: Macro and weighted F1-score on test set.

	macro F1-score	weighted F1-score
BERT+data	0.42	0.92
BERT+ <i>data</i> +prep	0.46	0.93
RoBERTa+data	0.45	0.93
RoBERTa+ <i>data</i> +prep	0.45	0.93
HateBERT+data	0.42	0.92
HateBERT+data+prep	0.47	0.93
Majority Voting+data	0.46	0.93
Weighted Voting+data	0.46	0.93

Table 6: Macro and weighted F1-score on test set with data augmentation approach.

0.49 obtained by majority voting. Highest scores for this class are highlighted in bold in Table 4.

Concerning the different LLMs, the best results are obtained by RoBERTa+*prep* and HateBERT. We did not observe a consistent effect regarding preprocessing, which has decreased the performance for BERT and HateBERT and has improved the one of RoBERTa. Results also demonstrate the superiority of ensembling methods, in particular, majority voting.

Table 5 reports macro and weighted F1-score. The model obtaining the highest macro F1-score (the score considered by the shared task) is majority voting. Note that we submit to the shared task the weighted voting run cause of its best performance in the dev set.

Finally, we tested the performance of the data augmentation approach (Table 6). Differently from our expectations, we notice a slight decrease in the performance. This is probably due to the different nature of the social media considered in the studies (i.e., Twitter vs. YouTube), resulting in shorter texts comprising emojis, URLs, and user mentions.

# 5 Related Work

In the last years, many shared tasks have been organized with the aim of detecting hate speech on social media comments (Kumar et al., 2018; Basile et al., 2019; Zampieri et al., 2020, inter alia). While the majority of them focus on English, some efforts have been made to include other languages (e.g., Italian, Arabic) (Bosco et al., 2018; Fersini et al., 2018; Wiegand et al., 2018; Fersini et al., 2020b; Mubarak et al., 2020; Mulki and Ghanem, 2021, inter alia). Chaudhary et al. (2021) proposed a one-of-a-kind shared task for Homophobia and Transphobia detection on social comments for three languages (English, Tamil, and code-mixed Tamil-English).

Several NLP approaches have been proposed for the task of hate speech detection (Qian et al., 2018; Indurthi et al., 2019; Vidgen et al., 2021; Fersini et al., 2020a; Attanasio and Pastor, 2020; Kennedy et al., 2020; Attanasio et al., 2022b, inter alia). While ensemble modeling has been proven to be effective for several tasks in NLP (Garmash and Monz, 2016; Nozza et al., 2016; Fadel et al., 2019; Bashmal and AlZeer, 2021), a limited number of research work have investigated its potentiality for hate speech detection (Plaza-del Arco et al., 2019; Ramakrishnan et al., 2019; Zimmerman et al., 2018).

Only recently, researchers have focused on detecting and measuring harmfulness against LGBTQIA+ community members in NLP. Some research work investigated bias in co-reference resolution (Cao et al., 2020), conversational language models (Barikeri et al., 2021), and LLMs (Nozza et al., 2022b). In a similar spirit, Dev et al. (2021) discussed the harms of treating gender as binary in English language technologies, and pointed to the complexity of gender representation. Focusing on the notion of referential gender, Lauscher et al. (2022) presented an overview on phenomena relating to 3rd person pronouns and discussed how NLP can and should model pronouns.

# 6 Conclusion

This article describes our approach for the shared task of Homophobia and Transphobia on social media comments. We propose to couple ensemble learning and data augmentation to address the problem of class imbalance of the dataset. We found that augmenting the dataset with a corpus from a different domain was ineffective. Our submitted model consists of the weighted majority vote of different fine-tuned LLMs (BERT, RoBERTa, and HateBERT) ranked at the third position out of 13 submissions. In the future, we aim to explore how fine-tuned LLMs are biased towards members of the LGBT+ community and propose a bias mitigation solution following (Nozza et al., 2019, 2022a; Attanasio et al., 2022a).

### Acknowledgements

This project has partially received funding from the European Research Council (ERC) under the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation program (grant agreement No. 949944, INTE-GRATOR), and by Fondazione Cariplo (grant No. 2020-4288, MONICA). Debora Nozza is member of the MilaNLP group, and the Data and Marketing Insights Unit of the Bocconi Institute for Data Science and Analysis.

## References

Giuseppe Attanasio, Debora Nozza, Dirk Hovy, and Elena Baralis. 2022a. Entropy-based attention regularization frees unintended bias mitigation from lists. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: ACL2022*. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Giuseppe Attanasio, Debora Nozza, Eliana Pastor, and Dirk Hovy. 2022b. Benchmarking Post-Hoc Interpretability Approaches for Transformer-based Misogyny Detection. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop* on Efficient Benchmarking in NLP. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Giuseppe Attanasio and Eliana Pastor. 2020. PoliTeam @ AMI: Improving sentence embedding similarity with misogyny lexicons for automatic misogyny identificationin italian tweets. In Valerio Basile, Danilo Croce, Maria Maro, and Lucia C. Passaro, editors, EVALITA Evaluation of NLP and Speech Tools for Italian - December 17th, 2020, pages 48–54. Accademia University Press.
- Soumya Barikeri, Anne Lauscher, Ivan Vulić, and Goran Glavaš. 2021. RedditBias: A real-world resource for bias evaluation and debiasing of conversational language models. In Proceedings of the 59th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics and the 11th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 1941–1955, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Laila Bashmal and Daliyah AlZeer. 2021. ArSarcasm shared task: An ensemble BERT model for SarcasmDetection in Arabic tweets. In *Proceedings of the Sixth Arabic Natural Language Processing Workshop*, pages 323–328, Kyiv, Ukraine (Virtual). Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Valerio Basile, Cristina Bosco, Elisabetta Fersini, Debora Nozza, Viviana Patti, Francisco Manuel Rangel Pardo, Paolo Rosso, and Manuela Sanguinetti. 2019. SemEval-2019 task 5: Multilingual detection of hate speech against immigrants and women in Twitter. In *Proceedings of the 13th International Workshop on Semantic Evaluation*, pages 54–63, Minneapolis, Minnesota, USA. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Cristina Bosco, Dell'Orletta Felice, Fabio Poletto, Manuela Sanguinetti, and Tesconi Maurizio. 2018. Overview of the EVALITA 2018 hate speech detection task. In *Proceedings of the Sixth Evaluation Campaign of Natural Language Processing and Speech Tools for Italian. Final Workshop* (EVALITA 2018), volume 2263, pages 1–9, Turin, Italy. CEUR.org.
- Qingqing Cao, Aruna Balasubramanian, and Niranjan Balasubramanian. 2020. Towards accurate and reliable energy measurement of NLP models. In *Proceedings of SustaiNLP: Workshop on Simple and Effi cient Natural Language Processing*, pages 141–148, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Tommaso Caselli, Valerio Basile, Jelena Mitrović, and Michael Granitzer. 2021. HateBERT: Retraining BERT for abusive language detection in English. In Proceedings of the 5th Workshop on Online Abuse and Harms (WOAH 2021), pages 17–25, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Thenmozhi Durairaj, John Phillip McCrae, Paul Buitaleer, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, and Rahul Ponnusamy. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Homophobia Transphobia Detection in Social Media Comments. In Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Rahul Ponnusamy, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, Kayalvizhi Sampath, Durairaj Thenmozhi, Sathiyaraj Thangasamy, Rajendran Nallathambi, and John Phillip McCrae. 2021. Dataset for identification of homophobia and transophobia in multilingual youtube comments. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2109.00227*.
- Mudit Chaudhary, Chandni Saxena, and Helen Meng. 2021. Countering online hate speech: An NLP perspective. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2109.02941*.
- Michele Corazza, Stefano Menini, Elena Cabrio, Sara Tonelli, and Serena Villata. 2020. A multilingual evaluation for online hate speech detection. *ACM Trans. Internet Technol.*, 20(2).
- Sunipa Dev, Masoud Monajatipoor, Anaelia Ovalle, Arjun Subramonian, Jeff Phillips, and Kai-Wei Chang. 2021. Harms of gender exclusivity and challenges in non-binary representation in language technologies. In Proceedings of the 2021 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing, pages 1968–1994, Online and Punta Cana, Dominican Republic. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Jacob Devlin, Ming-Wei Chang, Kenton Lee, and Kristina Toutanova. 2019. BERT: pre-training of deep bidirectional transformers for language understanding. In Proceedings of the 2019 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, NAACL-HLT 2019, pages 4171–4186.
- Ali Fadel, Ibraheem Tuffaha, and Mahmoud Al-Ayyoub. 2019. Pretrained ensemble learning for fine-grained propaganda detection. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Natural Language Processing for Internet Freedom: Censorship, Disinformation, and Propaganda*, pages 139–142, Hong Kong, China. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Elisabetta Fersini, Debora Nozza, and Giulia Boifava. 2020a. Profiling Italian misogynist: An empirical study. In Proceedings of the Workshop on Resources and Techniques for User and Author Profiling in Abusive Language, pages 9–13, Marseille, France. European Language Resources Association (ELRA).
- Elisabetta Fersini, Debora Nozza, and Paolo Rosso. 2018. Overview of the EVALITA 2018 task on automatic misogyny identification (AMI). *Proceedings* of the 6th evaluation campaign of Natural Language Processing and Speech tools for Italian (EVALITA 2018), 12:59.

- Elisabetta Fersini, Debora Nozza, and Paolo Rosso. 2020b. AMI @ EVALITA2020: Automatic misogyny identification. In Proceedings of the 7th evaluation campaign of Natural Language Processing and Speech tools for Italian (EVALITA 2020), Online. CEUR.org.
- Ekaterina Garmash and Christof Monz. 2016. Ensemble learning for multi-source neural machine translation. In *Proceedings of COLING 2016, the 26th International Conference on Computational Linguistics: Technical Papers*, pages 1409–1418, Osaka, Japan. The COLING 2016 Organizing Committee.
- Vijayasaradhi Indurthi, Bakhtiyar Syed, Manish Shrivastava, Nikhil Chakravartula, Manish Gupta, and Vasudeva Varma. 2019. FERMI at SemEval-2019 task 5: Using sentence embeddings to identify hate speech against immigrants and women in Twitter. In *Proceedings of the 13th International Workshop on Semantic Evaluation*, pages 70–74, Minneapolis, Minnesota, USA. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Brendan Kennedy, Xisen Jin, Aida Mostafazadeh Davani, Morteza Dehghani, and Xiang Ren. 2020. Contextualizing hate speech classifiers with post-hoc explanation. In *Proceedings of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, pages 5435–5442, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Ritesh Kumar, Atul Kr. Ojha, Marcos Zampieri, and Shervin Malmasi, editors. 2018. *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Trolling, Aggression and Cyberbullying (TRAC-2018)*. Association for Computational Linguistics, Santa Fe, New Mexico, USA.
- Anne Lauscher, Archie Crowley, and Dirk Hovy. 2022. Welcome to the modern world of pronouns: Identityinclusive natural language processing beyond gender. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2202.11923*.
- Yinhan Liu, Myle Ott, Naman Goyal, Jingfei Du, Mandar Joshi, Danqi Chen, Omer Levy, Mike Lewis, Luke Zettlemoyer, and Veselin Stoyanov. 2019. RoBERTa: A robustly optimized BERT pretraining approach. arXiv preprint arXiv:1907.11692.
- Hamdy Mubarak, Kareem Darwish, Walid Magdy, Tamer Elsayed, and Hend Al-Khalifa. 2020. Overview of OSACT4 Arabic offensive language detection shared task. In *Proceedings of the 4th Workshop on Open-Source Arabic Corpora and Processing Tools, with a Shared Task on Offensive Language Detection*, pages 48–52, Marseille, France. European Language Resource Association.
- Hala Mulki and Bilal Ghanem. 2021. Working notes of the workshop arabic misogyny identification (armi-2021). In *Forum for Information Retrieval Evaluation*, FIRE 2021, page 7–8, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.

- Debora Nozza. 2021. Exposing the limits of zero-shot cross-lingual hate speech detection. In *Proceedings* of the 59th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics and the 11th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (Volume 2: Short Papers), pages 907–914, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Debora Nozza, Federico Bianchi, , and Dirk Hovy. 2022a. Pipelines for Social Bias Testing of Large Language Models. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Challenges & Perspectives in Creating Large Language Models*. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Debora Nozza, Federico Bianchi, and Dirk Hovy. 2021. HONEST: Measuring hurtful sentence completion in language models. In *Proceedings of the 2021 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies*, pages 2398–2406, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Debora Nozza, Federico Bianchi, Anne Lauscher, and Dirk Hovy. 2022b. Measuring Harmful Sentence Completion in Language Models for LGBTQIA+ Individuals. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Debora Nozza, Elisabetta Fersini, and Enza Messina. 2016. Deep learning and ensemble methods for domain adaptation. In 2016 IEEE 28th International Conference on Tools with Artificial Intelligence (IC-TAI), pages 184–189.
- Debora Nozza, Elisabetta Fersini, and Enza Messina. 2017. A multi-view sentiment corpus. In Proceedings of the 15th Conference of the European Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Volume 1, Long Papers, pages 273–280, Valencia, Spain. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Debora Nozza, Claudia Volpetti, and Elisabetta Fersini. 2019. Unintended bias in misogyny detection. In *IEEE/WIC/ACM International Conference on Web Intelligence*, WI '19, page 149–155, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.
- Nedjma Ousidhoum, Zizheng Lin, Hongming Zhang, Yangqiu Song, and Dit-Yan Yeung. 2019. Multilingual and multi-aspect hate speech analysis. In Proceedings of the 2019 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing and the 9th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (EMNLP-IJCNLP), pages 4675– 4684, Hong Kong, China. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Flor Miriam Plaza-del Arco, M. Dolores Molina-González, Maite Martin, and L. Alfonso Ureña-López. 2019. SINAI at SemEval-2019 task 5: Ensemble learning to detect hate speech against inmigrants and women in English and Spanish tweets. In Proceedings of the 13th International Workshop

*on Semantic Evaluation*, pages 476–479, Minneapolis, Minnesota, USA. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Jing Qian, Mai ElSherief, Elizabeth Belding, and William Yang Wang. 2018. Hierarchical CVAE for fine-grained hate speech classification. In *Proceedings of the 2018 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing*, pages 3550–3559, Brussels, Belgium. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Murugesan Ramakrishnan, Wlodek Zadrozny, and Narges Tabari. 2019. UVA wahoos at SemEval-2019 task 6: Hate speech identification using ensemble machine learning. In *Proceedings of the 13th International Workshop on Semantic Evaluation*, pages 806–811, Minneapolis, Minnesota, USA. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bertie Vidgen, Tristan Thrush, Zeerak Waseem, and Douwe Kiela. 2021. Learning from the worst: Dynamically generated datasets to improve online hate detection. In Proceedings of the 59th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics and the 11th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 1667–1682, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Michael Wiegand, Melanie Siegel, and Josef Ruppenhofer. 2018. Overview of the GermEval 2018 Shared Task on the Identification of Offensive Language. In *Proceedings of GermEval 2018, 14th Conference on Natural Language Processing (KONVENS 2018).*
- Thomas Wolf, Lysandre Debut, Victor Sanh, Julien Chaumond, Clement Delangue, Anthony Moi, Pierric Cistac, Tim Rault, Remi Louf, Morgan Funtowicz, Joe Davison, Sam Shleifer, Patrick von Platen, Clara Ma, Yacine Jernite, Julien Plu, Canwen Xu, Teven Le Scao, Sylvain Gugger, Mariama Drame, Quentin Lhoest, and Alexander Rush. 2020. Transformers: State-of-the-art natural language processing. In *Proceedings of the 2020 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing: System Demonstrations*, pages 38–45, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Marcos Zampieri, Preslav Nakov, Sara Rosenthal, Pepa Atanasova, Georgi Karadzhov, Hamdy Mubarak, Leon Derczynski, Zeses Pitenis, and Çağrı Çöltekin. 2020. SemEval-2020 task 12: Multilingual offensive language identification in social media (OffensEval 2020). In *Proceedings of the Fourteenth Workshop on Semantic Evaluation*, pages 1425–1447, Barcelona (online). International Committee for Computational Linguistics.
- Steven Zimmerman, Udo Kruschwitz, and Chris Fox. 2018. Improving hate speech detection with deep learning ensembles. In *Proceedings of the Eleventh International Conference on Language Resources and Evaluation (LREC 2018)*, Miyazaki, Japan. European Language Resources Association (ELRA).

# KADO@LT-EDI-ACL2022: BERT-based Ensembles for Detecting Signs of Depression from Social Media Text

Morteza Janatdoust

Amirkabir University of Technology jntdst@aut.ac.ir

Fatemeh Ehsani-Besheli

K. N. Toosi University of Technology ehhsani@aut.ac.ir Hossein Zeinali Amirkabir University of Technology hzeinali@aut.ac.ir

# Abstract

Depression is a common and serious mental illness that early detection can improve the patient's symptoms and make depression easier to treat. This paper mainly introduces the relevant content of the task "Detecting Signs of Depression from Social Media Text at DepSign-LT-EDI@ACL-2022". The goal of DepSign is to classify the signs of depression into three labels namely "not depressed", "moderately depressed", and "severely depressed" based on social media's posts. In this paper, we propose a predictive ensemble model that utilizes the fine-tuned contextualized word embedding, ALBERT, DistilBERT, RoBERTa, and BERT base model. We show that our model outperforms the baseline models in all considered metrics and achieves an F1 score of 54% and accuracy of 61%, ranking 5th on the leaderboard for the DepSign task.

**Keywords.** sentiment analysis, depression detection, ensemble model, BERT, social media text

# 1 Introduction

In our current society, depression is a common but serious mental disorder that involves sadness and lack of interest in all day-to-day activities (GHD; Evans-Lacko et al., 2018). Depression can negatively affect different aspects of a person's life and can cause a person to suffer severely and function poorly at work, in the family, or in society in general and at its worst, depression can lead to suicide. Based on the data provided by World Health Organization, Over 700,000 people die due to suicide every year (WHO). Therefore, early diagnosis of this problem is very important and is a challenge for individual and public health (Losada et al., 2017).

Because of the complex nature of any mental disorder, it is very difficult to diagnose a patient's mental illness by traditional approaches. However, due to the integration of social media into people's daily lives, evidence has been presented to diagnose depressive symptoms using data provided by users.

The study of social media, especially in the field of public health, is rapidly growing. On social media platforms such as Facebook, Twitter, Instagram, and others, people can freely interact with each other and share their thoughts, feelings, ideas, emotions, activities, etc and express themselves through the content they post on these platforms. This leads to a large amount of data that contains valuable information about people's interests, moods, and behaviors. Hence many researchers claim that social media analysis is a very helpful source in various contexts especially in mental health understanding (Martínez-Castaño et al., 2020).

# 2 Related Work

There have been many studies on the prediction of social media mental disorders in which the data were collected directly from user surveys using some well-known questionnaires or from public posts using keywords, related phrases, or regular expression (Safa et al., 2021). Several approaches to study mental health have been proposed through the analysis of user behavior on social media. Mental health has been studied on different social media platforms such as Twitter, Instagram, Flickr, and Facebook. In (Orabi et al., 2018), using a deep neural network, an analysis was performed to diagnose depression on the Twitter database. (De Choudhury et al.), has also analyzed Twitter social media text for public health prediction.

Binary and ternary classifications are two types of classification problems here. In the first one, sentiments are classified into two polarities or classes: Positive and Negative (Tanna et al., 2020), and in the ternary classification, the sentiments are classified into three classes as Positive, Negative and Neutral (Arora and Arora, 2019; Chen et al., 2018) which in this case, more classification error is expected than binary classification. For more accurate classification, the data can be classified into several subclasses. In (Al Asad et al., 2019) for example, having a level of depression from 1-55% is considered as non-depressed and above level of 55% is considered as depressed. The defined subclasses were normal, mild depression, borderline depression, moderate depression, and severe depression.

In this article, we specifically focus our efforts on this kind of classification task. Our goal is to distinguish between the normal users, users with mild depression, and those with severe depression.

Label	Train	Dev
Not depressed	1,971	1,830
Moderate	6,019	2,306
Severe	901	360
<b>Total instances</b>	8,891	4,496

Table 1: Train and Validation data-sets description.

# 2.1 Data

The data-test provided by the organizer (Durairaj et al.), contains social media comments in English. It comprises training, development and test set, in which 8,891 are assigned for training, 4,496 for development, and 3,245 for testing. The data set contains three tags as follow:

- not depressed: This tag indicates that sentence shows the absence of depression,
- moderately depressed: This tag indicates depressive symptoms,
- severely depressed: This tag indicates severe states of depressed mood.

Figure 1 illustrates how the different classes are represented in the data sets, which shows that the distribution of examples in the classes are imbalanced for both train and development data-set. The details of the data-set and three example sentences are shown in Table 1 and Table 2 respectively.

# **3** Transfer Learning

Typically, models are trained from scratch with random initialization of network parameters. But in another approach, the model is first pre-trained for a general task and then tuned to a specific task, which allows the model to be trained faster with less training data. Originally, transfer learning is



Figure 1: class-wise distribution of the data-set.

known for fine-tuning the deep learning models taught on the ImageNet data-set (Deng et al., 2009). Recently, several techniques and architectures of transfer learning have been emerged, which has significantly improved most NLP tasks. Transfer learning can be used in applications where there is not sufficient training data for that task. The first phase of the transfer learning strategy is generally referred to as semi-supervised training in which the network is first trained as a language model on a comprehensive and large data set and then followed by supervised training that is trained by the desired labeled training data set.

### 3.1 BERT

Bidirectional Encoder Representations from Transformers (BERT) (Devlin et al., 2018) is a deep transformer model designed to learn deep bidirectional representations of natural language from a huge unsupervised text corpus. In terms of size, there are three BERT models. The base model consists of 12 transformer blocks, 768 hidden blocks, 12 self-attention heads, and has 110M trainable parameters.

BERT uses two tasks called Masked Language Model(MLM) and Next Sentence Prediction(NSP) to train the model. In the MLM task, before feeding word sequences into BERT, 15% of tokens are covered by [MASK] token and the model tries to predict the original value of the covered token based on non-masked words in the input sequence. In the NSP task, the BERT model takes a pair of sentences as input and, by understanding the relationship between two sentences, predicts if the second sentence in the pair is the subsequent sen-

My life gets worse every year : That's what it feels like anyway	moderate
Words can't describe how bad I feel right now : I just want to fall asleep forever.	severe
Is anybody else hoping the Coronavirus shuts everybody down?	not depressed

Model	Accuracy	Recall	Precision	Weighted F1- score	Macro F1-score
BERT	0.55	0.52	0.48	0.56	0.50
ALBERT	0.56	0.51	0.50	0.57	0.51
DistilBERT	0.52	0.50	0.48	0.59	0.49
RoBERTa	0.57	0.53	0.51	0.60	0.52
<b>Ensemble Model</b>	0.61	0.57	0.52	0.62	0.54

Table 2: Some examples of labeled training data-sets.

Table 3: Label-averaged values for each metric for BERT-based model, ALBERT, RoBERTa, DistilBERT, and the proposed ensemble model.

tence in the original document.

Unlike traditional models, which looked at a text sequence only from one direction, the BERT encoder attention mechanism applies bidirectional training of Transformer, which learns information from both the left and right sides of a word, allowing the model to catch a deeper sense of language context.

# 3.2 ALBERT

A Lite BERT (ALBERT) is a model for selfsupervised learning of language representations that has a similar backbone to the original BERT (Lan et al., 2019). It presents two parameterreduction techniques to reduce memory consumption and increase the training speed of BERT. Like BERT, ALBERT is also pre-trained on the English Wikipedia and the Book CORPUS data-set, which contains a total of 16 GB of uncompressed data. The ALBERT model tries to mimic the BERT base model with 768 hidden states, cross-layer parameter sharing, and smaller embeddings size due to factorization. Unlike BERT, it has only 12 million parameters which makes a big difference when training the model.

# 3.3 DistilBERT

DistilBERT (Sanh et al., 2019) is a small, fast, cheap, and light Transformer model that was pretrained on the same corpus in a self-supervised fashion, using the BERT base model as a teacher. DistilBERT performs a knowledge distillation technique during the pre-training phase. This technique reduces the size of a large model called teacher into a smaller model called the student by 40%. It promises to run 60% faster while preserving 97% of its performance, as measured on the GLUE language understanding benchmarks. So, DistilBERT is an interesting option for producing large-scale transformer models.

### 3.4 RoBERTa

A Robustly optimized BERT Pretraining Approach (RoBERTa) is also a pre-training of BERT (Liu et al., 2019). The goal of this model was to optimize the training of BERT architecture to reduce pre-training time. The model is trained for longer, with 1000% more data and computation power than BERT.

RoBERTa includes additional pre-training improvements in self-supervised systems that can achieve advanced results with less reliance on data labeling. To improve the training process, **RoBERTa** removes the Next Sentence Prediction (NSP) task employed in BERT's pre-training and introduces dynamic masking during training so that the masked token changes during the training epochs. Larger mini-batch size and learning rate were also found to be more useful in the training procedure. Importantly, RoBERTa uses 160 GB of text for pre-training, including 16GB of Books Corpus and English Wikipedia used in BERT. Compared to DistilBERT, RoBERTa improves the performance while DistilBERT improves the inference speed.

# 4 Methodology

In this work, an ensembling strategy was used to fuse the results of several BERT models. Given that, each of these pre-trained models has its strengths and weaknesses as different classification methods. As a result, ensembling them can improve the result.

Each constituent model is trained on a pretty same training data and the same loss function is used for parameter estimation of each model. Our experiments showed that each of these models makes different errors. So, for this problem, we have used the majority voting mechanism to make the final prediction to use the strength of each model (see in Figure 2).



Figure 2: Architecture of the proposed ensemble model.

Before fine-tuning each of the pretrained models, the proper number of epochs must be known. Using a validation data-set that is held back from training, we identify overfitting by looking at validation metrics like loss and accuracy and define correct number of epochs for training each model. Whenever the loss value in the validation set increases, it means that network training should be stopped by this number of epochs. From then on, given the data-set for this task, we train the model and tune it to the predefined number of epochs to perform well on unseen data points.

### 4.1 Results

After training the ensemble model, it was evaluated with the test data-set. Depending on the number of models in the voting-based ensemble model, the same number of test data answers are obtained. Then, the unlabeled test set can be classified by the majority voting ensemble learning method. The accuracy results obtained on the evaluation data-set for all models are shown in Tabel 1. The results show that the ensemble-based model utilizing contextual embeddings outperforms other single-model classifiers in all considered metrics and achieves an F1 score of 54% and accuracy of 61%.

#### 4.2 Conclusion

This paper presents a BERT-based ensemble model to predict depression levels based on the given labels: not depressed, moderately depressed, and severely depressed. The proposed ensemble model achieved competitive results for the label prediction on the DepSign task and ranked 5th among more than 30 submissions. By considering the achieved improvement, future works could be examining other language models, other ensemble strategies, and use other inputs such as related dictionaries, NLP tools, and etc.

### References

- Institute of Health Metrics and Evaluation (IHME). global health data. http://ghdx.healthdata.org/gbdresults-tool?params=gbd-api-2019permalink/d780dffbe8a381b25e1416884959e88be.
- World Health Organization (WHO), geneva, switzerland. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/suicide. Accessed: 2021-06-17.
- Nafiz Al Asad, Md Appel Mahmud Pranto, Sadia Afreen, and Md Maynul Islam. 2019. Depression detection by analyzing social media posts of user. In 2019 IEEE International Conference on Signal Processing, Information, Communication & Systems (SPICSCON), pages 13–17. IEEE.
- Priyanka Arora and Parul Arora. 2019. Mining twitter data for depression detection. In 2019 International Conference on Signal Processing and Communication (ICSC), pages 186–189. IEEE.
- Bohang Chen, Qiongxia Huang, Yiping Chen, Li Cheng, and Riqing Chen. 2018. Deep neural networks for multi-class sentiment classification. In 2018 IEEE 20th International Conference on High Performance Computing and Communications; IEEE 16th International Conference on Smart City; IEEE 4th International Conference on Data Science and Systems (HPCC/SmartCity/DSS), pages 854–859. IEEE.
- M De Choudhury, M Gamon, S Counts, and E Horvitz. Predicting depression via social media. 2013 jul presented at: Proceedings of the seventh international aaai conference on weblogs and social media; july; 2013. *Cambridge, Massachusetts, USA*, pages 128– 137.
- Jia Deng, Wei Dong, Richard Socher, Li-Jia Li, Kai Li, and Li Fei-Fei. 2009. Imagenet: A large-scale hierarchical image database. In 2009 IEEE conference on computer vision and pattern recognition, pages 248–255. Ieee.
- Jacob Devlin, Ming-Wei Chang, Kenton Lee, and Kristina Toutanova. 2018. Bert: Pre-training of deep bidirectional transformers for language understanding. arXiv preprint arXiv:1810.04805.

- Thenmozhi Durairaj, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Jerin Mahibha C, and booktitle = Sampath, Kayalvizhi''. Findings of the shared task on Detecting Signs of Depression from Social Media.
- S. Evans-Lacko, S. Aguilar-Gaxiola, A. Al-Hamzawi, J. Alonso, C. Benjet, R. Bruffaerts, W. T. Chiu, and S. Florescu. 2018. Socio-economic variations in the mental health treatment gap for people with anxiety, mood, and substance use disorders: Results from the who world mental health (wmh) surveys. *Psychological Medicine*, 48:1560–1571.
- Zhenzhong Lan, Mingda Chen, Sebastian Goodman, Kevin Gimpel, Piyush Sharma, and Radu Soricut. 2019. Albert: A lite bert for self-supervised learning of language representations. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1909.11942*.
- Yinhan Liu, Myle Ott, Naman Goyal, Jingfei Du, Mandar Joshi, Danqi Chen, Omer Levy, Mike Lewis, Luke Zettlemoyer, and Veselin Stoyanov. 2019. Roberta: A robustly optimized bert pretraining approach. arXiv preprint arXiv:1907.11692.
- David E Losada, Fabio Crestani, and Javier Parapar. 2017. erisk 2017: Clef lab on early risk prediction on the internet: experimental foundations. In *International Conference of the Cross-Language Evaluation Forum for European Languages*, pages 346–360. Springer.
- Rodrigo Martínez-Castaño, Juan C Pichel, and David E Losada. 2020. A big data platform for real time analysis of signs of depression in social media. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17(13):4752.
- Ahmed Husseini Orabi, Prasadith Buddhitha, Mahmoud Husseini Orabi, and Diana Inkpen. 2018. Deep learning for depression detection of twitter users. In *Proceedings of the Fifth Workshop on Computational Linguistics and Clinical Psychology: From Keyboard to Clinic*, pages 88–97.
- Ramin Safa, Peyman Bayat, and Leila Moghtader. 2021. Automatic detection of depression symptoms in twitter using multimodal analysis. *The Journal of Supercomputing*, pages 1–36.
- Victor Sanh, Lysandre Debut, Julien Chaumond, and Thomas Wolf. 2019. Distilbert, a distilled version of bert: smaller, faster, cheaper and lighter. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1910.01108*.
- Dilesh Tanna, Manasi Dudhane, Amrut Sardar, Kiran Deshpande, and Neha Deshmukh. 2020. Sentiment analysis on social media for emotion classification. In 2020 4th International Conference on Intelligent Computing and Control Systems (ICICCS), pages 911–915. IEEE.

# Sammaan@LT-EDI-ACL2022: Ensembled Transformers Against Homophobia and Transphobia

Ishan Sanjeev Upadhyay and KV Aditya Srivatsa and Radhika Mamidi International Institute of Information Technology, Hyderabad

### Abstract

Hateful and offensive content on social media platforms can have negative effects on users and can make online communities more hostile towards certain people and hamper equality, diversity and inclusion. In this paper, we describe our approach to classify homophobia and transphobia in social media comments. We used an ensemble of transformer based models to build our classifier. Our model ranked 2nd for English, 8th for Tamil and 10th for Tamil-English.

### 1 Introduction

Social media platforms allow people from all walks of life to connect with each other. However, abusive and hateful content on these platforms can take a psychological toll on its users (Wypych and Bilewicz, 2022) (Tynes et al., 2008). Lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender individuals are more vulnerable to mental illness as compared to their heterosexual peers (Gilman et al., 2001) (Marshal et al., 2011) (Reisner et al., 2015). Hence, it becomes even more important to be able to detect such hateful content for vulnerable individuals.

There has been a lot of work done in the domain of hate speech detection (Malmasi and Zampieri, 2017) (Burnap and Williams, 2016). There has also been work on hate speech intervention (Qian et al., 2019). Shared tasks like SemEval 2019 Task 6 have focused on identifying and categorizing offensive language on social media (Zampieri et al., 2019). Datasets for this task have been created in multiple languages as well. Bohra et al. (2018) created a Hindi-English code mixed text dataset for hate speech detection from tweets on Twitter. Mubarak et al. (2021) created a 1000 tweets Arabic dataset for offensive language detection with special tags for vulgarity and hate speech. Sigurbergsson and Derczynski (2020) created a Danish hate speech detection dataset containing 3600 user generated comments social media websites. There have been datasets created for Greek (Pitenis et al., 2020) and

Turkish (Çöltekin, 2020) as well. Chakravarthi et al. (2021a) created a code-mixed Tamil,Malayalam and Kannada dataset for offensive language identification. Support vector machines, long short-term memory networks, convolutional neural networks and now transformer based architectures have been used to detect hate speech. However, there has not been much work in trying to specifically identify homophobic or transphobic text. In this paper, we will describe our approach for classifying transphobic and homophobic comments in the dataset provided by Chakravarthi et al. (2021b) as a part of the shared task on homophobia and transphobia detection in social media comments Chakravarthi et al. (2022).

# 2 Dataset Description

The dataset consists of a total of 15,141 comments in 3 languages: English, Tamil and Tamil-English code-mixed (refer to Table 1 for data distribution). Each comment has one of three labels "Homophobic", "Transphobic" and "Non-anti-LGBT+ content" (label distribution in Table 2).

### 3 Methodology

In this section we will describe the models used in our experimentation.

- **BERT**: BERT (Devlin et al., 2019) is a Transformer-based language model. It consists of layered encoder units, each with a self-attention layer followed by fully-connected layers. It is trained using the Masked Language Modelling (MLM) task as well as the Next Sentence Prediction (NSP) task. For this shared task, we have used the pretrained bert-base-uncased model from HuggingFace (Wolf et al., 2019).
- **RoBERTa**: RoBERTa (Liu et al., 2019) is a Transformer-based language model which

Language	Number of comments	Number of tokens	Number of characters
English	4,946	82,111	438,980
Tamil	4,161	197,237	539,559
Tamil-English	6,034	66,731	435,890
Total	15,141	346,079	1,414,429

Table 1: Distribution of comments in English, Tamil and Tamil-English.

Class	English	Tamil	Tamil English
Homophobic	276	723	465
Transphobic	13	233	184
Non-anti-LGBT+ content	4,657	3,205	5,385
Total	4,946	4,161	6,034

Table 2: Distribution between Homophobic, Transphobic and Non-anti-LGBT+ content.

improves upon the BERT architecture along several metrics offered by the GLUE benchmark (Wang et al., 2019). It is not trained on the NSP task and involves dynamic masking for the MLM task. It is also trained over a much larger dataset with longer sentence lengths. For this shared task, we have used the pretrained roberta-base model.

- HateBERT (Caselli et al., 2021) is a retrained BERT model to detect abusive language in English. It is trained on large amounts of banned Reddit comments extracted from the RAL-E dataset. It has been shown to outperform the BERT model in several hate-speech detection tasks.
- IndicBERT: IndicBERT (Kakwani et al., 2020) is an ALBERT Transformer encoder (Lan et al., 2020) finetuned on data from 12 major Indian languages, including 549M tokens of Tamil. Despite having significantly lower parameters than other multilingual encoders such as mBERT (Devlin et al., 2019) or XLM-R (Conneau et al., 2020), it outperforms them on several metrics of the IndicGLUE benchmark (Kakwani et al., 2020). We have used the IndicBERT model as a TLM for the Tamil and Tamil-English tracks.
- XGBoost Random Forest Classifier: Random Forest Classifiers (Ho, 1995) are meta estimators which consist of numerous decision trees, each fit upon a subset of features from a subset of rows of the data. The ensemble of many such weak learners tends to outperform a single large decision tree. The

low correlation between the constituent trees also provides for more feature coverage and curbs over-fitting. For this shared task, we use XGBoost's implementation of Random Forest Classifiers (Chen and Guestrin, 2016).

• **Bayesian Optimization**: The aim of any hyperparameter optimization strategy is to find the hyperparameter set which fetches the best value over the object function. Bayesian Optimization (Mockus, 1989) is an iterative optimization algorithm that aims to minimize the number of hyperparameter sets that must be evaluated before arriving at the optimal distribution. It has been shown to generate optimal solutions in significantly fewer iterations than traditional methods such as grid search. For this task, we have used the Python library: bayesian-optimization (Fernando, 2014).

# **4** Experiments and Results

The only pre-processing step done on the dataset before training was the change of emojis to text using the demoji library in python <sup>1</sup>. Our pipeline comprises an ensemble of several Transformerbased language models (TLM), namely: BERT, RoBERTa, and HateBERT for the English track and IndicBERT for the Tamil and Tamil-English tracks. Three copies of each TLM are used with different parameter initializations in each track. This allows for the copies to capture different features of the data. In addition to this, for each track, a layer of attention is applied to each constituent encoder layer outputs of the TLMs. This is necessary since

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>https://pypi.org/project/demoji/



Figure 1: Schematic overview of the architecture of our model.

Model	Accuracy	Macro	Macro	Macro F1	Weighted	Weighted	Weighted
		Precision	Recall		Precision	Recall	F1
BERT	0.92	0.48	0.42	0.44	0.9	0.92	0.91
RoBERTa	0.93	0.64	0.36	0.36	0.93	0.94	0.9
HateBERT	0.94	0.56	0.43	0.47	0.92	0.94	0.92
Ensemble	0.94	0.52	0.47	0.49	0.93	0.94	0.94

Table 3: Classification results of various models used on the English dataset.

each layer captures a different kind of information, which are variably relevant for our task. The weighted and combined output from the attention layer is then passed through a final linear layer and dropout layer (p = 0.3), followed by a Softmax operation to generate the predicted probabilities of detecting homophobic content in the given input text.

In the English track, we also use a pretrained hate-speech detection model implemented on HuggingFace (Wolf et al., 2019). Architecturally, is a ByT5-Base model (Xue et al., 2021) finetuned on HuggingFace's tweets\_hate\_speech\_detection dataset (Sharma, 2019).

The prediction probabilities are generated by each model of a track are passed as input features to a Random Forest Classifier. This helps further optimize our predictions by weighing the importance of the different architectures for the task.

Each of the TLM pipelines was finetuned upon Cross Entropy loss using AdamW optimizer (Loshchilov and Hutter, 2017) ( $\beta_1 = 0.9, \beta_2 =$   $0.999, \epsilon = 10^{-8}$ ) with an initial learning rate of  $2e^{-5}$  for 6 epochs each using a linear scheduler. The epoch checkpoint with the highest validation F1 score was selected for further use. The hyperparameters of the Random Forest Classifier were estimated using 10 seeds and 100 iterations of Bayesian Optimization. The ensemble classifier was trained with a learning rate of 1.0.

As can be seen in Table 3, our ensemble model performed better than the individually trained models giving a macro F1 score of 0.49 which was the 2nd highest macro F1 score in the shared task. This model also had the highest weighted F1 score in the task. The IndicBERT ensembles trained on the Tamil and Tamil-English dataset give us a macro F1 score of 0.55 and 0.35 and a weighted F1 score of 0.86 and 0.83 respectively (refer Table 4). The Tamil and Tamil-English model ranked 8th and 10th respectively.

Model	Accuracy	Macro	Macro	Macro F1	Weighted	Weighted	Weighted
		Precision	Recall		Precision	Recall	F1
Tamil-English	0.83	0.34	0.35	0.35	0.82	0.83	0.83
Tamil	0.88	0.52	0.58	0.55	0.85	0.88	0.86

Table 4: Classification results of IndicBERT finetuned on the Tamil-English and Tamil dataset.

### 5 Conclusion and Future Work

In this paper, we described our approach for homophobia and transphobia detection in English, Tamil and Tamil-English. We used an ensemble of three transformed based models along with a pre-trained hate detection model to do the classification for English. Our model was ranked 2nd for the English classification task. For the Tamil and Tamil-English dataset three copies of the IndicBERT model was used to make our ensemble based model. The models placed 8th and 10th for Tamil and Tamil-English model respectively.

In the future, we can use data augmentation methods like paraphrasing and back translation to increase the diversity and quantity of homophobic and transphobic text. We can also incorporate transliteration into the pipeline for Tamil-English code mixed text since IndicBERT is not trained on code mixed text. We could also try to finetune transformers pre-trained on code mixed data.

# References

- Aditya Bohra, Deepanshu Vijay, Vinay Singh, Syed Sarfaraz Akhtar, and Manish Shrivastava. 2018. A dataset of Hindi-English code-mixed social media text for hate speech detection. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Computational Modeling of People's Opinions, Personality, and Emotions in Social Media*, pages 36–41, New Orleans, Louisiana, USA. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Pete Burnap and Matthew L Williams. 2016. Us and them: identifying cyber hate on twitter across multiple protected characteristics. *EPJ Data Science*, 5(1).
- Tommaso Caselli, Valerio Basile, Jelena Mitrović, and Michael Granitzer. 2021. HateBERT: Retraining BERT for abusive language detection in English. In Proceedings of the 5th Workshop on Online Abuse and Harms (WOAH 2021), pages 17–25, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Thenmozhi Durairaj, John Phillip McCrae, Paul Buitaleer, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, and Rahul Ponnusamy. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Homophobia Transphobia Detection in Social Media Comments.

In Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Navya Jose, Anand Kumar M, Thomas Mandl, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, Rahul Ponnusamy, Hariharan R L, John P. McCrae, and Elizabeth Sherly. 2021a. Findings of the shared task on offensive language identification in Tamil, Malayalam, and Kannada. In Proceedings of the First Workshop on Speech and Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages, pages 133–145, Kyiv. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Rahul Ponnusamy, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, Kayalvizhi Sampath, Durairaj Thenmozhi, Sathiyaraj Thangasamy, Rajendran Nallathambi, and John Phillip McCrae. 2021b. Dataset for identification of homophobia and transophobia in multilingual youtube comments. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2109.00227*.
- Tianqi Chen and Carlos Guestrin. 2016. XGBoost: A scalable tree boosting system. In *Proceedings of the* 22nd ACM SIGKDD International Conference on Knowledge Discovery and Data Mining, KDD '16, pages 785–794, New York, NY, USA. ACM.
- Çağrı Çöltekin. 2020. A corpus of Turkish offensive language on social media. In *Proceedings of the 12th Language Resources and Evaluation Conference*, pages 6174–6184, Marseille, France. European Language Resources Association.
- Alexis Conneau, Kartikay Khandelwal, Naman Goyal, Vishrav Chaudhary, Guillaume Wenzek, Francisco Guzmán, Edouard Grave, Myle Ott, Luke Zettlemoyer, and Veselin Stoyanov. 2020. Unsupervised cross-lingual representation learning at scale. In Proceedings of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics, pages 8440– 8451, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Jacob Devlin, Ming-Wei Chang, Kenton Lee, and Kristina Toutanova. 2019. BERT: Pre-training of deep bidirectional transformers for language understanding. In Proceedings of the 2019 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Volume 1 (Long and Short Papers), pages 4171–4186, Minneapolis, Minnesota. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Nogueira Fernando. 2014. Bayesian Optimization: Open source constrained global optimization tool for Python.
- S E Gilman, S D Cochran, V M Mays, M Hughes, D Ostrow, and R C Kessler. 2001. Risk of psychiatric disorders among individuals reporting same-sex sexual partners in the national comorbidity survey. *American Journal of Public Health*, 91(6):933–939.
- Tin Kam Ho. 1995. Random decision forests. In *Proceedings of 3rd international conference on document analysis and recognition*, volume 1, pages 278–282. IEEE.
- Divyanshu Kakwani, Anoop Kunchukuttan, Satish Golla, Gokul N.C., Avik Bhattacharyya, Mitesh M. Khapra, and Pratyush Kumar. 2020. IndicNLPSuite: Monolingual corpora, evaluation benchmarks and pre-trained multilingual language models for Indian languages. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: EMNLP 2020*, pages 4948– 4961, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Zhenzhong Lan, Mingda Chen, Sebastian Goodman, Kevin Gimpel, Piyush Sharma, and Radu Soricut. 2020. Albert: A lite bert for self-supervised learning of language representations.
- Yinhan Liu, Myle Ott, Naman Goyal, Jingfei Du, Mandar Joshi, Danqi Chen, Omer Levy, Mike Lewis, Luke Zettlemoyer, and Veselin Stoyanov. 2019. Roberta: A robustly optimized bert pretraining approach.
- Ilya Loshchilov and Frank Hutter. 2017. Fixing weight decay regularization in adam. *CoRR*, abs/1711.05101.
- Shervin Malmasi and Marcos Zampieri. 2017. Detecting hate speech in social media. In *Proceedings* of the International Conference Recent Advances in Natural Language Processing, RANLP 2017, pages 467–472, Varna, Bulgaria. INCOMA Ltd.
- Michael P. Marshal, Laura J. Dietz, Mark S. Friedman, Ron Stall, Helen A. Smith, James McGinley, Brian C. Thoma, Pamela J. Murray, Anthony R. D'Augelli, and David A. Brent. 2011. Suicidality and depression disparities between sexual minority and heterosexual youth: A meta-analytic review. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 49(2):115–123.
- Jonas Mockus. 1989. Bayesian approach to global optimization. Kluwer Academic.
- Hamdy Mubarak, Ammar Rashed, Kareem Darwish, Younes Samih, and Ahmed Abdelali. 2021. Arabic offensive language on Twitter: Analysis and experiments. In Proceedings of the Sixth Arabic Natural Language Processing Workshop, pages 126–135, Kyiv, Ukraine (Virtual). Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Zesis Pitenis, Marcos Zampieri, and Tharindu Ranasinghe. 2020. Offensive language identification in Greek. In Proceedings of the 12th Language Resources and Evaluation Conference, pages 5113– 5119, Marseille, France. European Language Resources Association.
- Jing Qian, Anna Bethke, Yinyin Liu, Elizabeth Belding, and William Yang Wang. 2019. A benchmark dataset for learning to intervene in online hate speech. In Proceedings of the 2019 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing and the 9th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (EMNLP-IJCNLP), pages 4755– 4764, Hong Kong, China. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Sari L Reisner, Ralph Vetters, M Leclerc, Shayne Zaslow, Sarah Wolfrum, Daniel Shumer, and Matthew J Mimiaga. 2015. Mental health of transgender youth in care at an adolescent urban community health center: a matched retrospective cohort study. *The Journal of adolescent health : official publication of the Society for Adolescent Medicine*, 56(3):274–9.
- $\begin{array}{c|c} \mbox{Roshan} & \mbox{Sharma.} & \mbox{2019.} \\ \mbox{tweets}_hate_speech_detection datasets at hugging face. \end{array}$
- Gudbjartur Ingi Sigurbergsson and Leon Derczynski. 2020. Offensive language and hate speech detection for Danish. In Proceedings of the 12th Language Resources and Evaluation Conference, pages 3498–3508, Marseille, France. European Language Resources Association.
- Brendesha M. Tynes, Michael T. Giang, David R. Williams, and Geneene N. Thompson. 2008. Online racial discrimination and psychological adjustment among adolescents. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 43(6):565–569.
- Alex Wang, Amanpreet Singh, Julian Michael, Felix Hill, Omer Levy, and Samuel R. Bowman. 2019. GLUE: A multi-task benchmark and analysis platform for natural language understanding. In the Proceedings of ICLR.
- Thomas Wolf, Lysandre Debut, Victor Sanh, Julien Chaumond, Clement Delangue, Anthony Moi, Pierric Cistac, Tim Rault, Rémi Louf, Morgan Funtowicz, and Jamie Brew. 2019. Huggingface's transformers: State-of-the-art natural language processing. *CoRR*, abs/1910.03771.
- Michał Wypych and Michał Bilewicz. 2022. Psychological toll of hate speech: The role of acculturation stress in the effects of exposure to ethnic slurs on mental health among ukrainian immigrants in poland. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*.
- Linting Xue, Aditya Barua, Noah Constant, Rami Al-Rfou, Sharan Narang, Mihir Kale, Adam Roberts, and Colin Raffel. 2021. Byt5: Towards a token-free future with pre-trained byte-to-byte models. *CoRR*, abs/2105.13626.

Marcos Zampieri, Shervin Malmasi, Preslav Nakov, Sara Rosenthal, Noura Farra, and Ritesh Kumar. 2019. SemEval-2019 task 6: Identifying and categorizing offensive language in social media (OffensEval). In *Proceedings of the 13th International Workshop on Semantic Evaluation*, pages 75–86, Minneapolis, Minnesota, USA. Association for Computational Linguistics.

# OPI@LT-EDI-ACL2022: Detecting Signs of Depression from Social Media Text using RoBERTa Pre-trained Language Models

Rafał Poświata & Michał Perełkiewicz National Information Processing Institute, 00-608 Warsaw, Poland {rposwiata, mperelkiewicz}@opi.org.pl

### Abstract

This paper presents our winning solution for the Shared Task on Detecting Signs of Depression from Social Media Text at LT-EDI-ACL2022. The task was to create a system that, given social media posts in English, should detect the level of depression as 'not depressed', 'moderately depressed' or 'severely depressed'. We based our solution on transformer-based language models. We fine-tuned selected models: BERT, RoBERTa, XLNet, of which the best results were obtained for RoBERTalarge. Then, using the prepared corpus, we trained our own language model called DepRoBERTa (RoBERTa for Depression Detection). Fine-tuning of this model improved the results. The third solution was to use the ensemble averaging, which turned out to be the best solution. It achieved a macro-averaged F1-score of 0.583. The source code of prepared solution is available at https://github.com/rafalposwiata/depressiondetection-lt-edi-2022.

### 1 Introduction

Depression (major depressive disorder) is a common and serious medical illness that, according to World Health Organization (WHO), already affects about 322 million people worldwide (WHO, 2017). The main symptoms of depression include: feeling sad or having a depressed mood, loss of interest or pleasure, feeling worthless or guilty, insomnia or hypersomnia, thoughts of death and suicidal ideation or suicide attempts (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). When diagnosed and treated quickly, it can greatly improve quality of live and in some cases even save it. Such rapid detection of depression signs is possible, for example, based on the social media posts of the individual (De Choudhury et al., 2013). Following this assumption, Sampath et al. (2022) organized at LT-EDI-ACL2022 the Shared Task on Detecting Signs of Depression from Social Media Text. The task was to create a system that, given social media

posts in English, should classify the level of depression as **'not depressed'**, **'moderately depressed'** or **'severely depressed'**.

In this paper we present our solution for this competition. The paper is organized as follows. Section 2 describes related work with particular emphasis on issues of depression detection in social media. Section 3 presents the dataset and its modification. The process of developing our solution is explained in Section 4. The next section shows performed experiments, the results, along with the error analysis. Finally, Section 6 concludes this paper.

### 2 Related Work

De Choudhury et al. (2013) authored one of the first papers on detecting depression based on social media posts. In their work, they collected a group of **Twitter**<sup>1</sup> users diagnosed with depression whose one-year posts were used to create a statistical classifier to estimate the risk of depression. Tsugawa et al. (2015) prepared the dataset in a similar way but for Japanese users, and then trained a Support Vector Machines (SVM) classifier to estimate the presence of active depression. Wolohan et al. (2018) created a dataset based on **Reddit**<sup>2</sup> posts in which users were assigned to one group: depressed or control. Then, among other things, they analyzed their posts using the Linguistic Inquiry and Wordcount Tool (LIWC) (Pennebaker et al., 2015). Pirina and Çöltekin (2018) also used Reddit as a data source and with other datasets they verified how training data can affect the quality of a SVM-based model to identify depression. Tadesse et al. (2019) use different types of approaches to text encoding (the LIWC dictionary, Latent Dirichlet Allocation (LDA) topics or N-grams) to explore the users' linguistic usage in the depressive posts. Arora and Arora (2019) analyze tweets for depression and anxiety by using Multinomial Naive Bayes

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>https://twitter.com

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>https://www.reddit.com
PID	Text	Label
train_pid_6035	Happy New Years Everyone : We made it another year	not depression
train_pid_35	My life gets worse every year : That's what it feels like anyway	moderate
train_pid_8066	Words can't describe how bad I feel right now : I just want to fall asleep forever.	severe

Table 1: Samples from the dataset.

and Support Vector Regression (SVR) Algorithm as a classifier. Lin et al. (2020) create **SenseMood** system to detect depression from tweets based on visual and textual features using Convolutional Neural Network (CNN) and BERT language model. Zogan et al. (2021) propose novel summarization boosted deep framework for depression detection called **DepressionNet**. Other works worth mentioning include Aswathy et al. (2019); Haque et al. (2021); William and Suhartono (2021).

For text-based classification, the last few years have been primarily a time of deep learning and large pre-trained transformer-based language models (Min et al., 2021). This kind of solutions achieve state-of-the-art results for numerous classification tasks (Devlin et al., 2019; Liu et al., 2019; Chan et al., 2020; Dadas et al., 2020).

### **3** Dataset

The dataset used in the competition consists of English posts from Reddit, where each was annotated with one of the labels: not depression, moderate and severe (Kayalvizhi and Thenmozhi, 2022). The first label indicates a case where no signs of depression were identified. The other two labels show that symptoms in the post indicate moderate or severe depression respectively. Example texts with labels from the dataset are presented in Table 1. The dataset was divided into three parts: train, dev, and test. Labels for the test part were not provided by the organizers, as this one was the part on which the solutions were verified. To verify the quality of the collections used to prepare the solution (train, dev), we first verified their diversity by removing duplicate records containing the same posts. As a result of this step, we noticed that the train set consists of a large number of the same examples, and the unique ones are only 2,720 (out of 8,891 total). In the case of the dev set, the difference was much smaller, i.e., 4,481 unique against 4,496 all. It is good practice to make the train set larger than the dev or test set. This is especially important when using machine learning or deep learning methods where the quality of the model directly depends on

the number and variety of samples during training. Therefore, we decided to use part of the dev set for training, leaving **1,000** examples for verification (we kept the class distribution close to the original one). As a result, the train set we used in our experiments counted **6,006** unique examples (the final number is due to the fact that there were overlaps between the original train and dev sets). The whole process of preparing the dataset, including class distribution, is shown in Figure 1. What is worth noting is that the dataset is unbalanced, and the severe class is underrepresented.

### 4 Our solution

We organized the work on our solution into three steps, which will be presented in the following subsections.

# 4.1 Fine-tuned Transformer-Based Language Models

First, we fine-tune several commonly used English pre-trained language models. We use the standard fine-tuning procedure like Devlin et al. (2019), which involves training pre-trained language model with classification head on top (a linear layer on top of the pooled output). The following models were utilized: **BERT** (Devlin et al., 2019), **RoBERTa** (Liu et al., 2019) and **XLNet** (Yang et al., 2019). Both in base and large version. All models were downloaded from the Hugging Face hub<sup>3</sup>. The best result on the dev set was achieved by **RoBERTa**<sub>large</sub>, which will be further described in Section 5.3.

### 4.2 Pre-trained and Fine-tuned Domain Specific Transformer-Based Language Model

The models used in the previous step were pretrained on general domain corpora (e.g. English Wikipedia or BooksCorpus). It can be assumed that most of the texts from these corpora did not manifest symptoms of depression. Inspired by Lee et al. (2019), we decided to pre-train our own

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>https://huggingface.co/models



Figure 1: The process of preparing the dataset including the distribution of classes at each step. The dashes (-) are due to the lack of labels for the test set.

$$\mathbf{y_{ensemble}} = \arg \max(\frac{\operatorname{softmax}(\mathbf{y'_{RoBERTa_{large}}}) + \operatorname{softmax}(\mathbf{y'_{DepRoBERTa}})}{2})$$
(1)

language model on texts mainly expressing depression. We built a corpus based on the Reddit Mental Health Dataset (Low et al., 2020) and a dataset of 20,000 posts from r/depression and r/SuicideWatch subreddits<sup>4</sup>. We filtered the data appropriately, leaving mainly those related to depression (31,2%), anxiety (20,5%) and suicide (18.1%), which resulted in a corpora consisting of 396,968 posts. We used a further pre-training technique where the model weights were initialized with the RoBERTalarge model weights, since it was the fine-tuning of this particular model that gave the best results in the first step. We called the resulting model DepRoBERTa (RoBERTa for Depression Detection). For more information on the corpus statistics and the pre-training process, we refer you to the appendices. Then, as with the models in Section 4.1, we performed DepRoBERTa fine-tuning on the train set.

#### 4.3 Ensemble

In the last step, we combined the best models obtained in the previous steps using **ensemble** 

**averaging** (Naftaly et al., 1999). This method involves averaging the predictions from a group of models, and its implementation in our case is presented in Equation 1. Where  $y'_{RoBERTa_{large}}$ and  $y'_{DepRoBERTa}$  are vectors of raw (nonnormalized) predictions generated by fine-tuned RoBERTa<sub>large</sub> and DepRoBERTa, respectively.

Parameter	Value
Optimizer	AdamW
Learning rate	5e-6
Batch size	16
Dropout	0.1
Weight decay (L2)	0.1
Epochs	10
Validation after no. steps	100
Max sequence length	300

Table 2: Hyper-parameters used when fine-tuning models.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>https://www.kaggle.com/xavrig/reddit-datasetrdepression-and-rsuicidewatch

Model	Accuracy	Precision	Recall	F1-score
<b>BERT</b> <sub>base</sub>	0.627	0.586	0.574	0.579
<b>BERT</b> <sub>large</sub>	0.606	0.568	0.566	0.566
<b>RoBERTa</b> base	0.622	0.567	0.573	0.570
<b>RoBERTa</b> large	0.664	<u>0.629</u>	<u>0.591</u>	0.605
XLNet <sub>base</sub>	<u>0.654</u>	0.632	0.576	0.590
XLNet <sub>large</sub>	0.639	0.611	0.597	<u>0.602</u>
DepRoBERTa	0.661	0.628	0.607	0.616
Ensemble	0.695	0.663	0.621	0.637

Table 3: Results of each model on the dev set. Bolded and underlined values indicate the best and second-best scores for models from each of the three steps for a given measure.

Model	Accuracy	Precision	Recall	F1-score
RoBERTalarge	0.614	<u>0.583</u>	0.564	0.552
DepRoBERTa	0.626	0.575	<u>0.588</u>	<u>0.571</u>
Ensemble	0.658	0.586	0.591	0.583

Table 4: Results of submitted models on the test set (official competition results made available by the competition organisers). Bolded and underlined values indicate the best and second-best scores for the measure, respectively.

#### **5** Experiments and Results

#### 5.1 Experimental Setup

We utilized Simple Transformers library (Rajapakse, 2019) to perform experiments, including models fine-tuning and pre-training the DepRoBERTa model. Used hyper-parameters are presented in Table 2. The fine-tuning procedure for each model was repeated 5 times using the train and dev sets described in Section 3. All experiments were run on a single GPU Tesla V100.

#### 5.2 Metrics

The metrics used during the experiments are accuracy, macro-averaged precision, macro-averaged recall and macro-averaged F1-score across all the classes. The macro-averaged F1-score was the main measure when evaluating solutions.

#### 5.3 Results

Table 3 shows the results on the dev set. Among the fine-tuned transformer-based language models, **RoBERTa<sub>large</sub>** model was the best in terms of accuracy (**0.664**) and F1-score (**0.605**). In the other two measures, **XLNet** models were better, respectively **XLNet<sub>base</sub>** for precision (**0.632**) and **XLNet<sub>large</sub>** for recall (**0.597**). **RoBERTa<sub>large</sub>** was second in these cases. We improved the F1-score by **0.011** using the **DepRoBERTa** fine-tuned model. This was mainly due to the high score for the recall measure (0.607), as the results for the other measures were worse than **RoBERTa**<sub>large</sub>. Ensemble proved to be the best approach by achieving the highest scores on each measure, having an F1-score of 0.637 (an improvement of 0.021 over **DepRoBERTa**). Due to these results, we have chosen as our official competition solutions: **RoBERTa**<sub>large</sub>, **DepRoBERTa** and **Ensemble**. The results they achieved on the test set are presented in Table 4. As expected, **Ensemble** proved to be the best by achieving an F1-score of 0.583. This score gave our team the 1st place among the **31** participating teams.

### 5.4 Errors Analysis

To be able to evaluate the errors and strengths of our models, we created the confusion matrices shown in Figure 2. Each model specializes in one class, i.e. it achieves the best results for a different class. **RoBERTa<sub>large</sub>** performs best for the **not depression** class, **DepRoBERTa** for the **severe** class, and **Ensemble** for the **moderate** class. The most common mistake is to assign a **severe** class to a post originally tagged as **moderate**. A mistake that also often occurs is confusion between **not depression** and **modereate** classes. The analysis was carried out on the dev set as the competition organisers did not provide labels for the test set.



Figure 2: Normalized confusion matrices for RoBERTa<sub>large</sub>, DepRoBERTa and their ensemble on the dev set.

#### 6 Conclusion

In this paper, we presented a solution to the Shared Task on Detecting Signs of Depression from Social Media Text at LT-EDI-ACL2022. The use of ensemble averaging previously fine-tuned language models proved to be the best. As part of this work, in addition to the models designed for this competition, we also prepared a new pre-train language model, DepRoBERTa. In the future it can be used for other depression detection tasks. We plan to pretrain it further on a larger corpus of texts expressing depression, as an extension of this work.

The code of our solution and prepared models are available online at https://github.com/rafalposwiata/depressiondetection-lt-edi-2022.

#### References

- American Psychiatric Association. 2013. *Diagnostic* and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fifth Edition. American Psychiatric Association, Arlington, VA.
- Priyanka Arora and Parul Arora. 2019. Mining twitter data for depression detection. In 2019 International Conference on Signal Processing and Communication (ICSC), pages 186–189.
- K S Aswathy, P C Rafeeque, and Reena Murali. 2019. Deep learning approach for the detection of depression in twitter. In *Proceedings of the International Conference on Systems, Energy Environment (IC-SEE).*
- A. T. BECK, C. H. WARD, M. MENDELSON, J. MOCK, and J. ERBAUGH. 1961. An Inventory

for Measuring Depression. Archives of General Psychiatry, 4(6):561–571.

- Branden Chan, Stefan Schweter, and Timo Möller. 2020. German's next language model. In Proceedings of the 28th International Conference on Computational Linguistics, pages 6788–6796, Barcelona, Spain (Online). International Committee on Computational Linguistics.
- Glen Coppersmith, Mark Dredze, Craig Harman, Kristy Hollingshead, and Margaret Mitchell. 2015. CLPsych 2015 shared task: Depression and PTSD on Twitter. In Proceedings of the 2nd Workshop on Computational Linguistics and Clinical Psychology: From Linguistic Signal to Clinical Reality, pages 31– 39, Denver, Colorado. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Sławomir Dadas, Michał Perełkiewicz, and Rafał Poświata. 2020. Pre-training polish transformerbased language models at scale. In *Artificial Intelligence and Soft Computing*, pages 301–314. Springer International Publishing.
- Munmun De Choudhury, Michael Gamon, Scott Counts, and Eric Horvitz. 2013. Predicting depression via social media. *Proceedings of the International AAAI Conference on Web and Social Media*, 7(1):128–137.
- Jacob Devlin, Ming-Wei Chang, Kenton Lee, and Kristina Toutanova. 2019. BERT: Pre-training of deep bidirectional transformers for language understanding. In Proceedings of the 2019 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Volume 1 (Long and Short Papers), pages 4171–4186, Minneapolis, Minnesota. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Ayaan Haque, Viraaj Reddi, and Tyler Giallanza. 2021. Deep learning for suicide and depression identification with unsupervised label correction. In Artificial Neural Networks and Machine Learning – ICANN

*2021*, pages 436–447, Cham. Springer International Publishing.

- S Kayalvizhi and D Thenmozhi. 2022. Data set creation and empirical analysis for detecting signs of depression from social media postings. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2202.03047*.
- Jinhyuk Lee, Wonjin Yoon, Sungdong Kim, Donghyeon Kim, Sunkyu Kim, Chan So, and Jaewoo Kang. 2019. Biobert: a pre-trained biomedical language representation model for biomedical text mining. *Bioinformatics (Oxford, England)*, 36.
- Chenhao Lin, Pengwei Hu, Hui Su, Shaochun Li, Jing Mei, Jie Zhou, and Henry Leung. 2020. *Sense-Mood: Depression Detection on Social Media*, page 407–411. Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA.
- Yinhan Liu, Myle Ott, Naman Goyal, Jingfei Du, Mandar Joshi, Danqi Chen, Omer Levy, Mike Lewis, Luke Zettlemoyer, and Veselin Stoyanov. 2019. Roberta: A robustly optimized bert pretraining approach. ArXiv, abs/1907.11692.
- David E. Losada, Fabio Crestani, and Javier Parapar. 2020. Overview of erisk 2020: Early risk prediction on the internet. In *Experimental IR Meets Multilinguality, Multimodality, and Interaction: 11th International Conference of the CLEF Association, CLEF 2020, Thessaloniki, Greece, September 22–25,* 2020, Proceedings, page 272–287, Berlin, Heidelberg. Springer-Verlag.
- David E. Losada, Fabio A. Crestani, and Javier Parapar. 2017. Clef 2017 erisk overview: Early risk prediction on the internet: Experimental foundations. In *CLEF*.
- David E. Losada, Fabio A. Crestani, and Javier Parapar. 2018. Overview of erisk 2018: Early risk prediction on the internet (extended lab overview). In *CLEF*.
- David E. Losada, Fabio A. Crestani, and Javier Parapar. 2019. Overview of erisk at clef 2019: Early risk prediction on the internet (extended overview). In *CLEF*.
- Daniel M Low, Laurie Rumker, John Torous, Guillermo Cecchi, Satrajit S Ghosh, and Tanya Talkar. 2020. Natural language processing reveals vulnerable mental health support groups and heightened health anxiety on reddit during covid-19: Observational study. *Journal of medical Internet research*, 22(10):e22635.
- Bonan Min, Hayley H. Ross, Elior Sulem, Amir Pouran Ben Veyseh, Thien Huu Nguyen, Oscar Sainz, Eneko Agirre, Ilana Heinz, and Dan Roth. 2021. Recent advances in natural language processing via large pre-trained language models: A survey. *ArXiv*, abs/2111.01243.
- Ury Naftaly, Nathan Intrator, and David Horn. 1999. Optimal ensemble averaging of neural networks. *Network: Computation in Neural Systems*, 8.

- Javier Parapar, Patricia MartÃn, David E. Losada, and Fabio Crestani. 2021. Overview of eRisk 2021: Early Risk Prediction on the Internet. In *Experimental IR Meets Multilinguality, Multimodality, and Interaction Proceedings of the Twelfth International Conference of the CLEF Association (CLEF 2021).* Springer International Publishing.
- James W. Pennebaker, Ryan Boyd, Kayla Jordan, and Kate Blackburn. 2015. *The development and psychometric properties of LIWC2015*. University of Texas at Austin.
- Inna Pirina and Çağrı Çöltekin. 2018. Identifying depression on Reddit: The effect of training data. In Proceedings of the 2018 EMNLP Workshop SMM4H: The 3rd Social Media Mining for Health Applications Workshop & Shared Task, pages 9–12, Brussels, Belgium. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Daniel Preoţiuc-Pietro, Maarten Sap, H. Andrew Schwartz, and Lyle Ungar. 2015. Mental illness detection at the world well-being project for the CLPsych 2015 shared task. In Proceedings of the 2nd Workshop on Computational Linguistics and Clinical Psychology: From Linguistic Signal to Clinical Reality, pages 40–45, Denver, Colorado. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- T. C. Rajapakse. 2019. Simple transformers. https: //github.com/ThilinaRajapakse/ simpletransformers.
- Philip Resnik, William Armstrong, Leonardo Claudino, and Thang Nguyen. 2015. The University of Maryland CLPsych 2015 shared task system. In Proceedings of the 2nd Workshop on Computational Linguistics and Clinical Psychology: From Linguistic Signal to Clinical Reality, pages 54–60, Denver, Colorado. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Kayalvizhi Sampath, Thenmozhi Durairaj, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, and Jerin Mahibha C. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Detecting Signs of Depression from Social Media. In Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Michael M. Tadesse, Hongfei Lin, Bo Xu, and Liang Yang. 2019. Detection of depression-related posts in reddit social media forum. *IEEE Access*, 7:44883– 44893.
- Sho Tsugawa, Yusuke Kikuchi, Fumio Kishino, Kosuke Nakajima, Yuichi Itoh, and Hiroyuki Ohsaki. 2015. Recognizing depression from twitter activity. *Proceedings of the 33rd Annual ACM Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*.
- WHO. 2017. Depression and other common mental disorders: global health estimates. World Health Organization.

- David William and Derwin Suhartono. 2021. Textbased depression detection on social media posts: A systematic literature review. *Procedia Computer Science*, 179:582–589. 5th International Conference on Computer Science and Computational Intelligence 2020.
- JT Wolohan, Misato Hiraga, Atreyee Mukherjee, Zeeshan Ali Sayyed, and Matthew Millard. 2018. Detecting linguistic traces of depression in topic-restricted text: Attending to self-stigmatized depression with NLP. In *Proceedings of the First International Workshop on Language Cognition and Computational Models*, pages 11–21, Santa Fe, New Mexico, USA. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Zhilin Yang, Zihang Dai, Yiming Yang, Jaime Carbonell, Russ R Salakhutdinov, and Quoc V Le. 2019. Xlnet: Generalized autoregressive pretraining for language understanding. In Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems, volume 32. Curran Associates, Inc.
- Hamad Zogan, Imran Razzak, Shoaib Jameel, and Guandong Xu. 2021. Depressionnet: A novel summarization boosted deep framework for depression detection on social media. *ArXiv*, abs/2105.10878.

### Appendix

### **A Previous competitions**

The Shared Task on Detecting Signs of Depression from Social Media Text at LT-EDI-ACL2022 was not the first competition to address the topic of depression detection. To the best of our knowledge, the first was the CLPsych 2015 Shared Task: **Depression and PTSD on Twitter** (Coppersmith et al., 2015). The shared task consisted of three tasks, two of which related to depression: identifying depressed users from a control group and distinguishing depressed users from those with PTSD (post-traumatic stress disorder). The SVM classifier and its variants have proven to be the best and most popular solution (Resnik et al., 2015; Preotiuc-Pietro et al., 2015). This was followed by a series of eRisk competitions as part of the CLEF conference (Losada et al., 2017, 2018, 2019, 2020; Parapar et al., 2021). In the first two editions (2017-2018), the problem was defined as an early risk detection task. So, in addition to identifying depression, the system should be able to do so by having the shortest possible list of posts or chunks of a user's posting history. In subsequent editions (2019-2021), participants were asked to create systems that would determine a user's severity of depression based on their posts by predicting their responses to a standard depression questionnaire derived from the Beck's Depression Inventory

(BDI) (BECK et al., 1961). In the case of eRisk contests, the datasets created were based on Reddit posts.

#### **B** Reddit Depression Corpora

subreddit	# posts	%
depression	123,824	31.2
suicidewatch	71,816	18.1
anxiety	53,797	13.6
bpd	21,836	5.5
lonely	21,399	5.4
socialanxiety	19,648	4.9
fitness	10,000	2.5
jokes	10,000	2.5
legaladvice	10,000	2.5
parenting	10,000	2.5
personalfinance	10,000	2.5
relationships	10,000	2.5
healthanxiety	7,847	2.0
ptsd	7,551	1.9
bipolarreddit	5,186	1.3
teaching	4,064	1.0

Table 5: Statistics of the corpus formed to pre-trainDepRoBERTa.

### C DepRoBERTa

Parameter	Value
Optimizer	AdamW
Learning rate	4e-5
Batch size	50
Dropout	0.1
Epochs	10
Training samples	389,028
Validation samples	7,940
Validation after no. steps	5,000

Table 6:Configuration used when pre-trainingDepRoBERTa.

# FilipN@LT-EDI-ACL2022-Detecting signs of Depression from Social Media: Examining the use of summarization methods as data augmentation for text classification

Filip Nilsson and György Kovács EISLAB Machine Learning Lulea University of Technology filnil-8@student.ltu.se,gyorgy.kovacs@ltu.se

### Abstract

Depression is a common mental disorder that severely affects the quality of life, and can lead to suicide. When diagnosed in time, mild, moderate, and even severe depression can be treated. This is why it is vital to detect signs of depression in time. One possibility for this is the use of text classification models on social media posts. Transformers have achieved state-of-theart performance on a variety of similar text classification tasks. One drawback, however, is that when the dataset is imbalanced, the performance of these models may be negatively affected. Because of this, in this paper, we examine the effect of balancing a depression detection dataset using data augmentation. In particular, we use abstractive summarization techniques for data augmentation. We examine the effect of this method on the LT-EDI-ACL2022 task. Our results show that when increasing the multiplicity of the minority classes to the right degree, this data augmentation method can in fact improve classification scores on the task.

### 1 Introduction

The number of people suffering from depression has been steadily increasing since the 1990s (of Health Metrics and Evaluation, 2019), therefore it is essential that we find an efficient method to identify this on the internet. Over the past few years, transformers have taken over the field of Natural Language Processing (NLP) and achieved state-of-the-art results on various problems (Wolf et al., 2020).

Some classification problems in machine learning deal with the problem of class imbalance. In this paper, we examine the effect different degrees of data augmentation have on the performance of transformer models on a text classification task. The method of data augmentation is done using abstractive summarizations. Our data augmentation is done by first generating summarizations for each of the training examples and then balance the dataset using these generated summarizations. For this, first we discuss the related literature in Section 2. Then in Section 3 we briefly describe the dataset used. This will be followed by the description of our methods in Section 4, after which we discuss our results in Section 5, then end the paper with our conclusions and plans for future work in Section 6.

### 2 Related work

Data augmentation is nothing new to the field of NLP, it is one of the standard approaches when improving the results of a model. There are many different approaches to data augmentation and the NLP survey (Feng et al., 2021) puts these methods into three different categories rule-based, example interpolation and model-based techniques. The latter is the approach that we focus on in this paper in which we use the T5 (Raffel et al., 2019) model to summarize the original posts. There are multiple different tasks that data augmentation can aim to solve such as mitigating bias, fixing class imbalance and few-shot learning. Yet in this paper we solely focus on fixing class imbalance.

The area of data augmentation for fine-tuning transformers is limited and is still being explored (Feng et al., 2021). Yet some research has been done such as GenAug (Feng et al., 2020) which describes methods to use data augmentation to fine-tune text generators. GenAug focuses on character-level synthetic noise and keyword replacement as augmentation methods for fine-tuning. Although this data augmentation is done for text generation with GPT-2 (Radford et al., 2019) and not for a sentiment-analysis task. The (Kumar et al., 2020) paper shows that there are effective ways to use data augmentation methods to fine-tune transformers to achieve better results on abstractive summarization.

Using transformers as a data augmentation method has been done previously in papers such as (Sabry et al., 2022) where they used DialoGPT (Zhang et al., 2019) to generate new training data and effectively double the training data. The augmented dataset was then used to fine-tune a T5 model where they showed a positive effect on the results.

Previous work using transformers to detect depression in social media posts has been done by (Martínez-Castaño et al., 2020). Where they used the BERT transformer to analyze the risk a user was of self-harming themselves by classifying social media posts from that user.

### 3 Data

The dataset was provided by the organizers of LT-EDI-ACL2022 (Sampath et al., 2022) in the competition and it contains social media posts from different users, categorized as severe, moderate and not depression. The dataset was created and annotated by the methods described in (Kayalvizhi and Thenmozhi, 2022). These posts differ greatly from BERTs training data, the dataset is not very large and very imbalanced (some classes are largely underrepresented). Therefore a good dataset to study the effect of data augmentation.

We were provided a training set, validation set and a test set. Labels for the test set however, have not been published yet. Hence this paper is based solely on the results from the training and validation set, therefore our validation set is used as a test set, further references in this paper to a test set is the validation set from the LT-EDI-ACL2022 competition. Table 1 shows our datasets.

Class	Training	Test
Severe	901	360
Moderate	6019	2306
Not Depression	1971	1830
All	8891	4496

Table 1: The number of labels for the two datasets.

### 4 Methodology

The pipeline used in this paper consists of two major parts, the first part performs the data augmentation by summarizing the training dataset, the second part is the classification of the levels of depression. Our approach to solving the problem of detecting depression in social media posts is to finetune a multiclass BERT transformer on our dataset using different degrees of data augmentation. The following section will describe in-depth how this is done. To ensure repeatability, our code is shared in a Github<sup>1</sup> repository.

### 4.1 Preprocessing

Minimal preprocessing was done on the dataset, URLs were removed and we used Huggingface base pre-trained BERT tokenizer<sup>2</sup> trained on Word-Piece.

#### 4.2 Data Augmentation

In NLP two major approaches to summarization has evolved, namely extractive and abstractive summarization. Extractive is when the model receives a text as input and has to select the best concatenation of sentences that best summarizes that input. Whereas in abstractive summarization the model has to generate the summarization by itself.

In this paper we chose to use Google's T5 (Raffel et al., 2019) which is a text-to-text transformer pre-trained on the c4 dataset<sup>3</sup> then fine-tuned for abstractive summarization. Even though the c4 dataset differs from our dataset T5 still achieves state of the art results in summarization and hence was used for the task of summarization in this task. We chose to use Huggingface implementation of t5-base<sup>4</sup>. T5 is trained on a maximum sequence length of 512 tokens, that is a limitation of the model since it cannot always take the entire post as input.

As seen in Table 2 the summarizations that T5 produces do not always include the most important part of the sentiment in the social media post. In Table 2 the 30 token summary of the severe example includes suicide attempts which can be vital for the classification while the 10 token summary misses that.

We chose a specific length by which t5-base should generate its summarizations. These lengths were between 10 and 50 tokens and went through all the training examples in the underrepresented classes. Which were randomly sampled when balancing respective class for the training dataset.

The data augmentation was done in five different degrees of how balanced the underrepresented classes were. This balancing can be seen in Table 3, in the 0 example we have the training dataset.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>https://github.com/flippe3/DSDSM\_augmentation

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>https://ai.googleblog.com/2021/12/a-fast-wordpiece-tokenization-system.html

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>https://ai.googleblog.com/2020/02/exploring-transferlearning-with-t5.html

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>https://huggingface.co/t5-base

Туре	Severe	Not depression
Original	I'm really struggling : So I don't know how	Hows everyone doing on this new years
	to start things like this, So I'll start with	eve? : I know as well as everyone new
	basics. I'm 16yo, diagnosed depression at	years makes you think back and regret and
	14yo. Since then, my life is total mess. I've	wonder why you're still here one more year.
	already been to two different psychologists,	Well i'm spending new years alone at home
	both of them said that i'm kind of unfixable,	and I'm just wondering how everyone is
	but that might be due to my young age.	doing and if you need a place to vent or
		talk this can be a safe place for you.
30 token	i'm 16yo, diagnosed depression at 14yo.	i'm spending new years alone at home and
	since start of 2019, my life got even worse.	wondering how everyone is doing. if you
	i've had 6 suicide attempts, all of them	need a place to vent or talk this can
	ended up with getting yelled at	
10 token	i'm 16yo, diagnosed depression at 14yo.	i'm spending new years alone at home and
	i'm	

Table 2: Two examples of different summarizations over different classes.

Class	0	25	50	75	100
Severe	901	1505	3010	4515	6019
Moderate	6019	6019	6019	6019	6019
Not Depression	1971	1971	3010	4515	6019

Table 3: The different degrees of balancing.

In the 50 example we can see that the two underrepresented classes have been augmented by the summarization examples, the 50 represents that both of the classes now are at least 50 percent as large as the largest class.

### 4.3 Classification

To measure how well our model preforms we chose to use Googles's BERT (Devlin et al., 2019), with the base configuration that has 12 layers and 110 million parameters. BERT is a bidirectional transformer trained for language modeling. We chose to use BERT as the underlying model as it has become the standard in transformers when fine-tuned on downstream tasks. We used the Huggingface implementation of bert-base-uncased<sup>5</sup> for easier experimentation. The fine-tuning was done using a multiclass labelling version of BERT. We used weighted Adam optimizer and a linear scheduler as that generated the best results.

### 5 Experiments and results

The following subsection describes the experiments and result that were produced. BERT ran four epochs of fine-tuning and the best Macro F1-score was chosen to represent the result for that model. The models were trained on a shared DGX-1 cluster with  $8 \times 32$ GB Nvidia V100 GPUs.

### 5.1 Results

To evaluate the proposed data augmentation method, we applied it on the multi class classification task of the LT-EDI-ACL2022 challenge. In the competition we placed 31th using a method of classification that preformed similarly to the model presented in this paper. Before writing this paper however we changed our model to BERT and added the data augmentation. Our results on the validation set distributed with the challenge are outlined in Table 4. As can be seen in Table 4, although augmenting the data to the point of a completely balanced dataset improves the recall, it is at the cost of a lower precision. However, when selecting the degree of balancing carefully, one can improve the recall without a significant negative effect on precision. Unfortunately, here, we were not able to add results on the test set, however, upon the release of test labels, we would amend our table with classification scores attained on the test set too.

Score	0	25	50	75	100
Macro F1	0.50	0.52	0.52	0.52	0.49
Macro Recall	0.50	0.52	0.54	0.51	0.52
Macro Precision	0.57	0.57	0.57	0.55	0.56

Table 4: F1-Macro scores on five different degrees of data augmentation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>https://huggingface.co/bert-base-uncased

### 6 Conclusions and Future Work

We examined a method of using an abstractive summarization model, T5 to do data augmentation. This was done before fine-tuning a BERT transformer on the dataset which was balanced to different degrees. We found that with the right degree of augmentation, the proposed method improved the performance of the BERT model on the task of detecting signs of depression. One technique that can be examined for further improvement of the proposed model is splitting the posts longer than 512 tokens into several parts, summarizing the parts individually, and creating the final summary by concatenating the individual summaries. Future work for data augmentation for fine-tuning transformers could be done by comparing the result using an extractive summarization method such as MatchSum (Zhong et al., 2020). Our method was examined on one dataset, future work should use this technique of data augmentation to fine-tune for different domains on multiple datasets. There are also different methods of augmentation other than summarization that future work should examine and compare. In this paper we used BERT for our classification, future work should use other transformer models to see how they perform using our augmentation method.

### References

- Jacob Devlin, Ming-Wei Chang, Kenton Lee, and Kristina Toutanova. 2019. Bert: Pre-training of deep bidirectional transformers for language understanding. *Proceedings of the 2019 Conference of the North*.
- Steven Feng, Varun Gangal, Jason Wei, Sarath Chandar, Soroush Vosoughi, Teruko Mitamura, and Eduard Hovy. 2021. A survey of data augmentation approaches for nlp. *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: ACL-IJCNLP 2021*.
- Steven Y. Feng, Varun Gangal, Dongyeop Kang, Teruko Mitamura, and Eduard Hovy. 2020. Genaug: Data augmentation for finetuning text generators. Proceedings of Deep Learning Inside Out (DeeLIO): The First Workshop on Knowledge Extraction and Integration for Deep Learning Architectures.
- S Kayalvizhi and D Thenmozhi. 2022. Data set creation and empirical analysis for detecting signs of depression from social media postings. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2202.03047*.
- Varun Kumar, Ashutosh Choudhary, and Eunah Cho. 2020. Data augmentation using pre-trained transformer models.

- Rodrigo Martínez-Castaño, Amal Htait, Leif Azzopardi, and Yashar Moshfeghi. 2020. Early risk detection of self-harm and depression severity using bert-based transformers: ilab at clef erisk 2020. *CEUR Workshop Proceedings*, 2696. Working Notes of CLEF 2020 - Conference and Labs of the Evaluation Forum, Thessaloniki, Greece, September 22-25, 2020. urn:nbn:de:0074-2696-0; Early Risk Prediction on the Internet : CLEF workshop, eRisk at CLEF ; Conference date: 22-09-2020 Through 25-09-2020.
- Institute of Health Metrics and Evaluation. 2019. Gbd results tool.
- Alec Radford, Jeff Wu, Rewon Child, David Luan, Dario Amodei, and Ilya Sutskever. 2019. Language models are unsupervised multitask learners.
- Colin Raffel, Noam Shazeer, Adam Roberts, Katherine Lee, Sharan Narang, Michael Matena, Yanqi Zhou, Wei Li, and Peter J. Liu. 2019. Exploring the limits of transfer learning with a unified text-to-text transformer.
- Sana Sabah Sabry, Tosin Adewumi, Nosheen Abid, György Kovacs, Foteini Liwicki, and Marcus Liwicki. 2022. Hat5: Hate language identification using textto-text transfer transformer.
- Kayalvizhi Sampath, Thenmozhi Durairaj, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, and Jerin Mahibha C. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Detecting Signs of Depression from Social Media. In Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Thomas Wolf, Lysandre Debut, Victor Sanh, Julien Chaumond, Clement Delangue, Anthony Moi, Pierric Cistac, Tim Rault, Remi Louf, Morgan Funtowicz, Joe Davison, Sam Shleifer, Patrick von Platen, Clara Ma, Yacine Jernite, Julien Plu, Canwen Xu, Teven Le Scao, Sylvain Gugger, Mariama Drame, Quentin Lhoest, and Alexander Rush. 2020. Transformers: State-of-the-art natural language processing. In Proceedings of the 2020 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing: System Demonstrations, pages 38–45, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Yizhe Zhang, Siqi Sun, Michel Galley, Yen-Chun Chen, Chris Brockett, Xiang Gao, Jianfeng Gao, Jingjing Liu, and Bill Dolan. 2019. Dialogpt: Large-scale generative pre-training for conversational response generation. *CoRR*, abs/1911.00536.
- Ming Zhong, Pengfei Liu, Yiran Chen, Danqing Wang, Xipeng Qiu, and Xuanjing Huang. 2020. Extractive summarization as text matching. *Proceedings of the* 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics.

# NAYEL @LT-EDI-ACL2022: Homophobia/Transphobia Detection for Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion using SVM

Nsrin Ashraf and Mohamed Taha and Ahmed Taha and Hamada Nayel

Department of Computer Science, Benha University, Benha, Egypt

{nisrien.ashraf19,mohamed.taha}@fci.bu.edu.eg
 {ahmed.taha, hamada.ali}@fci.bu.edu.eg

### Abstract

Analysing the contents of social media platforms such as YouTube, Facebook and Twitter gained interest due to the vast number of users. One of the important tasks is homophobia/transphobia detection. This paper illustrates the system submitted by our team for the homophobia/transphobia detection in social media comments shared task. A machine learning-based model has been designed and various classification algorithms have been implemented for automatic detection of homophobia in YouTube comments. TF-IDF has been used with a range of bigram models for vectorization of comments. Support Vector Machines have been used to develop the proposed model and our submission reported 0.91, 0.92, 0.88 weighted F1-scores for English, Tamil and Tamil-English datasets respectively.

### 1 Introduction

The internet provides a wealth of information that is immensely useful for different reasons. Due to the overwhelming information available on the internet, online social media platforms inspired a new epoch of "misinformation" by spreading incorrect or misleading information to delude users. Social media platforms such as YouTube, Facebook, Twitter, and other platforms initially became popular due to the social aspects that they allow users to post and share material to share their opinions and ideas on anything at any time. YouTube is a popular platform that allows users to create their accounts, upload videos, and make comments. Due to the massive audience, distributing negative or uncomfortable information has become easier. There is a need for developing tools for automatic detection of different behaviours such as fake news, sentiment analysis, hate speech, aggressive content and rumours. YouTube is one of the most popular social media platforms, in which any user can

share data about anything without any restrictions that data may contain scandalous data such as racist, homophobic, transphobic, and antiLGBT+ propaganda.(Jagtap et al., 2021)

Since misinformation spreads faster than factual news among people, we need to classify this information whether containing LGBT+ data or not. In the proposed system the dataset used is collected from YouTube comments and divided into three datasets with various languages namely; English, Tamil and mixed languages Tamil-English. The proposed model uses a machine learning approach integrated with text vectorization to develop a system for automatic detection of Homophobic or Transphobic contents.

### 2 Background

Pathak et al. (2021) developed a machine learning based model for hate speech and offensive language detection. They used a multilingual dataset consisting of tweets and YouTube comments written in Malayalam, Tamil and English. TF-IDF and word embeddings were used for feature extraction phase. They trained different machine learning classifiers and they used 5-fold cross-validation approach to evaluate the performance of the classifiers. Multinomial Naive Bayes (MNB) reported the best F1-score 77% for Malayalam-English dataset, while Support Vector Machines (SVMs) obtained the best F1-score 87% for Tamil-English dataset. Navel (2020) used TF-IDF as weighting scheme with a range of *n*-gram for feature extraction to implement Stochastic Gradient Descent (SGD) algorithm for automatic offensive language detection in Arabic tweets. Nayel and L (2019) developed a model for Hate Speech detection in multilingual contents using SVM and Multi-Layer Perceptron (MLP). TF-IDF model as vector representation of collected tweets. SVM reported the best F1-score

for English dataset, while MLP reported the best F1-score for German and Hindi languages.

Though much work has been done to identify offensive content in major languages such as English (Chakravarthi et al., 2021), it is a challenging task to identify and flag offensive content in lowresource languages because many users prefer to write their language in English script, a practise known as code-switching or code-mixing (Hande et al., 2021; Nayel et al., 2021).

### **3** Dataset

The dataset given for the shared task (Chakravarthi et al., 2022) consists of YouTube comments in three languages English, Tamil and the remaining codemixed Tamil-English. The dataset contains some unique features that distinguish it from prior hate speech or offensive language identification datasets The extracted comments including Homophobic and Non-anti-LGBT+ text. These comments have been scraped using a scraper tool and were collected between August 2020 and Feb 2021. Table 1 shows the statistics of the tweets, indicating that the total number of comments in three languages which is about 22K . The full details of the dataset is given in (Chakravarthi et al., 2021).

### 4 System Overview

In this section, we review the phases of the proposed model. The primary aim of this work is to explore the impact of different machine learning methods on automatic Homophobia/Transphobia detection in social media comments. The proposed model composite of the following phases:

#### 4.1 Text Cleaning

In this phase, some basic preprocessing steps have been carried out. The aim of this step is to clean the raw text from unwanted information. These steps includes:-

- Hashtag and special symbols removal,
- URL and whitespace removal,
- Repeated character removal.

### 4.2 Features Engineering

Extracting the features from comments is an essential step for building the classification model. This comes directly after preprocessing step. In

this work Term Frequency/Inverse Document Frequency (TF-IDF) technique was used as vector space model that represents the comments as vector of real numbers.

#### 4.3 Methods

Different classification algorithms have been implemented as well as ensemble approach using hard voting. TF-IDF has been used as a vector space model for comments representation. The set of classification algorithms that have been used are listed bellow.

### 1. Support Vector Machine (SVM)

As we are classifying text based on a wide feature set for a binary classification problem and is available in various kernels function. The objective of SVM algorithm is to estimate a hyperplane based on feature set to classify data points (Nayel, 2019).

### 2. Random Forest (RF)

RF is an advanced form of decision trees which is a supervised learning model. RF consists of many decision trees working individually to estimate the result of a class, with the final predictions based on the class with the most votes (Breiman, 2001).

#### 3. Passive Aggressive Classifier (PA)

It has shown to be a very successful and popular way for online learning to address many real-world issues (Crammer et al., 2006). Online learning is utilized in circumstances where there is a requirement to keep a regular check on the data, such as news, social media, and so on. The main premise of this algorithm is that it examines data, learns from it, and discards it without keeping it. When there is a misclassification, the algorithm responds aggressively by changing the values, and when there is a right classification, it responds lazily or passively.

#### 4. Gaussian Naïve Bayes (GNB)

It is a supervised learning classifier based on the Bayes theorem that calculates explicit probabilities for hypotheses and provides a useful perspective for understanding many learning algorithms that do not explicitly manipulate probabilities (Ontivero-Ortega et al.,

Language	Number of comments	Number of tokens	Number of charaters
English	7,265	116,015	632,221
Tamil	5,240	255,578	787,177
Tamil-English	10,319	88,303	628,077
Total	22,824	249,896	2,047,475

Table 1: Raw dataset statistics by language

2017). Gaussian Naïve Bayes is the most important among the categories of Naïve Bayes because the classifier is used when the predictor values are continuous and are expected to follow a Gaussian distribution.

#### 5. Multi-Layer Perceptron (MLP)

MLP is a feed-forward neural network augmentation. It is made up of three layers: the input layer, the output layer, and the hidden layer (Hopfield, 1988). The input signal to be processed is received by the input layer. The output layer is responsible for tasks such as prediction and categorization. The real computational engine of the MLP is an arbitrary number of hidden layers inserted between the input and output layers. In an MLP, data flow in the forward direction from input to output layer, like a feed-forward network. The backpropagation learning technique is used to train the neurons in the MLP. MLPs are intended to approximate any continuous function and can solve problems that are not linearly separable.

### **5** Experimental Setup

• F1-score has been used to evaluate the performance of all submissions. F1-score is the harmonic mean of Precision (P) and Recall (R) and calculated as follows:

$$F{-}score = \frac{2*P*R}{P+R}$$

- Bi-gram model have been used while calculating TF-IDF for the the entire dataset.
- For validation purpose, cross-validation technique has been used and the training set has been divided into five folds.
- For SVM, linear kernel has been tested with regularization parameter set to 5.
- The number of nodes in the hidden layer of MLP was set at 20, logistic function was used

 Table 2: 5-fold cross validation F1-score for development phase

Classifier	English	Tamil	Tamil-English
SVM	0.43	0.85	0.51
RF	0.34	0.85	0.35
PA	0.42	0.85	0.51
GNB	0.40	0.70	0.41
MLP	0.37	0.84	0.47

as activation function and Adam solver was used with maximum number of iterations set to 200. The maximum number of decision trees in random forests is set at 300.

#### 6 Results and Discussion

Table 2 shows the F1-score reported at development phase for different classifiers with different language. It is clear that, Tamil dataset reported the best performance while English dataset reported the worst. SVM for all datasets outperformed all other classifiers.

Table 3 shows the final results of SVM for all datasets. It is clear that weighted F1-score (W F1-score) reports high values for all datasets, while macro F1-score (M F1-score) reported lowest values. The results shown in Table 3 show that the performance of SVM achieved better results on Tamil dataset. Our model for Tamil achieved the second rank, while in English our model achieved 11th rank. The proposed model for mixed-code dataset achieved 8th rank.

### 7 Conclusion

In this work we implemented a machine learning model using SVM as a classification algorithm for homophobia/transphobia detection in text. The comments have been represented as TF-IDF vectors.

Dataset	English	Tamil	Tamil-English
Accuracy	0.94	0.92	0.90
M F1-score	0.39	0.84	0.51
W F1-score	0.91	0.92	0.88
Rank	11	2	8

Table 3: Detailed results of SVM for test set on all languages

Applying more complex systems may improve the performance of the model. Deep learning based models have various structure that can enhance the output. Another word representation models such as word embeddings can be used as input for better representation.

### References

- Leo Breiman. 2001. Random forests. *Machine learn-ing*, 45(1):5–32.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Thenmozhi Durairaj, John Phillip McCrae, Paul Buitaleer, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, and Rahul Ponnusamy. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Homophobia Transphobia Detection in Social Media Comments. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion.* Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Rahul Ponnusamy, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, Kayalvizhi Sampath, Durairaj Thenmozhi, Sathiyaraj Thangasamy, Rajendran Nallathambi, and John Phillip McCrae. 2021. Dataset for identification of homophobia and transophobia in multilingual youtube comments. *arXiv preprint arXiv*:2109.00227.
- Koby Crammer, Ofer Dekel, Joseph Keshet, Shai Shalev-Shwartz, and Yoram Singer. 2006. Online passive-aggressive algorithms. *Journal of Machine Learning Research*, 7(19):551–585.
- Adeep Hande, Karthik Puranik, Konthala Yasaswini, Ruba Priyadharshini, Sajeetha Thavareesan, Anbukkarasi Sampath, Kogilavani Shanmugavadivel, Durairaj Thenmozhi, and Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi. 2021. Offensive language identification in low-resourced code-mixed dravidian languages using pseudo-labeling. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2108.12177.*
- John J Hopfield. 1988. Artificial neural networks. *IEEE Circuits and Devices Magazine*, 4(5):3–10.
- Raj Jagtap, Abhinav Kumar, Rahul Goel, Shakshi Sharma, Rajesh Sharma, and Clint P. George. 2021.

Misinformation detection on youtube using video captions. *CoRR*, abs/2107.00941.

- Hamada Nayel. 2020. NAYEL at SemEval-2020 task 12: TF/IDF-based approach for automatic offensive language detection in Arabic tweets. In *Proceedings* of the Fourteenth Workshop on Semantic Evaluation, pages 2086–2089, Barcelona (online). International Committee for Computational Linguistics.
- Hamada Nayel, Eslam Amer, Aya Allam, and Hanya Abdallah. 2021. Machine learning-based model for sentiment and sarcasm detection. In *Proceedings of the Sixth Arabic Natural Language Processing Workshop*, pages 386–389, Kyiv, Ukraine (Virtual). Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Hamada A. Nayel. 2019. NAYEL@APDA: Machine Learning Approach for Author Profiling and Deception Detection in Arabic Texts. In Working Notes of FIRE 2019 - Forum for Information Retrieval Evaluation, Kolkata, India, December 12-15, 2019, volume 2517 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 92–99. CEUR-WS.org.
- Hamada A. Nayel and Shashirekha H. L. 2019. DEEP at HASOC2019: A machine learning framework for hate speech and offensive language detection. In Working Notes of FIRE 2019 - Forum for Information Retrieval Evaluation, Kolkata, India, December 12-15, 2019, volume 2517 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 336–343. CEUR-WS.org.
- Marlis Ontivero-Ortega, Agustin Lage-Castellanos, Giancarlo Valente, Rainer Goebel, and Mitchell Valdes-Sosa. 2017. Fast gaussian naïve bayes for searchlight classification analysis. *NeuroImage*, 163:471–479.
- Varsha M. Pathak, Manish Joshi, Prasad Joshi, Monica Mundada, and Tanmay Joshi. 2021. Kbcnmujal@hasoc-dravidian-codemix-fire2020: Using machine learning for detection of hate speech and offensive code-mixed social media text. CoRR, abs/2102.09866.

### giniUs@LT-EDI-ACL2022: Aasha: Transformers based Hope-EDI

Basavraj Chinagundi\* bchinagundi\_be19@thapar.edu Thapar Institute of Engineering and Technology, Patiala

### Abstract

This paper describes team giniUs' submission to the Hope Speech Detection for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Shared Task organised by LT-EDI ACL 2022. We have fine-tuned the RoBERTa-large pre-trained model and extracted the last four Decoder layers to build a binary classifier. Our best result on the leaderboard achieves a weighted F1 score of 0.86 and a Macro F1 score of 0.51 for English. We rank fourth in the English task. We have opensourced our code implementations on GitHub to facilitate easy reproducibility by the scientific community.

### 1 Introduction

"Hope is a good thing, maybe the best of things, and no good thing ever dies." - Andy Dufresne [Shawshank Redemption]

Hope, as defined by Wikipedia, is an "optimistic state of mind that is based on an expectation of positive outcomes with respect to events and circumstances in one's life or the world at large." Hope is important in life, and research shows that it reduces the feeling of helplessness, helps manage stress and anxiety, cope with adversity, increases happiness and inspires positive action (Chakravarthi, 2020).

The rise of the internet and Social Media has brought the world closer and enabled improved communication and interaction among people. The various forms of interaction include, but are not limited to, online blogs and comments on social media sites like Youtube, Reddit, Facebook, et cetera (Sampath et al., 2022; Ravikiran et al., 2022; Chakravarthi et al., 2022b; Bharathi et al., 2022; Priyadharshini et al., 2022). The downsides are that Studies have reported that people who excessively use the Internet spend less time interacting face to face, resulting in depression and loneliness (Ybarra et al., 2005). The presence of hate, abuse and discrimination in online interactions is widely studied and documented. While it is essential to Harshul Surana\* harshul19@iiserb.ac.in Indian Institute of Science Education and Research, Bhopal

highlight and redress these pertinent issues, it is also imperative to highlight the presence of positive online interactions, which can serve as examples of good conduct and etiquette and inspire positive action from the online community (Chakravarthi et al., 2021). The given task involves text classification. Text classification is a classical problem in natural language processing (NLP), which aims to assign pre-defined labels or tags to text, including sentences, queries, paragraphs and documents. It plays an essential role in a multitude of applications such as sentiment analysis, topic labelling, question answering and spam detection.

Historically, rule-based and statistical models have been used to classify texts in the last five decades. The popular techniques include Bag of Words for rule-based and Naive Bayes, Support Vector Machines, and Random Forest for statistical methods. Since the 2010s, text classification has gradually incorporated more deep learning techniques (Sakuntharaj and Mahesan, 2021, 2017, 2016; Thavareesan and Mahesan, 2019, 2020a,b, 2021). The NLP community has witnessed many innovative architectures like RNNs, LSTMs, and GRUs that push the boundaries of the SOTA. The latest and most impactful is the Transformer, which further gave rise to SOTA models like BERT, RoBERTa, and ALBERT.

### 2 Task Description

The Hope Speech Detection for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion task (Chakravarthi and Muralidaran, 2021; Hande et al., 2021; Chakravarthi et al., 2022a) aims at identifying Hope Speech. Hope Speech, for the given task, is defined as "YouTube comments / posts that offer support, reassurance, suggestions, inspiration and insight". Hope Speech Detection is an integral component under the overall theme of making Language Technologies more equitable, diverse and inclusive. The task is offered in the following languages - English, Tamil, Spanish, Kannada, and Malayalam. We participated in the English language task. This is the second edition of the Hope EDI Shared task.

### 2.1 Dataset

The English language dataset provided by the organizer (Chakravarthi, 2020) consists of Training, Development, and 2 Test sets (Test and New Test). The training set contains 22,740 comments. 20,778, which constitutes 91% of the train set, are examples of non-hope speech, and the remaining 1962 are instances of hope speech. This highlights the heavily imbalanced nature of the dataset and the peculiar challenges it poses as a research question. The Development, or the Validation set consists of 2841 data points. The distribution of hope and non-hope speech is almost the same as the train set (90% and 10% respectively). The test sets contain 2843 and 389 unlabeled instances respectively.

Sample speeches can be found in fig.[2]

#### **3** Setup And Approach

### 3.1 Experimental Settings

We used the Google Colab's Tesla P100-PCIe-16GB with 8 core CPU and 32GB RAM for training and inference. RoBERTa Decoderizer's max length was set to 22, according to the mean length of sentences after tokenizing. We set the learning rate as 2e-5 and Adam epsilon value as 1e-8 as our Adam Optimizer hyperparameters. We chose an appropriate loss function BCEWithLogitsLoss() for the task. The model was trained for 3 epochs and the best weights were used for the final testing on the Test set.

#### 3.2 Methodology

The text is pre-processed minimally to ensure low information loss in three steps. Firstly, the Unicode characters are removed, after which the domain URLs are removed, followed by the lower casing in the final step. This task aims to identify whether a comment contains hope speech or not and for this, we come up with a Transformer-based approach. The Transformers (Puranik et al., 2021) are designed to take the entire input sentence at once. The primary reason for constructing a Transformer was to enable parallel processing of the words in sentences. This concurrent processing is not possible with LSTMs, RNNs, or GRUs as they take words from the input phrase one at a time. Consequently, in the encoder part of the Transformer, the very first layer has the number of units equal to the number of words in a sentence, and each unit converts that word into an embedding vector corresponding to that word. This allows a better contextual feature extraction of the text, enhancing the ability to determine if the speech is inducing hope. We experiment with prominently known models namely BERT-base-uncased, RoBERTa-base, RoBERTalarge (Liu et al., 2019). We find that RoBERTalarge performs the best when the last four layers of the language model are concatenated for a deeper embedding representation, which is then passed through a pre-classifier and a ReLU activated layer followed by a dropout layer before finally coming across the classification head for the labels that are to be predicted.

### 4 Results and Discussion

We observe that there is a non-trivial improvement in our model with respect to the RoBERTa-large model. This is because of the novelty of concatenating the vectors of the last 4 layers of the Transformer Decoder. We received this inspiration from the BERT paper (Devlin et al., 2018). We achieve a Macro F1 score of 0.47 and a weighted F1 score of 0.86, and after expanding the feature space by concatenation, we obtain a significant difference in the result. We achieve a Macro F1 score of 0.8 and a weighted F1 score of 0.93. Our best-performing model i.e RoBERTa-large with the last 4 layers concatenated is used for the submission to the leaderboard(lb), and it obtains a Macro F1 score of 0.51 and a weighted F1 score of 0.86. This is competitive with the highest leaderboard results. Results can be found in table[1]. The BERT developers in their paper reported an improved score of 96.1% compared to the baseline of 94.9% to the CoNLL-2003 Named Entity Recognition results. Since the underlying Transformer concept is common to both BERT and RoBERTa, we decided to test if this variation resulted in an improved score. The dataset is observed to be imbalanced and for getting deeper representations of the minority classes, we investigate the impact of the last few layers of the Transformer model. For handling this, we come across the different layers of the model capturing different levels of representations. The layers learn a rich hierarchy of linguistic information i.e. surfacelevel features in the lower layers, syntactic features in the middle layers, and semantic features in the higher layers. The authors, however, also point out

Model	M_Precision	M_Recall	M_F1-score	W_Precision	W_Recall	W_F1-score
RoBERTa-large(Dev)	0.45	0.5	0.47	0.82	0.9	0.86
RoBERTa-large-last-4(Dev)	0.83	0.77	0.8	0.93	0.94	0.93
giniUs-lb-score	0.51	0.51	0.51	0.86	0.86	0.86
IIITSurat-lb(Highest)	0.56	0.54	0.55	0.87	0.89	0.88

Table 1: Results for Hope Speech Classification



Figure 1: Architecture Diagram

The interviewer is HOT!!! Non\_hope\_speech
I am so glad that you made your toy!!! Hope\_speech

Figure 2: Dataset Example

that this technique is not a universal guarantee of improved performance. Instead, it is highly taskspecific. In our understanding, unlike many other emotions or sentiments like anger and hate, hope is not a single-dimensional sentiment. Hope constitutes a multiplicity of interpretations that are both personal and complex, thus enabling us to obtain deeper representations of minority class texts and helping us to overcome its downsides.

### 5 Conclusion

We have presented a novel fine-tuned RoBERTa implementation for the Hope Speech for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Shared Task ACL 2022. Our best performing model utilises the last four Transformer Decoder layers of the fine-tuned RoBERTalarge model to give a weighted and Macro F1 score of 0.86 and 0.51, respectively. We rank fourth in the leaderboard among all the participants and have released the open-source code for easy and reproducible results.

### References

- B Bharathi, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Subalalitha Chinnaudayar Navaneethakrishnan, N Sripriya, Arunaggiri Pandian, and Swetha Valli. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Speech Recognition for Vulnerable Individuals in Tamil. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi. 2020. HopeEDI: A multilingual hope speech detection dataset for equality, diversity, and inclusion. In *Proceedings of the Third Workshop on Computational Modeling of People's Opinions, Personality, and Emotion's in Social Media*, pages 41–53, Barcelona, Spain (Online). Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi and Vigneshwaran Muralidaran. 2021. Findings of the shared task on hope speech detection for equality, diversity, and inclusion. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, pages 61–72, Kyiv. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Vigneshwaran Muralidaran, Ruba Priyadharshini, Subalalitha Chinnaudayar Navaneethakrishnan, John Phillip McCrae, Miguel Ángel García-Cumbreras, Salud María Jiménez-Zafra, Rafael Valencia-García, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, Rahul Ponnusamy, Daniel García-Baena, and José Antonio García-Díaz. 2022a. Findings of the shared task on Hope Speech Detection for Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Thenmozhi Durairaj, John Phillip McCrae, Paul Buitaleer, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, and Rahul Ponnusamy. 2022b. Findings of the shared task on Homophobia Transphobia Detection in Social Media Comments. In Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Rahul Ponnusamy, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, Kayalvizhi Sampath, Durairaj Thenmozhi, Sathiyaraj Thangasamy, Rajendran Nallathambi, and John Phillip McCrae. 2021. Dataset for identification of homophobia and transophobia in multilingual YouTube comments. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2109.00227*.
- Jacob Devlin, Ming-Wei Chang, Kenton Lee, and Kristina Toutanova. 2018. Bert: Pre-training of deep bidirectional transformers for language understanding. arXiv preprint arXiv:1810.04805.
- Adeep Hande, Ruba Priyadharshini, Anbukkarasi Sampath, Kingston Pal Thamburaj, Prabakaran Chandran, and Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi. 2021. Hope speech detection in under-resourced kannada language.
- Yinhan Liu, Myle Ott, Naman Goyal, Jingfei Du, Mandar Joshi, Danqi Chen, Omer Levy, Mike Lewis, Luke Zettlemoyer, and Veselin Stoyanov. 2019. Roberta: A robustly optimized bert pretraining approach. arXiv preprint arXiv:1907.11692.
- Ruba Priyadharshini, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Subalalitha Chinnaudayar Navaneethakrishnan, Thenmozhi Durairaj, Malliga Subramanian, Kogilavani Shanmugavadivel, Siddhanth U Hegde, and Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Abusive Comment Detection in Tamil. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Speech and Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages*. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Karthik Puranik, Adeep Hande, Ruba Priyadharshini, Sajeetha Thavareesan, and Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi. 2021. Iiitt@ lt-edi-eacl2021-hope speech detection: there is always hope in transformers. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2104.09066*.

- Manikandan Ravikiran, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Anand Kumar Madasamy, Sangeetha Sivanesan, Ratnavel Rajalakshmi, Sajeetha Thavareesan, Rahul Ponnusamy, and Shankar Mahadevan. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Offensive Span Identification in code-mixed Tamil-English comments. In Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Speech and Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Ratnasingam Sakuntharaj and Sinnathamby Mahesan. 2016. A novel hybrid approach to detect and correct spelling in Tamil text. In 2016 IEEE International Conference on Information and Automation for Sustainability (ICIAfS), pages 1–6.
- Ratnasingam Sakuntharaj and Sinnathamby Mahesan. 2017. Use of a novel hash-table for speeding-up suggestions for misspelt Tamil words. In 2017 IEEE International Conference on Industrial and Information Systems (ICIIS), pages 1–5.
- Ratnasingam Sakuntharaj and Sinnathamby Mahesan. 2021. Missing word detection and correction based on context of Tamil sentences using n-grams. In 2021 10th International Conference on Information and Automation for Sustainability (ICIAfS), pages 42–47.
- Anbukkarasi Sampath, Thenmozhi Durairaj, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Subalalitha Chinnaudayar Navaneethakrishnan, Kogilavani Shanmugavadivel, Sajeetha Thavareesan, Sathiyaraj Thangasamy, Parameswari Krishnamurthy, Adeep Hande, Sean Benhur, Kishor Kumar Ponnusamy, and Santhiya Pandiyan. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Emotion Analysis in Tamil. In Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Speech and Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Sajeetha Thavareesan and Sinnathamby Mahesan. 2019. Sentiment analysis in Tamil texts: A study on machine learning techniques and feature representation. In 2019 14th Conference on Industrial and Information Systems (ICIIS), pages 320–325.
- Sajeetha Thavareesan and Sinnathamby Mahesan. 2020a. Sentiment lexicon expansion using Word2vec and fastText for sentiment prediction in Tamil texts. In 2020 Moratuwa Engineering Research Conference (MERCon), pages 272–276.
- Sajeetha Thavareesan and Sinnathamby Mahesan. 2020b. Word embedding-based part of speech tagging in Tamil texts. In 2020 IEEE 15th International Conference on Industrial and Information Systems (ICIIS), pages 478–482.
- Sajeetha Thavareesan and Sinnathamby Mahesan. 2021. Sentiment analysis in Tamil texts using k-means and k-nearest neighbour. In 2021 10th International Conference on Information and Automation for Sustainability (ICIAfS), pages 48–53.

Michele L Ybarra, Cheryl Alexander, and Kimberly J Mitchell. 2005. Depressive symptomatology, youth internet use, and online interactions: A national survey. *Journal of adolescent health*, 36(1):9–18.

# SSN\_MLRG1@LT-EDI-ACL2022: Multi-Class Classification using BERT models for Detecting Depression Signs from Social Media Text

Karun Anantharaman, S. Rajalakshmi, S. Angel Deborah, M. Saritha, R. Sakaya Milton

Department of Computer Science and Engineering Sri Sivasubramaniya Nadar College of Engineering Chennai 603 110, Tamil Nadu, India karun19049@cse.ssn.edu.in, {rajalakshmis, angeldeborahs}@ssn.edu.in, {sarithamadhesh, miltonrs}@ssn.edu.in

#### Abstract

DepSign-LT-EDI@ACL-2022 aims to ascertain the signs of depression of a person from their messages and posts on social media wherein people share their feelings and emotions. Given social media postings in English, the system should classify the signs of depression into three labels namely "not depressed", "moderately depressed", and "severely depressed". To achieve this objective, we have adopted a fine-tuned BERT model. This solution from team SSN\_MLRG1 achieves 58.5% accuracy on the DepSign-LT-EDI@ACL-2022 test set.

### **1** Introduction

Depression is a frequently found mental illness that involves sadness and lack of interest in all day-to-day activities. It is vital to detect and treat depression at an early stage to avoid consequences. Treatment involves diagnosis of patient who might have depression, but patient would have have to initiate contact in order to receive this opportunity.

It has been proven by multiple studies that depression is preventable and early stage detection and the most severe effect of this disease can be mitigated by quick treatment. However, openly accessible tools to this end are very few and very rare. The rise of social media as one of humanity's most important public communication platforms presents a potential prospect for early identification and management of mental illness (Priyadharshini et al., 2021; Kumaresan et al., 2021). People's daily lives are increasingly dominated by social media (Chakravarthi, 2020; Chakravarthi and Muralidaran, 2021). On social media, a lot of multimedia content, mostly brief words and photographs, is constantly exchanged (Chakravarthi et al., 2021, 2020). Information put on the Internet, as opposed to conventional human contact, may be swiftly disseminated by acquaintances and accessed by strangers (Sampath et al., 2022; Ravikiran et al., 2022; Chakravarthi et al., 2022; Bharathi et al., 2022; Priyadharshini et al., 2022). This method allows users to avoid direct interaction with individuals while also increasing their urge to convey their emotions.

This task 4 in Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity, Inclusion (LT-EDI) aims to detect depression from english text (Durairaj et al., 2022). This research article evinces how a BERT Transformer Model can effectively classify social media texts into 3 classes "not depressed", "moderately depressed", and "severely depressed".

The model is trained on social media texts from various sources, labelled as above. The process involves 2 subtasks - PreProcessing and Training. In Subtask-A, the text is cleaned up, and converted to a format more suitable for context and sentiment analysis for depression detection. In Subtask-B a simple transformer BERT classification model is trained on the task data, and the performance is evaluated.

### 2 Background

### 2.1 Definitions

The section contains descriptions of the models made use of, and related terminology

**Transformers -** Every output element is related to every input element, and the weightings between them are dynamically determined depending on their relationship. (In NLP, this is referred to as attention.)

**BERT** - BERT is based on Transformers and stands for Bidirectional Encoder Representations from Transformers. Earlier models could only read input text linearly for a long time, either from right to left or from left to right; they couldn't do both at the same time. In this way, BERT differs from previous models in that it is designed to read in both directions at the same time. Bidirectionality is a feature that was made possible with the introduction of Transformers.

### 2.2 Related Work

### **Depression Detection**

Models for detecting depression must be extremely precise and quick in order for early intervention to be feasible. (Shen et al., 2017) advocated the extraction of six feature groups, which were then used to train a multi-modal depression dictionary learning model to detect depressed Twitter users. (Burdisso et al., 2019) presented the SS3 text classification system for early depression diagnosis in social media streams that is easy and effective. (Lin et al., 2020) proposed SenseMood, a system that employs a BERT classifier and a CNN to categorise depressed/not-depressed social media messages and photographs. (?) asserts that existing depression detection assessments are ineffective at quantifying model delay, and proposes a remedy to this problem.

## BERT

In the field of natural language processing, BERT models are widely used. To further understand how such models function, (van Aken et al., 2019) gives A Layer-Wise Analysis of Transformer Representations. (Devlin et al., 2018) demonstrates how pre-trained models may be utilised to interpret natural language. A overview of BERT-based models for textbased emotion recognition may be found in (Acheampong et al., 2021). An early departing modification of BERT for quicker inference is shown in (Xin et al., 2020).

Our earlier research work in contextual emotion and sentiment analysis uses ensemble techniques and Gaussian process models in (Angel Deborah et al., 2019), (Angel Deborah et al., 2021), (Rajalakshmi et al., 2018), (Rajendram et al., 2017b), (Rajendram et al., 2022) and (Rajendram et al., 2017a) forms the base for depression detection. We have used transformer models and its variants to detect offense and humor in text (Sivanaiah et al., 2020), (Sivanaiah et al., 2021) and (Nanda et al., 2021).

### 2.3 Data

The task data set contains social media texts in English. The data set contains 3 columns, the pid, the social media text in English, and the label as "not depressed", "moderately depressed", and "severely depressed". The test, development and train data sets all have data pertaining to these 3 classes.

The training set has a total of 8891 entries, of which 1971 are labelled "not depressed", 6019 are labelled "moderately depressed", and the remaining 901 are "severely depressed".

The development set has a total of 4496 entries which are split as 1830 "not depressed", 2306 "moderately depressed" and 360 "severely depressed". The test set has 3245 data points.

### 3 System Overview

The first step in the system flow is preprocessing the data. The aim is to remove any unnecessary elements from the text, and transform the data given into a more uniform form. This involves the following steps:

(i) Extend Contractions - A contraction is an abbreviated version of a word, such as don't, which stands for do not, and aren't, which stands for are not. In order for the model to

perform better, we need to broaden this contraction in the text data.

(ii) Lower Case - Because lower case and upper case are interpreted differently by the machine, it is easier for a machine to read the words if the text is in the same case.

(iii) Remove Punctuations - Another text processing approach is punctuation removal. There are 32 punctuation marks that need to be eliminated in total. We may use a regular expression and the string module to replace any punctuation in text with an empty string.

(iv) Remove words and numbers that contain digits - Sometimes words and digits are written together in the text, which is difficult for machines to grasp. As a result, we must exclude terms that are a mix of words and numerals, such as game57 or game5ts7. Because this sort of term is difficult to handle, it's best to remove it or replace it with a NULL string.

(v) Remove Stopwords - Stopwords are the most frequently occurring words in a text that offer no useful information. Stopwords include words like them, they, who, this, and there.

(vi) Stemming and Lemmatization - Stemming is the process of reducing a word to its root stem, such as run, running, runs, and runed, which are all derived from the same word. Words like ing, s, and es, for example, are stemmed to eliminate prefixes and suffixes. The words are stemmed using the NLTK package.

(vii) Remove White Spaces - We need to control this problem since most text data has additional spaces or more than one space is left between the text while completing the preceding preparation processes.

(viii) Data Augmentation - This technique is used to create synthetic data to take care of the imbalance in the dataset.

The next part of the system is the BERT classification model. The pre-trained BERT model from simpletransformer API has been used in this model. The BERT model is fine tuned on the processed data, to give a 3-class classification model capable of effectively classifying new data encountered into various classes. The working of BERT model is shown in Figure 1. It has two phases as pre-training and finetuning.

### 4 Experimental Setup

The data is imported as a pandas dataframe. This dataframe is first passed to a function to expand all contractions, this is done with a precollected dictionary of contractions. Next, the sentence is converted to lower case, and punctuation's are removed using a regex compiled expression. The data at this point is parsed for english stopwords, a list of which are obtained from the Natural Language Tool Kit (NLTK) in python. These stopwords are removed. Stemming and Lemmatization are also done using the python NTLK. White spaces are removed using a regex expression. NLPAUG library is used for data augmentation to balance the data between the 3 classes since the data is imbalanced across the labels.

A BERT model is trained on the above processed data, multiple parameters have been tested using WANDB Sweeps, and the highest scoring configuration has been used. A learning rate of 1e-4 and a batch size of 16 were used.

### 5 Results

The efficacy of this model has been proven by the results given below:

Metric	Score
Accuracy	0.585
Macro F1-Score	0.412
Macro Recall	0.403
Macro Precision	0.436
Weighted F1-Score	0.576
Weighted Recall	0.585
Weighted Precision	0.572

Table 1: Results

We have obtained an accuracy of 59% and the top rank team has achieved 66% accuracy. Further improvement in the system can be achieved by tweaking the hyper parameters.

### 6 Conclusion

In summation, our research work presents a BERT model for classification of social media texts into the 3 target classes. The current model does not perform very well on the given data. One reason that can be attributed to this is the complexity of different texts, with various parts involving various sentiments. Future models, will aim to remedy this through splitting the sentences based on their complexity, and using different models for different levels of complexity. The other reason for the low results may be the different manifestations of depression symptoms in different people, this will be remedied by using various other features along with social media texts. In the future, a classifier to segregate texts based on complexity and the number of sentiment expressions may be supplied to further improve the efficiency of the classifier.

### References

- Francisca Adoma Acheampong, Henry Nunoo-Mensah, and Wenyu Chen. 2021. Transformer models for textbased emotion detection: a review of bert-based approaches. *Artificial Intelligence Review*, 54(8):5789– 5829.
- S Angel Deborah, TT Mirnalinee, and S Milton Rajendram. 2021. Emotion analysis on text using multiple kernel gaussian... *Neural Processing Letters*, 53(2):1187–1203.
- S Angel Deborah, S Rajalakshmi, S Milton Rajendram, and TT Mirnalinee. 2019. Contextual emotion detection in text using ensemble learning. In Emerging Trends in Computing and Expert Technology. COMET 2019. Lecture Notes on Data Engineering and Communications Technologies, vol 35., pages 1179–1186. Springer, Cham.
- B Bharathi, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Subalalitha Chinnaudayar Navaneethakrishnan, N Sripriya, Arunaggiri Pandian, and Swetha Valli. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Speech Recognition for Vulnerable Individuals in Tamil. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Sergio G. Burdisso, Marcelo Errecalde, and Manuel Montes y Gómez. 2019. A text classification framework for simple and effective early depression detection over social media streams. *Expert Systems with Applications*, 133:182–197.

- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi. 2020. HopeEDI: A multilingual hope speech detection dataset for equality, diversity, and inclusion. In *Proceedings of the Third Workshop on Computational Modeling of People's Opinions, Personality, and Emotion's in Social Media*, pages 41–53, Barcelona, Spain (Online). Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi and Vigneshwaran Muralidaran. 2021. Findings of the shared task on hope speech detection for equality, diversity, and inclusion. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, pages 61–72, Kyiv. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Vigneshwaran Muralidaran, Ruba Priyadharshini, and John Philip McCrae. 2020. Corpus creation for sentiment analysis in code-mixed Tamil-English text. In Proceedings of the 1st Joint Workshop on Spoken Language Technologies for Under-resourced languages (SLTU) and Collaboration and Computing for Under-Resourced Languages (CCURL), pages 202–210, Marseille, France. European Language Resources association.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Thenmozhi Durairaj, John Phillip McCrae, Paul Buitaleer, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, and Rahul Ponnusamy. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Homophobia Transphobia Detection in Social Media Comments. In Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Rahul Ponnusamy, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, Kayalvizhi Sampath, Durairaj Thenmozhi, Sathiyaraj Thangasamy, Rajendran Nallathambi, and John Phillip McCrae. 2021. Dataset for identification of homophobia and transophobia in multilingual YouTube comments. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2109.00227*.
- Jacob Devlin, Ming-Wei Chang, Kenton Lee, and Kristina Toutanova. 2018. BERT: pre-training of deep bidirectional transformers for language understanding. *CoRR*, abs/1810.04805.
- Thenmozhi Durairaj, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Jerin Mahibha C, and Kayalvizhi Sampath. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Detecting Signs of Depression from Social Media. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*". Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, Ratnasingam Sakuntharaj, Sajeetha Thavareesan, Subalalitha Navaneethakrishnan, Anand Kumar Madasamy, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, and John P McCrae. 2021. Findings of shared task on offensive language identification in Tamil and Malayalam. In *Forum for Information Retrieval Evaluation*, pages 16–18.

- Chenhao Lin, Pengwei Hu, Hui Su, Shaochun Li, Jing Mei, Jie Zhou, and Henry Leung. 2020. Sense-Mood: Depression Detection on Social Media, page 407–411. Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA.
- Ayush Nanda, Abrit Pal Singh, Aviansh Gupta, Rajalakshmi Sivanaiah, Angel Deborah Suseelan, S Milton Rajendram, and Mirnalinee TT. 2021. Techssn at haha@ iberlef 2021: Humor detection and funniness score prediction using deep learning.
- Ruba Priyadharshini, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Subalalitha Chinnaudayar Navaneethakrishnan, Thenmozhi Durairaj, Malliga Subramanian, Kogilavani Shanmugavadivel, Siddhanth U Hegde, and Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Abusive Comment Detection in Tamil. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Speech and Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages*. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Ruba Priyadharshini, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Sajeetha Thavareesan, Dhivya Chinnappa, Durairaj Thenmozhi, and Rahul Ponnusamy. 2021. Overview of the DravidianCodeMix 2021 shared task on sentiment detection in Tamil, Malayalam, and Kannada. In *Forum for Information Retrieval Evaluation*, pages 4–6.
- S Rajalakshmi, S Milton Rajendram, TT Mirnalinee, et al. 2018. Ssn mlrg1 at semeval-2018 task 1: Emotion and sentiment intensity detection using rule based feature selection. In *Proceedings of the 12th International Workshop on Semantic Evaluation*, pages 324–328.
- S Milton Rajendram, TT Mirnalinee, et al. 2017a. Ssn\_mlrg1 at semeval-2017 task 4: sentiment analysis in twitter using multi-kernel gaussian process classifier. In *Proceedings of the 11th International Workshop on Semantic Evaluation (SemEval-2017)*, pages 709–712.
- S Milton Rajendram, TT Mirnalinee, et al. 2017b. Ssn\_mlrg1 at semeval-2017 task 5: fine-grained sentiment analysis using multiple kernel gaussian process regression model. In Proceedings of the 11th International Workshop on Semantic Evaluation (SemEval-2017), pages 823–826.
- S Milton Rajendram, Mirnalinee TT, et al. 2022. Contextual emotion detection on text using gaussian process and tree based classifiers. *Intelligent Data Analysis*, 26(1):119–132.
- Manikandan Ravikiran, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Anand Kumar Madasamy, Sangeetha Sivanesan, Ratnavel Rajalakshmi, Sajeetha Thavareesan, Rahul Ponnusamy, and Shankar Mahadevan. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Offensive Span Identification in code-mixed Tamil-English comments. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Speech and*

*Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages.* Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Anbukkarasi Sampath, Thenmozhi Durairaj, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Subalalitha Chinnaudayar Navaneethakrishnan, Kogilavani Shanmugavadivel, Sajeetha Thavareesan, Sathiyaraj Thangasamy, Parameswari Krishnamurthy, Adeep Hande, Sean Benhur, Kishor Kumar Ponnusamy, and Santhiya Pandiyan. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Emotion Analysis in Tamil. In Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Speech and Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Guangyao Shen, Jia Jia, Liqiang Nie, Fuli Feng, Cunjun Zhang, Tianrui Hu, Tat-Seng Chua, and Wenwu Zhu. 2017. Depression detection via harvesting social media: A multimodal dictionary learning solution. In Proceedings of the Twenty-Sixth International Joint Conference on Artificial Intelligence, IJCAI-17, pages 3838–3844.
- Rajalakshmi Sivanaiah, S Milton Rajendram, Mirnalinee Tt, Abrit Pal Singh, Aviansh Gupta, Ayush Nanda, et al. 2021. Techssn at semeval-2021 task 7: Humor and offense detection and classification using colbert embeddings. In *Proceedings of the 15th International Workshop on Semantic Evaluation (SemEval-2021)*, pages 1185–1189.
- Rajalakshmi Sivanaiah, Angel Suseelan, S Milton Rajendram, and Mirnalinee Tt. 2020. Techssn at semeval-2020 task 12: Offensive language detection using bert embeddings. In *Proceedings of the Fourteenth Workshop on Semantic Evaluation*, pages 2190–2196.
- Betty van Aken, Benjamin Winter, Alexander Löser, and Felix A. Gers. 2019. How does bert answer questions? a layer-wise analysis of transformer representations. In *Proceedings of the 28th ACM International Conference on Information and Knowledge Management*, CIKM '19, page 1823–1832, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.
- Ji Xin, Raphael Tang, Jaejun Lee, Yaoliang Yu, and Jimmy Lin. 2020. Deebert: Dynamic early exiting for accelerating BERT inference. *CoRR*, abs/2004.12993.

# DepressionOne@LT-EDI-ACL2022: Using Machine Learning with SMOTE and Random UnderSampling to Detect Signs of Depression on Social Media Text.

Suman Dowlagar LTRC IIIT-Hyderabad suman.dowlagar @research.iiit.ac.in

### Abstract

Depression is a common and serious medical illness that negatively affects how you feel, the way you think, and how you act. Detecting depression is essential as it must be treated early to avoid painful consequences. Nowadays, people are broadcasting how they feel via posts and comments. Using social media, we can extract many comments related to depression and use NLP techniques to train and detect depression. This work presents the submission of the DepressionOne team at LT-EDI-2022 for the shared task, detecting signs of depression from social media text. The depression data is small and unbalanced. Thus, we have used oversampling and undersampling methods such as SMOTE and RandomUnderSampler to represent the data. Later, we used machine learning methods to train and detect the signs of depression.

### 1 Introduction

According to Psychiatry, depression is defined as a mental condition characterized by severe despondency and dejection, typically also with feelings of inadequacy and guilt, often accompanied by lack of energy and disturbance of appetite and sleep. Depression remains a significant issue worldwide, and often it progresses to suicidal intention if left undetected (Haque et al., 2021). Thus the diagnosis of depression is an important task. Many existing methods for detecting depression rely on Electronic health records or suicide notes. But such data is limited and challenging to acquire.

In the current generation, online forums on social media act as a means where people vent out how they feel. We can scrape these resources to create datasets. Such data, if annotated, can be helpful to detect depression (Haque et al., 2021). A growing number of studies are using such data for research and diagnostic purposes. A survey on detecting depression using social media data is given in the paper Ji et al. (2020). Detecting depression Radhika Mamidi LTRC IIIT-Hyderabad radhika.mamidi @iiit.ac.in

represents a significant clinical challenge, both for the advancement of how depression is treated and for implementing interventions (Leonard, 1974).

To encourage work on depression from social media comments/posts, the LT-EDI community has organized a shared task to identify the signs of depression of a person from their social media postings where people share their feelings and emotions ("Sampath et al., 2022). The dataset used for this task has a total of 16,632 train, valid, and test comments in the English language. This task aims to classify the given depression data into three classes, severe, moderate, and not\_depression.

This paper presents a method for detecting/classifying depression text. We have used under sampling and oversampling to represent the data better. Then we used a machine learning classifier to train and classify the given text.

The paper is organized as follows. Section 2 provides related work on depression detection on social media text. Section 3 provides information on the task and datasets. Section 4 describes the our submission. Section 5 presents the experimental setup and the performance of the model. Section 6 concludes our work.

### 2 Literature Survey

This section provides a brief of research done till now on depression detection.

(Salas-Zárate et al., 2022) surveyed on detecting depression using social media data (from 2016 to mid-2021). The survey analyzed and evaluated Thirty-four primary studies. Twitter was the most studied social media. Word embedding was the most prominent linguistic feature extraction method. Support vector machine (SVM) was the most used machine-learning algorithm.

(William and Suhartono, 2021) conducted a for early depression detection in textual data. The review found three concerning issues, i.e., (1) Ethical concerns, (2) Lack of data, (3) Awareness of mental well-being. The classifiers mostly used were Support Vector Machine and Probabilistic Classifier. The survey observed that the BiLSTM + Attention method yields the best result. The models such as BERT were not suitable for depression detection because of their inability to deal with long sequences. So new methods such as summarizing the text were proposed to deal with long sequences before feeding it into the model.

The given depression dataset has long sequences, and the BERT models could not process long sequences. Also, text summarization techniques are not 100% accurate and will be propagated to BERT models. Thus we opted for the SVM and RNN models for depression detection.

### 3 Task Setup

The goal of this task is to detect depression from social media. The model should classify the signs of depression into three labels, namely "not depressed", "moderate", and "severe". The dataset has 16,632 comments, wherein 8,891 belong to the training set, 4,496 belong to validation, and 3,245 belong to the test set. All the posts are in the English language.



Figure 1: Data Statistics w.r.t the three labels

As given in Figure 1, we can see that there are more instances of moderate classes when compared to the not-depressed and severe classes in the given data. Also, the data has a wide range of sentence lengths as given in Figure 2. We have also observed that more than 6% of the sentences are long <sup>1</sup>. The long sentences are not suitable for the BERT model as it only works if the tokens are less than 512. So we chose robust classification algorithms such as SVM to classify the data and detect depression in the dataset.



Figure 2: Logarithmic Distribution of data with respect to sentence length

### 4 Our Submission

As mentioned above, there are more instances of moderate class labels when compared to notdepressed and severe. It leads to an imbalance in data. So we chose the resampling method. Resampling involves creating a new altered version of the training dataset, in which the selected examples have a similar class distribution. The simple way is to choose instances for the transformed dataset randomly. Thus it is called random resampling. It is a simple and effective strategy to handle imbalanced classification problems.

The two main methods of random resampling are oversampling and undersampling.

**Random Oversampling** Random oversampling involves randomly selecting examples from the minority class, with replacement, and adding them to the training dataset.

**Random Undersampling** Random undersampling involves randomly selecting examples from the majority class and deleting them from the training dataset until a more balanced distribution is reached.

This technique is practical where the skewed distribution affects the classification models, and multiple examples for a given class can overfit the model. It makes the model to be biased towards the class that has the majority of instances.

If we only use random undersampling for the given majority class, i.e., moderate, then the data

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>where long means tokens in the sentence are greater than 512

Model		Accuracy			
	moderate	not-depression	severe	macro-avg	
SVM	0.65	0.47	0.37	0.50	0.56
RNN	0.57	0.56	0.28	0.48	0.54
CNN	0.58	0.57	0.27	0.47	0.53
BERT	0.58	0.57	0.29	0.48	0.54
Our Submission	0.72	0.47	0.37	0.60	0.65

Table 1: The performance of the models on the depression dataset (On validation data).

might lose some specific points, which might degrade the model's performance. Also, If only use random oversampling for the minority classes, i.e., not depression and severe. This oversampling method can balance the class distribution but does not provide additional information to the model.

An improvement in duplicating instances from the minority class is synthesizing new instances from the minority class. The most widely used approach to synthesize new instances is called the Synthetic Minority Oversampling Technique (abbreviated as SMOTE) (Chawla et al., 2002). SMOTE selects instances that are close in the feature space by fitting a line between the instances in the feature space and selecting a new sample at a point along that line.

Chawla et al. (2002) suggests that, using random undersampling to trim the number of in the majority class, then use SMOTE to oversample the minority class to balance the class distribution. The combination of SMOTE and under-sampling performs better than plain under-sampling.

After resampling the classes, we have used an SVM classifier to train the transformed data and applied the model to the test set.

### **5** Experiments

The section presents the baselines, hyper-parameter settings, and analysis of observed results.

### 5.1 Baselines

The baselines used are:

**SVM with TF-IDF** Term frequency and inverse document frequency-based vectorization is used to represent the text data, and the support vector machine is used to classify the data.

**CNN** (Kim, 2014) This convolutional neural network-based text classifier is trained by considering pre-trained FastText word vectors.

**Bi-LSTM** (Hochreiter and Schmidhuber, 1997) A two-layer, bi-directional LSTM text classifier with pre-trained FastText word embeddings as input was considered for the task of text classification.

**Pre-trained BERT** (Devlin et al., 2018) A pretrained BERT model with a feed-forward network for classification

### 5.2 Hyperparameters and Libraries used

The SMOTE is obtained from the imblearn library $^2$ . The Random oversampling, SVM with TF-IDF vectorization, is obtained from the scikit-learn library <sup>3</sup>. The default parameters are used to train the SVM for multiclass classification. The pre-trained BERT with sentence classification is obtained from the huggingface transformers library<sup>4</sup>. The optimizer used is weighted Adam with the learning rate of 1e-5 and epsilon value equal to 1e-8. The loss function used is the BERT's inbuilt cross-entropy loss. The number of epochs used for training the model is 30. We have used PyTorch<sup>5</sup> for implementing Bi-LSTM and CNN models. The number of Bi-LSTM layers is given as 2. For CNN, we took three kernels of sizes 2,3,4. We have used the adam optimizer with cross-entropy loss for the given models. The batch size is 64. The models were run on GPU notebooks.

#### 5.3 Results

From the results, we can see that the performance of the SVM and our approach are better when compared to the neural network(NN) models. The NN models didn't perform better on all the labels. The models didn't distinguish between the "moderate" and "not depression" labels and "severe"

```
<sup>4</sup>https://buggingface.co/
<sup>5</sup>https://pytorch.org/
```

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>https://imbalanced-learn.org/stable/ references/generated/imblearn.over\_ sampling.SMOTE.html <sup>3</sup>https://scikit-learn.org/stable/



Figure 3: Confusion matrix of our submission



Figure 4: Confusion matrix of SVM + TF-IDF baseline

and "not depression" labels, resulting in decreased performance. In contrast, SMOTE and Random undersampling helped the model generate synthetic points that helped the model tune better, thus leading to improved performance. The SVM model didn't distinguish between the "moderate" and "not depression" labels. Whereas it relatively showed improved performance on "severe" and "not depression" labels compared to the NN models. We also compared the confusion matrices of our model with the top-performing baseline (SVM with TF-IDF). The confusion matrices are given in the Figures 3 and 4. We have observed that our submission showed better performance on "moderate" labels when compared to SVM with TF-IDF baseline. But our model showed a decreased performance on the "not-depressed" model. But the number of instances of correctly classified "moderate" instances was more, resulting in increased accuracy.

### 5.4 Conclusion

We used SMOTE and random undersampling with an SVM classifier to detect signs of depression. The dataset is in English and has a wide range of sentence lengths, and it is imbalanced. In the dataset, 6% of sentences have more than 500 words. We used SMOTE and random undersampling methods to balance the dataset. We tested the method on other neural network baselines. The results showed that using the oversampling and undersampling methods handled the problem of imbalanced data. It, in turn, helped the machine learning classifier, i.e., SVM, to perform better on the transformed dataset. Due to the presence of long sentences, the BERT model didn't perform better on the given dataset. We hope to test the meta embedding models on the given dataset in the future.

#### References

- Nitesh V Chawla, Kevin W Bowyer, Lawrence O Hall, and W Philip Kegelmeyer. 2002. Smote: synthetic minority over-sampling technique. *Journal of artificial intelligence research*, 16:321–357.
- Jacob Devlin, Ming-Wei Chang, Kenton Lee, and Kristina Toutanova. 2018. Bert: Pre-training of deep bidirectional transformers for language understanding. arXiv preprint arXiv:1810.04805.
- Ayaan Haque, Viraaj Reddi, and Tyler Giallanza. 2021. Deep learning for suicide and depression identification with unsupervised label correction. In *International Conference on Artificial Neural Networks*, pages 436–447. Springer.
- Sepp Hochreiter and Jürgen Schmidhuber. 1997. Long short-term memory. *Neural computation*, 9(8):1735– 1780.
- Shaoxiong Ji, Shirui Pan, Xue Li, Erik Cambria, Guodong Long, and Zi Huang. 2020. Suicidal ideation detection: A review of machine learning methods and applications. *IEEE Transactions on Computational Social Systems*, 8(1):214–226.
- Yoon Kim. 2014. Convolutional neural networks for sentence classification. In *Proceedings of the* 2014 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing (EMNLP), pages 1746–1751, Doha, Qatar. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- CV Leonard. 1974. Depression and suicidality. *Journal* of consulting and clinical psychology, 42(1):98.

- Rafael Salas-Zárate, Giner Alor-Hernández, María del Pilar Salas-Zárate, Mario Andrés Paredes-Valverde, Maritza Bustos-López, and José Luis Sánchez-Cervantes. 2022. Detecting depression signs on social media: a systematic literature review. In *Healthcare*, volume 10, page 291. Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute.
- Kayalvizhi "Sampath, Thenmozhi Durairaj, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, and Jerin "Mahibha C. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Detecting Signs of Depression from Social Media. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion.* Association for Computational Linguistics.
- David William and Derwin Suhartono. 2021. Textbased depression detection on social media posts: A systematic literature review. *Procedia Computer Science*, 179:582–589.

### LeaningTower@LT-EDI-ACL2022: When Hope and Hate Collide

Arianna Muti<sup>,\*</sup>, Marta Marchiori Manerba<sup>,\*</sup>, Katerina Korre<sup>,</sup> and Alberto Barrón-Cedeño<sup>,</sup>

DIT, Alma Mater Studiorum–Universitá di Bologna, Forlì, Italy

Universitá di Pisa, Pisa, Italy

\* A. Muti and M. Marchiori Manerba contributed equally to this work. They should both be considered first authors.

#### Abstract

The 2022 edition of LT-EDI proposed two tasks in various languages. Taskhope required models for the automatic identification of hopeful comments for equality, diversity, and inclusion. TaskantiLGBT focused on the identification of homophobic and transphobic comments. We targeted both tasks in English by using reinforced BERT-based approaches. Our core strategy aimed at exploiting the data available for each given task to augment the amount of supervised instances in the other. On the basis of an active learning process, we trained a model on the dataset for Task *i* and applied it to the dataset for Task *i* to iteratively integrate new silver data for Task *i*. Our official submissions to the shared task obtained a macro-averaged  $F_1$  score of 0.53 for Task<sub>hope</sub> and 0.46 for TaskantiLGBT, placing our team in the third and fourth positions out of 11 and 12 participating teams respectively.

### 1 Introduction

In recent years, many episodes of violence against homosexuals and transsexuals have been observed online (e.g., in YouTube comments<sup>1</sup>) and offline, which escalated into the death of 375 transgender people in 2021 alone.<sup>2</sup> Most of the victims were Black and Latin women, especially sex workers, a fact that highlights the intersection between misogyny, racism, xenophobia and hate towards sex workers. That is why identifying such behaviours online is timely, as it can contribute to limiting the spread of hate. In this regard, two different tasks have been proposed in LT-EDI in various languages:

### Homo/Transphobia Detection (Task<sub>antiLGBT</sub>)

Classify a YouTube comment into homophobic, transphobic or non-anti-LGBT content (Chakravarthi et al., 2022b).

Hope Speech Detection (Task<sub>hope</sub>) Classify a YouTube comment into hope speech or non-hope speech (Chakravarthi et al., 2022a).

We approach both tasks, addressing the English language only.<sup>3</sup> We experiment with two different approaches for Task<sub>hope</sub> and four for Task<sub>antiLGBT</sub>. We aim at augmenting the data to cope with the heavy imbalance in the datasets. All models are built on top of BERT (Devlin et al., 2019). For Task<sub>hope</sub> we implement a binary classifier which is our baseline, and we augment data through an active learning approach (Hino, 2020). For Task<sub>antiLGBT</sub> we implement a multi-class classifier as our baseline. Then, we augment training data according to three approaches:

- augmenting transphobic instances by adding Tamil data translated into English;
- augmenting non-anti-LGBT content instances by integrating hope speech instances from Task<sub>hope</sub>; and
- Performing an active learning approach.

The rest of the paper is structured as follows. Section 2 provides an overview of definitions and related work in the field of abusive language detection, focusing in particular on homophobia, transphobia (and hope speech). Section 3 explores the two datasets provided by the shared task. Section 4 describes our models for both tasks and Section 5 outlines the hyperparameters and preliminary experiments. Section 6 presents and discusses our results. Finally, Section 7 draws conclusions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>https://www.bbc.com/news/technology-50166900

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>https://www.forbes.com/sites/jamiewa reham/2021/11/11/375-transgender-peoplemurdered-in-2021-deadliest-year-since-re cords-began/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Our implementation is available at https://github.com/TinfFoil/leaningtower\_ltedi22.

### 2 Background

The importance of the automatic detection of abusive language has increased together with the popularity of social media (Fortuna and Nunes, 2018). The online discourse often has hateful and offensive connotations towards minorities. The exposure to hate speech can trigger polarization, isolation, depression, and other psychological trauma (Kiritchenko et al., 2021). Becoming aware of this serious societal issue, online platforms have assumed the responsibility of examining and removing hateful posts (Fortuna and Nunes, 2018). Due to the continuous flow of large amounts of contents through social media, hatred is flagged through automatic methods along with human monitoring (Poletto et al., 2021).

In order to foster the development of automatic models for the identification of different kinds of hate speech, diverse supervised datasets and models have been developed. Chakravarthi et al. (2021) proposed a dataset with homophobic and transphobic contents from YouTube, gathering comments from famous YouTubers that raise awareness on the LGBT+ community and also from channels that report pranks and jokes about homosexuals and transsexuals. Given the sensitivity of the topics covered in the videos, the comments posted can often have abusive, offensive or denigratory connotations towards the LGBT+ community. They found out that a combination of machine learning models, including random forests (Breiman, 2001) reinforced with BERT embeddings (Devlin et al., 2019), obtains the best result.

Hope speech, on the other hand, lies on the other end of the spectrum of digital rhetoric. In contrast to hateful comments, a hopeful discourse is characterized by a friendly tone and an intention to inspire, support, include, and encourage members of minorities, who are often subject to judgment, isolation, and suffering (Chakravarthi, 2020). Focusing on spotting hopeful rather than hateful contents offers a twist that seeks to produce a better online ecosystem by promoting rather than limiting comments and opinions.

This angle was explored within the hope speech detection shared task (Chakravarthi, 2020) on HopeEDI, a multilingual collection of YouTube comments.<sup>4</sup> According to Chakravarthi and Muralidaran (2021), the best approach for English

	train	test
homophobic	215	61
transphobic	8	5
non-anti-LGBT	3,730	924

Table 1: Statistics of the English corpus for Task<sub>antiLGBT</sub>.

	train	test
hope speech	2,234	-
non-hope speech	23,347	-

Table 2: Statistics of the English corpus for Taskhope.

achieved 0.93 F<sub>1</sub>score: the winning team finetuned RoBERTa (Liu et al., 2019) on the three datasets, i.e., the collections in English, Tamil, and Malayalam.

Relevant work in this area includes also the contribution of Palakodety et al. (2020), where the authors collect another hope speech dataset of YouTube comments posted on videos related to the India–Pakistan conflict and apply active learning as well to tackle the imbalanced distribution.

### **3** Datasets

Here, we briefly describe the datasets for Task<sub>antiLGBT</sub> and Task<sub>hope</sub>.

**Task**<sub>antiLGBT</sub> The collection consists of comments of YouTube videos that were annotated by LGBT+ community members. Table 1 shows statistics. The distribution is heavily skewed, with less than 10% of homophobic instances and only 8 instances of transphobia. This low amount of instances could significantly impact a model's capability of spotting transphobic comments.

**Task**<sub>hope</sub> Table 2 shows statistics for the Task<sub>hope</sub> dataset.<sup>5</sup> Once again, the corpus is heavily imbalanced: only 10% of the instances belong to the hopeful class. As claimed by Chakravarthi (2020), this class distribution reflects a real-world scenario.

### 4 Systems Overview

In the following paragraphs, we first describe the active learning approach. We then present the specific strategies developed for Task<sub>antiLGBT</sub> and Task<sub>hope</sub> respectively. For Task<sub>antiLGBT</sub>, we

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>https://sites.google.com/view/lt-edi -2021/home

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>The numbers for the test set will be included upon release of the gold labels.

trained four alternative models to identify the best possible configuration: baseline, baseline augmented with Tamil data translated to English, baseline augmented with hope speech data remapped as non-anti-LGBT content and baseline with augmented data from Task<sub>hope</sub> through an active learning approach. For Task<sub>hope</sub>, we trained two alternative models: the baseline and the active learning approach.

Cross-task data augmentation through active **learning** The two tasks at hand are related, as the labels of both datasets can be traced back to hateful and non-hateful instances. Instances of homo/transphobic and hope speech messages can be remapped to their non-hope speech and non-anti-LGBT comments respectively. On the contrary, it is not always true that a non-hope speech instance is homo/transphobic and that a non-anti-LGBT content contains hope speech. Therefore, given the small amount of training instances available for both TaskantiLGBT and Taskhope, we aim to take advantage of both datasets proposing an approach to augment the training sets for each task. We first add the homo/transphobic and hope speech instances in bulk, and then we filter the uncertain ones, i.e., nonhope speech for TaskantiLGBT and non-anti-LGBT content for Taskhope, through an active learning approach (Hino, 2020) as follows. Let  $D_i$  and  $D_j$ be the supervised datasets for both tasks. (i) Train model  $m_i$  on  $D_i$ . (ii) Predict the instances in  $D_j$ with  $m_i$ . (iii) Rank the instances in  $D_i$  according to the confidence of the prediction score returned by  $m_i$ . (*iv*) Transfer the top-k instances in  $D_i$  as silver data to  $D_i$ . This process is repeated until  $|D_i| = \emptyset$  and the final model for Task *i* is then used to predict on the dev set for Task i.

Specifically, we augment the dataset for Task<sub>hope</sub> by adding in bulk homophobic and transphobic instances remapped to non-hope speech instances. We do the same for Task<sub>antiLGBT</sub> by adding in bulk hope speech instances to non-anti-LGBT content. Then, we use an active learning approach to identify which non-anti-LGBT instances contain hope speech, and which non-hope speech instances contain homophobia/transphobia. In the end we integrate the identified instances (i.e., hope speech and homo/transphobic) in both datasets. Figure 1 represents the approach for Task<sub>hope</sub>. First, homophobic and transphobic instances from Task<sub>antiLGBT</sub> are added as non-hope speech. Then, we feed non-anti-LGBT instances



Figure 1: Our strategy to augment the dataset for  $Task_{hope}$ . Anti-LGBT content includes both homophobic and transphobic instances.

to the model trained on Task<sub>hope</sub> dataset. Those which are predicted as hope speech are integrated in the training set. We adopt the same approach for Task<sub>antiLGBT</sub>.

### 4.1 Task<sub>antiLGBT</sub>

**Baseline** In our first and simplest approach we adopt a similar architecture for both tasks. The model is built on top of BERT (Devlin et al., 2019) with a softmax activation function in the output. For Task<sub>antiLGBT</sub>, we adopt a multi-class approach with mutually exclusive categories with three output units. This approach is based on the top-performing model (Muti and Barrón-Cedeño, 2020) at the AMI shared task on the identification of misogynous and aggressive tweets (Elisabetta Fersini, 2020). No external data is considered in this model.

**Baseline augmented with Tamil data** Whereas we focus on the English language for both tasks, we exploit the provided dataset in Tamil by translating it into English using the GoogleTrans API.<sup>6</sup> One of the main purposes of this cross-language augmentation was increasing through machine translation the amount of transphobic instances with the 155 available in Tamil. However, only some of them were successfully translated, as many of the sentences remained in Tamil, therefore we could only exploit 54 instances.

**Baseline augmented with hope speech data** A first cross-task data augmentation involved adding in bulk all the data labeled as hope speech to the training set of Task<sub>antiLGBT</sub>, considered as non-anti-LGBT content. Specifically, we added 2, 234 hope speech instances.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>https://pypi.org/project/googletrans/

model	variation	$\mathbf{F}_1$
BERT	baseline	0.94
BERT	baseline + Tamil	0.94
BERT	baseline + Hope	0.92
BERT	active learning	0.96

Table 3: Weighted  $F_1$ -measures on the development set for Task<sub>antiLGBT</sub>.

**Baseline augmented through hope speech data** and active learning Before implementing the active learning process we added in bulk 2, 234 hope speech instances to the non-anti-LGBT content class. Then, the active learning process worked on predicting any homophobic/transphobic content within the non-hope speech instances from the pool data, i.e., from the dataset for Task<sub>hope</sub>. From these predictions, we then integrated the top-k (with k = 200) instances into a newly enhanced training set and iteratively re-train and add instances until the performance stop increasing or the pool set remains empty. As a result, 194 instances have been added to the homophobic class.

### 4.2 Taskhope

**Baseline** The approach is similar to the one described for Task<sub>antiLGBT</sub> except that for this task we adopt a binary approach with two output units. No external data is considered in this model.

**Baseline augmented through homo/transphobic data and active learning** Before implementing the active learning process, we added in bulk 215 homophobic and 8 transphobic instances to the non-hope speech class. Then, we instantiated the active learning process with k = 200, adding 200 instances to the hope speech class.

### **5** Experimental Setup

No preprocessing is applied to the text, other than applying the BertTokenizer (Devlin et al., 2019). We shuffle the training set and take 10% of the data for development, preserving the class distribution through stratified random sampling (Pedregosa et al., 2011). In order to find the best hyperparameters to predict on the test set, we experimented with different batch sizes (4,8,16) for the baseline model, over an increasing number of epochs (4,6,8), testing on the development set. The combination that performed the best was a batch size of 16 over 4 epochs for both tasks, therefore we used those hyperparameters to train all models. In order to

model	variation	$\mathbf{F}_1$
BERT	baseline	0.76
BERT	active learning	0.77

Table 4: Macro-averaged  $F_1$  score for each run tested on development set.

tune the network, we used the AdamW optimizer, which decouples weight decay from gradient computation, with a learning rate of 1e-5 (Loshchilov and Hutter, 2019).

As for the evaluation metrics, we stick to the official one: macro-averaged  $F_1$ -measure for both tasks. Since Task<sub>antiLGBT</sub> is a multi-class problem, we computed the weighted  $F_1$ -measure when testing on the development set.

#### 6 Results

In this section, we present our results for both tasks. For Task<sub>antiLGBT</sub> we provide the results generated with the predictions of both development and test sets. For Task<sub>hope</sub>, we present only the results on the development set.<sup>7</sup>

### 6.1 Performance on the Development Set

**Task**<sub>antiLGBT</sub> Table 3 reports the weighted  $F_1$ measures. The best model was the active learning one, followed by the baseline and the baseline augmented with Tamil data (both 2 units less), and finally the baseline augmented with hope data (2 units less than the previous one).

**Task**<sub>hope</sub> Table 4 shows the macro-averaged  $F_1$ measures. The highest score is obtained with the active learning approach again:  $F_1$ =0.77. The improvement over the baseline by only one unit suggests that the augmentation performed through the active learning strategy does not impact the performance significantly.

#### 6.2 Performance on the Test Set

**Task**<sub>antiLGBT</sub> Table 5 shows the official results of our submitted runs. Contrary to the results on the development set, the baseline reached the highest score, followed by the active learning approach, the baseline augmented with Tamil data and at the end the baseline augmented with hope speech data. All the scores differ by one unit. Our baseline came fourth in the ranking. We also include macro-averaged precision and recall. The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>At submission time, the gold labels for the test set were not available.

model	variation	$\mathbf{F}_1$	prec	rec
BERT	baseline	0.46	0.53	0.43
BERT	baseline + Tamil	0.43	0.49	0.41
BERT	baseline + Hope	0.42	0.45	0.41
BERT	active learning	0.44	0.49	0.41
Ablimet <sup>(1)</sup>		0.57	0.57	0.61
Sammaan <sup>(2)</sup>		0.49	0.52	0.47
Nozza <sup>(3)</sup>		0.48	0.58	0.45

Table 5: At the top: official macro-averaged  $F_1$  score, precision and recall for our submissions to Task<sub>antiLGBT</sub> with top  $F_1$  score highlighted. At the bottom: the performance of the top-three participants in the shared task.

relatively-low recall values indicate that the models struggle with recognizing positive instances. This result is mainly due to the nature of the dataset, which is strongly imbalanced with respect to the massive presence of instances belonging to the nonanti-LGBT class.

**Task**<sub>hope</sub> Table 6 shows the results for both submitted systems — the baseline and the baseline reinforced with the active learning approach. Both models reach the same score, positioning our team third with respect to the other participants. Once again, although the active learning approach did not impact negatively on the performance, it did not help it either.

### 7 Conclusions and Future Work

This paper provided a description of our participating models to the LT-EDI-ACL2022 shared tasks on hope speech detection and homophobia/transphobia detection. We addressed the two problems together, by exploiting data available in one task to create silver data for the other task.

For Task<sub>antiLGBT</sub>, our baseline outperforms all the other reinforced approaches which make use of external data when tested on the test set. 'For what concerns the active learning approach, it is likely that non-hope speech data do not contain homophobia or transphobia, contrary to what we expected, and therefore they do not contribute to increase the performance for Task<sub>antiLGBT</sub>, as shown by our experiments.

For Task<sub>hope</sub> the active learning approach outperforms the baseline in the development set by one unit only, and it achieves the same score as the baseline in the test set, concluding that the impact of transferring data from one task to the other is

model	variation	$\mathbf{F}_1$	prec	rec
BERT	baseline	0.53	0.53	0.53
BERT	active learning	0.53	0.53	0.53
IIITSu	$\operatorname{at}^{(1)}$	0.55	0.56	0.54
MUCIO	$C^{(1)}$	0.55	0.54	0.55
ARGU	$ABLY^{(2)}$	0.54	0.55	0.54

Table 6: At the top: Official macro-averaged  $F_1$  score, precision and recall for our submissions to Task<sub>hope</sub> with top  $F_1$  score highlighted. At the bottom: the performance of the top-three participants in the shared task.

not a good strategy. Nevertheless, our approaches ended up in the third and fourth position of the shared task.

In future work, we would like to test other transformer-based models to assess the impact of different pretraining techniques on the effectiveness of the active learning approach for these particular tasks. It would also be interesting to try different evaluation approaches for these tasks by exploring the fairness of classifiers (Dobbe et al., 2018; Mehrabi et al., 2021), with respect to minority social identities, i.e., the different members of the LGBT+ community. Specifically, we would like to investigate whether the classifiers contain unintended biases, e.g. towards specific sexual orientations, according to well-known metrics proposed to detect unfairness within toxicity detection (Borkan et al., 2019).

#### References

- Daniel Borkan, Lucas Dixon, Jeffrey Sorensen, Nithum Thain, and Lucy Vasserman. 2019. Nuanced metrics for measuring unintended bias with real data for text classification. In Companion of The 2019 World Wide Web Conference, WWW 2019, San Francisco, CA, USA, May 13-17, 2019, pages 491–500. ACM.
- Leo Breiman. 2001. Random forests. *Machine Learn-ing*, 45(1):5–32.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi. 2020. HopeEDI: A multilingual hope speech detection dataset for equality, diversity, and inclusion. In *Proceedings of the Third Workshop on Computational Modeling of People's Opinions, Personality, and Emotion's in Social Media*, pages 41–53, Barcelona, Spain (Online). Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi and Vigneshwaran Muralidaran. 2021. Findings of the shared task on Hope Speech Detection for Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Vigneshwaran Muralidaran, Ruba Priyadharshini, Subalalitha Chinnaudayar Navaneethakrishnan, John Phillip McCrae, Miguel Ángel García-Cumbreras, Salud María Jiménez-Zafra, Rafael Valencia-García, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, Rahul Ponnusamy, Daniel García-Baena, and José Antonio García-Díaz. 2022a. Findings of the shared task on Hope Speech Detection for Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion. In *Proceedings* of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Thenmozhi Durairaj, John Phillip McCrae, Paul Buitaleer, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, and Rahul Ponnusamy. 2022b. Findings of the shared task on Homophobia Transphobia Detection in Social Media Comments. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Rahul Ponnusamy, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, Kayalvizhi Sampath, Durairaj Thenmozhi, Sathiyaraj Thangasamy, Rajendran Nallathambi, and John Phillip McCrae. 2021. Dataset for identification of homophobia and transophobia in multilingual youtube comments. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2109.00227*.
- Jacob Devlin, Ming-Wei Chang, Kenton Lee, and Kristina Toutanova. 2019. BERT: Pre-training of deep bidirectional transformers for language understanding. In Proceedings of the 2019 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Volume 1 (Long and Short Papers), pages 4171–4186, Minneapolis, Minnesota. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Roel Dobbe, Sarah Dean, Thomas Krendl Gilbert, and Nitin Kohli. 2018. A broader view on bias in automated decision-making: Reflecting on epistemology and dynamics. *CoRR*, abs/1807.00553.
- Paolo Rosso Elisabetta Fersini, Debora Nozza. 2020. AMI@ EVALITA2020: Automatic Misogyny Identification. In Proceedings of the 7th evaluation campaign of Natural Language Processing and Speech tools for Italian (EVALITA 2020), Online. CEUR.org.

Paula Fortuna and Sérgio Nunes. 2018. A survey on

automatic detection of hate speech in text. ACM Comput. Surv., 51(4):85:1–85:30.

- Hideitsu Hino. 2020. Active learning: Problem settings and recent developments. *CoRR*, abs/2012.04225.
- Svetlana Kiritchenko, Isar Nejadgholi, and Kathleen C. Fraser. 2021. Confronting abusive language online: A survey from the ethical and human rights perspective. J. Artif. Intell. Res., 71:431–478.
- Yinhan Liu, Myle Ott, Naman Goyal, Jingfei Du, Mandar Joshi, Danqi Chen, Omer Levy, Mike Lewis, Luke Zettlemoyer, and Veselin Stoyanov. 2019. Roberta: A robustly optimized BERT pretraining approach. *CoRR*, abs/1907.11692.
- Ilya Loshchilov and Frank Hutter. 2019. Decoupled weight decay regularization. In 7th International Conference on Learning Representations, ICLR 2019, New Orleans, LA, USA, May 6-9, 2019. OpenReview.net.
- Ninareh Mehrabi, Fred Morstatter, Nripsuta Saxena, Kristina Lerman, and Aram Galstyan. 2021. A survey on bias and fairness in machine learning. *ACM Comput. Surv.*, 54(6):115:1–115:35.
- Arianna Muti and Alberto Barrón-Cedeño. 2020. UniBO@AMI: A Multi-Class Approach to Misogyny and Aggressiveness Identification on Twitter Posts Using AlBERTo. In (Elisabetta Fersini, 2020).
- Shriphani Palakodety, Ashiqur R. KhudaBukhsh, and Jaime G. Carbonell. 2020. Hope speech detection: A computational analysis of the voice of peace. *arXiv*:1909.12940.
- Fabian Pedregosa, Gael Varoquaux, Alexandre Gramfort, Vincent Michel, Bertrand Thirion, Oliver Grisel, Mathieu Blondel, Peter Prettenhofer, Ron Weiss, Vincent Dubourg, Jake Vanderplas, Alexandre Passos, David Cournapeau, Matthieu Brucher, Matthieu Perrot, and Edouard Duchesnay. 2011. Scikit-learn: Machine learning in Python. Journal of Machine Learning Research, 12:2825–2830.
- Fabio Poletto, Valerio Basile, Manuela Sanguinetti, Cristina Bosco, and Viviana Patti. 2021. Resources and benchmark corpora for hate speech detection: a systematic review. *Lang. Resour. Evaluation*, 55(2):477–523.

# MUCS@Text-LT-EDI@ACL 2022: Detecting Sign of Depression from Social Media Text using Supervised Learning Approach

Asha Hegde<sup>1 a</sup>, Sharal Coelho<sup>1 b</sup>,

Ahmad Elyas Dashti<sup>1 c</sup>, Hosahalli Lakshmaiah Shashirekha<sup>1 d</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Computer Science, Mangalore University, Mangalore, India

{ahegdekasha, bsharalmucs, celyas.dashti808, dhlsrekha}@gmail.com

### Abstract

Social media has seen enormous growth in its users recently and knowingly or unknowingly the behavior of a person will be reflected in the comments she/he posts on social media. Users having the sign of depression may post negative or disturbing content seeking the attention of other users. Hence, social media data can be analysed to check whether the users' have the sign of depression and help them to get through the situation if required. However, as analyzing the increasing amount of social media data manually in laborious and error-prone, automated tools have to be developed for the same. To address the issue of detecting the sign of depression content on social media, in this paper, we - team MUCS, describe an Ensemble of Machine Learning (ML) models and a Transfer Learning (TL) model submitted to "Detecting Signs of Depression from Social Media Text-LT-EDI@ACL 2022" (DepSign-LT-EDI@ACL-2022) shared task at Association for Computational Linguistics (ACL) 2022. Both frequency and text based features are used to train an Ensemble model and Bidirectional Encoder Representations from Transformers (BERT) fine-tuned with raw text is used to train the TL model. Among the two models, the TL model performed better with a macro averaged F-score of 0.479 and placed 18th rank in the shared task. The code to reproduce the proposed models is available in github page<sup>1</sup>.

### 1 Introduction

A person feeling unimportant, useless, or unhappy may be a sign of depression. Depression is one of the most severe mental health conditions which may be unnoticed, undiagnosed and untreated in many cases. People worldwide suffer from depression and the affected person may operate poorly at work, studies, and in the community. Recent research studies have shown that the popularity of social media networks in one's life is increasing day by day. People are using social media to share their thoughts, feelings, emotions and sentiments (Islam et al., 2018). Knowingly or unknowingly the behavior of a person will be reflected in the comments she/he posts on social media (Sampath et al., 2022a; Ravikiran et al., 2022; Chakravarthi et al., 2022; Bharathi et al., 2022; Priyadharshini et al., 2022). Social media users who are usually in depression try to seek the attention and sympathy of others by posting negative and disturbing messages or requesting help. Some have even reached to the extent of going live on social media before taking drastic steps such as suicide (Chakravarthi, 2020; Chakravarthi et al., 2021; Chakravarthi and Muralidaran, 2021). Due to all these issues, understanding mental health on social media has become a popular field of study (Alhuzali et al., 2021).

Studies have indicated that the analysis of the messages posted on social media platforms by the users can help to predict the sign of depression (Chiong et al., 2021) of the users and the early prediction can help the users to get through the situation. Researchers are exploring to analyze social media content to predict the mental health of users in order to lend a helping hand to the needy at the earliest. In this paper, we - team MUCS, describe the models submitted to DepSign-LT-EDI@ACL 2022<sup>2</sup> shared task to detect signs of depression in social media text and classify them into into three categories: "not depressed", "moderately depressed", and "severely depressed". Two models: i) An ensemble of ML classifiers, namely: Random Forest (RF), Multinomial Naive Bayes (MNB), Multi-Layer Perceptron (MLP), and Gradient Boosting (GB) with soft voting ii) TL model with BERT, are proposed to classify the given input into one of the three predefined categories. The rest of the article is structured as follows: A review of relevant work is included in Section 2, and the

<sup>1</sup>https://github.com/hegdekasha/ Detecting-sign-of-depression

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>https://competitions.codalab.org/competitions/36410
methodology is discussed in Section 3. Experiments, results, and error analysis are described in Section 4 followed by concluding the paper with future work in Section 5.

# 2 Literature Review

Researchers have experimented various methodologies to build systems capable of detecting the signs of depression in social media content and a few of the relevant ones are described below:

To analyze suicide ideation symptoms on Reddit social media, Tadesse et al. (2020) developed a combined Long Short Term Memory (LSTM) -Convolutional Neural Network (CNN) model based on Word2Vec features and obtained 93.8% accuracy. Haque et al. (2021) implemented the Boruta algorithm in association with RF classifier to predict depression in kids and teenagers aged from 4 to 17. Their proposed model was evaluated on Youth Minds Matter (YMM) dataset and their model predicted the depressed classes with 95% accuracy. To identify the signs of depression in Twitter, K S et al. (2019) used Word2Vec word embeddings to represent the Tweets and train the combination of the LSTM and CNN model and Support Vector Machine (SVM). The LSTM and CNN model combination and SVM model obtained an overall weighted avg F1-scores of 0.97 and 0.85 respectively.

Zygadło et al. (2021) employed Naive Bayes, SVM, and BERT for sentiment and emotion recognition in English and Polish texts. They built COR- $TEX^3$  - a Polish version of the dataset for sentiment and emotion recognition. BERT-based classifier achieved accuracies of over 90% and around 80% for sentiment and emotion classification respectively. Hämäläinen et al. (2021) have created a dataset for detecting depression in Thai blog posts and tested it with four different models: (i) Bidirectional LSTM (BiLSTM) based model using Open-Source Neural Machine Translation (Open-NMT)<sup>4</sup> toolkit (ii) LSTM model with Word2Vec features, (iii) Thai BERT<sup>5</sup> model, and (iv) Multilingual BERT model. Among these models, the Thai BERT model achieved the highest overall accuracy of 77.53%.

Even though several techniques have been developed to detect the sign of depression in social media text, there are no full-fledged models for all datasets. Further, the trend in posting comments on social media changes frequently because of creative users. Hence, this necessitates the need for the development of new models to detect the sign of depression in a social media text.

# 3 Methodology

The proposed methodology includes two distinct models namely: i) Ensemble of ML classifiers and ii) TL model with BERT, for detecting the sign of depression in social media text. Description of the two models are given below:



Figure 1: The proposed framework of Ensemble of ML classifiers

#### 3.1 Ensemble of Machine Learning Classifiers

The proposed Ensemble of ML classifiers consists of Pre-processing, Feature Extraction and Model Building steps and the framework of the proposed model is shown in Figure 1. Each of the steps are explained below:

**Pre-processing** - Dataset is pre-processed to remove punctuation, digits, and stopwords, as they do not contribute to the classification task. The English stopwords list available at Natural Language Tool Kit (NLTK) library<sup>6</sup> is used to remove stop-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>https://github.com/azygadlo/CORTEX

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>https://github.com/OpenNMT/OpenNMT-py

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>https://github.com/ThAIKeras/bert

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>https://www.nltk.org

words and Porter Stemmer<sup>7</sup> is used to reduce the words to their stems.

**Feature Extraction -** As the given dataset is imbalanced, resampling is carried out using randomoversampling<sup>8</sup> technique to bring balance in the dataset. Frequency based features, namely: TF-IDF of character bigrams and trigrams and word unigrams and text based features, namely: count of words and characters followed by the count of adjectives, adverbs, nouns, and pronouns are extracted. These features are combined and used to train the Ensemble of ML classifiers. The number of character bigrams and trigrams extracted amounts to 9,024 and word unigrams amounts to 13,169.

**Model Building -** ML classifiers are generally ensembled by making use of the strength of one classifier to overcome the weakness of another classifier to improve the results. RF, MLP, MNB, and GB classifiers are ensembled to detect the sign of depression in social media text and soft voting is used to predict the category of the Test set.

The RF algorithm consists of a set of decision trees, each of which is trained with a random subset of features, and the prediction is carried out based on majority voting of all the trees in the forest (Islam et al., 2019). The MLP classifier is widely used in classification as they are simple and easy to implement. It is a feed-forward neural network which consists of three layers, namely: input layer, an output layer, and one or more hidden layers (Lakhotia and Bresson, 2018). The MNB model is a popular ML classifier because of its computing efficiency and relatively good predictive performance (Harjule et al., 2020). GB classifier will benefit the regularization methods that penalize different parts of the algorithm and improve the overall performance by reducing overfitting (Stein et al., 2019).

#### 3.2 Transfer Learning model with BERT

BERT is a popular language representation model used to train TL model for text classification. It is pre-trained on Wikipedia corpus with 2,500 million words of unlabelled text and 800 million words from huggingface Book Corpus. Further, it is a bidirectional model which learns information from both left and right sides of the context.

BERT accepts raw text for fine-tuning the pretrained embeddings. The model provides positional

Classes	Train set	Dev set
moderate	6,019	2,306
not depression	1,971	1,830
severe	901	360

Table 1: Class-wise distribution of the dataset

encoding based BERT tokenizer followed by BERT embeddings which transforms each token into tensors so that the classifiers can be trained using these tensors. The framework of the proposed TL model is shown in Figure 2.



Input: I suffer from depression during the winter

Figure 2: The framework of TL model with BERT

#### **4** Experiments and Results

Several experiments were conducted with different resampling techniques and various combinations of features and classifiers and the models that gave good performance on the Development set are applied for the Test set. The dataset provided by the organisers to detect the sign of depression consists of social media comments in English (Sampath et al., 2022b). Table 1 gives the class-wise distribution of the dataset. For TL model, the pre-trained BERT-base-uncased<sup>9</sup> model is used with ClassificationModel<sup>10</sup> - a transformer based classifier, to predict the labels for the given Test set. Table 2 shows the hyperparameters and the values of the hyperparameters used to implement TL model.

The proposed models were evaluated by the organizers of the shared task based on macro averaged F-score and the results are shown in Table 3. Ensemble of ML classifiers model achieved macro averaged F-scores of 0.573 and 0.419 for Develop-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>https://www.nltk.org/\_modules/nltk/stem/porter.html

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>https://imbalanced-learn.org/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>https://huggingface.co/docs/transformers/model\_doc/bert <sup>10</sup>https://simpletransformers.ai/docs/classificationmodels/

Hyperparameters	Value	
Layers	12	
Hidden size	768	
Self attention heads 12		
110 M trainable parameters		

Table 2: The values of the hyperparameters used in TL model

Models	Dev set	Test set
Ensemble based model	0.573	0.419
TL based model	0.620	0.479

 Table 3: Performance of macro averaged F-score of the proposed models

ment (Dev) set and Test set respectively. Further, the TL model outperformed the other model with macro averaged F-scores of 0.620 and 0.479 for Dev set and Test set respectively. In spite of resampling the data using random over sampling to balance the dataset, the results are still low. This may be because the random over sampling technique duplicates features from the minority classes resulting in overfitting for some models (Yap et al., 2014).

#### 5 Conclusion and Future work

This paper describes the models submitted by our team - MUCS to DepSign-LT-EDI@ACL-2022 shared task to detect signs of depression from social media text in English. The two proposed models are: i) Ensemble of ML classifiers trained with the combination of frequency and text based features and ii) TL model with BERT. Resampling is also explored to handle the data imbalance problem. The TL model outperformed Ensemble model with a macro averaged F-score of 0.479 securing 18<sup>th</sup> rank in the shared task. Future research will explore different sets of features and feature selection algorithms for detecting sign of depression from social media text.

# References

- Hassan Alhuzali, Tianlin Zhang, and Sophia Ananiadou. 2021. Predicting Sign of Depression via Using Frozen Pre-trained Models and Random Forest Classifier. In *CLEF (Working Notes)*.
- B Bharathi, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Subalalitha Chinnaudayar Navaneethakrishnan, N Sripriya, Arunaggiri Pandian, and Swetha Valli. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Speech Recognition for Vulnerable Individuals in Tamil. In *Proceedings of*

*the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion.* Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi. 2020. HopeEDI: A multilingual hope speech detection dataset for equality, diversity, and inclusion. In *Proceedings of the Third Workshop on Computational Modeling of People's Opinions, Personality, and Emotion's in Social Media*, pages 41–53, Barcelona, Spain (Online). Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi and Vigneshwaran Muralidaran. 2021. Findings of the shared task on hope speech detection for equality, diversity, and inclusion. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, pages 61–72, Kyiv. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Thenmozhi Durairaj, John Phillip McCrae, Paul Buitaleer, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, and Rahul Ponnusamy. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Homophobia Transphobia Detection in Social Media Comments. In Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Rahul Ponnusamy, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, Kayalvizhi Sampath, Durairaj Thenmozhi, Sathiyaraj Thangasamy, Rajendran Nallathambi, and John Phillip McCrae. 2021. Dataset for identification of homophobia and transophobia in multilingual YouTube comments. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2109.00227*.
- Raymond Chiong, Gregorius Satia Budhi, Sandeep Dhakal, and Fabian Chiong. 2021. A Textual-based Featuring Approach for Depression Detection using Machine Learning Classifiers and Social Media Texts. volume 135, page 104499. Elsevier.
- Mika Hämäläinen, Pattama Patpong, Khalid Alnajjar, Niko Partanen, and Jack Rueter. 2021. Detecting Depression in Thai Blog Posts: a Dataset and a Baseline.
- Umme Marzia Haque, Enamul Kabir, and Rasheda Khanam. 2021. Detection of Child Depression using Machine Learning Methods. volume 16, page e0261131. Public Library of Science San Francisco, CA USA.
- Priyanka Harjule, Astha Gurjar, Harshita Seth, and Priya Thakur. 2020. Text Classification on Twitter Data. In 2020 3rd International Conference on Emerging Technologies in Computer Engineering: Machine Learning and Internet of Things (ICETCE), pages 160–164.
- Md Islam, Muhammad Ashad Kabir, Ashir Ahmed, Abu Raihan M Kamal, Hua Wang, Anwaar Ulhaq, et al. 2018. Depression Detection from Social Network

Data using Machine Learning Techniques. volume 6, pages 1–12. Springer.

- Md Zahidul Islam, Jixue Liu, Jiuyong Li, Lin Liu, and Wei Kang. 2019. A Semantics Aware Random Forest for Text Classification. In *Proceedings of the 28th ACM International Conference on Information and Knowledge Management*, pages 1061–1070.
- Aswathy K S, Rafeeque C, and Reena Murali. 2019. Deep Learning Approach for the Detection of Depression in Twitter.
- Suyash Lakhotia and Xavier Bresson. 2018. An Experimental Comparison of Text Classification Techniques. In 2018 International Conference on Cyberworlds (CW), pages 58–65. IEEE.
- Ruba Priyadharshini, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Subalalitha Chinnaudayar Navaneethakrishnan, Thenmozhi Durairaj, Malliga Subramanian, Kogilavani Shanmugavadivel, Siddhanth U Hegde, and Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Abusive Comment Detection in Tamil. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Speech and Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages*. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Manikandan Ravikiran, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Anand Kumar Madasamy, Sangeetha Sivanesan, Ratnavel Rajalakshmi, Sajeetha Thavareesan, Rahul Ponnusamy, and Shankar Mahadevan. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Offensive Span Identification in code-mixed Tamil-English comments. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Speech and Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages*. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Anbukkarasi Sampath, Thenmozhi Durairaj, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Subalalitha Chinnaudayar Navaneethakrishnan, Kogilavani Shanmugavadivel, Sajeetha Thavareesan, Sathiyaraj Thangasamy, Parameswari Krishnamurthy, Adeep Hande, Sean Benhur, Kishor Kumar Ponnusamy, and Santhiya Pandiyan. 2022a. Findings of the shared task on Emotion Analysis in Tamil. In Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Speech and Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Kayalvizhi Sampath, Thenmozhi Durairaj, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, and Jerin Mahibha C. 2022b. Findings of the Shared Task on Detecting Signs of Depression from Social Media. In Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Roger Alan Stein, Patricia A Jaques, and Joao Francisco Valiati. 2019. An Analysis of Hierarchical Text Classification using Word Embeddings. volume 471, pages 216–232. Elsevier.

- Michael Mesfin Tadesse, Hongfei Lin, Bo Xu, and Liang Yang. 2020. Detection of Suicide Ideation in Social Media Forums Using Deep Learning. volume 13, page 7. Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute.
- Bee Wah Yap, Khatijahhusna Abd Rani, Hezlin Aryani Abd Rahman, Simon Fong, Zuraida Khairudin, and Nik Nik Abdullah. 2014. An Application of Oversampling, Undersampling, Bagging and Boosting in Handling Imbalanced Datasets. In *Proceedings of the first international conference on advanced data and information engineering (DaEng-2013)*, pages 13–22. Springer.
- Artur Zygadło, Marek Kozłowski, and Artur Janicki. 2021. Text-Based Emotion Recognition in English and Polish for Therapeutic Chatbot. volume 11, page 10146. Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute.

# SSNCSE\_NLP@LT-EDI-ACL2022: Speech Recognition for Vulnerable Individuals in Tamil using pre-trained XLSR models

Dhanya Srinivasan

B. Bharathi D. Thenmozhi SSN College of Engineering B. Senthil Kumar

dhanya2010903@ssn.edu.in bharathib@ssn.edu.in theni\_d@ssn.edu.in senthil@ssn.edu.in

#### Abstract

Automatic speech recognition is a tool used to transform human speech into a written form. It is used in a variety of avenues, such as in voice commands, customer, service and more. It has emerged as an essential tool in the digitisation of daily life. It has been known to be of vital importance in making the lives of elderly and disabled people much easier. In this paper we describe an automatic speech recognition model, determined by using three pretrained models, fine-tuned from the Facebook XLSR Wav2Vec2 model, which was trained using the Common Voice Dataset. The best model for speech recognition in Tamil is determined by finding the word error rate of the data. This work explains the submission made by SSNCSE NLP in the shared task organized by LT-EDI at ACL 2022. A word error rate of 39.4512 is achieved.

# 1 Introduction

Speech recognition (also known as speech-totext or Automatic Speech Recognition) is a technique used to convert human speech into a written format. It is an important tool, and has many applications, such as in mobile phones (voice commands for call routing and voice searching), customer service, emotion recognition, and more importantly, in helping disabled people. It can not only help convert words to text to assist hearing impaired people, but also aids physically impaired people in performing activities such as typing and browsing using voice commands, instead of having to manually operate a computer.

Tamil is the official language of Tamil Nadu, Puducherry, Sri Lanka and Singapore. (Chakravarthi and Raja, 2020)(Chakravarthi and Muralidaran, 2021) was the first language to be classified as a classical language in India, out of over 22 scheduled languages in India. It is also one of the oldest languages in the world, seemingly originating over 2000 years ago.

The speech recognition is achieved by considering the linguistic features of the Tamil language. The natural language processing approach is used for the speech recognition task.

The team of SSNCSE\_NLP has participated in the Speech Recognition for Vulnerable Individuals in Tamil shared task, obtaining the first position with a word error rate of 39.4512.

In our paper, we have used pre-trained models designed for the Tamil language, to transcript the speech audios into tokens, eventually decoding them into text. We have made use of three pre-trained models, namely Amrrs/wav2vec2-large-xlsr-53-tamil<sup>1</sup>, akashsivanandan/wav2vec2-large-xlsr-300m-tamil-colab-final<sup>2</sup> and nikhil6041/wav2vec2-large-xlsr-tamil-commonvoice<sup>3</sup>.

The issue with automatic speech recognition in older adults as well as physically or mentally impaired people is that they tend to display mild dysarthric speech, or slurred speech, causing erroneous transcription of the data. Furthermore, in Tamil speaking places, people from different regions speak in non-identical dialects, accents, and speeds, and hence, the transcription of the data differs from person to person. When trained with audios from a single region, there is incapacity to accurately predict what a person from a different region is saying.

The rest of this paper is arranged as follows. Section 2 discusses the related work on

 $<sup>^{1} \</sup>rm https://huggingface.co/Amrrs/wav2vec2-large-xlsr-53-tamil$ 

 $<sup>^{2}</sup> https://huggingface.co/akashsivanandan/wav2vec2-large-xls-r-300m-tamil-colab-final$ 

 $<sup>^{3}</sup> https://huggingface.co/nikhil6041/wav2vec2-large-xlsr-tamil-common$ voice

speech recognition tasks. The dataset about the shared task is described in Section 3. Section 4 outlines the features and machine learning algorithms used for this task. Results are presented in Section 5. Section 6 concludes the paper.

# 2 Related Work

Researchers have experimented with a few approaches to deal with speech recognition in minority languages such as Tamil recently. The writers of Voice and speech recognition in Tamil language (Kiran et al., 2017), propose the use of a Hidden Markov Model (or HMM). It is a statistical pattern matching approach which can generate speech using a number of states for each model. Since the HMM model uses positive data, it scales well and it reduces the time and complexity of the recognition process. In Design and Development of a large vocabulary, continuous speech recognition system for Tamil, the authors (Madhavaraj and Ramakrishnan, 2017) build two independent recognition systems for phone recognition (PR) and for continuous speech recognition (CSR) using deep neural networks (DNN). The DNN based triphone acoustic model is proven to yield significantly better results in CSR and PR. The authors of Speech Rate Control for Improving Elderly Speech Recognition of Smart Devices (Son et al., 2017), take the help of a convolutional neural network (CNN) to generate feature vectors to be fed into a fully connected network (FC) for frame by frame syllable transition boundary classification. Thus the syllable transition probability is calculated and the syllables are segmented. They take the help of a Synchronized Overlap- Add (SOLA) Algorithm to adjust the speech rate according to the measured ratio on a time-scale. In Transformer-Transducer: End-to-End Speech Recognition with Self-Attention (Yeh et al., 2019), the authors attempt to build a model for end-to-end speech recognition using transformer networks in neural transducer. They propose two methods, namely using VGGNet with causal convolution to incorporate positional information and reduce frame rate for efficient inference and using truncated self-attention to enable streaming for transformer and reduce compu-

Data Set	Instances	Running Time
Training Set	909	20 seconds
Testing Set	239	20 seconds

Table 1: Specifications of the Dataset provided

tational complexity. In this paper, however, we use pre-trained XLSR models to transcript the audios.

# 3 Dataset Analysis and Preprocessing

The data set given by the shared task organizers consists of a training set and a testing set, each consisting of 909 and 239 instances respectively (Bharathi et al., 2022). The training set contains the audio files and transcriptions of the audios in the Tamil language, whereas the testing set contains only the audio files. The audios in both the training set and the testing set contain audio recordings, each having an average running time of 20 seconds.

# 4 Experimental setup and Features

For feature extraction, the n-gram model is experimented upon. The three pre-trained models are each used to extract the features. All three pre-trained models are fine-tuned versions of the Facebook XLSR Wav2Vec2 model, trained using the Common Voice Dataset containing 9283 hours of audios of different languages. These models have been trained using the Tamil speech corpus in the same.

The pre-trained XLSR model maps the speech signal to a sequence of context representations. For the model to map the latter to its corresponding transcriptions, a linear layer used to classify each context representation to a token class has to be added on top of the transformer block. The output size of this layer corresponds to the number of tokens in the vocabulary, which does not depend on XLSR's pre-training task, but only on the labeled dataset used for fine-tuning. The training data is run and the transcriptions are obtained. Punctuation marks and other characters without meaning are removed from the transcriptions and all distinct letters of the training data are used to build the vocabulary (an enumerated dictionary). The



Figure 1: Working of the finetuned XLSR model (von Platen)

Word Error Rate for each Model		
Model Testing		
	Data	
Amrrs	45.128	
akashsivanandan	46.945	
nikhil6041	39.4512	

Table 2: Word error rate in the testing data for each pre-trained model

vocabulary saved as a .json file is used to load the vocabulary into an instance of the Wav2Vec2CTCTokenizer class.

For XLSR, the fine tuning data has a sampling rate of 16kHz. XLSRs feature extraction pipeline is fully defined as an instance of the Wav2Vec2FeatureExtractor class and the feature extractor and tokenizer are wrapped into a single Wav2VecProcessor class.

Each training audio file is loaded as a floating point time series at a sampling rate of 16000 samples per second. A data collator is defined to pad the training data to the longest sample in the batch. The pre-trained checkpoint of Wav2Vec2-XLSR is loaded and all parameters related to training are defined. The model is then trained and the word error rate is found.

The three models are trained in the above manner and used to generate input values using tokenizer and the logits are found out using the model. The tokens for the logits are predicted and decoded to find the transcriptions of the audio.

# 5 Observations

At a first glance at the transcriptions, it can be seen that the Amrrs model is unable to not only differentiate between when a particular word ends and another begins, but is also unable to apply the stressed consonants in many places, such as in the words **main and** and **gaiGant**. This can be justified by the stress being applied for uncertain periods of time in different words. It is also ineffective at identifying vowels before stressed consonants which are mainly used only as stressed consonants and not simply as consonants, such as **j** and **m**, because their sounds are almost always preceded by a vowel, hence making it indiscernible.

Looking at the transcriptions generated by the akashsivanandan model, it can be said that it is unable to distinguish between consonants of the same pronunciation sets, such as the harshly pronounced letters, feebly pronounced letters and the medially pronounced letters. This can be seen in words such as comp which are transcripted as comp due to the stressed consonant is being misinterpreted, subsequently leading to the next letter to also be misunderstood. The occasional English word in the audios is pronounced differently compared to its Tamil transliteration, causing it to be wrongly interpreted.

The nikhil6041 model is found to produce the most accurate transcriptions out of all three models tested. It occasionally mislabels similar consonants(such as  $\sigma r$  and  $\rho$ ) and vowels (such as  $\sigma r$  and  $\sigma$ ) and is sometimes unable to mark the vacant spaces between two words, but for the most part, it generates transcriptions which are in the vicinity of how the words are actually pronounced in the audio. However, it does not always correspond to the actual transcription of the audio as the pronunciations differ when they are spoken or written.

# 6 Conclusion

The need for automatic speech recognition for vulnerable individuals is growing to be increasingly important every day. More and more of people's daily lives are made easier by technology, regardless of whether they have disabilities or not. Speech recognition technology, though popular and well refined for prominent western languages such as English, is not available easily to minorities who do not speak that language. Our motive has been to make automatic speech recognition software more easily accessible to the Dravidian population, more importantly, the Tamil speaking population. In this paper we propose to use pretrained speech recognition models created for the Tamil language and use it to transcribe the testing audios provided by the organizers. It is noted that

the nikhil6041 model yields the best results out of all the three used models. The above model can be finetuned further by obtaining and using a more extensive dataset, and training the model against a more sizable range of accents and dialects. This will lead to an overall more accurate transcription of the audios.

# References

- B Bharathi, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Subalalitha Chinnaudayar Navaneethakrishnan, N Sripriya, Arunaggiri Pandian, and Swetha Valli. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Speech Recognition for Vulnerable Individuals in Tamil. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion.* Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Asoka Chakravarthi and Bharathi Raja. 2020. Leveraging orthographic information to improve machine translation of under-resourced languages. Ph.D. thesis, NUI Galway.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi and Vigneshwaran Muralidaran. 2021. Findings of the shared task on hope speech detection for equality, diversity, and inclusion. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, pages 61--72.
- R Kiran, K Nivedha, T Subha, et al. 2017. Voice and speech recognition in tamil language. In 2017 2nd International Conference on Computing and Communications Technologies (ICCCT), pages 288--292. IEEE.
- A Madhavaraj and AG Ramakrishnan. 2017. Design and development of a large vocabulary, continuous speech recognition system for tamil. In 2017 14th IEEE India Council International Conference (INDI-CON), pages 1--5. IEEE.
- Guiyoung Son, Soonil Kwon, and Yoonseob Lim. 2017. Speech rate control for improving elderly speech recognition of smart devices. *Advances in Electrical and Computer Engineering*, 17(2):79--84.
- Patrick von Platen. Fine-tuning xls-r for multi-lingual asr with huggingface transformers. https://huggingface.co/blog/ fine-tune-xlsr-wav2vec2.
- Ching-Feng Yeh, Jay Mahadeokar, Kaustubh Kalgaonkar, Yongqiang Wang, Duc Le, Mahaveer Jain, Kjell Schubert, Christian Fuegen, and Michael L Seltzer. 2019. Transformer-transducer: End-toend speech recognition with self-attention. *arXiv* preprint arXiv:1910.12977.

# IDIAP\_TIET@LT-EDI-ACL2022 : Hope Speech Detection in Social Media using Contextualized BERT with Attention Mechanism

**Deepanshu Khanna** TIET, Patiala, India dkhanna\_be19@thapar.edu Muskaan Singh and Petr Motlicek IDIAP Research Institute, Martigny, Switzerland (msingh,petr.motlicek)@idiap.ch

#### Abstract

With the increase of users on social media platforms, manipulating or provoking masses of people has become a piece of cake. This spread of hatred among people, which has become a loophole for freedom of speech, must be minimized. Hence, it is essential to have a system that automatically classifies the hatred content, especially on social media, to take it down. This paper presents a simple modular pipeline classifier with BERT embeddings and attention mechanism to classify hope speech content in the Hope Speech Detection shared task for Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion-ACL 2022. Our system submission ranks fourth with an F1-score of 0.84. We release our code-base here https: //github.com/Deepanshu-beep/ hope-speech-attention.

#### **1** Introduction and Related Work

Social media today plays a vital role in spreading hatred and provoking people, which gives rise to hate-related crimes (Vadakkekara Suresh et al., 2021). Various hate-related terror attacks usually have a history of hate-related content in their social media accounts. Thus, large organizations such as Facebook, YouTube, Twitter are working tirelessly to detect and bring down such hateful content from their platforms. Since hate content must not be confused with Freedom of speech and expression, thus it becomes quite challenging to reduce the number of false positives. Previously, multiple experiments have been performed for Hope Speech detection, and there are various datasets available as well for it. The top-performing model presented in the Hope speech detection shared task at the LT-EDI-2021 workshop used the XLM-RoBERTa language model (Conneau et al., 2019), a combination of the XLM and RoBERTa language model. Further, they extracted the weighted output of the final layer of the XLM-RoBERTa model using TF-IDF to filter out the error that might cause due to

the mixing of various languages supported by the model. (Gundapu and Mamidi, 2021) presented a transformer-based ensembled architecture consisting of a BERT pre-trained model and a language identification model. The language identification model was used to detect if the input isn't in English. On the other hand, the BERT language model was just responsible for the binary classification of Hope Speech. (Rajput et al., 2021) presented a simple classification model which initially created the static BERT (Devlin et al., 2018) embeddings matrix of the data to extract the contextual information of the data and then experimented with various Deep Neural Networks (DNN) to train a binary classifier. Seeing the dominance of transformers to solve multiple complex applications in Natural Language Processing (NLP) became the motivation for our model. Hence, we encode the data using the contextualized BERT embeddings and train an attention network. Though it is a simple architecture with relatively few parameters, it performs efficiently and can be verified through the results.

# 2 Shared Task Description

For the Hope Speech Detection for Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion (HopeEDI) shared task (Chakravarthi et al., 2022), we are given YouTube comments for English, Kannada, Malayalam, Spanish and Tamil languages. Our work focuses on the English language comments in the dataset. The dataset contains 22740, 2841, and 389 comments for the training, development, and test set, respectively, annotated with labels {Hope Speech, Not Hope Speech for the English database. The detailed distribution for all the languages can be seen in Table 1, and some of the examples of Hope Speech, Not Hope Speech have been shown in Table 4. Along with the release of the database, the authors also released a baseline system in which they experiment with various Machine learning al-

	Language-wise distribution (Train + Dev)				
Label	English	Kannada	Malayalam	Spanish	Tamil
Hope Speech	1962 + 272	1699 + 210	1668 + 190	491 + 161	6327 + 757
Not Hope Speech	20778 + 2569	3241 + 408	6205 + 784	499 + 169	7872 + 998

Table 1: Data distribution for the HopeEDI database.

Comment	Label
these tiktoks radiate gay chaotic energy and i love it	Hope Speech
I'm a Buddhist! ALL LIVES MATTER!	Hope Speech
@Paola Hernandez i never said to be intolerant and hateful	Not Hope Speech
I say we get rid of all racist tv shows	Not Hope Speech

Table 2: Examples for Hope Speech, Not Hope Speech in the HopeEDI dataset.

gorithms such as Multinomial Naive Bayes, SVM, KNN, Logistic Regression, and Decision trees.

# **3** Experimental Setup

In this section, we give a detailed explanation of the experimental setup for the proposed model and depict the summarized view of it in Figure 1.

# 3.1 Data Preprocessing

Since the comments in raw format are highly unstructured, containing irrelevant information that may cause any AI-based model to malfunction. Hence, we preprocess the data with the following operations to convert it into a suitable understandable format.

- All of the comments are converted to lower case.
- Commonly used abbreviations such as "FYI", "ASAP", "WTF" are replaced with their original full-forms.
- Removed mentions of any users such as "@Champions" from the data.
- Updating words with additional repeated characters such as "Helloooo" are updated to their correct forms.
- Emojis in the comments are decoded and replaced with what they signify, such as ":)" is replaced with "Happy".
- All of the excessive punctuation marks are removed from the comments.

# 3.2 Proposed Methodology

Motivated by the efficiency of transformers in NLP, we begin by encoding the comments using the BERT language model and creating an embeddings matrix. Further, this embeddings matrix is fed to the attention network, trained to classify for Hope Speech. The architectural components of the proposed model are explained below.

# 3.2.1 BERT language model

Bidirectional Encoder Representations from Transformers (BERT) is a machine-learning technique based on transformers to extract contextual embeddings of unlabeled texts. Unlike static embeddings, BERT generates embeddings using bidirectional context, i.e., analyzes context from both left and right of a word. Also, BERT's attention architecture computes the attention parallelly for whole input at once, unlike other traditional models that process it sequentially.

To compute the embeddings matrix of the data, we use the RoBERTa-large-MNLI language model. Initially, the data is tokenized along with the addition of "[CLS]", "[SEP]" tokens and then encoding these tokens to get the embeddings matrix of dimensionality 768. We adopted the sliding window technique while encoding the data due to the constraint of BERT family language models to take a maximum of 512 tokens as input. Hence, we continue looping to get the embeddings until the whole data gets encoded and, finally, averaging the embeddings of these several windows to get the final embeddings of an input comment. The length of the maximum input comment is noted, and all the inputs are extended to have the same length of their embeddings by adding padding. The attention network is trained using these computed



Figure 1: Flowchart illustration of the proposed model for Hope Speech classification.

	Precision		Recall		F1-Score	
Model	Mean	Weighted	Mean	Weighted	Mean	Weighted
Top performing	0.56	0.87	0.54	0.89	0.55	0.88
Proposed model	0.51	0.86	0.52	0.82	0.51	0.84
Average score	0.47	0.85	0.46	0.80	0.43	0.80

Table 3: Comparison with the top-performing model results.

Comment	Label
Maddona saved my Soul in 1999	Hope Speech
Her outfit is very 1990's Michael Jackson I like it !	Hope Speech
The way you pronounced Lewandowski gave me cancer. Levandovskee	Not Hope Speech
The end is near.	Not Hope Speech

Table 4: Examples for Hope Speech, Not Hope Speech in the HopeEDI dataset.



Figure 2: Architectural illustration of the attention mechanism used in the proposed model

embeddings matrices.

#### 3.2.2 Attention mechanism

The attention mechanism has proved its efficiency by increasing accuracy in various NLP tasks. The attention module focuses on inputs having higher importance in contributing towards solving a task filtering out meaningless information, unlike in just flattening or averaging the output of convolutional layers. The architectural illustration of the attention module motivated from (Diao et al., 2020) used in our proposed pipeline is depicted in Figure 2.

Upon obtaining the word-level embeddings matrix from the pretrained RoBERTa-large-MNLI language model, we pass these obtained matrices to the Bi-LSTM layer of our attention module. The contextual representations predicted by the Bi-LSTM layer are further passed along to non-linear activation functions, namely "Tanh" and "Softmax" which can be represented mathematically as below:

$$tanh(x) = \frac{2}{1 + e^{-(2x)}} - 1 \tag{1}$$

$$Softmax(x_i) = \frac{e^{x_i}}{\sum_{j=1}^n e^{x_j}}$$
(2)

Passing through non-linear activation functions updates the training weights for meaningful words accordingly. These attention weights finally help out in classifying for Hope speech.

#### 3.2.3 Dense

The Dense layer used in a neural network is connected densely with the previous layer, i.e., each neuron of the dense layer is connected to each neuron of the last layer. The Dense layers are usually used for changing the shape of the vectors. We used the Dense layer taking input from the final layer of the attention network with the activation function "sigmoid," which can be present through the mathematical equation:

$$\sigma(w^T x + b) = \frac{1}{1 + e^{-(w^T x + b)}}$$
(3)

#### 3.3 Comparative Approaches explored

Additionally, we obtained the results by fine-tuning the RoBERTa-large-MNLI language model over the dataset for binary classification. With the constraints of BERT-based language models to take a maximum of 512 tokens as input, we fine-tuned the model with the first 510 tokens of the review combined with [CLS] and [SEP] token at the beginning and end of the input. We followed the same preprocessing pipeline as in our attention-based network and achieved an F1-score of 0.77 for the validation set.

# **4** Experiment Results and Analysis

We test our model for the English dataset of the HopeEDI database. The classification report for our proposed and the top-performing model over the test set can be seen in Table 3. The proposed model has proved itself remarkable by achieving fourth position on the leaderboard with a difference of 0.04 in F1-score from the top-performing model. For the validation set, the proposed model achieved an F1-score of 0.80 while using the same language model for binary classification achieved an F1-score of 0.77. To evaluate our results qualitatively, we performed an analysis for our prediction results in Table 4. The presented results indicate hope and non-hope speech on social media comments. Comments such as "The end is near" clearly have the potential to provoke violence, and thus can be used to encourage the masses for violence due to their negative impact on the mindset. While comments such as "Maddona saved my soul in 1999" create a positive vibe in the human attitude and give people hope and boost their confidence to support good deeds.

#### 5 Conclusion

In this paper, we described the shared task submission on hope speech detection for English dataset. We propose a pipeline classifier architecture that uses an attention mechanism over the contextualized BERT embeddings. For future work, we intend to work upon other languages of the HopeEDI database and experiment with different neural network architectures combined with contextual embeddings.

# Acknowledgements

This work was supported by the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation program under grant agreement No. 833635 (project ROX-ANNE: Real-time network, text, and speaker analytics for combating organized crime, 2019-2022).

#### References

Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Vigneshwaran Muralidaran, Ruba Priyadharshini, Subalalitha Chinnaudayar Navaneethakrishnan, John Phillip McCrae, Miguel Ángel García-Cumbreras, Salud María Jiménez-Zafra, Rafael Valencia-García, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, Rahul Ponnusamy, Daniel García-Baena, and José Antonio García-Díaz. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Hope Speech Detection for Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Alexis Conneau, Kartikay Khandelwal, Naman Goyal, Vishrav Chaudhary, Guillaume Wenzek, Francisco Guzmán, Edouard Grave, Myle Ott, Luke Zettlemoyer, and Veselin Stoyanov. 2019. Unsupervised cross-lingual representation learning at scale. *CoRR*, abs/1911.02116.
- Jacob Devlin, Ming-Wei Chang, Kenton Lee, and Kristina Toutanova. 2018. Bert: Pre-training of deep bidirectional transformers for language understanding. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1810.04805*.
- Yufeng Diao, Hongfei Lin, Liang Yang, Xiaochao Fan, Yonghe Chu, Di Wu, Dongyu Zhang, and Kan Xu. 2020. Crhasum: extractive text summarization with contextualized-representation hierarchical-attention summarization network. *Neural Computing and Applications*, 32(15):11491–11503.
- Sunil Gundapu and Radhika Mamidi. 2021. Autobots@LT-EDI-EACL2021: One world, one family: Hope speech detection with BERT transformer model. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, pages 143–148, Kyiv. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Gaurav Rajput, Narinder Singh Punn, Sanjay Kumar Sonbhadra, and Sonali Agarwal. 2021. Hate speech detection using static bert embeddings. In *Big Data Analytics: 9th International Conference, BDA 2021, Virtual Event, December 15-18, 2021, Proceedings,* page 67–77, Berlin, Heidelberg. Springer-Verlag.
- Gautham Vadakkekara Suresh, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, and John Philip McCrae. 2021. Meta-learning for offensive language detection in code-mixed texts. In *Forum for Information Retrieval Evaluation*, FIRE 2021, page 58–66, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.

# SSN@LT-EDI-ACL2022: Transfer Learning using BERT for Detecting Signs of Depression from Social Media Texts

Adarsh S and Betina Antony

Department of Computer Science and Engineering SSN College of Engineering Kalavakkam, Chennai, India adarsh19008@cse.ssn.edu.in, betinaantonyj@ssn.edu.in

# Abstract

Depression is one of the most common mental issues faced by people. Detecting signs of depression early on can help in the treatment and prevention of extreme outcomes like suicide. Since the advent of the internet, people have felt more comfortable discussing topics like depression online due to the anonymity it provides. This shared task has used data scraped from various social media sites and aims to develop models that detect signs and the severity of depression effectively. In this paper, we employ transfer learning by applying enhanced BERT model trained for Wikipedia dataset to the social media text and perform text classification. The model gives a F1-score of 63.8% which was reasonably better than the other competing models.

# 1 Introduction

One of the crucial modern world problem that needs attention today is mental health and its wellness. According to GHDX, around 5% of all young adults have depressive disorders (Vieta et al., 2021). About half of them never get it diagnosed or treated. Since the advent of the internet, people have felt more comfortable discussing topics like depression and stress online due to the anonymity it provides (William and Suhartono, 2021). People have come forward to share their mental struggles with others and are ready to seek help. This sharedtask has used data scraped from various social media sites like twitter, reddit to detect signs and the severity of depression symptoms.

The main target of this task was to identify Deep Learning models that performed well in classifying tweets based on the level of severity of depression. The term severity here is based on the presence of certain words and their inclining in the word spectrum for mental health. The textual data contains many hidden patterns and styles that distinctly identifies signs of depression (un Nisa and Muhammad, 2021). In this paper, we designed a transformer model with significant fine-tuning to predict if the context shows moderate, severe or no signs of depression.

# 2 BERT based Transfer Learning

BERT (Bidirectional Encoder Representations from Transformers) is a pre-trained deep learning model that functions on the sequence to sequence learning of text. BERT models have found to be performing well in understanding textual data on depression identification (Martínez-Castaño et al., 2021). The types of BERT model differs based on the number of transformer layers, self-attention layers, number of parameters, types of fine tuning, masking and word embedding and so on. The classifier uses Google's BERT-small model<sup>1</sup> from TFHub pretrained for seqtoseq task and adapts it for text classification with both pooled and sequence type outputs. The model used in this classification system is very similar to García-Pablos et al. (2020). The difference occurs in fine-tuning of the model, where in addition to the dropout layer, a dense classifier layer is added to obtain the final label. The BERT model for Depression Detection is shown in Figure 1.

The Training phase consists of the following steps:

- Pre-Processing: To prepare the input sentence for the BERT encoder, the words are converted to tokens with input ids and tags using standard tokenizer. The labels are also encoded and assigned weights based on the input data distributed.
- BERT Encoding: The next step is to apply the pre-trained model to the current input data. This step tries to map the vector to words in the context with high precision. The BERT

https://tfhub.dev/google/small\_bert/



Figure 1: BERT Model for Depression Detection

layer is fine-tuned by adjusting the learning rate and optimization.

- Dropout: The dropout function tends to adjust the weights assigned in each layer so as to normalizing the weights among the words. This layer is significant as it differentiates the words related to depression vs the rest of the words. This step also distributes the weight to avoid overfitting.
- Classifier: The final step is to map the previous layer with 512 words to 3 words ('Severe', 'Moderate' and 'Not depressed') which forms the labels for this task. The system uses a simple dense layer to do that with sigmoid activation function.

### **3** Experimental Setup

In this section we will see the experimental arrangement of the model, their preprocessing steps and their results and discussion.

#### 3.1 Dataset

The dataset for this test comprised of a training, development and testing data. The training and development data, each of them have 3 columns: PID (post\_id), text\_data and label. The main content lies in the text\_data field. The number of instances for each label is listed in Table 1.

Label	Train	Dev	Test
Not depression	1,971	1,830	NA
Moderate	6,019	2,306	NA
Severe	901	360	NA
Total	8,891	4,496	3,245

Table 1: Class-wise distribution of Dataset instances

Label	Train	Dev	Test
Not depression	1,971	1,830	NA
Moderate	6,019	2,306	NA
Severe	901	360	NA
Total	8,891	4,496	3,245

Table 2: Redistribution of Dataset instances

#### 3.2 Pre-Processing

The dataset provided has a mixture raw text obtained directly from the social media platforms. This data used as such slackened the working of the models as well as the prediction rate. hence a series of refining works were done to the dataset before actual compilation and building.

# 3.2.1 Removing duplicates and redistribution of dataset

The train and dev sets contain many duplicates. After removing these, the distribution results in just 2720 train cases, 4481 development cases. We chose to combine the train and development sets and perform an 80:20 split for the training and development set. The new class\_wise distribution is given in Table 2 (approximate values because of the random split).

#### **3.2.2 Removing stop words**

The length of texts on the dataset is quite long. To reduce the model size and improve accuracy, we remove the stop words. The list of stop words is obtained from the Python Natural Language Toolkit and stop\_words packages. The length of the text\_data is given in Table 3.

This results in a considerable reduction in our text data. We set the maximum length of our models to 300. Shorter sentences are post padded and the longer ones are post truncated. In the case of our BERT Model, the maximum length is 512 words.

#### 3.2.3 Tokenization

The words are tokenized using the TensorFlow tokenizer with a vocabulary size of 1024 words. Since

	Avg. Length of	Median Length
	words	of words
Before	845	572
After	509	349

Table 3: Redistribution of Dataset instances



Figure 2: Layers of the Transfer Learning based BERT Model

small\_BERT model is used for model building, tokenization is also performed by the pretrained model. In addition, the transfer learning also includes a preprocessing layer which takes care of tokenization. Tokenization is a crucial step for BERT based models as they prepare the data to be processed by segmenting them between the [CLS] and [SEP] tags.

### 3.2.4 One-hot encoding labels

Label binarizer's encoder function is used to encode our labels as one-hot vectors to perform multiclass classification. In the case of our BERT model, tf.one\_hot function is used to encode the labels into tensors with a depth of 3 (Jie et al., 2019).

#### 3.3 Fine-tuned BERT Model

The pre-trained small\_Bert model for classification is retrieved from TF Hub. However, to adapt the model to the given dataset, we perform a layer of fine-tuning adding a Dense layer as output layer. The model is trained for 3 epochs with a learning rate of 3e-5. The number of epochs and learning rate can be increased but this will add overhead to the processing time. The details of the different layers of the model is shown in Figure 2 The details of the parameters used in each layer of the BERT model is shown in Figure 3

# 4 Results and Discussion

The model's functioning for the given dataset was better understood by comparing it's results with other DL models. The details of the other models are

- 3-layer embedded model: This is the first and least complex model. This model has an Embedding layer as input layer. This is passed on to a pooling layer, followed by a dense layer. Finally, another dense layer is used as the output layer. The pooling is done by GlobalAveragePooling for 1D. Since word embedding formed the primitive for many classification algorithms, this model was chosen (Ge and Moh, 2017). Further, the efficiency of this model is often overlooked due to its simplicity.
- RNN with Bidirectional LSTM: This model comprises an Embedding layer as input layer, passed on to 2 bidirectional LSTM layers. The output from the LSTMs are then passed on to a Dense layer and an output Dense layer. Dropout is used to counter overfitting. The reason for choosing this model is to deploy the hierarchical nature of LSTM that enhances the performance of contextual understanding and text classification (Yin et al., 2019).
- BERT based Transformer: This model contains the preprocessing layer, BERT based Keras layer and dropout layer. The model is post-processed by adding the final classifier layer. This model was found to perform best in case understanding contexts and sequential operation.

The summary of the three model parameters are shown in Table 4

# 4.1 Results

The performance scores against the test dataset for different models is listed in Table 5. The evaluation metrics used are Precision (clarity), Recall (coverage) and F1-Score. The metrics are calculated at macro as well as weighted levels. In addition, A measure of accuracy of the system is calculated based on their performance on development as well as test data.

Model: "model"

Layer (type)	Output Shape	Param #	Connected to
text (InputLayer)	[(None,)]	0	[]
preprocessing (KerasLayer)	<pre>{'input_mask': (Non e, 128),     'input_word_ids':     (None, 128),     'input_type_ids':     (None, 128)}</pre>	0	['text[0][0]']
BERT_encoder (KerasLayer)	<pre>('sequence_output': (None, 128, 512), 'pooled_output': ( None, 512), 'encoder_outputs': [(None, 128, 512), (None, 128, 512), (None, 128, 512)], 'default': (None, 512))</pre>	28763649	<pre>['preprocessing[0][0]',     'preprocessing[0][1]',     'preprocessing[0][2]']</pre>
dropout (Dropout)	(None, 512)	0	['BERT_encoder[0][5]']
classifier (Dense)	(None, 3)	1539	['dropout[0][0]']
Total params: 28,765,188 Trainable params: 28,765,187 Non-trainable params: 1			

Figure 3: Summary of the BERT Model

Model	No of Params	Layer types
Embedding	68,803	Embedding,
		Pooling, Dense
Bidirectiona	1 177,155	Embedding,
LSTM		Bidirectional,
		Dense, Dropout
Fine-	28,765,188	Preprocessing,
tuned		Encoder,
BERT		Dropout, Dense

Table 4: Comparison of models used

# 4.2 Discussion

Tasks like text classification, machine translation and language modeling rely greatly on the use of sequential modeling. Even as RNN and LSTM were perfect for these operations, the computation time taken due to processing of single input at a time led to the popularity of transformer models. Thus the use of BERT is justified in many classification problems due to their efficiency of being pre-trained in large dataset and being deeply bidirectional. BERT's transformer architecture and model size helped it learn the features better. One instance where it was able to predict the label correctly is given below ".., i always make the wrong choices and i can't get myself out of the depressed state of mind and i feel like my life is over ..."

The above sentence was tagged as *moderate* as the context is which the words 'depressed' and 'failure' are used is also studied. The other two models had labelled it as *severe*. The BERT model works well for context with opposite terms as it works on parallel processing of layers.

Since contextual words form the key feature in this learning model, absence of words directly related to depression in the context had am impact on the performance of the model. For instance, the below sentence, though looks like a serious case of self harm, was tagged *moderate* due to the lack of words directly related to depression.

```
"... I'll finally get to
take a breather. Today I
think I'll die."
```

# 5 Conclusion

Detecting the signs of depression form just a collection of words is a huge accomplishment in the

Model	Accuracy	Macro F1 score	Macro Recall	Macro Preci- sion	Weighted F1 score	Weighted Recall	Weighted Preci- sion
Embedding	0.560	0.432	0.449	0.426	0.574	0.560	0.593
Bidirectional	0.610	0.466	0.491	0.468	0.610	0.610	0.621
LSTM							
Fine-tuned	0.636	0.531	0.533	0.528	0.638	0.636	0.641
BERT							

Table 5: Evaluation of the three DL models

field of Artificial Intelligence. This is because, we have come to a point where even machine identifies the emotions of a person from the words he or she speaks. This work produces one such model that is capable of detecting depression by exploiting the efficiency of BERT transformer model. Further for a model pretrained in a completely different context, the fine tuned BERT model performed reasonably well when compare to other Deep learning models such as LSTM and Embedded models. The model could be enhanced further to address superficial and unclear words by understanding the context better and by redistributing the weights among words in the encoder layer.

#### References

- Aitor García-Pablos, Naiara Perez, and Montse Cuadros. 2020. Sensitive data detection and classification in spanish clinical text: Experiments with bert. *arXiv* preprint arXiv:2003.03106.
- Lihao Ge and Teng-Sheng Moh. 2017. Improving text classification with word embedding. In 2017 IEEE International Conference on Big Data (Big Data), pages 1796–1805. IEEE.
- Liang Jie, CHEN Jiahao, Zhang Xueqin, ZHOU Yue, and LIN Jiajun. 2019. One-hot encoding and convolutional neural network based anomaly detection. *Journal of Tsinghua University (Science and Technology)*, 59(7):523–529.
- Rodrigo Martínez-Castaño, Amal Htait, Leif Azzopardi, and Yashar Moshfeghi. 2021. Bert-based transformers for early detection of mental health illnesses. In *International Conference of the Cross-Language Evaluation Forum for European Languages*, pages 189–200. Springer.
- Qamar un Nisa and Rafi Muhammad. 2021. Towards transfer learning using bert for early detection of selfharm of social media users.
- Eduard Vieta, Jordi Alonso, Víctor Pérez-Sola, Miquel Roca, Teresa Hernando, Antoni Sicras-Mainar, Aram Sicras-Navarro, Berta Herrera, and Andrea

Gabilondo. 2021. Epidemiology and costs of depressive disorder in spain: the epico study. *European Neuropsychopharmacology*, 50:93–103.

- David William and Derwin Suhartono. 2021. Textbased depression detection on social media posts: A systematic literature review. *Procedia Computer Science*, 179:582–589.
- Shi Yin, Cong Liang, Heyan Ding, and Shangfei Wang. 2019. A multi-modal hierarchical recurrent neural network for depression detection. In *Proceedings* of the 9th International on Audio/Visual Emotion Challenge and Workshop, pages 65–71.

# Findings of the Shared Task on Detecting Signs of Depression from Social Media

# Kayalvizhi Sampath, Durairaj Thenmozhi

SSN College of Engineering, Chennai.

{kayalvizhis,theni\_d}@ssn.edu.in

#### Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi

#### Jerin Mahibha C

National University of Ireland, Galway.

bharathi.raja@insight-centre.org
Abstract

Social media is considered as a platform where

Meenakshi Sundararajan Engineering College, Chennai.

jerinmahibha@gmail.com of depression is inevitable. On the other hand, in this digital era, social media applications have become a great platform to look over one's mood and feelings (Katikalapudi et al., 2012). Thus, social media data can be used to detect depression.

users express themselves. The rise of social media as one of humanity's most important public communication platforms presents a potential prospect for early identification and management of mental illness. Depression is one such illness that can lead to a variety of emotional and physical problems. It is necessary to measure the level of depression from the social media text to treat them and to avoid the negative consequences. Detecting levels of depression is a challenging task since it involves the mindset of the people which can change periodically. The aim of the DepSign-LT-EDI@ACL-2022 shared task is to classify the social media text into three levels of depression namely "Not Depressed", "Moderately Depressed", and "Severely Depressed". This overview presents a description on the task, the data set, methodologies used and an analysis on the results of the submissions. The models that were submitted as a part of the shared task had used a variety of technologies from traditional machine learning algorithms to deep learning models. It could be observed from the result that the transformer based models have outperformed the other models. Among the 31 teams who had submitted their results for the shared task, the best macro F1-score of 0.583 was obtained using transformer based model.

# 1 Introduction

According to the World Health Organization (WHO) (Organization et al., 2017), depression is a common disorder across the world that has an impact on the affected person's mood and feelings. This mental health disorder affects a large part of society every year with varying symptoms like lack of interest, insomnia, thought of death etc. The symptoms may vary according to the intensity of disorder. If the intensity is too extreme and left untreated, it may lead to serious consequences (Luddington et al., 2009). Thus, early prediction

Erisk@CLEF (Losada et al., 2017) served as a root for this task, which aims to detect depression from the social media data. In addition to this, many custom data sets (Al Hanai et al., 2018; Morales and Levitan, 2016), arose that aims to detect mental illness from various social media platforms like Twitter (Reece et al., 2017; Tsugawa et al., 2015; Deshpande and Rao, 2017; Lin et al., 2020), Facebook (Eichstaedt et al., 2018), Reddit (Wolohan et al., 2018; Tadesse et al., 2019), etc. Among these social media platforms, Reddit possesses more textual data and thus, postings from Reddit were analysed to detect the level of depression. Also, many research works were based only on the detection of the presence of depression rather than detecting the level of depression. Thus, this shared task aims to detect the level of depression from Reddit postings.

# 2 Task description

DepSign-LT-EDI@ACL-2022<sup>1</sup> aims to detect the signs of depression of a person from their social media postings wherein people share their feelings and emotions. Given social media postings in English, the system should detect the signs of depression into three levels of depression namely "Not Depressed", "Moderately Depressed" and "Severely Depressed".

# 3 Data description

For detecting the level of depression from social media data, postings from Reddit were scraped and labeled into three class labels namely "Not De-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>https://competitions.codalab.org/competitions/36410

pressed", "Moderately Depressed", and "Severely Depressed". The guidelines and details of annotation are explained in (Kayalvizhi and Thenmozhi, 2022). The data set is a "Tab Separated Valued" data that has been distributed in three splits namely train set, evaluation set and test data. The details of data distribution are shown in Table 1. The sample instances are shown in Table 2.

DepSign-LT-EDI @ACL-2022	Train	Dev	Test	Total instances	
Not depressed	1,971	1,830	848	4,649	
Moderate	6,019	2,306	2,169	10,494	
Severe	901	360	228	1,489	
Total instances	8,891	4,496	3,245	16,632	

# 4 Methodology

The number of teams that participated in the shared task was 31 by which we received a total of 68 submissions. The details of methodologies used by the submissions are explained in this section.

- OPI (Rafał and Michał, 2022): The three runs submitted used RoBERTa based models for classification. The first run used a fine-tuned Transformer architecture based on RoBERTa large on a data set which was prepared by an arrangement and augmentation of the provided data set. Second run used a fine-tuned pretrained RoBERTa large on a parsed Reddit Mental Health data set<sup>2</sup> which was then fine-tuned on the previously prepared training set. Third run was an ensemble (mean) of predictions from the previous two models.
- NYCU\_TWD (Wei-Yao et al., 2022): Three runs were submitted which included machine learning based methods, pretrained language models, and pretrained language models with supervised contrastive learning. VAD score was adopted into ML based models and pretrained language models with contrastive learning to make the system better learn the representation of given sentences. Power weighted sum technique was employed to ensemble these models.

- **ARGUABLY:** The first run used an ensembled approach of combining XLNET, BERT and RoBERTa by which the contextual and semantic lingual knowledge of a particular sentence was better understood. The second run was implemented using a fine tuned RoBERTa model.
- BERT 4EVER (Xiaotian et al., 2022): Two models based on prompt-learning were constructed using different adjectives and three other models were constructed based on sentiment embedding. While training K-fold stacking and back-translation data set were also used. The first four models were combined for the first run, first two and the fourth model were combined for the second run and the first two and the last two models were combined for the third run. The t5-base was leveraged as the base model and different adjectives were used to indicate different degrees of depression. BERT model with sentiment embedding and adversarial training was used to improve the recognition ability of the model.
- KADO (Morteza et al., 2022): One run was submitted which used a BERT based Hybrid Transformer model for the purpose of classification.
- UMUTeam (José Antonio and Rafael, 2022): The model combined the linguistic features, sentence embeddings from FastText and two distilled embeddings from ROBERTA and BERT. The first run was implemented using a neural network. The other two runs used ensembled approaches of which the mode of predictions was used by run 2 and average probabilities was used by run 3.
- DeepBlues (Nawshad et al., 2022): The first submission used a Depression Specific BERT pre-trained model called MBERT which was fine-tuned over the provided data set. The second run fine tuned the Mental BERT model using Relevant Excerpts that were extracted from the data set and the third model submitted used a Depressive Sentence Proportion based Method.
- **Titowak:** Similar data instances from other data sets like Sentiment140, Suicide Detection were added to the existing data set using

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>https://zenodo.org/record/3941387#.YfcI9\_lKiUl

PID	Text Data	Class label
train_pid_1	My life gets worse every year : That's what it feels like anyway	moderate
train_pid_2	Words can't describe how bad I feel right now : I just want to fall asleep forever.	severe
train_pid_3	Is anybody else hoping the Coronavirus shuts everybody down?	not depressed

Table 2: Sample instances of data set

Doc2Vec and then the training was done using pre-trained language models like BERT and RoBERTa and the predictions obtained were submitted.

- E8@IJS (Ilija et al., 2022): Three submissions were done of which the first one was based on the RoBERTa model, the second using Automated Machine Learning (AutoBOT model) and the third run using a combination of textual features and knowledge-graph.
- SSN (Adarsh and Betina, 2022): The first run used a simple Embedding layer followed by 2 dense layers. The second run used a RNN with 2 Bidirectional LSTM layers followed by 2 Dense layers and the third run used a transfer Learning model using BERT, the output of which was passed to a Dense layer for classification.
- Ablimet: Balancing of the data set was done using RandomOverSampler. Then Robertabase was used as a pretrained language model and used 2 linear fully connected layers for the process of classification.
- Viswaas: The submissions were various ensembled models using different transformer models. The weights to each model were obtained using XGBoost and Bayesian Optimization methods.
- sclab@cnu: The three submissions done were based on the transformer models namely RoBERTa, BERT and an ensembled model which was constructed by combining both the above models.
- **ai901@cnu:** The first run submitted used a transformer based approach namely RoBerta. The other two runs were based on Machine Learning algorithms namely Support Vector Machine and Logistic Regression.

- **Beast:** Three models were submitted in which the first model was trained on Pretrained BERTWEET, second and third model was trained on ROBERTA and ROBERTA with commonsense knowledge respectively.
- Unibuc\_NLP: The model submitted had implemented the classification using a Convolutional Neural Network together with GloVe embedding scheme.
- **BFCAI:** Different Machine Learning algorithms were used for different submissions which had used TF/IDF vector space models.
- MUCS (Asha et al., 2022): The first run had used a transformer based BERT model and the next two runs had used Ensemble of different Machine Learning models for the purpose of classification.
- DepressionOne (Suman and Radhika, 2022): Two runs were submitted in which the first run was built on pretrained transformers and the other run uses oversampling and under sampling techniques together with a SVM classifier.
- SSN\_MLRG3 (Sarika et al., 2022) A transformer model was submitted. The data set was initially processed by removing unwanted symbols and characters. Then, the model was trained on a Transformer based ALBERT model.
- **nikss:** The submission was done based on a transformer based approach.
- **UAGD:** A keras neural network model was submitted with two hidden layers of 64 neurons each was used, with dropout of 0.01. They had also used SGD optimizer with a learning rate of 0.03.
- scubeMSEC (Sivamanikandan et al., 2022): Three transformer based models namely DistilBERT, ALBERT and RoBERTa were used

S.No.	Team name	Features extraction	Classifier	Additional data set used (if any)
1	NYCU_TWD (Wei-Yao et al., 2022), Vishwaas, ai901@cnu , MUCS (Asha et al., 2022), DepressionOne (Suman and Radhika, 2022), KUCST (Manex and Amann, 2022), kecsaiyans, KEC_Deepsign_ACL2022	Word embeddings	Machine learning classifiers	-
2	IISERB (Tanmay, 2022)	Cbow, Doc2Vec	Machine learning classifiers	Erisk-CLEF
3	BFCAI, IISERB (Tanmay, 2022)	Tf-Idf	Machine learning classifiers	-
4	E8@IJS (Ilija et al., 2022)	-	AUTOBOT	-
5	UAGD	-	Keras Neural Network	-
6	Unibuc_NLP	Glove	CNN	-
7	GA	Custom word embeddings	CNN	-
8	SSN (Adarsh and Betina, 2022)	-	Transfer Learning	-
9	SSN, niksss	-	Recurrent neural networks	-
10	niksss, kecsaiyans, KEC_Deepsign_ACL2022	-	Long Short Term Memory	-
11	UMUTeam (José Antonio and Rafael, 2022)	Linguistic features, sentence embeddings	Transformers	-
12	E8@IJS (Ilija et al., 2022)	Combination of textual (sentence-transformers, distilbert, lsa) features and knowledge-graph	Transformers	-
13	OPI (Rafał and Michał, 2022)	-	Transformers	Reddit Mental Health data set
14	ARGUABLY, BERT 4EVER (Xiaotian et al., 2022), KADO (Morteza et al., 2022), SSN, Ablimet, Vishwaas , sclab@cnu, ai901@cnu , Beast, MUCS (Asha et al., 2022), DepressionOne (Suman and Radhika, 2022), SSN_MLRG3 (Sarika et al., 2022), niksss, ScuBEMSEC (Sivamanikandan et al., 2022), SSN_MLRG1 (Karun et al., 2022), RACAI	-	Transformers	-
15	Titowak	-	Transformers	Sentiment140, Suicide Detection
16	DeepBlues (Nawshad et al., 2022), FilipN (Filip and György, 2022)	-	Domain specific transformers	-

Table 3: Summary of methodologies

S.No.	Team Name	Accuracy	Weighted F1-score	Weighted Recall	Weighted Precision	Macro Recall	Macro Precision	Macro F1-score	Rank (based on Macro F1 score)
1	OPI	0.658	0.629	0.623	0.639	0.565	0.512	0.583	1
2	NYCU_TWD	0.633	0.612	0.612	0.624	0.539	0.490	0.552	2
3	ARGUABLY	0.625	0.569	0.550	0.627	0.569	0.479	0.547	3
4	BERT 4EVER	0.625	0.632	0.625	0.644	0.581	0.522	0.543	4
5	KADO	0.618	0.622	0.633	0.615	0.474	0.498	0.542	5
6	UMUTeam	0.625	0.644	0.651	0.641	0.543	0.537	0.538	6
7	DeepBlues	0.651	0.606	0.602	0.615	0.473	0.492	0.537	7
8	Titowak	0.671	0.614	0.602	0.640	0.571	0.515	0.536	8
9	E8@IJS	0.602	0.538	0.586	0.499	0.348	0.256	0.533	9
10	SSN	0.636	0.628	0.618	0.648	0.570	0.526	0.531	10
11	Ablimet	0.623	0.586	0.584	0.588	0.460	0.447	0.530	11
12	Vishwaas	0.609	0.562	0.546	0.588	0.473	0.432	0.524	12
13	sclab@cnu	0.642	0.545	0.524	0.607	0.557	0.455	0.503	13
14	ai901@cnu	0.612	0.642	0.633	0.658	0.573	0.539	0.496	14
15	Beast	0.550	0.666	0.658	0.685	0.591	0.586	0.495	15
16	Unibuc_NLP	0.569	0.613	0.671	0.595	0.384	0.395	0.486	16
17	BFCAI	0.633	0.630	0.642	0.624	0.495	0.517	0.484	17
18	MUCS	0.612	0.527	0.511	0.617	0.519	0.461	0.479	18
19	DepressionOne	0.602	0.638	0.636	0.641	0.533	0.528	0.478	19
20	SSN_MLRG3	0.573	0.576	0.585	0.572	0.403	0.436	0.473	20
21	niksss	0.524	0.585	0.573	0.605	0.516	0.458	0.467	21
22	UAGD	0.577	0.658	0.671	0.653	0.515	0.571	0.464	22
23	scubeMSEC	0.511	0.632	0.625	0.643	0.557	0.525	0.457	23
24	kecsaiyans	0.584	0.633	0.625	0.646	0.572	0.530	0.453	24
25	KUCST	0.546	0.610	0.612	0.612	0.497	0.475	0.443	25
26	IISERB	0.530	0.586	0.577	0.606	0.469	0.470	0.438	26
27	SSN_MLRG1	0.585	0.585	0.569	0.617	0.541	0.469	0.412	27
28	KEC_Deepsign_ACL2022	0.569	0.619	0.609	0.636	0.542	0.513	0.398	28
29	RACAI	0.671	0.550	0.530	0.585	0.481	0.427	0.372	29
30	GA	0.513	0.574	0.569	0.580	0.399	0.398	0.364	30
31	FilipN	0.586	0.527	0.513	0.554	0.373	0.365	0.291	31

Table 4: Team Wise results

to classify the social media posts into different levels of depression.

- **kecsaiyans:** To detect signs of depression from social media text, a machine learning model with logistic regression was submitted.
- KUCST (Manex and Amann, 2022) : Two model were submitted which were based on Logistic Regression of which the first model considered information about words, POStags and readability measures and the second model included the ratio of first/third person and the ratio of singular/plural words.
- **IISERB** (Tanmay, 2022): The first run submitted used an entropy based feature weighting scheme which used the Bag of Words model and Support Vector Machine classifier. The second run used Term Frequency and Inverse Document Frequency (TF-IDF) based feature weighting scheme instead of the entropy based model. The third run used a paragraph embedding based feature weighting scheme (Doc2Vec) followed by CBOW

and Skipgram model and random forest classifier. The anxiety data sets released as part of CLEF eRisk 2021 shared task were used to build the paragraph embeddings in addition to the given training data  $^3$ .

- SSN\_MLRG1 (Karun et al., 2022) : Three runs were submitted of which the first run used a fine-tuned version of Distilbert, trained for 4 epochs with a learning rate 1e-4. W&B Sweep was run on BERT, ALBERT, ROBERTA and DISTILBERT with various parameters and the model with the least evaluation loss and best accuracy was chosen as the second run. And a basic random forest classifier to test how well a default model adapts to the given data set was submitted as the third run.
- KEC\_Deepsign\_ACL2022: Three runs were submitted of which the first run was a voting based ensemble method among machine learning models like Naive Bayes, Random forest,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>https://erisk.irlab.org/2021/index.html

Decision tree, Ada boost method. Second run used Bidirectional LSTM and the third run used a simple LSTM with dropout.

- **RACAI:** The system used the XLM-ROBERTA model with an intermediate layer before the classification head. The system employed a new layer configuration inspired by the biological process of lateral inhibition.
- GA: The model with custom word embeddings trained on one-dimensional Convolutional Neural Network was submitted.
- FilipN (Filip and György, 2022): Three runs that used Mental BERT were submitted with different assemblies for longer text. First run used the head and tail of the tokens, the second run used the head and tail tokens with more training steps, and the third run used only the tail tokens with less training steps.

# **5** Evaluation

The evaluation was done using all the performance metrics of sklearn. The submitted runs were ranked using macro F1 score, since the data set is unbalanced. The rank list of the teams were tabulated in Table 4.

From the table, it is clear that the system designed by the OPI team (RoBERTa large with additional data set) achieved a best macro F1score of 0.583. The best accuracy score of 0.671 was achieved by two teams namely Titowak (RoBERTa with additional data set) and RACAI (XLM-RoBERTa). The best macro precision and recall scores of 0.591 and 0.586 were attained by team Beast. Regarding the weighted scores of F1, precision and recall, the system designed by team UAGD (Keras Neural Network) performed better than the other systems.

# 6 Analysis and discussion

Out of the 31 teams that participated, 27 teams used deep learning models to detect the level of depression. The methodologies of the teams are summarized in Table 3. Among the deep learning models, 25 teams used pre-trained transformers models like RoBERTa, XLM-RoBERTa, BERT, XLNET, DistilBERT, AIBERT and T5. Other than pre-trained transformers models, deep learning models such as convolutional neural network, RNN, LSTM and bi-directional LSTM were also used. In addition to deep learning models, machine learning models were also implemented. In the machine learning models, feature extraction was done using word embeddings, TF-IDF, doc2vec, bag of words, fast-Text and glove. The machine learning classifiers like XG-Boost, SVM, linear regression, SGD etc. were used for training the models. Additional data sets namely Anxiety data set of e-risk@clef-2021, Reddit mental health data set, sentiment140 and suicide detection data sets were used along with the provided data set for training. Some systems were trained on balanced data set, after balancing the data set using random over sampler(Lemaître et al., 2017).

# 7 Conclusion

Depression is a common mental illness that has an impact on a person's mood and feelings which may lead to serious consequences if not noticed and treated at an early stage. Thus, detecting depression at an early stage is a very predominant need. In this shared task DepSign-LT-EDI@ACL-2022, the Reddit postings were used to detect levels of depression using three labels namely "Not Depressed", "Moderately Depressed", and "Severely Depressed". A total of 31 teams submitted their results and most of the systems were built using transformers and its variants. The systems were evaluated using macro-averaged F1-score. The best performing system of Team OPI has used an ensemble method of RoBERTa and attained an F1 score of 0.583.

# References

- S Adarsh and Antony Betina. 2022. SSN@LT-EDI-ACL2022: Transfer Learning using BERT for Detecting Signs of Depression from Social Media Texts . In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Tuka Al Hanai, Mohammad M Ghassemi, and James R Glass. 2018. Detecting depression with audio/text sequence modeling of interviews. In *Interspeech*, pages 1716–1720.
- Hegde Asha, Coelho Sharal, and Dashti Ahmad Elyas. 2022. MUCS@Text-LT-EDI-ACL 2022: Detecting Sign of Depression from Social Media Text using Supervised Learning Approach. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion.* Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Mandar Deshpande and Vignesh Rao. 2017. Depression detection using emotion artificial intelligence. In 2017 international conference on intelligent sustainable systems (iciss), pages 858–862. IEEE.
- Johannes C Eichstaedt, Robert J Smith, Raina M Merchant, Lyle H Ungar, Patrick Crutchley, Daniel Preoţiuc-Pietro, David A Asch, and H Andrew Schwartz. 2018. Facebook language predicts depression in medical records. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 115(44):11203–11208.
- Nilsson Filip and Kovács György. 2022. FilipN@LT-EDI-ACL2022-Detecting signs of Depression from Social Media: Examining the use of summarization methods as data augmentation for text classification. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Tavchioski Ilija, Koloski Boshko, Škrlj Blaž, and Pollak Senja. 2022. E8-IJS@LT-EDI-ACL2022 - BERT, AutoML and Knowledge-graph backed Detection of Depression. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- García-Díaz José Antonio and Valencia-García Rafael. 2022. UMUTeam@LT-EDI-ACL2022: Detecting Signs of Depression from text. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Anantharaman Karun, S Angel Deborah, S Rajalakshmi, Madhesh Saritha, and RS Milton. 2022. SSN\_MLRG1@LT-EDI-ACL2022: Multi-Class Classification using BERT models for Detecting Depression Signs from Social Media Text. In Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Raghavendra Katikalapudi, Sriram Chellappan, Frances Montgomery, Donald Wunsch, and Karl Lutzen. 2012. Associating internet usage with depressive behavior among college students. *IEEE Technology and Society Magazine*, 31(4):73–80.
- S Kayalvizhi and D Thenmozhi. 2022. Data set creation and empirical analysis for detecting signs of depression from social media postings. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2202.03047*.
- Guillaume Lemaître, Fernando Nogueira, and Christos K. Aridas. 2017. Imbalanced-learn: A python toolbox to tackle the curse of imbalanced datasets in machine learning. *Journal of Machine Learning Research*, 18(17):1–5.
- Chenhao Lin, Pengwei Hu, Hui Su, Shaochun Li, Jing Mei, Jie Zhou, and Henry Leung. 2020. Sensemood: Depression detection on social media. In *Proceedings of the 2020 International Conference on Multimedia Retrieval*, pages 407–411.

- David E Losada, Fabio Crestani, and Javier Parapar. 2017. erisk 2017: Clef lab on early risk prediction on the internet: experimental foundations. In *International Conference of the Cross-Language Evaluation Forum for European Languages*, pages 346–360. Springer.
- Nicole S Luddington, Anitha Mandadapu, Margaret Husk, and Rif S El-Mallakh. 2009. Recognition and treatment of depression and anxiety symptoms in heart failure. *The Primary Care Companion for CNS Disorders*, 11(3):22981.
- Agirrezabal Manex and Janek Amann. 2022. KUCST@LT-EDI-ACL2022: Detecting Signs of Depression from Social Media Text. In Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Michelle Renee Morales and Rivka Levitan. 2016. Speech vs. text: A comparative analysis of features for depression detection systems. In 2016 IEEE spoken language technology workshop (SLT), pages 136– 143. IEEE.
- Janadoust Morteza, Ehsani-Besheli Fatemeh, and Zeinali Hossein. 2022. KADO@LT-EDI-ACL2022: BERT-based Ensembles for Detecting Signs of Depression from Social Media Text. In *Proceedings* of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Farruque Nawshad, Zaiane Osmar, and Goebel Randy. 2022. DeepBlues@LT-EDI-ACL2022: Depression level detection modelling through domain specific BERT and short text Depression classifiers. In Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- World Health Organization et al. 2017. Depression and other common mental disorders: global health estimates. Technical report, World Health Organization.
- Poświata Rafał and Perełkiewicz Michał. 2022. OPI@LT-EDI-ACL2022: Detecting Signs of Depression from Social Media Text using RoBERTa Pretrained Language Models. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion.* Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Andrew G Reece, Andrew J Reagan, Katharina LM Lix, Peter Sheridan Dodds, Christopher M Danforth, and Ellen J Langer. 2017. Forecasting the onset and course of mental illness with twitter data. *Scientific reports*, 7(1):1–11.
- Esackimuthu Sarika, H Shruthi, S Rajalakshmi, S Angel Deborah, R Sakaya Milton, and T T Mirnalinee. 2022. SSN\_MLRG3@LT-EDI-ACL2022-Depression Detection System from Social Media Text using Transformer Models. In *Proceedings of*

the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- S Sivamanikandan, V Santhosh, N Sanjaykumar, C Jerin Mahibha, and Durairaj Thenmozhi. 2022. scubeMSEC@LT-EDI-ACL2022: Detection of Depression using Transformer Models. In *Proceedings* of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Dowlagar Suman and Mamidi Radhika. 2022. DepressionOne@LT-EDI-ACL2022: Using Machine Learning with SMOTE and Random UnderSampling to Detect Signs of Depression on Social Media Text. In Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Michael M. Tadesse, Hongfei Lin, Bo Xu, and Liang Yang. 2019. Detection of depression-related posts in reddit social media forum. *IEEE Access*, 7:44883– 44893.
- Basu Tanmay. 2022. IISERB@LT-EDI-ACL2022: A Bag of Words and Document Embeddings Based Framework to Identify Severity of Depression Over Social Media. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion.* Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Sho Tsugawa, Yusuke Kikuchi, Fumio Kishino, Kosuke Nakajima, Yuichi Itoh, and Hiroyuki Ohsaki. 2015. Recognizing depression from twitter activity. In *Proceedings of the 33rd annual ACM conference* on human factors in computing systems, pages 3187– 3196.
- Wang Wei-Yao, Tang Yu-Chien, Du Wei-Wei, and Peng Wen-Chih. 2022. NYCU\_TWD@LT-EDI-ACL2022: Ensemble Models with VADER and Contrastive Learning for Detecting Signs of Depression from Social Media. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- JT Wolohan, Misato Hiraga, Atreyee Mukherjee, Zeeshan Ali Sayyed, and Matthew Millard. 2018. Detecting linguistic traces of depression in topic-restricted text: Attending to self-stigmatized depression with nlp. In *Proceedings of the First International Workshop on Language Cognition and Computational Models*, pages 11–21.
- Lin Xiaotian, Fu Yingwen, Yang Ziyu, Lin Nankai, and Jiang Shengyi. 2022. BERT4EVER@LT-EDI-ACL 2022-Detecting signs of Depression from Social Media : Detecting Depression in Social Media using Prompt-Learning and Word-Emotion Cluster. In Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion. Association for Computational Linguistics.

# Findings of the Shared Task on Speech Recognition for Vulnerable Individuals in Tamil

B. Bharathi<sup>1</sup>, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi<sup>2</sup>,

Subalalitha Chinnaudayar Navaneethakrishnan<sup>3</sup>, N. Sripriya<sup>1</sup>, Arunaggiri Pandian<sup>4</sup>, Swetha Valli<sup>4</sup>

<sup>1</sup>SSN College of Engineering

<sup>2</sup>National University of Ireland Galway
 <sup>3</sup>SRM Institute Of Science And Technology
 <sup>4</sup>Thiagarajar College of Engineering
 bharathib@ssn.edu.in, bharathiraja.akr@gmail.com

# Abstract

This paper illustrates the overview of the shared task on automatic speech recognition in the Tamil language. In the shared task, spontaneous Tamil speech data gathered from elderly and transgender people was given for recognition and evaluation. These utterances were collected from people when they communicated in the public locations such as hospitals, markets, vegetable shop, etc. The speech corpus includes utterances of male, female, and transgender and was split into training and testing data. The given task was evaluated using WER (Word Error Rate). The participants used the transformer-based model for automatic speech recognition. Different results using different pre-trained transformer models are discussed in this overview paper.

**Keywords:** Automatic Speech Recognition, Word Error Rate, Tamil speech corpus, Transformer model, Pre-trained model.

# 1 Introduction

There have been tremendous developments in smart technologies that continue to evolve and enhance human-machine interaction (Chakravarthi et al., 2020; Sampath et al., 2022; Ravikiran et al., 2022; Chakravarthi et al., 2022; Priyadharshini et al., 2022). One such recent technology is Automatic Speech Recognition(ASR) which has paved the way to a lot of voiced-based interfaces to many automated systems. Many elderly and transgender people are unaware of of the technologies available that are facilitated to aid people in public places such as banks, hospitals and administrative offices. Hence, speech is the only medium that could assist them in satisfying their needs (Hämäläinen et al., 2015). However, the usage of these ASR systems by the elderly, transgender and less educated people are limited. The reason is most of the existing automated systems are enabled with voiced-based interfaces that are in English language. Old aged

and people in rural areas only feel comfortable to interact in their regional language. If the systems developed to aid people in public places are enabled with speech interfaces in the regional language, the aiding systems are benefited by all people. The spontaneous speech data in Tamil language is gathered from old-aged and transgender people, who are bereft of using these facilities to their advantage. This task is organized to find an efficient ASR model to handle the elderly people speech corpus. The speech corpus creation is represented in Fig. 1.

The earliest Old Tamil documents are small inscriptions in Adichanallur dating from 905 BC to 696 BC. Tamil has the oldest ancient non-Sanskritic Indian literature of any Indian language. Tamil uses agglutinative grammar, which uses suffixes to indicate noun class, number, case, verb tense, and other grammatical categories. Tamil's standard metalinguistic terminology and scholarly vocabulary is itself Tamil, as opposed to the Sanskrit that is standard for most Aryan languages. Tamil has many forms, in addition to dialects: a classical literary style based on the ancient language (cankattami), a modern literary and formal style (centami), and a current colloquial form (kotuntami) (Sakuntharaj and Mahesan, 2021, 2017, 2016; Thavareesan and Mahesan, 2019, 2020a, b, 2021). These styles blend into one another, creating a stylistic continuity. It is conceivable, for example, to write centami using cankattami vocabulary, or to utilize forms connected with one of the other varieties while speaking kotuntami (Subalalitha, 2019; Srinivasan and Subalalitha, 2019; Narasimhan et al., 2018). Tamil words are made up of a lexical root and one or more affixes. The majority of Tamil affixes are suffixes. Tamil suffixes are either derivational suffixes, which modify the part of speech or meaning of the word, or inflectional suffixes, which designate categories like as person, number, mood, tense, and so on. There is no ultimate limit to the length and

scope of agglutination, which might result in large words with several suffixes, requiring many words or a sentence in English (Anita and Subalalitha, 2019b,a; Subalalitha and Poovammal, 2018).

Initially, an ASR system will extract the features from speech signals. Further, acoustic models will be created with the features. Finally, the language model will be created which captures the linguistic information from the text (Das et al., 2011). The performance of the ASR systems has to be evaluated for it to be used in real time applications. On large scale automatic speech recognition (ASR) tasks, an end-to-end speech recognition system has showed promising performance, making it competitive with traditional hybrid systems. The end-toend system includes an acoustic model, lexicon, and language model that turns acoustic data into tag labels immediately(Zeng et al., 2021; Pérez-Espinosa et al., 2017). In the field of end-to-end speech recognition, two common frameworks are used. One is distinguished by frame synchronous prediction, which means that one target label is assigned to each input frame(Miao et al., 2020; Xue et al., 2021; Miao et al., 2019; Watanabe et al., 2017). The performance can also be measured in terms of phoneme recognition with different test feature vectors and different model parameters. The use of acoustic models for speech recognition, which are created using the voices of younger adults, may be a significant factor in the recognition of elderly speech (Fukuda et al., 2020; Zeng et al., 2020; Iribe et al., 2015). There are few acoustic models created to carry out the speech recognition task. Some of the acoustic models are Japanese Newspaper Article Sentences (JNAS), Japanese Newspaper Article Sentences Read Speech Corpus of the Aged (S-JNAS) and Corpus of Spontaneous Japanes (CSJ). In the literature, all the acoustic models are compared and found that the CSJ model achieves the lowest WER only after the adaptation of the elderly voices(Fukuda et al., 2020). Similarly, dialect adaptation is also required so as to improve recognition accuracy(Fukuda et al., 2019). Due to recent developments in large vocabulary continuous speech recognition (LVCSR) technologies, speech recognition systems have become widely used in a variety of fields(Xue et al., 2021). Acoustic differences between speakers are thought to be one of the primary causes of the decline in speech recognition rates. For elderly speakers to use speech recognition systems trained



Figure 1: Speech corpus collected from vulnerable individuals in Tamil language

using normal adult speech data, the acoustic difference between the speech of elderly speaker and that of a typical adult should be analyzed and adapted accordingly. Instead, an acoustic model trained on the utterances of elderly speakers can reduce this degradation, as confirmed by a document retrieval system. High recognition accuracy can be obtained for speech reading a written text or similar by using cutting-edge speech recognition technology; however, the accuracy degrades for freely spoken spontaneous speech. The main reason for this issue is that acoustic and linguistic models used in speech recognition have been developed primarily using written language text or read speech. However, spontaneous speech and written language differ significantly both acoustically and linguistically(Zeng et al., 2020). Nowadays, developing ASR systems recognizing elderly people speech data has became more common. Due to the ageing population in modern society and the growth of smart devices, there is a need to improve speech recognition in smart devices so that information can be freely accessible to the elderly as well as the younger people(Kwon et al., 2016; Vacher et al., 2015; Hossain et al., 2017; Teixeira et al., 2014). Due to the impacts of speech articulation and speaking style, speech recognition systems are often optimised for an average adult's voice and have a lower accuracy rate when recognising an elderly person's voice. Adapting the currently available speech recognition systems for handling the speech of senior users is certain to incur additional costs(Kwon et al., 2016).

# 2 Task Description

This shared task tackles a difficult problem in Automatic Speech Recognition: vulnerable elderly and transgender individuals in Tamil. People in their senior years go to primary places such as banks, hospitals, and administrative offices to meet their daily needs. Many elderly persons are unsure of how to use the devices provided to assist them. Similarly, because transgender persons are denied access to primary education as a result of societal discrimination, speech is the only channel via which they may meet their needs. The data on spontaneous speech is collected from elderly and transgender people who are unable to take advantage of these services. For the training set, a speech corpus containing 5.5 hours of transcribed speech will be released, as well as 2 hours of speech data for testing test.

# **3 Related Work**

When a model is fine-tuned on many languages at the same time, a single multilingual speech recognition model can be built that can compete with models that are fine-tuned on individual language speech corpus. Speech2Vec expands the text-based Word2Vec model to learn word embeddings directly from speech by combining an RNN Encoder-Decoder framework with skipgrams or cbow for training. Acoustic models are designed at phoneme/syllable level to carry out the speech recognition task. Initially, the acoustic models were created with JNAS, S-JNAS and CSJ speech corpus(Lin and Yu, 2015; Iribe et al., 2015). Later, the models were trained/fine-tuned with different speech corpus. To get a better performance and accuracy, backpropagation using the transfer learning was attempted in the literature. Similar work was performed for other languages like Bengali, Japanese, etc. Also, more speech corpus is collected from the young people for many languages(Zeng et al., 2020; Lee et al., 2021). However, speaker fluctuation, environmental noise, and transmission channel noise all degrade ASR performance. As the shared task is given with a separate training data set, an effective model has to be created during the training. Therefore, hierarchical transformer based model for large context end to end ASR can be used (Masumura et al., 2021). In the recent era, the environment is changing with smart systems and is identified that there is a need for ASR systems that are capable of handling speech of elderly people spoken in their native languages. To overcome this problem, the shared task is proposed for the research community to build an efficient model for recognizing the

speech of elderly people and transgenders in Tamil language.

# 4 Data-set Description

The dataset given to this shared task is an Tamil conversational speech recorded from the elderly people whose average age is around 61 for male, 59 for female and 30 for transgender people which are tabulated in Table 1 . A total of 6 hours and 42 minutes is collected from the elderly people. 46 audio files were recorded and each audio file is split into many subsets as transformer model does not support the large audio files. The speech is recorded with a sampling rate of 16KHZ. The audio files from Audio - 1 to Audio - 36 are used for training (duration is approximately 5.5 hours) and Audio - 37 to Audio - 47 are used for testing (duration is approximately 2 hours).

## 5 Methodology

The methodology used by the participants in shared task of speech recognition for vulnerable individuals in Tamil is discussed in this section. Different types of pre-trained transformer models used by the participants in this shared task are

Amrrs/wav2vec2-large-xlsr-53-tamil<sup>1</sup> (Dhanya et al., 2022)

akashsivanandan/wav2vec2-large-xslr-300mtamil-colab-final<sup>2</sup> (Dhanya et al., 2022)

nikhil6041/wav2vec2-large-xlsr-tamil-

commonvoice <sup>3</sup> (Dhanya et al., 2022)

Rajaram1996/wav2vec-large-xlsr-53-tamil <sup>4</sup> (Suhasini and Bharathi, 2022)

The above mentioned models are fine tuned on facebook/wav2vec-large-xlsr-53 <sup>5</sup> pre-trained model using multilingual common voice dataset. To fine-tune the model, they had a classifier representing the downstreams task's output vocabulary on top of it and train it with a Connectionist Temporal Classification (CTC) loss on the labelled data. The models used are based on XLSR wav2vec model, this XLSR model is capable of learning cross-lingual speech data, where the raw speech

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>https://huggingface.co/Amrrs/wav2vec2-large-xlsr-53-tamil

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>https://huggingface.co/akashsivanandan/wav2vec2large-xls-r-300m-tamil-colab-final

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>https://huggingface.co/nikhil6041/wav2vec2-large-xlsrtamil-commonvoice

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>https://huggingface.co/Rajaram1996/wav2vec2-largexlsr-53-tamil

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>https://huggingface.co/facebook/wav2vec2-large-xlsr-53

S.No	Filename	Gender	Age	Duration(in secs)
1	Audio - 1	М	72	10
2	Audio - 2	F	61	9
3	Audio - 3	F	71	11
4	Audio - 4	М	68	8
5	Audio - 5	F	59	14
6	Audio - 6	F	67	9
7	Audio - 7	М	54	8
8	Audio - 8	F	65	16
9	Audio - 9	F	55	3
10	Audio - 10	М	60	13
11	Audio - 11	F	55	17
12	Audio - 12	F	52	6
13	Audio - 13	F	53	11
14	Audio - 14	F	61	9
15	Audio - 15	F	54	1
16	Audio - 16	F	56	6
17	Audio - 17	F	52	12
18	Audio - 18	F	54	6
19	Audio - 19	F	52	8
20	Audio - 20	F	52	9
21	Audio - 21	F	62	13
22	Audio - 22	F	52	12
23	Audio - 23	F	62	13
24	Audio - 24	F	53	4
25	Audio - 25	F	65	3
26	Audio - 26	F	64	8
27	Audio - 27	F	54	6
28	Audio - 28	М	62	8
29	Audio - 29	М	54	16
30	Audio - 30	F	76	9
31	Audio - 31	F	55	9
32	Audio - 32	М	50	6
33	Audio - 33	F	63	6
34	Audio - 34	M	84	6
35	Audio - 35	F	70	6
36	Audio - 36	F	50	6
37	Audio - 37	M	53	6
38	Audio - 38	F	55	6
39	Audio - 39	M	62	6
40	Audio - 40	T	24	6
41	Audio - 41		22	
42	Audio - 42	T	40	8
43	Audio - 43	T	25	11
44	Audio - 44	T T	29	10
45	Audio - 45		35	9
46	Aud10 - 46	T	33	16

Table 1: Age, gender and duration of the utterances in speech corpus

S. No	Model Name	WER (in %)
1	SSN_NLP Submission 1 (Dhanya et al., 2022)	39.4512
2	SUH_ASR (Suhasini and Bharathi, 2022)	39.6487
3	SSN_NLP Submission 2 (Dhanya et al., 2022)	39.6834
4	SSN_NLP Submission 3 (Dhanya et al., 2022)	39.9982

Table 2: Results of the participating systems in Word Error Rate

waveform is converted to multiple languages by pre-training a single model.

#### 6 Evaluation of Results

The results submitted by the participants are evaluated based on the WER computed between the ASR hypotheses submitted by the participants and the ground truth of human speech transcription.

WER (Word Error Rate) = (S + D + I) / N

where, S = No. of substitutions D = No. of deletions I = No. of insertions N = No. of words in the reference transcription

As discussed in the methodology, different average word error rate are measured using various pre-trained transformer based models.

Performance of the ASR submitted by the participants are tabulated in Table 2. From Table 2, the Amrrs/wav2vec2-large-xlsr-53-tamil <sup>6</sup> model produces less WER compared to other models.

# 7 Conclusion

This overview paper discusses the shared task for vulnerable speech recognition in Tamil, where the speech corpus shared for this task is recorded from the elderly people. Recognizing the speech elderly people with better accuracy is a challenging task. Therefore, the collected speech corpus has been shared to participants to address the problem with their method to increase the accuracy and performance in recognizing the elderly people speech. Totally, there were two participants who took part in this shared task and submitted the results as transcripts of the given data. The team has compared the result with the human transcripts and calculated the WER. Both the participants have used different transformer based model for building their recognition systems. Finally, the word error rates of the two participants are 39.4512 & 39.6487 respectively. Based on the observations, it is suggested that the transformer based model can be trained with given speech corpus which could give a better accuracy than the pre-trained model, as the transformer based model used are trained with common voice dataset. Also, a separate language model can also be created for this corpus.

#### References

- R Anita and CN Subalalitha. 2019a. An approach to cluster Tamil literatures using discourse connectives. In 2019 IEEE 1st International Conference on Energy, Systems and Information Processing (ICESIP), pages 1–4. IEEE.
- R Anita and CN Subalalitha. 2019b. Building discourse parser for Thirukkural. In *Proceedings of the 16th International Conference on Natural Language Processing*, pages 18–25.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Thenmozhi Durairaj, John Phillip McCrae, Paul Buitaleer, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, and Rahul Ponnusamy. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Homophobia Transphobia Detection in Social Media Comments. In Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Vigneshwaran Muralidaran, Shardul Suryawanshi, Navya Jose, Elizabeth Sherly, and John P McCrae. 2020. Overview of the track on sentiment analysis for Dravidian languages in code-mixed text. In *Forum for Information Retrieval Evaluation*, pages 21–24.
- Biswajit Das, Sandipan Mandal, and Pabitra Mitra. 2011. Bengali speech corpus for continuous auutomatic speech recognition system. In 2011 International conference on speech database and assessments (Oriental COCOSDA), pages 51–55. IEEE.
- Srinivasan Dhanya, B Bharathi, D Thenmozhi, and Senthil Kumar. 2022. Ssncse\_nlp@lt-edi-acl2022: Speech recognition for vulnerable individuals in Tamil using pre-trained Xlsr models. In *Proceedings* of the Second Workshop on Speech and Language

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>https://huggingface.co/Amrrs/wav2vec2-large-xlsr-53tamil

*Technologies for Dravidian Languages*. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Meiko Fukuda, Ryota Nishimura, Hiromitsu Nishizaki, Yurie Iribe, and Norihide Kitaoka. 2019. A new corpus of elderly japanese speech for acoustic modeling, and a preliminary investigation of dialectdependent speech recognition. In 2019 22nd Conference of the Oriental COCOSDA International Committee for the Co-ordination and Standardisation of Speech Databases and Assessment Techniques (O-COCOSDA), pages 1–6. IEEE.
- Meiko Fukuda, Hiromitsu Nishizaki, Yurie Iribe, Ryota Nishimura, and Norihide Kitaoka. 2020. Improving speech recognition for the elderly: A new corpus of elderly japanese speech and investigation of acoustic modeling for speech recognition. In *Proceedings of the 12th Language Resources and Evaluation Conference*, pages 6578–6585.
- Annika Hämäläinen, António Teixeira, Nuno Almeida, Hugo Meinedo, Tibor Fegyó, and Miguel Sales Dias. 2015. Multilingual speech recognition for the elderly: The aalfred personal life assistant. *Procedia Computer Science*, 67:283–292.
- M Shamim Hossain, Md Abdur Rahman, and Ghulam Muhammad. 2017. Cyber–physical cloud-oriented multi-sensory smart home framework for elderly people: An energy efficiency perspective. *Journal of Parallel and Distributed Computing*, 103:11–21.
- Yurie Iribe, Norihide Kitaoka, and Shuhei Segawa. 2015. Development of new speech corpus for elderly japanese speech recognition. In 2015 International Conference Oriental COCOSDA held jointly with 2015 Conference on Asian Spoken Language Research and Evaluation (O-COCOSDA/CASLRE), pages 27–31. IEEE.
- Soonil Kwon, Sung-Jae Kim, and Joon Yeon Choeh. 2016. Preprocessing for elderly speech recognition of smart devices. *Computer Speech & Language*, 36:110–121.
- Taewoo Lee, Min-Joong Lee, Tae Gyoon Kang, Seokyeoung Jung, Minseok Kwon, Yeona Hong, Jungin Lee, Kyoung-Gu Woo, Ho-Gyeong Kim, Jiseung Jeong, et al. 2021. Adaptable multi-domain language model for transformer asr. In *ICASSP 2021-2021 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech* and Signal Processing (ICASSP), pages 7358–7362. IEEE.
- Hui Lin and Yibiao Yu. 2015. Acoustic feature analysis and conversion of age speech. In *IET Conference Proceedings*. The Institution of Engineering & Technology.
- Ryo Masumura, Naoki Makishima, Mana Ihori, Akihiko Takashima, Tomohiro Tanaka, and Shota Orihashi. 2021. Hierarchical transformer-based large-context end-to-end asr with large-context knowledge distillation. In *ICASSP 2021-2021 IEEE International*

Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP), pages 5879–5883. IEEE.

- Haoran Miao, Gaofeng Cheng, Changfeng Gao, Pengyuan Zhang, and Yonghong Yan. 2020. Transformer-based online ctc/attention end-to-end speech recognition architecture. In ICASSP 2020-2020 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP), pages 6084– 6088. IEEE.
- Haoran Miao, Gaofeng Cheng, Pengyuan Zhang, Ta Li, and Yonghong Yan. 2019. Online hybrid ctc/attention architecture for end-to-end speech recognition. In *Interspeech*, pages 2623–2627.
- Anitha Narasimhan, Aarthy Anandan, Madhan Karky, and CN Subalalitha. 2018. Porul: Option generation and selection and scoring algorithms for a tamil flash card game. *International Journal of Cognitive and Language Sciences*, 12(2):225–228.
- Humberto Pérez-Espinosa, Juan Martínez-Miranda, Ismael Espinosa-Curiel, Josefina Rodríguez-Jacobo, and Himer Avila-George. 2017. Using acoustic paralinguistic information to assess the interaction quality in speech-based systems for elderly users. *International Journal of Human-Computer Studies*, 98:1–13.
- Ruba Priyadharshini, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Subalalitha Chinnaudayar Navaneethakrishnan, Thenmozhi Durairaj, Malliga Subramanian, Kogilavani Shanmugavadivel, Siddhanth U Hegde, and Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Abusive Comment Detection in Tamil. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Speech and Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages*. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Manikandan Ravikiran, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Anand Kumar Madasamy, Sangeetha Sivanesan, Ratnavel Rajalakshmi, Sajeetha Thavareesan, Rahul Ponnusamy, and Shankar Mahadevan. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Offensive Span Identification in code-mixed Tamil-English comments. In Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Speech and Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Ratnasingam Sakuntharaj and Sinnathamby Mahesan. 2016. A novel hybrid approach to detect and correct spelling in Tamil text. In 2016 IEEE International Conference on Information and Automation for Sustainability (ICIAfS), pages 1–6.
- Ratnasingam Sakuntharaj and Sinnathamby Mahesan. 2017. Use of a novel hash-table for speeding-up suggestions for misspelt Tamil words. In 2017 IEEE International Conference on Industrial and Information Systems (ICIIS), pages 1–5.
- Ratnasingam Sakuntharaj and Sinnathamby Mahesan. 2021. Missing word detection and correction based on context of Tamil sentences using n-grams. In

2021 10th International Conference on Information and Automation for Sustainability (ICIAfS), pages 42–47.

- Anbukkarasi Sampath, Thenmozhi Durairaj, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Subalalitha Chinnaudayar Navaneethakrishnan, Kogilavani Shanmugavadivel, Sajeetha Thavareesan, Sathiyaraj Thangasamy, Parameswari Krishnamurthy, Adeep Hande, Sean Benhur, Kishor Kumar Ponnusamy, and Santhiya Pandiyan. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Emotion Analysis in Tamil. In Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Speech and Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- R Srinivasan and CN Subalalitha. 2019. Automated named entity recognition from tamil documents. In 2019 IEEE 1st International Conference on Energy, Systems and Information Processing (ICESIP), pages 1–5. IEEE.
- C. N. Subalalitha. 2019. Information extraction framework for Kurunthogai. Sādhanā, 44(7):156.
- CN Subalalitha and E Poovammal. 2018. Automatic bilingual dictionary construction for Tirukural. *Applied Artificial Intelligence*, 32(6):558–567.
- S Suhasini and B Bharathi. 2022. Suh\_asr@lt-ediacl2022: Transformer based approach for speech recognition for Vulnerable Individuals in Tamil. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Speech and Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages*. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- António Teixeira, Annika Hämäläinen, Jairo Avelar, Nuno Almeida, Géza Németh, Tibor Fegyó, Csaba Zainkó, Tamás Csapó, Bálint Tóth, André Oliveira, et al. 2014. Speech-centric multimodal interaction for easy-to-access online services–a personal life assistant for the elderly. *Procedia computer science*, 27:389–397.
- Sajeetha Thavareesan and Sinnathamby Mahesan. 2019. Sentiment analysis in Tamil texts: A study on machine learning techniques and feature representation. In 2019 14th Conference on Industrial and Information Systems (ICIIS), pages 320–325.
- Sajeetha Thavareesan and Sinnathamby Mahesan. 2020a. Sentiment lexicon expansion using Word2vec and fastText for sentiment prediction in Tamil texts. In 2020 Moratuwa Engineering Research Conference (MERCon), pages 272–276.
- Sajeetha Thavareesan and Sinnathamby Mahesan. 2020b. Word embedding-based part of speech tagging in Tamil texts. In 2020 IEEE 15th International Conference on Industrial and Information Systems (ICIIS), pages 478–482.
- Sajeetha Thavareesan and Sinnathamby Mahesan. 2021. Sentiment analysis in Tamil texts using k-means and k-nearest neighbour. In 2021 10th International Conference on Information and Automation for Sustainability (ICIAfS), pages 48–53.

- Michel Vacher, Frédéric Aman, Solange Rossato, and François Portet. 2015. Development of automatic speech recognition techniques for elderly home support: Applications and challenges. In *International Conference on Human Aspects of IT for the Aged Population*, pages 341–353. Springer.
- Shinji Watanabe, Takaaki Hori, Suyoun Kim, John R Hershey, and Tomoki Hayashi. 2017. Hybrid ctc/attention architecture for end-to-end speech recognition. *IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Signal Processing*, 11(8):1240–1253.
- Jiabin Xue, Tieran Zheng, and Jiqing Han. 2021. Exploring attention mechanisms based on summary information for end-to-end automatic speech recognition. *Neurocomputing*, 465:514–524.
- Jiazhong Zeng, Jianxin Peng, and Yuezhe Zhao. 2020. Comparison of speech intelligibility of elderly aged 60–69 years and young adults in the noisy and reverberant environment. *Applied Acoustics*, 159:107096.
- Zhiping Zeng, Haihua Xu, Yerbolat Khassanov, Eng Siong Chng, Chongjia Ni, Bin Ma, et al. 2021. Leveraging text data using hybrid transformer-lstm based end-to-end asr in transfer learning. In 2021 12th International Symposium on Chinese Spoken Language Processing (ISCSLP), pages 1–5. IEEE.

# DLRG@LT-EDI-ACL2022:Detecting signs of Depression from Social Media using XGBoost Method

Herbert Goldwin Sharen, Ratnavel Rajalakshmi\*

School of Computer Science and Engineering Vellore Institue of Technology Chennai rajalakshmi.r@vit.ac.in

#### Abstract

Depression is linked to the development of dementia. Cognitive functions such as thinking and remembering generally deteriorate in dementia patients. Social media usage has been increased among the people in recent days. The technology advancements help the community to express their views publicly. Analysing the signs of depression from texts has become an important area of research now, as it helps to identify this kind of mental disorders among the people from their social media posts. As part of the shared task on detecting signs of depression from social media text, a dataset has been provided by the organizers (Sampath et al.). We applied different machine learning techniques such as Support Vector Machine, Random Forest and XGBoost classifier to classify the signs of depression. Experimental results revealed that, the XGBoost model outperformed other models with the highest classification accuracy of 0.61% and an Macro  $F_1$  score of 0.54.

#### 1 Introduction

Depression is a risk factor for Dementia. Dementia patients often experience a deterioration in cognitive abilities such as thinking and remembering (Dong and Yang, 2021). Early detection and treatment of depressive symptoms can greatly improve the chances of controlling depression and reducing the harmful effects of depression on a person's well-being, health, and social-economic life. The task of distinguishing between depressed and nondepressed people using online social media is critical. Information, communication, and posts on social media describe a user's emotional state (Aladb et al., 2018). Their sentimental state, on the other hand, will be strong, which could lead to a misdiagnosis of depression. Clinical interviews and questionnaire surveys conducted by hospitals or organizations, where psychiatric assessment tables are used to determine mental disorder prognosis, are currently the most common procedures used. Depression affects more than 300 million people worldwide, according to the World Health Organization. Depression can have a negative impact on one's personal well-being, family life, and educational institutions at work, as well as contribute to physical damage.

Recently, the task of detecting depression in an earlier stage is attempted by researchers in alternative ways too. One such attempt is to mine the social media posts of people, from which the signs of depression can be detected. To this end, various machine learning techniques could be applied to diagnose depression from feelings or emotions expressed in social media texts, by using Artificial Intelligence (AI) and Natural Language Processing (NLP)-based approaches. We have extracted features from the text and BOW method is appliled. For building the model, we have used SVM and ensmeble based methods Random Forest classifier and XGB classifier. From the experimental results, we found that, XGB outperforms other methods with an accuarcy of 0.60 and an  $F_1$  score of 0.54.

# 2 Literature Review

Ibitoye A.O (Ibitoye et al., 2021) looked at two research that looked at how supervised machinelearning classifiers could predict the interaction of emotions. They used classification methods to classify depression-related messages on social media. Mathur (Mathur et al., 2020) suggested a strategy based on a Bidirectional LSTM (BLSTM) + Attention model for detecting depression early in Twitter users' messages. To detect depression from the Twitter dataset, Orabi (Husseini Orabi et al., 2018) suggested using the Continuous Bag of Words (CBOW) embedding approach. Kim Jin et al. (Kim et al., 2021) researched about how a supervised machine learning algorithm can help detect post-traumatic stress disorder by measuring predicting parameters.

# 3 Methodology

The overall workflow of the proposed system is depicted in Figure 1 The flow depicts data preprocessing, lemmatization followed by training and testing using machine learning model. Support Vector Machine, Random Forest, and XGBoost are utilized to classify depression from text data into no depression, severe and moderate depression.



Figure 1: Overall workflow of the proposed system

#### 3.1 Data Processing

Applying pre-processing is essential for classification in the experiment since the data are not organised in the same format or structure. To minimise redundancies and make sure the data is computer usable, data cleaning and transformation were utilised. The data types are justified so that the dataset can be compared and compared. The scale condition in data had to be uniformed, hence normalisation was also required. The psychological domain knowledge in functional diagnostic criteria is employed in the rebuilding of data structure while data preprocessing is being implemented. All data must be reconstructed into only three labels, which correspond to three types of depression diagnostic criteria: not depression, severe depression, and mild depression.

#### 3.2 Lemmatization

In Natural Language Processing (NLP) and machine learning in general, lemmatization is one of the most used text pre-processing techniques. A given word is reduced to its base word in both stemming and lemmatization. In the lemmatization process, the root word is called lemma. As a result, a lemmatization algorithm would recognise that better is derived from good, and hence the lemmatizer is good. Because lemmatization entails determining a word's meaning from a source such as a dictionary, it takes a long time. As a result, most lemmatization methods are slower than stemming techniques. Although there is a processing expense for lemmatization, computational resources are rarely a consideration in an ML challenge. WordNet Lemmatizer is used where NLTK is used to convert Special character, dot remove, multiple space converted to single space, conversion from upper case to lower case.

# 3.3 TFIDF transform

The TF-IDF is a subtask of information retrieval and extraction that seeks to represent the value of a word in a document that is part of a corpus of documents. Some search engines utilise it to assist them get better results that are more relevant to a particular query. TF-IDF stands for Term Frequency — Inverse Text Frequency and is a statistic that attempts to better describe how essential a term is for a document while also considering its relationship to other papers in the same corpus. This is done by counting the number of times a term appears in a document as well as the number of times the same word appears in other documents in the corpus

#### 3.4 Support Vector Machine (SVM)

Support Vector Machines are typically thought of as a classification method, however they can be used to solve both classification and regression problems. It can handle both continuous and categorical variables with ease. To differentiate various classes, SVM creates a hyperplane in multidimensional space. SVM iteratively generates the best hyperplane, which is then utilised to minimise an error. The goal of SVM is to find a maximum marginal hyperplane (MMH) that splits a dataset into classes as evenly as possible. A hyperplane is a decision plane that divides a group of items that belong to various classes. A margin is the distance between the two lines on the class points that are closest to each other.

# 3.5 Random Forest (RF)

Random Forest is a classifier that combines a number of decision trees on different subsets of a dataset and averages the results to increase the dataset's predicted accuracy. Instead than relying on a single decision tree, the random forest collects the forecasts from each tree and predicts the final output based on the majority votes of predictions. The bigger the number of trees in the forest, the more accurate it is and the problem of overfitting is avoided. The random forest is formed in two phases: the first is to combine N decision trees to build the random forest, and the second is to make predictions for each tree created in the first phase.

# 3.6 XGBoost Classifier

The eXtreme Gradient Boosting (XGBoost) technique is a more advanced version of the gradient boosting algorithm. The eXtreme Gradient Boosting (XGBoost) technique is a more advanced version of the gradient boosting algorithm. XGBoost is a sophisticated machine learning algorithm that excels in terms of speed and accuracy. While implementing an XGBoost model, we must take into account many parameters and their values. To increase and completely use the advantages of the XGBoost model over competing methods, parameter adjustment is required.

# 4 Experimental Study and Results Discussion

The implementation work for the depression detection challenge is described in this section. The dataset and data acquisition procedure are explained in Section 4.1. The division of data for training and testing purposes is briefly explained in Section 4.2. Section 4.3 describes the results attained from the models.

#### 4.1 Dataset

The CodaLa dataset contains social media postings in English, the system is required classify the signs of depression into three labels namely "not depressed", "moderately depressed", and "severely depressed". The dataset collected from codaLabs consists of 8891 texts which were also included labels. Figure 2 shows the sample data set with class moderate, severe and no depression.

PID	Text_data	Label
train_pid_1	Waiting for my mind to have a breakdown once the "New Year" feelin	moderate
train_pid_626	Goodbye : [removed]	not depression
train_pid_889	With each passing day my depression is getting worse and worse, I o	severe

Figure 2: Sample Dataset with labels and Text Value

#### 4.2 Data Splitting For training and testing

The complete dataset is split into two sets: a training set and a test set, which are used to train and evaluate the model. This method can also be used to assess the overall performance of the model during training and validation. The shape of training set was (8891,1500) and the shape of testing set was (3245,1500).

#### 4.3 Discussion

XGBoost outperforms the other methods used with an accuracy of 64.3%, F1 score 0.54, recall of 0.64 and precision of 0.52. Random forest attained an accuracy of 56.4%, F1 score 0.55, recall of 0.56 and precision of 0.56 which performs less when compared with XGBoost with respect to accuracy. SVM which was also implemented attained an accuracy of 56.7%, F1 score 0.55, recall of 0.56 and precision of 0.55. Based on the results obtained the depression prediction of the three class data of SVM, Random Forest and XGBoost is shown in Table 1. Learning accuracy like Recall, Precision, F1-Score of the three class classification using Random Forest, SVM and XGBoost is given in table 1.

# 5 Conclusion

Early detection and treatment of depressive symptom improves a person's chances of controlling depression and reducing its harmful effects on their well-being, health, and social–economic life. The dataset comprises a text data set for categorising depression into three categories: moderate, severe, and not depressed. Machine learning algorithms are used to classify the text data for identifying the depression data. Using SVM and Random Forest classifiers resulted in an accuracy of 0.55 and 0.43. The highest classification accuracy of 0.60 was achieved XGBoost classifier.

#### References

Ahmet Emre Aladb, Serra Muderrisoglu, Naz Berfu Akbas, Oguzhan Zahmacioglu, and H. Bingol. 2018. Detecting suicidal ideation on forums: Proof-of-
	Accuracy	Macro F1-score	Macro Recall	Macro Precision	Weighted F1-score	Weighted Recall	Weighted Precision
XGBoost	0.6434	0.29954	0.337	0.3664	0.5457	0.643	0.525
Random Forest	0.564	0.36	0.37	0.40717	0.556	0.564	0.562
SVM	0.567	0.357	0.358	0.4136	0.5516	0.567	0.5528

Table 1: Learning accuracy of the three class classification using Random Forest, SVM and XGBoost

concept study. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 20.

- Yizhuo Dong and Xinyu Yang. 2021. A hierarchical depression detection model based on vocal and emotional cues. *Neurocomputing*, 441:279–290.
- Ahmed Husseini Orabi, Prasadith Buddhitha, Mahmoud Husseini Orabi, and Diana Inkpen. 2018. Deep learning for depression detection of Twitter users. In Proceedings of the Fifth Workshop on Computational Linguistics and Clinical Psychology: From Keyboard to Clinic, pages 88–97, New Orleans, LA. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Ayodeji Ibitoye, Ranti Famutimi, Odunayo Dauda, and Akioyamen Ehisuoria. 2021. User centric social opinion and clinical behavioural model for depression detection. *International Journal of Intelligent Information Systems*, 10:69–73.
- Jina Kim, Daeun Lee, and Eunil Park. 2021. Machine learning for mental health in social media: Bibliometric study. *J Med Internet Res*, 23(3):e24870.
- Puneet Mathur, Ramit Sawhney, Shivang Chopra, Maitree Leekha, and Rajiv Ratn Shah. 2020. Utilizing temporal psycholinguistic cues for suicidal intent estimation. In *Advances in Information Retrieval*, pages 265–271, Cham. Springer International Publishing.
- Kayalvizhi S and Thenmozhi D. 2022. Data set creation and empirical analysis for detecting signs of depression from social media postings. *CoRR*, abs/2202.03047.
- Kayalvizhi Sampath, Thenmozhi Durairaj, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, and booktitle = Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion month = May year = Mahibha C, Jerin ". Findings of the shared task on Detecting Signs of Depression from Social Media.

# IDIAP Submission@LT-EDI-ACL2022 : Hope Speech Detection for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion

Muskaan Singh, Petr Motlicek IDIAP Research Institute, Martigny, Swizerland (msingh, petr.motlicek)@idiap.ch

### Abstract

Social media platforms have been provoking masses of people. The individual comments affect a prevalent way of thinking by moving away from preoccupation with discrimination, loneliness, or influence in building confidence, support, and good qualities. This paper aims to identify hope in these social media posts. Hope significantly impacts the well-being of people, as suggested by health professionals. It reflects the belief to achieve an objective, discovers a new path, or become motivated to formulate pathways. In this paper we classify given a social media post, hope speech or not hope speech, using ensembled voting of BERT, ERNIE 2.0 and RoBERTa for English language with 0.54 macro F1-score ( $2^{st}$  rank). For non-English languages Malayalam, Spanish and Tamil we utilized XLM RoBERTA with 0.50, 0.81, 0.3 macro F1 score  $(1^{st}, 1^{st}, 3^{rd})$ rank) respectively. For Kannada, we use Multilingual BERT with 0.32 F1 score( $5^{th}$ )position. We release our code-base here https: //github.com/Muskaan-Singh/ Hate-Speech-detection.git

## 1 Introduction and Related Work

Hope plays a significant role in well-being, (Milk, 1997), recuperation, and restoration of human life by health professionals. Hope provides a belief for an individual to discover and utilize their pathways (Chang, 1998). It gives the problem-solving ability and coping with various challenges to one objective (Snyder et al., 1991; Cover, 2013; Youssef and Luthans, 2007). In this work, we aim to identify this hope through social media comments by individuals as these comments promote confidence, support, good qualities, shifting the vision of thinking from preoccupation with discrimination or loneliness. Social media has influenced hate-related crimes or spread hatred. Social media platforms such as Facebook, YouTube, Twitter are working tirelessly to detect and bring down such hateful

content from their platforms. Since hate content must not be confused with Freedom of speech and expression, thus it becomes quite challenging to reduce the number of false positives.

Earlier attempts for hope speech detection, in LT-EDI-2021 workshop (Huang and Bai, 2021) involves best-performing model uses a combination of XLM and RoBERTa, XLM-RoBERTa language model (Conneau et al., 2019a). It also addressed non-English language comments by using TF-IDF to filter out the error due to multilingualism and code-mixing after extracting the weighted output of the final layer of the XLM-RoBERTa model. Another attempt by (Gundapu and Mamidi, 2021) with language identification model to detect non-English hope speech. The classification architecture presented a transformer-based ensembled architecture consisting of a BERT pre-trained model and a language identification model. Further (Rajput et al., 2021), presented a simple classification model which initially created the static BERT (Devlin et al., 2018) embeddings matrix of the data to extract the contextual information of the data and then experimented with various Deep Neural Networks (DNN) to train a binary classifier. Motivated from the last year's best performing submission in LT-EDI-2021 using the transformers, we ensemble various transformers and utilize the predicted labels with voting.

#### 2 Shared Task Description

The shared task comprised of Hope Speech Detection for Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion (HopeEDI) (Chakravarthi, 2020; Chakravarthi and Muralidaran, 2021). We are provided with social media comments for English, Kannada, Malayalam, Spanish and Tamil languages. We participated in all languages. The dataset consists of annotation with *Hope Speech*, *Not Hope Speech* for training development sets, respectively. We have reported the dataset statistics in detail in Table3.

350

	Language-wise distribution (Train + Dev)							
Label	English	Kannada	Malayalam	Spanish	Tamil			
Hope Speech	2234	1909	1858	660	7084			
Not Hope Speech	23347	3649	6989	660	8870			

Table 1: Data distribution for the HopeEDI database.

Comment	Label
all lives matter .without that we never have peace so to me forever all lives matter.	Hope Speech
Only one race the Human Race	Hope Speech
She saves lives with her music.	Not Hope Speech
Police are already killing people	Not Hope Speech

Table 2: Examples for Hope Speech, Not Hope Speech in the HopeEDI dataset.

Table 3: Dataset Statistics for training, development and test sets for English, Kannada, Malayalam, Spanish and Tamil

	Train	Dev	Test
English	22739	2840	388
Kannada	4939	617	617
Malayalam	7872	973	1070
Spanish	990	330	330
Tamil	14198	1754	1760

We also did report the hope speech and not speech labels data distribution for all the languages in Table 1. Some examples for the hope speech and not hope speech comments are presented in Table 10. Baseline code with machine learning algorithms (Multinomial Naive Bayes, SVM, KNN, Logistic Regression, and Decision trees) are also provided to the participants.

# **3** System Description

In this section, we provide a detailed explanation of our system submission. In this paper, we have proposed a pipeline architecture with data pre-processing Section: 3.1, feature extraction in Section: 3.2 and proposed ensembled voting model in Section:3.3.

# 3.1 Data Pre-processing

Social media comments are usually unstructured data with special characters. We apply preliminary pre-processing removed stopwords, emoji, and punctuation removal with NLTK library (Loper and Bird, 2002).

# 3.2 Feature Extraction

We tokenize all the sentences and map the tokens to their word IDs to extract features. For every sentence in the dataset, we follow a series of steps (i) tokenize the sentences (ii) prepend the [CLS] token to the start (iii) append the [SEP] token to the end (iv) map the token to their IDs (v) pad or truncate the sentenced to max length (vi) mapping of attention masks for [PAD] tokens. We padded and truncated the max\_length=30. The generated sequence sentences are passed for encoding with its attention mask (differentiating padding from non-padding).

# 3.3 Proposed Methodology

For English language, we formulate an ensembled voting classifier with BERT (Devlin et al., 2018), RoBERTa (Liu et al., 2019) and ERNIE (Sun et al., 2020). Firstly, we began encoding comments with specific pre-trained embeddings for formulating the matrix.

# 3.3.1 BERT

Bidirectional Encoder Representations from Transformers (BERT) involves pre-training deep bi-directional transformers for language understanding. It utilizes unlabeled text by jointly training the left and proper context in all layers. BERT takes input as a concatenation of two segments (sequences of tokens), $x_1$ , ...,  $x_N$  and  $y_1$ , ...,  $y_M$ . Segments usually consist of more than one natural sentence. The two segments are presented as a single input sequence to BERT with special tokens delimiting them:  $[CLS], x_1, ..., x_N, [SEP], y_1, ..., y_M, [EOS]$ . M and N are constrained such that M + N < T, where T is a parameter that controls the maximum



Figure 1: Proposed Methodology for Hope Speech Detection

sequence length during training. Fine-tuning of the pre-trained model can be easily handled by adding the output layer to create state-of-art models for various NLP tasks without substantial task-specific architecture modification.

### 3.3.2 RoBERTa

Robustly Optimized BERT approach has emphasized data being used for pre-training and the number of passes for training. The BERT model is optimized with dynamic masking, more extended training with big batches over more data, removing the next prediction objective, and dynamically changing masking patterns for training data. The model achieved state-of-art results on GLUE, RACE, and SQuAD without multi-task finetuning for GLUE or additional data for SQuAD.

# 3.3.3 ERNIE 2.0

ERNIE 2.0 is another continual pre-training framework that efficiently supports customized training tasks in multi-task learning incrementally. The pre-trained model is finetuned to adapt to various language understanding tasks. The framework has demonstrated significant improvement over BERT and XLNET on approximately 16 tasks, including GLUE.

Further, due to limited models for multilingual, we restricted our experiment for Malayalam, Spanish and Tamil languages to XLM ROBERTA (Conneau et al., 2019b). It significantly aims at crosslingual transfer tasks for pre-trained multilingual language models. The model performs exceptionally well on low resource languages at a scale. The empirical analysis presents positive transfer and capacity delusion. Further, the model also allows multilingual modeling without sacrificing per-language performance. It has shown competitive results with strong monolingual models on GLUE.

For Kannada, we utilize Multilingual BERT (M-BERT) (Pires et al., 2019), released by Devlin et al. (2019). It is a language model trained with monolingual corpora in 104 languages. It reports exceptional results on zero-shot cross-lingual model transfer. Task-specific annotations for a language are used to finetune evaluation on others—the multilingual representation exhibits systematic deficiencies affecting some language pairs.

#### 3.3.4 Experimental Setup

We use V1 100 GPU with 53GB RAM alongside 8 CPU cores for the experimental setup. We divide the entire dataset with a 90:10 train and validation split of eight batches, with a learning rate (1e-5) and Adam optimizer (Kingma and Ba, 2014) with epsilon (1e-8). We feed a seed\_val of 42. For calculating the training loss over all the batches, we use gradient descents (Andrychowicz et al., 2016) with clipping the norm to 1.0 to avoid exploding gradient problem.

#### 3.4 Comparative Approaches explored

We explore a couple of other methods as presented in Table: 11 and 9 for system submission for detecting hope and not-hope speech from social media comments. We experimented with ERNIE 2.0, RoBERTa, XLNET, and BERT and ensembled bestperforming approaches i.e., BERT, ERNIE 2.0, and RoBERTa. The results depict ensemble results are outperforming all other experimented models for English. While for Tamil, Malayalam, and Spanish, we see XLR-RoBERTa performs exceptionally bet-

	Precision		R	ecall	F1-Score		
Model	Marco	Weighted	Macro	Weighted	Macro	Weighted	
Top performing	0.56	0.87	0.54	0.89	0.55	0.88	
Proposed model	0.55	0.87	0.54	0.88	0.54	0.87	
Average score	0.47	0.85	0.46	0.80	0.43	0.80	

Table 4: Comparison with the top-performing model results for English

	Precision		R	ecall	F1-Score	
Model	Macro	Weighted	Macro	Weighted	Macro	Weighted
Top performing	0.30	0.39	0.34	0.46	0.32	0.42
Proposed model	0.29	0.38	0.33	0.44	0.30	0.40
Average score	0.28	0.375	0.33	0.438	0.303	0.39

Table 5: Comparison with the top-performing model results for Tamil

	Precision		R	ecall	F1-Score	
Model	Macro	Weighted	Macro	Weighted	Macro	Weighted
Proposed model	0.64	0.76	0.53	0.79	0.50	0.75
Average score	0.45	0.67	0.45	0.73	0.44	0.69

Table 6: Comparison with the top-performing model results for Malayalam

	Precision		R	ecall	F1-Score	
Model	Macro	Weighted	Macro	Weighted	Macro	Weighted
Proposed model	0.81	0.81	0.81	0.81	0.81	0.81
Average score	0.79	0.79	0.79	0.79	0.79	0.79

Table 7: Comparison with the top-performing model results for Spanish

	Precision		R	ecall	F1-Score	
Model	Macro	Weighted	Macro	Weighted	Macro	Weighted
Top performing	0.49	0.74	0.48	0.76	0.48	0.75
Proposed model	0.31	0.53	0.32	0.54	0.32	0.54
Average score	0.41	0.65	0.41	0.64	0.40	0.64

Table 8: Comparison with the top-performing model results for Kannada

	Tami	l		Mala	yalam		Spani	ish		Kann	ada	
	Р	R	F1	Р	R	F1	Р	R	F1	Р	R	F1
M-BERT	0.64	0.61	0.60	0.72	0.62	0.64	0.75	0.75	0.75	0.72	0.70	0.71
XLM-R	0.65	0.63	0.63	0.76	0.63	0.66	0.82	0.81	0.81	0.70	0.69	0.69

Table 9: Comparative approaches explored for the system submission to classify hate and non-hate speech for Tamil, Malayalam, Spanish and Kannada

Comment	Predicted Label
9.20 To never give hope - to never give up ! She said it with conviction .	Hope Speech
how can you disrespect your own body? It is YOURS!	Not Hope Speech
Maddona saved my Soul in 1999	Not Hope Speech

Table 10: Qualitative Results for Hope Speech, Not Hope Speech

	P	R	F1
ERNIE 2.0	0.8	0.73	0.76
BERT	0.81	0.7	0.75
RoBERTa	0.8	0.71	0.75
XLNET	0.8	0.72	0.74
Ensemble	0.81	0.72	0.76

Table 11: We explored comparative analysis for the system submission to classify hate and non-hate speech for the English language. In the ensemble approach, we choose the best of all the models (ERNIE+BERT+RoBERTa).

ter than M-BERT. For Kannada, M-BERT performs distinctly well.

### 4 Results and Analysis

We evaluate our model quantitatively and qualitatively for the HopeEDI dataset. The classification report for our proposed model with average and best submission among all the teams is reported in Table: 8. The proposed model has shown progressive results with 0.55, 0.54, 0.54 F1 for English, Tamil, Malayalam, Kannada, Spanish on the leaderboardhttps://competitions.codalab.org/competitions/36393#learn\_the\_details-result\_with  $(2^{st}, 1^{st}, 1^{st}, 3^{rd}, 5^{th})$  rank respectively.

- For the English language, 0.55, 0.54, 0.54 are the reported precision, Recall, and F1-score, which is relatively 0.08, 0.08, 0.11 more than the average and 0.01, 0, 0.01 less for best-performing submission, respectively.
- For the Tamil language, 0.29, 0.33, 0.30 are the reported precision, Recall, and F1-score, which is relatively 0.01, 0, 0.003 more than the average and 0.01, 0.01, 0.02 less for bestperforming submission, respectively.
- For the Malayalam language, 0.64, 0.53, and 0.50 are the reported precision, Recall, and F1-score, relative, 0.19, 0.08, and 0.06 more than the average. As we were the best-performing submission, we did not report the scores and differences from our submission.
- For the Spanish language, 0.81, 0.81, and 0.81 are the reported precision, Recall, and F1-score, relative, 0.02, 0.02, and 0.02 more than the average. As we were the best-performing submission, we did not report the scores and differences from our submission.

• For the Kannada language, 0.31, 0.32, 0.32 are the reported precision, Recall, and F1-score, which is relatively 0.01, 0.09, 0.08 less than the average, and 0.18, 0.16, 0.16 less for bestperforming submission, respectively.

Additionally, we also evaluate our prediction results qualitatively in Table 10. The results display useful predictions; for hope speech, see Instance 1, "never give up hope," portrays a sense of hope in the person writing it. While for non-hope speech, the terms "how can you disrespect your own body? It is YOURS." show that the model focuses on the negative expressions and can successfully understand the context of the statement. The last example we have presented, "Maddona saved my Soul in 1999," is classified as non-hope speech, which indicates that the model fails to understand the context of the entire statement and focuses more on the sentiments of the words. As it is clearly understood, the person who wrote this got a sense of hope from Maddona; this statement can be classified as a hope speech. However, the model has predicted it as not hope speech, which is a false positive case.

# 5 Conclusion

In this paper, we classify given a social media post, hope speech or not hope speech, using ensembled voting of BERT, ERNIE 2.0, and RoBERTa for the English language with 0.54 macro F1-score (2<sup>st</sup> rank). For non-English languages Malayalam, Spanish and Tamil we utilized XLM RoBERTA with 0.50, 0.81, 0.3 macro F1 score  $(1^{st}, 1^{st}, 3^{rd})$ rank) respectively. For Kannada, we use Multilingual BERT with 0.32 F1 score( $5^{th}$ )position. We also performed a qualitative analysis. The system performs quite well to recognize the comments for hope speech; In the future, we intend to work on a multi-task learning framework to handle all kinds of hate speech (aggression, misogyny, racism). We also aim to detect multilingual hope speech in the code-mixing scenarios.

# Acknowledgements

This work was supported by the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation program under grant agreement No. 833635 (project ROX-ANNE: Real-time network, text, and speaker analytics for combating organized crime, 2019-2022).

#### References

- Marcin Andrychowicz, Misha Denil, Sergio Gomez, Matthew W Hoffman, David Pfau, Tom Schaul, Brendan Shillingford, and Nando De Freitas. 2016. Learning to learn by gradient descent by gradient descent. *Advances in neural information processing systems*, 29.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi. 2020. HopeEDI: A multilingual hope speech detection dataset for equality, diversity, and inclusion. In *Proceedings of the Third Workshop on Computational Modeling of People's Opinions, Personality, and Emotion's in Social Media*, pages 41–53, Barcelona, Spain (Online). Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi and Vigneshwaran Muralidaran. 2021. Findings of the shared task on hope speech detection for equality, diversity, and inclusion. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, pages 61–72, Kyiv. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Edward C Chang. 1998. Hope, problem-solving ability, and coping in a college student population: Some implications for theory and practice. *Journal of clinical psychology*, 54(7):953–962.
- Alexis Conneau, Kartikay Khandelwal, Naman Goyal, Vishrav Chaudhary, Guillaume Wenzek, Francisco Guzmán, Edouard Grave, Myle Ott, Luke Zettlemoyer, and Veselin Stoyanov. 2019a. Unsupervised cross-lingual representation learning at scale. *CoRR*, abs/1911.02116.
- Alexis Conneau, Kartikay Khandelwal, Naman Goyal, Vishrav Chaudhary, Guillaume Wenzek, Francisco Guzmán, Edouard Grave, Myle Ott, Luke Zettlemoyer, and Veselin Stoyanov. 2019b. Unsupervised cross-lingual representation learning at scale. arXiv preprint arXiv:1911.02116.
- Rob Cover. 2013. Queer youth resilience: Critiquing the discourse of hope and hopelessness in lgbt suicide representation. *M/C Journal*, 16(5).
- Jacob Devlin, Ming-Wei Chang, Kenton Lee, and Kristina Toutanova. 2018. Bert: Pre-training of deep bidirectional transformers for language understanding. arXiv preprint arXiv:1810.04805.
- Sunil Gundapu and Radhika Mamidi. 2021. Autobots@LT-EDI-EACL2021: One world, one family: Hope speech detection with BERT transformer model. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, pages 143–148, Kyiv. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bo Huang and Yang Bai. 2021. Team hub@LT-EDI-EACL2021: Hope speech detection based on pretrained language model. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, pages 122–127, Kyiv. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Diederik P Kingma and Jimmy Ba. 2014. Adam: A method for stochastic optimization. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1412.6980*.
- Yinhan Liu, Myle Ott, Naman Goyal, Jingfei Du, Mandar Joshi, Danqi Chen, Omer Levy, Mike Lewis, Luke Zettlemoyer, and Veselin Stoyanov. 2019. Roberta: A robustly optimized bert pretraining approach. arXiv preprint arXiv:1907.11692.
- Edward Loper and Steven Bird. 2002. Nltk: The natural language toolkit. *arXiv preprint cs/0205028*.
- Harvey Milk. 1997. The hope speech. We are everywhere: A historical sourcebook of gay and lesbian politics, pages 51–53.
- Telmo Pires, Eva Schlinger, and Dan Garrette. 2019. How multilingual is multilingual bert? *arXiv preprint arXiv:1906.01502.*
- Gaurav Rajput, Narinder Singh Punn, Sanjay Kumar Sonbhadra, and Sonali Agarwal. 2021. Hate speech detection using static bert embeddings. In *Big Data Analytics: 9th International Conference, BDA 2021, Virtual Event, December 15-18, 2021, Proceedings,* page 67–77, Berlin, Heidelberg. Springer-Verlag.
- CR Snyder, Ch Harris, JR Anderson, and SA Holleran. 1991. Irving. *LM*, *Sigmon*, *ST*, *Yoshinobu*, *L.*, *Gibb*, *J.*, *Langelle*, *C.*, & *Harney*, *P*, pages 570–585.
- Yu Sun, Shuohuan Wang, Yukun Li, Shikun Feng, Hao Tian, Hua Wu, and Haifeng Wang. 2020. Ernie 2.0: A continual pre-training framework for language understanding. In *Proceedings of the AAAI Conference on Artificial Intelligence*, volume 34, pages 8968–8975.
- Carolyn M Youssef and Fred Luthans. 2007. Positive organizational behavior in the workplace: The impact of hope, optimism, and resilience. *Journal of management*, 33(5):774–800.

# IDIAP Submission@LT-EDI-ACL2022: Homophobia/Transphobia Detection in social media comments

Muskaan Singh, Petr Motlicek IDIAP Research Institute, Martigny, Swizerland (msingh, petr.motlicek)@idiap.ch

### Abstract

The increased expansion of abusive content on social media platforms negatively affects online users. Transphobic/homophobic content indicates hatred comments for lesbian, gay, transgender, or bisexual people. It leads to offensive speech and causes severe social problems that can make online platforms toxic and unpleasant to LGBT+people, endeavoring to eliminate equality, diversity, and inclusion. In this paper, we present our classification system; given comments, it predicts whether or not it contains any form of homophobia/transphobia with a Zero-Shot learning framework. Our system submission achieved 0.40, 0.85, 0.89 F1-score for Tamil and Tamil-English, English with  $(1^{st},$  $1^{st}, 8^{th}$ ) ranks respectively. We release our codebase here  $^{1}$ .

#### 1 Introduction and Related Work

Homophobic/Transphobic (Diefendorf and Bridges, 2020; Giametta and Havkin, 2021) content on social media intends to harm Lesbian, Gay, Bi-sexual (LGB) (with labels such as 'fag', 'homo' or denigrating phrases such as 'don't be a homo,' 'that's so gay') (Szymanski et al., 2008; Poteat and Rivers, 2010; Graham et al., 2011; Fraïssé and Barrientos, 2016).

It is a type of abuse that involves physical violence such as killing, maiming, beating, or explicit sexual violence such as rape, molestation, penetration, or an invasion of privacy by disclosing personal information.

Some of the example phrases include "Gays deserve to be shot dead," "Someone should rape that lesbo to turn her into straight," "Gays should be stoned," "You lesbos, I know where you live, I will visit you tonight," "beat the fag out of him," "You should kill yourself". Social media has provided the freedom to express their views and thoughts on anything (Gkotsis et al., 2016; Wang et al., 2019), leading to unpleasant things on the internet (Zampieri et al., 2019).

Online offensive language has been identified as a worldwide phenomenon diffused throughout social media platforms such as Facebook, YouTube, and Twitter during the last decade (Gao et al., 2020).

It is even more distressing for Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender, and other (LGBT+) vulnerable individuals (Díaz-Torres et al., 2020). Because of who they love, how they appear, or who they are, LGBT+ people all across the globe are subjected to violence and inequity, as well as torture and even execution (Barrientos et al., 2010; Schneider and Dimito, 2010). Sexual orientation and gender identity are essential components of our identities that should never be discriminated against or abused (Thurlow, 2001). However, in many countries, being identified as LGBT+ will cost lives, so the vulnerable individual goes to social media to get support or share their stories to find similar people (Adkins et al., 2018; Han et al., 2019). Identifying such information from social media would eliminate the severe societal problem and prevent formulating online platforms toxic unpleasant to LGBT+ people while also attempting to eliminate equality, diversity, and inclusion.

There are many rules and regulations to protect LGB persons, but they omit protection based on gender identity or expression or transgender adolescent experiences (McGuire et al., 2010; Hatchel et al., 2019).

Lack of annotated data has restrained the research on homophobic and transphobic detection. (Wu and Hsieh, 2017) find the linguistic behavior in LGBT+ for the Chinese language. The research experiments present the traditional system's failure for complex dimensions to detect the gender from the text. (Ljubešić et al., 2020) curated lexicons in

Ihttps://github.com/Muskaan-Singh/ Homophobia-and-Transphobia-ACL-Submission. git

Table 1: Dataset Statics for training, development and test sets for English, Tamil and Tamil-English

	Train	Dev	Test
English	3164	792	990
Tamil	2662	666	833
Tamil-English	3861	966	1207

Croatian, Dutch, and Slovene for emotions. Further, the lexicons map the social text for migrants and LGBT+.

# 2 Shared Task Description

In the shared task, participants are provided with comments extracted from social media<sup>2</sup>. The challenge was to predict whether or not it contains any form of homophobia/transphobia detection. The participants are provided with a seed data (Chakravarthi et al., 2021), sampled as in Table: 1 respectively. The comments are manually annotated to show whether the text contains homophobia/transphobia. We also did reports data distribution across Non-anti-LGBT+ content, Homophobic, Transphobic, for all the languages in Table 2. Some examples for the Non-anti-LGBT+ content, Homophobic, Transphobic comments are presented in Table 3. In addition, it also provided a baseline code with machine learning algorithms (Multinomial Naive Bayes, SVM, KNN, Logistic Regression, and Decision trees).

# **3** Proposed Methodology

This section presents the proposed methodology for classifying Non-anti-LGBT+ content, Homophobic, and Transphobic content from social media posts. Initially, we preprocess the comments for special characters, stopwords, emojis, and punctuation removal using NLTK library (Loper and Bird, 2002). Further, we extract the features, tokenize all the sentences and map the tokens to their word IDs. For every sentence in the dataset, we follow a series of steps (i) tokenize the sentences (ii) prepend the [CLS] token to the start (iii) append the [SEP] token to the end (iv) map the token to their IDs (v) pad or truncate the sentenced to max length (vi) mapping of attention masks for [PAD] tokens. We padded and truncated the max\_length=30. The generated sequence sentences are passed for encoding with its attention mask (simply differentiating padding from non-padding). Afterward, we feed these embeddings for pretraining the XLM ROBERTA (Conneau et al., 2019). It significantly aims at cross-lingual transfer tasks for pre-trained multilingual language models. The model performs exceptionally well on low resource languages at a scale. The empirical analysis presents positive transfer and capacity delusion. Further, the model also allows multilingual modeling without sacrificing per-language performance. It has shown competitive results with strong monolingual models on GLUE. After the pretraining, we fine-tune the model in the English language, and finally, we test on Tamil and Tamil-English languages.

#### 3.0.1 Experimental Setup

We use V1 100 GPU with 53GB RAM alongside 8 CPU cores for the experimental setup. We divide the entire dataset in 90:10 for train and validation of 8 batches, with learning rate (1e-5) and Adam optimizer (Kingma and Ba, 2014) with epsilon (1e-8). We feed a seed\_val of 42. For calculating the training loss over all the batches, we use gradient descents (Ruder, 2016) with clipping the norm to 1.0 to avoid exploding gradient problem.

# 4 Results

We test our model for the dataset (Chakravarthi et al., 2021). The classification report for our proposed and the top-performing model over the test set can be seen in Table 7. The proposed model has proved itself remarkable by achieving 0.40, 0.85, 0.89 F-score with 1<sup>st</sup>, 1<sup>st</sup>, 8<sup>th</sup> rank for Tamil and Tamil-English, English respectively on the leaderboardhttps://competitions. codalab.org/competitions/36394# learn\_the\_details-results. We also report, analysis of our results in Table: 6 corresponding to Non-anti-LGBT+ content, Homophobic, Transphobic labels.

- For the English language, 0.94, 0.54 are the reported precision, and recall, which is relatively 0.01, 0.03 more than the average and 0.01, and 0.04 less than the best performing model respectively. The reported F1-Score is 0.40 of our proposed model which is 0.03 less than the average, and 0.21 less than the best-performing.
- For the Tamil language, 0.94, 0.88, and 0.85 are the reported Precision, Recall, and F1-score, relative, 0.09, 0.18, and 0.18 more than

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>https://sites.google.com/view/ lt-edi-2022



Figure 1: We predicted the labels using fine tuned XLM RoBERTa XLNI model.

	Language-wise distribution (Train + Dev)							
Label	English	Tamil	English Tamil					
Non-anti-LGBT+ content	3733	2548	4300					
Homophobic	215	588	377					
Transphobic	8	192	150					

Table 2: Data distribution for the Homophobia/Transphobia Detection in social media comments database.

Comment	Label
I support her, very smart ponnu	Non-anti-LGBT+ content
Stupid film there is no gays in the world these are all their imagine only	Homophobic
Hey seriously I thought She was a Transgender	Transphobic

Table 3: Examples for Non-anti-LGBT+ content, Homophobic, Transphobic in the Homophobia/Transphobia Detection in social media comments dataset.

	Precision		R	ecall	F1-Score		
Model	Macro	Weighted	Macro	Weighted	Macro	Weighted	
Proposed model	0.94	0.94	0.88	0.94	0.85	0.94	
Average score	0.85	0.84	0.70	0.85	0.67	0.85	

Table 4: Comparison with the top-performing model results for Tamil.

	Precision		R	ecall	F1-Score		
Model	Macro	Weighted	Macro	Weighted	Macro	Weighted	
Proposed model	0.63	0.89	0.60	0.89	0.61	0.89	
Average score	0.54	0.87	0.52	0.87	0.51	0.86	

Table 5: Comparison with the top-performing model results for Tamil-English.

Table 6: Prediction for Non-anti-LGBT+ content, Homophobic, Transphobic in the Homophobia/Transphobia Detection in social media comments dataset

	Comment						Label		
Bes	st movie and people	not under	rstand relatio	nship feel	ing I miss	Non-anti-I	LGBT+ content		
my	life								
gay	v culture does not su	it the Indi	an culture. tl	nat's it.		Non-anti-LGBT+ content			
Hormonal and psychological problem!!! Nothing more nothing									
less	s !!!								
Don't bring nature here and make it dirty !!! Homophobic							bic		
Thi	s is even among ani	mals and n	nany other sp	ecies. Wh	at country				
are	you talking abt.								
Just	t foolish!					Homopho	bic		
		Pre	ecision	R	ecall	F1	-Score		
	Model	Model Macro Weighted Macro Weighted Macro Weigh							
-	Top performing	0.95	0.94	0.58	0.95	0.61	0.94		
	Proposed model	0.94	0.92	0.54	0.94	0.40	0.92		
	Average score	0.93	0.92	0.51	0.93	0.43	0.92		

Table 7: Comparison with the top-performing model results for English.

the average. As we were the best-performing submission, we did not report the scores and differences from our submission.

• For the Tamil English language, 0.63, 0.60, and 0.61 are the reported Precision, Recall, and F1-score, relative, 0.09, 0.08, and 0.10 more than the average. As we were the bestperforming submission, we did not report the scores and differences from our submission.

The qualitative analysis predicted results are in Table 6. The true instances, "Best movie and people not understand relationship feeling I miss my life" and "This is even among animals and many other species. What country are you talking abt.Just foolish!" are labeled as Non-anti-LGBT+content and Homophobic, respectively. Unlike the other instances, these statements have precise negative/positive phrases that can help detect the sentiments. While the cases, "gay culture does not suit the Indian culture. that's it." labeled as Non-anti-LGBT+content, but it is a homophobic comment on reading the sentence. It indicates that the model focused more on words such as "gay" and "suit" rather than the entire meaning of the statement. "Hormonal and psychological problem!!! Nothing more nothing less !!!

Don't bring nature here and make it dirty !!! " instance is labeled as homophobic, but in our opinion, it is supporting the cause. It signifies that the model is more focused on the negative sentiments such as "fool" and "animals" rather than understanding the entire context of the comment.

# 5 Conclusion

In this paper, we present our classification system; given comments, it predicts whether or not it contains any form of homophobia/transphobia with a zero-shot learning framework. Our system submission achieved 0.40, 0.85, 0.89 F1-score for Tamil and Tamil-English, English with  $(1^{st},$  $1^{st}, 8^{th}$ ) ranks respectively. We also performed a qualitative analysis. The system performs precisely on negative/positive phrases such as "fool" and "animals" rather than understanding the entire context of the comment. We intend to work on a multi-task learning framework to handle different kinds of homophobic/transphobic by capturing context in the future. We also aim to detect multilingual homophobic/transphobic comments in the code-mixing scenarios.

# Acknowledgements

This work was supported by the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation program under grant agreement No. 833635 (project ROX-ANNE: Real-time network, text, and speaker analytics for combating organized crime, 2019-2022).

#### References

- Victoria Adkins, Ellie Masters, Daniel Shumer, and Ellen Selkie. 2018. Exploring transgender adolescents' use of social media for support and health information seeking. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 62(2):S44.
- Jaime Barrientos, Jimena Silva, Susan Catalán, Fabiola Gómez, and Jimena Longueira. 2010. Discrimination and victimization: parade for lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender (lgbt) pride, in chile. *Journal of homosexuality*, 57(6):760–775.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Rahul Ponnusamy, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, Kayalvizhi Sampath, Durairaj Thenmozhi, Sathiyaraj Thangasamy, Rajendran Nallathambi, and John Phillip McCrae. 2021. Dataset for identification of homophobia and transophobia in multilingual youtube comments. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2109.00227*.
- Alexis Conneau, Kartikay Khandelwal, Naman Goyal, Vishrav Chaudhary, Guillaume Wenzek, Francisco Guzmán, Edouard Grave, Myle Ott, Luke Zettlemoyer, and Veselin Stoyanov. 2019. Unsupervised cross-lingual representation learning at scale. arXiv preprint arXiv:1911.02116.
- María José Díaz-Torres, Paulina Alejandra Morán-Méndez, Luis Villasenor-Pineda, Manuel Montes, Juan Aguilera, and Luis Meneses-Lerín. 2020. Automatic detection of offensive language in social media: Defining linguistic criteria to build a mexican spanish dataset. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Trolling, Aggression and Cyberbullying*, pages 132–136.
- Sarah Diefendorf and Tristan Bridges. 2020. On the enduring relationship between masculinity and homophobia. *Sexualities*, 23(7):1264–1284.
- Christèle Fraïssé and Jaime Barrientos. 2016. The concept of homophobia: A psychosocial perspective. *Sexologies*, 25(4):e65–e69.
- Junling Gao, Pinpin Zheng, Yingnan Jia, Hao Chen, Yimeng Mao, Suhong Chen, Yi Wang, Hua Fu, and Junming Dai. 2020. Mental health problems and social media exposure during covid-19 outbreak. *Plos one*, 15(4):e0231924.
- Calogero Giametta and Shira Havkin. 2021. Mapping homo/transphobia. ACME: An International Journal for Critical Geographies, 20(1):99–119.
- George Gkotsis, Anika Oellrich, Tim Hubbard, Richard Dobson, Maria Liakata, Sumithra Velupillai, and Rina Dutta. 2016. The language of mental health problems in social media. In *Proceedings of the third workshop on computational linguistics and clinical psychology*, pages 63–73.
- Robert Graham, Bobbie Berkowitz, Robert Blum, Walter Bockting, Judith Bradford, Brian de Vries, and

Harvey Makadon. 2011. The health of lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender people: Building a foundation for better understanding. *Washington, DC: Institute of Medicine*, 10:13128.

- Xi Han, Wenting Han, Jiabin Qu, Bei Li, and Qinghua Zhu. 2019. What happens online stays online?——social media dependency, online support behavior and offline effects for lgbt. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 93:91–98.
- Tyler Hatchel, Gabriel J Merrin, Espelage, and Dorothy. 2019. Peer victimization and suicidality among lgbtq youth: The roles of school belonging, self-compassion, and parental support. *Journal of LGBT Youth*, 16(2):134–156.
- Diederik P Kingma and Jimmy Ba. 2014. Adam: A method for stochastic optimization. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1412.6980*.
- Nikola Ljubešić, Ilia Markov, Darja Fišer, and Walter Daelemans. 2020. The lilah emotion lexicon of croatian, dutch and slovene. In Proceedings of the Third Workshop on Computational Modeling of People's Opinions, Personality, and Emotion's in Social Media, pages 153–157.
- Edward Loper and Steven Bird. 2002. Nltk: The natural language toolkit. *arXiv preprint cs/0205028*.
- Jenifer K McGuire, Charles R Anderson, Russell B Toomey, and Stephen T Russell. 2010. School climate for transgender youth: A mixed method investigation of student experiences and school responses. *Journal of youth and adolescence*, 39(10):1175– 1188.
- V Paul Poteat and Ian Rivers. 2010. The use of homophobic language across bullying roles during adolescence. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 31(2):166–172.
- Sebastian Ruder. 2016. An overview of gradient descent optimization algorithms. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1609.04747*.
- Margaret S Schneider and Anne Dimito. 2010. Factors influencing the career and academic choices of lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender people. *Journal of homosexuality*, 57(10):1355–1369.
- Dawn M Szymanski, Susan Kashubeck-West, and Jill Meyer. 2008. Internalized heterosexism: A historical and theoretical overview. *The Counseling Psychologist*, 36(4):510–524.
- Crispin Thurlow. 2001. Naming the "outsider within": Homophobic pejoratives and the verbal abuse of lesbian, gay and bisexual high-school pupils. *Journal of adolescence*, 24(1):25–38.
- Yuxi Wang, Martin McKee, Aleksandra Torbica, and David Stuckler. 2019. Systematic literature review on the spread of health-related misinformation on social media. *Social science & medicine*, 240:112552.

- Hsiao-Han Wu and Shu-Kai Hsieh. 2017. Exploring lavender tongue from social media texts [in chinese].
  In Proceedings of the 29th Conference on Computational Linguistics and Speech Processing (ROCLING 2017), pages 68–80.
- Marcos Zampieri, Shervin Malmasi, Preslav Nakov, Sara Rosenthal, Noura Farra, and Ritesh Kumar. 2019. Semeval-2019 task 6: Identifying and categorizing offensive language in social media (offenseval). *arXiv preprint arXiv:1903.08983*.

# IDIAP Submission@LT-EDI-ACL2022: Detecting Signs of Depression from Social Media Text

Muskaan Singh, Petr Motlicek IDIAP Research Institute, Martigny, Swizerland (msingh, petr.motlicek)@idiap.ch

### Abstract

Depression is a common illness involving sadness and lack of interest in all day-to-day activities. It is important to detect depression at an early stage as it is treated at an early stage to avoid consequences. In this paper, we present our system submission of AR-GUABLY for DepSign-LT-EDI@ACL-2022. We aim to detect the signs of depression of a person from their social media postings wherein people share their feelings and emotions. The proposed system is an ensembled voting model with fine-tuned BERT, RoBERTa, and XLNet. Given social media postings in English, the submitted system classify the signs of depression into three labels, namely "not depressed," "moderately depressed," and "severely depressed." Our best model is ranked  $3^{rd}$  position with 0.54% accuracy . We make our codebase accessible here<sup>1</sup>.

#### 1 Introduction

Depression is a common mental illness that involves sadness and lack of interest in all day-to-day activities<sup>2</sup>. Detecting depression is essential as it has to be observed and treated at an early stage to avoid severe consequences (Evans-Lacko et al., 2018; Losada et al., 2017). Depression implies mental disorder which may cause disability (Organization et al., 2012; Whiteford et al., 2015; Vigo et al., 2016), very few people are able to receive treatment (Wang et al., 2007). It is far more difficult for the people with low socioeconomic status or people living in low economic conditions (Steele et al., 2007; Ormel et al., 2008), even adjusting for disorder severity (Mojtabai and Olfson, 2010; Andrade et al., 2014). Consequently, there is a need

Depression-Detection.git

<sup>2</sup>http://ghdx.healthdata.

org/gbd-results-tool?params=

gbd-api-2019-permalink/ d780dffbe8a381b25e1416884959e88b to detect these signs of depression early in time to avoid further repercussions. In this work, we detect the signs of depression, namely in "*not depressed*," "*moderately depressed*," and "*severely depressed*" from person's social media postings where people share their feelings and emotions.

There are dataset available for detecting depression task from social media platform such as Twitter (Leis et al., 2019; Arora and Arora, 2019; Yazdavar et al., 2020; de Jesús Titla-Tlatelpa et al., 2021; Chiong et al., 2021; Safa et al., 2021), Reddit (de Jesús Titla-Tlatelpa et al., 2021; Ríssola et al., 2019; Tadesse et al., 2019; Burdisso et al., 2019; Martínez-Castaño et al., 2020), Facebook (Chiong et al., 2021; Wongkoblap et al., 2019; Wu et al., 2020; Yang et al., 2020), Instagram (Mann et al., 2020; Ricard et al., 2018), Weibo (Li et al., 2018; Yu et al., 2021) and NHANES, K-NHANES (Oh et al., 2019). The linguistic feature extraction methods used for detecting depression signs on social media such as Word embedding (Mandelbaum and Shalev, 2016), N-grams (Cavnar et al., 1994), Tokenization (Webster and Kit, 1992), Bag of words (Zhang et al., 2010; Aho and Ullman, 1972), Stemming (Jivani et al., 2011), Emotion analysis (Leis et al., 2019; Shen et al., 2017; Chen et al., 2018), Part-of-Speech (POS) tagging (Chiong et al., 2021; Wu et al., 2020), Behavior features(Wu et al., 2020) and Sentiment polarity (Leis et al., 2019; Ríssola et al., 2019).

### 2 Related Work

There have been several attempts to use machine learning algorithms as SVM (Ríssola et al., 2019; Arora and Arora, 2019; Burdisso et al., 2019; Yang et al., 2020), Logistic regression (Ríssola et al., 2019; Chen et al., 2018; Tadesse et al., 2019; Yang et al., 2019), Neural networks (Wu et al., 2020; Liu et al., 2019), Random forests (Yang et al., 2020; Chiong et al., 2021), Bayesian statistics (Yang et al., 2020; Chen et al., 2018), Decision trees (Yang et al.,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>https://github.com/Muskaan-Singh/

Label	Train	Dev	Total
Not depressed	3801	1830	5631
Moderately depressed	8325	2306	10631
severely depressed	1261	360	1621

Table 1: Data distribution for the DepSign-LT-EDI dataset.

2020; Chiong et al., 2021), K-Nearest Neighbor (Yang et al., 2020; Burdisso et al., 2019), Linear regression (Yu et al., 2021; Ricard et al., 2018), Ensemble classifiers (Leiva and Freire, 2017; Oh et al., 2019), Multilayer Perceptron (Chiong et al., 2021; Safa et al., 2021), Boosting (Tadesse et al., 2019), K-Means (Ma et al., 2017). (Wu et al., 2020), proposed a recurrent neural network for prediction of depression from content-based, behavioral and environmental data. Further, LSTM is used for post generation for each user from the social media dataset. The public dataset available were merged with this generated dataset and fed into a deep learning classifier. (Srimadhur and Lalitha, 2020), proposed an end-to-end CNN model for detection and assessment of depression levels using speech. (de Souza Filho et al., 2021), presents best performing ML models (Random forest, K-nearest neighbors, XG Boost) for detecting depressed patients from clinical and laboratory patients of sociodemographic.

# 3 Shared Task Description

The shared task urges to detect the signs of depression of a person from the social media post where people share their feeling and emotions. Its aim is to detect speech for Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion (DepSign-LT-EDI@ACL-2022)(??). The goal was to classify the sign of depression into three labels, namely, "not depressed," "moderately depressed", and "severely depressed" for a given social media posting. The dataset (Sampath et al., 2022) contains 8891, 4496, 3245 comments for training, development, and test set, respectively, annotated with three different labels for the English language. The detailed distribution of the dataset based on labels can be seen in Table 1, and some instances for not depressed, moderately depressed, and severely depressed are presented in Table 2. The organizers have provided a baseline code using state-of-art machine learning techniques along with the dataset.

Comment	Label
Happy New Years Every-	not de-
one : We made it another	pressed
year	
Sat in the dark and cried	moderately
myself going into the new	depressed
year. Great start to 2020 :	
Words can't describe how	severely de-
bad I feel right now : I just	pressed
want to fall asleep forever.	_

Table 2: Examples for Not depressed, Moderately depressed and severely depressed DepSign EDI dataset.

#### 4 Methodology

Firstly, we pre-process the social media tweets with the basic NLTK library (Loper and Bird, 2002) for stop words removal, emojis removal, and punctuation removal. Secondly, we extract the features by tokenizing all the sentences and mapping those tokens with the word IDs. For every sentence in the dataset, we follow a series of steps (i) tokenize the sentences (ii) prepend the [CLS] token to the start (iii) append the [SEP] token to the end (iv) map the token to their IDs (v) pad or truncate the sentenced to max length (vi) mapping of attention masks for [PAD] tokens. We padded and truncated the max\_length=30. The generated sequence sentences are passed for encoding with its attention mask (simply differentiating padding from nonpadding). Finally, we predicted the labels using ensembles voting model for BERT (Devlin et al., 2018), XLNET (Liu et al., 2019) and RoBERTa model(Liu et al., 2019). BERT is Bi-directional Encoder Representation from Transformers (BERT), involving pre-training Bi-directional transformers for language understanding from an unlabelled text by jointly conditioning left t- right context for all layers. Fine-tuning of a pre-trained BERT model can be easily done with just one additional output layer for developing a state-of-art model for a wide range of NLP tasks without substantial taskspecific architecture modifications. Robustly Optimized BERT approach has emphasized data being used for pre-training and the number of passes for training. The BERT model is optimized with dynamic masking, more extended training with big batches over more data, removing the next prediction objective, and dynamically changing masking patterns for training data. The model achieved



Figure 1: We predicted the labels using fine-tuned BERT, XLNET, and RoBERTa models, respectively, then we applied an ensemble voting classifier. Each model gives a label to the sentence, highest vote is chosen as the final label.

state-of-art results on GLUE, RACE, and SQuAD without multi-task finetuning for GLUE or additional data for SQuAD. ERNIE 2.0 is another continual pre-training framework that efficiently supports customized training tasks in multi-task learning incrementally. The pre-trained model is finetuned to adapt to various language understanding tasks. The framework has demonstrated significant improvement over BERT and XLNET on approximately 16 tasks, including GLUE. We take each label to the sentence and number of labels with the highest vote if chosen as the final label in ensemble voting(Dimitriadou et al., 2001).

### 4.0.1 Experimental Setup

We use V1 100 GPU with 53GB RAM alongside 8 CPU cores for the experimental setup. We divide the entire dataset into a 90:10 training and validation split of 8 batches, with a learning rate (1e-5) and Adam optimizer(Kingma and Ba, 2014) with epsilon (1e-8). We feed a seed\_val of 42. For calculating the training loss over all the batches, we use gradient descents (Andrychowicz et al., 2016) with clipping the norm to 1.0 to avoid exploding gradient problem.

#### **5** Results

We evaluate our model quantitatively and qualitatively for the DepSign-LT-EDI dataset. The classification report for our proposed model with average and best submission among all the teams is reported in Table 3. The proposed model has shown progressive results with the  $3^{rd}$  position on the leaderboard https://competitions. codalab.org/competitions/36393# learn\_the\_details-result. Analysing our quantitative results, 0.53, 0.57, 0.54 are the reported precision, Recall, and F1-score, which is relatively 0.06, 0.07, 0.06 more than the average and 0.05, 0.02, 0.04 less for best-performing submission, respectively. Qualitative analysis of the predicted labels by the proposed methodology can be seen in Table 4. The first, third, and fifth comments were not depressed, moderately depressed, and severely depressed. They are correctly classified instances indicating our model has efficiently identified the phrases with a negative sentiment, such as "depressed," "anxious," "I

Table 3: Classification system's performance measured in terms of macro averaged Precision, macro averaged Recall and macro averaged F-Score across all the classes. Sklearn classification report was utilized to generate the reports by all the submission teams

	Accuracy	Recall	Precision	Weighted F1- score	Macro F1-score
Average of all teams	0.5988	0.5058	0.4782	0.6012	0.4821
Best of all teams	0.6709	0.5912	0.586	0.666	0.583
Our submission	0.6253	0.572	0.5303	0.6333	0.5467

Text_data	Label
Sometimes people can be either too oblivious or choose not to care and they may not	
intend to harm us but it does hurt : [removed]	not depressed
TMS : My doctor wants me to do TMS for my depression. Has anyone done TMS or	not domascod
is doing it? I was just want to know it is worth it.	not depressed
Depressed : I have nothing to look forward to, I wake up feeling so down and depressed	
, anxious about everything, I look at myself in the mirror and i feel and look so ugly ,	moderate
I shouldn't be allowed out in public being so disgusting looking:(	
Uncertain : I would like to die, but I'm scared of the repercussions. More specifically,	
I have to attend a birthday party and a gathering to say goodbye to a friend who will	moderate
be moving in the next few days and I don't want to ruin their celebrations	
my whole life has fallen apart : everyone hates me. all my friends hate me. my moms	
hates me and my dads too busy for me. i don't talk to my family. the only person i have	
is my boyfriend who will probably leave me soon because of how i am. i eat lunch in	
the bathroom. no one in my classes talks to me. i got my boyfriend and his friend	
accidentally suspended for an incident they jokingly started that ended in me almost	
getting beat up (they meant no harm). i cried all day and i had to leave school early.	severe
i can't eat. my head is pounding. there's no hope. there's no point in living and no one	
cares. everyone just hates me. and i'm not a bad or mean person i don't think, but now	
that's all i am to everyone. i want to end it, but if i fail i get readmitted to the psych	
ward and i promised myself if i ever went back there, i would kill myself. i don't know	
what to do anymore.	
Antidepressants : Do antidepressants help if your not depressed? I started taking them	
to get through a rough patch and they have helped me - does this mean I technically have	severe
depression because I read online that antidepressants don't help if your not depressed?	

Table 4: Qualitative Results for not depression, moderate, severe

would kill myself," and so on. Since the first comment barely had any negative phrases, the model classified it as not depressed. However, in the case of the second instance, the comment is labeled as not depressed when in reality, it is a case of severe depression. The probable reason for this misclassification is that the model cannot identify medical terms like "TMS," and overall, the second comment barely has any negative words or expressions.

The fourth instance is labeled as moderate; however, the person claims that they want to die; this indicates that this comment is instead a case of severe depression. The probable reason for this misclassification is that the model focuses more on the phrases like "party," "celebration," "die." rather than the entire sentences. Since this statement has a mix of positive and negative phrases, the model assumes it to be a moderate case. Lastly, the sixth instance is classified as severe; it seems like the case of mild depression.

#### 6 Conclusion

In this paper we present our system paper submission for DepSign-LT-EDI@ACL-2022. We aim to detect the signs of depression of a person from their social media postings wherein people share their feelings and emotions. The proposed system is an ensembled voting model with fine-tuned BERT, RoBERTa, and XLNet. Given social media postings in English, the submitted system classify the signs of depression into three labels, namely "not depressed," "moderately depressed," and "severely depressed." Our best model is ranked  $3^{rd}$  position with 0.54% accuracy. The system performs quite well to recognize the comments for depression comments; In the future, we intend to work on a multitask learning framework to handle all kinds of depression or illness and even the severity of depression. We also aim to detect multilingual depression speech in the code-mixing scenarios.

# Acknowledgements

This work was supported by the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation program under grant agreement No. 833635 (project ROX-ANNE: Real-time network, text, and speaker analytics for combating organized crime, 2019-2022).

#### References

- Alfred V. Aho and Jeffrey D. Ullman. 1972. *The Theory* of Parsing, Translation and Compiling, volume 1. Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, NJ.
- Laura Helena Andrade, J Alonso, Z Mneimneh, JE Wells, A Al-Hamzawi, G Borges, E Bromet, Ronny Bruffaerts, G De Girolamo, R De Graaf, et al. 2014. Barriers to mental health treatment: results from the who world mental health surveys. *Psychological medicine*, 44(6):1303–1317.
- Marcin Andrychowicz, Misha Denil, Sergio Gomez, Matthew W Hoffman, David Pfau, Tom Schaul, Brendan Shillingford, and Nando De Freitas. 2016. Learning to learn by gradient descent by gradient descent. *Advances in neural information processing systems*, 29.
- Priyanka Arora and Parul Arora. 2019. Mining twitter data for depression detection. In 2019 International Conference on Signal Processing and Communication (ICSC), pages 186–189. IEEE.
- Sergio G Burdisso, Marcelo Errecalde, and Manuel Montes-y Gómez. 2019. A text classification framework for simple and effective early depression detection over social media streams. *Expert Systems with Applications*, 133:182–197.
- William B Cavnar, John M Trenkle, et al. 1994. N-grambased text categorization. In *Proceedings of SDAIR-*94, 3rd annual symposium on document analysis and information retrieval, volume 161175. Citeseer.
- Xuetong Chen, Martin D Sykora, Thomas W Jackson, and Suzanne Elayan. 2018. What about mood swings: Identifying depression on twitter with temporal measures of emotions. In *Companion Proceedings of the The Web Conference 2018*, pages 1653–1660.
- Raymond Chiong, Gregorius Satia Budhi, Sandeep Dhakal, and Fabian Chiong. 2021. A textual-based featuring approach for depression detection using machine learning classifiers and social media texts. *Computers in Biology and Medicine*, 135:104499.
- José de Jesús Titla-Tlatelpa, Rosa María Ortega-Mendoza, Manuel Montes-y Gómez, and Luis Villaseñor-Pineda. 2021. A profile-based sentimentaware approach for depression detection in social media. *EPJ Data Science*, 10(1):54.
- Erito Marques de Souza Filho, Helena Cramer Veiga Rey, Rose Mary Frajtag, Daniela Matos Arrowsmith Cook, Lucas Nunes Dalbonio de Carvalho, Antonio Luiz Pinho Ribeiro, and Jorge Amaral. 2021. Can machine learning be useful as a screening tool for depression in primary care? *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 132:1–6.
- Jacob Devlin, Ming-Wei Chang, Kenton Lee, and Kristina Toutanova. 2018. Bert: Pre-training of deep bidirectional transformers for language understanding. arXiv preprint arXiv:1810.04805.

- Evgenia Dimitriadou, Andreas Weingessel, and Kurt Hornik. 2001. Voting-merging: An ensemble method for clustering. In *International conference on artificial neural networks*, pages 217–224. Springer.
- Sara Evans-Lacko, Sergio Aguilar-Gaxiola, Ali Al-Hamzawi, Jordi Alonso, Corina Benjet, Ronny Bruffaerts, WT Chiu, Silvia Florescu, Giovanni de Girolamo, Oye Gureje, et al. 2018. Socio-economic variations in the mental health treatment gap for people with anxiety, mood, and substance use disorders: results from the who world mental health (wmh) surveys. *Psychological medicine*, 48(9):1560–1571.
- Anjali Ganesh Jivani et al. 2011. A comparative study of stemming algorithms. *Int. J. Comp. Tech. Appl*, 2(6):1930–1938.
- Diederik P Kingma and Jimmy Ba. 2014. Adam: A method for stochastic optimization. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1412.6980*.
- Angela Leis, Francesco Ronzano, Miguel A Mayer, Laura I Furlong, Ferran Sanz, et al. 2019. Detecting signs of depression in tweets in spanish: behavioral and linguistic analysis. *Journal of medical Internet research*, 21(6):e14199.
- Victor Leiva and Ana Freire. 2017. Towards suicide prevention: early detection of depression on social media. In *International Conference on Internet Sci*ence, pages 428–436. Springer.
- Ang Li, Dongdong Jiao, and Tingshao Zhu. 2018. Detecting depression stigma on social media: A linguistic analysis. *Journal of affective disorders*, 232:358– 362.
- Yinhan Liu, Myle Ott, Naman Goyal, Jingfei Du, Mandar Joshi, Danqi Chen, Omer Levy, Mike Lewis, Luke Zettlemoyer, and Veselin Stoyanov. 2019. Roberta: A robustly optimized bert pretraining approach. arXiv preprint arXiv:1907.11692.
- Edward Loper and Steven Bird. 2002. Nltk: The natural language toolkit. *arXiv preprint cs/0205028*.
- David E Losada, Fabio Crestani, and Javier Parapar. 2017. erisk 2017: Clef lab on early risk prediction on the internet: experimental foundations. In *International Conference of the Cross-Language Evaluation Forum for European Languages*, pages 346–360. Springer.
- Long Ma, Zhibo Wang, and Yanqing Zhang. 2017. Extracting depression symptoms from social networks and web blogs via text mining. In *International Symposium on Bioinformatics Research and Applications*, pages 325–330. Springer.
- Amit Mandelbaum and Adi Shalev. 2016. Word embeddings and their use in sentence classification tasks. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1610.08229*.

- Paulo Mann, Aline Paes, and Elton H Matsushima. 2020. See and read: Detecting depression symptoms in higher education students using multimodal social media data. In *Proceedings of the International AAAI Conference on Web and Social Media*, volume 14, pages 440–451.
- Rodrigo Martínez-Castaño, Juan C Pichel, and David E Losada. 2020. A big data platform for real time analysis of signs of depression in social media. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17(13):4752.
- Ramin Mojtabai and Mark Olfson. 2010. National trends in psychotropic medication polypharmacy in office-based psychiatry. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 67(1):26–36.
- Jihoon Oh, Kyongsik Yun, Uri Maoz, Tae-Suk Kim, and Jeong-Ho Chae. 2019. Identifying depression in the national health and nutrition examination survey data using a deep learning algorithm. *Journal of affective disorders*, 257:623–631.
- World Health Organization et al. 2012. Good health adds life to years: Global brief for world health day 2012. Technical report, World Health Organization.
- Johan Ormel, Maria Petukhova, Somnath Chatterji, Sergio Aguilar-Gaxiola, Jordi Alonso, Matthias C Angermeyer, Evelyn J Bromet, Huibert Burger, Koen Demyttenaere, Giovanni De Girolamo, et al. 2008. Disability and treatment of specific mental and physical disorders across the world. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 192(5):368–375.
- Benjamin J Ricard, Lisa A Marsch, Benjamin Crosier, and Saeed Hassanpour. 2018. Exploring the utility of community-generated social media content for detecting depression: an analytical study on instagram. *Journal of medical Internet research*, 20(12):e11817.
- Esteban A Ríssola, Seyed Ali Bahrainian, and Fabio Crestani. 2019. Anticipating depression based on online social media behaviour. In *International Conference on Flexible Query Answering Systems*, pages 278–290. Springer.
- Ramin Safa, Peyman Bayat, and Leila Moghtader. 2021. Automatic detection of depression symptoms in twitter using multimodal analysis. *The Journal of Supercomputing*, pages 1–36.
- Kayalvizhi Sampath, Thenmozhi Durairaj, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, and Jerin Mahibha C. 2022. Findings of the shared task on detecting signs of depression from social media. In Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Guangyao Shen, Jia Jia, Liqiang Nie, Fuli Feng, Cunjun Zhang, Tianrui Hu, Tat-Seng Chua, and Wenwu Zhu. 2017. Depression detection via harvesting social media: A multimodal dictionary learning solution. In *IJCAI*, pages 3838–3844.

- NS Srimadhur and S Lalitha. 2020. An end-to-end model for detection and assessment of depression levels using speech. *Procedia Computer Science*, 171:12–21.
- Leah S Steele, Carolyn S Dewa, Elizabeth Lin, and Kenneth LK Lee. 2007. Education level, income level and mental health services use in canada: Associations and policy implications. *Healthcare Policy*, 3(1):96.
- Michael M Tadesse, Hongfei Lin, Bo Xu, and Liang Yang. 2019. Detection of depression-related posts in reddit social media forum. *IEEE Access*, 7:44883– 44893.
- Daniel Vigo, Graham Thornicroft, and Rifat Atun. 2016. Estimating the true global burden of mental illness. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, 3(2):171–178.
- Jue Wang, Maneesh Agrawala, and Michael F Cohen. 2007. Soft scissors: an interactive tool for realtime high quality matting. In *ACM SIGGRAPH 2007 papers*, pages 9–es.
- Jonathan J Webster and Chunyu Kit. 1992. Tokenization as the initial phase in nlp. In COLING 1992 Volume 4: The 14th International Conference on Computational Linguistics.
- Harvey A Whiteford, Alize J Ferrari, Louisa Degenhardt, Valery Feigin, and Theo Vos. 2015. The global burden of mental, neurological and substance use disorders: an analysis from the global burden of disease study 2010. *PloS one*, 10(2):e0116820.
- Akkapon Wongkoblap, Miguel A Vadillo, and Vasa Curcin. 2019. Predicting social network users with depression from simulated temporal data. In *IEEE EUROCON 2019-18th International Conference on Smart Technologies*, pages 1–6. IEEE.
- Min Yen Wu, Chih-Ya Shen, En Tzu Wang, and Arbee LP Chen. 2020. A deep architecture for depression detection using posting, behavior, and living environment data. *Journal of Intelligent Information Systems*, 54(2):225–244.
- Xingwei Yang, Rhonda McEwen, Liza Robee Ong, and Morteza Zihayat. 2020. A big data analytics framework for detecting user-level depression from social networks. *International Journal of Information Management*, 54:102141.
- Zhilin Yang, Zihang Dai, Yiming Yang, Jaime Carbonell, Russ R Salakhutdinov, and Quoc V Le. 2019. Xlnet: Generalized autoregressive pretraining for language understanding. Advances in neural information processing systems, 32.
- Amir Hossein Yazdavar, Mohammad Saeid Mahdavinejad, Goonmeet Bajaj, William Romine, Amit Sheth, Amir Hassan Monadjemi, Krishnaprasad Thirunarayan, John M Meddar, Annie Myers, Jyotishman Pathak, et al. 2020. Multimodal mental health analysis in social media. *Plos one*, 15(4):e0226248.

- Lixia Yu, Wanyue Jiang, Zhihong Ren, Sheng Xu, Lin Zhang, and Xiangen Hu. 2021. Detecting changes in attitudes toward depression on chinese social media: a text analysis. *Journal of affective disorders*, 280:354–363.
- Yin Zhang, Rong Jin, and Zhi-Hua Zhou. 2010. Understanding bag-of-words model: a statistical framework. *International Journal of Machine Learning and Cybernetics*, 1(1):43–52.

# Overview of The Shared Task on Homophobia and Transphobia Detection in Social Media Comments

Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi<sup>1</sup>, Ruba Priyadharshini<sup>2</sup>, Durairaj Thenmozhi<sup>3</sup>, John Phillip McCrae<sup>1</sup>, Paul Buitelaar<sup>1</sup>

Rahul Ponnusamy<sup>4</sup>, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan<sup>4</sup>,

 <sup>1</sup>National University of Ireland Galway, <sup>2</sup>Madurai Kamaraj University, India, <sup>3</sup>SSN College of Engineering, Tamil Nadu, India,
 <sup>4</sup>Indian Institute of Information Technology and Management, Kerala, India

bharathi.raja@insight-centre.org

#### Abstract

Homophobia and Transphobia Detection is the task of identifying homophobia, transphobia, and non-anti-LGBT+ content from the given corpus. Homophobia and transphobia are both toxic languages directed at LGBTQ+ individuals that are described as hate speech. This paper summarizes our findings on the "Homophobia and Transphobia Detection in social media comments" shared task held at LT-EDI 2022 - ACL 2022<sup>1</sup>. This shared task focused on three sub-tasks for Tamil, English, and Tamil-English (code-mixed) languages. It received 10 systems for Tamil, 13 systems for English, and 11 systems for Tamil-English. The best systems for Tamil, English, and Tamil-English scored 0.570, 0.870, and 0.610, respectively, on average macro F1-score.

# 1 Introduction

Violence is becoming more common on social media platforms, negatively influencing internet users. Social media plays an essential role in online communication in the digital era, allowing users to freely upload and share content and express their opinions and thoughts. The use of social media platforms for online communication has grown across all languages worldwide. These platforms allow users to post and exchange content and express their opinions on any topic at any moment (Al-Hassan and Al-Dossari, 2021; Chakravarthi et al., 2021b). It has become a big concern for online communities due to the proliferation of online material (Kumar et al., 2018). It's considerably worse for lesbians, gays, bisexuals, transgender people, and other (LGBTQ+) vulnerable people (Díaz-Torres et al., 2020). LGBTQ+ individuals are subjected to abuse, inequality, torture, and even execution worldwide because of how they look, whom they love, or who they are (Barrientos et al.,

<sup>1</sup>https://sites.google.com/view/ lt-edi-2022/home 2010; Schneider and Dimito, 2010). Sexual orientation and gender identity are crucial elements of our identities that should never be misused or discriminated against (Thurlow, 2001). In many countries, however, being LGBTQ+ can lead to death; therefore, a vulnerable person may turn to social media for assistance or share their tales in the hopes of meeting others who share their experiences (Adkins et al., 2018; Han et al., 2019).

This shared task uses a new gold standard dataset for Homophobia and Transphobia Identification in Dravidian Tamil, English, and Tamil-English (codemixed) languages. Tamil (ISO 639-3: tam) is one of the Dravidian languages and a primary language of Tamil Nadu, Pondicherry, Sri Lanka, and Singapore, as well as a recognized minority language in Malaysia and South Africa with 75 million speakers (Thavareesan and Mahesan, 2019a, 2020a). Tamil is one of the world's longest-surviving classical languages. The earliest Old Tamil documents are small inscriptions in Adichanallur dating from 905 BC to 696 BC. Tamil uses agglutinative grammar, which uses suffixes to indicate noun class, number, case, verb tense, and other grammatical categories. Tamil is the standard metalinguistic terminology and scholarly vocabulary, as opposed to Sanskrit, which is the norm for most Aryan languages (Anita and Subalalitha, 2019b,a; Subalalitha and Poovammal, 2018). Tamil words are made up of a lexical root and one or more affixes. The majority of Tamil affixes are suffixes. Tamil suffixes are either derivational suffixes, which modify the part of speech or meaning of the word, or inflectional suffixes, which designate categories like as person, number, mood, tense, and so on. There is no ultimate limit to the length and scope of agglutination, which might result in large words with several suffixes, requiring many words or a sentence in English (Subalalitha, 2019; Srinivasan and Subalalitha, 2019; Narasimhan et al., 2018). There are 12 vowels, 18 consonants, and one unique

character called the aytam in the current Tamil script. The vowels and consonants combine to make 216 compound characters, bringing the total number of characters to 247 (Sakuntharaj and Mahesan, 2021, 2017, 2016; Thavareesan and Mahesan, 2019b, 2020b,c, 2021). However, social media users frequently utilize it because it is easier to type other languages has the roman script. As a result, the maximum of the information for these under-resourced languages available on social media is code-mixed.

This shared task aims to aid research on detecting Homophobic and Transphobic content in Tamil, English, and Tamil-English (code-mixed) languages from social media. Participants were provided with the training, development, and test set for this task. The task description, data description, task and evaluation settings, participant's methodology, results and discussion, and conclusion are all summarized in the upcoming section.

#### 2 Related work

As social media applications are used worldwide, information and communication technology, mainly social media, has changed the way individuals communicate and develop connections. For instance, YouTube is a popular social networking site where users can create their profiles, submit videos, and make comments. Thanks to " liking " and " sharing " methods, it has a broad audience as thousands of people may watch each video or comment, thanks to "liking" and "sharing" methods (Sampath et al., 2022; Ravikiran et al., 2022; Bharathi et al., 2022; Priyadharshini et al., 2022; Chakravarthi et al., 2022a). These comments permit cyberbullies to share unflattering or undesirable information about their victims easily. Unfortunately, this opens the door for antisocial behaviors such as misogyny (Mulki and Ghanem, 2021), sexism, homophobia (Diefendorf and Bridges, 2020), transphobia (Giametta and Havkin, 2021), and racism (Larimore et al., 2021) to flourish. When it involves crawling social media data, there are several efforts on YouTube mining, largely focusing on exploiting user comments. Computer scientists began to research text-based algorithms for spotting abusive languages and hate speech by mining social media data. The use of social media has proliferated. A previous study on Homophobia and Transphobia identification was conducted in 2021 on the dataset paper (Chakravarthi et al., 2021b)

in which Tamil, English, and Tamil-English codemixed datasets were built. The dataset comprises 15,141 comments: Tamil – 4946, English – 4161, Tamil-English – 6034, collected from YouTube. The dataset was classified at various levels of offensiveness, namely," Homophobic," "Transphobic," "counter speech," "hope speech," and " Non-anti-LGBT+ content," by many annotators, trained volunteers from the LGBTQ+ community who identify as LGBTQ+ or LGBTQ+ allies.

## 3 Task Description

The primary goal of this venture is to detect homophobic and transphobic statements in a dataset collected from social media in Tamil, English, and Tamil-English. This task is a comment/post-level classification task. Systems must classify a comment as homophobia or transphobia or non-anti-LGBTQ+ content. Although a comment/post in the dataset may contain more than one sentences, the corpus' average sentence length is one. The corpus includes annotations at the comment/post level. The Participants were given development, training, and test datasets in Tamil, English, and Tamil-English.

# 4 Data Description

Twitter, Facebook, and YouTube are social media sites that include unintentionally converting information provided by millions of consumers, which may impact a person's or company's reputation. There is a growth in call for the importance of emotion extraction software systems and identifying irrelevant words in online social media.

The datasets are based on users' comments on popular videos, review products, etc., increasing on youtube nowadays. Thus, it allows extra usergenerated content material in languages with constrained resources. Likewise, it is equal for vulnerable LGBTQ+ people who watch similar motion pictures and remark approximately the video they join. We chose to acquire statistics from social media feedback on YouTube since it is the most substantially used medium with-inside the world for expressing an opinion approximately a specific video. Homophobia and transphobia are not given much attention. Recently (Guest et al., 2021) created an expert annotated dataset for detecting online misogyny. We collected our dataset inspired by their work.

We collected comments from the YouTube

Labels	English	Tamil	Tamil-English
Homophobic	276	723	465
Transphobic	13	233	184
Non-anti-LGBTQ+ content	4,657	3,205	5,385
Total	4,946	4,161	6,034

Table 1: Class-wise distribution of the dataset

videos that explain LGBTQ+ instead of collecting statements from LGBTQ+ people's personal coming out stories because they contained confidential information. These comments were collected with the help of the YouTube Comment Scraper tool<sup>2</sup> and were manually annotated with three labels, namely 'Homophobic,' 'Transphobic' and 'Nonanti-LGBT+ content.' We collected the dataset in 3 language settings: Tamil, English, and Tamil-English. The complete details about the dataset can be gathered from (Chakravarthi et al., 2021b)

## 5 Task Setting and Evaluation setting

All of the datasets have an unbalanced distribution of homophobia and transphobia classes. The majority of comments in the Tamil-English code-mixed dataset belong to the Non-anti-LGBTQ+ content (5,385) class, indicating a class imbalance seen in the table. In the Tamil and English dataset, the majority class is Non-anti-LGBTQ+ content (3,205 and 4,657) compared to the other two categories. This disparity was rectified by selecting the macroaveraged F1-score (F) official evaluation metric task significant variance number of instances in different classes. Macro-averaging gives the same weight to all classes, irrespective of their size. We utilized a Scikit learn classification report tool<sup>3</sup>. Participants were able to submit up to five test runs, with one of them serving as official runs that would be scored and shown on the leader board. If no official runs were specified, the most recent contributions from each team were assumed to be official. In their papers, we allowed groups to explore the distinctions between their systems. The goal is for teams to compare the effectiveness of various setups on the test set.

<sup>3</sup>https://scikit-learn.org/stable/ modules/generated/sklearn.metrics. classification\_report.html

### 6 Participants methodology

In this competition, a total of 98 participants registered. From this, we received a total of 10, 13, and 11 submissions for Tamil, English, and Tamil-English languages, respectively. The techniques and outcomes of these tasks have been described. For more critical information, refers to their papers, which are stated below:

**ABLIMET** (Maimaitituoheti and Abulimiti, 2022) has used a fine-tuning approach to the pretrained language model. This model processes the target data and normalizes its output by a layer normalization module, followed by two fully connected layers. The pre-trained language model they used is the Roberta-base model for the English subtask, Tamil-Roberta for Tamil, and Tamil-English subtasks.

**bitsa\_nlp** (Bhandari and Goyal, 2022) has used famous distinctive models primarily based totally on the transformer architecture and a data augmentation approach for oversampling the English, Tamil, and Tamil-English datasets. They implemented various pre-trained language models based on the Transformer architectures, namely BERT, mBERT / multilingual BERT, XLM-RoBERTa, IndicBERT, and HateBERT, to classify detecting homophobic and transphobic contents.

**SSNCSE\_NLP** (Swaminathan et al., 2022) has used a combination of word embeddings and classifiers, as well as some transformers for experiments with the code mixed datasets. They executed the feature extractions using TF-IDF and count vectorizer with some models, namely SVM, MLP, random forest, K-nearest neighbors, and simple transformers like LaBSE, tamillion, and IndicBERT.

**NAYEL** (Ashraf et al., 2022) has experimented with TF-IDF with bigram models to vectorize comments. Then they implemented a set of classification algorithms like Support Vector Machine, Random Forest, Passive Aggressive Classifier, Gaussian Naïve Bayes, and Multi-Layer Perceptron. From these models, they submitted a support vector machine as the best model because it gave high

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>https://github.com/philbot9/ youtube-remarkscraper

Table 2: Rank list for Tamil language

Teams	Acc	mac_Pre	mac_re	mac_f1	W_Pre	W_re	W_f1	Rank
ARGUABLY	0.940	0.880	0.850	0.870	0.940	0.940	0.940	1
NAYEL (Ashraf et al., 2022)	0.920	0.860	0.810	0.840	0.920	0.920	0.920	2
UMUTeam (García-Díaz et al., 2022)	0.920	0.850	0.800	0.820	0.920	0.920	0.920	3
hate-alert	0.900	0.830	0.750	0.780	0.900	0.900	0.900	4
Ablimet (Maimaitituoheti and Abulimiti, 2022)	0.890	0.810	0.710	0.750	0.880	0.890	0.880	5
bitsa_nlp (Bhandari and Goyal, 2022)	0.850	0.690	0.610	0.640	0.840	0.850	0.840	6
niksss	0.810	0.720	0.590	0.620	0.820	0.810	0.810	7
Sammaan (Upadhyay et al., 2022)	0.880	0.520	0.580	0.550	0.850	0.880	0.860	8
SSNCSE_NLP (Swaminathan et al., 2022)	0.770	0.550	0.470	0.500	0.740	0.770	0.750	9
SOA_NLP	0.690	0.360	0.360	0.360	0.670	0.690	0.680	10

Table 3: Rank list for English language

Teams	Acc	mac_Pre	mac_re	mac_f1	W_Pre	W_re	W_f1	Rank
Ablimet (Maimaitituoheti and Abulimiti, 2022)	0.910	0.570	0.610	0.570	0.940	0.910	0.920	1
Sammaan (Upadhyay et al., 2022)	0.940	0.520	0.470	0.490	0.930	0.940	0.940	2
Nozza (Debora and Nozza, 2022)	0.950	0.580	0.450	0.480	0.940	0.950	0.940	3
hate-alert	0.940	0.510	0.450	0.470	0.920	0.940	0.930	4
LeaningTower	0.940	0.530	0.430	0.460	0.930	0.940	0.930	4
leaningtower	0.940	0.530	0.430	0.460	0.930	0.940	0.930	5
niksss	0.930	0.460	0.440	0.450	0.920	0.930	0.920	6
UMUTeam (García-Díaz et al., 2022)	0.930	0.480	0.430	0.450	0.920	0.930	0.920	7
ARGUABLY	0.940	0.540	0.400	0.430	0.920	0.940	0.920	8
SOA_NLP	0.940	0.500	0.400	0.430	0.920	0.940	0.920	9
bitsa_nlp (Bhandari and Goyal, 2022)	0.920	0.430	0.420	0.420	0.910	0.920	0.910	10
NAYEL (Ashraf et al., 2022)	0.940	0.510	0.370	0.390	0.910	0.940	0.910	11
SSNCSE_NLP (Swaminathan et al., 2022)	0.930	0.480	0.370	0.390	0.910	0.930	0.910	12

Table 4: Rank list for Tamil-English dataset

Teams	Acc	mac_Pre	mac_re	mac_f1	W_Pre	W_re	W_f1	Rank
ARGUABLY	0.890	0.630	0.600	0.610	0.890	0.890	0.890	1
UMUTeam (García-Díaz et al., 2022)	0.850	0.540	0.670	0.580	0.900	0.850	0.870	2
bitsa_nlp (Bhandari and Goyal, 2022)	0.880	0.610	0.560	0.580	0.890	0.880	0.880	3
hate-alert	0.830	0.540	0.630	0.560	0.890	0.830	0.850	4
SOA_NLP	0.900	0.650	0.500	0.540	0.890	0.900	0.890	5
Ablimet (Maimaitituoheti and Abulimiti, 2022)	0.800	0.490	0.640	0.530	0.880	0.800	0.830	6
niksss	0.880	0.560	0.500	0.520	0.870	0.880	0.880	7
NAYEL (Ashraf et al., 2022)	0.900	0.620	0.470	0.510	0.870	0.900	0.880	8
SSNCSE_NLP (Swaminathan et al., 2022)	0.890	0.660	0.430	0.470	0.870	0.890	0.870	9
Sammaan (Upadhyay et al., 2022)	0.830	0.340	0.350	0.350	0.820	0.830	0.830	10
Ajetavya_Tamil-English	0.870	0.340	0.340	0.340	0.820	0.870	0.840	11

accuracy compared to other models.

**Nozza** (Debora and Nozza, 2022) team used finetuned models, and they selected two large language models, BERT and RoBERTa, to classify the task and gave the result which is shown above. Also, they chose HateBERT to provide more accuracy than other models, while this better results than the BERT model. They experimented with the ensemble modeling created with a meta-classifier that treats the predicted label of distinct machine learning classifiers as a vote towards the final label they give as a prediction. Also, they gave two frameworks for ensemble: majority voting and weighted voting.

Sammaan (Upadhyay et al., 2022): This team used an ensemble of transformer-based models to build the classifier. They got 2nd rank for English, 8th rank for Tamil, and 10th rank for Tamil-English. They experimented with models BERT, RoBERTa, HateBERT, IndicBERT, XGBoost, Random Forest classifier, and Bayesian Optimization.

**UMUTeam** (García-Díaz et al., 2022): This team used neural networks that combine several features sets, including linguistic components extracted from a self-developed tool and contextual and non-contextual sentence embeddings. This team got 7th, 3rd, and 2nd ranks in English, Tamil, and Tamil-English.

### 7 Results and Discussion

There was a total of 98 people who registered for this shared task. For the Tamil, English, and Tamil-English datasets, 14 teams submitted final findings. In the Table 2, 3 and Table 4 shows the rank list for Tamil, English and Tamil-English. We used the average macro F1 score to rank the teams as it identifies the F1 score in each label and calculates their unweighted average. Macro F1 scores arrange the runs in descending order. The Ablimet team gave the best performance only in the English dataset using a fine-tuning approach to the pre-trained language model. The pre-trained language model used the Roberta-base model for this English sub-task. From these models, they submit RoBERTa based as the best model for this English dataset. This transformer model achieved well compared to other models, and this calculation is made with the help of the Macro F1 score. However, these models performed very low in the Tamil and Tamil-English subtasks. They got 5th rank in Tamil and 6th rank Tamil-English because those models gave less accuracy. Because they did data balancing in these tasks for balancing the data to perform the model, this gave better results, but compared to other teams performed well and gave better output. ARGUABLY team performed well in Tamil and Tamil-English tasks using Machine learning and deep learning architectures to classify homophobia and transphobia. Other groups also performed better in this task, primarily those teams organized with fine-tuning approach, pre-trained models, and transformer models such as BERT(Devlin et al., 2018), mBERT / multilingual. BERT, XLM-RoBERTa(Conneau et al., 2019), IndicBERT(Kakwani et al., 2020), HateBERT(Caselli et al., 2020), etc. They include TF-IDF, count vectorizer, etc., for extracting the feature from the datasets. We gave the overall descriptions of those teams in the participant's methodology.

#### 8 Conclusion

This paper describes the first collaborative effort for detecting homophobia and transphobia in social media on the Tamil, English, and Tamil-English (code-mixed) dataset to classify YouTube comments. The most successful system used XLM RoBERTa pre-trained language models for zeroshot learning to deal with data imbalance and multilingualism. For Tamil, English, and Tamil-English datasets, their method received macro F1 scores of 0.87, 0.43, and 0.61. The findings show that all three languages, Tamil, English, and Tamil-English, have the opportunity for improvement. The increased number of participants and improved system performance indicates a growing interest in Dravidian NLP. We intend to expand the effort in the future to include more Dravidian languages such as Malayalam, Kannada, and Telugu. To make the system more real-time, we also planned to add mixed script data.

#### References

- Victoria Adkins, Ellie Masters, Daniel Shumer, and Ellen Selkie. 2018. Exploring transgender adolescents' use of social media for support and health information seeking. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 62(2):S44.
- Areej Al-Hassan and Hmood Al-Dossari. 2021. Detection of hate speech in arabic tweets using deep learning. *Multimedia Systems*, pages 1–12.
- R Anita and CN Subalalitha. 2019a. An approach to cluster Tamil literatures using discourse connectives.

In 2019 IEEE 1st International Conference on Energy, Systems and Information Processing (ICESIP), pages 1–4. IEEE.

- R Anita and CN Subalalitha. 2019b. Building discourse parser for Thirukkural. In *Proceedings of the 16th International Conference on Natural Language Processing*, pages 18–25.
- Nsrin Ashraf, Mohammed Taha, Ahmed Taha, and Hamada Nayel. 2022. Nayel @lt-edi-acl2022: Homophobia/transphobia detection for Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion using Svm. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Speech and Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages*. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bharathi B and Agnusimmaculate Silvia A. 2021a. SSNCSE\_NLP@DravidianLangTech-EACL2021: Meme classification for Tamil using machine learning approach. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Speech and Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages*, pages 336–339, Kyiv. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bharathi B and Agnusimmaculate Silvia A. 2021b. SSNCSE\_NLP@DravidianLangTech-EACL2021: Offensive language identification on multilingual code mixing text. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Speech and Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages*, pages 313–318, Kyiv. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Jaime Barrientos, Jimena Silva, Susan Catalán, Fabiola Gómez, and Jimena Longueira. 2010. Discrimination and victimization: parade for lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender (lgbt) pride, in chile. *Journal of homosexuality*, 57(6):760–775.
- Vitthal Bhandari and Poonam Goyal. 2022. bitsa\_nlp@lt-edi-acl2022: Leveraging pretrained language models for detecting homophobia and transphobia in Social Media Comments. In Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Speech and Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- B Bharathi, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Subalalitha Chinnaudayar Navaneethakrishnan, N Sripriya, Arunaggiri Pandian, and Swetha Valli. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Speech Recognition for Vulnerable Individuals in Tamil. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion.* Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Tommaso Caselli, Valerio Basile, Jelena Mitrović, and Michael Granitzer. 2020. Hatebert: Retraining bert for abusive language detection in english. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2010.12472*.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi. 2020a. HopeEDI: A multilingual hope speech detection dataset for equality, diversity, and inclusion. In *Proceedings of the Third Workshop on Computational Modeling of People's*

*Opinions, Personality, and Emotion's in Social Media*, pages 41–53, Barcelona, Spain (Online). Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi. 2020b. *Leveraging orthographic information to improve machine translation of under-resourced languages*. Ph.D. thesis, NUI Galway.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Mihael Arcan, and John P. McCrae. 2018. Improving wordnets for underresourced languages using machine translation. In *Proceedings of the 9th Global Wordnet Conference*, pages 77–86, Nanyang Technological University (NTU), Singapore. Global Wordnet Association.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Mihael Arcan, and John P McCrae. 2019a. Comparison of different orthographies for machine translation of under-resourced Dravidian languages. In 2nd Conference on Language, Data and Knowledge (LDK 2019). Schloss Dagstuhl-Leibniz-Zentrum fuer Informatik.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Mihael Arcan, and John P. McCrae. 2019b. WordNet gloss translation for under-resourced languages using multilingual neural machine translation. In Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Multilingualism at the Intersection of Knowledge Bases and Machine Translation, pages 1–7, Dublin, Ireland. European Association for Machine Translation.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Dhivya Chinnappa, Ruba Priyadharshini, Anand Kumar Madasamy, Sangeetha Sivanesan, Subalalitha Chinnaudayar Navaneethakrishnan, Sajeetha Thavareesan, Dhanalakshmi Vadivel, Rahul Ponnusamy, and Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan. 2021a. Developing successful shared tasks on offensive language identification for dravidian languages. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2111.03375*.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi and Vigneshwaran Muralidaran. 2021. Findings of the shared task on hope speech detection for equality, diversity, and inclusion. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, pages 61–72, Kyiv. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Vigneshwaran Mu-Ruba Priyadharshini, Subalalitha ralidaran, Navaneethakrishnan, Chinnaudayar John Phillip McCrae, Miguel Ángel García-Cumbreras, Salud María Jiménez-Zafra, Rafael Valencia-García, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, Rahul Ponnusamy, Daniel García-Baena, and José Antonio García-Díaz. 2022a. Findings of the shared task on Hope Speech Detection for Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion. In Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Vigneshwaran Muralidaran, Ruba Priyadharshini, and John Philip Mc-

Crae. 2020a. Corpus creation for sentiment analysis in code-mixed Tamil-English text. In *Proceedings of the 1st Joint Workshop on Spoken Language Technologies for Under-resourced languages (SLTU) and Collaboration and Computing for Under-Resourced Languages (CCURL)*, pages 202–210, Marseille, France. European Language Resources association.

- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Thenmozhi Durairaj, John Phillip McCrae, Paul Buitaleer, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, and Rahul Ponnusamy. 2022b. Findings of the shared task on Homophobia Transphobia Detection in Social Media Comments. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Vigneshwaran Muralidaran, Navya Jose, Shardul Suryawanshi, Elizabeth Sherly, and John P. McCrae. 2022c. DravidianCodeMix: sentiment analysis and offensive language identification dataset for Dravidian languages in code-mixed text. Language Resources and Evaluation.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Vigneshwaran Muralidaran, Shardul Suryawanshi, Navya Jose, Elizabeth Sherly, and John P McCrae. 2020b. Overview of the track on sentiment analysis for Dravidian languages in code-mixed text. In *Forum for Information Retrieval Evaluation*, pages 21–24.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Rahul Ponnusamy, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, Kayalvizhi Sampath, Durairaj Thenmozhi, Sathiyaraj Thangasamy, Rajendran Nallathambi, and John Phillip McCrae. 2021b. Dataset for identification of homophobia and transophobia in multilingual youtube comments. *arXiv preprint arXiv*:2109.00227.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Bernardo Stearns, Arun Jayapal, Sridevy S, Mihael Arcan, Manel Zarrouk, and John P McCrae. 2019c. Multilingual multimodal machine translation for Dravidian languages utilizing phonetic transcription. In *Proceedings of the 2nd Workshop on Technologies for MT of Low Resource Languages*, pages 56–63, Dublin, Ireland. European Association for Machine Translation.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Priya Rani, Mihael Arcan, and John P McCrae. 2021c. A survey of orthographic information in machine translation. *SN Computer Science*, 2(4):1–19.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, KP Soman, Rahul Ponnusamy, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, Kingston Pal Thamburaj, John P McCrae, et al. 2021d. Dravidianmultimodality: A dataset for multi-modal sentiment analysis in tamil and malayalam. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2106.04853*.

- Alexis Conneau, Kartikay Khandelwal, Naman Goyal, Vishrav Chaudhary, Guillaume Wenzek, Francisco Guzmán, Edouard Grave, Myle Ott, Luke Zettlemoyer, and Veselin Stoyanov. 2019. Unsupervised cross-lingual representation learning at scale. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1911.02116*.
- Debora and Nozza. 2022. Nozza@lt-edi-acl2022: Ensemble modeling for homophobia and Transphobia Detection. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Speech and Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages*. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Jacob Devlin, Ming-Wei Chang, Kenton Lee, and Kristina Toutanova. 2018. Bert: Pre-training of deep bidirectional transformers for language understanding. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1810.04805*.
- María José Díaz-Torres, Paulina Alejandra Morán-Méndez, Luis Villasenor-Pineda, Manuel Montes, Juan Aguilera, and Luis Meneses-Lerín. 2020. Automatic detection of offensive language in social media: Defining linguistic criteria to build a mexican spanish dataset. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Trolling, Aggression and Cyberbullying*, pages 132–136.
- Sarah Diefendorf and Tristan Bridges. 2020. On the enduring relationship between masculinity and homophobia. *Sexualities*, 23(7):1264–1284.
- García-Díaz, Camilo José Antonio, Caparrós-Laiz, and Rafael Valencia-García. 2022. Umuteam@lt-ediacl2022: Detecting homophobic and transphobic comments in Tamil. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Speech and Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages*. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Nikhil Ghanghor, Parameswari Krishnamurthy, Sajeetha Thavareesan, Ruba Priyadharshini, and Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi. 2021a. IIITK@DravidianLangTech-EACL2021: Offensive language identification and meme classification in Tamil, Malayalam and Kannada. In Proceedings of the First Workshop on Speech and Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages, pages 222-229, Kyiv. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Nikhil Ghanghor, Rahul Ponnusamy, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, Ruba Priyadharshini, Sajeetha Thavareesan, and Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi. 2021b. IIITK@LT-EDI-EACL2021: Hope speech detection for equality, diversity, and inclusion in Tamil, Malayalam and English. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, pages 197–203, Kyiv. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Calogero Giametta and Shira Havkin. 2021. Mapping homo/transphobia. ACME: An International Journal for Critical Geographies, 20(1):99–119.

- Ella Guest, Bertie Vidgen, Alexandros Mittos, Nishanth Sastry, Gareth Tyson, and Helen Margetts. 2021. An expert annotated dataset for the detection of online misogyny. In *Proceedings of the 16th Conference of the European Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Main Volume*, pages 1336–1350, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Priyanka Gupta, Shriya Gandhi, and Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi. 2021. Leveraging transfer learning techniques-BERT, RoBERTa, ALBERT and Distil-BERT for fake review detection. In *Forum for Information Retrieval Evaluation*, pages 75–82.
- Xi Han, Wenting Han, Jiabin Qu, Bei Li, and Qinghua Zhu. 2019. What happens online stays online?——social media dependency, online support behavior and offline effects for lgbt. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 93:91–98.
- Adeep Hande, Siddhanth U Hegde, Ruba Priyadharshini, Rahul Ponnusamy, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, Sajeetha Thavareesan, and Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi. 2021. Benchmarking multi-task learning for sentiment analysis and offensive language identification in under-resourced dravidian languages. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2108.03867*.
- Divyanshu Kakwani, Anoop Kunchukuttan, Satish Golla, NC Gokul, Avik Bhattacharyya, Mitesh M Khapra, and Pratyush Kumar. 2020. Indicnlpsuite: Monolingual corpora, evaluation benchmarks and pre-trained multilingual language models for indian languages. In *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: EMNLP 2020*, pages 4948– 4961.
- Ritesh Kumar, Atul Kr Ojha, Shervin Malmasi, and Marcos Zampieri. 2018. Benchmarking aggression identification in social media. In *Proceedings of the first workshop on trolling, aggression and cyberbullying (TRAC-2018)*, pages 1–11.
- Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, Ratnasingam Sakuntharaj, Sajeetha Thavareesan, Subalalitha Navaneethakrishnan, Anand Kumar Madasamy, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, and John P McCrae. 2021. Findings of shared task on offensive language identification in tamil and malayalam. In *Forum for Information Retrieval Evaluation*, pages 16–18.
- Savannah Larimore, Ian Kennedy, Breon Haskett, and Alina Arseniev-Koehler. 2021. Reconsidering annotator disagreement about racist language: Noise or signal? In Proceedings of the Ninth International Workshop on Natural Language Processing for Social Media, pages 81–90.
- Maimaitituoheti and Abulimiti. 2022. Ablimet@lt-ediacl2022: A roberta based approach for homophobia/transphobia Detection in Social Media. In Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Speech and Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Edison Marrese-Taylor, Jorge A Balazs, and Yutaka Matsuo. 2017. Mining fine-grained opinions on closed captions of youtube videos with an attention-rnn. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1708.02420*.
- Hala Mulki and Bilal Ghanem. 2021. Let-mi: An arabic levantine twitter dataset for misogynistic language. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2103.10195*.
- Skanda Muralidhar, Laurent Nguyen, and Daniel Gatica-Perez. 2018. Words worth: Verbal content and hirability impressions in youtube video resumes. In Proceedings of the 9th Workshop on Computational Approaches to Subjectivity, Sentiment and Social Media Analysis, pages 322–327.
- Anitha Narasimhan, Aarthy Anandan, Madhan Karky, and CN Subalalitha. 2018. Porul: Option generation and selection and scoring algorithms for a tamil flash card game. *International Journal of Cognitive and Language Sciences*, 12(2):225–228.
- Ruba Priyadharshini, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Subalalitha Chinnaudayar Navaneethakrishnan, Thenmozhi Durairaj, Malliga Subramanian, Kogilavani Shanmugavadivel, Siddhanth U Hegde, and Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Abusive Comment Detection in Tamil. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Speech and Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages*. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Ruba Priyadharshini, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Sajeetha Thavareesan, Dhivya Chinnappa, Durairaj Thenmozhi, and Rahul Ponnusamy. 2021. Overview of the DravidianCodeMix 2021 shared task on sentiment detection in Tamil, Malayalam, and Kannada. In *Forum for Information Retrieval Evaluation*, pages 4–6.
- Ruba Priyadharshini, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Mani Vegupatti, and John P McCrae. 2020. Named entity recognition for code-mixed Indian corpus using meta embedding. In 2020 6th international conference on advanced computing and communication systems (ICACCS), pages 68–72. IEEE.
- Manikandan Ravikiran, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Anand Kumar Madasamy, Sangeetha Sivanesan, Ratnavel Rajalakshmi, Sajeetha Thavareesan, Rahul Ponnusamy, and Shankar Mahadevan. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Offensive Span Identification in code-mixed Tamil-English comments. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Speech and Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages*. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Ratnasingam Sakuntharaj and Sinnathamby Mahesan. 2016. A novel hybrid approach to detect and correct spelling in Tamil text. In 2016 IEEE International Conference on Information and Automation for Sustainability (ICIAfS), pages 1–6.

- Ratnasingam Sakuntharaj and Sinnathamby Mahesan. 2017. Use of a novel hash-table for speeding-up suggestions for misspelt Tamil words. In 2017 IEEE International Conference on Industrial and Information Systems (ICIIS), pages 1–5.
- Ratnasingam Sakuntharaj and Sinnathamby Mahesan. 2021. Missing word detection and correction based on context of Tamil sentences using n-grams. In 2021 10th International Conference on Information and Automation for Sustainability (ICIAfS), pages 42–47.
- Anbukkarasi Sampath, Thenmozhi Durairaj, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Subalalitha Chinnaudayar Navaneethakrishnan, Kogilavani Shanmugavadivel, Sajeetha Thavareesan, Sathiyaraj Thangasamy, Parameswari Krishnamurthy, Adeep Hande, Sean Benhur, Kishor Kumar Ponnusamy, and Santhiya Pandiyan. Findings of the shared task on Emotion 2022. Analysis in Tamil. In Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Speech and Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Margaret S Schneider and Anne Dimito. 2010. Factors influencing the career and academic choices of lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender people. *Journal of homosexuality*, 57(10):1355–1369.
- R Srinivasan and CN Subalalitha. 2019. Automated named entity recognition from tamil documents. In 2019 IEEE 1st International Conference on Energy, Systems and Information Processing (ICESIP), pages 1–5. IEEE.
- C. N. Subalalitha. 2019. Information extraction framework for Kurunthogai. Sādhanā, 44(7):156.
- CN Subalalitha and E Poovammal. 2018. Automatic bilingual dictionary construction for Tirukural. *Applied Artificial Intelligence*, 32(6):558–567.
- Krithika Swaminathan, Hrishik Sampath, Gayathri G L, and B Bharathi. 2022. Ssncse\_nlp@lt-edi-acl2022: Homophobia/transphobia detection in multiple languages using Svm classifiers and Bert-based Transformers. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop* on Speech and Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Sajeetha Thavareesan and Sinnathamby Mahesan. 2019a. Sentiment analysis in tamil texts: a study on machine learning techniques and feature representation. In 2019 14th Conference on Industrial and Information Systems (ICIIS), pages 320–325. IEEE.
- Sajeetha Thavareesan and Sinnathamby Mahesan. 2019b. Sentiment analysis in Tamil texts: A study on machine learning techniques and feature representation. In 2019 14th Conference on Industrial and Information Systems (ICIIS), pages 320–325.

- Sajeetha Thavareesan and Sinnathamby Mahesan. 2020a. Sentiment lexicon expansion using word2vec and fasttext for sentiment prediction in tamil texts. In 2020 Moratuwa Engineering Research Conference (MERCon), pages 272–276. IEEE.
- Sajeetha Thavareesan and Sinnathamby Mahesan. 2020b. Sentiment lexicon expansion using Word2vec and fastText for sentiment prediction in Tamil texts. In 2020 Moratuwa Engineering Research Conference (MERCon), pages 272–276.
- Sajeetha Thavareesan and Sinnathamby Mahesan. 2020c. Word embedding-based part of speech tagging in Tamil texts. In 2020 IEEE 15th International Conference on Industrial and Information Systems (ICIIS), pages 478–482.
- Sajeetha Thavareesan and Sinnathamby Mahesan. 2021. Sentiment analysis in Tamil texts using k-means and k-nearest neighbour. In 2021 10th International Conference on Information and Automation for Sustainability (ICIAfS), pages 48–53.
- Crispin Thurlow. 2001. Naming the "outsider within": Homophobic pejoratives and the verbal abuse of lesbian, gay and bisexual high-school pupils. *Journal of adolescence*, 24(1):25–38.
- Sanjeev Upadhyay, Srivatsa Ishan, Aditya KV, and Radhika Mamdi. 2022. Sammaan@lt-edi-acl2022: Ensembled transformers against Homophobia and Transphobia. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Speech and Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages*. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Konthala Yasaswini, Karthik Puranik, Adeep Hande, Ruba Priyadharshini, Sajeetha Thavareesan, and Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi. 2021. IIITT@DravidianLangTech-EACL2021: Transfer learning for offensive language detection in Dravidian languages. In Proceedings of the First Workshop on Speech and Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages, pages 187–194, Kyiv. Association for Computational Linguistics.

# **Overview of the Shared Task on Hope Speech Detection for Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion**

Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi<sup>1</sup>, Vigneshwaran Muralidaran<sup>2</sup>, Ruba Priyadharshini <sup>3</sup>, Subalalitha Chinnaudayar Navaneethakrishnan<sup>4</sup>, John Philip McCrae<sup>1</sup>, Miguel Ángel García-Cumbreras <sup>5</sup>, Salud María Jiménez-Zafra<sup>5</sup>, Rafael Valencia-García<sup>6</sup>, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan<sup>7</sup>, Rahul Ponnusamy<sup>7</sup>, Daniel García-Baena<sup>8</sup>, José Antonio García-Díaz <sup>6</sup>

<sup>1</sup>National University of Ireland, Galway,

<sup>2</sup>School of Computer Science and Informatics, Cardiff University, United Kingdom,
 <sup>3</sup>Madurai Kamaraj University, Tamil Nadu, India, <sup>4</sup>SRM Institute Of Science And Technology, India,
 <sup>5</sup>Computer Science Department, SINAI, CEATIC, Universidad de Jaén, 23071, Spain
 <sup>6</sup> Facultad de Informática, Universidad de Murcia, Campus de Espinardo, 30100 Murcia, Spain
 <sup>7</sup>Indian Institute of Information Technology and Management, Kerala, India
 <sup>8</sup> I.E.S. San Juan de la Cruz, Jaén, España.

<sup>1</sup>bharathi.raja@insight-centre.org, <sup>1</sup>john.mccrae@insight-centre.org,

<sup>2</sup>vigneshwar.18@gmail.com, <sup>3</sup>rubapriyadharshini.a@gmail.com, <sup>4</sup>subalalitha@gmail.com,

<sup>5</sup> {magc, sjzafra}@ujaen.es, <sup>6</sup> {valencia, joseantonio.garcia}@um.es,

<sup>7</sup>{prasanna.mi20, rahul.mi20}@iiitmk.ac.in, <sup>8</sup>daniel.gbaena@gmail.com.

### Abstract

Hope Speech detection is the task of classifying a sentence as hope speech or non-hope speech given a corpus of sentences. Hope speech is any message or content that is positive, encouraging, reassuring, inclusive and supportive that inspires and engenders optimism in the minds of people. In contrast to identifying and censoring negative speech patterns, hope speech detection focused on recognising and promoting positive speech patterns online. In this paper, we report an overview of the findings and results from the shared task on hope speech detection for Tamil, Malayalam, Kannada, English and Spanish languages conducted at the second workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion (LT-EDI-2022), organised as a part of ACL 2022. The participants were provided with annotated training & development datasets and unlabelled test datasets in all five languages. The goal of the shared task is to classify the given sentences into one of the two hope speech classes (Hope speech, Non hope speech). A total of 126 participants registered for the shared task and 14 teams finally submitted their results. The performance of the systems submitted were evaluated in terms of micro-F1 score and weighted-F1 score. The datasets for this challenge are openly available at the competition website<sup>1</sup>.

# 1 Introduction

Social media platforms such as Facebook, Twitter, Instagram and YouTube have attracted millions of people to share content and express their opinions. These platforms also serve as a medium for marginalised people who want to receive online help and support from others (Gowen et al., 2012; Yates et al., 2017; Wang and Jurgens, 2018). With the pandemic outbreak, the population from several parts of the world is affected by the fear of losing their loved ones and the loss of access to basic services such as schools, hospitals and mental health care centres (Pérez-Escoda et al., 2020). As a result, people turn to online forums to meet their informational, emotional, and social needs (Elmer et al., 2020). Online social networking sites provide a platform for people to network, feel socially included, and gain a sense of belonging as part of a community. People's physical and psychological well-being, as well as mental health, are greatly influenced by these factors (Chung, 2013; Altszyler et al., 2018; Tortoreto et al., 2019).

Although social media platforms have these positive aspects, social media content also has a large amount of spiteful or negative posts due to the lack of any mediating authority (Sampath et al., 2022; Ravikiran et al., 2022; Chakravarthi et al., 2022; Bharathi et al., 2022; Priyadharshini et al., 2022). In order to tackle this problem, social media posts are analysed to identify and control the spread of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>https://competitions.codalab. org/competitions/36393#learn\_the\_ details-evaluation

negative content using methods such as hate speech detection(Schmidt and Wiegand, 2017), offensive language identification (Zampieri et al., 2019; Kumaresan et al., 2021), homophobia/transpohibia detection (Chakravarthi et al., 2021) and abusive language detection (Lee et al., 2018). Technologies focused on curbing hate speech and offensive language have their own drawbacks, such as training data bias (Davidson et al., 2019), and controlling user expression by imposing barriers on modes of speech, thus affecting the principles of Equality, Diversity and Inclusion. Therefore, we turn our attention towards spreading positivity rather than curbing individual expression to address negative comments.

To this end, last year, we organised the first shared task on Hope Speech Detection for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion in EACL 2021 for English and two under-resourced languages Tamil and Malayalam (Chakravarthi and Muralidaran, 2021). The English dataset contained monolingual YouTube comments, while those of Tamil and Malayalam contained code-mixed comments. Continuing our efforts in this direction, this year, we have organised the second shared task on Hope Speech Detection by extending the dataset with two additional languages, Kannada and Spanish. It has been launched at the second workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion (LT-EDI-2022), held as a part of ACL 2022.

In the context of this shared task, hope speech refers to any social media comment that is positive, encouraging, reassuring, inclusive or supportive that inspires and engenders optimism in people's minds. Hope speech detection refers to the task of classifying a given comment into one of the following classes Hope\_speech or Non\_hope\_speech. The participants of the shared task were provided with development, training and testing datasets in all the five languages. The comments in Tamil, Kannada and Malayalam datasets were code-mixed (Chakravarthi et al., 2020). This is because the dataset consists of YouTube comments and it is very common for speakers of these languages to use code-mixed language in online interactions. We conducted the shared task as a post/comment-level classification task. In this paper, we present the overview of the dataset, the results of the competing systems, and the findings of this shared task. The CodaLab competition website<sup>2</sup> will remain open to allow researchers to access the datasets and build upon this work.

# 2 Task Description

The goal of the proposed shared task is to classify a given social media comment as hope speech or non-hope speech. The participants were provided with training, development, and test datasets in five languages (English, Tamil, Malayalam, Kannada, and Spanish). The annotations of the datasets were made at the comment/post level. A comment/post may contain more than one sentence, but the average sentence length of the corpus is one. The participants could choose to take part in classifying one or more languages. Leader-board results were published for each language. Some sample sentences from the datasets and their annotations are provided below. The comments have also been translated into standard English for the benefit of the reader.

- Bruh these LGBT people gotta chill with this little girl - Brother, these LGBT people have to chill with this little girl. Non\_hope\_speech.
- Idu charitre srustiso avatara super sir- This is an avatar that is will create history. Superb, sir! Hope\_speech
- Munbotte yellvidha sawbhagiyavum undakatte- I wish you all the best things in future Hope\_speech
- Ithu ennada kanndraavi- What kind of nonsense is this! Non\_hope\_speech
- Friendly reminder: las personas #LGTBI, al igual que todas las demás, tenemos derecho de legítima defensa.- Friendly reminder: #LGTBI people, like everyone else, have the right to self-defense. Hope\_speech

### **3** Datasets

The corpus provided in this shared task consists of a total of 63,883 social media comments in five different languages. There are 28,424 comments in English, 17,715 in Tamil, 9,918 in Malayalam,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>https://competitions.codalab. org/competitions/36393#learn\_the\_ details-evaluation

6,176 in Kannada and 1,650 comments in Spanish. Since the datasets consist of comments from social media such as YouTube and Twitter, some sentences contains @ names, repeated letters or words, symbols, special characters, etc.

For English, Tamil and Malayalam languages we used the HopeEDI dataset from (Chakravarthi, 2020). The data was collected on a wide range of socially relevant topics such as Equality, Diversity and Inclusion, including LGBTIQ issues, COVID-19, women in STEM, Dravidian languages, Black Lives Matter, etc. The inter-annotator agreement was verified using Krippendorf's alpha.

The Kannada hope speech dataset contains 6,176 posts collected from YouTube video comments on various topics, such as social oppression, marginalisation and mental health, Indo-China border issues, or the banning of mobile apps in India. The details of dataset construction, corpus statistics, interannotator agreement and code-mixing issues are presented in detail in (Hande et al., 2021).

The Spanish Hope Speech dataset consists of LGTBI-related tweets that were collected using the Twitter API (June 27, 2021 to July26, 2021). As seed for the search a lexicon of LGBITQ-related terms, such as #OrgulloLGTBI or #LGTB was used. A tweet is marked as HS (Hope Speech) if the text: i) explicitly supports the social integration of minorities; ii) is a positive inspiration for the LGTBI community; iii) explicitly encourages LGTBI people who might find themselves in a situation; or iv) unconditionally promotes tolerance. On the contrary, a tweet is marked as NHS (Non Hope Speech) if the text: i) expresses negative sentiment towards the LGTBI community; ii) explicitly seeks violence; or iii) uses gender-based insults.

Table 1 shows the corpus statistics and Table 2 the distribution of the data by class and set, both showing the data in terms of language. The annotated datasets were divided into training, development and test sets to contain approximately 80%, 10% and 10% of the total number of comments. The corpus statistics were calculated using *nltk* tool (Bird, 2006). There are more non hope speech comments than hope speech. This makes the datasets imbalanced and skewed more towards one class than the other, which the participants had to take into account when developing their classification systems.

## 4 Task Settings

### 4.1 Training Phase

During the training phase, we provided participants with labelled training and development data that they could use to train and validate their models. We released the data for all the languages and the participants were able to whether they wanted to participate in developing models for more than one language. The goal of this phase was to provide the participants with sufficient data that they could used to perform cross-validation for their preliminary evaluations and hyperparameter setting. This ensured that participants were ready for evaluation before the release of the unlabeled test data. A total of 126 participants registered for the shared task and downloaded the datasets in this phase.

#### 4.2 Testing Phase

During the testing phase, the participants were given test data without the gold labels. Each participating team was allowed as many submissions as they could, from which the best result was considered for preparing the leaderboard ranking. The submission outputs were compared with the gold standard labels and the macro and weightedaverage versions of precision, recall and F1-score were reported for all the classes. The ranking list was prepared based on the best performance measured on the macro F1-scores. In this phase, there were 13,7,9,6,7 participants who submitted their results for English, Kannada, Malayalam, Spanish and Tamil, respectively.

### 5 Systems

We begin this section by presenting a brief summary of the baselines established for this shared task based on the submissions received last year. We then briefly describe each of the proposals submitted this year. Readers are encouraged to consult the participants' individual papers for a more detailed understanding.

### 5.1 Baseline results from LT-EDI 2021

In 2021, the shared task on Hope Speech Detection as a part of LT-EDI workshop received 31,31 and 30 submissions for English, Malayalam and Tamil, respectively. It was a three-class classification task in which the class labels were "Hope", "Non-hope", and "Not Tamil/ Not English/ Not Malayalam". XLM-Roberta was the popular choice among most of the top performing teams. Other participants

	Language									
	English	Tamil	Malayalam	Kannada	Spanish					
Number of words	522,717	191,212	122,917	56,549	60,058					
Vocabulary size	29,383	46,237	40,893	18,807	12,018					
Number of comments/tweets	28,424	17,715	9,918	6,176	1,650					
Number of sentences	46,974	22,935	13,643	6,871	2,886					
Avg. words per sentence	18	9	11	9	21					
Avg. sentences per comment/tweet	1	1	1	1	2					

Total
Level Versel Contract IOtal
layalam Kannada Spanish
1,668 1,699 491 12,147
6,205 3,241 499 38,595
190 210 169 1,598
784 408 161 4,920
1,071 618 330 6,623
9,918 6,176 1,650 63,883
Iayaiam         Kannada         Spanish           1,668         1,699         491         12           6,205         3,241         499         38           190         210         169         1           784         408         161         4           1,071         618         330         6           9,918         6,176         1,650         63

Table 1: Datasets statistics

Table 2: Data distribution by class and set

used models such as context-aware string embeddings for word representation, Recurrent Neural Networks and pooled document embeddings for text representation, Bi-LSTM, and different machine learning and deep learning models.

Upadhyay et al. (2021) used a voting ensemble approach with 11 models and fine-tuned pretrained transformer models to get an F1-score of 0.93. Transformer methods were proposed with fine-tuned methods such as RoBERTa (Mahajan et al., 2021), XML-R (Hossain et al., 2021), XML-RoBERTa (Ziehe et al., 2021), XML-RoBERTa with TF-IDF (Huang and Bai, 2021), ALBERT with K-fold cross validation (Chen and Kong, 2021) and multilingual BERT model with convolution neural networks (Dowlagar and Mamidi, 2021). (M K and A P, 2021) showed comparable results by using a combination of contextualised string embedding, stacked word embeddings and pooled document embedding with Recurrent Neural Network.

Chinnappa (2021) used FNN, BERT and SBERT to classify the comments into one of the two labels after performing language detection which achieved an F1-score of 0.92. Balouchzahi et al. (2021) solved the problem by using character sequences for words in code-mixed Malayalam and Tamil comments and by using a combination of word and character n-grams for English comments to get an F1-score of 0.92 for English. The F1scores do not present the full picture of the quality of these models because none of these models gave an F1-score of more than 0.60 for "Hope" class which means that the high F1-scores were due to the fact that most of the comments in the dataset were in "Non-hope" class. The top scores were 0.61, 0.85 and 0.93 for Tamil, Malayalam and English respectively. From the previous shared task, it was observed that the number of "Non-hope" labels in Tamil dataset is comparable to the number of "Not Tamil" labels in last year's dataset as opposed to English and Malayalam which made the classification in these two languages as a binary classification task instead of three classes. The shared task of this year is a binary classification problem for all the five languages. A summary of each of the submission this year is presented briefly in the upcoming subsection.

#### 5.2 Systems Description

In this section, we summarise the systems submitted by the participants of the shared task. A short discussion on the methodology used in each submission is presented here.

CIC@LT-EDI-ACL2022 (Balouchzahi et al., 2022) participated in identifying Hope Speech classes in English and Spanish. Their model consists of a basic sequential neural network with the combination of features including Linguistic Enquiry and Word Count (LIWC) and n-grams. They developed a deep learning approach which ranked 2nd in English and 3rd in Spanish for hope speech detection. They also identified psycho-linguistic

Team-Name	M_P	M_R	M_F1	W_P	W_R	W_F1	Rank
IIITSurat	0.560	0.540	0.550	0.870	0.890	0.880	1
MUCIC (M D Gowda et al., 2022)	0.540	0.550	0.550	0.870	0.850	0.860	1
ARGUABLY	0.550	0.540	0.540	0.870	0.880	0.870	2
CIC (Balouchzahi et al., 2022)	0.540	0.530	0.530	0.860	0.870	0.870	3
LeaningTower (Muti et al., 2022)	0.530	0.530	0.530	0.860	0.870	0.870	3
CUNI-TIET	0.510	0.520	0.510	0.860	0.820	0.840	4
ginius (Chinagundi and Surana, 2022)	0.510	0.510	0.510	0.860	0.860	0.860	4
Ablimet	0.410	0.410	0.410	0.880	0.880	0.880	5
SSN_ARMM (V et al., 2022)	0.420	0.410	0.410	0.880	0.890	0.880	5
LPS (Ying Zhu, 2022)	0.420	0.410	0.410	0.880	0.890	0.880	5
SSNCSE_NLP (Srinivasan et al., 2022)	0.430	0.390	0.400	0.870	0.900	0.880	6
error_english	0.440	0.390	0.400	0.880	0.900	0.890	6
SOA_NLP (Kumar et al., 2022)	0.460	0.370	0.380	0.880	0.910	0.880	7

Table 3: Rank list based on Macro F1-score along with other evaluation metrics (Macro Precision, Recall and Weighted Precision, Recall and F1-score) for English language

Team-Name	M_P	M_R	M_F1	W_P	W_R	<b>W_F1</b>	Rank
Ablimet	0.300	0.340	0.320	0.390	0.460	0.420	1
LPS (Ying Zhu, 2022)	0.290	0.340	0.310	0.390	0.440	0.410	2
ARGUABLY	0.290	0.330	0.300	0.380	0.440	0.400	3
SSN_ARMM (V et al., 2022)	0.280	0.320	0.300	0.370	0.420	0.390	3
SSNCSE_NLP (Srinivasan et al., 2022)	0.280	0.330	0.300	0.370	0.440	0.400	3
CEN	0.280	0.330	0.300	0.370	0.440	0.390	3
SOA_NLP (Kumar et al., 2022)	0.280	0.320	0.290	0.360	0.430	0.380	4

Table 4: Rank list based on Macro F1-score along with other evaluation metrics (Macro Precision, Recall and Weighted Precision, Recall and F1-score) for Tamil language

Team-Name	M_P	M_R	M_F1	W_P	W_R	<b>W_F1</b>	Rank
ARGUABLY	0.640	0.530	0.500	0.760	0.790	0.750	1
SSN_ARMM (V et al., 2022)	0.470	0.500	0.490	0.700	0.780	0.740	2
SOA_NLP (Kumar et al., 2022)	0.520	0.480	0.480	0.720	0.790	0.740	3
CEN	0.520	0.470	0.480	0.720	0.790	0.740	3
Ablimet	0.450	0.520	0.480	0.700	0.760	0.730	3
LPS (Ying Zhu, 2022)	0.450	0.490	0.470	0.690	0.760	0.720	4
SSNCSE_NLP (Srinivasan et al., 2022)	0.440	0.470	0.450	0.680	0.750	0.710	5
YUN111	0.310	0.340	0.320	0.560	0.600	0.580	6
MUCIC (M D Gowda et al., 2022)	0.310	0.320	0.310	0.560	0.580	0.570	7

Table 5: Rank list based on Macro F1-score along with other evaluation metrics (Macro Precision, Recall and Weighted Precision, Recall and F1-score) for Malayalam language

Team-Name	M_P	M_R	M_F1	W_P	W_R	W_F1	Rank
SSN_ARMM (V et al., 2022)	0.480	0.470	0.480	0.740	0.760	0.750	1
Ablimet	0.460	0.480	0.470	0.730	0.720	0.730	2
SOA_NLP (Kumar et al., 2022)	0.490	0.470	0.470	0.740	0.760	0.750	2
LPS (Ying Zhu, 2022)	0.450	0.450	0.450	0.710	0.710	0.710	3
SSNCSE_NLP (Srinivasan et al., 2022)	0.450	0.440	0.440	0.700	0.720	0.700	4
ARGUABLY	0.310	0.320	0.320	0.530	0.540	0.540	5
MUCIC (M D Gowda et al., 2022)	0.310	0.310	0.310	0.520	0.530	0.520	6

Table 6: Rank list based on Macro F1-score along with other evaluation metrics (Macro Precision, Recall and Weighted Precision, Recall and F1-score) for Kannada language

Team-Name	M_P	M_R	<b>M_F1</b>	W_P	W_R	<b>W_F1</b>	Rank
ARGUABLY	0.810	0.810	0.810	0.810	0.810	0.810	1
Ablimet	0.800	0.800	0.800	0.800	0.800	0.800	2
CIC (Balouchzahi et al., 2021)	0.790	0.790	0.790	0.790	0.790	0.790	3
SOA_NLP (Kumar et al., 2022)	0.790	0.790	0.790	0.790	0.790	0.790	3
SSNCSE_NLP (Srinivasan et al., 2022)	0.790	0.790	0.790	0.790	0.790	0.790	3
LPS (Ying Zhu, 2022)	0.770	0.760	0.760	0.770	0.760	0.760	4

Table 7: Rank list based on Macro F1-score along with other evaluation metrics (Macro Precision, Recall and Weighted Precision, Recall and F1-score) for Spanish language

and linguistic features that work the best for the two languages. They found that the overall Macro F1 scores achieved in the English task was significantly lower than the Weighted F1 score because of the imbalanced classes contrary to Spanish texts where the classes were balanced.

LPS@LT-EDI-ACL2022 (Ying Zhu, 2022) submitted results for all the five languages. All the data submitted came from the same model framework and the same system architecture which is an ensemble model consisting of three parts. These are LSTM, CNN+LSTM and BiLSTM, respectively. Finally, an attention layer is added before the ensemble of the three-part results. The introduction of the attention mechanism not only helped the model to make better use of the effective information in the input, but also provided some ability to explain the behavior of the neural network model.

CURAJ\_IIITDWD@LTEDIACL 2022 (Jha et al., 2022) worked on the dataset of English hope speech comments. The studies were conducted using a multilayer neural network, one layer CNN, one layer Bi-LSTM, and one layer GRU, among the deep learning networks. The stacked networks of LSTM-CNN and LSTM-LSTM were also trained. The stacked LSTM-LSTM network and DNN produced the best results with Weighted F1-score of 0.89. All of the experiments were carried out in the Keras and sklearn environment. They used the pandas library to read the datasets. Keras preprocessing classes and the nltk library were used to prepare the dataset.

giniUs@LT-EDI-ACL2022 (Chinagundi and Surana, 2022) used the transformer-based pretrained models along with the customized versions of those models with custom loss functions. Their best configurations for the shared tasks achieved weighted F1 scores of 0.60 for Tamil, 0.83 for Malayalam, and 0.93 for English. They have secured ranks of 4, 3, 2 in Tamil, Malayalam and English respectively. They experimented with prominently known models namely BERT-Base-Uncased, RoBERTa-Base, RoBERTa-Large. They found that RoBERTa-Large performs the best when the last four layers of the language model are concatenated for a deeper embedding representation, which is then passed through a pre classifier and a RELU activation layer followed by a dropout layer before finally coming across the classification head for the labels that are to be predicted.

IDIAP\_TIET@LT-EDI-ACL2022 focused on the English comments. Motivated by the efficiency of transformers in NLP, they encoded the comments using the BERT language model and created an embeddings matrix. Further, this embeddings matrix was fed to the attention network, trained to classify for Hope Speech. The proposed model has proven to be remarkable by achieving fourth position on the leaderboard with a difference of 0.04 in F1-score from the top-performing model.

IIITSurat@LT-EDI-EACL2022 worked on the English dataset. Their model works in two phases: firs, it uses over-sampling techniques to increase the number of samples and make them comparable in the training dataset, followed by a random forest classifier to classify the comments into hope and non-hope categories. The proposed model achieved a macro F1-score of 0.55 on the test dataset and secured the first place among the participating teams.

IIT Dhanbad @LT-EDI-ACL2022 (Gupta et al., 2022) worked on the English dataset. They have used various machine learning algorithms, namely - Logistic Regression, Multinomial Naive Bayes classifier, Random forest classifier and XGBoost. They have used the scikit-learn library for logistic regression, Multinomial NB and Random forest classifiers. The best score as Macro-F1 for the task achieved by the team is 0.6130. The XGBoost system is their best performing model.

LeaningTower@LT-EDI-ACL2022 (Muti et al., 2022) targeted the task in English by using reinforced BERT-based approaches. The core strategy aimed at exploiting the data available for homophobic and transphobic comment detection to augment the number of supervised instances in the Hope Speech Detection task. On the basis of an active learning process, the team trained a model on the dataset for hope speech detection task and applied it to the dataset for homo/transphobia detection task to iteratively integrate new silver data for hope speech task. Their submission to the shared task obtained a macro-averaged F1 score of 0.53, placing the team in the third rank.

MUCIC@LT-EDI-ACL2022 (M D Gowda et al., 2022) dealt with data sets provided in English, Kannada and Tamil. Their methodology used the resampling technique to deal with imbalanced data in the corpus and obtained 1st rank for the English language with an average macro F1-035 score of 0.550 and weighted F1-score of 0.860.

SOA\_NLP@LT-EDI-ACL2022 (Kumar et al., 2022) participated in the task covering all the languages – English, Spanish, Kannada, Tamil and Malayalam. The proposed ensemble model combined three machine learning algorithms: (i) Support Vector Machine (SVM), (ii) Logistic Regression (LR), and (iii) Random Forest (RF). The efficiency of different combinations of n-gram charlevel and word-level TF-IDF features were also explored in the identification of hope speech.

SSN\_ARMM@ LT-EDI-ACL2022 (V et al., 2022) worked on the dataset in English, Tamil, Malayalam and Kannada. They used the IndicBERT model which is a multilingual model trained on large-scale corpora covering 12 Indian languages. IndicBERT takes a smaller number of parameters and still manages to give state-of-theart performance.

SSNCSE\_NLP@LT-EDI-ACL2022 (Srinivasan et al., 2022) participated in the shared task covering English, Malayalam, Kannada and Tamil languages. They employed several machine learning transformer models such as m-BERT, MLNet, BERT, XLMRoberta, XLM\_MLM. The results indicated that BERT, and m-BERT obtained the best performance among all the other techniques, gaining a weighted F1- score of 0.92, 0.71, 0.76, 0.87, and 0.83 for English, Tamil, Spanish, Kannada and Malayalam respectively.

# 6 Results and discussion

The total of submissions received for the classification of English, Tamil, Malayalam, Kannada and Spanish datasets were 13,7,9,7 and 6 respectively. Three teams submitted their results for all the languages, while the other participants made their submissions for a subset of the languages. Two teams obtained first rank in English with a macro average of 0.550. One of them (M D Gowda et al., 2022) used a resampling technique to deal with imbalanced data and 1D CNN-LSTM architecture to address the classification problem. The other team used Random Forest Classifier to classify the comments. Transformer-based pretrained models were used in five studies out of which one of them used multilingual IndicBERT model for classifying English, Tamil, Malayalam and Kannada languages. This model achieved first and second ranks on Kannada and Malayalam languages respectively.

Among other submissions, the popular choice was an ensemble of various Machine Learning classifiers such as Logistic Regression, Multinomial Naive Bayes, Random Forest, Support Vector Machines. However, we observed that the performances of the ML classifiers used for this shared task were slightly lower than the baseline performances of ML models used last year. LSTM, BiL-
STM, CNN were used but their performance were not as good as the transformer based models.

## 7 Conclusion

This paper presents the description of the second Shared Task on Hope Speech Detection for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion organized at the second workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion (LT-EDI-2022), held as a part of ACL 2022. In the 2021 edition this shared task was organized for English and two under-resourced languages, Tamil and Malayalam, and for this edition, two new languages, Kannada and Spanish, have been incorporated. In total, 126 participants signed up for the for the shared task and finally 13,7,9,6, and 7 teams submitted their results for English, Kannada, Malayalam, Spanish and Tamil, respectively. We hope that this shared task makes a lasting contribution to the NLP field.

## Acknowledgements

Authors Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi and John Phillip McCrae were supported in part by a research grant from Science Foundation Ireland (SFI) under Grant Number SFI/12/RC/2289\_P2 (Insight\_2), co-funded by the European Regional Development Fund and Irish Research Council grant IRCLA/2017/129 (CARDAMOM-Comparative Deep Models of Language for Minority and Historical Languages).

Salud María Jiménez-Zafra was supported by Fondo Social Europeo and Administration of the Junta de Andalucía (DOC\_01073). Rafael Valencia-García was supported by project LaTe4PSP (PID2019-107652RB-I00) funded by MCIN/AEI/10.13039/501100011033, and Project AlInFunds (PDC2021-121112-I00) funded by MCIN/AEI/10.13039/501100011033 and by the European Union NextGenerationEU/PRTR. Miguel Ángel García-Cumbreras and Salud María Jiménez-Zafra were supported by Project LIVING-LANG (RTI2018-094653-B-C21) funded by MCIN/AEI/10.13039/501100011033 and by ERDF A way of making Europe. Salud María Jiménez-Zafra was supported by Project PID2020-116118GA-I00 funded by MICINN/AEI/10.13039/501100011033, and Project PID2020-119478GB-I00 funded by MICINN/AEI/10.13039/501100011033. José Antonio García-Díaz was supported by Banco Santander and University of Murcia through the

industrial doctorate programme. Miguel Ángel García-Cumbreras and Salud María Jiménez-Zafra were supported by Grant P20\_00956 (PAIDI 2020) and grant 1380939 (FEDER Andalucía 2014-2020) from the Andalusian Regional Government.

## References

- Edgar Altszyler, Ariel J Berenstein, David N Milne, Rafael A Calvo, and Diego Fernandez Slezak. 2018. Using contextual information for automatic triage of posts in a peer-support forum. In *Proceedings* of the Fifth Workshop on Computational Linguistics and Clinical Psychology: From Keyboard to Clinic, pages 57–68.
- Fazlourrahman Balouchzahi, Aparna B K, and H L Shashirekha. 2021. MUCS@LT-EDI-EACL2021:CoHope-hope speech detection for equality, diversity, and inclusion in code-mixed texts. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, pages 180–187, Kyiv. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Fazlourrahman Balouchzahi, Sabur Butt, Grigori Sidorov, and Alexander Gelbukh. 2022. Cic@lt-ediacl2022: Are transformers the only hope? Hope Speech Detection for spanish and english comments. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- B Bharathi, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Subalalitha Chinnaudayar Navaneethakrishnan, N Sripriya, Arunaggiri Pandian, and Swetha Valli. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Speech Recognition for Vulnerable Individuals in Tamil. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion.* Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Steven Bird. 2006. Nltk: The natural language toolkit. In *Proceedings of the COLING/ACL 2006 Interactive Presentation Sessions*, pages 69–72.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi. 2020. HopeEDI: A multilingual hope speech detection dataset for equality, diversity, and inclusion. In *Proceedings of the Third Workshop on Computational Modeling of People's Opinions, Personality, and Emotion's in Social Media*, pages 41–53, Barcelona, Spain (Online). Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi and Vigneshwaran Muralidaran. 2021. Findings of the shared task on hope speech detection for equality, diversity, and inclusion. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, pages 61–72.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Vigneshwaran Muralidaran, Ruba Priyadharshini, and John Philip McCrae. 2020.

Corpus creation for sentiment analysis in code-mixed Tamil-English text. In *Proceedings of the 1st Joint Workshop on Spoken Language Technologies for Under-resourced languages (SLTU) and Collaboration and Computing for Under-Resourced Languages (CCURL)*, pages 202–210, Marseille, France. European Language Resources association.

- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Thenmozhi Durairaj, John Phillip McCrae, Paul Buitaleer, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, and Rahul Ponnusamy. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Homophobia Transphobia Detection in Social Media Comments. In Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Rahul Ponnusamy, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, Kayalvizhi Sampath, Durairaj Thenmozhi, Sathiyaraj Thangasamy, Rajendran Nallathambi, and John Phillip McCrae. 2021. Dataset for identification of homophobia and transophobia in multilingual YouTube comments. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2109.00227*.
- Shi Chen and Bing Kong. 2021. cs\_english@LT-EDI-EACL2021: Hope speech detection based on finetuning ALBERT model. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, pages 128–131, Kyiv. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Basavraj Chinagundi and Harshul Surana. 2022. ginius@lt-edi-acl2022: Aasha: Transformers based hope-edi. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Dhivya Chinnappa. 2021. dhivya-hope-detection@LT-EDI-EACL2021: Multilingual hope speech detection for code-mixed and transliterated texts. In Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion, pages 73–78, Kyiv. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Jae Eun Chung. 2013. Social networking in online support groups for health: How online social networking benefits patients. *Journal of Health Communication*, 19(6):639–659.
- Thomas Davidson, Debasmita Bhattacharya, and Ingmar Weber. 2019. Racial bias in hate speech and abusive language detection datasets. In *Proceedings* of the Third Workshop on Abusive Language Online, pages 25–35.
- Suman Dowlagar and Radhika Mamidi. 2021. EDIOne@LT-EDI-EACL2021: Pre-trained transformers with convolutional neural networks for hope speech detection. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, pages 86–91, Kyiv. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Timon Elmer, Kieran Mepham, and Christoph Stadtfeld. 2020. Students under lockdown: Comparisons of students' social networks and mental health before and during the covid-19 crisis in switzerland. *Plos one*, 15(7):e0236337.
- Kris Gowen, Matthew Deschaine, Darcy Gruttadara, and Dana Markey. 2012. Young adults with mental health conditions and social networking websites: seeking tools to build community. *Psychiatric Rehabilitation Journal*, 35(3):245.
- Vishesh Gupta, Ritesh Kumar, and Rajendra Pamula. 2022. IIT Dhanbad @LT-EDI-ACL2022- Hope Speech Detection for Equality,Diversity andInclusion. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Adeep Hande, Ruba Priyadharshini, Anbukkarasi Sampath, Kingston Pal Thamburaj, Prabakaran Chandran, and Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi. 2021. Hope speech detection in under-resourced kannada language. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2108.04616*.
- Eftekhar Hossain, Omar Sharif, and Mohammed Moshiul Hoque. 2021. NLP-CUET@LT-EDI-EACL2021: Multilingual code-mixed hope speech detection using cross-lingual representation learner. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, pages 168–174, Kyiv. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Bo Huang and Yang Bai. 2021. TEAM HUB@LT-EDI-EACL2021: Hope speech detection based on pre-trained language model. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, pages 122–127, Kyiv. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Vanshita Jha, Ankit Kumar Mishra, and Sunil Saumya. 2022. Curaj\_iiitdwd@ltediacl 2022: Hope Speech Detection in english youtube comments using deep learning techniques. In Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Abhinav Kumar, Sunil Saumya, and Pradeep Kumar Roy. 2022. Soa\_nlp@lt-edi-acl2022: An Ensemble Model forHope Speech Detection from YouTube Comments. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, Ratnasingam Sakuntharaj, Sajeetha Thavareesan, Subalalitha Navaneethakrishnan, Anand Kumar Madasamy, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, and John P McCrae. 2021. Findings of shared task on offensive language identification in Tamil and Malayalam. In *Forum for Information Retrieval Evaluation*, pages 16–18.

- Younghun Lee, Seunghyun Yoon, and Kyomin Jung. 2018. Comparative studies of detecting abusive language on twitter. In *Proceedings of the 2nd Workshop on Abusive Language Online (ALW2)*, pages 101–106.
- Anusha M D Gowda, Fazlourrahman Balouchzahi, H. L. Shashirekha, and G Sidorov. 2022. Mucic@lt-ediacl2022: Hope Speech Detection using data resampling and 1d conv-lstm. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Junaida M K and Ajees A P. 2021. KU\_NLP@LT-EDI-EACL2021: A multilingual hope speech detection for equality, diversity, and inclusion using context aware embeddings. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, pages 79–85, Kyiv. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Khyati Mahajan, Erfan Al-Hossami, and Samira Shaikh. 2021. TeamUNCC@LT-EDI-EACL2021: Hope speech detection using transfer learning with transformers. In Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion, pages 136–142, Kyiv. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Arianna Muti, Marta Marchiori Manerba, Katerina Korre, and Alberto Barrón-Cedeño. 2022. Leaningtower@lt-edi-acl2022: When Hope and Hate Collide. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Ana Pérez-Escoda, Carlos Jiménez-Narros, Marta Perlado-Lamo-de Espinosa, and Luis Miguel Pedrero-Esteban. 2020. Social networks' engagement during the covid-19 pandemic in spain: Health media vs. healthcare professionals. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, 17(14):5261.
- Ruba Priyadharshini, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Subalalitha Chinnaudayar Navaneethakrishnan, Thenmozhi Durairaj, Malliga Subramanian, Kogilavani Shanmugavadivel, Siddhanth U Hegde, and Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Abusive Comment Detection in Tamil. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Speech and Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages*. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Manikandan Ravikiran, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Anand Kumar Madasamy, Sangeetha Sivanesan, Ratnavel Rajalakshmi, Sajeetha Thavareesan, Rahul Ponnusamy, and Shankar Mahadevan. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Offensive Span Identification in code-mixed Tamil-English comments. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Speech and Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages*. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Anbukkarasi Sampath, Thenmozhi Durairaj, Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Subalalitha Chinnaudayar Navaneethakrishnan, Kogilavani Shanmugavadivel, Sajeetha Thavareesan, Sathiyaraj Thangasamy, Parameswari Krishnamurthy, Adeep Hande, Sean Benhur, Kishor Kumar Ponnusamy, and Santhiya Pandiyan. 2022. Findings of the shared task on Emotion Analysis in Tamil. In Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Speech and Language Technologies for Dravidian Languages. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Anna Schmidt and Michael Wiegand. 2017. A survey on hate speech detection using natural language processing. In *Proceedings of the Fifth International Workshop on Natural Language Processing for Social Media*, pages 1–10.
- Dhanya Srinivasan, Josephine Varsha, B. Bharathi, D. Thenmozhi, and B. Senthil Kumar. 2022. Ssncse\_nlp@lt-edi-acl2022:Hope Speech Detection for Equality, Diversity andInclusion using sentence transformers. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Giuliano Tortoreto, Evgeny Stepanov, Alessandra Cervone, Mateusz Dubiel, and Giuseppe Riccardi. 2019.
  Affective behaviour analysis of on-line user interactions: Are on-line support groups more therapeutic than twitter? In *Proceedings of the Fourth Social Media Mining for Health Applications (# SMM4H) Workshop & Shared Task*, pages 79–88.
- Ishan Sanjeev Upadhyay, Nikhil E, Anshul Wadhawan, and Radhika Mamidi. 2021. Hopeful men@LT-EDI-EACL2021: Hope speech detection using indic transliteration and transformers. In *Proceedings* of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion, pages 157–163, Kyiv. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Praveen Kumar V, Prathyush S, Aravind P, Angel Deborah S, Rajalakshmi S, Milton R S, and Mirnalinee T T. 2022. Ssn\_armm@ lt-edi -acl2022: Hope Speech Detection for Equality, Diversity andInclusion using albert model. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Zijian Wang and David Jurgens. 2018. It's going to be okay: Measuring access to support in online communities. In Proceedings of the 2018 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing, pages 33–45.
- Andrew Yates, Arman Cohan, and Nazli Goharian. 2017. Depression and self-harm risk assessment in online forums. In *Proceedings of the 2017 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing*, pages 2968–2978.

- Yue Ying Zhu. 2022. Lps@lt-edi-acl2022:an ensemble approach about Hope Speech Detection. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion.* Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Marcos Zampieri, Shervin Malmasi, Preslav Nakov, Sara Rosenthal, Noura Farra, and Ritesh Kumar. 2019. Predicting the type and target of offensive posts in social media. In *Proceedings of the 2019 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Volume 1 (Long and Short Papers)*, pages 1415–1420.
- Stefan Ziehe, Franziska Pannach, and Aravind Krishnan. 2021. GCDH@LT-EDI-EACL2021: XLM-RoBERTa for hope speech detection in English, Malayalam, and Tamil. In Proceedings of the First Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion, pages 132–135, Kyiv. Association for Computational Linguistics.

## Author Index

Abd Elfattah, Ahmed Taha, 287 Adams, Jetske, 19 Agirrezabal, Manex, 245 Allaway, Emily, 90 Alm, Cecilia, 35 Amann, Janek, 245 Amin, Akhter Al, 35 Anantharaman, Karun, 296 Antony, Betina, 326 Ashraf, Nsrin, 287 Azad, Tamjeed, 90

B, Bharathi, 177, 218, 239, 317, 339 B, Senthil Kumar, 218, 317 Balouchzahi, Fazlourrahman, 161, 206 Barrón-Cedeño, Alberto, 306 Bartl, Marion, 47 Basu, Tanmay, 234 Bhandari, Vitthal, 149 Bhawal, Snehaan, 120 Bianchi, Federico, 26 Buitelaar, Paul, 369 Butt, Sabur, 206

C, Jerin Mahibha, 212, 331 Caparros-Laiz, Camilo, 140 Chakravarthi, Bharathi Raja, 120, 127, 331, 339, 369, 378 Chinagundi, Basavraj, 291 CN, Subalalitha, 339, 378 Coelho, Sharal, 312 Câmara, António, 90

Dashti, Ahmad Elyas, 312 Dowlagar, Suman, 301 Du, Wei-Wei, 136 Durairaj, Thenmozhi, 212, 218, 317, 331, 369

Ehsani-Besheli, Fatemeh, 265 Esackimuthu, Sarika, 196

Farruque, Nawshad, 167 Fu, Yingwen, 200

G L, Gayathri, 239 García, Miguel Ángel, 378 García-Baena, Daniel, 378 García-Díaz, José Antonio, 140, 145, 378 Gelbukh, Alexander, 206 Gira, Michael, 59 Goebel, Randy, 167 Gowda, Anusha M D, 161 Goyal, Poonam, 149 Gupta, Vishesh, 229

Hande, Adeep, 127 Hariprasad, Shruthi, 196 Hassan, Saad, 35 Hegde, Asha, 312 Hendrickx, Iris, 19 Hovy, Dirk, 26 Howell, Kristen, 76 Hsu, Joy, 107 Huenerfauth, Matt, 35

Janatdoust, Morteza, 265 Jha, Vanshita, 190 Jiang, Shengyi, 200 Jiménez-Zafra, Salud María, 378

Khanna, Deepanshu, 321 Koloski, Boshko, 251 Korre, Katerina, 306 Kovács, György, 283 Kumar, Abhinav, 120, 223 Kumar, Ritesh, 229 Kumaresan, Prasanna Kumar, 369, 378

Larson, Martha, 13, 19 Lauscher, Anne, 26 Leavy, Susan, 47 Lee, Kangwook, 59 Lin, Nankai, 200 Lin, Xiaotian, 200

Madhavan, Saritha, 296 Maimaitituoheti, Abulimiti, 155 Mamidi, Radhika, 270, 301 Mansfield, Courtney, 76 Marchiori Manerba, Marta, 306 Markl, Nina, 1 Martin, Joshua, 70 McCrae, John Philip, 369, 378 Mishra, Ankit Kumar, 190 Moeller, Sarah, 70 Motlicek, Petr, 321, 350, 356, 362 Muralidaran, Vigneshwaran, 378 Muti, Arianna, 306

N, Sanjaykumar, 212 N, Sripriya, 339 Nayel, Hamada, 287 Nilsson, Filip, 283 Nozza, Debora, 26, 258

P, Aravind, 172 Pamula, Rajendra, 229 Pandian, Arunaggiri, 339 Park, Yoona, 41 Paullada, Amandalynne, 76 Peng, Wen-Chih, 136 Perełkiewicz, Michał Wiktor, 276 Pillar, Anna, 13 Poelmans, Kyrill, 13, 19 Pollak, Senja, 251 Ponnusamy, Rahul, 369, 378 Poświata, Rafał, 276 Priyadharshini, Ruba, 127, 369, 378

Rajalakshmi, Ratnavel, 346 Rajendram, Sakaya Milton, 172, 196, 296 Roy, Pradeep Kumar, 120, 223 Rudzicz, Frank, 41

S, Adarsh, 326 S, Angel Deborah, 172, 196, 296 S, Kayalvizhi, 331 S, Prathyush, 172 S, Sangeetha, 127 S, Sivamanikandan, 212 S, Suhasini, 177 Sampath, Hrishik, 239 Santiago, Harrison, 70 Saumya, Sunil, 190, 223 Sharen, Herbert Goldwin, 346 Shashirekha, Hosahalli Lakshmaiah, 161, 312 Sidorov, Grigori, 161, 206 Singh, Muskaan, 321, 350, 356, 362 Sivanaiah, Rajalakshmi, 172, 196, 296 Sivapalan, Sudhakar, 167 Srinivasan, Dhanya, 218, 317 Srivatsa, Kv Aditya, 270 Surana, Harshul Raj, 291 Suzgun, Mirac, 107 Swaminathan, Krithika, 239 Swanson, Kyle, 107 Škrlj, Blaž, 251

T T, Mirnalinee, 172, 196 Taha, Mohamed, 287 Taneja, Nina, 90 Tang, Kevin, 70 Tang, Yu-Chien, 136 Tavchioski, Ilija, 251

U Hegde, Siddhanth, 127 Upadhyay, Ishan Sanjeev, 270

V, Santhosh, 212 Valencia-García, Rafael, 140, 145, 378 Valli, Swetha, 339 Varsha, Josephine, 218 Vijayakumar, Praveenkumar, 172

Wang, Wei-Yao, 136

Yang, Ziyu, 200

Zaiane, Osmar, 167 Zeinali, Hossein, 265 Zemel, Richard, 90 Zhang, Ruisu, 59 Zhu, Yue Ying, 183